Journal of Medical Internet Research

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 5.8 Volume 21 (2019), Issue 12 ISSN 1438-8871 Editor in Chief: Gunther Eysenbach, MD, MPH

Contents

Viewpoints

Counting Bites With Bits: Expert Workshop Addressing Calorie and Macronutrient Intake Monitoring (e14904) Nabil Alshurafa, Annie Lin, Fengqing Zhu, Roozbeh Ghaffari, Josiah Hester, Edward Delp, John Rogers, Bonnie Spring.	5
Open Access as a Revolution: Knowledge Alters Power (e16368) Dave deBronkart.	302
Building Capacity and Training for Digital Health: Challenges and Opportunities in Latin America (e16513) Walter Curioso	310
A Call for a Public Health Agenda for Social Media Research (e16661) Sherry Pagoto, Molly Waring, Ran Xu.	349
Quality and Safety in eHealth: The Need to Build the Evidence Base (e16689) Elizabeth Borycki.	361
Old-Fashioned Technology in the Era of "Bling": Is There a Future for Text Messaging in Health Care? (e16630)	
Jane Willcox, Rosie Dobson, Robyn Whittaker	365
Preserving the Open Access Benefits Pioneered by the Journal of Medical Internet Research and Discouraging Fraudulent Journals (e16532) Jeremy Wyatt.	374

Original Papers

RenderX

A Web-Based Self-Titration Program to Control Blood Pressure in Patients With Primary Hypertension: Randomized Controlled Trial (e15836)	
Chi-Wen Kao, Ting-Yu Chen, Shu-Meng Cheng, Wei-Shiang Lin, Yue-Cune Chang.	21
Exploring the Views of Osteogenesis Imperfecta Caregivers on Internet-Based Technologies: Qualitative Descriptive Study (e15924)	
Aimee Castro, Khadidja Chougui, Claudette Bilodeau, Argerie Tsimicalis.	34
Validation of Single Centre Pre-Mobile Atrial Fibrillation Apps for Continuous Monitoring of Atrial Fibrillation in a Real-World Setting: Pilot Cohort Study (e14909)	
Hui Zhang, Jie Zhang, Hong-Bao Li, Yi-Xin Chen, Bin Yang, Yu-Tao Guo, Yun-Dai Chen.	45

Journal of Medical Internet Research 2019 | vol. 21 | iss. 12 | p.1

Effectiveness of Smartphone App–Based Interactive Management on Glycemic Control in Chinese Patients With Poorly Controlled Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial (e15401)	50
Lei Zhang, Xingxing He, Yun Shen, Haoyong Yu, Jiemin Pan, Wei Zhu, Jian Zhou, Yuqian Bao.	56
Peer Mentorship via Mobile Phones for Newly Diagnosed HIV-Positive Youths in Clinic Care in Khayelitsha, South Africa: Mixed Methods Study (e14012)	
Damian Hacking, Zodwa Mgengwana-Mbakaza, Tali Cassidy, Pumeza Runeyi, Laura Duran, Ruth Mathys, Andrew Boulle	66
Pregnancy-Related Information Seeking and Sharing in the Social Media Era Among Expectant Mothers: Qualitative Study (e13694)	
Chengyan Zhu, Runxi Zeng, Wei Zhang, Richard Evans, Rongrong He.	75
Understanding the Function Constitution and Influence Factors on Communication for the WeChat Official Account of Top Tertiary Hospitals in China: Cross-Sectional Study (e13025)	
Lining Shen, Shimin Wang, Wenqiang Chen, Qiang Fu, Richard Evans, Fuqiang Lan, Wei Li, Juan Xu, Zhiguo Zhang.	86
Comparison of YouthCHAT, an Electronic Composite Psychosocial Screener, With a Clinician Interview Assessment for Young People: Randomized Trial (e13911)	
Hiran Thabrew, Simona D'Silva, Margot Darragh, Mary Goldfinch, Jake Meads, Felicity Goodyear-Smith.	118
A Customized Social Network Platform (Kids Helpline Circles) for Delivering Group Counseling to Young People Experiencing Family Discord That Impacts Their Well-Being: Exploratory Study (e16176)	
Andrew Campbell, Brad Ridout, Krestina Amon, Pablo Navarro, Brian Collyer, John Dalgleish.	130
Compliance and Retention With the Experience Sampling Method Over the Continuum of Severe Mental Disorders: Meta-Analysis and Recommendations (e14475)	
Hugo Vachon, Wolfgang Viechtbauer, Aki Rintala, Inez Myin-Germeys.	140
Detecting Lifestyle Risk Factors for Chronic Kidney Disease With Comorbidities: Association Rule Mining Analysis of Web-Based Survey Data (e14204)	
Suyuan Peng, Feichen Shen, Andrew Wen, Liwei Wang, Yadan Fan, Xusheng Liu, Hongfang Liu.	160
QardioArm Upper Arm Blood Pressure Monitor Against Omron M3 Upper Arm Blood Pressure Monitor in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: A Validation Study According to the European Society of Hypertension	
International Protocol Revision 2010 (e14686) Victoria Mazoteras-Pardo, Ricardo Becerro-De-Bengoa-Vallejo, Marta Losa-Iglesias, Daniel López-López, David Rodríguez-Sanz, Israel	
Casado-Hernández, Cesar Calvo-Lobo, Patricia Palomo-López.	172
Comparative Effectiveness of a Web-Based Patient Decision Aid for Therapeutic Options for Sickle Cell Disease: Randomized Controlled Trial (e14462)	
Lakshmanan Krishnamurti, Diana Ross, Cynthia Sinha, Traci Leong, Namita Bakshi, Nonita Mittal, Divya Veludhandi, Anh-Phuong Pham, Alankrita Taneja, Kamesh Gupta, Julum Nwanze, Andrea Matthews, Saumya Joshi, Veronica Vazquez Olivieri, Santhi Arjunan, Ifechi Okonkwo, Ines Lukombo, Peter Lane, Nitya Bakshi, George Loewenstein	182
Searching the Internet for Infertility Information: A Survey of Patient Needs and Preferences (e15132)	
Felicia Brochu, Stephanie Robins, Skye Miner, Paul Grunberg, Peter Chan, Kirk Lo, Hananel Holzer, Neal Mahutte, Sophia Ouhilal, Togas Tulandi, Phyllis Zelkowitz.	201
Exploring the Characteristics and Preferences for Online Support Groups: Mixed Method Study (e15987)	
Melanie Plinsinga, Manuela Besomi, Liam Maclachlan, Luciano Melo, Sarah Robbins, Belinda Lawford, Pek Teo, Kathryn Mills, Jenny Setchell, Thorlene Egerton, Jillian Eyles, Leanne Hall, Rebecca Mellor, David Hunter, Paul Hodges, Bill Vicenzino, Kim Bennell	215

XSL•FO RenderX

Investigating How Bowel Cancer Survivors Discuss Exercise and Physical Activity Within Web-Based Discussion Forums: Qualitative Analysis (e13929) Alicia Olsen, Justin Keogh, Sally Sargeant.	228
Attitudes Toward Health Care Virtual Communities of Practice: Survey Among Health Care Workers (e15176) Nicole Yada, Milena Head.	247
Clinically Meaningful Use of Mental Health Apps and its Effects on Depression: Mixed Methods Study (e15644)	
Renwen Zhang, Jennifer Nicholas, Ashley Knapp, Andrea Graham, Elizabeth Gray, Mary Kwasny, Madhu Reddy, David Mohr.	259
Understanding Drivers of Resistance Toward Implementation of Web-Based Self-Management Tools in Routine Cancer Care Among Oncology Nurses: Cross-Sectional Survey Study (e14985)	
Matthijs de Wit, Mirella Kleijnen, Birgit Lissenberg-Witte, Cornelia van Uden-Kraan, Kobe Millet, Ruud Frambach, Irma Verdonck-de Leeuw 2 7 1	
Attitudes Toward Blockchain Technology in Managing Medical Information: Survey Study (e15870) Yong Hau, Jae Lee, Jaechan Park, Min Chang.	285
Identifying and Overcoming Policy-Level Barriers to the Implementation of Digital Health Innovation: Qualitative Study (e14994) Laura Desveaux, Charlene Sophiah, B Bhatia, James Shaw,	292
	202
Trends and Visibility of "Digital Health" as a Keyword in Articles by JMIR Publications in the New Millennium: Bibliographic-Bibliometric Analysis (e10477)	
Alireza Ahmadvand, David Kavanagh, Michele Clark, Judy Drennan, Lisa Nissen.	319
Infrastructure Revisited: An Ethnographic Case Study of how Health Information Infrastructure Shapes and Constrains Technological Innovation (e16093)	
Trisha Greenhalgh, Joseph Wherton, Sara Shaw, Chrysanthi Papoutsi, Shanti Vijayaraghavan, Rob Stones.	331
Blockchain-Enabled iWellChain Framework Integration With the National Medical Referral System: Development and Usability Study (e13563)	
Yu-Sheng Lo, Cheng-Yi Yang, Hsiung-Fei Chien, Shy-Shin Chang, Chung-Ying Lu, Ray-Jade Chen.	388
An Electronic Screening and Brief Intervention for Hazardous and Harmful Drinking Among Swedish University Students: Reanalysis of Findings From a Randomized Controlled Trial Using a Bayesian Framework (e14420)	
Marcus Bendtsen.	401

Reviews

Criteria to Measure Social Media Value in Health Care Settings: Narrative Literature Review (e14684)			
Chukwuma Ukoha, Andrew Stranieri	103		
Digital Alerting and Outcomes in Patients With Sepsis: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis (e15166)			
Meera Joshi, Hutan Ashrafian, Sonal Arora, Sadia Khan, Graham Cooke, Ara Darzi	238		



Editorial

Celebrating 20 Years of Open Access and Innovation at JMIR Publications (e17578)				
Gunther Eysenbach	381			

Corrigenda and Addenda

Correction: The Association Between Medication Adherence for Chronic Conditions and Digital Health			
Activity Tracking: Retrospective Analysis (e17375)			
Tom Quisel, Luca Foschini, Susan Zbikowski, Jessie Juusola	409		

Counting Bites With Bits: Expert Workshop Addressing Calorie and Macronutrient Intake Monitoring

Nabil Alshurafa^{1,2,3}, PhD; Annie Wen Lin¹, PhD; Fengqing Zhu⁴, PhD; Roozbeh Ghaffari⁵, PhD; Josiah Hester^{2,3}, PhD; Edward Delp⁴, PhD; John Rogers^{5,6}, PhD; Bonnie Spring¹, PhD

¹Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States

- ³Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Northwestern University McCormick School of Engineering, Evanston, IL, United States ⁴School of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, United States
- ⁵Department of Materials Science and Engineering, Northwestern University McCormick School of Engineering, Evanston, IL, United States ⁶Department of Biomedical Engineering, Northwestern University McCormick School of Engineering, Evanston, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Nabil Alshurafa, PhD Department of Preventive Medicine Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine 680 N Lake Shore Drive, Suite 1400 Chicago, IL, United States Phone: 1 3125034517 Email: nabil@northwestern.edu

Abstract

Background: Conventional diet assessment approaches such as the 24-hour self-reported recall are burdensome, suffer from recall bias, and are inaccurate in estimating energy intake. Wearable sensor technology, coupled with advanced algorithms, is increasingly showing promise in its ability to capture behaviors that provide useful information for estimating calorie and macronutrient intake.

Objective: This paper aimed to summarize current technological approaches to monitoring energy intake on the basis of expert opinion from a workshop panel and to make recommendations to advance technology and algorithms to improve estimation of energy expenditure.

Methods: A 1-day invitational workshop sponsored by the National Science Foundation was held at Northwestern University. A total of 30 participants, including population health researchers, engineers, and intervention developers, from 6 universities and the National Institutes of Health participated in a panel discussing the state of evidence with regard to monitoring calorie intake and eating behaviors.

Results: Calorie monitoring using technological approaches can be characterized into 3 domains: (1) image-based sensing (eg, wearable and smartphone-based cameras combined with machine learning algorithms); (2) eating action unit (EAU) sensors (eg, to measure feeding gesture and chewing rate); and (3) biochemical measures (eg, serum and plasma metabolite concentrations). We discussed how each domain functions, provided examples of promising solutions, and highlighted potential challenges and opportunities in each domain. Image-based sensor research requires improved ground truth (context and known information about the foods), accurate food image segmentation and recognition algorithms, and reliable methods of estimating portion size. EAU-based domain research is limited by the understanding of when their systems (device and inference algorithm) succeed and fail, need for privacy-protecting methods of capturing ground truth, and uncertainty in food categorization. Although an exciting novel technology, the challenges of biochemical sensing range from a lack of adaptability to environmental effects (eg, temperature change) and mechanical impact, instability of wearable sensor performance over time, and single-use design.

Conclusions: Conventional approaches to calorie monitoring rely predominantly on self-reports. These approaches can gain contextual information from image-based and EAU-based domains that can map automatically captured food images to a food database and detect proxies that correlate with food volume and caloric intake. Although the continued development of advanced machine learning techniques will advance the accuracy of such wearables, biochemical sensing provides an electrochemical analysis of sweat using soft bioelectronics on human skin, enabling noninvasive measures of chemical compounds that provide

²Department of Computer Science, Northwestern University School of Engineering, Evanston, IL, United States

insight into the digestive and endocrine systems. Future computing-based researchers should focus on reducing the burden of wearable sensors, aligning data across multiple devices, automating methods of data annotation, increasing rigor in studying system acceptability, increasing battery lifetime, and rigorously testing validity of the measure. Such research requires moving promising technological solutions from the controlled laboratory setting to the field.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14904) doi:10.2196/14904

KEYWORDS

computer vision systems; computing methodologies; diet; energy intake; eating; eHealth; feeding behavior; mHealth; nutritional status; obesity; wearable technology

Introduction

The marked rise in obesity, particularly in the United States, is a complex sociodemographic and public health problem that is largely driven by poor diet, excessive caloric intake, and insufficient caloric expenditure [1]. Weight loss interventions in clinical and research settings have sought to curb this growing health concern by providing recommendations on decreasing caloric intake and increasing caloric expenditure [2]. Thus, subjective diet assessments-including food records, 24-hour dietary recall, and food frequency questionnaires (FFQs)-are often used in weight loss interventions to evaluate diet adherence and behavior change, although they are burdensome and prone to biased measurements of dietary intake and physical activity [3,4]. There is increasing interest in using health and fitness wearable devices to measure eating behaviors as they address the limitations of subjective diet assessments; these devices are set to become a US \$48.2 billion market by 2023 [5]. Broad deployment of wearable activity trackers and heart rate monitors in the last decade has coincided with the need to reduce errors and improve our understanding of diet behaviors, calorie count, and nutrient intake. Using wearable technologies not only improves our understanding of diet behaviors but also aids the design of novel interventions to prevent overeating. Although emerging data suggest that diet and exercise programs are more successful at obtaining weight loss and healthy behavior change when they are mobile health (mHealth)-based interventions (ie, delivered via a mobile phone) compared with non-mHealth interventions (controls) [6], the effectiveness of combining mHealth-based interventions with wearable technologies to produce dietary change has yet to be properly studied.

To date, 3 types of technology-enabled wearable domains for calorie and nutrient monitoring have emerged: (1) image-sensing technology (eg, cameras coupled with novel algorithms that detect and analyze foods in an image using a food database); (2) eating action unit (EAU)-based technology (eg, wrist-worn sensors to capture eating and diet behaviors); and (3) biochemical measures (eg, sweat-sensing wearable technology that measures nutrient status). Although their impact on improving care and health outcomes remains untested, the validity of such devices is a prominent concern among researchers. Prior narrative reviews and surveys have focused on describing existing technologies [7-9] and algorithms [10], along with advantages and disadvantages of each type of wearable. Here, we have described the outcomes of a 1-day invitational workshop that identified challenges in developing technology-enabled, automated calorie-monitoring methods

and proposed opportunities for future computing research in this field. We have also discussed how technology and objective measurements can support conventional subjective diet assessment approaches.

Methods

An expert, consensus-building 1-day workshop, supported by the National Science Foundation and organized by Northwestern University, was held on June 20, 2017, in Chicago, Illinois. The *primary aim* of the workshop was to discuss the development, evaluation, and use of technology to detect and understand diet behaviors and estimate calorie and macronutrient intake.

A total of 30 participants from 6 universities and from the National Institutes of Health were selected to participate in the workshop. To capture varying perspectives across multiple fields, participants included population health researchers, such as behavioral scientists, nutritionists, obesity epidemiologists, and intervention developers (Bonnie Spring, Lisa Neff, Kevin Hall, and Marilyn Cornelius); computer scientists (Nabil Alshurafa, Adam Hoover, Edward Delp, and Mingui Sun); and engineers in biomedical, material science, and computer technology (Roozbeh Ghaffari, John Rogers, Veena Misra, Adam Hauke, Andrew Jajack, and Jason Heikenfeld). Multimedia Appendix 1 provides a list of participants at the workshop. Owing to the exploratory nature of this workshop, the organizers did not apply a theoretical framework.

A team consisting of at least 2 participants was organized to lead a discussion about one of the following topics: types of technology-enabled calorie and macronutrient monitoring, potential research gaps and technical challenges to advance the capture of energy expenditure, and methods for how technology can assist conventional subjective diet assessments. Workshop participants were also randomly separated into 2 groups to delineate key topics for future research. Overall, there was consensus regarding the need to refine technology-supported calorie- and macronutrient-monitoring approaches. The primary deliverable was a set of presentations delineating current gold standards for measuring energy intake and an appraisal of the state of research related to calorie- and macronutrient-monitoring technology. Experts within each technology-enabled wearable domain identified new insights and opportunities from these presentations and conversations, which were used to inform the final recommendations presented in this paper. A final review of the recommendations was performed by the authors of this paper.

Technology-Enabled Domains for Measuring Calorie and Macronutrient Intake

Technology-enabled measures can reduce participant burden and increase granularity of diet data collection through automated measures [11]. We have explained each technology-enabled domain and identified key challenges to advancing the technology in the sections that follow (summarized in Figure 1). Each section also highlights potential research opportunities to advance technology-enabled devices in measuring calorie and macronutrient intake.

Image-Based Sensing

Image-based sensing systems [12,13] that combine wearable or smartphone-based cameras with advanced computational machine learning models, in particular deep learning [14], have the capability to identify pixels in an image that represent foods (this is known as food segmentation), provide accurate timestamps when a meal is consumed (this is known as the metadata associated with the image), estimate consumption duration and frequency, and ascertain geographic eating locations (these 2 are commonly referred to as contextual information of the eating event). To enable these functions, researchers have focused on using image-based systems to food types [15]. These systems combine identify image-processing techniques and big data analytics to estimate energy contents for a meal [16,17] from food and nutrient databases, such as the Nutrition Data System for Research and the Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies (FNDDS) [18]. Thus, image-based systems are unique as they use known foods in a database to guide the estimation of calorie intake and can provide a fairly accurate analysis of the consumed food types. However, accurate estimation of energy and nutrients in an image relies on the system's ability to distinguish foods from the image background and to identify (or label) food items. Although there are promising advancements, several challenges remain in automating the estimation of calorie intake from cameras (Table 1).

Figure 1. Overview of challenges in developing technology-enabled, automated caloric-monitoring methods.



 Burden of multimodal systems • Time asynchronization across systems • Automated data labeling • Uncertainty of system acceptability • Short battery lifetime • Nonrigorous system testing

Table 1.	Challenges and	research opportunities	in adopting image-bas	sed sensing methods.
	~			

Challenge	Research opportunity
Lack of publicly available large-scale food image datasets with com- prehensive <i>ground truth</i> labels	Develop feasible method to annotate food images crawled from the Web or collected from nutrition studies that can scale up
Inaccurate food image-segmentation algorithms	Reduce the burden of requiring fine-grain pixel-level training data for image segmentation and leverage accurate image or specific image region level information to improve food segmentation performance
Nonrobust food image-recognition systems	Design deep neural network-based models to capture structures in the image that are associated with specific foods and incorporate contextual information to improve robustness
Inaccurate food portion size estimation in image	Develop methods that can directly link food images to portion size; explore 3-dimensional information from newer camera sensors on mobile devices



Alshurafa et al

Challenge: Lack of Publicly Available Large-Scale Food Image Datasets With Comprehensive Ground Truth Labels

A ground truth label, derived from observable data, is the objective verification of particular properties of a digital image, used to test the accuracy of automated image analysis processes. The ground truth of food images includes known, fixed features such as pixels representing food objects in the image (used for food segmentation), food types (used for food recognition), and food portion size in grams (used for portion size estimation). Such information is necessary to train the image analysis system to accurately estimate calorie intake from the image. Several publicly available food datasets contain a substantial amount of food images [18] and provide general labels of different food types, but none provide information relative to portion size, segmented food items, or additional context of the image source. To reliably build a machine learning model that automatically maps images to calories, successful image-based systems need large collections of food images (ie, food image datasets) with the necessary ground truth labels to improve the learned models. These ground truth labels should clearly delineate different food items even if they are on a single plate and should include portion size information for each food item.

Research Opportunities

To address the need for constructing large-scale food datasets with food images that provide comprehensive ground truth information, a solution is to merge food images sourced from the internet or from nutrition studies with manual annotation from crowd-sourcing platforms. Amazon Mechanical Turk (AMT) has been used for food image collection and annotation tasks [19,20], although AMT is not tailored for building large food image datasets efficiently with proper labels. This inefficiency may be partly attributed to its high cost and dependency on crowdsource workers unfamiliar with the context in which the data were collected (eg, restaurant food vs homemade meal). There are opportunities to develop novel tools that not only label foods in the image but also remove irrelevant images to aid crowdsource workers in accurately labeling necessary data. These approaches can be developed using a combination of crowd input and advanced automatic image analysis techniques [21].

Challenge: Inaccurate Food Image–Segmentation Algorithms

Image segmentation is the process of partitioning an image using an algorithm into disjointed and coherent regions on the basis of prespecified features. Food image segmentation is important for multifood images in which subsequent analysis, such as recognition and portion size estimation, depends on having accurate segmentation of each food in the image. Owing to the complexity of food images (eg, occlusion, hidden or mixed foods, and shadows), accurate food image segmentation is a difficult task and affects the ability of image-based sensing systems to identify food types. Previous studies [22-26] have used image-segmentation methods such as contour-to-region, graph-based, and superpixel-based approaches. A segmentation method based on deep neural networks has been proposed [27] to reliably build a model that automatically segments foods.

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904
```

However, these models require pixel-level food labels or labeled bounding boxes to indicate regions containing foods, which is time-consuming and computationally expensive.

Research Opportunities

Owing to the inefficiency and high expense, some studies have applied graph-based methods to select regions containing foods [28] or have explored techniques where only image-level labels indicating the presence or absence of foods are required instead of requiring pixel-level labels of food objects [29]. The opportunity to advance such methods remains, as does the main opportunity of creating efficient segmentation algorithms that provide pixel-level labels and training for each image in a food dataset.

Challenge: Nonrobust Food Image Recognition Systems

Research [30-32] in food recognition has analyzed multiple features and classification algorithms (aimed at identifying foods) that are effective but mainly restricted to a known food dataset that has been established a priori. Researchers [27,33,34] use either an end-to-end deep neural network or image features with variations of support vector machine (SVM) [35] classification algorithms to optimize food recognition. However, many studies on food recognition assume that only 1 food item is present in an image and apply a multiclass classification algorithm to identify the foods. In real-world scenarios, there is typically more than 1 food item in an image, where each food item is a segment in the image and is described by handcrafted or deep features and then classified by an SVM classifier [22,36].

Research Opportunities

Robust and accurate food image recognition remains a challenge because many foods have a deformable appearance and thus lack of rigid structures and because there often exists subtle differences in visual features among different food categories. Factors such as food preparation and personal preferences can also affect the appearance of food ingredients. Deep neural network-based approaches provide opportunities to improve the robustness and accuracy of food recognition systems but depend heavily on well-constructed training datasets and proper selections of neural network architectures. However, there is an opportunity to provide contextual information in the food recognition algorithm, which can include environmental cues and previous diet history. There have been advances in restaurant-specific food recognition [23,37,38] where location and menu information are used to assist with recognition. Others [39] have integrated recipe and cuisine as context and prior knowledge to aid automatic food recognition. Food patterns across time and dietary preferences are increasingly being shown to improve food classification accuracy [40]. Incorporating contextual cues can be essential to advancing the robustness of food recognition algorithms.

Challenge: Inaccurate Portion Size Estimation in Image

Estimating food portion size from an image is challenging as preparation and consumption impose large variations on food shape and appearance. Several food portion estimation techniques based on reconstructing the 3-dimensional (3D) models of the foods have been developed, which require users

XSL•FO RenderX

to take multiple images or videos or to modify mobile devices [41-45] to enable reconstruction. These approaches work well for irregularly shaped foods, but they do not work well when there are no strongly matched features (ie, corresponding sets of points) occurring on multiple frames. These approaches also require users to capture multiple images from different angles, making them tedious and unsuitable for long-term health monitoring and data collection. Others have focused on developing methods to estimate food portion size from a single-view image [17,46-49]. These methods use geometric model-based techniques that require food labels and food segmentation masks (ie, pixel location of foods in the image). Errors from automatic food classification and image segmentation can propagate into the final portion estimation. In addition, existing methods have only examined small model libraries consisting of foods with simple geometric shapes (eg, apples, burgers, and pizza). Further research is required to develop more comprehensive model libraries capable of dealing with irregularly shaped foods.

Research Opportunities

Despite some promising results from existing approaches, the performance of current portion estimation methods is not yet satisfactory. More recently, several groups [27,50] have developed portion estimation methods using deep learning. However, these techniques estimate food volumes rather than food energy. With food volumes estimated, food density is still required to compute weights, which can then be mapped to food energy using a food composition resource, such as the FNDDS [18]. Therefore, new approaches [16] that can directly link food images to food energy in the image are desirable.

Depth sensors and dual camera configurations are quickly gaining popularity on consumer mobile devices. More 3D information can be collected without significantly adding to a user's burden capturing the eating scene. For example, mobile phones equipped with depth sensors enable simultaneous capture of image depth and the RGB color model image. For dual camera systems, at least two images are captured from slightly different angles, enabling multiview 3D reconstruction techniques. The additional information captured by the mobile devices may improve the accuracy of food portion estimation by providing additional 3D information on food objects.

Eating Action Unit–Based Sensing

Although existing imaging technologies have shown reasonable success in estimating calorie intake and nutrients from images, there is growing interest in capturing proxies to calorie intake with sensor modalities that have fewer wearer privacy concerns. EAUs (ie, fine-grained activity units that occur during eating) are a mechanism to understand calorie intake patterns and behaviors. Accelerometer- and gyroscope-based inertial measurement units [51,52] are examples of EAUs that assess eating patterns. These techniques have been developed as a result of observing feeding gestures (or bites) and their correlation to calorie intake [53,54]. The underlying assumption of EAUs is that by counting the number of bites and estimating average calories per bite, we can provide a reasonable estimate of overall calories consumed, map the number of bites to calories to determine over- or underconsumption, and enable users to automatically quantify their calorie intake using EAU-based devices [55].

Capturing EAUs enables actionable insight, where information generated can be used by wearers, clinicians, and dietitians in a timely manner. They also enable interventionists to test the efficacy of calorie-informed, just-in-time interventions in close proximity to eating episodes. Although the detection of EAUs has shown promise, several challenges prevent these systems from being adopted in clinical and population settings (Table 2).

Table 2. Challenges and research opportunities in adopting eating action unit-based sensing methods.

Challenge	Research opportunity	
Limited understanding of context surrounding system success and failures	Use wearable video cameras to validate contextual information surrounding when sensor-algorithm pairings fail in real-world settings	
Privacy protection in ground truth data collection methods	Identify novel ways of protecting bystanders and other sensitive informa- tion in the field of view of cameras both in hardware and software to ensure wearer privacy concerns are addressed, thereby increasing likelihood of capturing naturally occurring behavior	
Inability to accurately distinguish between food categories	Define food categories that are most useful for clinicians and researchers for diet interventions and food recalls	

Challenge: Insufficient Understanding of the Context of System Success and Failure

Several systems have shown promise in free-living populations but fall short of delineating the contexts for when and where their systems succeed and fail, which prevents others from building on previous work to advance EAU systems under challenging scenarios. For example, gesture EAUs are confounded by smoking action units; however, few studies attempt to consider other challenging contextual scenarios that can confound eating behaviors [56]. Attempts to advance eating

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904

detection while considering challenging contexts are limited primarily because confounding contexts are not clearly delineated. A preliminary study in 8 participants who wore a wrist-worn sensor for a few hours in a free-living situation demonstrated that wearable video cameras have an approximately 38% false-discovery rate, which typically corresponded to phone-related gestures [57]. The false-discovery rate could be mitigated by integrating phone usage information with the system. However, data are limited in the context in which 1 device outperforms the other, limiting our ability to advance EAU-based eating detection systems.

Research Opportunity

Additional data are needed on the strengths and limitations that lead systems to succeed and/or fail in free-living populations. Understanding the context of success or failure enables identification of strengths and weaknesses of various systems and advances both the hardware and algorithm used to solve these challenges. Studies are beginning to identify the context in which sensor-algorithm pairings fail; however, they lack validity through visual confirmation. With the exception of a few recent studies [57-62], few researchers have incorporated wearable video cameras in the field to provide such validation. Researchers should continue using wearable video cameras in free-living populations and clearly state the context within which the system succeeds or fails.

Challenge: Inability to Protect Privacy When Using Wearable Video Cameras in the Field

Evaluation of an eating detection system necessitates testing against visually confirmed (with video) ground truth (ie, means of validating the activity in a real-world setting). Visual confirmation of eating behaviors is the strongest form of ground truth available for EAUs but also one of the most burdensome on the participant and researcher. Many researchers limit their studies to controlled settings primarily because of the limited robustness of the sensor and the time required to manually label video streams to produce ground truth. There is significant time and cost associated with designing a fail-safe device that can function in free-living environments [63]. However, people are generally unwilling to wear wearable video cameras in real-world settings owing to privacy concerns, and the likelihood of behaving naturally in the presence of a video camera is limited [64]. Recent research has shown that, given acceptable levels of incentives and properly orienting the camera, participants are willing to don wearable video cameras in real-world settings for a short period of time. Some researchers bypass the use of wearable video cameras by combining other sources of information, such as food journaling and sensor data [65], commercial electroencephalography (EEG) sensors to produce labels for a wearable EEG device [66], and a GoPro Hero 3 camera mounted on the chest facing the jaw [58].

Research Opportunity

Ensuring a long-lived, minimally intrusive method for capturing ground truth is necessary for capturing realistic data and rigorously testing interventions. As many participants report concerns for bystanders as their main reason for being unwilling to wear a camera all day [64,67,68], researchers may be able to

design video cameras that are both privacy-preserving and that aid in validating other body-worn sensors by providing video confirmation of EAUs. Importantly, this will ensure that sensors being deployed adequately validate the behaviors they claim to capture in the settings they are most needed.

Challenge: Inability to Accurately Distinguish Between Food Categories

Similar to image processing, EAU-based sensors have shown success in distinguishing between different food categories. Chewing crunchy chips compared with chewing a banana produces very different sensor signals, and researchers are beginning to capitalize on these variations to distinguish between food items and type. Automatically determining solid versus liquid ingestion has provided some utility in identifying sources of ingestion behavior and intervention design, allowing researchers to investigate this phenomenon [69-71]. This could provide utility in a hospital setting, where foods provided to patients are known a priori, narrowing the food search space. However, this limits utility in free-living populations, and the challenge remains in increasing external system validity.

Research Opportunity

Knowledge of an individual's diet may narrow the search space, enabling sensors to automatically distinguish between individuals, given their known diet and food environment. An opportunity exists to categorize foods in a way that would be most useful for researchers and clinicians in improving calorie intake estimates. Although distinguishing between liquid and solid consumption may have research utility, it is unknown what other types of food categories may be distinguishable. Within-subject variability of nutrients is influenced by gender, age, and education [72]. Thus, this research opportunity would be most helpful for populations with low-variability diets, particularly among elderly participants or patients on restricted diets.

Biochemical Measure–Based Sensing

There are concerted efforts underway to characterize the biochemical changes in the body that result from food and calorie intake. Novel classes of biochemical and electrochemical sensing systems could be used to analyze changes in metabolic activity observed in interstitial fluid, saliva, or sweat [73,74]. In this section, we have reviewed wearable sweat monitoring systems that have been deployed recently in remote environments (Table 3).

Table 3. Challenges and research opportunities in adopting biochemical measure-based sensing methods.

Challenge	Research opportunity	
On-body biochemical monitoring	Apply wearable biochemical sensors to monitor electrolytes, metabolites, and proteins in biological fluids (eg, saliva, sweat, and interstitial fluid)	
Stability of wearable sensors under different environmental conditions for metabolites, electrolytes, and proteins	Develop stable biochemical tests to determine concentrations (bioassays) of glucose, lactate, cortisol, ammonium, sodium, chloride, and potassium, which require limited handling and refrigeration with dehydration or freeze-drying methods	
Reusable vs single-use wearable sensors	Develop low-cost battery and energy harvesting solutions to enable single- use and multiuse modes of operation	



Challenge: On-Body Biochemical Monitoring

Recent efforts have focused on biochemical analysis of eccrine sweat using wearable devices [75-77], which leverage both colorimetric and electronic-based sensors that collect sweat directly from skin pores and measure biomarker concentrations and dynamics (eg, sweat loss and sweat rate) in real time. This opens new possibilities for characterizing electrolyte and metabolite loss during daily activities, which can be correlated with blood metabolites, hormone, proteins, pathogens, and drugs [78,79].

Continuously monitoring biomarkers in sweat requires highly sensitive techniques for extraction and electrochemical analysis. Researchers have devised strategies to reduce the contamination effects of skin in contact with the device, while increasing sweat collection volume. This new class of wearable biochemical sensors could provide viable pathways for creating noninvasive and remote analysis of diet, wellness, and health [75]. However, shelf-life stability of biochemical sensors, susceptibility to contamination, and fundamental limitations in capturing sufficient volumes of sweat remain problematic.

Research Opportunity

Key opportunities lie in the design and deployment of biochemical-sensing devices that can endure temperature changes owing to environmental factors and mechanical impact while maintaining signal quality without degradation over time. Beyond device resiliency, comparisons of sweat and blood analyte levels must be tested across healthy and sick populations to determine validity and applicability of on-body sweat sensing.

Challenge: Enabling Robust Onboard Enzymatic and Chemical Assays (Biochemical Tests and Assays) Under All Environmental Conditions

The rich heterogeneous blend of electrolytes, metabolites, and proteins in sweat represents a unique set of noninvasively collected data. These biomarkers have been shown to correspond to the physiologic state and may serve as the basis for understanding cognitive impairment in the field. To date, most studies have focused on characterizing electrolytes and metabolites (eg, glucose or lactate) using bioassays in controlled laboratory settings. Metabolic biomarkers could change with physical stress and diet during daily activity outside of controlled laboratory settings. The stability of wearable biochemical sensors is thus crucial to maintain over extended time periods in real-world settings.

Research Opportunity

Wearable biochemical sensors that employ onboard dehydrating reagents or buffers that reduce degradation could lead to broad-scale deployment of these systems. Refrigeration is useful in protecting against bioassay degradation, but it requires special instructions and specialized equipment for proper handling and modes of operation. The development of new classes of wearable devices that require limited handling and refrigeration and that can handle enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and protein-based analysis, using dehydration and freeze-drying steps to promote chemical stability, represents an area of enormous potential for robust remote-based deployment of wearable technologies.

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904
```

Challenge: Reusable Versus Single-Use Sensors

Continuous monitoring of sweat biomarkers requires flexible electronics modules, memory storage, and onboard batteries to facilitate data capture, signal processing, and transmission. Significant practical considerations, such as sensor corrosion at the interface with ionic fluids, need for cleaning, and the resulting signal degradation that could occur over time limit the utility of reusable systems. Electrochemical sensing systems consisting of a reusable electronics module and single-use electrochemical sensors provide compelling routes to address these challenges. Single-use system designs may circumvent the challenges of long-term wear, fluid–device interface, and signal degradation. However, disposable devices must be carefully engineered to support sufficiently reduced cost to warrant single-use deployment.

Research Opportunity

Sweat is a corrosive biofluid that engenders significant device cleaning to facilitate reuse of the device. Thus, single-use wearable biochemical-sensing systems address important limitations of reusable systems assuming cost constraints are met. Hybrid designs, in which the reusable module mechanically couples to a single-use biochemical sensor, may mitigate the limitations of reusable and single-use systems. Although hybrid systems tend to cost more, they have significantly greater signal processing and battery capacity for long-term continuous monitoring.

Challenges Across Sensing Modalities

Regardless of the type of sensing modality, calorie estimation techniques share a set of common challenges because of the unique role that eating and nutrition play in everyone's lives. These challenges are related to sensor development, validation, and refinement both in controlled and free-living settings.

Challenge: Burden of Multimodal Systems

Although many researchers have studied detecting eating using a single wearable device, several are beginning to combine multiple sensors and context via multiple wearable devices to advance the total accuracy of an eating detection system. Mirtchouk et al [80] showed that using in-ear audio with head and wrist sensors improved accuracy from 67.8% with audio alone to 82.7% and 76.2% for head and wrist sensors, respectively. However, these approaches were mainly tested in a laboratory setting, not in a free-living environment, and it is unknown how well the findings translate to free-living populations. Multimodal sensor studies that attempt to determine utility of sensors in real-world settings are sorely needed.

Wrist sensors coupled with other sensor modalities (eg, GPS and respiratory plethysmography) may aid in distinguishing among smoking, eating, and other activities. Examples of multimodal systems include using a jaw motion sensor, a hand gesture sensor, and an accelerometer [81] and using an airflow sensor, a respiratory plethysmography chest sensor, and a wrist-worn sensor [82]. However, the burden of wearing all these sensors is significant. Thus, novel ways of combining less burdensome sensors and devices or integrating noncontact or noninvasive devices are needed while advancing the accuracy in detecting calorie and macronutrient intake or proxies.

XSL•FO RenderX

Challenge: Time Asynchronization Across Sensors

A multidevice system brings challenges in coordinating and synchronizing activities and sensing across devices. As each device manages its own internal clock, this network of clocks can become unsynchronized following power failure or reset. Most devices are designed to be standalone and use an internal clock, as opposed to time stamping their data using a nearby smartphone or body sensor unit. Time synchronization in real time has been a long-studied problem; however, automated time-synchronization methods post data collection can enable researchers to test multiple devices simultaneously, without the need to reengineer the device to use a central hub. Without reliable millisecond time-synchronization techniques, annotations from 1 sensor stream (eg, video camera) are not transferable to another sensor stream.

Challenge: Lack of Automation in Data Labeling

Once a sensor is deployed in a real-world setting, a supervised learning model, which aims to categorize data from prior known labels or information (ie, supervised training), is designed to process the data and determine system viability. However, one challenge in building a supervised learning model is providing sufficiently annotated instances or labels to train the model. Prior studies in real-world settings have depended on self-reported annotations [59,83-86], which are burdensome and rarely timely. More recently, studies are using wearable cameras worn by participants to provide annotations through visual activity confirmation poststudy [57-62]. To visually confirm, a data labeler is hired to watch the video and label points in time when the activity occurred, which is time-consuming and prone to error. Computer scientists are beginning to design tools to automatically annotate using active learning systems that attempt to reduce the required number of annotations to build a reliable machine learning model. However, systems currently developed focus on building models that process data with samples that are fixed in time (eg, an image or a minute of data). Active learning systems designed to handle activities with varied durations (eg, eating episodes, feeding gestures, and chewing duration) can fill this gap.

Challenge: Unknown Acceptability of System by Users

For a system to succeed in real-world settings, it must be acceptable for the population of interest. Although several surveys have been designed to assess wearability of systems, there is no validated standard survey or approach to assess willingness to wear and use a device in the nutrition context. Current systems deploy devices for a variable amount of time (eg, 1–2 days, 1 week, or 1 month) and then report comfort based on a Likert scale. Habits regarding technology adoption are not properly understood until at least 1 week (when most individuals stop using an app or a device) [87]. As a result, acceptability must be clearly limited to the number of days the system was actually tested in free-living populations. An important contributor to system acceptability is battery lifetime, which is closely tied to device burden (ie, frequency of recharge).

Challenge: Short System Battery Lifetime

Long battery lifetime is essential for wearable technology to ensure high sensor sensitivity and recall of eating episodes in free-living populations. It is reported to be the most important feature rated by mobile device users [88-90]. Battery lifetime becomes critically important in longitudinal studies where reducing user burden is key to gathering more data and encouraging habituation. If users must recharge a device multiple times a day, this will limit data collection. Moreover, battery lifetime enhancements enable populations who may otherwise not be able to manage a device (eg, pediatric or geriatric populations). There are several software approaches to increase battery lifetime including duty-cycling, high-powered sensors, or triggering with low-power sensors. Reducing computational complexity and designing for specificity also reduces wasted energy. New materials enable batteryless sensing devices powered by energy harvested from the environment, wearer motion, or Wi-Fi gateways. Although these sensors show promise, they are not without challenges, as reliability can be an issue when ambient energy is not readily available. Wearable sensors are increasingly being developed to last several months [91,92], but most commercial sensors last <12 hours [93] when attempting to collect continuous inertial measurement unit data. Low-maintenance sensor solutions must be designed, and careful consideration of battery lifetime must exist in every phase of system and study design.

Challenge: Limited Rigor of System Testing

Although technology development serves as an important contribution to the health community, reproducibility of the results is essential to determine proper construct validity, internal reliability, and test-retest reliability to increase confidence in the potential of a system to work in real-world settings. Most existing wearable sensors and systems show success by their principal investigator but have not extended beyond the laboratories in which they were implemented. To prevent bias in reporting, researchers need to disseminate their systems (hardware, software, and datasets) to other teams to provide independent testing and review. Such rigor in testing of sensing platforms is needed across all sensor modalities.

How Technology-Enabled Devices Can Assist Conventional Subjective Diet Assessment

Conventional diet assessments comprise subjective and objective (eg, double-labeled water and metabolic chamber) approaches [94]. Although both approaches measure calorie and macronutrient intake, subjective diet assessments are more commonly implemented in research and clinical settings [95], in part owing to greater convenience and reduced cost [96]. Subjective diet assessments are not constrained by battery lifetimes and are acceptable for target populations. However, each type of subjective diet assessment introduces unique types of measurement error depending on how the diet data are being collected. A description of each assessment, and its strengths and limitations, is presented in Table 4. We posit that technology—such as image sensing, EAU, and biochemical

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904
```

XSL•F() RenderX

measures—can assist subjective diet assessments to capture habitual dietary intake and eating behaviors, as systematic and random errors associated with both approaches are fundamentally independent. Replacing subjective diet assessments with technology may be difficult as other limitations could arise, such as ambiguity in identifying food images through image distortion or uncertainty over whether the food was truly consumed [97]. Combining information from technology and subjective diet assessments improves the validity of dietary intake data because the 2 approaches complement each other's strengths and limitations.

 Table 4. Conventional subjective measurements of energy and macronutrient intake.

Method	Description	Strengths	Limitations
24-hour diet recalls	Inquiry about everything one had to eat and drink during the previous day (usually midnight to midnight); probes often used to collect more de- tail and standardize the interview	Open-ended, enabling greater detail about intake and food preparation; good for culturally diverse diets; less burdensome	Memory dependent; error prone in quantifying portion sizes; requires intensive interviewer effort, which can decrease motivation to collect accurate data; repeated measures needed to capture usual intake; can alter eating behaviors if recalls are scheduled in advance
Food records	Detailed list of all foods and drinks consumed over a specified amount of time, written by respondent and ideal- ly using weight scales or measuring tools to determine portion size; pro- vides data about actual intake	Open-ended; does not rely on memo- ry if records are completed on time; allows for self-monitoring	Requires intensive respondent effort, which can decrease motivation to collect accurate data or lead to poor response rate; burdensome on staff to analyze data owing to entering and coding items; repeated measures needed to capture usual intake; can alter eating behaviors since respon- dents are monitoring their diets
Food frequency questionnaire	Questionnaire asking whether a food item was consumed during a specified period of time; contains 2 components (food list and frequency response question); provides data about relative intake	Measures usual intake; less burden- some on respondent and research staff	Memory dependent; food list is fixed and may not capture usual intake, particularly in a culturally diverse di- et; may be difficult to quantify food portions without food images; diffi- cult to inquire about mixed dishes; respondent may have difficulty inter- preting the questions

One primary concern for using subjective diet assessments includes intentional or unintentional misreporting of dietary intake [98]. Specifically, 24-hour dietary recalls and FFQs rely on memory, which can depend on age, education, attention during eating, and consistency of diet patterns [94,99]. Many individuals underestimate portion sizes for foods and beverages [100] and are sometimes provided with household items, food scales, and/or 2-dimensional images of foods with anchors to improve portion size accuracy [94]. However, these instruments create additional burden and decrease motivation to accurately capture caloric and macronutrient intake. These limitations have far-reaching implications as investigators would be uncertain if the subjective diet assessments are accurately characterizing true dietary intake [101], correctly identifying whether participants are adhering to specific diet interventions [102], and introducing bias when investigating diet-disease associations [101]. Image-sensing and EAU behavior approaches can minimize misreporting by objectively capturing food images and by identifying timing of eating episodes, allowing individuals and researchers to corroborate information from subjective diet assessments. Furthermore, image-sensing and EAU measures can also serve as visual or verbal cues to assist recall when conducting subjective diet assessments.

A limitation specific to 24-hour dietary recall and food records is the measurement of acute intake and not the usual diet [94]. Multiple measures are needed to capture usual intake, and data

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904
```

XSL•FO RenderX collection must occur for every day of the week [94]. However, increasing the number of subjective diet assessments creates greater burden for the individual and the research team. Image-sensing and EAU measures can reduce the number of 24-hour dietary recalls and food records needed to capture the best estimates of absolute dietary intake, while automating the analysis of dietary data. To this end, more research is needed to evaluate the number of images and EAU measures needed to provide the best approximation of absolute dietary intakes.

Biochemical measures can also determine nutrient status of the body. However, biochemical concentrations are not true markers of dietary intake and can reflect how the body absorbs, transports, metabolizes, and excretes the nutrient [103]. Therefore, biochemical measures cannot replace subjective diet assessments since it would be unclear how nutrient status is influenced by dietary intake or in vivo processes. Recent advances in statistical approaches, such as prediction models that use data from technology and conventional subjective approaches, account for measurement errors and can provide more accurate results [104,105].

Technology-enabled devices that measure calories and nutrients can also have far-reaching implications in clinical practice. A recent study reported that providers perceive health-tracking technologies as very useful when reviewing patient data, managing medical visits, and facilitating patient–provider

communication [106]. A growing number of patients are also engaging with health technology. According to the National Cancer Institute's 2017 Health Information Trends Survey, 34% reported owning an electronic monitoring device to track their health behaviors [107]. A growing opportunity remains in developing efficient strategies to merge technology with subjective diet assessments toward obesity prevention and treatment efforts.

Discussion and Conclusions

Sensors from the 3 domains presented (image-based, EAU-based, and biochemical measure–based) have the potential to identify markers that improve estimates of calorie intake. However, the technologies still require considerable user input from the end user, scientist, or clinician who may have to label or segment images or metrics from such wearables to train a machine learning system. Fully automating technology-enabled calorie and nutrient monitoring would open the possibility to providing highly informed and validated information to augment recall methods and advance estimates of calorie intake for clinicians and patients.

Wearable-based sensing modalities focused on biochemical processes offer a solution for understanding food nutrients. However, more technical expertise is needed to merge conformal, low battery, secure, and valid technology with appropriate caloric assumptions. Once a stronger correlation can be drawn between biochemical products analyzed and calories consumed, biochemical-based wearables may provide promise in future automated calorie estimation systems. However, as with most wearable technologies, adherence to wearing the device remains problematic. This may be overcome if the value in such technologies pans out.

Although calories and nutrients can be consumed and monitored, it is essential to understand the behavioral choices that drive these decisions and if those behaviors can provide insight into calorie intake. All 3 systems have the potential to provide such information from cortisol levels for stressful eating (using biochemical sensors) to late-night snacking (using image-, physical-, and behavioral-based sensors) and beyond. The biggest challenge then becomes how to use the reliable big data collected from these devices to drive an actionable outcome such as lower calorie consumption or identification of eating behaviors that increase calorie intake.

It is our view that the defined research opportunities regarding calorie intake monitoring apps are the most promising, which may move the science toward a ubiquitous future of such monitoring. Nonetheless, challenges remain to fully introduce such solutions to have the desired health impact that clinicians and patients alike expect. At present, the next logical step is for scientists to improve the functionality of such devices, for human-computer interaction experts to improve usability, and for clinical teams and behavioral scientists to assess what information can be used to improve health behavior interventions given these new advanced technological tools. This translational, multidomain effort will demonstrate whether calorie intake monitoring enables higher quality of life and thus challenges the public health crisis of obesity.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded by a Smart and Connected Health grant from the National Science Foundation to BS (award #1545751) and a K25 award from the National Institutes of Health National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases to NA (1K25DK113242). AWL is supported by a grant from the National Institutes of Health National Cancer Institute (T32CA193193). Sponsors had no role in review or approval of the paper for publication. The authors would like to thank the attendees of the workshop. The authors would also like to thank Krystina Neuman, PhD, for her constructive feedback in the preparation of the paper.

Authors' Contributions

All authors drafted the paper or critically revised it for intellectual content, gave approval for the final version to be published, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

List of attendees including faculty, postdoctoral researchers, and graduate students who participated in the discussions. [DOCX File, $14 \text{ KB} - \frac{\text{jmir} - v21i12e14904 - app1.docx}{2}$]

References

RenderX

- Williams EP, Mesidor M, Winters K, Dubbert PM, Wyatt SB. Overweight and obesity: prevalence, consequences, and causes of a growing public health problem. Curr Obes Rep 2015 Sep;4(3):363-370. [doi: <u>10.1007/s13679-015-0169-4</u>] [Medline: <u>26627494</u>]
- 2. Dietary Assessment Primer National Cancer Institute. Principles Underlying Recommendations. URL: <u>https://dietassessmentprimer.cancer.gov/approach/principles.html</u> [accessed 2019-05-05]

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904

- Poslusna K, Ruprich J, de Vries JH, Jakubikova M, van't Veer P. Misreporting of energy and micronutrient intake estimated by food records and 24 hour recalls, control and adjustment methods in practice. Br J Nutr 2009 Jul;101(Suppl 2):S73-S85. [doi: 10.1017/S0007114509990602] [Medline: 19594967]
- 4. Kirkpatrick S, Subar A, Douglass D, Zimmerman T, Thompson F, Kahle L, et al. Performance of the Automated Self-Administered 24-hour Recall relative to a measure of true intakes and to an interviewer-administered 24-h recall. Am J Clin Nutr 2014 Jul;100(1):233-240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.083238] [Medline: 24787491]
- Nahum-Shani I, Hekler EB, Spruijt-Metz D. Building health behavior models to guide the development of just-in-time adaptive interventions: A pragmatic framework. Health Psychol 2015 Dec;34S:1209-1219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/hea0000306] [Medline: 26651462]
- 6. McCarroll R, Eyles H, Mhurchu C. Effectiveness of mobile health (mHealth) interventions for promoting healthy eating in adults: a systematic review. Prev Med 2017 Dec;105:156-168. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.08.022] [Medline: 28882743]
- Kalantarian H, Alshurafa N, Sarrafzadeh M. A survey of diet monitoring technology. IEEE Pervasive Comput 2017 Jan;16(1):57-65. [doi: 10.1109/MPRV.2017.1]
- 8. Kalantarian H, Alshurafa N, Sarrafzadeh M. A Survey of Diet Monitoring Technology. IEEE Pervasive Comput 2017 Jan;16(1):57-65. [doi: 10.1109/MPRV.2017.1]
- Magrini ML, Minto C, Lazzarini F, Martinato M, Gregori D. Wearable devices for caloric intake assessment: state of art and future developments. Open Nurs J 2017;11:232-240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874434601711010232] [Medline: 29238426]
- 10. Vu T, Lin F, Alshurafa N, Xu W. Wearable food intake monitoring technologies: a comprehensive review. Computers 2017;6(1):4. [doi: 10.3390/computers6010004]
- Schembre SM, Liao Y, O'Connor SG, Hingle MD, Shen S, Hamoy KG, et al. Mobile ecological momentary diet assessment methods for behavioral research: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 20;6(11):e11170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11170] [Medline: 30459148]
- 12. Six BL, Schap TE, Zhu FM, Mariappan A, Bosch M, Delp EJ, et al. Evidence-based development of a mobile telephone food record. J Am Diet Assoc 2010 Jan;110(1):74-79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2009.10.010] [Medline: 20102830]
- Zhu F, Bosch M, Woo I, Kim S, Boushey CJ, Ebert DS, et al. The use of mobile devices in aiding dietary assessment and evaluation. IEEE J Sel Top Signal Process 2010 Aug;4(4):756-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/JSTSP.2010.2051471] [Medline: 20862266]
- 14. LeCun Y, Bengio Y, Hinton G. Deep learning. Nature 2015 May 28;521(7553):436-444. [doi: <u>10.1038/nature14539</u>] [Medline: <u>26017442</u>]
- 15. Boushey CJ, Spoden M, Zhu FM, Delp EJ, Kerr DA. New mobile methods for dietary assessment: review of image-assisted and image-based dietary assessment methods. Proc Nutr Soc 2017 Aug;76(3):283-294. [doi: 10.1017/S0029665116002913] [Medline: 27938425]
- 16. Fang S, Shao Z, Mao R, Fu C, Kerr D, Boushey C. Single-View Food Portion Estimation: Learning Image-to-Energy Mappings Using Generative Adversarial Networks. In: Proceedings of the 2018 25th IEEE International Conference on Image Processing. 2018 Presented at: ICIP'18; October 7-10, 2018; Athens, Greece. [doi: 10.1109/icip.2018.8451461]
- Fang S, Liu C, Zhu F, Delp E, Boushey C. Single-View Food Portion Estimation Based on Geometric Models. In: 2015 IEEE International Symposium on Multimedia. 2015 Presented at: ISM'15; December 14-16, 2015; Miami, FL, USA. [doi: 10.1109/ism.2015.67]
- 18. Montville JB, Ahuja JK, Martin CL, Heendeniya KY, Omolewa-Tomobi G, Steinfeldt LC, et al. USDA Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies (FNDDS), 5.0. Procedia Food Sci 2013;2:99-112. [doi: 10.1016/j.profoo.2013.04.016]
- 19. Kawano Y, Yanai K. Automatic expansion of a food image dataset leveraging existing categories with domain adaptation. In: Computer Vision - ECCV 2014 Workshops. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2015:3-17.
- Rabbi M, Costa J, Okeke F, Schachere M, Zhang M, Choudhury T. An Intelligent Crowd-worker Selection Approach for Reliable Content Labeling of Food Images. In: Proceedings of the conference on Wireless Health. 2015 Presented at: WH'15; October 14-16, 2015; Bethesda, Maryland. [doi: 10.1145/2811780.2811955]
- 21. Fang S, Liu C, Tahboub K, Zhu F, Delp E, Boushey C. cTADA: The Design of a Crowdsourcing Tool for Online Food Image Identification and Segmentation. In: Proceedings of the 2018 IEEE Southwest Symposium on Image Analysis and Interpretation. 2018 Presented at: SSIAI'18; April 8-10, 2018; Las Vegas, NV, USA. [doi: 10.1109/ssiai.2018.8470358]
- 22. Zhu F, Bosch M, Khanna N, Boushey CJ, Delp EJ. Multiple hypotheses image segmentation and classification with application to dietary assessment. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2015 Jan;19(1):377-388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2014.2304925] [Medline: 25561457]
- 23. Bettadapura V, Thomaz E, Parnami A, Abowd G, Essa I. Leveraging Context to Support Automated Food Recognition in Restaurants. In: 2015 IEEE Winter Conference on Applications of Computer Vision. 2015 Presented at: WACV'15; January 6-8, 2015; Waikoloa Beach, Hawaii. [doi: 10.1109/wacv.2015.83]
- 24. Matsuda Y, Hoashi H, Yanai K. Recognition of Multiple-Food Images by Detecting Candidate Regions. In: 2012 IEEE International Conference on Multimedia and Expo. 2012 Presented at: ICME'12; July 9-13, 2012; Melbourne, VIC, Australia. [doi: 10.1109/icme.2012.157]

- 25. He Y, Xu C, Khanna N, Boushey C, Delp E. Food image analysis: segmentation, identification and weight estimation. Proc (IEEE Int Conf Multimed Expo) 2013 Jul;2013:- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/ICME.2013.6607548] [Medline: 28572873]
- 26. Wang Y, Liu C, Zhu F, Boushey C, Delp E. Efficient Superpixel Based Segmentation for Food Image Analysis. In: Proceedings of the 2016 IEEE International Conference on Image Processing. 2016 Presented at: ICIP'16; September 25-28, 2016; Phoenix, AZ, USA. [doi: 10.1109/ICIP.2016.7532818]
- Myers A, Johnston N, Rathod V, Korattikara A, Gorban A, Silberman N. Im2Calories: Towards an Automated Mobile Vision Food Diary. In: Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision. 2015 Presented at: ICCV'15; December 7-13, 2015; Santiago, Chile p. 2015. [doi: 10.1109/iccv.2015.146]
- 28. Shimoda W, Yanai K. CNN-Based Food Image Segmentation Without Pixel-Wise Annotation. In: New Trends in Image Analysis and Processing -- ICIAP 2015 Workshops. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2015:449-457.
- Wang Y, Zhu F, Boushey C, Delp E. Weakly Supervised Food Image Segmentation Using Class Activation Maps. In: 2017 IEEE International Conference on Image Processing. 2017 Presented at: ICIP'17; September 17-20, 2017; Beijing, China. [doi: 10.1109/icip.2017.8296487]
- Bossard L, Guillaumin M, Van GL. Food-101—Mining discriminative components with random forests. In: Computer Vision – ECCV 2014. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2014:446-461.
- Kawano Y, Yanai K. FoodCam-256: A Large-scale Real-time Mobile Food Recognition System employing High-Dimensional Features and Compression of Classifier Weights. In: Proceedings of the 22nd ACM international conference on Multimedia. 2014 Presented at: MM'14; November 3-7, 2014; Orlando, Florida, USA p. 761-762. [doi: 10.1145/2647868.2654869]
- 32. Bosch M, Zhu F, Khanna N, Boushey C, Delp E. Combining Global and Local Features for Food Identification in Dietary Assessment. In: Proceedings of the 18th IEEE International Conference on Image Processing. 2011 Presented at: ICIP'11; September 11-14, 2011; Brussels, Belgium. [doi: 10.1109/icip.2011.6115809]
- Ao S, Ling C. Adapting New Categories for Food Recognition with Deep Representation. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Data Mining Workshop. 2015 Presented at: ICDMW'15; November 14-17, 2015; Atlantic City, NJ, USA.
- 34. Hassannejad H, Matrella G, Ciampolini P, de Munari I, Mordonini M, Cagnoni S. Food Image Recognition Using Very Deep Convolutional Networks. In: Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Multimedia Assisted Dietary Management. 2016 Presented at: MADiMa'16; October 16-16, 2016; Amsterdam, The Netherlands p. 41-49. [doi: 10.1145/2986035.2986042]
- 35. Cortes C, Vapnik V. Support-vector networks. Mach Learn 1995 Sep;20(3):273-297. [doi: 10.1007/BF00994018]
- 36. He Y, Xu C, Khanna N, Boushey C, Delp E. Analysis of Food Images: Features and Classification. In: 2014 IEEE International Conference on Image Processing. 2014 Presented at: ICIP'14; October 27-30, 2014; Paris, France.
- Aguilar E, Remeseiro B, Bolanos M, Radeva P. Grab, pay, and eat: semantic food detection for smart restaurants. IEEE Trans Multimedia 2018;20(12):3266-3275. [doi: 10.1109/TMM.2018.2831627]
- Beijbom O, Joshi N, Morris D, Saponas S, Khullar S. Menu-Match: Restaurant-Specific Food Logging from Images. In: 2015 IEEE Winter Conference on Applications of Computer Vision. 2015 Presented at: WCACV'15; January 5-9, 2015; Waikoloa, HI, USA. [doi: 10.1109/wacv.2015.117]
- 39. Min W, Bao B, Mei S, Zhu Y, Rui Y, Jiang S. You are what you eat: exploring rich recipe information for cross-region food analysis. IEEE Trans Multimedia 2018 Apr;20(4):950-964. [doi: <u>10.1109/TMM.2017.2759499</u>]
- 40. Wang Y, He Y, Boushey CJ, Zhu F, Delp EJ. Context based image analysis with application in dietary assessment and evaluation. Multimed Tools Appl 2018 Aug;77(15):19769-19794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11042-017-5346-x] [Medline: 30202237]
- 41. Kong F, Tan J. DietCam: Automatic dietary assessment with mobile camera phones. Pervasive Mob Comput 2012;8(1):147-163. [doi: 10.1016/j.pmcj.2011.07.003]
- 42. Puri M, Zhu Z, Yu Q, Divakaran A, Sawhney H. Recognition and volume estimation of food intake using a mobile device. In: Proceedings of the 2009 Workshop on Applications of Computer Vision. 2009 Presented at: WACV'09; December 7-8, 2009; Snowbird, UT, USA.
- 43. Dehais J, Shevchik S, Diem P, Mougiakakou S. Food Volume Computation for Self Dietary Assessment Applications. In: Proceedings of the 13th IEEE International Conference on BioInformatics and BioEngineering. 2013 Presented at: BIBE'13; November 10-13, 2013; Chania, Greece. [doi: 10.1109/bibe.2013.6701615]
- 44. Sun M, Fernstrom JD, Jia W, Hackworth SA, Yao N, Li Y, et al. A wearable electronic system for objective dietary assessment. J Am Diet Assoc 2010 Jan;110(1):45-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2009.10.013] [Medline: 20102825]
- 45. Shang J, Duong M, Pepin E, Zhang X, Sandara-Rajan K, Mamishev A. A Mobile Structured Light System for Food Volume Estimation. In: Proceedings of the 2011 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision Workshops. 2011 Presented at: ICCV Workshops'11; November 6-13, 2011; Barcelona, Spain. [doi: 10.1109/iccvw.2011.6130229]
- 46. Chen H, Jia W, Li Z, Sun Y, Sun M. 3D/2D Model-to-image Registration for Quantitative Dietary Assessment. In: Proceedings of the 38th Annual Northeast Bioengineering Conference. 2012 Presented at: NEBEC'12; March 16-18, 2012; Philadelphia, PA, USA.
- 47. Pouladzadeh P, Shirmohammadi S, Al-Maghrabi R. Measuring calorie and nutrition from food image. IEEE Trans Instrum Meas 2014;63(8):1947-1956. [doi: 10.1109/TIM.2014.2303533]

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904
```

- Zhang W, Yu Q, Siddiquie B, Divakaran A, Sawhney H. 'Snap-n-Eat': Food recognition and nutrition estimation on a smartphone. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2015 May;9(3):525-533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296815582222] [Medline: 25901024]
- 49. Aizawa K, Maruyama Y, Li H, Morikawa C. Food balance estimation by using personal dietary tendencies in a multimedia food log. IEEE Trans Multimedia 2013;15(8):2176-2185. [doi: 10.1109/TMM.2013.2271474]
- 50. Ege T, Yanai K. Image-Based Food Calorie Estimation Using Knowledge on Food Categories, Ingredients and Cooking Directions. In: Proceedings of the on Thematic Workshops of ACM Multimedia 2017. 2017 Presented at: Thematic Workshops'17; October 23-27, 2017; Mountain View, California, USA p. 367-375. [doi: 10.1145/3126686.3126742]
- 51. Zhang S, Alharbi R, Stogin W, Pfammatter A, Spring B, Alshurafa N. Food Watch: Detecting and Characterizing Eating Episodes Through Feeding Gestures. In: Proceedings of the 11th EAI International Conference on Body Area Networks. 2016 Presented at: BodyNets'16; December 15-16, 2016; Turin, Italy. [doi: 10.4108/eai.15-12-2016.2267793]
- Thomaz E, Essa I, Abowd G. A practical approach for recognizing eating moments with wrist-mounted inertial sensing. Proc ACM Int Conf Ubiquitous Comput 2015 Sep;2015:1029-1040 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/2750858.2807545] [Medline: 29520397]
- Dong Y, Hoover A, Scisco J, Muth E. A new method for measuring meal intake in humans via automated wrist motion tracking. Appl Psychophysiol Biofeedback 2012 Sep;37(3):205-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10484-012-9194-1] [Medline: 22488204]
- 54. Scisco JL, Muth ER, Hoover AW. Examining the utility of a bite-count-based measure of eating activity in free-living human beings. J Acad Nutr Diet 2014 Mar;114(3):464-469. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jand.2013.09.017</u>] [Medline: <u>24231364</u>]
- 55. Turner-McGrievy GM, Wilcox S, Boutté A, Hutto BE, Singletary C, Muth ER, et al. Erratum: the dietary intervention to enhance tracking with mobile devices (DIET Mobile) study: a 6-month randomized weight loss trial. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017 Dec;25(12):2156-2157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oby.22076] [Medline: 29178582]
- 56. Parate A, Chiu M, Chadowitz C, Ganesan D, Kalogerakis E. RisQ: Recognizing smoking gestures with inertial sensors on a wristband. MobiSys 2014 Jun;2014:149-161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/2594368.2594379] [Medline: 26688835]
- 57. Zhang S, Alshurafa N, Nicholson M, Alshurafa N. When Generalized Eating Detection Machine Learning Models Fail in the Field. In: Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers. 2017 Presented at: UbiComp'17; September 11-15, 2017; Maui, Hawaii p. 613-622.
- 58. Bedri A, Li R, Haynes M, Kosaraju RP, Grover I, Prioleau T, et al. EarBit: Using wearable sensors to detect eating episodes in unconstrained environments. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2017 Sep;1(3):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3130902] [Medline: 30135957]
- Chun KS, Bhattacharya S, Thomaz E. Detecting eating episodes by tracking jawbone movements with a non-contact wearable sensor. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018;2(1):1-21. [doi: <u>10.1145/3191736</u>]
- 60. Hamatani T, Elhamshary M, Uchiyama A, Higashino T. FluidMeter: Gauging the human daily fluid intake using smartwatches. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Sep;2(3):1-25. [doi: 10.1145/3264923]
- 61. Fortuna C, Giraud-Carrier C, West J. Hand-to-Mouth Motion Tracking in Free-Living Conditions for Improved Weight Control. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics. 2016 Presented at: ICHI'16; October 4-7, 2016; Chicago, IL. [doi: 10.1109/ichi.2016.62]
- 62. Bi S, Caine K, Halter R, Sorber J, Kotz D, Wang T, et al. Auracle: Detecting eating episodes with an ear-mounted sensor. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Sep;2(3):1-27. [doi: 10.1145/3264902]
- 63. Starner T. The challenges of wearable computing: Part 2. IEEE Micro 2001;21(4):54-67. [doi: 10.1109/40.946683]
- 64. Alharbi R, Stump T, Vafaie N, Pfammatter A, Spring B, Alshurafa N. I Can't Be Myself: Effects of wearable cameras on the capture of authentic behavior in the wild. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018 Sep;2(3):1-40. [doi: 10.1145/3264900]
- 65. Papapanagiotou V, Diou C, Zhou L, van den Boer J, Mars M, Delopoulos A. A novel chewing detection system based on PPG, audio, and accelerometry. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2017 May;21(3):607-618. [doi: 10.1109/jbhi.2016.2625271]
- 66. Zhang R, Amft O. Monitoring chewing and eating in free-living using smart eyeglasses. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2018;22(1):23-32. [doi: 10.1109/jbhi.2017.2698523]
- 67. Dimiccoli M, Marín J, Thomaz E. Mitigating bystander privacy concerns in egocentric activity recognition with deep learning and intentional image degradation. Proc ACM Interact Mob Wearable Ubiquitous Technol 2018;1(4):1-18. [doi: 10.1145/3161190]
- Nebeker C, Lagare T, Takemoto M, Lewars B, Crist K, Bloss CS, et al. Engaging research participants to inform the ethical conduct of mobile imaging, pervasive sensing, and location tracking research. Transl Behav Med 2016 Dec;6(4):577-586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0426-4] [Medline: 27688250]
- 69. Amft O. A Wearable Earpad Sensor for Chewing Monitoring. In: Proceedings of the SENSORS, 2010 IEEE Conference. 2010 Presented at: SENSORS'10; November 1-4, 2010; Kona, HI, USA p. 222-227. [doi: <u>10.1109/icsens.2010.5690449</u>]
- Alshurafa N, Kalantarian H, Pourhomayoun M, Sarin S, Liu J, Sarrafzadeh M. Non-invasive Monitoring of Eating Behavior Using Spectrogram Analysis in a Wearable Necklace. In: Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE Healthcare Innovation Conference,. 2015 Presented at: HIC'14; October 8-10, 2014; Seattle, WA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/hic.2014.7038877]

- 71. Kalantarian H, Alshurafa N, Pourhomayoun M, Sarin S, Le T, Sarrafzadeh M. Spectrogram-Based Audio Classification of Nutrition Intake. In: Proceedings of the IEEE EMBS Healthcare Innovations & Point of Care Technologies. 2014 Presented at: HIPT'14; October 8-10, 2014; Seattle, WA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/hic.2014.7038899]
- 72. Palaniappan U, Cue R, Payette H, Gray-Donald K. Implications of day-to-day variability on measurements of usual food and nutrient intakes. J Nutr 2003 Jan;133(1):232-235. [doi: <u>10.1093/jn/133.1.232</u>] [Medline: <u>12514296</u>]
- 73. Oncescu V, O'Dell D, Erickson D. Smartphone based health accessory for colorimetric detection of biomarkers in sweat and saliva. Lab Chip 2013 Aug 21;13(16):3232-3238. [doi: 10.1039/c3lc50431j] [Medline: 23784453]
- 74. Sonner Z, Wilder E, Heikenfeld J, Kasting G, Beyette F, Swaile D, et al. The microfluidics of the eccrine sweat gland, including biomarker partitioning, transport, and biosensing implications. Biomicrofluidics 2015 May;9(3):031301 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1063/1.4921039] [Medline: 26045728]
- 75. Ray TR, Choi J, Bandodkar AJ, Krishnan S, Gutruf P, Tian L, et al. Bio-integrated wearable systems: a comprehensive review. Chem Rev 2019 Apr 24;119(8):5461-5533. [doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00573] [Medline: 30689360]
- 76. Koh A, Kang D, Xue Y, Lee S, Pielak RM, Kim J, et al. A soft, wearable microfluidic device for the capture, storage, and colorimetric sensing of sweat. Sci Transl Med 2016 Nov 23;8(366):366ra165 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf2593] [Medline: 27881826]
- 77. Gao W, Emaminejad S, Nyein HY, Challa S, Chen K, Peck A, et al. Fully integrated wearable sensor arrays for multiplexed in situ perspiration analysis. Nature 2016 Jan 28;529(7587):509-514 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nature16521] [Medline: 26819044]
- Choi J, Ghaffari R, Baker LB, Rogers JA. Skin-interfaced systems for sweat collection and analytics. Sci Adv 2018 Feb;4(2):eaar3921 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aar3921] [Medline: 29487915]
- 79. Lee H, Choi TK, Lee YB, Cho HR, Ghaffari R, Wang L, et al. A graphene-based electrochemical device with thermoresponsive microneedles for diabetes monitoring and therapy. Nat Nanotechnol 2016 Jun;11(6):566-572. [doi: 10.1038/nnano.2016.38] [Medline: 26999482]
- Mirtchouk M, Merck C, Kleinberg S. Automated Estimation of Food Type and Amount Consumed From Body-worn Audio and Motion Sensors. In: Proceedings of the 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing. 2016 Presented at: UbiComp'16; September 12-16, 2016; Heidelberg, Germany p. 451-462. [doi: 10.1145/2971648.2971677]
- Fontana JM, Farooq M, Sazonov E. Automatic ingestion monitor: a novel wearable device for monitoring of ingestive behavior. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2014 Jun;61(6):1772-1779 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/TBME.2014.2306773] [Medline: 24845288]
- Sazonov E, Lopez-Meyer P, Tiffany S. A wearable sensor system for monitoring cigarette smoking. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2013 Nov;74(6):956-964 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15288/jsad.2013.74.956] [Medline: 24172124]
- 83. Sharma S, Jasper P, Muth E, Hoover A. Automatic Detection of Periods of Eating Using Wrist Motion Tracking. In: 2016 IEEE First International Conference on Connected Health: Applications, Systems and Engineering Technologies (). 2016 Presented at: CHASE'16; June 27-29, 2016; Washington, DC. [doi: <u>10.1109/chase.2016.15</u>]
- Zhang R, Amft O. Free-living Eating Event Spotting Using EMG-monitoring Eyeglasses. In: Proceedings of the 2018 IEEE EMBS International Conference on Biomedical & Health Informatics. 2018 Presented at: BHI'18; March 4-7, 2018; Las Vegas, NV. [doi: 10.1109/bhi.2018.8333386]
- Blechert J, Liedlgruber M, Lender A, Reichenberger J, Wilhelm F. Unobtrusive electromyography-based eating detection in daily life: a new tool to address underreporting? Appetite 2017 Nov 1;118:168-173. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.appet.2017.08.008</u>] [Medline: <u>28797702</u>]
- 86. Doulah A, Farooq M, Yang X, Parton J, McCrory MA, Higgins JA, et al. Meal microstructure characterization from sensor-based food intake detection. Front Nutr 2017;4:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnut.2017.00031] [Medline: 28770206]
- Gouveia R, Karapanos E, Hassenzahl M. How Do We Engage With Activity Trackers?: A Longitudinal Study of Habito. In: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing. 2015 Presented at: UbiComp'15; September 7-11, 2015; Osaka, Japan p. 1305-1316. [doi: <u>10.1145/2750858.2804290</u>]
- 88. WRAL TechWire. 2018. Survey says: Wearables use growing, accuracy top priority. URL: <u>https://www.wraltechwire.com/</u> 2018/11/30/survey-says-wearables-use-growing-accuracy-top-priority/ [accessed 2019-05-05]
- 89. Arthur C. The Guardian. 2014. Your smartphone's best app? Battery life, say 89% Britons. URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2014/may/21/your-smartphones-best-app-battery-life-say-89-of-britons</u> [accessed 2019-05-05]
- 90. PR Newswire. New Survey from TE Connectivity Uncovers America's Desire for Wearables. URL: <u>https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/new-survey-from-te-connectivity-uncovers-americas-desire-for-wearables-300089552.html</u> [accessed 2019-05-05]
- 91. Hester J, Peters T, Yun T, Peterson R, Skinner J, Golla B. Amulet: An Energy-Efficient, Multi-Application Wearable Platform. In: Proceedings of the 14th ACM Conference on Embedded Network Sensor Systems CD-ROM. 2016 Presented at: SenSys'16; November 14-16, 2016; Stanford, CA, USA p. 216-229. [doi: <u>10.1145/2994551.2994554</u>]

- Sorber J, Shin M, Peterson R, Cornelius C, Mare S, Prasad A. An Amulet for Trustworthy Wearable mHealth. In: Proceedings of the Twelfth Workshop on Mobile Computing Systems & Applications. 2012 Presented at: HotMobile '12; February 28-29, 2012; San Diego, California. [doi: <u>10.1145/2162081.2162092</u>]
- 93. Merck C, Maher C, Mirtchouk M, Zheng M, Huang Y, Kleinberg S. Multimodality sensing for eating recognition. In: Proceedings of the 10th EAI International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. 2016 Presented at: PervasiveHealth'16; May 16-19, 2016; Cancun, Mexico p. 130-137. [doi: <u>10.4108/eai.16-5-2016.2263281</u>]
- 94. Willett W. Nutritional Epidemiology. Third Edition. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press; 2012.
- 95. Trabulsi J, Schoeller DA. Evaluation of dietary assessment instruments against doubly labeled water, a biomarker of habitual energy intake. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2001;281(5):E891-E899. [doi: <u>10.1152/ajpendo.2001.281.5.e891</u>]
- 96. Hill RJ, Davies PS. The validity of self-reported energy intake as determined using the doubly labelled water technique. Br J Nutr 2001 Apr;85(4):415-430. [doi: <u>10.1079/bjn2000281</u>] [Medline: <u>11348556</u>]
- 97. Arab L, Estrin D, Kim DH, Burke J, Goldman J. Feasibility testing of an automated image-capture method to aid dietary recall. Eur J Clin Nutr 2011 Oct;65(10):1156-1162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2011.75] [Medline: 21587282]
- 98. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. 2018. Dietary Assessment: A Resource Guide to Method Selection and Application in Low Resource Settings. URL: <u>http://www.fao.org/3/i9940en/I9940EN.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-10]
- 99. Livingstone M, Black A. Markers of the validity of reported energy intake. J Nutr 2003 Mar;133(Suppl 3):895S-920S. [doi: 10.1093/jn/133.3.895S] [Medline: 12612176]
- Almiron-Roig E, Solis-Trapala I, Dodd J, Jebb SA. Estimating food portions. Influence of unit number, meal type and energy density. Appetite 2013 Dec;71:95-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2013.07.012] [Medline: 23932948]
- 101. Subar AF, Freedman LS, Tooze JA, Kirkpatrick SI, Boushey C, Neuhouser ML, et al. Addressing current criticism regarding the value of self-report dietary data. J Nutr 2015 Dec;145(12):2639-2645 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/jn.115.219634] [Medline: 26468491]
- 102. Natarajan L, Pu M, Fan J, Levine RA, Patterson RE, Thomson CA, et al. Measurement error of dietary self-report in intervention trials. Am J Epidemiol 2010 Oct 1;172(7):819-827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq216] [Medline: 20720101]
- 103. Martha SM, Caudill MA. Biochemical, Physiological, and Molecular Aspects of Human Nutrition. Third Edition. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier; 2012.
- 104. Freedman L, Midthune DF, Carroll RF, Tasevska NF, Schatzkin AF, Mares JF, et al. Using regression calibration equations that combine self-reported intake and biomarker measures to obtain unbiased estimates and more powerful tests of dietary associations. Am J Epidemiol 2011 Dec 1;174(11):1238-1245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwr248] [Medline: 22047826]
- 105. Mossavar-Rahmani YF, Shaw PF, Wong WF, Sotres-Alvarez DF, Gellman MF, Van Horn L, et al. Applying recovery biomarkers to calibrate self-report measures of energy and protein in the hispanic community health study/study of Latinos. Am J Epidemiol 2015 Jun 15;181(12):996-1007 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu468] [Medline: 25995289]
- 106. Holtz B, Vasold K, Cotten S, Mackert M, Zhang M. Health care provider perceptions of consumer-grade devices and apps for tracking health: a pilot study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 22;7(1):e9929 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9929] [Medline: 30668515]
- 107. Patel VJ. HealthIT. 2018. Individuals' Use of Online Medical Records and Technology for Health Needs. URL: <u>https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2018-03/HINTS-2017-Consumer-Data-Brief-3.21.18.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-15]

Abbreviations

3D: 3-dimensional
AMT: Amazon Mechanical Turk
EAU: eating action unit
EEG: electroencephalography
FFQ: food frequency questionnaire
FNDDS: Food and Nutrient Database for Dietary Studies
mHealth: mobile health
RGB: red green blue
SVM: support vector machine



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.06.19; peer-reviewed by A Lucas, P Lindgreen; comments to author 16.07.19; revised version received 07.09.19; accepted 24.09.19; published 04.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Alshurafa N, Lin AW, Zhu F, Ghaffari R, Hester J, Delp E, Rogers J, Spring B Counting Bites With Bits: Expert Workshop Addressing Calorie and Macronutrient Intake Monitoring J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14904 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14904 doi:10.2196/14904 PMID:31799938

©Nabil Alshurafa, Annie Wen Lin, Fengqing Zhu, Roozbeh Ghaffari, Josiah Hester, Edward Delp, John Rogers, Bonnie Spring. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 04.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Web-Based Self-Titration Program to Control Blood Pressure in Patients With Primary Hypertension: Randomized Controlled Trial

Chi-Wen Kao^{1,2}, PhD; Ting-Yu Chen³, PhD; Shu-Meng Cheng^{4,5}, MD; Wei-Shiang Lin⁶, MD; Yue-Cune Chang⁷, PhD

¹Department of Nursing, Tri-Service General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

³School of Nursing, Chung-Jen Junior College of Nursing, Health Sciences and Management, Chiayi, Taiwan

⁴Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, Tri-Service General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

⁵School of Medicine, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan

⁶Division of Cardiology, Tri-Service General Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

⁷Department of Mathematics, Tamkang University, Taipei, Taiwan

Corresponding Author: Chi-Wen Kao, PhD Department of Nursing Tri-Service General Hospital No 325, Sec 2, Chenggong Rd Taipei, 114 Taiwan Phone: 886 2 87923311 ext 17359 Email: chiwenkao@ndmctsgh.edu.tw

Abstract

Background: Hypertension is a major cause of mortality in cardiac, vascular, and renal disease. Effective control of elevated blood pressure has been shown to reduce target organ damage. A Web-based self-titration program may empower patients to control their own disease, share decisions about antihypertensive dose titration, and improve self-management, ultimately improving health-related quality of life.

Objective: Our primary aim was to evaluate the effects of a Web-based self-titration program for improving blood pressure control in patients with primary hypertension. Our secondary aim was to evaluate the effects of that program on improving health-related quality of life.

Methods: This was a parallel-group, double-blind, randomized controlled trial with assessments at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months. We included patients with primary hypertension (blood pressure>130/80 mm Hg) from a cardiology outpatient department in northern Taiwan and divided them randomly into intervention and control groups. The intervention group received the Web-based self-titration program, while the control group received usual care. The random allocation was concealed from participants and outcome evaluators. Health-related quality of life was measured by the EuroQol five-dimension self-report questionnaire. We used generalized estimating equations to evaluate the effects of the intervention.

Results: We included 222 patients and divided them equally into intervention (n=111) and control (n=111) groups. Patients receiving the Web-based self-titration program showed significantly greater improvement in the systolic and diastolic blood pressure control than those who did not receive this program, at 3 months (-21.4 mm Hg and -5.4 mm Hg, respectively; *P*<.001) and 6 months (-27.8 mm Hg and -9.7 mm Hg, respectively; *P*<.001). Compared with the control group, the intervention group showed a significant decrease in the overall defined daily dose at both 3 (-0.202, *P*=.003) and 6 (-0.236, *P*=.001) months. Finally, health-related quality of life improved significantly in the intervention group compared with the control group at both 3 and 6 months (both, *P*<.001).

Conclusions: A Web-based self-titration program can provide immediate feedback to patients about how to control their blood pressure and manage their disease at home. This program not only decreases mean blood pressure but also increases health-related quality of life in patients with primary hypertension.

²School of Nursing, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03470974; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03470974

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15836) doi:10.2196/15836

KEYWORDS

Web-based; self-titration; blood pressure; hypertension; health-related quality of life

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) reported that hypertension is one of the most common health concerns [1], with an estimated worldwide prevalence of more than 1.3 billion people [2]. The WHO also predicted that hypertension will affect 29% of the world's population by 2025 [3]. In the United States, just about 49% of male patients and 55% of female patients had controlled hypertension between 2009 and 2012 [4]. Similarly, around 24% of the adult population in Taiwan (4.6 million people) had hypertension, and only 58% of hypertension patients had good control [5].

Hypertension is a major cause of mortality, resulting in 10.5 million deaths worldwide annually [6,7]. Death is a consequence of target organ damage due to hypertension, including cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and kidney diseases [8-10]. In Asia, high systolic blood pressure is the main risk factor for stroke [11]. Hypertension and its comorbidity also affect health-related quality of life (HRQoL) [12]. A meta-analysis of 20 cross-sectional studies showed that patients with hypertension had poor HRQoL compared with normotensive adults [13]. Similar findings were reported from a meta-analysis of 21 observational studies in China [14].

The poor adherence to health behaviors, a significant barrier to optimal blood pressure control [15], is due to treatment regimen complexity, side effects of medicines, psychosocial distress, and poor health literacy [16,17]. Home blood pressure self-monitoring has been shown to improve blood pressure control [18,19] and help health care providers make appropriate treatment decisions [19]. A recent meta-analysis concluded that clinical interventions should be developed to help patients perform accurate self-monitoring of their blood pressure in order to achieve better blood pressure control [20]. Telemedicine could be useful in this regard because it not only allows patients to easily perform self-monitoring at home but also enables clinical professionals to have access to the data and give their feedback to patients immediately [21].

In clinical practice, a cardiologist usually starts antihypertensive therapy by medication titration based on a patient's response and educates patients about self-monitoring and self-adjustment of dosages at home [22]. However, most patients are anxious about how to follow the complicated treatment regimen [22]. Medication titration strategies have been designed to successfully assist patients in self-titration of antidiabetic, oral anticoagulation, and beta-adrenergic receptor blocking medicines [23-25]. The titration process allows patients to perceive how their efforts improve their disease outcomes [26].

Few randomized controlled trials have investigated the outcomes of medication titration on blood pressure control in patients with hypertension. The Telemonitoring and Self-Management

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15836

in Hypertension 2 (TASMINH2) trial combined telemonitoring with a titration strategy to improve blood pressure control for patients with hypertension [27]. The intervention group had significantly greater decreases in systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP)-3.7 mm Hg (95% CI 1.3 Hg (95% 0.8-6.6and mm CI 0.3-2.6),respectively-compared with a control group after 12 months. In a second trial, Targets and Self-Management for the Control of Blood Pressure in Stroke and at Risk Groups (TASMIN-SR) [28], patients with secondary hypertension received training in self-titration of antihypertensives. Again, the results showed that patients in the intervention group had significant decreases in SBP (-8.8 mm Hg; 95% CI 4.9-12.7) and DBP (-3.1 mm Hg; 95% CI 0.7-5.5) after 12 months. The TASMINH4 trial evaluated the effectiveness of general practitioner-led titration of antihypertensives with either self-monitoring or self-monitoring plus telemonitoring on blood pressure control [29]. The trial showed that SBP significantly decreased after 12 months in both intervention groups, with differences of -3.5mm Hg (95% CI -5.8 to -1.2) in the self-monitoring group and -4.7 mm Hg (95% CI -7.0 to -2.4) in the telemonitoring group. Moreover, DBP also decreased in both the self-monitoring group (-1.5 mm Hg, 95% CI -2.7 to -0.2) and the telemonitoring group (-1.3 mm Hg, 95% CI -2.5 to -0.02).

Nevertheless, two previous studies were unable to detect a significant finding of the effects of antihypertensive titration on blood pressure control [30,31]. The first, a two-armed trial, indicated that health coaching with home titration was not superior to usual care for blood pressure control after 6 months [30]. A second study, the Diabetes Risk Evaluation and Microalbuminuria 3 (DREAM 3) trial, assessed the effects of a nurse-lead titration strategy in patients with hypertension, diabetes, and microalbuminuria, but found no significant effect on either SBP or DBP control at 6 and 12 months [31]. Thus, there is no consistent evidence about the efficacy of medication titration on blood pressure control, and there is a notable lack of research data from Asia.

We aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of a Web-based self-titration program on blood pressure control in patients with primary hypertension. Our primary hypothesis was that patients receiving the Web-based self-titration program in the intervention group would have a better control of SBP and DBP than the control group after 3 and 6 months. The secondary hypothesis was that the patients in the intervention group would show greater improvement in HRQoL than those in the control group.

Methods

Study Design

This was a parallel-group, double-blind, randomized controlled trial. Participants were randomly assigned to an intervention group or a control group using a permuted block randomization design with a block size of 4. The random allocation was concealed from participants and outcome evaluators via the use of sequentially numbered opaque envelopes. Data were collected at baseline, 3 months, and 6 months. The study was based on the CONSORT-EHEALTH guidelines (V1.6) [32] and was conducted from February 2017 to August 2018.

Study Setting and Sample

We enrolled patients with primary hypertension from a cardiovascular outpatient clinic of a medical center in northern Taiwan. The inclusion criteria were as follows: age of 20-79 years, diagnosis of primary hypertension with SBP≥130 mm Hg or DBP≥80 mm Hg, intake of less than four antihypertensive agents, access to a sphygmomanometer at home, ownership of a smart phone or personal computer to use, ability to read and understand Chinese or Taiwanese, and will to participate. The exclusion criteria were as follows: SBP≥180 mm Hg or DBP≥100 mm Hg; pregnancy; receipt of a heart transplant, permanent pacemaker, or implantable cardioverter defibrillator; diagnosis of arrhythmia, stroke, thyroid disease, major psychiatric disorder, renal disease, heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, cancer, or terminal disease; intake of antidepressants; or addiction to drugs or alcohol.

The study procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB 2-104-05-148) of the participating hospital. Before enrollment, the principal investigator explained the research purpose and procedures to the participants and obtained their written informed consent. The participants randomly assigned to the intervention group were trained to use the self-titration platform for 1 month and continuously received the self-titration intervention for 6 months. The participants in the control group received usual care.

Study Procedures

The participants assigned to the intervention group received a 4-week training course before receiving the Web-based self-titration program. First, participants were given a secure account and a unique password of the website platform. We assisted participants with any set-up required on their smartphones or tablets. A stepwise instruction booklet was provided to guide log-in and use the platform. Second, the physicians of these participants set individualized blood pressure targets and explained the tailored medication titration instructions to each participant, who were then asked to rely on their home blood pressure recordings to titrate their medication doses. Third, participants were trained to measure their blood pressure by using automated electronic sphygmomanometers correctly. Finally, all participants received education about the management of hypertension.

When participants began the Web-based self-titration program, they were asked to measure their blood pressure before taking

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15836

their medications and to report the data on the platform every day. We reviewed the data daily and provided a consultation through a phone call or website platform as needed for each individual participant. The physicians provided instructions to participants for any medication dosage change (increase or decrease), based on the self-monitoring data, through the website platform or clinical visit every month. The participants learned how to modify their lifestyle and manage hypertension by visiting the website repeatedly.

The participants in the control group received usual care, which included routine follow-up treatments for medication, lifestyle modification consultations, and a blood pressure check. Medications were adjusted depending on evaluations from their physicians at each clinical visit.

The principal investigator conducted a meeting to deal with problems arising in the study once a month. The outcomes were evaluated for both groups before starting the intervention and after initiating the intervention, at 3 months and 6 months.

Intervention

Based on a review of the literature [33-35] and our professional experiences, our research team determined that patients able to titrate medications by themselves should be proficient in three areas: the ability to measure blood pressure correctly, the ability to record and understand the blood pressure recordings, and the ability to adjust their dose (add, maintain, or decrease) or adopt emergency interventions based on the instructions. A secure website was designed to assist patients in performing safe self-titration. The website includes five sections: (1) personal information collection, (2) individual physical data recordings, (3) blood pressure recordings, (4) patient education in hypertension, and (5) consultations (Figure 1).

In the personal information section, we required patients to provide the following data: age, gender, education status, employment status, contact information, comorbidity, current medications, and next visit date. In the individual physical data section, we input hematology test data such as low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, triglycerides, and serum creatinine levels through a chart review. Patients were able to access their blood test data through the website.

In the blood pressure recording section, we set up individual blood pressure targets for each patient. The patients measured their blood pressure and recorded the data through the Web. An alarm and reminder system was designed and set up to allow patients to clearly understand the meaning of their current blood pressure readings and how to deal with them (Multimedia Appendix 1) [28,36]. When patients filled in their blood pressure data on the website, reminders popped up according to the blood pressure readings (Figure 2). If a blood pressure reading was below or above normal, the system automatically triggered an alert for the study team to contact the patient. If the blood pressure readings were not entered by 9 PM, the system was designed to send an email notification to remind the study team and either the patient or his/her caregiver to enter the readings. The database was automatically backed up at 12 PM each day.

XSL•FO RenderX

Outputs of blood pressure data were displayed as curve diagrams showing the 1-month or 3-month trends to patients (Figure 3).

In the patient education section, a video provided information about the management of hypertension and instructions about blood pressure measurements, a healthy diet, and exercise. The video content was designed based on the guidance of five experts from among the cardiologists and nurses. Finally, the patients were able to directly contact the research team through the consultation section.

Figure 1. Screenshot of instruction in self-titration strategy.

* • *	從心開始	
個人資料區	抽血報告區 血影紀錄區 衛教資訊區 留言板	適同 つ 。 前同 つ 。 う 不服 用高 血 屋 葉 物 了 嗎 ? 、 あ 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、 、
是否用說明	第 否 ◎ 1/4類 ◎ 半類 ◎ 1類半 ◎ 2類 ◎ 其他	为 配及 請問愿 今天服用的高血腥藥物 類量有自己調整嗎?
	送出紀錄	20117311 Lavit 1001 及約 約

Figure 2. Screenshot of the medication reminder area and medication titration area.

Date	2018-01-04 10:13:47	
Systolic	181	mmHg
	92	mmHg
Diastolic	Your blood pressure is too high. Please have a seat and rest 5-10 min then measure your blood pressure again. If your blood pressure rema emergency room.	utes, take several deep breaths and ins high, please go to a nearby
Heart Rate		BPM

Figure 3. Screenshot of curve diagram on blood pressure.



Measures

RenderX

Demographic and Clinical Characteristics

The following data were collected from self-reports and chart review before randomization: age, gender, education, marital

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15836

status, occupation, smoking habits, body mass index, clinical history, antihypertensive medications, and duration of having hypertension. We calculated the antihypertensive dosage based on the defined daily dose (DDD), as recommended by the WHO, which uses assumed average maintenance doses per day for a drug according to its main indication in adults [37].

Blood Pressure Measurements

Blood pressure was measured with an automatic sphygmomanometer (JPN1; Omron Colin, Kyoto, Japan). According to the guidelines of the Taiwan Society of Cardiology and the Taiwan Hypertension Society, we asked the participants to sit in a quiet and comfortable room for at least 5 minutes before taking their blood pressure. The blood pressure was taken twice at intervals of 1-2 minutes [38]. The average of these two readings was used in the data analysis. In addition, the researchers assisted all participants in checking the accuracy of their own automated electronic sphygmomanometers and evaluated whether the cuffs were appropriately sized for participants' upper arms.

Health-Related Quality of Life

We used the 3-level version of EuroQol five-dimension self-report questionnaire (EQ-5D-3L) [39] to measure variables of HRQoL. The EQ-5D-3L is composed of two parts: (1) the EQ-5D descriptive system and (2) the EuroQol visual analog scale (EQ-VAS) [39]. The EQ-5D descriptive system has five dimensions: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. Each dimension is rated on three levels: no problems (level 1), some problems (level 2), and extreme problems (level 3); the scores are converted into a single summary score, which describes a patient's HRQoL. The EQ-VAS records the respondent's self-rated health status on a 20-cm vertical scale (visual analog scale) that ranges from 0, indicating the worst health status, to 100, indicating the best possible health state [39]. The VAS is a quantitative measure of a patient's judgement about their health status. We used the Chinese version of EQ-5D-3L, which has been demonstrated to have adequate validity and reliability [40].

Defined Daily Dose

We calculated the antihypertensive dosage based on the DDD, as recommended by the WHO, a unit of measurement for assumed average maintenance doses per day for a drug according to its main indication in adults. The DDD provides a standardized and objective dose unit, allowing clinicians or researchers to assess drug consumption dosage and compare patients with themselves or other patients. DDDs are only used for medicines after they are assigned Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System (ATC) codes [37]. For example, the ATC code for amlodipine (5 mg) is C08CA01. This code indicates that the DDD of amlodipine is 5 mg. Therefore, when the prescription of daily dose of amlodipine is 5 mg, the patient is taking 1 DDD of this medicine [37].

Outcomes

The primary outcome was the mean SBP and DBP at 3 months and 6 months. The secondary outcomes were the overall antihypertensive DDD and the two measures for HRQoL at 3 months and 6 months.

Statistical Analysis

We estimated the sample size using G*Power version 3.1 [41]. According to a previous study [28], a sample size of 80 patients per group was estimated for 90% power (two-tailed and at a 5% significance level) to detect a difference of at least 5 mm Hg in systolic blood pressure between the intervention and control groups and assuming an SD of 17 mm Hg. Allowing for a 20% dropout rate during follow-up, the sample size was increased to at least 96 patients for each group.

Data were analyzed by IBM SPSS, Version 21.0 (IBM Corp, Armonk, New York) based on intention-to-treat analysis. The analysis was conducted by a researcher who was blinded to the random allocation. The demographic and clinical characteristics were analyzed as means and SDs or as frequencies and percentages. Independent *t*-tests and Chi-square tests were carried out to examine the homogeneity of characteristics between the two groups. Group differences were examined using the generalized estimating equation (GEE). The outcomes were tested at the 5% two-tailed level of significance.

Results

Baseline Participant Characteristics

Of the 356 enrolled patients, 18 did not meet the inclusion criteria and 116 (32.6%) declined to participate. Therefore, a total of 222 patients (62.4%) were included and randomly assigned to the intervention (n=111) or control (n=111) group. Figure 4 shows the flowchart for screening, enrollment, randomization, and follow-up.

The baseline characteristics of participants are summarized in Multimedia Appendix 2. The mean age of participants was 62.7 (SD 9.3) years. Most participants were men (n=114, 51%), married (n=214, 94%), and employed (n=124, 56%); only a few participants were smokers (n=28, 13%). The mean body mass index was 26.44 kg/m² (SD 3.79). The average length of hypertension diagnosis was approximately 6 years, and diabetes and hyperlipidemia were the most common comorbidities. The mean SBP and DBP were 143.21 (SD 13.62) mm Hg and 84.18 (SD 10.84) mm Hg, respectively. The overall antihypertensive DDD was 1.80 (SD 1.0) units. Only the demographic characteristic of education differed between groups (*P*<.001); however, there were no significant differences in any clinical characteristics.



Kao et al

Figure 4. Flow diagram of the inclusion of patients in the randomized trial of the two groups.



Effect on Systolic Blood Pressure

We used GEE analysis to examine if there was an effect of the Web-based self-titration program on the control of SBP (Table 1). After adjusting for the baseline difference in education, the GEE model showed that the SBP decreased significantly more for the intervention group than for the control group at the 3and 6-month follow-ups, as shown in Multimedia Appendix 3. The findings indicated that the Web-based self-titration program resulted in a greater control of participants' SBP.

 Table 1. Generalized estimating equation analysis of the effect of the intervention on systolic blood pressure.

Variable	Regression coefficient	SE	χ^2 (df)	P value
Group (intervention) ^a	0.12	1.86	0.004 (1)	.95
Time (3 mo) ^b	5.28	1.36	15.2 (1)	<.001
Time (6 mo) ^b	7.99	1.44	30.9 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (3 mo) ^c	-21.43	1.89	127.7 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (6 mo) ^c	-27.82	2.10	175.2 (1)	<.001

^aReference group: control group.

^bReference group: time (baseline).

^cReference group: group (control) \times time (baseline).

Effect on Diastolic Blood Pressure

GEE analysis examined changes in DBP after controlling for the difference between groups at baseline. The mean DBP for the intervention group significantly decreased more at 3- and 6-month follow-ups (P<.001) compared to the control group (Table 2; Multimedia Appendix 4). These findings suggest that patients who participated in the Web-based self-titration program had better control of DBP than patients in the control group who received usual care.



Table 2. Generalized estimating equation analysis of the effect of the intervention on diastolic blood pressure.

Variable	Regression coefficient	SE	χ^2 (df)	P value
Group (intervention) ^a	0.536	1.44	0.1 (1)	.71
Time (3 mo) ^b	-1.586	0.83	3.6 (1)	.057
Time (6 mo) ^b	0.477	1.03	0.2 (1)	.64
Group (intervention) \times time (3 mo) ^c	-5.442	1.21	20.4 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (6 mo) ^c	-9.739	1.49	42.6 (1)	<.001

^aReference group: control group.

^bReference group: time (baseline).

^cReference group: group (control) \times time (baseline).

Effect on Overall Defined Daily Dose for Antihypertensive Medication

GEE analysis examined the effect of the Web-based self-titration program on changes in overall DDD for antihypertensive medicines. The GEE model, adjusted for the baseline difference between groups, showed that the mean DDD for the intervention group significantly decreased more than that for the control group (P<.01) at both follow-up times (Table 3; Multimedia Appendix 5). Our findings indicate that patients who participated in the Web-based self-titration program intervention were able to significantly reduce the dosage of antihypertensive medicine.

Table 3. Generalized estimating equation analysis of the effect of the intervention on overall defined daily dose.

Variable	Regression coefficient	SE	χ^2 (df)	P value
Group (intervention) ^a	-0.242	0.16	2.5 (1)	.12
Time (3 mo) ^b	0.132	0.47	8.1 (1)	.004
Time (6 mo) ^b	0.132	0.05	6.9 (1)	.008
Group (intervention) \times time (3 mo) ^c	-0.202	0.07	8.9 (1)	.003
Group (intervention) \times time (6 mo) ^c	-0.236	0.07	11.3 (1)	.001

^aReference group: control group.

^bReference group: time (baseline).

^cReference group: group (control) × time (baseline).

Effect on Health-Related Quality of Life

GEE analysis of EQ-5D scores examined the effect of the Web-based self-titration program on improving HRQoL (Table 4). After adjusting for the baseline difference between groups, the GEE model showed that the increase of the mean EQ-5D scores for the intervention group was significantly more

(*P*<.001) than that for the control group at the 3- and 6-month follow-ups (Table 4; Multimedia Appendix 6). These findings indicate that patients who were provided with the Web-based self-titration program perceived their HRQoL to improve following the intervention and compared to controls who did not participate in the program.

Table 4. Generalized estimating equation analysis of the effect of the intervention on EuroQol five-dimension self-report questionnaire scores.

Variable	Regression coefficient	SE	χ^2 (df)	P value
Group (intervention) ^a	-0.074	0.02	17.5 (1)	<.001
Time (3 mo) ^b	-0.076	0.02	23.7 (1)	<.001
Time (6 mo) ^b	-0.108	0.02	40.7 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (3 mo) ^c	0.216	0.02	113.1 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (6 mo) ^c	0.275	0.02	171.6 (1)	<.001

^aReference group: control group.

^bReference group: time (baseline).

^cReference group: group (control) × time (baseline).

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15836

Effect on Self-Rated Health Status

The EQ-VAS used to measure participants' self-rated health status was also evaluated at the 3- and 6-month follow-ups using the GEE model adjusted for the baseline difference between groups (Table 5). The mean scores on the EQ-VAS increased

significantly more for the intervention group than the control group at both follow-up times (P<.001) (Table 5; Multimedia Appendix 7). Thus, these findings suggest that the Web-based self-titration intervention resulted in improvement in perception of patients' health status at the 3- and 6-month follow-ups.

Table 5. Generalized estimating equation analysis of the effect of the intervention on self-rated health sta	atus.
--	-------

Variable	Regression coefficient	SE	χ^2 (df)	P value
Group (intervention) ^a	-11.247	1.89	35.5 (1)	<.001
Time (3 mo) ^b	-8.252	1.56	28.1 (1)	<.001
Time (6 mo) ^b	-12.820	1.65	60.5 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (3 mo) ^c	24.459	1.92	163.0 (1)	<.001
Group (intervention) \times time (6 mo) ^c	36.883	2.08	314.4 (1)	<.001

^aReference group: control group.

^bReference group: time (baseline).

^cReference group: group (control) \times time (baseline).

Discussion

Principal Findings

This randomized clinical trial examined the effects of a web-based self-titration program on the control of blood pressure and HRQoL in patients with primary hypertension. The principal findings of this trial demonstrated that our Web-based self-titration program significantly improved blood pressure control, overall DDD for antihypertensive medicine, HRQoL, and self-rated health status at 3- and 6-month follow-ups compared to baseline measures. In addition, these improvements were significantly better than those seen in the control group at both follow-ups. Additionally, no harmful events occurred in our cohort.

Our results on the control of SBP and DBP are consistent with the findings of previous studies on the benefits of self-titration of antihypertensive medication for blood pressure control [27,28]. In our study, we designed a program to assist patients with hypertension to self-monitor their blood pressure in their home every day; self-manage their life style; and, when needed, self-titrate their antihypertensive medication through an internet website. The self-monitoring of blood pressure has been identified as an effective means of blood pressure control [18]. Moreover, a meta-analysis of 25 clinical trials suggested the implementation of self-monitoring in conjunction with co-interventions, such as lifestyle counselling and systematic medication titration by doctors, pharmacists, or patients, leads to better clinical blood pressure control for patients with hypertension [20]. Our Web-based intervention program resulted in significant blood pressure reduction in patients with hypertension. Our findings provide further support that daily patient self-management of treatment and lifestyle through a website can lead to better control of blood pressure for patients with hypertension.

Another notable finding of our study was that the overall antihypertensive DDD was significantly reduced in the intervention group compared with the control group. No other

XSL•F() RenderX studies have reported similar findings. The significant reduction in antihypertensive DDD for patients in the intervention group may have been a result of consultations and reminders from clinical professionals through the Web-based program. This support may have helped patients not only modify their lifestyle, but also persist in carrying out healthy behavior. Empowerment for lifestyle self-management and self-titration of their own medication has been shown to positively impact patient compliance [27]. Therefore, a more positive attitude of commitment to these aspects could have been promoted by an increased sense of autonomy and control over the disease. Regardless of the reason, this finding appears to be in line with international guidance that adherence to both lifestyle change and medication are equally important in blood pressure control [20].

HRQoL is frequently used to examine the beneficial effects of interventions and treatments [13]. Earlier studies in patients with hypertension indicated that poor blood pressure control negatively affected HRQoL [13-15]. Hypertensive patients with poor blood pressure control have greater stresses resulting from the disease itself and the treatments, and therefore, they may have worse HRQoL as a result of coping with related stress [13,42]. In this study, we found that patients with hypertension in the intervention group who received the Web-based self-titration program had greater improvement in their HRQoL at the 3- and 6-month follow-ups compared with the patients in the control group. We suggest that control of blood pressure for patients with hypertension in the intervention program helped in improving their quality of life. The patients in the intervention group reported that the Web-based self-titration program led them to engage in monitoring their blood pressure more regularly and empowered them to self-manage their clinical interventions and lifestyle. The educational component of the intervention provided patients with knowledge about the relationship between blood pressure and health status. They felt that they benefited from the support offered through the online consultations, where they could communicate problems with

blood pressure control immediately. Therefore, they felt more confident that they may control their blood pressure and life.

Our results also showed that patients who engaged in the Web-based self-titration program perceived a significant improvement in their health status at the 3- and 6-month follow-ups. Health status is challenging to improve because it is a patient-centered outcome. The symptom burden significantly predicts worse health status [43]. In this study, patients were empowered to self-manage their blood pressure and achieved a positive outcome. The reduction in symptoms, owing to the control of their blood pressure, may have improved their perceived health status. In addition to symptom burden, HRQoL is another principal component of health status [44]. The hypertensive patients who received the Web-based self-titration program reported a significant improvement in their HRQoL, which may have also advanced in their health status.

Limitations

The potential limitations in this study should be considered. First, our follow-up period was only 6 months, which meant that we could not detect the long-term consequences on cardiovascular events, or indeed, whether the initial successes would be sustainable in the long term. Nevertheless, the initial improvements in blood pressure control have a clear potential to reduce cardiovascular complication rates. Second, we used telemedicine to support the medication titration, which excluded patients without a computer or smartphone access. Third, we were not able to blind the patients' physicians, which could have introduced bias. Finally, we only recruited participants from one medical center, which limits our ability to generalize the findings. These limitations should be addressed in future research.

Conclusions

There is limited research examining the effects of a Web-based self-titration program on blood pressure control in patients with primary hypertension. The results of this study support both our hypotheses: (1) patients with primary hypertension who received the Web-based self-titration program had significant control of SBP and DBP, and (2) the HRQoL of patients was significantly improved through this Web-based program. In addition, the intervention group had significant reductions in DDD for antihypertensive medications and improvements in the perception of their health status. Thus, we believe that the Web-based self-titration program may assist patients with primary hypertension to self-manage their treatments and healthy lifestyle in their home. This Web-based intervention program also has the benefit of reducing the amount of time required for patients to visit an outpatient clinic or hospital for care. Taken together, the intervention program could improve the quality of care for patients while reducing health care costs.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by a grant from the Ministry of Science and Technology, Taiwan (MOST 105-2314-B-016-029). We express our most sincere appreciation to all study participants.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Alarm and Reminder system: Definitions of blood pressure readings and actions. [DOCX File, 16 KB - jmir v21i12e15836 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Demographic and clinical characteristics of participants and differences between groups. [DOCX File , 17 KB - jmir_v21i12e15836_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Change in systolic blood pressure between two groups at 3 times. [PNG File, 17 KB - jmir_v21i12e15836_app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Change in diastolic blood pressure between two groups at 3 times. [PNG File, 17 KB - jmir v21i12e15836 app4.png]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Change in the overall antihypertensive defined daily dose between two groups at 3 times. [PNG File, 79 KB - jmir_v21i12e15836_app5.png]

Multimedia Appendix 6

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15836

Change in scores of EQ5D between two groups at 3 times. [PNG File, 62 KB - jmir_v21i12e15836_app6.png]

Multimedia Appendix 7

Change in scores of ED-VAS between two groups at 3 times. [PNG File , 67 KB - jmir_v21i12e15836_app7.png]

Multimedia Appendix 8 CONSORT - EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 8588 KB - jmir_v21i12e15836_app8.pdf]

References

- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in blood pressure from 1975 to 2015: a pooled analysis of 1479 population-based measurement studies with 19·1 million participants. Lancet 2017 Jan 07;389(10064):37-55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31919-5] [Medline: 27863813]
- Bloch MJ. Worldwide prevalence of hypertension exceeds 1.3 billion. J Am Soc Hypertens 2016 Oct;10(10):753-754. [doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2016.08.006] [Medline: 27660007]
- 3. Kearney PM, Whelton M, Reynolds K, Muntner P, Whelton PK, He J. Global burden of hypertension: analysis of worldwide data. Lancet 2005;365(9455):217-223. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17741-1] [Medline: 15652604]
- 4. National Center for Health Statistics (US). Health, United States, 2013: With Special Feature on Prescription Drugs. National Center for Health Statistics 2014 May 01:1232-1232. [Medline: <u>24967476</u>]
- 5. Health Promotion Administration, Ministry of Health and Welfare. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.hpa.gov.tw/Home/Index.aspx</u> [accessed 2018-01-31]
- Forouzanfar MH, Liu P, Roth GA, Ng M, Biryukov S, Marczak L, et al. Global Burden of Hypertension and Systolic Blood Pressure of at Least 110 to 115 mm Hg, 1990-2015. JAMA 2017 Jan 10;317(2):165-182. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2016.19043</u>] [Medline: <u>28097354</u>]
- GBD 2016 Risk Factors Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017 Sep 16;390(10100):1345-1422. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32366-8</u>] [Medline: <u>28919119</u>]
- Cheng S, Claggett B, Correia AW, Shah AM, Gupta DK, Skali H, et al. Temporal trends in the population attributable risk for cardiovascular disease: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. Circulation 2014 Sep 02;130(10):820-828
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.008506] [Medline: 25210095]
- Saran R, Li Y, Robinson B, Ayanian J, Balkrishnan R, Bragg-Gresham J, et al. US Renal Data System 2014 Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of Kidney Disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis 2015 Jul;66(1 Suppl 1):Svii, S1-Svii,305. [doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.05.001] [Medline: 26111994]
- Abegaz TM, Tefera YG, Befekadu Abebe T. Target Organ Damage and the Long Term Effect of Nonadherence to Clinical Practice Guidelines in Patients with Hypertension: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Int J Hypertens 2017;2017:2637051 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/2637051] [Medline: 28695006]
- 11. O'Donnell MJ, Chin SL, Rangarajan S, Xavier D, Liu L, Zhang H, INTERSTROKE investigators. Global and regional effects of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with acute stroke in 32 countries (INTERSTROKE): a case-control study. Lancet 2016 Aug 20;388(10046):761-775. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30506-2] [Medline: 27431356]
- 12. Office of Disease Prevention Health Promotion. 2010. Health-Related Quality of Life and Well-Being URL: <u>https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/about/foundation-health-measures/Health-Related-Quality-of-Life-and-Well-Being</u> [accessed 2018-01-31]
- Trevisol DJ, Moreira LB, Kerkhoff A, Fuchs SC, Fuchs FD. Health-related quality of life and hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. J Hypertens 2011 Feb 01;29(2):179-188. [doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328340d76f] [Medline: 21045726]
- Ye R, Liu K, Zhang Z, Gong S, Chen X. Health-related quality of life of hypertension in China: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2018 Aug 01;19(8):430-438. [doi: <u>10.2459/JCM.0000000000000678</u>] [Medline: <u>29879086</u>]
- Zullig LL, Melnyk SD, Stechuchak KM, McCant F, Danus S, Oddone E, et al. The Cardiovascular Intervention Improvement Telemedicine Study (CITIES): rationale for a tailored behavioral and educational pharmacist-administered intervention for achieving cardiovascular disease risk reduction. Telemed J E Health 2014 Feb 01;20(2):135-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2013.0145</u>] [Medline: <u>24303930</u>]
- 16. Bosworth HB, Oddone EZ. A model of psychosocial and cultural antecedents of blood pressure control. J Natl Med Assoc 2002 Apr;94(4):236-248. [Medline: <u>11991336</u>]

- 17. Crowley MJ, Grubber JM, Olsen MK, Bosworth HB. Factors associated with non-adherence to three hypertension self-management behaviors: preliminary data for a new instrument. J Gen Intern Med 2013 Jan;28(1):99-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-012-2195-1] [Medline: 22926634]
- Fletcher BR, Hartmann-Boyce J, Hinton L, McManus RJ. The Effect of Self-Monitoring of Blood Pressure on Medication Adherence and Lifestyle Factors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Am J Hypertens 2015 Oct;28(10):1209-1221. [doi: <u>10.1093/ajh/hpv008</u>] [Medline: <u>25725092</u>]
- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018 May 15;71(19):e127-e248. [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2017.11.006] [Medline: 29146535]
- 20. Tucker KL, Sheppard JP, Stevens R, Bosworth HB, Bove A, Bray EP, et al. Self-monitoring of blood pressure in hypertension: A systematic review and individual patient data meta-analysis. PLoS Med 2017 Sep;14(9):e1002389 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002389] [Medline: 28926573]
- 21. Omboni S, Ferrari R. The role of telemedicine in hypertension management: focus on blood pressure telemonitoring. Curr Hypertens Rep 2015 Apr;17(4):535. [doi: 10.1007/s11906-015-0535-3] [Medline: 25790799]
- 22. Grant RW, Pandiscio JC, Pajolek H, Woulfe A, Pelletier A, Kvedar J, et al. Implementation of a web-based tool for patient medication self-management: the Medication Self-titration Evaluation Programme (Med-STEP) for blood pressure control. Inform Prim Care 2012;20(1):57-67 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23336836]
- 23. Levy NK, Orzeck-Byrnes NA, Aidasani SR, Moloney DN, Nguyen LH, Park A, et al. Transition of a Text-Based Insulin Titration Program From a Randomized Controlled Trial Into Real-World Settings: Implementation Study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 19;20(3):e93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9515] [Medline: 29555621]
- 24. Driscoll A, Srivastava P, Toia D, Gibcus J, Hare DL. A nurse-led up-titration clinic improves chronic heart failure optimization of beta-adrenergic receptor blocking therapy--a randomized controlled trial. BMC Res Notes 2014 Sep 23;7:668 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-7-668] [Medline: 25248944]
- 25. Wong YM, Quek YN, Tay JC, Chadachan V, Lee HK. Efficacy and safety of a pharmacist-managed inpatient anticoagulation service for warfarin initiation and titration. J Clin Pharm Ther 2011 Oct;36(5):585-591. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2710.2010.01216.x] [Medline: 21070296]
- McAllister M, Dunn G, Payne K, Davies L, Todd C. Patient empowerment: the need to consider it as a measurable patient-reported outcome for chronic conditions. BMC Health Serv Res 2012;12:157 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-157] [Medline: 22694747]
- 27. McManus RJ, Mant J, Bray EP, Holder R, Jones MI, Greenfield S, et al. Telemonitoring and self-management in the control of hypertension (TASMINH2): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2010 Jul 17;376(9736):163-172. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60964-6] [Medline: 20619448]
- 28. McManus RJ, Mant J, Haque MS, Bray EP, Bryan S, Greenfield SM. Reorganized text. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2015 May 01;141(5):428. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamaoto.2015.0540</u>] [Medline: <u>25996397</u>]
- McManus RJ, Mant J, Franssen M, Nickless A, Schwartz C, Hodgkinson J, TASMINH4 investigators. Efficacy of self-monitored blood pressure, with or without telemonitoring, for titration of antihypertensive medication (TASMINH4): an unmasked randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2018 Mar 10;391(10124):949-959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30309-X] [Medline: 29499873]
- Margolius D, Bodenheimer T, Bennett H, Wong J, Ngo V, Padilla G, et al. Health coaching to improve hypertension treatment in a low-income, minority population. Ann Fam Med 2012;10(3):199-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1369] [Medline: 22585883]
- 31. Tobe SW, Pylypchuk G, Wentworth J, Kiss A, Szalai JP, Perkins N, et al. Effect of nurse-directed hypertension treatment among First Nations people with existing hypertension and diabetes mellitus: the Diabetes Risk Evaluation and Microalbuminuria (DREAM 3) randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 2006 Apr 25;174(9):1267-1271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.050030] [Medline: 16595786]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- McManus RJ, Bray EP, Mant J, Holder R, Greenfield S, Bryan S, et al. Protocol for a randomised controlled trial of telemonitoring and self-management in the control of hypertension: telemonitoring and self-management in hypertension. [ISRCTN17585681]. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2009 Feb 16;9:6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2261-9-6] [Medline: 19220913]
- Zarnke KB, Feagan BG, Mahon JL, Feldman RD. A randomized study comparing a patient-directed hypertension management strategy with usual office-based care. Am J Hypertens 1997 Jan;10(1):58-67. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0895-7061(96)00305-6</u>] [Medline: <u>9008249</u>]

- 35. Bobrie G, Postel-Vinay N, Delonca J, Corvol P, SETHI Investigators. Self-measurement and self-titration in hypertension: a pilot telemedicine study. Am J Hypertens 2007 Dec;20(12):1314-1320. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjhyper.2007.08.011</u>] [Medline: <u>18047923</u>]
- Chmiel C, Senn O, Rosemann T, Del PV, Steurer-Stey C. CoCo trial: Color-coded blood pressure Control, a randomized controlled study. Patient Prefer Adherence 2014;8:1383-1392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S68213] [Medline: 25346595]
- 37. WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. 2018. Defined Daily Dose definition and general considerations URL: <u>https://www.whocc.no/dd/definition_and_general_considera/</u> [accessed 2018-01-31]
- Chiang C, Wang T, Ueng K, Lin T, Yeh H, Chen C, et al. 2015 guidelines of the Taiwan Society of Cardiology and the Taiwan Hypertension Society for the management of hypertension. J Chin Med Assoc 2015 Jan;78(1):1-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcma.2014.11.005] [Medline: 25547819]
- 39. EQ-5D. 2015. EQ-5D-3L URL: <u>https://euroqol.org/eq-5d-instruments/eq-5d-3l-about/</u> [accessed 2018-04-28]
- Wu C, Gong Y, Wu J, Zhang S, Yin X, Dong X, et al. Chinese Version of the EQ-5D Preference Weights: Applicability in a Chinese General Population. PLoS One 2016;11(10):e0164334 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0164334] [Medline: 27711169]
- 41. Erdfelder E, Faul F, Buchner A. GPOWER: A general power analysis program. Behavior Research Methods, Instruments, & Computers 1996 Mar;28(1):1-11. [doi: <u>10.3758/bf03203630</u>]
- 42. Chen M, Hu J, McCoy TP, Letvak S, Ivanov L. Effect of a Lifestyle-Based Intervention on Health-Related Quality of Life in Older Adults with Hypertension. J Aging Res 2018;2018:6059560 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2018/6059560] [Medline: 29854460]
- 43. Flint KM, Schmiege SJ, Allen LA, Fendler TJ, Rumsfeld J, Bekelman D. Health Status Trajectories Among Outpatients With Heart Failure. J Pain Symptom Manage 2017 Feb;53(2):224-231. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.08.018</u>] [Medline: <u>27756621</u>]
- 44. Rumsfeld JS, Alexander KP, Goff DC, Graham MM, Ho PM, Masoudi FA, American Heart Association Council on Quality of CareOutcomes Research, Council on CardiovascularStroke Nursing, Council on EpidemiologyPrevention, Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease,Stroke Council. Cardiovascular health: the importance of measuring patient-reported health status: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2013 Jun 04;127(22):2233-2249. [doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3182949a2e] [Medline: 23648778]

Abbreviations

DBP: diastolic blood pressure
DDD: defined daily dose
EQ-5D-3L: 3-level version of EuroQol five-dimension self-report questionnaire
EQ-VAS: EuroQol visual analogue scale
GEE: generalized estimating equation
HRQoL: health-related quality of life
SBP: systolic blood pressure
WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.08.19; peer-reviewed by D Cianflone, P Banik; comments to author 31.08.19; revised version received 28.09.19; accepted 19.10.19; published 05.12.19.

Please cite as:

Kao CW, Chen TY, Cheng SM, Lin WS, Chang YC A Web-Based Self-Titration Program to Control Blood Pressure in Patients With Primary Hypertension: Randomized Controlled Trial J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15836 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15836 doi:10.2196/15836 PMID:31804186

©Chi-Wen Kao, Ting-Yu Chen, Shu-Meng Cheng, Wei-Shiang Lin, Yue-Cune Chang. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 05.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is

properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Exploring the Views of Osteogenesis Imperfecta Caregivers on Internet-Based Technologies: Qualitative Descriptive Study

Aimee R Castro^{1,2}, MA, MSc; Khadidja Chougui², BA; Claudette Bilodeau², BSc, RN; Argerie Tsimicalis^{1,2}, PhD, RN

¹Ingram School of Nursing, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada ²Shriners Hospitals for Children-Canada, Montreal, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Argerie Tsimicalis, PhD, RN Shriners Hospitals for Children-Canada 1003 Decarie Blvd Montreal, QC, H4A 0A9 Canada Phone: 1 (514) 3988142 Email: argerie.tsimicalis@mcgill.ca

Abstract

Background: Osteogenesis imperfecta (OI) is a rare genetic condition that can lead to frequent debilitating bone fractures. Family caregivers of children with OI face unique challenges in providing care, which may include limited access to information about the condition, feelings of distress, and experiences of social isolation. Internet-based technologies (IBTs) have been useful for supporting other types of caregivers. However, the views of OI caregivers on IBTs have not been explored.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the views of OI caregivers on the uses of IBTs to support them in caring for their children with OI.

Methods: A qualitative descriptive study was conducted. Caregivers of children with OI were recruited at a pediatric hospital in Montreal, Canada. Interviews were used to explore each caregiver's views on the applicability of IBTs in supporting their caregiving needs. The interviews were transcribed verbatim and thematically analyzed.

Results: A total of 18 caregivers participated. The caregivers shared that IBTs were useful for facilitating the following activities: daily activities of caregiving (such as providing physical care, supporting relationships, supporting self-care and hope, and managing the logistics of caregiving), OI medical information seeking, and OI social networking. However, they also revealed concerns about the health consequences of IBT use and the quality of IBT content. Concerns regarding IBTs varied somewhat with caregivers' geographies. Caregivers offered suggestions and strategies for how IBTs can be optimized for caregiving.

Conclusions: Family caregivers of children with OI face unique challenges in providing care, which may include lacking access to information about the rare condition and feeling socially isolated. OI caregivers use IBTs to overcome some of these challenges and to support their specific caregiving needs. These findings contribute to the paucity of knowledge by offering varied IBT strategies to support caregiving activities, which may be beneficial for other caregivers. Participants' suggestions for IBT services can inform the development of new resources for OI caregivers and potentially for other caregivers of children living with rare conditions.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15924) doi:10.2196/15924

KEYWORDS

smartphone; caregivers; pediatrics; rare diseases; telemedicine; quality improvement; social media; chronic disease; osteogenesis imperfecta

Introduction

Background

RenderX

Osteogenesis imperfecta (OI) is a rare genetic condition (affecting 1 in 10,000 births) that alters collagen production

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15924/

[1,2]. OI is characterized by increased bone fragility and reduced bone mass, which increase the risk of fractures [1,2]. Although many OI types are distinguished in the genetic literature, the majority of individuals with OI are diagnosed with OI type I, which has the mildest disease severity [1]. OI type II is deadly

in the neonatal period. OI type III is the most severe form of OI that is compatible with long-term survival. OI type IV is of moderate disease severity [1]. OI types V, VI, and VII are newer classifications that present with different bone and tissue phenotypes; these variants have a mild-to-moderate risk for bone fractures [1,2]. At present, there is no cure for OI; thus, ongoing and frequent physiotherapy, occupational therapy, surgery, and bisphosphonate medications remain to be the course of treatment [1,3,4].

Caregiving and Osteogenesis Imperfecta

In chronic conditions such as OI, family caregivers (*caregivers*) play a critical role in providing safe, effective, and supportive care for patients [5]. For many caregivers, although positive experiences can result from raising a child with OI [3,6], the diagnosis itself is often "devastating" [3], leading to subsequent "ups and downs" [3] as families adjust to the diagnosis. The challenges faced by OI caregivers can include financial difficulties, transportation and accessibility challenges, a lack of knowledgeable health care providers, suspicions of child abuse leading to the diagnosis, social isolation, and a lack of social support [3,6-8].

Caregiving and Internet-Based Technologies

Caregivers of patients with various other childhood- and adult-onset conditions have found that internet-based technologies (IBTs), such as websites, email, social media, mobile apps, and video calls, facilitate knowledge exchange and provide social support in their caregiving support needs [5,9-13]. Research on the uses of IBT for caregivers of children with special needs is an emerging field [13-15]. By understanding these caregivers' views on IBTs, future platforms may be created to meet their unique needs [13,16]. As far as we are aware, no researchers have studied the uses of IBTs among caregivers of children with OI. Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore the views of caregivers of children with OI on the uses of IBTs in supporting their caregiving needs.

Methods

Design

A qualitative descriptive study [17] was conducted at a university-affiliated, pediatric orthopedic hospital in Montreal, Canada, where health care services are provided both in English and French to patients. Ethical approval was received from McGill University's institutional review board (study number A05-B39-17B) and the study site before setup and recruitment.

Recruitment

Purposive sampling was used to recruit adults (older than 18 years) who brought a patient (aged between 0 and 21 years) with OI to the study site for an OI-related appointment and who considered themselves to be a caregiver for the child. A nonauthoritative member of the team approached clinicians who had appointments with patients with OI to mediate an introduction to the study. If caregivers expressed an interest in learning more about the study, then a member of the research team described the study and informed the caregiver provided

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15924/
```

their written consent to participate, then an interview was scheduled at the caregiver's convenience.

Data Collection

Each of the caregivers participated in 1 individual semistructured interview that took place in person at the hospital or by telephone or videoconferencing. All interviews were audio taped. Either the first author (AC) or the research assistant (KC) conducted the interviews by using an interview guide for caregivers who identified as IBT users (Multimedia Appendix 1). We prepared a second guide for interviewing caregivers who might not consider themselves to be regular users of IBTs; however, all caregivers who agreed to be interviewed identified as regular IBT users, so this second guide was never used. Demographic data were collected in a short demographic survey. Field notes were recorded after each interview.

Data Analysis

Demographic data were analyzed using descriptive statistics in Microsoft Excel. Audio recordings were transcribed by the researchers who conducted the interviews (AC and KC). The French interviews were transcribed in French and open coded into English by KC, who is fluently bilingual in both English and French. The transcribed data and field notes were uploaded into Excel where they were open coded and thematically analyzed by AC, with additional intercoder verification by KC [18]. In regular meetings with the bilingual principal investigator (AT), the research team shared and discussed progress and interpretations of the data and the ongoing inductive development of the codebook [19]. These codebooks and meeting notes were recorded in a research journal, as were the ongoing research reflections of the first author (AC). The carefully anonymized research journal, larger samples of coded data, and the codebook may be made available for audits upon request.

To improve the trustworthiness of this qualitative research, we were guided by Lincoln and Guba's [20] 4 criteria of credibility, dependability, confirmability, and transferability. The reflexive journaling by AC, the audio taping of interviews, and the research team's regular peer debriefing enhanced the credibility of our research [21]. Carefully documenting our team's discussions and decisions in our research journal and making the anonymized research journal, coding samples, and codebook available for audit enhanced the dependability of this study [21]. The carefully documented decision trail in our research journal and our frequent team debriefings supported the confirmability of this study [21]. The team development of our codebook and intercoder checks, our field notes, and our inclusion of thick descriptions and quotes support the transferability of our research [21].

Results

Demographic Data

A total of 18 adult caregivers from 14 families were interviewed for this study (Table 1). The interviews ranged from 15 min to 1.5 hours. These interviews resulted in 13.05 hours of audio recordings. Most of the caregivers (16/18) had the support of another adult providing care assistance at home. Functional

XSL•FO

abilities of their children ranged from having no need for any mobility assistance devices to using a wheelchair full time outside the home.

Internet-Based Technology Views: Uses, Concerns, Strategies, and Suggestions

All families in our study had access to the internet at home. Most felt confident in their ability to navigate the internet and mobile apps. Furthermore, in their survey, 14 of the 18 participants responded that they had a generally positive view of using IBTs in relation to caring for their child with OI; in addition, 2 of them had a neutral view of IBTs and 2 had a negative view of IBTs. Caregivers described multiple uses of IBTs, reported some concerns, and shared their strategies and suggestions for optimizing future IBT development.

We used the following identification format to refer to specific participants throughout this paper: (Caregiver type) (Family number)-(OI type). Caregiver types were fathers (F), mothers (M), and legal guardians (G).

Uses of Internet-Based Technologies

Facilitating Daily Activities Related to Caregiving

Providing Physical Care

Caregivers described using IBTs to support physical caregiving activities by promoting rest and immobilization after fractures

or surgeries and by being a tool for distracting their child. As a mother explained, "TV and the tablet is a hell of a distraction for pain" [M5-III]. For another family, the biggest challenge in caring for their 19-month old with OI was in trying to keep her immobilized for several weeks after her leg surgeries:

She got her [femur-rodding] surgery two weeks ago...she used to be able to crawl everywhere she wanted to...So, what we did most recently is, with the advice from a social worker here at [the study site] she said, "you know, you can have all these opinions about electronics, but you know, for those couple of weeks she's going to be immobilized, we don't need to feel bad about making her use electronics, or watching more TV than usual." And that's exactly what we did. [F1-IV]

For these parents, Web-based videos and new computer tablet games provided calming distractions to help prevent their child from moving around when he or she needed to rest. In addition, caregivers found video streaming apps to be very helpful for occupying their children when the local environment was unsafe (eg, slippery mopped floors) and for distracting their children from pain after a fracture, during splinting, or during intravenous procedures.


Castro et al

 Table 1. Demographic data were collected from the caregiver participants.

Demographic traits	Values ^a
Individuals interviewed (number of families represented)	18 (14)
Relationship to child with OI ^b (N=18 caregivers), n	
Mother	11
Father	5
Other: legal guardian	2 (same family)
Language of interview (N=18 caregivers), n	
English	12
French	6
Caregivers' median age in years (age range)	37.5 (24-57)
Caregiver's sex (N=18 caregivers), n	
Female	13
Male	5
Residential region (N=14 families), n	
Local (<2 hours' drive from Montreal)	7
Within Quebec, not local	1
Other Canadian region	3
International	3
Highest level of education (N=18 caregivers), n	
Some postsecondary (university or college)	5
Received university or college diploma	11
Postgraduate	2
Marital status (N=18 caregivers), n	
Married or common law	14
Single (never married)	2
Separated or divorced	2
Estimated family income (N=14 families), n (Can \$)	
<\$25,000	3
\$25,000-\$50,000	1
\$50,000-\$80,000	1
>\$80,000	7
Do not know	1
Prefer not to answer	1
Child's OI type (N=14 families), n	
Ι	3
III	4
IV	6
VI	1
Ages of children with OI (17 children with OI), n	
Baby (0-12 months)	2
Toddler (13 months-3 years)	1
Preschool (4-5 years)	1

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15924/

XSL•FO RenderX

Demographic traits	Values ^a	
School aged (6-12 years)	11	
Teenager (13-18 years)	2	
Family history of OI (N=14 families), n		
Yes	3	
No	11	
Internet access at home (N=14 families), n		
Yes	14	
No	0	
Comfort using the Internet (N=18 caregivers), n		
Very comfortable	14	
Somewhat comfortable	3	
Neutral	1	
Somewhat uncomfortable	0	
Uncomfortable	0	
General thoughts on using the internet for OI care (N=18 caregivers), n		
Positive	14	
Neutral	2	
Negative	2	

^aValues represent the number of individuals, unless otherwise indicated.

^bOI: osteogenesis imperfecta.

Supporting Relationships

Caregivers also described how they used IBTs to bond with their children and extended families. A father explained how he used IBTs for low-impact activities, such as listening to audiobooks when he put his daughters to bed each night, doing Web-based yoga videos, and playing Pokémon Go in new cities for father-daughter dates. Traveling presented additional difficulties for families of children with fragile bones. One mother explained how her toddler stays connected with her grandparents through video calling even though those grandparents live farther away:

FaceTime with my parents—she actually does that a lot! "Mommy, mommy! I want to see Pappi!"...she asks for them. When my father's not home to do that FaceTime, it's like "Where is he?! Why?!" [M1-IV]

For some families, visiting other individuals' houses posed a fear of fractures being caused by furniture or wobbly objects. Instead of visiting these houses in person, OI caregivers used Web-based videoconferencing tools, such as Skype and FaceTime, to connect with friends and family and to keep their children in a safer environment.

Supporting Self-Care and Hope

Caregivers used IBTs for their own self-care and feelings of hope. Smartphone games, video streaming services, music apps, and social media for personal use were all popular tools. A common challenge for caregivers was experiencing boredom as they waited through numerous medical appointments and lengthy recoveries from surgeries. Caregivers used IBTs, such as video streaming apps and smartphone games, as distractions during these times. One mother used a relaxation app to help her focus on her breathing, which lessened her anxiety. Some caregivers used Web-based resources to find inspiration. One caregiver watched inspirational YouTube videos posted by families with OI to help *motivate* her daughter and herself (M6-III). Another mother, whose school-aged child had experienced over 150 fractures, explained:

On YouTube, I find there's a lot of inspirational videos that are nice to watch. Experiences that turn out to be good and [show] that there's hope. [M5-III]

Managing the Logistics of Caregiving

Caregivers used IBTs to manage the logistics of coordinating medical appointments. There were 2 caregivers who specifically mentioned using their calendar apps to keep track of the many health care appointments that came with caring for a child with brittle bones. Caregivers generally agreed that IBTs had made accessing health care services much easier. Caregivers used emails to contact potential clinicians and make appointments, texted their social workers and physiotherapists, and sent x-ray pictures to their treating physicians. A few caregivers created their own digital medical records by compiling their emails, x-ray photos, and other documents into one digital location, such as an emails folder or a photo album.

Some families used internet tools and apps to find community and care resources. Caregivers discussed using the internet to assess an environment's wheelchair accessibility (eg, Kijiji's images helped them assess the accessibility of rental housing).

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Several families used IBTs to research products and services that could help with caring for a child with OI. One mother explained how she used the internet to research an appropriate stairlift for their home once their children were too big to be carried upstairs:

I think, yes, sometimes [the Internet] helps. Like the stairlift. We didn't have any idea how we would do this. And then internet search[ing], we saw that all these different companies were selling these stairlifts for different price [sic]. So yeah, I think that's helped. [M3-IV]

Other examples included caregivers watching Web-based video reviews of potential wheelchairs to buy and researching OI-appropriate activities and adapted sports for their children to engage in.

Finally, caregivers used IBTs to continue managing their careers. One father, whose family travelled far to receive treatment for their 2 children with OI, explained he often used video calling to call his children after surgeries when he was unable to be physically present. This father also had to give up his business providing income tax services because it was not flexible enough to meet his family's needs. Instead, he became a taxi driver who supplemented his income as an Uber driver. Another father explained that the internet allowed him to resolve a workplace emergency remotely while he was waiting for his daughter's planned surgery at the hospital.

Facilitating Osteogenesis Imperfecta Medical Information Seeking

Caregivers noted that a common activity relating to OI care was seeking information about the condition. Caregivers were selective in how they used IBTs for finding medical information. They preferred to receive medical and prognostic information from clinicians, but they would often seek information regarding day-to-day OI care activities using Web-based resources. However, as a mother from a country with limited access to OI support explained, for some families, the internet was their only accessible source for OI information:

To me, I think [IBT is] good. It is really helping. Because if you should look at where I'm coming from...and where the kind of information that I can even access back home, I think it's excellent. It bridges the gap. Even though we are far apart, we are able to know most of the things going on. [M6-III]

For some caregivers with limited access to OI expertise, wading through OI websites found on the internet was their only option for learning about their child's medical needs.

Facilitating Osteogenesis Imperfecta Social Networking

Caregivers, primarily mothers, were strategic in how they used OI social media. Most preferred social media for meeting other OI families. They shared day-to-day care information rather than using it for specific information on prognoses or treatments. Some caregivers were more interested in answering others' questions than in having their own questions answered. Several caregivers expressed an interest in meeting and conversing with other families with OI to learn more about each other's OI experiences, and in doing so, these caregivers formed strong

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15924/

XSL•FO

connections through social media. One mother, although cautious regarding specific pieces of OI information being shared on social media, kept in touch with over 200 people from the OI community on Facebook. Another mother explained:

[The OI Parents Facebook group is] a huge, huge, huge—if not the biggest help, with [OI son] and being a caregiver for him. The parents, the families that are on there, are awesome. Everybody is just—so helpful. [M9-III]

Caregivers who frequently participated on OI social networks also used these platforms for sharing practical advice with each other:

Useful tips and tricks to help after rodding, after a fracture, adjusting the wheelchair—like, those types of things. [M13-III]

One mother explained that OI parents were the ones who know practical day-to-day care strategies, such as where to find adaptive clothing and winter boots that would fit her child's physique. Web-based caregivers could receive faster answers to questions from multiple sources, such as information on how to splint a new fracture, than if they sought out input from their health care providers. For a few of these families, the first time they learned about the study hospital site being an OI treatment center was through OI social networks rather than through a health care professional.

Concerns of Internet-Based Technologies

Caregivers' concerns about IBTs typically fell into 2 categories: health and screen time concerns and concerns regarding the quality of IBT content. Geographic differences in these IBT concerns were noted.

Health and Screen Time Concerns

Caregivers expressed concerns about the potential negative mental and physical health effects of too much screen time for themselves and for their children. One mother shared:

The OI Parents group can be really good. [But] I've excused myself from following it on my newsfeed because it was all I saw, all day... I found that all OI, all of the time, was making that our life. Instead of OI being a part of our life, it was taking over. [M13-III]

Some caregivers were concerned about Web-based predators. Others worried about cyberbullying directed toward their children or cyber judgement from other OI parents. Although caregivers consistently expressed concerns regarding both themselves and their children spending too much time on their devices, a few explained that they were somewhat less strict with IBT use for their children with OI because they could not do as many physical activities as other children, especially during a fracture, immobilization, or a painful period.

Quality of the Internet-Based Technology Content

The most prominent concern regarding IBT was the quality of the content available. Several families described their disturbing experiences of trying to find information about OI on the Web.

When 1 mother tried to find more information on OI through a search engine, she found the following:

Angulated limbs, like fresh fractures, bone through skin, those kinds of things, which was terrible for a postpartum mother to see about their tiny little baby. So, I have stopped [searching]. [M13-III]

Oftentimes, what caregivers found first on the Web were the worst-case scenarios that were not applicable to their own children.

Families preferred to speak with expert clinicians about the medical treatment and prognostic aspects of OI. Several caregivers explained that as there is so much variation in the presentation of OI, Web-based prognostic information relevant to their own cases was limited. It also cost caregivers a lot of time to determine which websites and tools had accurate high-quality information. Conflicting information and disinformation led to a few caregivers seeking clinical OI information solely from the study hospital site. They preferred to explore Web-based resources recommended from trusted health care institutions.

Geographic Differences in Internet-Based Technologies Concerns

Caregivers who had easier access to the study hospital site appeared to have more concerns regarding OI social networks and Web-based resources. For instance, a father who had lived with OI and near the study site most of his life explained that he probably had no interest in OI social media for 2 reasons: he had searched on social media for OI once and believed the information to be very inaccurate and because "for us, [OI is] known. And that's the big difference" [F1-IV]. In contrast, when asked about her views on IBTs, a mother from a country with limited accessible OI care options shared:

I want anybody that has OI should have internet access. Because it gives fast access to people you're supposed to connect [with], once you have an emergency. [M12-IV]

This mother learned of OI treatment and the study hospital site through an international social media group for OI families. Before learning about this group, she felt isolated, as if she was the only parent ever who had a child with brittle bones. Through the Web-based group, other international members connected with her and sent her bisphosphonate treatments. With bisphosphonates, her school-aged daughter's bones strengthened, and she was able to mobilize more freely, enabling her to attend school. The Web-based group also managed to connect this mother with a local sponsor so her daughter could receive surgical treatments at the study site.

Strategies and Suggestions for Optimizing Internet-Based Technologies

Advice to Other Caregivers Regarding Internet-Based Technology Strategies

Caregivers shared the IBT advice they would share with other caregivers on how to use IBTs optimally with their children and for themselves. They recommended using Web-based videos and apps for distracting their children when they are in pain or immobilized. Websites that some caregivers suggested for learning more about OI included YouTube videos about the OI experience, OI Facebook groups, and the OI Foundation and Shriners Hospitals for Children—Canada websites and social media pages. They advised that caregivers should monitor the content their children view and that caregivers should be somewhat skeptical consumers of Web-based content. They also stressed the importance of being role models to their children when using IBTs, such as by limiting parents' and children's screen time.

Suggestions for Internet-Based Technology Development

OI caregivers offered many ideas for desirable IBT products and services to better support their needs (Textbox 1). In general, caregivers desired child-friendly and age-appropriate IBTs, and they wanted these resources to be available on the Web to regularly inform caregivers about research and medical updates. Caregivers said that when a service is meant to provide answers to questions, it should be interactive and quickly responsive. Francophone families particularly emphasized that there were not enough resources in French, limiting their access to support. Some caregivers suggested they would be interested in social media resources to understand what adulthood experiences of OI are like. A few families said they had never been told about nor had they found any OI-specific IBT resources. These caregivers wanted expert OI institutions to recommend more Web-based OI resources. Caregivers stated that resources should be offered in multiple languages, with Web-based and offline capabilities, with geographically specific listings, and in both short summaries and more extensive reports or videos.



Textbox 1. Internet-based technologies that caregivers would like to see developed to facilitate caregiving.

Internet-based technologies (IBTs) to facilitate daily activities related to caregiving and logistics:

- An email coordinating service that sends caregivers' emailed questions to the correct medical department or contact
- The option to schedule appointments on the Web
- A Web-based platform informing caregivers of relevant government financial aids and services
- The option to have videoconferencing consultations with clinicians

IBTs to verify medical information:

- Web-based, regularly updated information on the gold standards of care and treatment for osteogenesis imperfecta (OI)
- Downloadable software for OI families with descriptions of the condition, available resources, new treatments, and recent research updates
- Web-based home fracture-splinting videos with diverse techniques for every fracture possible
- Web-based videos portraying OI patients before and after various treatments
- A Web-based listing of a group of trusted parents and clinicians who caregivers can contact
- A gamified app to teach children occupational therapy and physiotherapy

IBTs to engage in social networking and share experiences with OI families:

- An OI social network where parents can share practical knowledge and videos of caregiving techniques with each other
- A way to organize the OI Parents Facebook group content so that the information it contains is easier to navigate
- A website to donate medical equipment, such as wheelchairs, to other families

Discussion

Principal Findings

We found that OI caregivers were using IBTs to care for themselves and for their children with OI. Yet, although caregivers generally held positive views of IBTs, they were also concerned about the potential negative health effects of IBTs and the quality of IBT content. Caregivers offered suggestions for how other OI caregivers could optimize the use of IBTs in their caregiving lives and for how clinicians and software developers could build better IBTs to support caregivers.

Caring for a child with OI may lead to physical, relational, and self-care challenges [6,22]. Our study found that caregivers were facing similar challenges, but it also revealed the benefits of using IBTs to manage these challenges. For example, OI caregivers used IBTs as a distraction to manage the physical challenges associated with treating their child's pain. Social challenges, such as social isolation from family members and friends. were being partially overcome through videoconferencing support. Caregivers' physical, emotional, and self-care challenges were being addressed through IBT support. New IBT platforms may also target these needs.

Researchers have described the many logistical challenges of caring for a child with OI, such as coordinating appointments, finding resources, and communicating with clinicians [6,7]. These logistical challenges were also noted in this study. Smartphone apps are presently being developed for caregivers of other chronically ill children to communicate with other family members and health care teams to coordinate care [23-25]. Other potential platforms for addressing these logistical challenges include teleconferencing with clinicians and

Web-based appointment scheduling [13]. Similar apps may be developed to support OI caregivers.

Several caregivers in this study experienced difficulties in finding health care providers who were knowledgeable about OI. These difficulties have been previously reported by OI caregivers [6,22]. For medical information on OI, such as treatments and fracture prognoses, caregivers much preferred information that came from a knowledgeable OI health care provider or institution. However, when knowledgeable providers were not available, caregivers turned to the internet. This is a similar strategy used by other rare disease populations to fulfill their information needs [12,14]. Web-based resources serve as sources of information and support, particularly when specialists are not accessible [12-14].

Caregivers' views on IBTs for social and medical information seeking appeared to depend, in part, on their relative access to the study site's OI specialist center: if caregivers did not have easy access to OI medical specialists (eg, because of geographical constraints), they relied more on Web-based OI resources and communities. This pattern corresponds with research suggesting caregivers of children with special needs have more of an impetus to seek information on the Web than do caregivers of children without special needs [14,15]. This pattern suggests that IBTs may be most useful for caregivers who have internet access but do not have regular or easy access to experts. Still, similar to the OI caregivers in our study, many caregivers have concerns regarding the health effects and quality of the content of IBTs [14,26]. Leading OI institutions should work to develop and share Web-based services, ensuring they provide high-quality information and content.



Clinical and Research Implications

Clinicians should inquire about families' current uses of IBTs and help link families to other credible sources [12,27]. The study site's recent adoption of the Upopolis platform, which helps children with medical support needs find information and connect with other friends and families, is an example of a credible existing tool being shared by clinicians [28]. Families, clinicians, and researchers should work together to create resources using participative approaches. Using participatory design approaches to build new interventions increases the likelihood that end users will accept the interventions when they are launched [16,29]. Recent examples in OI include the creation of the Good2Go MyHealth Passport, a tool for optimizing the transfer of pediatric patients to adult health care services and prototype development of a tool to engage children with OI in their care [30-32]. OI caregivers' suggestions and strategies for supportive IBTs should be used to improve clinical practice and to develop future IBT services for families with OI [33].

Study Limitations and Strengths

Our study has several limitations. Regarding our data collection and analysis methods, ideally for the 6 French interviews, we would have independently back translated the English translations into French to ensure that the translations were trustworthy [34]. Owing to time and resource limitations, we did not do this, as 5 of the 6 team members and coauthors were fluently bilingual. One of the coauthors, KC, is fluently bilingual in English and French and has a rich personal knowledge of the subject material [34]. She was responsible for open coding all the French interviews into English. Regarding our sample, this study was conducted at an internationally renowned treatment center for OI. Therefore, we were conducting interviews with caregivers who had the resources to access this center. The demographic survey data revealed that most participants were financially well off and had at least some postsecondary education. Future research should work to explore the IBT views and needs of OI caregivers who do not have access to international treatment centers and who have even more diverse socioeconomic backgrounds than these caregivers did.

Strengths of the study design include a rich description of the setting and of the participants. These data add context to the study, helping the reader to decide if and whether the results and interpretations are relevant to their own situation or research [35]. The interviews were comprehensive (lasting between 15 min and 1.5 hours), and the sampling was purposive to include a range of OI caregiver experiences, creating a deep dataset for analysis. Finally, as far as we are aware, this is the first study to research in depth how caregivers of children with OI view and use IBTs to support their caregiving activities. Our research offers a starting point for future researchers to build more supportive caregiving technologies.

Conclusions

Through this study, we have a better understanding of how OI caregivers can use specific IBTs to facilitate daily activities, information seeking, and social networking in relation to OI. We also have a better understanding of their concerns regarding IBTs and how future IBT projects may be built to optimize the benefits of IBTs while reducing the concerning aspects of IBTs. Clinicians should share the strategies that OI caregivers recommend for optimizing IBT use in caregiving with families newly diagnosed with OI. Some of these strategies may also be useful for other caregivers caring for youths with rare or chronic conditions. Clinicians should work toward developing IBTs that meet the needs and suggestions of the caregiver participants in this study so that the benefits of IBTs may be realized for more caregivers, while diminishing the potential harms of IBTs.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Tunis Shriners, the Newton Foundation, Scotiabank, the Canadian Institutes of Health Research: Institute of Health Services and Policy Research Travel Awards (summer 2018) and the McGill University Ingram School of Nursing Summer Bursary Program of 2019. AT is supported by a Chercheur-Boursier Junior 1 from the Fonds de Recherche Québec-Santé (Québec Medical Research Council). AC is supported by a Fonds de Recherche Québec-Santé Formation de Doctorat (Doctoral Research Award). The sponsors were not involved in the review and approval of this paper for publication.

Several study site clinicians and caregiving stakeholders provided invaluable feedback on the interview guide (Johanne Brunelle, RN; Sylvie-Anne Plourde, RN; Catherine Dubé, BSW; Trudy Wong, MSW; Mary Curtin, BA; Maria Caruso, BA, DipED, CertSpED; Marie Donato, BA, DipEd, CertED; and Angie Gugliotti, BA). Furthermore, this study could not have been conducted without the caregiver participants who took time to share their knowledge and expertise.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Interview guide for interviews with caregivers who identified as internet-based technology users. [DOCX File, 22 KB - jmir_v21i12e15924_app1.docx]

References

 Marini JC, Forlino A, Bächinger HP, Bishop NJ, Byers PH, Paepe AD, et al. Osteogenesis imperfecta. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2017 Aug 18;3:17052. [doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.52] [Medline: 28820180]

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15924/

- 2. Trejo P, Rauch F. Osteogenesis imperfecta in children and adolescents-new developments in diagnosis and treatment. Osteoporos Int 2016 Dec;27(12):3427-3437. [doi: 10.1007/s00198-016-3723-3] [Medline: 27492436]
- Dogba MJ, Bedos C, Durigova M, Montpetit K, Wong T, Glorieux FH, et al. The impact of severe osteogenesis imperfecta on the lives of young patients and their parents - a qualitative analysis. BMC Pediatr 2013 Sep 30;13:153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-13-153] [Medline: 24074180]
- Hill CL, Baird WO, Walters SJ. Quality of life in children and adolescents with Osteogenesis Imperfecta: a qualitative interview based study. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2014 Apr 16;12:54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-12-54] [Medline: 24742068]
- Hu C, Kung S, Rummans TA, Clark MM, Lapid MI. Reducing caregiver stress with internet-based interventions: a systematic review of open-label and randomized controlled trials. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Apr;22(e1):e194-e209. [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002817] [Medline: 25125686]
- Arabaci LB, Bozkurt S, Vara S, Ozen S, Darcan S, Simsek DG. Difficulties experienced by caregivers of patients diagnosed with osteogenesisimperfecta (OI): example of a hospital. J Pak Med Assoc 2015 Jul;65(7):764-770 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26160088]
- Claesson IB, Brodin J. What families with children with brittle bones want to tell. Child Care Health Dev 2002 Jul;28(4):309-315. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2214.2002.00282.x</u>] [Medline: <u>12211190</u>]
- Bozkurt S, Arabacı LB, Vara S, Ozen S, Gökşen D, Darcan S. The impact of psycho-educational training on the psychosocial adjustment of caregivers of osteogenesis imperfecta patients. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2014;6(2):84-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4274/Jcrpe.1304] [Medline: 24932601]
- Drake TM, Ritchie JE. The surgeon will Skype you now: advancements in e-clinic. Ann Surg 2016 Apr;263(4):636-637. [doi: <u>10.1097/SLA.00000000001505</u>] [Medline: <u>26599564</u>]
- Girault A, Ferrua M, Lalloué B, Sicotte C, Fourcade A, Yatim F, et al. Internet-based technologies to improve cancer care coordination: current use and attitudes among cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 2015 Mar;51(4):551-557. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2014.12.001] [Medline: 25661828]
- 11. González-Herrero A, Smith S. Crisis communications management on the web: how internet-based technologies are changing the way public relations professionals handle business crises. J Conting Crisis Manag 2008;16(3):143-153. [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-5973.2008.00543.x]
- Naftel RP, Safiano NA, Falola MI, Shannon CN, Wellons JC, Johnston JM. Technology preferences among caregivers of children with hydrocephalus. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2013 Jan;11(1):26-36. [doi: <u>10.3171/2012.9.PEDS12208</u>] [Medline: <u>23092227</u>]
- Tozzi AE, Mingarelli R, Agricola E, Gonfiantini M, Pandolfi E, Carloni E, et al. The internet user profile of Italian families of patients with rare diseases: a web survey. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013 May 16;8:76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-8-76] [Medline: 23680013]
- Knapp C, Madden V, Wang H, Sloyer P, Shenkman E. Internet use and eHealth literacy of low-income parents whose children have special health care needs. J Med Internet Res 2011 Sep 29;13(3):e75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1697] [Medline: 21960017]
- DeHoff BA, Staten LK, Rodgers RC, Denne SC. The role of online social support in supporting and educating parents of young children with special health care needs in the united states: A scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 22;18(12):e333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6722] [Medline: 28007689]
- Matthew-Maich N, Harris L, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Ibrahim S, et al. Designing, implementing, and evaluating mobile health technologies for managing chronic conditions in older adults: a scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 9;4(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5127] [Medline: 27282195]
- 17. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? Res Nurs Health 2000 Aug;23(4):334-340. [doi: 10.1002/1098-240x(200008)23:4<334::aid-nur9>3.0.co;2-g] [Medline: 10940958]
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- DeCuir-Gunby JT, Marshall PL, McCulloch AW. Developing and using a codebook for the analysis of interview data: an example from a professional development research project. Field Methods 2011;23(2):136-155. [doi: 10.1177/1525822X10388468]
- 20. Guba EG, Lincoln YS. Naturalistic Inquiry. United States: SAGE Publications; 1985.
- 21. Polit DF, Beck CT. Nursing Research: Generating And Assessing Evidence For Nursing Practice. Ninth Edition. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.
- 22. Dogba MJ, Rauch F, Tre G, Glorieux FH, Bedos C. Shaping and managing the course of a child's disease: parental experiences with osteogenesis imperfecta. Disabil Health J 2014 Jul;7(3):343-349. [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2014.03.002] [Medline: 24947576]
- 23. Mueller EL, Cochrane AR, Bennett WE, Carroll AE. A survey of mobile technology usage and desires by caregivers of children with cancer. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2018 Nov;65(11):e27359. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.27359</u>] [Medline: <u>30015371</u>]
- 24. Wang J, Yao N, Wang Y, Zhou F, Liu Y, Geng Z, et al. Developing 'Care Assistant': a smartphone application to support caregivers of children with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Apr;22(3):163-171. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15594753] [Medline: 26271029]

- 25. Liu X, Wang R, Zhou D, Hong Z. Smartphone applications for seizure care and management in children and adolescents with epilepsy: Feasibility and acceptability assessment among caregivers in China. Epilepsy Res 2016 Nov;127:1-5. [doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2016.08.002] [Medline: 27522560]
- Radesky JS, Kistin C, Eisenberg S, Gross J, Block G, Zuckerman B, et al. Parent perspectives on their mobile technology use: the excitement and exhaustion of parenting while connected. J Dev Behav Pediatr 2016;37(9):694-701. [doi: 10.1097/DBP.00000000000357] [Medline: 27802256]
- 27. Christensen S, Morelli R. MyPapp: a mobile app to enhance understanding of pap testing. Comput Inform Nurs 2012 Dec;30(12):627-631. [Medline: 23266535]
- 28. Kids' Health Links Foundation. 2017 Nov 2. Shriners Hospitals for Children Canada Launches New Social Media Platform for Young Patients URL: <u>https://www.kidshealthlinks.org/blog/2017/12/20/eq6nm37otnyd742ymmyf35fv0xpa51</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- Clemensen J, Larsen SB, Kyng M, Kirkevold M. Participatory design in health sciences: Using cooperative experimental methods in developing health services and computer technology. Qual Health Res 2007 Jan;17(1):122-130. [doi: 10.1177/1049732306293664] [Medline: 17170250]
- Jeong S, Chougui K, Mercier C, Wong T, Lafrance M, Gagnon V, et al. Development of the Good2Go MyHealth Passport for individuals with Osteogenesis Imperfecta: a knowledge-synthesis study. Int J Orthop Trauma Nurs 2019 May;33:27-34. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijotn.2018.11.005</u>] [Medline: <u>30910468</u>]
- Carrier JI, Siedlikowski M, Chougui K, Plourde S, Mercier C, Thevasagayam G, et al. A best practice initiative to optimize transfer of young adults with osteogenesis imperfecta from child to adult healthcare services. Clin Nurse Spec 2018;32(6):323-335. [doi: 10.1097/NUR.00000000000407] [Medline: 30299335]
- Siedlikowski M, Rauch F, Ruland C, Tsimicalis A. Giving children a voice: development of an interactive assessment and communication tool for osteogenesis imperfecta. J Pain Symptom Manage 2018;56(6):e103. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2018.10.348]
- Dogba MJ, Dahan-Oliel N, Snider L, Glorieux FH, Durigova M, Palomo T, et al. Involving families with osteogenesis imperfecta in health service research: joint development of the OI/ECE questionnaire. PLoS One 2016;11(1):e0147654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147654] [Medline: 26799959]
- 34. Chen HY, Boore JR. Translation and back-translation in qualitative nursing research: methodological review. J Clin Nurs 2010 Jan;19(1-2):234-239. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.02896.x] [Medline: 19886874]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]

Abbreviations

IBT: internet-based technology **OI:** osteogenesis imperfecta

Edited by E Borycki; submitted 30.08.19; peer-reviewed by C Hill, D Hansen; comments to author 15.10.19; revised version received 25.10.19; accepted 25.10.19; published 18.12.19.

Please cite as:

Castro AR, Chougui K, Bilodeau C, Tsimicalis A Exploring the Views of Osteogenesis Imperfecta Caregivers on Internet-Based Technologies: Qualitative Descriptive Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15924 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15924/ doi:10.2196/15924 PMID:31850851

©Aimee R Castro, Khadidja Chougui, Claudette Bilodeau, Argerie Tsimicalis. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 18.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Validation of Single Centre Pre-Mobile Atrial Fibrillation Apps for Continuous Monitoring of Atrial Fibrillation in a Real-World Setting: Pilot Cohort Study

Hui Zhang¹, MD; Jie Zhang², PhD; Hong-Bao Li², PhD; Yi-Xin Chen², MSc; Bin Yang², PhD; Yu-Tao Guo¹, MD, PhD; Yun-Dai Chen¹, MD, PhD

¹Department of Cardiology, Chinese PLA General Hospital, Beijing, China ²Huawei Device Co, Ltd, Shenzhen, China

Corresponding Author:

Yu-Tao Guo, MD, PhD Department of Cardiology Chinese PLA General Hospital 28 Fuxing Rd Beijing, 100853 China Phone: 86 13810021492 Email: guoyutao2010@126.com

Abstract

Background: Atrial fibrillation is the most common recurrent arrhythmia in clinical practice, with most clinical events occurring outside the hospital. Low detection and nonadherence to guidelines are the primary obstacles to atrial fibrillation management. Photoplethysmography is a novel technology developed for atrial fibrillation screening. However, there has been limited validation of photoplethysmography-based smart devices for the detection of atrial fibrillation and its underlying clinical factors impacting detection.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the feasibility of photoplethysmography-based smart devices for the detection of atrial fibrillation in real-world settings.

Methods: Subjects aged ≥ 18 years (n=361) were recruited from September 14 to October 16, 2018, for screening of atrial fibrillation with active measurement, initiated by the users, using photoplethysmography-based smart wearable devices (ie, a smart band or smart watches). Of these, 200 subjects were also automatically and periodically monitored for 14 days with a smart band. The baseline diagnosis of "suspected" atrial fibrillation was confirmed by electrocardiogram and physical examination. The sensitivity and accuracy of photoplethysmography-based smart devices for monitoring atrial fibrillation were evaluated.

Results: A total of 2353 active measurement signals and 23,864 periodic measurement signals were recorded. Eleven subjects were confirmed to have persistent atrial fibrillation, and 20 were confirmed to have paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Smart devices demonstrated >91% predictive ability for atrial fibrillation. The sensitivity and specificity of devices in detecting atrial fibrillation among active recording of the 361 subjects were 100% and about 99%, respectively. For subjects with persistent atrial fibrillation, 127 (97.0%) active measurements and 2240 (99.2%) periodic measurements were identified as atrial fibrillation by the algorithm. For subjects with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, 36 (17%) active measurements and 717 (19.8%) periodic measurements were identified as atrial fibrillation by the algorithm. All persistent atrial fibrillation cases could be detected as "atrial fibrillation episodes" by the photoplethysmography algorithm on the first monitoring day, while 14 (70%) patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation was 2 days (interquartile range: 1.25-5.75) by active measurement and 1 day (interquartile range: 1.00-2.00) by periodic measurement (*P*=.10). The first detection time of atrial fibrillation burden of <50% per 24 hours was 4 days by active measurement and 2 days by periodic measurement the first detection time of atrial fibrillation burden of <50% per 24 hours was 1 day for both active and periodic measurements (*P*=.02, periodic measurement: *P*=.03).

Conclusions: Photoplethysmography-based smart devices demonstrated good atrial fibrillation predictive ability in both active and periodic measurements. However, atrial fibrillation type could impact detection, resulting in increased monitoring time.

Trial Registration: Chinese Clinical Trial Registry of the International Clinical Trials Registry Platform of the World Health Organization ChiCTR-OOC-17014138; http://www.chictr.org.cn/showprojen.aspx?proj=24191.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14909) doi:10.2196/14909

KEYWORDS

atrial fibrillation; photoplethysmography; continuous detection; accuracy; smartphone; smart band; algorithm

Introduction

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common recurrent arrhythmia in clinical practice, occurring in 1%-2% of the general population [1]. Two epidemiological studies found an AF prevalence rate of approximately 0.7% in the Chinese population nearly a decade ago [2,3]. Other studies found that the prevalence of AF increased 20-fold and that of AF-related stroke increased 13-fold in the southwest of China from 2001 to 2012 [4]. As such, it was estimated that there were 10 million patients with AF in China in 2016 [5]. When identified clinically, AF is asymptomatic in at least one-third of patients [6]. Some patients experience very brief episodes, associated with vague symptoms. Therefore, it is possible that these epidemiological numbers are underestimated, as many patients with asymptomatic or paroxysm AF could be undetected [7,8]. However, the prevalence of AF is expected to increase significantly in the next 30-50 years due to an ageing population. The prevalence of AF in Korea is expected to be 5.81% in 2060, while its prevalence in Taiwan is estimated to be 4.01% in 2050 [9,10]. Furthermore, AF is an important risk factor for stroke, increasing the stroke risk five-fold, and accounts for nearly one-third of all stroke cases [11-13]. Thus, AF is likely to become a significant public health issue in the future. Early diagnosis and anticoagulation therapy could reduce the number of AF-related strokes by approximately two-thirds [14], making it particularly important to effectively detect AF as early as possible.

However, paroxysmal AF could be underdiagnosed because there is possibly no onset in the hospital [15]. Mobile health could provide a promising solution [16]. The popularity and high-speed updating capabilities of smartphone apps and wearable fitness trackers have made continuous self-monitoring of health indicators possible in real-world settings. Patients and clinicians can utilize these technologies for proactive health care. For example, people can use smartphone apps and smart bands to count steps, measure sleep time, and continuously monitor heart rate/rhythm.

Photoplethysmography is an optical method to measure changes in tissue blood volume through the skin capillary bed, which can be performed using a smartphone in conjunction with a smart band/watch without any additional peripherals [17,18]. Smartphones and wearable devices have leveraged optical detection of photoplethysmography signals to track heart rate/rhythm from the finger and wrist, achieving high sensitivity and specificity for AF detection [19,20]. Thus far, most studies examining this method of AF detection have used single-point tests. Our previous study confirmed the feasibility of single-point photoplethysmography measurement of smartphones for AF detecting too [21]. A real-world study of patients with AF outside hospital context is limited. The application of photoplethysmography-based smart devices in continuously and automatically monitoring AF risk is unknown. The objectives of this study were to validate the accuracy and sensitivity of continuous detection of AF with photoplethysmography-based smart devices and to investigate the underlying clinical factors impacting the detection.

Methods

Study Population

Subjects for this pilot study were recruited from the community and the outpatient department of the Chinese PLA General Hospital from September 14, 2018, to October 16, 2018. We included adult participants aged ≥ 18 years who were able to provide informed consent and were willing to wear the smart wearable device. Individuals were excluded from the study due to the presence of a pacemaker or implantable defibrillator or if they were unable to use smart wearable devices.

Study Procedures

Three types of smart wearable devices were used in this study. These included the Huawei WatchGT [22], the Honor Watch [23], and the Honor Band4 [24]. The matching smartphone app was used (Honor9; Huawei Device Co, Ltd, Shenzhen, China). The Huawei smart wearing devices were freely provided for the subjects.

All subjects received active measurement with smart band/watch upon enrollment. Measurement with the devices was taken immediately following doctor diagnosis, and each participant used two of three devices. If the initial two measurements failed, additional measurements were taken. Participants were helped with band/watch placement and instructed to keep their arms still by resting them on a table. The photoplethysmography signal was record for 45 seconds, and a result was provided to detect the single-point heart rhythm.

After active measurement, each of the 200 participants who owned Huawei smart phones were provided with an Honor Band4 to continuously monitor heart rate/rhythm during a 14-day period. Each participant was given assistance in downloading the app to his/her smartphone by a member of the study team. Participants were also trained on how to use the device. They were instructed to actively take two measurements per day and wear the smart band as long as possible in order to record the most automatic periodic measurement data possible. The periodic measurement was automatically taken every 10 minutes, irrespective of whether the subject walked or rested, and 60-second photoplethysmography signals were continuously collected. However, the algorithm was first performed to identify whether the signal quality was good enough to do further

XSL•FO

analysis. Thereafter, the photoplethysmography algorithm was carried out to screen irregular pulse rhythm. At least a 30-second AF was needed to meet the definition of AF.

This was a single-center pilot study of AF screening and part of the pre-mAFA II registry. The pre-mAFA studies examined mobile health technology for improved screening, patient involvement, and optimization of integrated AF care. The Medical Ethics Committee of the Chinese PLA General Hospital and the China Food and Drug Administration approved this study protocol (approval number: S2017-105-02). Further, this study was registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry, which was part of the International Clinical Trials Registry Platform of the World Health Organization (ChiCTR-OOC-17014138).

Atrial Fibrillation Detection and Confirmation

AF diagnoses were independently confirmed with medical history, physical examination, and electrocardiogram by two doctors. Patient data such as medical history, physical examination, and electrocardiogram were collected when subjects were enrolled. Doctors used a dual earpiece stethoscope to confirm cardiac rhythm of the same subject. If the doctors disagreed on the diagnosis obtained via the dual earpiece stethoscope and pulse check, the subject was further exposed to a 12-lead electrocardiogram that was examined independently by two additional doctors.

Paroxysmal AF was defined as self-terminating, in most cases, within 48 hours. Some AF paroxysms might continue for up to 7 days. AF episodes that were cardioverted within 7 days were considered to be paroxysmal [25].

Persistent AF was defined as AF that lasted longer than 7 days, including episodes that were terminated by cardioversion, either with drugs or by direct current cardioversion, after 7 days or more [25].

Photoplethysmography Algorithm

One of the efficient machine learning methods, boosting, was used to train the model to screen AF. Sensitive features extracted from the waveforms and the peak-to-peak intervals of the photoplethysmography were utilized in the model. The peak-to-peak intervals of photoplethysmography were uniform for sinus rhythm data but chaotic for AF episodes. For example, the variance, entropy, etc, derived from the peak-to-peak intervals were fluctuating for AF episodes (Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2). Three smart devices were used to investigate if the layout of the photoplethysmography sensor position influences the accuracy of photoplethysmography algorithm to detect AF.

Statistical Analyses

Continuous variables were tested for normality by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Data with normal distributions were presented as mean (SD). Data with non-normal distributions were analyzed using a Mann-Whitney U test and were presented as median (interquartile range [IQR]). Categorical variables were analyzed using Pearson chi-square test or Fisher exact test.

Sensitivity and specificity were calculated by periodic interpretation of smart wearable devices compared with physician diagnoses. Kappa coefficients were assessed for diagnostic agreement, which was performed using MedCalc 12.6.1.0 (MedCalc Software BVBA, Ostend, Belgium). Excellent agreement was defined as a kappa coefficient >0.80.

A two-sided *P* value<.05 was considered statistically significant. The 95% CIs were calculated, and statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 25.0 (SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois).

Results

Baseline Characteristics and Atrial Fibrillation Diagnoses

There were a total of 361 subjects (median age 50 years; IQR=36-62 years); 178 (49.3%) were female, excluding 12 subjects with poor pulse signals. There were 20 diagnoses of paroxysmal AF, 11 of persistent AF, and 330 of sinus rhythm confirmed by doctors via medical history, physical examination, and electrocardiogram upon enrollment.

Active Measurement by Photoplethysmography

All 361 subjects received a 45-s photoplethysmography active measurement with at least two kinds of smart wearable devices, with a total of 735 valid pulse waveform recordings. Among the 735 valid photoplethysmography signals, 77 signals were classified as AF and 658 were classified as sinus rhythm (Figure 1).

The sensitivity of all of three smart devices with the 45-s photoplethysmography active measurement in predicting AF was 100%, the specificity ranged from 98.93% to 99.16%, the positive predictive value ranged from 91.67% to 93.10%, and the negative predictive value was 100%. Three kinds of smart wearable devices exhibited kappa coefficients ranging from 0.95 to 0.96 to detect AF against the reference standard in the single-point heart rhythm detection. There was no significant difference in further statistical analysis of the results from different smart devices compared with the diagnosis of the doctors (P=.97; Table 1).



Zhang et al

Figure 1. Participant flow diagram of the study. AF: atrial fibrillation, SR: sinus rhythm.



Table 1. Detailed diagnostic performance of the photoplethysmography algorithm for atrial fibrillation screening in different smart devices.

Index	Smart band (n=263)	Smart watch 1 (n=263)	Smart watch 2 (n=209)
Sensitivity, % (95% CI)	100 (87.23-100)	100 (85.75-100)	100 (84.56-100)
Specificity, % (95% CI)	99.15 (96.97-99.90)	99.16 (97.01-99.90)	98.93 (96.19-99.87)
Positive predictive value, % (95% CI)	93.10 (77.23-99.15)	92.31 (74.87-99.05)	91.67 (73.00-98.97)
Negative predictive value, % (95% CI)	100 (98.44-100)	100 (98.46-100)	100 (98.03-100)
Kappa (95% CI)	0.96 (0.91-1)	0.96 (0.90-1)	0.95 (0.88-1)

Continuous Photoplethysmographic Detection of Atrial Fibrillation

A total of 171 subjects (mean age 53.23 years, SD 13.58 years), 85 (50%) women, finished 14 days of continuous monitoring with a smart band, resulting in 25,482 valid photoplethysmography waveform signals. These signal results were recorded from11 cases of persistent AF, 20 cases of paroxysmal AF, and 140 cases of sinus rhythm, all of which were confirmed by doctors with clinical data (Figure 1, Table 2).

Hypertension was present in 47 (28%) patients; diabetes mellitus, in 23 (14%) patients; coronary artery disease, in 14 (8%) patients; current smoking, in 24(14%) patients; and current drinking, in 32(19%) patients. The prevalence of other diseases such as heart failure was less than 5%. The median CHA2DS2-VASc (congestive heart failure, hypertension, age \geq 75 years [doubled], diabetes mellitus, stroke [doubled], vascular disease, age 65-74 years, female sex) score was 1 (IQR=0.75-2.00), while the median HAS-BLED (hypertension, abnormal renal function, abnormal liver function, stroke,

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14909
```

bleeding, labile INR [international normalized ratio], age >65 years, drugs or alcohol) score was 0 (IQR=0.00-1.00; Table 2).

We finally collected a total of 1618 photoplethysmography active measurement signal segments and 23.864photoplethysmography periodic measurement signal segments from the 171 participants during the 14-day period (Figure 1). There were 127 (97.0%) active monitoring signals and 2240 (99.2%) periodic monitoring signals suggesting AF during 14 days for patients with persistent AF (Figure 2), while 36 (17%) active monitoring signals and 717 (19.8%) periodic monitoring signals suggested AF for patients with paroxysmal AF (Figure 3). The proportion of AF cumulative episodes to total measurements for 14 days demonstrated significant differences between the persistent AF group and the paroxysmal AF group (periodic measurement: P < .001, active measurement: P = .001).

The ability of active and periodic measurements to predict AF (median time to first notification of AF) was 1 day (IQR=1.00-1.00) for patients with persistent AF (P=.65). For paroxysmal AF, 12 (60%) patients were identified as having AF with periodic measurement and 8 (40%) patients were

identified as having AF with active measurement during the 14-day study period, while 14 (70%) patients were identified as having AF within the first 6 days with combined active and

periodic measurements (P=.15). Median time to first detection of AF was 1 day (IQR=1.00–2.00) and 2 days (IQR=1.25-5.75) by periodic and active measurements, respectively (P=.10).

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of the continuously monitored participants (N=171).

Characteristics	Total
Demographics	
Age (years), mean (SD)	53.23 (13.58)
Female, n (%)	85 (50)
Medical history	
Heart failure, n (%)	1 (1)
Hypertension, n (%)	47 (28)
Diabetes mellitus, n (%)	23 (14)
Previous stroke/SE ^a /TIA ^b , n (%)	4 (2)
Coronary artery disease, n (%)	14 (8)
Vascular disease, n (%)	8 (5)
Renal dysfunction, n (%)	2 (1)
Bleeding history or predisposition, n (%)	4 (2)
Sleep apnea, n (%)	8 (5)
Hyperthyroidism, n (%)	1 (1)
Current smoking, n (%)	24 (14)
Current drinking, n (%)	32 (19)
CHA ₂ DS ₂ -VASc ^c score, median (IQR ^d)	1 (0.75-2.00)
HAS-BLED ^e score, median (IQR)	0 (0.00-1.00)
Medications, n (%)	
Oral anticoagulant	19 (11)
Antiplatelet drug	11 (6)
Calcium channel blockers	3 (2)
ACEI/ARB ^f	10 (6)
Diuretic	4 (2)
Digoxin	1 (1)
Antiarrhythmic drugs, n (%)	
Class I	3 (2)
Betablocker	3 (2)
Class III	5 (3)
Class IV	3 (2)

^aSE: systemic arterial embolism.

^bTIA: transient ischemic attack.

^cCHA2DS2-VASc: congestive heart failure, hypertension, age \geq 75 years (doubled), diabetes mellitus, stroke (doubled), vascular disease, age 65-74 years, female sex.

^dIQR: interquartile range.

^eHAS-BLED: hypertension, abnormal renal function, abnormal liver function, stroke, bleeding, labile international normalized ratio, age>65 years, drugs or alcohol.

^fACEI/ARB: angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, angiotensin receptor blockers.

XSL•FO RenderX

Figure 2. (A) Cumulative active measurement of patients with persistent AF during the 14-day period. (B) Cumulative periodic measurement of patients with persistent AF during the 14-day period. AF: atrial fibrillation.



Figure 3. (A) Cumulative active measurement of patients with paroxysmal AF during the 14-day period. (B) Cumulative periodic measurement of patients with paroxysmal AF during the 14-day period. AF: atrial fibrillation.





Atrial Fibrillation Burden and Photoplethysmography Monitoring

AF burden was defined as the ratio of the number of episodes of AF monitored to the total number of measurements for 24 hours. For those with AF episodes sustained less than 50% per 24 hours, the median number of days to first detection of AF was 4 (IQR=2.00-6.00) by active measurement and 2

(IQR=1.00–2.75) by periodic measurement. However, for individuals with AF episodes sustained more than 50% per 24 hours, the median number of days to first detection of AF was 1 for both active (IQR=1.00-1.75) and periodic (IQR=1.00-1.00) measurements. The median number of days to first detection of AF between the two groups demonstrated significant differences (active measurement: P=.02, periodic measurement: P=.03; Figure 4).





Discussion

Principal Findings

This study found that photoplethysmography-based smart devices (watch/band) could effectively detect AF episodes, with active or periodic measurement. However, detection of paroxysmal AF exhibited a longer duration, and therefore, continuous periodic measurement was recommended.

Accuracy and Sensitivity of Photoplethysmography-Based Smart Device for Detection of Atrial Fibrillation

We analyzed 735 valid photoplethysmography signals acquired by active measuring from 361 participants, excluding 12 subjects with poor pulse signals. Results indicated that the three kinds of smart wearable devices (two watches and one band) exhibited a very high kappa coefficient (0.95-0.96) to detect AF with active measurement against the reference standard diagnosed by doctors. Sensitivity was 100% and specificity ranged from 98.93% to 99.16%, which were higher than the statistics reported by previous works. Tison et al [26] showed that among 51 patients undergoing cardioversion, smart watches based on the photoplethysmography technique can diagnose AF with a sensitivity of 98.0% and a specificity of 90.2% compared to the

RenderX

standard 12-lead electrocardiogram. Rozen et al [27] designed a study to evaluate use of a smartphone app as a method of detecting AF before and after electrical cardioversion in 97 patients and achieved a sensitivity of 93.1% and a specificity of 90.9%.

Feasibility of Photoplethysmography-Based Smart Device for Continuous 14-Day Monitoring of Atrial Fibrillation

We analyzed a total of 25,482 valid photoplethysmography waveform signals acquired from 171 participants by active and periodic measurements for 14 days. Results showed that periodic measurement can achieve high AF diagnostic accuracy in the real world as well. For patients with persistent AF, 127 (97.0%) and 2240 (99.2%) photoplethysmography signal segments were identified as AF by active and periodic measurements, respectively. These numbers were much higher than those of patients with paroxysmal AF, with only 36 (17%) active monitoring photoplethysmography signals and 717 (19.8%) periodic monitoring photoplethysmography signals suggesting AF. These are consistent with the disease characteristics of persistent and paroxysmal AF; even in patients with persistent AF, there is possibly short sinus rhythm among AF episodes. Periodic measurements seemed to be more sensitive in detecting AF than active measurements. Much frequency monitoring of

periodic measurements is likely to "catch" the AF episodes, which also need to be further validated in a large study. In addition, previous studies have shown that 60.3% patients had their first arrhythmia after the first 48 hours of monitoring [28]. In this study, the median time to first AF diagnosis with persistent AF by the two types of measurements were both 1 day. The high accuracy of periodic measurement shows a strong benefit of continuous monitoring. This is important, as patients can not only detect heart arrhythmias at the onset of symptoms such as palpitations via active measuring, as previously mentioned in other studies [29,30], but also improve the identification rate of asymptomatic AF through continuous periodic monitoring.

Factors Impacting the Continuous 14-Day Detection of Atrial Fibrillation

In a previous study, the mean interval to first detection of AF was inversely proportional to total AF burden [28]. We also compared the time to first detection of AF between different degrees of AF burden. For patients with AF episodes sustained less than 50% in 24 hours, the median number of days to first detection of AF was 4 by active measurement and 2 by periodic measurement. However, the median number of days to first detection of AF was 1 for both measurements for patients presenting with AF episodes sustained more than 50% in 24 hours. This suggested that the less AF occurred, the longer the latency to AF detection (active measurement: P=.02, periodic measurement: P=.03). Steinhubl et al [31] reported immediate continuous monitoring with a home-based, wearable electrocardiogram sensor patch compared with delayed monitoring, which resulted in a higher rate of AF diagnosis. We found that, with the extension of monitoring time, the number of patients identified with AF gradually increased, especially for patients presenting with paroxysmal AF. As such, paroxysmal AF may require a longer duration of measurement to reach a diagnosis. Moreover, it seems to be a trend that combining active and periodic measurements was more effective in identifying AF than using either of them alone, although this result was not statistically significant. When the two methods were combined, 11 (100%) patients with persistent AF could be detected in the first day. In addition, 14 (70%) patients with paroxysmal AF could be detected within the first 6 days, and

no more new patients with AF were detected after 6 days, based on continuous photoplethysmography monitoring data.

Limitations and Future Directions

There were several limitations to this study. First, the sample size was relatively small. Second, some participants did not complete the active measurement twice a day in strict fidelity with the study requirements. Additionally, the plateau in periodic measurements, resulting from the lack of measurements after the eighth day in patients with persistent AF, could possibly be associated with the discontinuation of smart devices use, which might impact the detection of AF. Third, in 31 (16%) participations diagnosed with sinus rhythm at baseline, AF episodes were detected during the 14-day continuous monitoring. However, these "suspected AF" cases were lost to follow-up, and we could not identify the cardiac rhythm. Fourth, there was no timely 12-lead electrocardiogram monitoring data synchronized with photoplethysmography data in this study. Finally, in 12 (3%) subjects, the recorded quality of photoplethysmography signals was poor. The inadequate signal quality possibly was associated with the deep color, perfusion of the skin, inappropriate wearing, etc. To develop a photoplethysmography-based screening approach, а photoplethysmography algorithm was developed, tested, and optimized among 394 cases in the stage 1 and stage 2. Subsequently, the photoplethysmography algorithm and different smart devices were validated among 375 cases in a real-world settings with 14-day monitoring (stage 3), which was performed in this study. Thereafter, the photoplethysmography algorithm and smart devices would be further validated in the general population with at least 10,000 subjects (stage 4, mAFA II study).

Conclusions

Photoplethysmography-based smart devices are accurate in the continuous detection of AF outside the hospital. The accuracy is similar between the active and periodic measurements. In addition, this method is simple and accessible. For asymptomatic patients with low AF burden, prolonged continuous monitoring time might increase the detection rate of AF. This technology can extend the diagnosis, monitoring, and risk assessment of AF beyond the hospital, providing a new way for doctors and patients to manage AF together.

Acknowledgments

This research project was funded by the Chinese PLA Healthcare Foundation (17BJ208) and National Natural Science Foundation of China (H2501). Huawei (Huawei Device Co, Ltd, Shenzhen, China) provided the smartphones (Honor9), smart bands (HonorBand4), smart watches (Huawei Watch GT, Honor Watch), the heartbeat smartphone app, and the PRO AF photoplethysmography algorithm for study purposes.

Authors' Contributions

HZ conducted data collection and analysis and wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. Y-TG and Y-DC are supervisors of this project as well as joint senior authors. JZ, H-BL, Y-XC, and BY provided the PRO AF photoplethysmography algorithm. All coauthors contributed revisions to the manuscript and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

JZ, H-BL, Y-XC, and BY are employees of Huawei Device Co, Ltd. The Huawei Heart Health Research Team developed and optimized the photoplethysmography algorithm.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Electrocardiogram and photoplethysmography in patients with sinus rhythm. [PNG File , 564 KB - jmir v21i12e14909 app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Electrocardiogram and photoplethysmography in patients with atrial fibrillation. [PNG File , 612 KB - jmir v21i12e14909 app2.png]

References

- Chugh SS, Havmoeller R, Narayanan K, Singh D, Rienstra M, Benjamin EJ, et al. Worldwide epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: a Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. Circulation 2014 Feb 25;129(8):837-847 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005119] [Medline: 24345399]
- 2. Zhou Z, Hu D. An epidemiological study on the prevalence of atrial fibrillation in the Chinese population of mainland China. J Epidemiol 2008;18(5):209-216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2188/jea.je2008021] [Medline: 18776706]
- 3. Zhang S. Atrial fibrillation in mainland China: epidemiology and current management. Heart 2009 Jul;95(13):1052-1055. [doi: 10.1136/hrt.2008.146589] [Medline: 19318342]
- 4. Guo Y, Tian Y, Wang H, Si Q, Wang Y, Lip GYH. Prevalence, incidence, and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation in China: new insights into the global burden of atrial fibrillation. Chest 2015 Jan;147(1):109-119. [doi: 10.1378/chest.14-0321] [Medline: 24921459]
- 5. NA. Expert consensus on the management of atrial fibrillation in elderly population (2016). Chin J Geriatr 2016 Sep;35(9):915-928. [doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-9026.2016.09.001]
- Healey JS, Connolly SJ, Gold MR, Israel CW, Van Gelder IC, Capucci A, ASSERT Investigators. Subclinical atrial fibrillation and the risk of stroke. N Engl J Med 2012 Jan 12;366(2):120-129. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1105575</u>] [Medline: <u>22236222</u>]
- 7. Sanna T, Diener H, Passman RS, Di Lazzaro V, Bernstein RA, Morillo CA, et al. Cryptogenic stroke and underlying atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2014 Jun 26;370(26):2478-2486. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa1313600</u>] [Medline: <u>24963567</u>]
- Davis RC, Hobbs FDR, Kenkre JE, Roalfe AK, Iles R, Lip GYH, et al. Prevalence of atrial fibrillation in the general population and in high-risk groups: the ECHOES study. Europace 2012 Nov;14(11):1553-1559. [doi: 10.1093/europace/eus087] [Medline: 22490371]
- Joung B, Lee JM, Lee KH, Kim TH, Choi EK, Lim WH, KHRS Atrial Fibrillation Guideline Working Group. 2018 Korean Guideline of Atrial Fibrillation Management. Korean Circ J 2018 Dec;48(12):1033-1080 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4070/kcj.2018.0339] [Medline: 30403013]
- Chao T, Liu C, Tuan T, Chen T, Hsieh M, Lip GYH, et al. Lifetime Risks, Projected Numbers, and Adverse Outcomes in Asian Patients With Atrial Fibrillation: A Report From the Taiwan Nationwide AF Cohort Study. Chest 2018 Feb;153(2):453-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.10.001] [Medline: 29017957]
- 11. Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation: a major contributor to stroke in the elderly. The Framingham Study. Arch Intern Med 1987 Sep;147(9):1561-1564. [Medline: <u>3632164</u>]
- Saposnik G, Gladstone D, Raptis R, Zhou L, Hart RG, Investigators of the Registry of the Canadian Stroke Network (RCSN)the Stroke Outcomes Research Canada (SORCan) Working Group. Atrial fibrillation in ischemic stroke: predicting response to thrombolysis and clinical outcomes. Stroke 2013 Jan;44(1):99-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.676551] [Medline: 23168456]
- Friberg L, Rosenqvist M, Lindgren A, Terént A, Norrving B, Asplund K. High prevalence of atrial fibrillation among patients with ischemic stroke. Stroke 2014 Sep;45(9):2599-2605. [doi: <u>10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.006070</u>] [Medline: <u>25034713</u>]
- 14. Potpara TS, Lip GYH. Oral anticoagulant therapy in atrial fibrillation patients at high stroke and bleeding risk. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2015;58(2):177-194. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pcad.2015.07.003</u>] [Medline: <u>26162958</u>]
- 15. Rui P, Hing E, Okeyode T. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014. National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 2014 State and National Summary Tables URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ahcd/web_tables.htm#2014</u> [accessed 2019-04-17]
- McConnell MV, Turakhia MP, Harrington RA, King AC, Ashley EA. Mobile Health Advances in Physical Activity, Fitness, and Atrial Fibrillation: Moving Hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018 Jun 12;71(23):2691-2701 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2018.04.030] [Medline: 29880130]
- Allen J. Photoplethysmography and its application in clinical physiological measurement. Physiol Meas 2007 Mar;28(3):R1-39. [doi: <u>10.1088/0967-3334/28/3/R01</u>] [Medline: <u>17322588</u>]

- Jonathan E, Leahy M. Investigating a smartphone imaging unit for photoplethysmography. Physiol Meas 2010 Nov;31(11):N79-N83. [doi: <u>10.1088/0967-3334/31/11/N01</u>] [Medline: <u>20871134</u>]
- Poh M, Poh YC, Chan P, Wong C, Pun L, Leung WW, et al. Diagnostic assessment of a deep learning system for detecting atrial fibrillation in pulse waveforms. Heart 2018 Dec;104(23):1921-1928. [doi: <u>10.1136/heartjnl-2018-313147</u>] [Medline: <u>29853485</u>]
- 20. Harju J, Tarniceriu A, Parak J, Vehkaoja A, Yli-Hankala A, Korhonen I. Monitoring of heart rate and inter-beat intervals with wrist plethysmography in patients with atrial fibrillation. Physiol Meas 2018 Jun 27;39(6):065007 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1088/1361-6579/aac9a9] [Medline: 29856730]
- 21. Fan Y, Li Y, Li J, Cheng W, Shan Z, Wang Y, et al. Diagnostic Performance of a Smart Device With Photoplethysmography Technology for Atrial Fibrillation Detection: Pilot Study (Pre-mAFA II Registry). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Mar 05;7(3):e11437 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11437] [Medline: 30835243]
- 22. HUAWEI. HUAWEI WATCH GT URL: https://consumer.huawei.com/en/wearables/watch-gt/ [accessed 2019-11-01]
- 23. HONOR. HONOR Watch Magic URL: <u>https://www.hihonor.com/global/products/accessories/honor-watch-magic/</u>[accessed 2019-11-01]
- 24. HONOR. HONOR Band 4 URL: https://www.hihonor.com/global/products/accessories/honorband4/ [accessed 2019-11-01]
- Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. Europace 2016 Nov;18(11):1609-1678. [doi: <u>10.1093/europace/euw295</u>] [Medline: <u>27567465</u>]
- Tison GH, Sanchez JM, Ballinger B, Singh A, Olgin JE, Pletcher MJ, et al. Passive Detection of Atrial Fibrillation Using a Commercially Available Smartwatch. JAMA Cardiol 2018 May 01;3(5):409-416. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamacardio.2018.0136</u>] [Medline: <u>29562087</u>]
- 27. Rozen G, Vaid J, Hosseini SM, Kaadan MI, Rafael A, Roka A, et al. Diagnostic Accuracy of a Novel Mobile Phone Application for the Detection and Monitoring of Atrial Fibrillation. Am J Cardiol 2018 May 15;121(10):1187-1191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2018.01.035] [Medline: 29525063]
- Turakhia MP, Hoang DD, Zimetbaum P, Miller JD, Froelicher VF, Kumar UN, et al. Diagnostic utility of a novel leadless arrhythmia monitoring device. Am J Cardiol 2013 Aug 15;112(4):520-524 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2013.04.017] [Medline: 23672988]
- 29. Krivoshei L, Weber S, Burkard T, Maseli A, Brasier N, Kühne M, et al. Smart detection of atrial fibrillation[†]. Europace 2017 May 01;19(5):753-757 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/europace/euw125] [Medline: 27371660]
- Tang S, Huang P, Hung C, Shan S, Lin Y, Shieh J, et al. Identification of Atrial Fibrillation by Quantitative Analyses of Fingertip Photoplethysmogram. Sci Rep 2017 Apr 07;7:45644 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep45644] [Medline: 28367965]
- Steinhubl SR, Waalen J, Edwards AM, Ariniello LM, Mehta RR, Ebner GS, et al. Effect of a Home-Based Wearable Continuous ECG Monitoring Patch on Detection of Undiagnosed Atrial Fibrillation: The mSToPS Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2018 Jul 10;320(2):146-155 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.8102] [Medline: 29998336]

Abbreviations

ACEI/ARB: angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, angiotensin receptor blockers **AF:** atrial fibrillation

CHA2DS2-VASc: congestive heart failure, hypertension, age \geq 75 years (doubled), diabetes mellitus, stroke (doubled), vascular disease, age 65-74 years, female sex

HAS-BLED: hypertension, abnormal renal function, abnormal liver function, stroke, bleeding, labile international normalized ratio, age>65 years, drugs or alcohol

IQR: interquartile range

SE: systemic arterial embolism

TIA: transient ischemic attack

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.06.19; peer-reviewed by M Lang, A Vehkaoja, R Casado Arroyo, JR Bautista; comments to author 16.07.19; revised version received 20.08.19; accepted 19.10.19; published 03.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Zhang H, Zhang J, Li HB, Chen YX, Yang B, Guo YT, Chen YD Validation of Single Centre Pre-Mobile Atrial Fibrillation Apps for Continuous Monitoring of Atrial Fibrillation in a Real-World Setting: Pilot Cohort Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14909 URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14909</u> doi:<u>10.2196/14909</u> PMID:<u>31793887</u>



©Hui Zhang, Jie Zhang, Hong-Bao Li, Yi-Xin Chen, Bin Yang, Yu-Tao Guo, Yun-Dai Chen. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 03.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Effectiveness of Smartphone App–Based Interactive Management on Glycemic Control in Chinese Patients With Poorly Controlled Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial

Lei Zhang^{1*}, PhD; Xingxing He^{1*}, MD; Yun Shen¹, MD; Haoyong Yu¹, PhD; Jiemin Pan¹, PhD; Wei Zhu¹, BA; Jian Zhou¹, PhD; Yuqian Bao¹, MD

Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Shanghai Clinical Center for Diabetes, Shanghai Diabetes Institute, Shanghai Key Laboratory of Diabetes Mellitus, Shanghai Jiao Tong University Affiliated Sixth People's Hospital, Shanghai, China *these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jian Zhou, PhD Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Shanghai Clinical Center for Diabetes, Shanghai Diabetes Institute, Shanghai Key Laboratory of Diabetes Mellitus, Shanghai Jiao Tong University Affiliated Sixth People's Hospital 600 Yishan Road Shanghai, 200233 China Phone: 86 2164369181 Email: zhoujian@sjtu.edu.cn

Abstract

Background: In recent years, the rapid development of mobile medical technology has provided multiple ways for the long-term management of chronic diseases, especially diabetes. As a new type of management model, smartphone apps are global, convenient, cheap, and interactive. Although apps were proved to be more effective at glycemic control, compared with traditional computerand Web-based telemedicine technologies, how to gain a further and sustained improvement is still being explored.

Objective: The objective of this study was to investigate the effectiveness of an app-based interactive management model by a professional health care team on glycemic control in Chinese patients with poorly controlled diabetes.

Methods: This study was a 6-month long, single-center, prospective randomized controlled trial. A total of 276 type 1 or type 2 diabetes patients were enrolled and randomized to the control group (group A), app self-management group (group B), and app interactive management group (group C) in a 1:1:1 ratio. The primary outcome was the change in glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) level. Missing data were handled by multiple imputation.

Results: At months 3 and 6, all 3 groups showed significant decreases in HbA_{1c} levels (all P<.05). Patients in the app interactive management group had a significantly lower HbA_{1c} level than those in the app self-management group at 6 months (P=.04). The average HbA_{1c} reduction in the app interactive management group was larger than that in the app self-management and control groups at both months 3 and 6 (all P<.05). However, no differences in HbA_{1c} reduction were observed between the app self-management and control groups at both months 3 and 6 (both P>.05). Multivariate line regression analyses also showed that the app interactive management group was associated with the larger reduction of HbA_{1c} compared with groups A and B at both months 3 and 6 (all P>.05). In addition, the app interactive management group had better control of triglyceride and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels at both months 3 and 6 compared with baseline (both P<.05).

Conclusions: In Chinese patients with poorly controlled diabetes, it was difficult to achieve long-term effective glucose improvement by using app self-management alone, but combining it with interactive management can help achieve rapid and sustained glycemic control.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02589730; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02589730.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15401) doi:10.2196/15401

KEYWORDS

RenderX

app; self-management; interactive management; guidance; glycated hemoglobin A1c; diabetes

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15401

Introduction

Effectiveness of Smartphone Apps on Glycemic Control

The rapid development of mobile medical technology has provided multiple ways for the long-term management of chronic diseases, especially diabetes [1]. As a new type of management model, smartphone apps are global, convenient, cheap, and interactive. Compared with traditional computerand Web-based telemedicine technologies [2,3], apps may have unique advantages in diabetes management [4-6]. Recent studies have proved that apps are effective at improving glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) levels and could be considered as an adjuvant intervention to diabetes management [7-11].

Demand for Further and Sustained Glycemic Control

China has the world's largest population with diabetes [12] but a shortage of physicians. Under such special national conditions, scientific and effective diabetes management models are urgently needed for better outcomes. Although apps were proved to be effective at glycemic control, how to gain a further and sustained improvement is still being explored. Welltang, designed in Chinese language, is the most widely used app for diabetes management in China. It was previously reported in a 3-month randomized controlled trial that diabetes patients using the Welltang app achieved statistically significant improvements in HbA_{1c} , with an average decrease of 1.95%, whereas the reduction in HbA_{1c} was just 0.79% in the control group [9]. However, the duration of this previous study was relatively short, and there was a lack of a professional health team to provide interactions with patients beyond medical adjustment, such as diet, exercise, and diabetes education.

Aim of This Study

Therefore, this single-center, open-labeled, prospective randomized controlled trial was conducted in Chinese patients with poorly controlled diabetes, including both type 1 and type 2 diabetes, to investigate the effectiveness of an app-based interactive management model on glycemic control and to explore an individualized method for diabetes management in China.

Methods

Trial Design

This study was a 6-month long, single-center, open-labeled, prospective randomized controlled trial. Participants were recruited from the outpatient clinic of the Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism of Shanghai Jiao Tong University Affiliated Sixth People's Hospital from July 2015 to February 2016. According to the type of diabetes mellitus (type 1 or 2 diabetes), the stratified randomization method was used to generate a random number table, and participants were randomized into 3 groups in a 1:1:1 ratio: group A (control group), group B (smartphone app self-management group), and group C (smartphone app interactive management group). This study was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov, number NCT02589730.

Study Patients

Outpatients diagnosed with type 1 or 2 diabetes (aged 18-65 years) were enrolled according to the 2010 American Diabetes Association criteria [13], with a duration \geq 6 months and HbA_{1c} \geq 8% within 3 months before enrollment. To be eligible, patients had to be able to use a smartphone, be willing and able to perform daily self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG), and be willing and able to visit a physician at months 3 and 6.

Patients were excluded according to the following criteria: (1) insulin pump users; (2) pregnant or plan to be pregnant during the study period; (3) excessive drinking or drug users; (4) used drugs that might affect blood sugar in the 3 months before enrollment, such as glucocorticoids and thyroid hormones; (5) psychotic and were receiving treatment; (6) severe complications or systemic diseases; (7) experienced cardio- or cerebrovascular events in the 6 months before enrollment; (8) severe hearing or visual impairment; (9) unable to access the Web or unable to learn to use the app on the smartphone; and (10) unsuitable for the study according to the judgment of the researchers.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Shanghai Jiao Tong University Affiliated Sixth People's Hospital and conformed to the provisions of the Declaration of Helsinki. All participants provided written informed consent before enrollment.

Interventions

The smartphone-based diabetes management platform in this study was Welltang, which was designed by Shanghai Geping Information and Technique Company Ltd, and it was used by both patients and clinicians. For patients, Welltang mainly comprises 4 parts: education, self-management (including records of SMBG, diet, exercise, medication, body weight, and other diabetes data), patient community, and communication between patients and clinicians. For clinicians, Welltang mainly provided the real-time uploading of data from patients.

In group A, patients received usual care and did not install Welltang on their smartphone. They learned diabetes-related knowledge and skills by self-learning and summarizing, and they adopted lifestyles and behaviors voluntarily.

In group B, each patient was requested to install Welltang on their smartphone. They learned diabetes-related knowledge and skills by using the app, including glycemic control, diet, exercise, medication, and the use of insulin. There was no other staff involved in the care of this group, except for 1 clinician.

In group C, besides app self-management, patients received interactive management online (service for stable glucose×180 days). After randomization, a third-party professional diabetes health care team comprising 1 dietician and 1 health manager conducted interactive management with patients through the Welltang platform. The dietician was responsible for daily dietary guidance and the health manager for comprehensive interventions, such as exercise, glucose monitoring, and diabetes education based on the data uploaded by the patients. The service had a standardized operation process. During the first month, centralized management was conducted for reasons of poor glycemic control to help patients develop good habits of



glucose control. Afterward, patients were evaluated monthly. When blood glucose (BG) fluctuated greatly, the causes of fluctuation were analyzed to improve glycemic control. When the patients achieved certain improvements and gained inertia, reminders were provided promptly to prevent large fluctuations. Finally, this team also assisted patients with achieving a relatively stable period of managing diabetes by themselves. During the service, a glucose control report was generated every week, and appropriate suggestions were provided according to the report.

After enrollment, each patient was provided an optimal glucose control target according to the *Guidelines for the Prevention and Treatment of Type 2 Diabetes in China (2013 Edition)* [14] and received basic diabetes education, including diet control, adequate exercise, SMBG, and regular follow-up. All patients could contact clinicians by telephone during the follow-up, but those who had installed the app were encouraged to contact clinicians online. Clinicians were blind to the patients' groups. The dietician and health manager could view all patients' clinical variables and provide real-time interventions and adjustments on the basis of these data.

Each patient was equipped with a designated BG meter and an adequate number of test strips. Patients in the app self-management and app interactive management groups were asked to regularly record the glucose results in Welltang; patients in the control group were asked to record their glucose results in a log book. The frequency of SMBG that was required was at least 6 times a week, without a maximum limit. Test trips were provided by the investigators for free.

Data Collection

The follow-up duration was 6 months. At baseline, all patients were asked to complete a questionnaire about demographic characteristics, personal history, and medical history. Anthropometric and clinical measurements were collected from all patients at baseline and at months 3 and 6 after the intervention.

Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as BMI=weight $(kg)/height^2 (m^2)$. Blood pressure was measured with a mercury sphygmomanometer after the subject had rested for at least 10 min. Waist circumference (W) was measured midway between the lowest rib and the iliac crest with the subject in the standing position.

Venous blood was collected in the morning after a 10-hour overnight fast. The levels of fasting plasma glucose (FPG), HbA_{1c}, total cholesterol (TC), triglyceride (TG), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-c), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-c), alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, creatinine, uric acid, and albumin-to-creatinine ratio were assessed with standard methods, as described previously [15].

Adverse Event

In this study, the major adverse event was hypoglycemia. Hypoglycemia was defined as BG \leq 3.9 mmol/L. Each patient

had received related education and treatment measures after enrollment and could call physicians when they needed. All adverse events were recorded.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was glucose control, including the changes (from baseline to months 3 and 6) in the HbA_{1c} level. The secondary outcomes included the changes in FPG, body weight, and lipids.

Sample Size

In a small-sample (n=9) observational study conducted before this trial, the reductions of HbA_{1c} in the control, app self-management, and app interactive management groups after 3 months of follow-up were 0.9% (SD 0.9%), 1.3% (SD 1.1%), and 1.6% (SD 1.3%), respectively. On the basis of these results from the small-sample observational study, with alpha=.05 and beta=.10, we calculated a required sample size of 65 patients per group by PASS 11.0 (NCSS LLC) software. Considering a dropout rate of 20%, a sample size of 78 patients per group was required.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical analysis was performed based on the intention-to-treat principle. Missing data were handled by multiple imputation [16,17]. The R multivariate imputation by chained equation package was used to impute 5 sets of complete dataset with 50 iterations per imputation. Predictive mean matching was used for continuous variables. All findings are presented based on multiply imputed data, unless otherwise indicated.

The data are reported as the mean (SD), unless otherwise stated. Intergroup comparisons were conducted with the unpaired Student *t* test, Kruskal-Wallis test, and chi-square test for normally distributed data, skewed data, and categorical variables, respectively. The paired Student *t* test was used to evaluate the differences in continuous variables from baseline to months 3 and 6 of follow-up in each group. The multiple linear regression analyses were applied to explore the associations of HbA_{1c} level reduction and different models of diabetes management. All data analyses were conducted by SPSS version 19.0 (SPSS). A 2-tailed *P* value of <.05 was considered indicative of a statistically significant difference.

Results

Baseline Characteristics of Study Participants

Of the 276 participants who underwent screening in this study, 234 were enrolled and randomized to groups A (n=78), B (n=78), or C (n=78). Of these, a total of 209 (209/234, 89.3%) completed the third month visit and 194 (194/234, 82.9%) completed the sixth month visit. After randomization, 15 patients from group A, 11 from group B, and 14 from group C discontinued the study because they either withdrew their consent or were lost to follow-up (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Study design and participant flow diagram.



The demographic and baseline clinical characteristics of the 3 groups are presented in Table 1. Among the patients enrolled, the mean age was 53 (SD 11) years, mean diabetes duration was 11.3 (SD 6.1) years, 8.9% (21/234) had type 1 diabetes, 38.0% (89/234) were female, 46.2% (108/234) had junior

college or higher education, and 58.1% (136/234) were working. The average BMI at baseline was 25.03 (SD 3.36) kg/m², and the average FPG and HbA_{1c} levels were 10.02 (SD 3.03) mmol/L and 9.45% (SD 1.36%), respectively.



Table 1. Baseline characteristics of study participants of the 3 groups.

Zhang et al

Baseline characteristics	Group A ^a	Group B ^b	Group C ^c
Gender (men/women), n	78 (49/29)	78 (50/28)	78(46/32)
Age (years), mean (SD)	55 (11)	52 (10)	52 (12)
Diabetes duration (years), mean (SD)	12.7 (7.1)	11.2 (5.6)	10.1 (5.5)
Type 1 diabetes, n (%)	7 (9)	7 (9)	7 (9)
Body mass index (kg/m ²), mean (SD)	24.63 (2.79)	25.36 (3.32)	25.09 (3.88)
Waist circumference (cm), mean (SD)	85.2 (7.7)	87.2 (8.9)	87.0 (10.6)
Blood pressure (mmHg), mean (SD)			
Systolic	127 (13)	127 (12)	127 (15)
Diastolic	79 (9)	81 (9)	80 (7)
Fasting plasma glucose (mmol/L), mean (SD)	9.86 (3.17)	10.06 (3.03)	10.14 (2.92)
Glycated hemoglobin (%), mean (SD)	9.27 (1.25)	9.46 (1.18)	9.58 (1.62)
Total cholesterol (mmol/L), mean (SD)	4.92 (1.10)	4.65 (0.87)	5.01 (0.79)
Triglyceride (mmol/L), mean (SD)	1.84 (1.05)	1.87 (1.14)	2.39 (1.63)
Lipoprotein density (mmol/L), mean (SD)			
High	1.11 (0.27)	1.08 (0.27)	1.07 (0.28)
Low	2.97 (0.94)	2.79 (0.75)	2.90 (0.79)
Aminotransferase (U/L), mean (SD)			
Alanine	27 (19)	28 (24)	35 (28)
Aspartate	21 (8)	22 (12)	25 (15)
Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (U/L), mean (SD)	36 (21)	39 (25)	40 (23)
Creatinine (µmol/L), mean (SD)	65 (16)	64 (13)	62 (13)
Uric acid (µmol/L), mean (SD)	303 (67)	305 (78)	305 (78)
Education, n (%)			
Junior college or higher	32 (41)	38 (48.)	38 (48)
High school	27 (34)	25 (32)	28 (35)
Primary school or less	19 (24)	15 (19)	12 (15)
Working, n (%)	39 (50)	50 (64)	47 (60)
Insulin, n (%)	33 (42)	33 (42)	41 (52)
Hypertension, n (%)	29 (37)	23 (29)	28 (35)
Current smoker, n (%)	18 (23)	13 (16)	14 (17)
Current drinker, n (%)	13 (16)	6 (7)	11 (14)

^aGroup A: control group.

^bGroup B: app self-management group.

^cGroup C: app interactive management group.

Primary Study Outcomes: The Change in the Glycated Hemoglobin Level

Only a significant difference in HbA_{1c} levels was observed between groups A and C at baseline (average change in HbA_{1c} in groups A vs group C: 9.14% [SD 1.13%] vs 9.60% [SD 1.44%]; t_{125} =-1.995; P=.048). Compared with baseline, all 3 groups showed significant decreases in HbA_{1c} levels at both months 3 and 6 (all P<.001). At month 3, the mean HbA_{1c} levels in groups A, B, and C were 8.12% (SD 1.21%), 7.94% (SD 1.35%), and 7.59% (SD 0.95%), respectively. Intergroup comparisons only showed a significant difference between groups A and C (t_{125} =2.732; P=.007). At month 6, the mean HbA_{1c} levels in groups A, B, and C were 7.80% (SD 1.14%), 8.04% (SD 1.38%), and 7.57% (SD 1.18%), respectively. Intergroup comparisons showed that HbA_{1c} levels in group C were significantly lower than those in group B (t_{129} =2.072; P=.04; Multimedia Appendix 1).

To further compare the improvement of glycemic control in the 3 different management groups, we analyzed the mean HbA_{1c} level reduction from baseline to months 3 and 6. We found that at the end of month 3, the average decrease in HbA_{1c} levels in group C was larger than that in groups A and B (group C vs group A: -2.00% [SD 1.45%] vs -1.01% [SD 1.42%]; t_{125} =3.876; P<.001; group C vs group B: -2.00% [SD 1.45%] vs -1.46% [SD 1.52%]; t_{129} =2.091; P=.04). At month 6, the HbA_{1c} reduction in group C vs group A: -2.03% [SD 1.56%] vs -1.34% [SD 1.50%]; t_{125} =2.515; P=.01; group C vs group B: -2.03% [SD 1.48%];

 t_{129} =2.488; *P*=.01). However, no differences were observed between groups B and A at both months 3 and 6 (both *P*>.05; Multimedia Appendix 1).

Multivariate linear regression analyses defined HbA_{1c} reduction as a dependent variable and the group A or group B as reference. After adjustment of age, gender, W, BMI, diabetes duration, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, TC, TG, HDL-c, and LDL-c, the results showed whether at months 3 or 6, group C was associated with the larger reduction of HbA_{1c}, compared with groups A and B (all P<.05). But this association was not significant between groups B and A at both months 3 and 6 (both P>.05; Table 2).

Table 2. Multivariate linear regression analyses of glycated hemoglobin reduction.^a

Diabetes management models	Beta value	SE	Standardized beta (95% CI)	P value
At 3 months				
Model 1				
Group A ^b (reference)	c	—	_	_
Group B ^d	242	0.259	076 (-0.752 to -0.268)	.35
Group C ^e	826	0.260	258 (-1.339 to -0.314)	.002
Model 2				
Group B (reference)	_		_	_
Group C	585	0.250	182 (-1.078 to -0.092)	.02
At 6 months				
Model 3				
Group A (reference)	_	_	_	_
Group B	.097	0.267	.030 (-0.431 to 0.625)	.72
Group C	553	0.269	169 (-1.083 to -0.023)	.04
Model 4				
Group B (reference)	_	_	_	_
Group C	650	0.258	199 (-1.159 to -0.140)	.01

^aIndependent variables originally included the following: age, gender, W, BMI, diabetes duration, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, TC, TG, HDL-c, and LDL-c.

^bGroup A: control group.

^cDo not have statistical data.

^dGroup B: app self-management group.

^eGroup C: app interactive management group.

Secondary Study Outcomes: Fasting Plasma Glucose, Body Weight, and Lipid Levels

At the end of month 3, group C experienced significant improvement in FPG levels (mean FPG at month 3 vs baseline: 8.12 [SD 2.07] mmol/L vs 9.91 [SD 2.93] mmol/L; t_{63} =4.251; *P*<.001), whereas the difference was not significant in both groups A and B (*P*=.86 and *P*=.21, respectively). Intergroup comparisons found that the FPG level in group C was lower than that in groups A and B (mean FPG in group C vs group A: 8.12 [SD 2.07] mmol/L vs 9.10 [SD 2.78] mmol/L; t_{125} =2.235; *P*=.03; group C vs group B: 8.12 [SD 2.07] mmol/L; t_{129} =2.469; *P*=.02). At month 6, still only

RenderX

group C had a significantly lower FPG level than that at baseline (mean FPG at month 6 vs baseline: 7.87 [SD 2.07] mmol/L vs 9.91 [SD 2.93] mmol/L; t_{63} =4.920; *P*<.001). The FPG level in group C was still significantly lower than that in both groups B and A at month 6 (mean FPG in group C vs group A: 7.87 [SD 2.07] mmol/L vs 8.91 [SD 2.81] mmol/L; t_{125} =2.372; *P*=.02; group C vs group B: 7.87 [SD 2.07] mmol/L vs 9.08 [SD 2.91] mmol/L; t_{129} =2.731; *P*=.007). No differences were observed between groups B and A at both months 3 and 6 (both *P*>.05).

All 3 groups had better control of HDL-c levels at both months 3 and 6 (all P<.05). Group C had better control of TG and HDL-c levels at both months 3 and 6 compared with those at

baseline (all P < .05). There were no significant differences among the 3 groups for body weight, TC, TG, and LDL-c at both months 3 and 6 (all P > .05; Multimedia Appendix 2).

Blood Glucose Test Rate, Frequency of App Usage, and Guiding Time

No significant differences in the BG test rate were reported among the 3 groups at both months 3 and 6. After 3 months of follow-up, the average weekly frequencies of BG test rates in groups A, B, and C were 10.9 (SD 7.8) times, 10.1 (SD 9.5) times, and 11.1 (SD 8.9) times, respectively, and were 10.5 (SD 7.5) times, 10.1 (SD 9.3) times, and 9.4 (SD 6.9) times at the end of month 6, respectively.

The frequencies of app usage in groups B and C were 10.7 (SD 9.5) times per week in group B and 11.1 (SD 7.3) times per week in group C, and the difference was not significant (P=.83).

In group C, each patient received an average of 30.5 (SD 3.6) times of interactive management during the whole follow-up, with an average guiding time of 458 (SD 54) min.

Adverse Events

The major adverse event in this study was hypoglycemia. Hypoglycemia was defined as a BG \leq 3.9 mmol/L. At the end of month 6, the frequency of hypoglycemia was similar in the 3 groups (average frequency in group A: 6.9 [SD 6.3] times per person, group B: 6.7 [SD 6.2] times per person, and group C: 5.7 [SD 4.9] times per person). During the follow-up, none of the patients dropped out because of hypoglycemia.

Discussion

Summary of Principal Findings

This study found that the app interactive management group had a greater improvement in HbA_{1c} levels compared with both the app self-management and control groups. However, no significant differences were observed between the app self-management and control groups in the reduction of HbA_{1c} levels, indicating that when using the app for diabetes management, only self-management is not enough, and the combination with interactive management can provide better glycemic control and a longer effect.

Recent studies have shown that a smartphone-based app was a feasible and an effective tool for diabetes management [4,7,18-20]. Waki et al [21] used an app named *DialBetics* in a 3-month randomized study, which enrolled 54 patients with type 2 diabetes, and found that HbA1c decreased with an average of 0.4% (from 7.1% [SD 1.0%] to 6.7% [SD 0.7%]) in the DialBetics group, whereas it increased with an average of 0.1% (from 7.0% [SD 0.9%] to 7.1% [SD 1.1%]) in the non-DialBetics group. Another randomized trial conducted in 185 Chinese patients with type 2 diabetes also found that the implementation of the app Diabetes-Carer was effective at improving the proportion of type 2 diabetes patients with a HbA_{1c} <7% [8]. In this study, consistent with the previous studies, the app interactive management group had a better improvement in HbA1c levels compared with both the app self-management and control groups after 6 months of

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15401

follow-up, however, no significant differences were observed between the app self-management and control groups at both months 3 and 6. These results indicated that the effect of app self-management may not be significantly superior to usual care. Limited by the large number of diabetes patients but a shortage of medical staff in China, clinicians and nurses always lack time to provide normative and continuous management for diabetes patients. In addition, test strips are not covered by most health care insurances, which may cause a heavy financial burden for most of the patients. Considering these factors, this study also provided equally basic diabetes education to the control group and provided adequate test strips to all patients for free. Therefore, the benefits of glycemic control may be because of the management in diabetes patients themselves rather than the unique role of the app. In addition, the better control of BG in the app interactive management group than the control and app self-management groups might be able to reflect the importance of guidance rather than the provision of free test strips only. With better control of BG, patient's health and quality of life might also improve.

In most of the previous diabetes management-related apps, clinicians could view the data and queries uploaded by patients on the app platform; however, the interventions were limited to drug adjustments in most of the cases [5,17,22]. However, lifestyle adjustments, including healthy diet and regular exercise, are equally important for glycemic control and prevention of diabetes-related complications [23-26]. Owing to a shortage of medical staff in China, it is very difficult to provide comprehensive and effective guidance to every diabetes patient. Therefore, based on the use of Welltang, we introduced a third-party professional health care team to actively interact with patients online to provide a full range of guidance. The results showed that after 6 months of follow-up, HbA_{1c} levels in group C had decreased by an average of 2.03%, which was significantly higher than that in group B, with an average decrease of 1.37%. In addition, compared with that at baseline, group C achieved better control of TG and HDL-c levels at both months 3 and 6, whereas the differences were not significant in group B. These findings indicated that app self-management combined with a professional health team could achieve better glycemic and lipid control. The interactive management model may be one of the models that truly promote diabetes management in the future.

In addition, we also found that in the third month of follow-up, all 3 groups showed significant decreases in HbA_{1c} levels. However, in the following 3 months, there was no significant improvement in HbA_{1c} levels. In group C, the HbA_{1c} level decreased an average of 0.03%, whereas it increased an average of 0.09% in group B. Interestingly, in group A, the HbA_{1c} level decreased an average of 0.33%. Our results indicated that the app was able to achieve a quick and effective improvement in HbA_{1c} levels in a short time. However, in the following 3 months, the effects appear to have a *platform period*, and group A even had a nearly equal effect compared with group B. Similar phenomena have been observed in previous studies [8,27]. Interestingly, in a review of diabetes education, researchers also found that group and individual education had an equal impact

XSL•FO RenderX

on HbA_{1c} at 12 to 18 months [28]. Patients' inertia after receiving management for a relatively long time and different glycemic control targets from clinicians may contribute to this phenomenon.

In this trial, each participant was equipped with a BG meter and sufficient test strips. During the follow-up, the frequency of SMBG in the 3 groups was almost the same, which was approximately 11 times a week. Web-based care management in patients with poorly controlled diabetes showed that a larger number of website SMBG data uploads was associated with a larger decline in HbA_{1c} [29]. Another study Engaging and Motivating Patients Online With Enhanced Resources for Diabetes, which was aimed to evaluate an online disease management system supporting patients with uncontrolled type 2 diabetes, also demonstrated that participants who tested their glucose at home and uploaded their results more often were more likely to have improved at 6 and 12 months than those who did not [2]. In this study, group C had a full-time third-party diabetes health team reviewing all patients' uploaded data every week and making recommendations about diet and exercise management, which could help further improve glycemic control.

Limitations

There are still some limitations in this study. First, it was a single-center study, and the follow-up duration was only 6 months. Considering the chronic and long-term characteristics of diabetes, the study was unable to assess the long-term effects of a smartphone-based app on diabetes management; further multicenter studies with longer follow-up are needed to evaluate the long-term benefits of smartphone apps on diabetes management. Second, owing to the trial requiring that patients be able to use a smartphone phone, only those aged less than 65 years were enrolled. The results may not entirely reflect the characteristics of all diabetes populations. Third, the sample of type 1 diabetes patients in this study was small; further studies in different types of diabetes are needed to provide more detailed results. Finally, this study also provided equally basic diabetes education and adequate test strips to the control group, which might cause the control condition to not be a true treatment as usual condition.

Conclusions

In conclusion, we found that the effect of app self-management alone in Chinese diabetes patients with poor glycemic control was not superior to routine management, and the combination with interactive management can help achieve rapid and sustained glycemic control.

Acknowledgments

The authors are very grateful to all the staff of the Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism of Shanghai Jiao Tong University Affiliated Sixth People's Hospital for helping with this study. The authors are grateful to all participants for their dedication in data collection and laboratory measurements. This study was funded by Shanghai Geping Information Technology Co Ltd.

Authors' Contributions

YB and JZ designed the study. LZ, HY, and JP helped with recruitment of the participants. WZ and YS collected the data. LZ and XH performed the statistical analysis and wrote the paper. YB and JZ revised the paper and contributed to the discussion. LZ and XH contributed equally to this paper and were the guarantors.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

(A) Glycated hemoglobin (HbA_{1c}) levels during 6 months in the 3 groups. (B) The average reductions of HbA_{1c} levels during 6 months in the 3 groups. Group A: control group, Group B: app self-management group, and Group C: app interactive management group. HbA_{1c}: glycated hemoglobin.

[PNG File, 125 KB - jmir_v21i12e15401_app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Levels of fasting plasma glucose, Body Weight and Lipids during the follow-up. [DOCX File, 19 KB - jmir_v21i12e15401_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist (V1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 301 KB - jmir_v21i12e15401_app3.pdf]

References



- El Khoury CF, Karavetian M, Halfens RJ, Crutzen R, Khoja L, Schols JM. The effects of dietary mobile apps on nutritional outcomes in adults with chronic diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Acad Nutr Diet 2019 Apr;119(4):626-651. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jand.2018.11.010</u>] [Medline: <u>30686742</u>]
- Tang PC, Overhage JM, Chan AS, Brown NL, Aghighi B, Entwistle MP, et al. Online disease management of diabetes: engaging and motivating patients online with enhanced resources-diabetes (EMPOWER-D), a randomized controlled trial. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013 May 1;20(3):526-534 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2012-001263] [Medline: 23171659]
- 3. Pal K, Eastwood SV, Michie S, Farmer A, Barnard ML, Peacock R, et al. Computer-based interventions to improve self-management in adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2014 Jun;37(6):1759-1766. [doi: 10.2337/dc13-1386] [Medline: 24855158]
- 4. Hou C, Carter B, Hewitt J, Francisa T, Mayor S. Do mobile phone applications improve glycemic control (HbA1c) in the self-management of diabetes? A systematic review, meta-analysis, and grade of 14 randomized trials. Diabetes Care 2016 Nov;39(11):2089-2095. [doi: 10.2337/dc16-0346] [Medline: 27926892]
- 5. Cui M, Wu X, Mao J, Wang X, Nie M. T2DM Self-management via smartphone applications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2016;11(11):e0166718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166718] [Medline: 27861583]
- Wu IX, Kee JC, Threapleton DE, Ma RC, Lam VC, Lee EK, et al. Effectiveness of smartphone technologies on glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes: systematic review with meta-analysis of 17 trials. Obes Rev 2018 Jun;19(6):825-838. [doi: 10.1111/obr.12669] [Medline: 29345109]
- Rodríguez AQ, Wägner AM. Mobile phone applications for diabetes management: a systematic review. Endocrinol Diabetes Nutr 2019 May;66(5):330-337. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.endinu.2018.11.005</u>] [Medline: <u>30745121</u>]
- Yu Y, Yan Q, Li H, Li H, Wang L, Wang H, et al. Effects of mobile phone application combined with or without self-monitoring of blood glucose on glycemic control in patients with diabetes: A randomized controlled trial. J Diabetes Investig 2019 Sep;10(5):1365-1371 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jdi.13031] [Medline: 30815973]
- Zhou W, Chen M, Yuan J, Sun Y. Welltang a smart phone-based diabetes management application improves blood glucose control in Chinese people with diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016 Jun;116:105-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2016.03.018] [Medline: 27321324]
- Dobson R, Whittaker R, Murphy R, Khanolkar M, Miller S, Naylor J, et al. The use of mobile health to deliver self-management support to young people with type 1 diabetes: a cross-sectional survey. JMIR Diabetes 2017 Mar 15;2(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.7221] [Medline: 30291057]
- 11. Rossi MC, Nicolucci A, Lucisano G, Pellegrini F, di Bartolo P, Miselli V, Did Study Group. Impact of the 'Diabetes Interactive Diary' telemedicine system on metabolic control, risk of hypoglycemia, and quality of life: a randomized clinical trial in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther 2013 Aug;15(8):670-679. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2013.0021] [Medline: 23844569]
- 12. IDF diabetes atlas. URL: https://diabetesatlas.org/ [accessed 2019-04-06] [WebCite Cache ID 77PK9VvyI]
- American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2010. Diabetes Care 2010 Jan;33(Suppl 1):S11-S61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-S011] [Medline: 20042772]
- Chinese DS. Guidelines for the prevention and treatment of type 2 diabetes in China (Edition 2013). Chinese Journal of Diabetes Mellitus, (7) 2014;6(7):447-498 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1674-5809.2014.07.004]
- He X, Shen Y, Ma X, Ying L, Peng J, Pan X, et al. The association of serum FGF23 and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is independent of vitamin D in type 2 diabetes patients. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2018 Jul;45(7):668-674. [doi: <u>10.1111/1440-1681.12933</u>] [Medline: <u>29574933</u>]
- Blankers M, Koeter MW, Schippers GM. Missing data approaches in eHealth research: simulation study and a tutorial for nonmathematically inclined researchers. J Med Internet Res 2010 Dec 19;12(5):e54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1448] [Medline: 21169167]
- 17. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB, Spratt M, Royston P, Kenward MG, et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. Br Med J 2009 Jun 29;338:b2393 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2393] [Medline: 19564179]
- Gunawardena KC, Jackson R, Robinett I, Dhaniska L, Jayamanne S, Kalpani S, et al. The influence of the smart glucose manager mobile application on diabetes management. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019 Jan;13(1):75-81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296818804522] [Medline: 30264583]
- Veazie S, Winchell K, Gilbert J, Paynter R, Ivlev I, Eden KB, et al. Rapid evidence review of mobile applications for self-management of diabetes. J Gen Intern Med 2018 Jul;33(7):1167-1176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4410-1] [Medline: 29740786]
- 20. Kirwan M, Vandelanotte C, Fenning A, Duncan MJ. Diabetes self-management smartphone application for adults with type 1 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 13;15(11):e235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2588] [Medline: 24225149]
- Waki K, Fujita H, Uchimura Y, Omae K, Aramaki E, Kato S, et al. DialBetics: A novel smartphone-based self-management support system for type 2 diabetes patients. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2014 Mar;8(2):209-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296814526495] [Medline: 24876569]

- Quinn CC, Shardell MD, Terrin ML, Barr EA, Ballew SH, Gruber-Baldini AL. Cluster-randomized trial of a mobile phone personalized behavioral intervention for blood glucose control. Diabetes Care 2011 Sep;34(9):1934-1942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc11-0366] [Medline: 21788632]
- 23. Yu D, Zheng W, Cai H, Xiang Y, Li H, Gao Y, et al. Long-term diet quality and risk of type 2 diabetes among urban Chinese adults. Diabetes Care 2018 Apr;41(4):723-730 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc17-1626] [Medline: 29269510]
- 24. Tay J, Thompson CH, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Wycherley TP, Noakes M, Buckley JD, et al. Effects of an energy-restricted low-carbohydrate, high unsaturated fat/low saturated fat diet versus a high-carbohydrate, low-fat diet in type 2 diabetes: A 2-year randomized clinical trial. Diabetes Obes Metab 2018 Apr;20(4):858-871. [doi: 10.1111/dom.13164] [Medline: 29178536]
- 25. Cradock KA, ÓLaighin G, Finucane FM, McKay R, Quinlan LR, Ginis KA, et al. Diet behavior change techniques in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2017 Dec;40(12):1800-1810. [doi: 10.2337/dc17-0462] [Medline: 29162585]
- 26. Bohn B, Herbst A, Pfeifer M, Krakow D, Zimny S, Kopp F, et al. Impact of physical activity on glycemic control and prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in adults with type 1 diabetes: a cross-sectional multicenter study of 18,028 patients. Diabetes Care 2015 Aug;38(8):1536-1543. [doi: 10.2337/dc15-0030] [Medline: 26015557]
- 27. Charpentier G, Benhamou P, Dardari D, Clergeot A, Franc S, Schaepelynck-Belicar P, TeleDiab Study Group. The Diabeo software enabling individualized insulin dose adjustments combined with telemedicine support improves HbA1c in poorly controlled type 1 diabetic patients: a 6-month, randomized, open-label, parallel-group, multicenter trial (TeleDiab 1 Study). Diabetes Care 2011 Mar;34(3):533-539 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-1259] [Medline: 21266648]
- 28. Duke SS, Colagiuri S, Colagiuri R. Individual patient education for people with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009 Jan 21(1):CD005268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005268.pub2] [Medline: 19160249]
- 29. McMahon GT, Gomes HE, Hohne S, Hu TM, Levine BA, Conlin PR. Web-based care management in patients with poorly controlled diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005 Jul;28(7):1624-1629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diacare.28.7.1624] [Medline: 15983311]

Abbreviations

BG: blood glucose BMI: body mass index FPG: fasting plasma glucose HbA_{1c}: glycated hemoglobin HDL-c: high-density lipoprotein cholesterol LDL-c: low-density lipoprotein cholesterol SMBG: self-monitoring of blood glucose TC: total cholesterol TG: triglyceride W: waist circumference

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.07.19; peer-reviewed by G Hu, C Oehler; comments to author 21.08.19; revised version received 11.10.19; accepted 20.10.19; published 09.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Zhang L, He X, Shen Y, Yu H, Pan J, Zhu W, Zhou J, Bao Y Effectiveness of Smartphone App–Based Interactive Management on Glycemic Control in Chinese Patients With Poorly Controlled Diabetes: Randomized Controlled Trial J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15401 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15401 doi:10.2196/15401 PMID:31815677

©Lei Zhang, Xingxing He, Yun Shen, Haoyong Yu, Jiemin Pan, Wei Zhu, Jian Zhou, Yuqian Bao. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 09.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Peer Mentorship via Mobile Phones for Newly Diagnosed HIV-Positive Youths in Clinic Care in Khayelitsha, South Africa: Mixed Methods Study

Damian Hacking^{1*}, MPH, MSc; Zodwa Mgengwana-Mbakaza^{1*}; Tali Cassidy^{1*}, MPH; Pumeza Runeyi^{1*}; Laura Trivino Duran^{1*}, MPH, MD; Ruth Henwood Mathys¹, MPH; Andrew Boulle^{2*}, PhD, MBChB

¹Medecins Sans Frontieres, Operational Centre Brussels, South African Mission, Khayelitsha, South Africa

²Centre for Infectious Diseases and Epidemiological Research, University of Cape Town, Cape Town, South Africa

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Damian Hacking, MPH, MSc Medecins Sans Frontieres Operational Centre Brussels South African Mission 1st floor Isivivana Centre 8 Mzala Street Khayelitsha, 7784 South Africa Phone: 27 213645490 Email: damianuct@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Youths in South Africa are poor utilizers of HIV health services. Medecins Sans Frontieres has been piloting youth-adapted services at a youth clinic in Khayelitsha, including a peer virtual mentorship program over mobile phones, piloted from March 2015 to May 2016.

Objective: The objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of the peer mentorship program on youth engagement with HIV services and explore the acceptability of the program to both mentors and mentees.

Methods: Antiretroviral initiation, retention in care (RIC), and viral load suppression were compared between youths engaged in the virtual mentorship program and two matched controls. In-depth interviews were also conducted for 5 mentors and 5 mentees to explore acceptability and impact of the program.

Results: A total of 40 youths were recruited into the virtual mentorship program over the study period. Of these, data were obtained for 35 and 2 matched controls were randomly sampled for each. There was no difference in baseline demographics (eg, age, gender, and CD4 count). Mentees had increased antiretroviral initiation (28/35, 80% vs 30/70, 42% in matched controls) and viral load completion (28/35, 80% vs 32/70, 45%); however, no differences were found in viral load suppression or RIC at 6 or 12 months. Mentors reported being motivated to participate in the program because of previous personal struggles with HIV and a desire to help their peers. Mentees reported fears of disclosure and lack of acceptance of their status as barrier to accessing services, but they felt free to talk to their mentors, valued the mentorship program, and indicated a preference for phone calls.

Conclusions: Peer mentorship in youths is acceptable to both mentors and mentees and appears to increase linkage to care and viral load completion rates.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14012) doi: 10.2196/14012

KEYWORDS

RenderX

youth; HIV; peer influence; retention in care; mobile phone; patient navigator

Hacking et al

Introduction

HIV in Youths in South Africa

There are an estimated 20 million youths aged 15 to 25 years in South Africa according to the 2011 census. In 2012, only 50% of the youths knew their HIV status [1]. Of the youths that test positive (estimated at 7%) [2], only 28% are accessing antiretroviral therapy (ART), 83% of which link to and are retained in care in the first 2 years and 81% of which achieve viral load suppression [3]. Adapting services to be youth-friendly overcomes many of the barriers with youths accessing care [4,5], and hence, in the urban informal settlement of Khayelitsha, Medecins Sans Frontieres (MSF) supports a stand-alone youth-only clinic, with youth-adapted services, including in-facility youth-friendly adherence clubs, point-of-care CD4 testing, and young counselors. This youth-friendly model of care has managed to achieve 50% ART initiation rates [6], an improvement on national figures, but still short of the World Health Organization's 90-90-90 goals. Furthermore, many youths still start ART late in the course of HIV disease, even if their status is known, leading to a poorer outcome [7].

Youths and the Role of HIV-Positive Peers

One measure that can increase linkage to care in newly diagnosed patients is to link them to peers living with HIV. The role of the peer is to act as a navigator through the health system, provide peer support and basic counseling, and visit the patient to encourage return to care [8]. Just 1 visit from a navigator can increase long-term linkage to care substantially [8]. Using navigators can be effective in youth-cohorts [9], not only for linkage to care but also for peer-to-peer support and health promotion [10]; however, there are high potential stigma and disclosure problems among youths (from family, friends, and the community), especially with home visits, as many youths have not disclosed their status to their family [11,12].

Youths and Mobile Technology

The use of mobile technology for health-related functions by HIV-positive youths is increasingly common [13]. Primarily, mobile phones have been used to disseminate youth-adapted health information, link youths to health care services [14], and provide peer support networks. The mobile chat app platform Mixit has been used in South Africa for a variety of HIV- and health-related interventions targeting youths, from digital counseling support to health promotion [15]. The platform is principally chat room-based, with either public chat rooms or password-protected private ones, and also includes functionality such as quizzes and video content; however, since the introduction of more popular social media platforms such as Facebook, it has reduced in popularity substantially [16]. In South Africa, youths have expressed a desire to receive health information and health services via mobile technologies [15], and in 2012, MSF introduced mobile phone-based support groups (WhatsApp group chat rooms), to supplement existing in-person youth-adherence clubs , which were frequently used and valued by the youths [16].

The Virtual Mentors Program

On the back of this success, a peer-to-peer mobile phone–based system, known as the Virtual Mentors program, was introduced in 2015 to link newly diagnosed youths with stable youths in care. The aim of this program was to determine if peer-to-peer mentorship, specifically between newly diagnosed HIV-positive youths and HIV-positive youths stable in care, could be successfully implemented using mobile phones as the primary means of communication. This virtual mentor approach catered more strongly toward the mobile phone–based online communication desires of the youths [17]. It also obviated the need for a physical home visit.

Recruitment and Role of Mentors

Virtual mentors were recruited annually from existing HIV youth-adherence clubs, on a voluntary basis, and underwent a 1-day training session conducted by MSF to capacitate them on their roles as navigators. Mentors could volunteer for more than 1 year, a minimum of 6 mentors were active at any given time, and a total of 19 mentors were used throughout the study. The virtual mentor would interact with the mentee via a mobile interface (SMS text messaging, call, or WhatsApp messenger) and was provided with 50 South Afican Rand (approximately US \$3.50) per mentee to cover any data or airtime costs. The mentor was required to send 2 greeting messages to the mentee upon receiving their contact details. If the mentee did not respond after 3 days, the mentor then contacted the counselor to confirm the contact details of the mentee, and if these were correct, they informed the counselor that their mentee had not responded.

Once the mentor had made contact with the mentee, there were no stringent guidelines for their interaction (duration or content); however, mentors were provided with a messaging template (Multimedia Appendix 1) to guide them in their interactions with the mentee, which stipulated the minimum required engagement. The mentorship would conclude with the mentor inviting the mentee to attend their next HIV youth-adherence club. By visiting the mentor's club, the mentee got an idea of what the youth-adherence club entails and would potentially be encouraged to join their own youth-adherence club. The youth-adherence club visit date also acted as a fixed date for the termination of the mentorship program, and as such, mentees could receive anywhere from 2 to 8 weeks of mentorship depending on their recruitment date, although continued communication beyond this point remained an option if the mentor so desired or if the counselor felt it necessary and requested it of the mentor.

Recruitment of Mentees

All patients who were aged between 12 and 25 years, who were newly diagnosed HIV positive at either clinic site, who at diagnosis either did not agree to start ART or were ineligible for treatment based on CD4 guidelines, and who declined to join an HIV youth-adherence club were eligible for the study. The counselor performing the HIV test offered the option of a peer mentor and would explain to the patient that the mentor was a young person also living with HIV who attended the clinic, would not come to their place of residence, and would

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

not disclose their status. Consenting patients were added to a mentee sign-up sheet, which included their name, contact details, and preferred platform of communication (eg, WhatsApp and SMS). Mentees were then assigned to appropriate mentors by the youth-counselor coordinator, who attempted as much as possible to match mentors and mentees based on similar demographics or circumstances (eg, a pregnant mentee with a woman who had 1 or more children).

This paper investigates whether the virtual mentorship program was acceptable to youths, both mentors and mentees, through in-depth interviews and describes the mentees' HIV- and ART-related outcomes in comparison with the matched controls.

Methods

Study Design

A mixed methods design was employed. A matched case-control quantitative component was used to assess if the virtual mentorship increased ART initiation of the newly diagnosed patients and positively affected their retention in care (RIC). An in-depth qualitative interview component was used to determine if the mobile phone mode of communication was a preferable means of peer support for the youths.

Study Setting

The study was conducted at 2 stand-alone youth clinics in a high HIV prevalence context, the periurban informal settlement of Khayelitsha, Cape Town. The study was conducted from March 11, 2015, to May 24, 2016. This study was approved by the University of Cape Town's Human Research Ethics Committee (Reference: 245/2016).

Descriptive Data Collection and Analysis

Descriptive data for the virtual mentees cohort were collected from the Prehmis electronic medical record database, including demographic, headcount, and RIC statistics. Viral load data were collected through direct lookup of patient data via the National Health Laboratory Service's online portal. Patient clinic folder audits were conducted for any missing data fields.

For each virtual mentee analyzed, we selected 2 matched controls who tested positive at the same facility. Mentees were matched to the 2 patients with the nearest HIV counseling and testing (HCT) dates, without replacement. All patients with missing HCT data were dropped. The outcomes measured are detailed in Table 1.

No statistical comparisons were calculated between the intervention group and the matched controls, which are presented as an approximate indication of the outcomes of youths in standard of care.

 Table 1. Descriptive data outcomes measured in mentees and matched controls.

Outcome to be measured	Calculation
Linkage to ART ^a care	Number of patients who tested positive and initiated ART/number of patients tested positive
Median time to linkage to ART care	Of those who initiated ART, difference between the date of HIV counseling and testing and the date of ART initiation
Median time out of care pre-ART	Of those who did not link within the first 6 months, total number of days late for pre-ART appointments
Retention in care on ART	Number of patients retained in care at 6 and 12 months/number of patients who initiated ART
Viral load completion	Number of viral load results available/number due for a viral load at 4 months
Viral load suppression	Number of patients with suppressed viral load (<400 copies/ml)/number of viral load results available

^aART: antiretroviral therapy.

In-Depth Interviews and Analysis

Participants were selected for in-depth interviews based on their age and gender to get a representative sample of all the mentees and mentors recruited and to ensure that at least one male and one female and an older (>18 years) and a younger (<18 years) participant were included. The in-depth interviews followed the guide outlined in Multimedia Appendix 2. The in-depth interviews were held in a private room at the clinic, at a location of the mentee's convenience, or telephonically. Written informed consent was obtained for all participants, or verbal informed consent was obtained in the case of telephonic interviews. Interviews were conducted in a mixture of English and Xhosa; however, audio transcripts of the interviews were transcribed into English by the interviewer before analysis. The in-depth interviews were analyzed through a grounded theory approach. Transcripts were coded for emergent themes by 2 researchers. Lists of the emergent themes were then compared and condensed into key themes.

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14012

Results

Descriptive Data

A total of 40 youths were recruited into the Virtual Mentors program from March 2015 to May 2016. As detailed in Figure 1, 5 participants had missing HCT data and hence were excluded from analysis. Therefore, 70 matched controls with similar HCT dates were randomly drawn for comparison.

The mentees and the matched controls had similar demographic features and baseline CD4 counts, as detailed in Table 2.

Linkage to ART care at any point after diagnosis was substantially higher in the virtual mentees cohort (Figure 2 and Table 3). Both groups had very large ranges in terms of the number of days between diagnosis and initiation of ART. RIC on ART at both 6 and 12 months was similar for both groups. Both groups had similar viral load suppression at the 4-month

stage; however, the virtual mentees cohort had a much higher viral load completion rate.

Figure 1. Exclusion criteria flow diagram. HCT: HIV counseling and testing; LTF: lost to follow-up; mo: months; RIC: retention in care; TFO: transferred out; ART: antiretroviral therapy.



Table 2.	Demographic	data	between	groups.
----------	-------------	------	---------	---------

Demographic	Virtual mentees cohort (N=40)	Matched controls cohort (N=70)
Gender, n (%)		
Male	2 (5)	6 (9)
Female	38 (95)	64 (91)
Age at diagnosis, median (IQR ^a)	20 years 5 months (3 years 4 months)	22 years 7 months (3 years 6 months)
Baseline CD4, median (IQR); n	496 (378-592); 29	443 (307-638); 6

^aIQR: interquartile range.



Figure 2. Antiviral therapy initiation, retention, and viral load completion by group. ART: antiretroviral therapy; VL 1: first viral load.



Table 3. Linkage, retention in care, and viral load outcomes.

Metric	Virtual mentors (VM)	Matched controls (MC)
Linkage to ART ^a care, n (%)	28 (80)	30 (43)
Of those linked, Days to linkage to ART care, median (IQR ^b)	217.5 (32.5-467.75)	49.5 (7-333.25)
Days out of care pre-ART, median (IQR); n	38 (1-350); 17	200 (29-337.5); 11
Retention in care on ART at 6 months (for VM, N=45; for MC, N=19), n (%)	23 (92)	17 (89)
Retention in care on ART at 12 months (for VM, N=22; for MC, N=16), n (%)	22 (100)	15 (94)
First viral load completion (for VM, N=35; for MC, N=70), n (%)	28 (80)	32 (45)
First viral load suppression (<400 copies/ml; for VM, N=28; for MC, N=32), n (%)	26 (93)	29 (91)

^aART: antiretroviral therapy.

^bIQR: interquartile range.

Qualitative Data

Mentors

RenderX

In total, 2 themes emerged from discussion with the mentors: (1) most mentors felt motivated to be a mentor because of previous personal struggles with their HIV status and (2) mentors saw the value in having a peer to speak to when newly diagnosed:

I decided to be a mentor because I was once a victim or was diagnosed with something and it was not easy for me to speak to anyone. [Participant 4]

You see so I decided to take this and change other scared children you see to take their treatment and accept their status it is not easy to accept all of this you would think that you will die same time and how will you disclose at home you even need a person to speak to and you will not have so at least when you have someone your age who will speak the same language as you, you would feel better that is why I decided to take a step forward and be able to mentor other children. [Participant 1]

Mentees

In total, 5 themes emerged from the interviews with the mentees: (1) a lack of acceptance acted as a barrier to care, (2) a fear of accidental disclosure to the community, (3) mentees felt free to talk openly with their mentors, (4) mentees had a positive view of the mentors asking them questions, and (5) direct phone calls and face-to-face interactions between mentors and mentees was higher than expected.

Hacking et al

First, there were 2 major issues identified as barriers to care for youths: (1) lack of acceptance of their HIV status and (2) fear of disclosure if they attended the clinic or the support groups:

Problem I am scared of people they always check what you coming to do so I am avoiding that. [Participant 3]

I was scared of here at Site C there can be someone from my area who will identify me know about my HIV, and go tell my parents about my involvement in the group I was scare to be known my HIV status and I had not yet accepted my HIV positive status so it was hard to attend support group I felt like hiding myself at home and be unknown. [Participant 2]

The mentees had a very positive regard for the mentorship program and reported being able to talk to their mentors about disclosure issues and accepting their HIV status. The 2 major themes emerging were feeling free to talk openly to the mentor and a positive view of the mentors asking them questions:

She use to call me and ask things that I wished they were being asked by my mom or my older sister or something then I would speak with her and like I was free with her. [Participant 1]

We were chatting nicely since she was a mentor who was supporting people who wanted people to accept their condition she was supportive towards people. [Participant 2]

She was all right conversing encouraged me saying when you are HIV positive there are a lot of people who survive if they eat their treatment correctly but if you are not taking your treatment correctly HIV can kill you. [Participant 3]

Finally, the primary modes of communication between mentors and mentees skewed toward direct phone calls and also included face-to-face interactions:

Yes I used to call her when there is something I do not understand. [Participant 3]

She constantly phoned me and encouraged me to come to the group but I could not because I was stressed. [Participant 2]

Ha a we used to meet when I am not fetching pills or coming to the club like when she asked to see me like if have come to fetch pills today she would say ok she will be free at a certain time and ask me to come tomorrow if there is nothing I am doing so we can talk nicely then I would come so that is how we were meeting. [Participant 5]

Discussion

Principal Findings

Virtual Mentorship May Increase Antiretroviral Therapy Initiation and Mentees Have Good Retention in Care

Traditional adult patient navigator programs do not work well in the case of youths [9]. Our study shows that adopting the patient navigator role to be more youth friendly, that is, using

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14012

peers and platforms acceptable to youths, is effective at linking youths to ART care. Youth-friendly peer navigators have been used successfully as part of the Red Carpet Program in Kenya [9] and the Health Connectors project currently underway in South Africa. The Health Connectors project also incorporates a mobile health (mHealth) element to their peer navigation [18]. The Virtual Mentors program described here differs from these interventions in that it comprises only of a peer mentor interaction over a mobile phone for a limited length of time. It is less resource intensive than either the Red Carpet Program or the Health Connectors project; however, it still had a positive impact, with substantially more youths linking to ART care than controls. In the virtual mentors group, there does appear to be a longer delay before linkage to care, and this could be a bias in the selection of mentees for the program or a result of the program itself. Of those who did not link within the first 6 months, the mentees were less likely to miss a pre-ART clinic visit.

Virtual Mentorship Is Acceptable to the Youth Mentors and Mentees and Counselors

The use of mHealth for youths in South Africa is well documented and has generally been well accepted across a variety of interventions [15]. The youths reported liking the virtual mentorship program, as they found the peers relatable and inspiring, which allowed them to freely talk to and ask questions of their mentors.

The mentors themselves were pleased to do the mentorship, and none of them reported it being an undue burden or that they felt out of their depth or unable to provide peer support to the newly diagnosed youths.

Limitations

This study was limited by a small sample size. There were some challenges with sign up as only a small proportion of youths were signed up to the virtual mentorship program, given the large number of youths who were diagnosed positive at the clinic over the study period. It is unclear if these youths refused or if they were not offered the service.

The matched controls also displayed high levels of RIC, and these 2 factors made it difficult to elucidate any impact of the virtual mentors on long-term outcomes. Both the mentees and matched controls were also overwhelmingly female. This may limit the applicability of such a program to young males, a key population with poor access to HIV services; however, it is not indicative of a female preference for the program as the control group had a similar gender distribution.

Recruitment into the virtual mentees cohort was also at the discretion of both the counselor and the participant, and hence, there are likely strong selection biases at play. Counselors may have identified higher-risk individuals for recruitment into the program; conversely, participants with poor health-seeking behavior may have declined the services of a mentor. This may have biased both the virtual mentees cohort and the matched controls cohort (which either were not offered the service or refused). However, the lack of differences in baseline CD4 suggests that the youths accepting mentorship were at no higher or lower risk than the matched control.

There may have been a similar selection bias and recall bias for the in-depth interviews. Participants who defaulted treatment, or were not linked to care, were harder to contact and hence were underrepresented in the sample. So, it was difficult to understand the circumstances where the mentorship did not work.

Conclusions

A peer-to-peer navigator program for newly diagnosed HIV-positive youths, conducted via mobile phone, might have increased linkage to ART care but had no impact on RIC. Mentees believed the program to be beneficial and supportive, and the mentors implementing the intervention were happy to do it.

Acknowledgments

This work was funded entirely by MSF.

Authors' Contributions

DH designed and managed the study and was the lead author. ZM was responsible for implementation and qualitative evaluation of the program. TC assisted with quantitative evaluation of the program. PR was responsible for implementation of the program at the pilot sites. All authors contributed to the conceptualization of the study and provided feedback on the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Virtual mentors messaging template. [DOCX File , 29 KB - jmir_v21i12e14012_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 In-depth interview guide. [DOC File, 27 KB - jmir_v21i12e14012_app2.doc]

References

- 1. Shishana O, Rehle T, Simbayi LC, Zuma K, Jooste S, Zungu N, et al. South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence and Behaviour Survey, 2012. Cape Town, South Africa: HSRC Press; 2014.
- 2. 2 O. Shisana. In: , South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence and Behaviour Survey. -: -; 2012:1-2.
- Zanoni BC, Archary M, Buchan S, Katz IT, Haberer JE. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the adolescent HIV continuum of care in South Africa: the Cresting Wave. BMJ Glob Health 2016;1(3):e000004 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2015-000004] [Medline: 28588949]
- 4. Tanner AE, Philbin MM, Duval A, Ellen J, Kapogiannis B, Fortenberry JD, Adolescent Trials Network for HIV/AIDS Interventions. 'Youth friendly' clinics: considerations for linking and engaging HIV-infected adolescents into care. AIDS Care 2014 Feb;26(2):199-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09540121.2013.808800] [Medline: 23782040]
- 5. henwood R, Mkhosana N, Abrahams S, De Azevedo V, Patten G, Wilkinson L. Youth groups: Linkage to and retention in ART care strategy piloted in a youth specific primary care clinic in Khayelitsha, Cape Town. 2014 Presented at: Provincial Research Day; 2014; Cape Town.
- Patten GE, Wilkinson L, Conradie K, Isaakidis P, Harries AD, Edginton ME, et al. Impact on ART initiation of point-of-care CD4 testing at HIV diagnosis among HIV-positive youth in Khayelitsha, South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc 2013 Jul 4;16:18518
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7448/IAS.16.1.18518] [Medline: 23830642]
- When To Start Consortium, Sterne JA, May M, Costagliola D, de Wolf F, Phillips AN, et al. Timing of initiation of antiretroviral therapy in AIDS-free HIV-1-infected patients: a collaborative analysis of 18 HIV cohort studies. Lancet 2009 Apr 18;373(9672):1352-1363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60612-7] [Medline: 19361855]
- Hatcher AM, Turan JM, Leslie HH, Kanya LW, Kwena Z, Johnson MO, et al. Predictors of linkage to care following community-based HIV counseling and testing in rural Kenya. AIDS Behav 2012 Jul;16(5):1295-1307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-011-0065-1] [Medline: 22020756]

RenderX

Implications for Policy and Practice

The benefit of community and peer health care workers in South Africa is well documented, and scale up of these services is a national policy [19]. Part of their role is to act as patient navigators [19-21]. There is also a greater recognition of the importance of adapting health care services to be youth friendly [22]. It is, therefore, vital that peer navigator services are also adapted to be youth-friendly. The virtual mentorship pilot presented in this paper has demonstrated a peer navigator approach, acceptable to both youth mentors and mentees, that could supplement or enhance any clinic wishing to implement youth-friendly services into their package of care.
- 9. Ruria EC, Masaba R, Kose J, Woelk G, Mwangi E, Matu L, et al. Optimizing linkage to care and initiation and retention on treatment of adolescents with newly diagnosed HIV infection. AIDS 2017 Jul 1;31(Suppl 3):S253-S260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.0000000001538] [Medline: 28665883]
- 10. Shelley G, Williams W, Uhl G, Hoyte T, Eke A, Wright C, et al. An evaluation of Mpowerment on individual-level HIV risk behavior, testing, and psychosocial factors among young MSM of color: the monitoring and evaluation of MP (MEM) project. AIDS Educ Prev 2017 Feb;29(1):24-37. [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2017.29.1.24] [Medline: 28195781]
- 11. Wolf HT, Halpern-Felsher BL, Bukusi EA, Agot KE, Cohen CR, Auerswald CL. 'It is all about the fear of being discriminated [against]...the person suffering from HIV will not be accepted': a qualitative study exploring the reasons for loss to follow-up among HIV-positive youth in Kisumu, Kenya. BMC Public Health 2014 Nov 6;14:1154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-1154] [Medline: 25377362]
- Mutumba M, Bauermeister JA, Musiime V, Byaruhanga J, Francis K, Snow RC, et al. Psychosocial challenges and strategies for coping with HIV among adolescents in Uganda: a qualitative study. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2015 Feb;29(2):86-94. [doi: <u>10.1089/apc.2014.0222</u>] [Medline: <u>25607900</u>]
- Saberi P, Siedle-Khan R, Sheon N, Lightfoot M. The use of mobile health applications among youth and young adults living with HIV: focus group findings. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2016 Jun;30(6):254-260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/apc.2016.0044] [Medline: 27214751]
- Ippoliti NB, L'Engle K. Meet us on the phone: mobile phone programs for adolescent sexual and reproductive health in low-to-middle income countries. Reprod Health 2017 Jan 17;14(1):11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12978-016-0276-z] [Medline: 28095855]
- 15. United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF). 2015. mHealth and Young People in South Africa URL: <u>https://www.unicef.org/southafrica/SAF_resources_saAdolescentSocialMedia.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-02]
- Henwood R, Patten G, Barnett W, Hwang B, Metcalf C, Hacking D, et al. Acceptability and use of a virtual support group for HIV-positive youth in Khayelitsha, Cape Town using the MXit social networking platform. AIDS Care 2016 Jul;28(7):898-903. [doi: <u>10.1080/09540121.2016.1173638</u>] [Medline: <u>27098208</u>]
- 17. Thayer SE, Ray S. Online communication preferences across age, gender, and duration of internet use. Cyberpsychol Behav 2006 Aug;9(4):432-440. [doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9.432] [Medline: 16901247]
- 18. Mathys R, Beery M, Qupe J, Mafojane R, Pahad S, Gordon K, et al. Health Connectors: Personalising Linkage to Clinical HIV Care and Prevention for Adolescents and Young People in South Africa. In: Proceedings of the AIDS Impact 14th International Conference. 2019 Presented at: AIDSImpact'19; July 29-31, 2019; London, United Kingdom URL: <u>http://www.aidsimpact.com/abstracts/-KogcNs0-sG5UyDqk3jp</u>
- Joint Primary Health Care Forum. 2011. Provincial Guidelines for the Implementation of the Three Streams of PHC Re-Engineering URL: <u>http://www.jphcf.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/</u> GUIDELINES-FOR-THE-IMPLEMENTATION-OF-THE-THREE-STREAMS-OF-PHC-4-Sept-2.pdf [accessed 2019-09-30]
- Nxumalo N, Goudge J, Thomas L. Outreach services to improve access to health care in South Africa: lessons from three community health worker programmes. Glob Health Action 2013 Jan 24;6:19283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/gha.v6i0.19283] [Medline: 23364101]
- Zulliger R, Moshabela M, Schneider H. 'She is my teacher and if it was not for her I would be dead': exploration of rural South African community health workers' information, education and communication activities. AIDS Care 2014;26(5):626-632. [doi: <u>10.1080/09540121.2013.841839</u>] [Medline: <u>24093798</u>]
- 22. National Department of Health. 2017. National Adolescent and Youth Health Policy URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.za/index.php/shortcodes/2015-03-29-10-42-47/2015-04-30-08-18-10/</u> 2015-04-30-08-25-54?download=2366:adolescent-and-youth-policy-4th-sept [accessed 2019-09-30]

Abbreviations

ART: antiretroviral therapy HCT: HIV counseling and testing mHealth: mobile health MSF: Medecins Sans Frontieres RIC: retention in care



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.05.19; peer-reviewed by D Levine, K Jones; comments to author 03.07.19; revised version received 12.08.19; accepted 31.08.19; published 10.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Hacking D, Mgengwana-Mbakaza Z, Cassidy T, Runeyi P, Duran LT, Mathys RH, Boulle A Peer Mentorship via Mobile Phones for Newly Diagnosed HIV-Positive Youths in Clinic Care in Khayelitsha, South Africa: Mixed Methods Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14012 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14012 doi:10.2196/14012 PMID:31821150

©Damian Hewitt Hacking, Zodwa Mgengwana-Mbakaza, Tali Cassidy, Pumeza Runeyi, Laura Trivino Duran, Ruth Henwood Mathys, Andrew Boulle. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 10.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Pregnancy-Related Information Seeking and Sharing in the Social Media Era Among Expectant Mothers: Qualitative Study

Chengyan Zhu¹, PhD; Runxi Zeng², PhD; Wei Zhang³, PhD; Richard Evans⁴, PhD; Rongrong He⁵, MA

¹College of Public Administration, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

²Center for Communication and Social Development, School of Journalism and Communication, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China

³Smart Health Institute, School of Medicine and Health Management, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

⁴College of Engineering, Design and Physical Sciences, Brunel University London, London, United Kingdom

⁵School of Public Administration, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Corresponding Author:

Wei Zhang, PhD Smart Health Institute School of Medicine and Health Management, Tongji Medical College Huazhong University of Science and Technology #13 Hangkong Road, Qiaokou District Wuhan, 430030 China Phone: 86 13397110378 Email: weizhanghust@hust.edu.cn

Abstract

Background: Social media has become the most popular communication tool used by Chinese citizens, including expectant mothers. An increasing number of women have adopted various forms of social media channels, such as interactive websites, instant messaging, and mobile apps, to solve problems and obtain answers to queries during pregnancy. Although the use of the internet by pregnant women has been studied extensively worldwide, limited research exists that explores the changing social media usage habits in China, where the 1 child policy ended in 2015.

Objective: This study aimed to (1) present the status quo of pregnancy-related information seeking and sharing via social media among Chinese expectant mothers, (2) reveal the impact of social media usage, and (3) shed light on pregnancy-related health services delivered via social media channels.

Methods: A qualitative approach was employed to examine social media usage and its consequences on pregnant women. A total of 20 women who had conceived and were at various stages of pregnancy were interviewed from July 20 to August 10, 2017. Thematic analysis was conducted on the collected data to identify patterns in usage.

Results: Overall, 80% (16/20) of participants were aged in their 20s (mean 28.5 years [SD 4.3]). All had used social media for pregnancy-related purposes. For the seeking behavior, 18 codes were merged into 4 themes, namely, gravida, fetus, delivery, and the postpartum period; whereas for sharing behaviors, 10 codes were merged into 4 themes, namely, gravida, fetus, delivery, and caretaker. Lurking, small group sharing, bad news avoidance, and cross-checking were identified as the preferred patterns for using social media. Overall, 95% (19/20) of participants reported a positive mental impact from using social media during their pregnancy.

Conclusions: It is indisputable that social media has played an increasingly important role in supporting expectant mothers in China. The specific seeking and sharing patterns identified in this study indicate that the general quality of pregnancy-related information on social media, as well as Chinese culture toward pregnancy, is improving. The new themes that merge in pregnancy-related social media use represent a shift toward safe pregnancy and the promotion of a more enjoyable pregnancy. Future prenatal care should provide further information on services related to being comfortable during pregnancy and reducing the inequality of social media–based services caused by the digital divide.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13694) doi:10.2196/13694



KEYWORDS

pregnant women; social media; information seeking; consumer health information; China

Introduction

Social Media Engagement in Pregnancy-Related Topics Worldwide

Pregnancy-related information is in great demand worldwide. A qualitative study conducted in the United States implied that pregnancy-related information, such as that relating to healthier lifestyles, childbirth, infant care, and being a good mother, were major unmet needs of pregnant women, where technologies for use during pregnancy could be significantly improved [1]. Similarly, China has faced such challenges because of its comparatively lower health literacy rates [2]. This situation has intensified since the termination of the 1 child policy in 2015, with the population of pregnant women being on the rise as well as their information needs; this is especially true in the case of older pregnant women.

The internet has been widely used as an effective tool to meet information needs across the health world. and pregnancy-related information is no exception [3,4]. A systematic review on the internet usage by pregnant women found that fetal development and nutrition during pregnancy were highly mentioned topics [3]. In China, pregnant women mainly evaluate the information obtained via the internet by consulting various online sources before drawing conclusions, and they perceive information found on the internet to be generally reliable [5]. With the evolution of internet-based technologies, social media has penetrated all walks of human life as well as prenatal care [6]. Social media is defined as "a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideology and technological foundations of Web 2.0" [7,8], which enables the creation and exchange of information, allowing users to become the content generators rather than solely the receivers of content. Social media forms are not limited to websites but include blogs, online forums, online discussion boards, and various other apps or platforms. As an alternative source of pregnancy-related information, social media has become hugely popular as an instrument for obtaining desired health information, sharing concerns felt during pregnancy, and communicating with other pregnant women [9,10]. Compared with offline methods of communication, pregnancy-related information retrieved via social media is deemed much more convenient, detailed, practical, customized, and unbiased [9,11]. A survey conducted in Australia showed that almost three-quarters (73%) of expectant mothers had used pregnancy-related apps [12]. Similarly, the United States and European countries have evidenced the popularity of pregnancy-based social media usage [13,14]. In addition, several social media channels have featured father-to-be campaigns to encourage participation by expectant fathers during pregnancy [15].

Pregnancy-Related Engagement in China's Social Media Platforms

In China, research into online pregnancy-related information retrieval is limited, with currently available research mainly

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13694
```

focused on statistics obtained from websites and descriptions for specific geographic populations. Gao et al [5] explored pregnancy-related information searches in southeastern China and found that more highly educated women tended to assign higher credibility to online health information. In addition, they also noticed that a relatively low percentage of participants would discuss the online health information they had found with their caregiver or health professionals, in-person. A recent systematic review of available literature found a low presence of strong evidence for low- and middle-income countries in terms of the impact resulting from internet usage by pregnant women, considering their large volume of users [16,17]. In China, the most frequently used pregnancy-related apps are MeetYou and BabyTree. Various types of pregnancy-related information across different stages of child birth have been integrated into 1 software application, as along with the ability to search for health information and engage in interactive discussion forums and shopping.

It is recognized that pregnant women have individual health information needs and preferred sources for identifying this information. By accessing health information on social media, pregnant women become better informed about their health condition. An increasing number of studies have started to reveal the prevalence of social media usage by pregnant women, including their adoption, usage patterns, and impact. However, little analysis has been conducted on the current status quo of seeking and sharing pregnancy-related information on social media, in the context of China. Furthermore, most recent studies have focused on developed countries when exploring the functionality and rationality for social media usage by pregnant women. To fill this gap, this research extensively examined the search strategies, sharing patterns, and their impact on expectant mothers in China. As searching for suitable pregnancy-related information or sharing relevant pregnancy-related information is deemed important for expectant mothers, this study provided insight into how pregnant women in China use social media and its corresponding effects. By using the results of this study, enterprises with a special interest in pregnant women can better tailor their online services. The findings also encourage public or authoritative medical institutes to offer more personalized pregnancy-related information services via social media and other communicative tools.

Methods

To achieve the aims of this study, a qualitative methodology was adopted. Qualitative methods were chosen for their ability to obtain firsthand data that could shed light on the culture and context of online pregnancy-related information searches from the study population [18]. The consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research checklist was adhered to when considering the most appropriate method of study [19].

Study Design

Interviews were targeted toward expectant mothers in China who use social media to obtain and synthesize information

XSL•FO RenderX

during pregnancy; this included exploring information seeking and sharing behaviors and their consequences. The inclusion criteria for interviewees were as follows: aged over 18 years, married, located in China, have known about their pregnancy for a period of at least one month, and used social media for pregnancy-related purposes at least once in the past month. The exclusion criteria were as follows: not residing in China, aged under 18 years, unmarried, have known about their pregnancy for a period of less than one month, and did not use social media for pregnancy-related purposes at all during the past month. Participants were selected based on a snowball sampling process. Initially, potential participants were solicited from the pools of acquaintances of the researchers via social media posts (eg, QQ and WeChat), whereas new participants joined if existing participants nominated participants that met the inclusion criteria. This study followed common practices in China for protecting the privacy of participants. As a recent quantitative study [20] revealed that young, first time expectant mothers, with a higher education level (ie, bachelor's degree or above) were more likely to use social media-based pregnancy apps, we prioritized participants who were of a young age, had a higher education degree, and were experiencing pregnancy for the first time.

The interviews were completed by the fifth author (HRR), who is a young lecturer in a university and mother of a 3-year-old child. She has used social media for more than 10 years, with extensive experience of seeking and sharing pregnancy-related information on social media across different pregnancy cycles. Before participation, all participants were informed of the study's aim, process, and the benefits and potential risks of partaking in the research. All participants agreed to participate in the interview process and consented to the interview data being recorded anonymously. All interviews were conducted face-to-face at a comfortable place for the participants, mostly near or at their homes. The interview phase was conducted from July 20 to August 10, 2017. Each interview lasted for at least 30 min.

Data Collection and Analysis

All interviews were conducted in Chinese. Interviews were recorded and were transcribed later for analysis. The interview framework included the following areas of questioning: (1) participants' description of their background and frequency of using social media during pregnancy, (2) description of their social media use, particularly on pregnancy-related information seeking and sharing, and (3) the reported impact of social media usage during pregnancy. Questioning began by asking the participants' demographic information, such as age, educational level, occupation, pregnancy cycle, and their daily use of social media during their pregnancy. The focus then shifted to their experience of pregnancy-related information seeking and sharing on social media channels. In this section, our study was

interested in the types of pregnancy-related information that were sought or shared, including their preferred social media channels and with whom. The participants were also asked to recall a situation when they sought or shared their pregnancy-related information on social media. In the last section, participants were queried about their personal reflection on the social media use for pregnancy-related purposes. This focused on their physical health and mental health as well as their relationship with caretakers. Before each interview, a list of pseudonyms was provided to the participants to select 1 and use them for documentation to protect their identity, and the researchers made all efforts to secure the participants' privacy throughout the entire study. Table 1 shows the characteristics of the participants.

All participants were in their first marriage. Furthermore, 80% (16/20) were aged in their 20s (mean 28.5 years [SD 4.3]), with 1 participant aged 20 years and 1 participant over 40 years. In this study, most participants were primigravida (pregnant for the first time; 18/20, 90%). In terms of the stage of pregnancy cycle, many (16/20, 80%) were in their last trimester (over 28 weeks), whereas only 1 woman was in the early stage of pregnancy. With regard to their educational background, 60% (12/20) had obtained at least a bachelor's degree, whereas 20% (4/20) had achieved a high school-level education or equivalent. Overall, 65% (13/20) of participants were employed, with their occupation varying from primary, middle, high, or vocational school teacher; university lecturer; support staff; assistant researcher; bank associate; accountant; to traffic police officer. In addition, with regard to monthly family income, 50% (10/20) of participants earned over 10,000 Renminbi (RMB), whereas 5 (25%) participants earned less than 10,000 RMB.

For the analysis of the seeking and sharing behaviors, thematic analysis of the transcript was conducted using recommended procedures [21], which included (1) familiarization with the data, (2) generation of initial codes, (3) searching for codes, (4) reviewing themes, (5) defining and naming themes, and (6) writing the results. An initial coding framework was developed with randomly selected texts from 5 interviews and the codebook was updated after each analysis. The codes were checked rigorously to ensure their fit to the original text. The codes with shared themes were merged and modified, if required.

After the analysis of the 19th interview transcript, new data did not emerge from the data collection. To ensure confidence and verification of the data saturation, the researchers followed a recent practice [22] and conducted another interview for confirmation. For the 20th interview, no additional codes were generated. It was clear that the data provided a clear saturation point and the interviews were then ceased. In total, 21 codes and 5 themes were identified after a redundancy check and discussion.



Table 1. Characteristics of the participants (N=20).

Characteristics	Participants, n (%)
Age (years)	
18-20	1 (5)
21-30	16 (80)
31-40	2 (10)
>40	1 (5)
Education level	
Bachelor's degree or above	12 (60)
College degree	3 (15)
High school or equivalent	4 (20)
Unrevealed	1 (5)
Occupation	
Employed ^a	13 (65)
Unemployed/housewife	7 (35)
Monthly family income (Renminbi)	
≤10,000	5 (25)
10,001-15,000	6 (30)
15,001-20,000	4 (20)
Unrevealed	5 (25)
Childbearing history/parity	
Primipara	18 (90)
Multipara	2 (10)
Pregnancy cycle	
First trimester (≤12 weeks)	1 (5)
Second trimester (13-27 weeks)	3 (15)
Last trimester (>27 weeks)	16 (80)

^aTheir occupations were teachers (n=8), university support staff (n=1), research assistant (n=1), bank associate (n=1), accountant (n=1), and traffic police (n=1).

Results

General Overview

All participants reported using social media for pregnancy-related purposes, but with different intensities. When asked about their frequency of use in the past month, 80% (17/20) reported that they used social media almost every day and the others reported less usage frequency, ranging from every other day to 3 to 4 days interval. The highly mentioned instant messaging platforms were WeChat and Weibo, whereas pregnancy apps were *BabyTree* and *MeetYou*. With regard to the seeking behavior, 18 codes were merged into 4 themes,

namely gravida, fetus, delivery, and postpartum period. We identified 7 subcategories within the gravida category, 4 subcategories within the fetus category, 4 subcategories within the delivery category, and 3 subcategories within the postpartum period category. Table 2 presents these details. Among them, the most frequently sought information was related to fetal development, with 90% (18/20) of participants mentioning this while using social media during pregnancy. Nutrition during the postpartum period was the least mentioned, with 10% (2/20) of participants recalling their search. In addition, pregnancy taboo, nutrition during pregnancy, sex of fetus, and pregnancy-related complications were highly cited.



Zhu et al

Table 2. Pregnancy-related information seeking categories, subcategories, and excerpted examples.

Categories	Number of mentions by participants	Example quotes
Gravida		
Pregnancy taboo	15	"I learned that I can eat shrimp but not crab via the <i>Health Mothers</i> ." (WeChat public account)
Nutrition during pregnancy	12	"I asked in the WeChat group what vitamins they were supplied."
Pregnancy-related complications	10	"I was too frightened of encountering gestational diabetes, and I could not help but search it everywhere"
Antenatal care	8	"The schedule of pregnancy check on MeetYou was what I wanted exactly."
Pregnancy symptoms	6	"Although the doctor said that intense vomiting is not a problem, I still searched comments from others with similar conditions for comfort."
Amusement and sports	6	"Sometimes I just felt bored and browsed other gravida's posts to see if they had anything interesting happening."
Super-cool pregnancy-related goods	3	"I found a comfort pillow on the <i>Little Red Book</i> . It was worth it!"
Fetus		
Fetal development	18	"It informed me when my baby began to have a heartbeat and could hear meI followed the app since my pregnancy."
Sex of fetus	12	"The doctor did not tell me, I searched clues from other mothers' experiences."
Antenatal training	8	"I played the music in Baby Tree."
Baby's name	7	"I looked into answers about their naming techniques."
Delivery		
Preparation for delivery	12	"I started to compare the maternity packages on the platform since my seven- month pregnancy."
Mode and process of delivery	8	"When I learnt of the term painless labor, I searched it for further details."
Delivery stories	4	"I am scared about delivery, and luckily found a lot who were sharing their expe- riences on <i>MeetYou</i> ."
Hospital and doctor choices	4	"I looked at many comments online and choose the doctor I favored."
Postpartum period		
Infant care	8	"I also compared the mother-baby care center on social media"
Maternal recovery and sex life	5	"I looked particularly for information on weight loss and muscle exercises."
Nutrition during postpartum perio	d 2	"I hardly checked the nutrition and vitamins after childbirth."

With regard to the sharing behavior of expectant mothers, public sharing of pregnancy-related information was hardly seen on social media. However, some participants expressed their habit of sharing within closed groups and engaging in private conversations with friends or relatives on social media channels. A total of 10 codes were identified, which emerged into 4 themes, namely, gravida, fetus, delivery, and caretaker. Furthermore, 4 subcategories within the gravida category, 2 subcategories in fetus, delivery, and caretaker, respectively were found. In Table 3, further details are provided. Among them, the most shared information related to their husbands (10 out of 20 participants), whereas the sex of fetus (2 out of 20 participants) was the least referred to topic. In addition, announcement of pregnancies, preparation for delivery, pregnancy symptoms, mode and process of delivery, and other topics about their mother-in-law/mother were also highly discussed on social media.



Categories	Number of mentions by participants			
Gravida				
Pregnancy announcement	9			
Pregnancy symptoms	6			
Pregnancy-related complications	5			
Super-cool pregnancy-related goods	5			
Fetus				
Fetus pictures	3			
Sex of fetus	2			
Delivery				
Preparation for delivery	8			
Mode and process of delivery	6			
Caretaker				
Husband	10			
Mother-in-law/mother	6			

Preferred Seeking and Sharing Patterns

Lurking on Social Media

On the basis of our interviews, 90% (18/20) of participants noted that they review pregnancy-related information on social media. As one participant stated:

I had a strong prenatal reaction with continued vomiting and dizziness, much stronger than my mother-in-law and my mother had experienced or expected...I wasn't assured until I found that many similar cases were uploaded by other expectant mothers...I saw one recommendation of several public accounts on social media for pregnancy-related information, and I subscribed to some of them for regular updates.

In addition, 95% (19/20) of participants had not actively engaged in pregnancy-related conversations initiated by other strangers on social media. As one participant expressed:

I do not want to talk with other pregnant women I am not familiar with. I think pregnancy is a personal matter and I do not want to share too much with others I do not know. If I cannot find the health information I need, I will quickly switch to other channels or online conversations to look for more precise answers.

Small Group Sharing

All participants believed that they did not need to publicly share information about their pregnancy on social media app. They perceived pregnancy to be a private affair, feeling reluctant to share their news with everyone. However, many participants said that they would use social media channels to connect with close female friends, particularly those who are pregnant, and they showed varying degrees of dependence on pregnancy

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13694

groups hosted on social media channels. As one participant mentioned:

I was not a social media fan, nor did I want others know about my pregnancy. I felt it unnecessary to post it on social media, and I have not seen any of my friends ever post their pregnancy news on social media...But, I like to share it privately with my girls via WeChat. We have a WeChat group with some pregnant women. We talk about everything during our pregnancy, every day. Sometimes, we Tucao (uncover some foolish story) about our husbands. I felt much relief chatting with them.

Bad News Avoidance

Notably, although participants acknowledged the importance of obtaining health information via pregnancy apps, half (10/20, 50%) of the participants also tried to avoid bad news posted by others. For example, one participant revealed that:

This is my first pregnancy and I am very worried about my medical reports, as my doctor said that two core factors are relatively lower, considering my situation. The doctor instructed me to take pills every day during pregnancy, as my diagnosis was preabortion. I was so scared regardless of my doctor's explanation. Then, I went on to the Meetyou application and joined a chat group that featured my core indictors. Some of the conversations really horrified me. Meanwhile, when I compared my situation with theirs, I felt lucky. One said that this can never be a small thing, and her last child abortion was a lesson.

This feeling was confirmed by another participant who stated that extreme cases were frequently discussed on social media channels; however, most pregnant women do not possess serious conditions. She also added that usually women over the age of



35 years had more serious concerns, as well as those who had previously experienced child abortion.

Cross-Checking of References

All participants applied similar search strategies, often searching for the same pregnancy-related information multiple times to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the problem encountered. For example, if an answer received more likes or follows, it could be deemed more convincible. In addition, if the online description of the problem coincided with their real experiences, many participants tended to believe them. If many sources presented similar results, they were likely to be right. One participant stated:

When I searched my symptoms online, I compared the results on different sources. With social media, I can easily see the number of followers, comments, as well as the identity of the providers. For example, I visited Zhihu, a knowledge exchange social networking website, to find out the reason why I became very itchy after several months of my pregnancy. I looked at one conversation on this topic and saw a lot of answers. I can easily identify the reliable ones by comparing the number of Zan (followers). On Zhihu, some people claimed that they were experienced doctors of Obstetrics and Gynecology. I valued their information very much.

Impact of Social Media Use

In general, participants were satisfied with pregnancy-related information found via social media channels and reported a positive impact. All participants agreed that the health information they had found via online channels had greatly empowered them to make more informed decisions during pregnancy. Overall, 95% (19/20) of participants were moderately or very satisfied with the current pregnancy-related provision. For firsthand knowledge on pregnancy-related topics offered via social media, participants were much appreciative:

My mother used to tell me about her experience. However, I found that was not practical for me...Thanks to social media, I can connect with my friends who have experienced childbirth. Also, with the range in applications, I can know almost everything going on in my body during the whole pregnancy period.

In addition, 95% (19/20) of participants reported a positive impact from using social media during their pregnancy. Only 1 participant stated that no impact had occurred during pregnancy; however, all primipara participants expressed that health information found via social media was of great value for them and made their first pregnancy a smooth experience. Furthermore, they also believed that social media had created a communicative platform for allowing them to chat with other pregnant women and get timely support. This contributes to the reduction of anxiety and loneliness during pregnancy. As one participant said:

Social media not only helps me with finding pregnancy-related information, but it also makes me more confident about my pregnancy and puts me in

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13694
```

a good mood...If I get bored, I can read funny stories or play small virtual games embedded on the MeetYou application, to kill time.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study aimed to understand the social media usage of pregnant women in China, including its adoption, manifestation, and its impact. Similar to studies conducted in developed countries [12,23], this study, focused on China, the largest developing country, has also employed a qualitative approach to reveal the status quo of social media use for pregnancy-related purposes.

First, the frequency of using social media and the topics concerned are distinct between seeking and sharing behaviors among Chinese expectant mothers. This study revealed that seeking happened more frequently than sharing on social media. This may attribute to the ease of the 2 behaviors. For seeking behavior, it does not involve new knowledge or information creation. In the case of seeking pregnancy-related information, the process of information retrieval could be achieved in minutes. However, in the case of sharing, it creates new information, takes time before sharing, and has almost immediate consequences. Sharing pregnancy-related information requires efforts in organizing language as well as concerns for safety and privacy. The high utilization of social media for pregnancy-related information seeking means that pregnant women in general have insufficient knowledge about their pregnancy and have a general anxiety; this is especially the case for first-time expectant mothers. The increasing division between provision and demand of pregnancy-related information may contribute to the frequent use of social media. From the perspective of provision, this implies that there is a failure in health education for pregnant women during the new baby-born peak, when China abandoned the 1 child policy. It is worthwhile for hospitals or other medical institutions to utilize various means to engage with expectant mothers who are seeking health-related knowledge, for example, providing the latest pregnancy-related information on popular social media channels, including Weibo, WeChat, and short-video platforms, to reach a large audience of expectant mothers.

With regard to the topics, seeking behavior focused on the expectant mother and fetus, whereas the postpartum period was less concerning, which coincides mostly with previous studies on Chinese pregnant women seeking health-related information [5]. In addition, several new seeking intentions appeared, such as amusement, sex of fetus, and super-cool pregnancy-related goods. This variation may imply a change in perception of pregnancy, calling for more enjoyable pregnancy experiences rather than merely safe pregnancy. As for information sharing, the most mentioned topics were related to husband and pregnancy announcement. This is different from the sharing habits of pregnant women in the United States, where information about husbands is not on their sharing list [23]. With regard to sharing information specifically about their husbands, the most highly mentioned topic related to foolery or funny things happening during the caretaking process by the

XSL•FO RenderX

husband. This sharing could be interpreted as fun or anxiety relieving to gain peace of mind [24].

Second, pregnant women are silent on public social media channels in general but do actively engage in small online groups. Traditionally, pregnancy in Chinese culture is a personal affair and one which is shared only in closed groups. This may attribute to the general notion that pregnancy is a vulnerable state in Chinese culture [25]. In particular, pregnancy is regarded as high-risk within the first 3 months; thus, Chinese pregnant women often do not share their news openly on social media during this early stage, rather they prefer to announce their pregnancy only to close relatives and friends after their condition has become stable. Usually, the husband is the first to learn of the pregnancy, then other family members or close friends are informed. A comparative study between Australian and Chinese pregnant women showed a significant cultural difference in terms of beliefs, attitudes, barriers, and intentions toward exercise during pregnancy [26]. When considering pregnancy taboos that are deeply rooted in Chinese culture, expectant mothers in China are generally much more careful than those in Western countries [14], which leads to their lack of engagement on social media.

Previous anthropology studies have demonstrated that the sharing nature of women has been passed on through generations and historical experiences, such as childbirth, child rearing, and feeding the family and guests [27,28]. For pregnant women, their ability to share or engage in conversation is evident on social media, but in a much more private manner. This may be because of the hierarchy of trust as indicated by Fei et al [29], where closer relationships deserve more trust. Compared with random conversations with pregnant women they are not familiar with, Chinese expectant mothers prefer to share their concerns, talk about their experiences, and offer instant help within their social circle of close family members or friends who share childbearing experiences. In addition, certain pregnancy-related inquiries could be deemed intimate, such as questions relating to sexual activity during pregnancy. A possible strategy for social media-based prenatal care would be to encourage participation for sharing information by initiating public conversation and inviting opinions from leaders, for example, health professionals in renowned hospitals or people with influences in the online community. Increased participation in return brings more users and, thus, increases the market.

Third, avoiding bad news and cross-checking reference were involuntary seeking habits among Chinese pregnant women. Pregnant women have a tendency to avoid bad news presented by others online and refuse to read the details on subjects such as miscarriage or stillbirth. Two explanations for this phenomenon are fear and sensitivity. The physical changes experienced by women during pregnancy lead them to a heightened awareness of their surrounding environment. If a negative story is found, pregnant women could easily relate this to their own situation and put themselves in the mind of the storyteller; for example, a topic on nausea and vomiting during pregnancy posted on social media. The online comments could be varied relating to the etiology and corresponding treatment [30], which may involve extreme cases and bad outcomes. A

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13694
```

review of them is likely to cause discomfort and fear. This is consistent with previous studies that have explored negative stories surrounding childbirth, pregnancy, or baby care, which could result in stress, effects on everyday life, and avoidance of childbirth or pregnancy altogether [31]. Despite the internal feelings experienced when reading such stories, negative outcomes could also be related to interpersonal or service-related problems such as tension in the patient-clinician relationship or postponing a clinical encounter [32]. Risk aversion is in the nature of human beings and this also applies to pregnant women. However, there is no guarantee to keep pregnant women from experiencing any negative outcomes as the information found on social media is hard to avoid. Health professionals or supporters of social media usage during pregnancy could help expectant mothers establish scientific mindsets to reduce the negative outcomes from social media usage; for example, expectant mothers could share and discuss with their physicians.

Our study also showed that the evaluation of health information by pregnant women followed similar principles: searching, but never fully sourcing it from one place. This may be because of the chaotic nature of pregnancy-related information provided online, where no specific standards are currently implemented. As not all pregnancy-related information on social media is deemed helpful, pregnant women must be cautious in applying the knowledge they retrieve in their daily lives. With constant criticism from media about false or fake information from social media channels, pregnant women in China are quite aware of the side effects of social media. As pregnancy in Chinese culture is a critical family business rather than a personal experience, pregnancy attracts great attention either from the expectant mother or from her family [33]. There is no doubt that a small problem experienced during pregnancy could be amplified, requiring careful checking for consistency in information obtained from social media using an offline approach such as seeking health professionals' advice. Indeed, through decades of efforts in national prenatal care, the general health literacy level among pregnant women has increased significantly [34], which also makes pregnant women more confident in using online pregnancy-related information.

Finally, although reported impacts were positive, the digital divide of providing pregnancy-related information deserves practical attention. Although almost all participants in this study claimed a positive result in using social media during pregnancy, it cannot be assumed as a generalized conclusion that social media provides benefits for all pregnant women on all occasions in China. Many pregnant women with a lower level of education, poor health literacy, and unemployment do not use social media for pregnancy-related purposes. As this group of pregnant women align to the profile of expectant mothers living in rural areas of China, with access to limited medical resources and a neighborhood with all known acquaintances, they do not feel the need or desire to use social media for pregnancy-related purposes as often their relatives and friends, who have experienced childbirth, live close by and can share their experiences on a personal level. Some, in fact, may go to a hospital for the purpose of delivery only. In our study, the participants were mostly highly educated, comparatively affluent, representing the largest group of users among all

XSL•FO RenderX

pregnant women in China. The positive outcomes experienced from social media is likely to be connected with their comparable advantages in internet expertise and health information literacy [35]; this may lead to a *digital divide* in the quality of health care provision among pregnant women with different socioeconomic statuses. To maximize the benefit of social media for expectant mothers, it is worth employing marketing strategies that target pregnant women with lower literacy or lower incomes and exploring further social media–enabled online consultation methods designed specifically for these users [11].

Conclusions

This study investigated the current adoption and behavioral habits of using social media by Chinese expectant mothers when seeking and sharing pregnancy-related information. We interviewed 20 pregnant women, applying thematic analysis to summarize the major themes regarding how pregnant women use social media and the perceived impact of its use. Generally, pregnancy-related information seeking behaviors are more frequent than sharing behaviors. The top pregnancy-related information seeking and sharing topics were related to fetal development and about the expectant father during pregnancy. In terms of specific patterns, lurking, small group sharing, bad news avoidance, and cross-checking of references were identified. Most expectant mothers reported positive outcomes from social media usage for pregnancy-related purposes.

Our study had some limitations. First, all participants were healthy without any complications accompanied with their pregnancy [36], such as being overweight or having hypertension or type 2 diabetes. For pregnant women with complications, their condition may be major, making them more likely to be unsatisfied about the medical consultation received, which may lead to a different pattern of social media usage and impact. A focus on pregnant women with specific conditions and various severities may desire future exploration [37]. Second, this study concerns pregnant women in China exclusively and did not distinguish between women whose medical resources are constrained and those with abundant medical resources. Further research could explore those with medical resource deficiency and compare pregnant women in such areas with those having affluent resources. Finally, this research may have overlooked the other online seeking habits and sharing behaviors of pregnant women, which could be of critical importance; for example, their sentiments with their husbands, mothers-in-law, and other caretakers [1,15].

There is no doubt that by using social media, Chinese expectant mothers are extensively empowered to realize and seek better prenatal care. Thus, social media not only serves to provide health knowledge for pregnancy safety but also guides pregnant women during their journey to motherhood, being wary of their own situation and becoming more joyful during their pregnancy [24].

Acknowledgments

This work was partially supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (HUST number: 2018KFYYXJJ062).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Robinson J, Anders S, Novak L, Simpson C, Holroyd L, Bennett K, et al. Consumer health-related needs of pregnant women and their caregivers. JAMIA Open 2018 Jul;1(1):57-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy018] [Medline: 30474071]
- 2. Institute of Medicine, Board on Population Health and Public Health Practice, Roundtable on Health Literacy. In: Hernandez LM, editor. Health Literacy: Improving Health, Health Systems, and Health Policy Around the World: Workshop Summary. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2013.
- 3. Sayakhot P, Carolan-Olah M. Internet use by pregnant women seeking pregnancy-related information: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Mar 28;16:65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0856-5] [Medline: 27021727]
- 4. Sinclair M, Lagan B, Dolk H, McCullough JEM. An assessment of pregnant women's knowledge and use of the Internet for medication safety information and purchase. J Adv Nurs 2018 Jan;74(1):137-147. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13387] [Medline: 28880394]
- Gao L, Larsson M, Luo S. Internet use by Chinese women seeking pregnancy-related information. Midwifery 2013 Jul;29(7):730-735. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2012.07.003] [Medline: 22958935]
- Zhang W, Deng Z, Evans R, Xiang F, Ye Q, Zeng R. Social media landscape of the tertiary referral hospitals in China: observational descriptive study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Aug 9;20(8):e249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9607] [Medline: 30093370]
- 7. Kaplan AM, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. Bus Horiz 2010;53(1):59-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]
- 8. Chen Q, Xu X, Cao B, Zhang W. Social media policies as responses for social media affordances: the case of China. Gov Inf Q 2016;33(2):313-324. [doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2016.04.008]

- 9. Lupton D. The use and value of digital media for information about pregnancy and early motherhood: a focus group study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Jul 19;16(1):171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0971-3] [Medline: 27435182]
- Johnson S. 'Maternal devices', social media and the self-management of pregnancy, mothering and child health. Soc 2014;4(2):330-350. [doi: <u>10.3390/soc4020330</u>]
- 11. Pichandy JR, Jayaseelan R, Pichandy C, Rushandramani D. Usage of smartphone apps by women on their maternal life. J Mass Commun Journalism 2015;5(7):1-6. [doi: 10.4172/2165-7912.1000267]
- 12. Lupton D, Pedersen S. An Australian survey of women's use of pregnancy and parenting apps. Women Birth 2016 Aug;29(4):368-375. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2016.01.008] [Medline: 26874938]
- 13. O'Higgins A, Murphy O, Egan A, Mullaney L, Sheehan S, Turner M. The use of digital media by women using the maternity services in a developed country. Ir Med J 2014;107(10):313-315. [Medline: 25556255]
- 14. Tiidenberg K, Baym NK. Learn it, buy it, work it: intensive pregnancy on Instagram. Soc Media Soc 2017;3(1):205630511668510. [doi: 10.1177/2056305116685108]
- 15. Thomas GM, Lupton D, Pedersen S. 'The appy for a happy pappy': expectant fatherhood and pregnancy apps. J Gend Stud 2017;27(7):759-770. [doi: 10.1080/09589236.2017.1301813]
- Lee S, Nurmatov U, Nwaru B, Mukherjee M, Grant L, Pagliari C. Effectiveness of mHealth interventions for maternal, newborn and child health in low- and middle-income countries: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health 2016 Jun;6(1):010401 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7189/jogh.06.010401] [Medline: 26649177]
- van den Heuvel JF, Groenhof TK, Veerbeek JH, van Solinge WW, Lely AT, Franx A, et al. eHealth as the next-generation perinatal care: an overview of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 5;20(6):e202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9262] [Medline: 29871855]
- 18. Mack N, Woodsong C, Macqueen K, Guest G, Namey E. Qualitative research methods: a data collector's field guide. North Carolina: Family Health International; 2005.
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 20. Yanling C, Huan C, Puhong Z, Wenyi N. Study on the usage of applications for maternal and childcare and its influencing factors among pregnant women. Chinese Health Education 2018;34(06):509-514.
- 21. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 22. Majid MA, Othman M, Mohamad SF, Halim Lim SA. Achieving data saturation: evidence from a qualitative study of job satisfaction. Soc Manag Res J 2018;15(2):66. [doi: <u>10.24191/smrj.v15i2.4972</u>]
- 23. Harpel T. Pregnant women sharing pregnancy-related information on Facebook: web-based survey study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 22;20(3):e115 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7753] [Medline: 29567636]
- 24. Lupton D. 'It Just Gives Me a Bit of Peace of Mind': Australian women's use of digital media for pregnancy and early motherhood. Soc 2017;7(3):25. [doi: 10.3390/soc7030025]
- 25. Lee DT, Ngai IS, Ng MM, Lok IH, Yip AS, Chung TK. Antenatal taboos among Chinese women in Hong Kong. Midwifery 2009 Apr;25(2):104-113. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2007.01.008] [Medline: 17408821]
- Guelfi KJ, Wang C, Dimmock JA, Jackson B, Newnham JP, Yang H. A comparison of beliefs about exercise during pregnancy between Chinese and Australian pregnant women. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2015 Dec 22;15:345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-015-0734-6] [Medline: 26693690]
- 27. Belk R. Sharing: Table 1. J Consum Res 2010 Feb;36(5):715-734. [doi: 10.1086/612649]
- 28. John NA. The social logics of sharing. Commun Rev 2013;16(3):113-131. [doi: 10.1080/10714421.2013.807119]
- 29. Fei H, Fei X, Hamilton GG, Zheng W. From the Soil: the foundations of Chinese society. California: University Of California Press; 1992.
- 30. Agren A, Berg M. Tactile massage and severe nausea and vomiting during pregnancy--women's experiences. Scand J Caring Sci 2006 Jun;20(2):169-176. [doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2006.00394.x] [Medline: 16756522]
- 31. Melender HL. Experiences of fears associated with pregnancy and childbirth: a study of 329 pregnant women. Birth 2002 Jun;29(2):101-111. [doi: 10.1046/j.1523-536x.2002.00170.x] [Medline: 12051188]
- 32. El Sherif R, Pluye P, Thoër C, Rodriguez C. Reducing negative outcomes of online consumer health information: qualitative interpretive study with clinicians, librarians, and consumers. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 4;20(5):e169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9326] [Medline: 29728350]
- Zhang W, Deng Z, Hong Z, Evans R, Ma J, Zhang H. Unhappy patients are not alike: content analysis of the negative comments from China's good doctor website. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jan 25;20(1):e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8223] [Medline: 29371176]
- Liang J, Li X, Kang C, Wang Y, Kulikoff XR, Coates MM, et al. Maternal mortality ratios in 2852 Chinese counties, 1996-2015, and achievement of Millennium Development Goal 5 in China: a subnational analysis of the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2019 Jan 19;393(10168):241-252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31712-4] [Medline: 30554785]

- Daly LM, Horey D, Middleton PF, Boyle FM, Flenady V. The effect of mobile app interventions on influencing healthy maternal behavior and improving perinatal health outcomes: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Aug 9;6(8):e10012 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10012] [Medline: 30093368]
- 36. Adolfsson A, Jansson. Prototype for internet support of pregnant women and mothers with type 1 diabetes: focus group testing. Psychol Res Behav Manag 2012;5:97-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S32799] [Medline: 22915948]
- Logsdon MC, Bennett G, Crutzen R, Martin L, Eckert D, Robertson A, et al. Preferred health resources and use of social media to obtain health and depression information by adolescent mothers. J Child Adolesc Psychiatr Nurs 2014 Nov;27(4):163-168. [doi: 10.1111/jcap.12083] [Medline: 25100157]

Abbreviations

RMB: Renminbi

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 13.02.19; peer-reviewed by M Bogren, C Liang; comments to author 30.08.19; revised version received 26.09.19; accepted 22.10.19; published 04.12.19.	
<u>Please cite as:</u>	
Zhu C, Zeng R, Zhang W, Evans R, He R	
Pregnancy-Related Information Seeking and Sharing in the Social Media Era Among Expectant Mothers: Qualitative Study	
J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13694	
URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13694</u>	
doi: <u>10.2196/13694</u>	
PMID: <u>31799939</u>	

©Chengyan Zhu, Runxi Zeng, Wei Zhang, Richard Evans, Rongrong He. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 04.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Understanding the Function Constitution and Influence Factors on Communication for the WeChat Official Account of Top Tertiary Hospitals in China: Cross-Sectional Study

Lining Shen^{1,2,3}, PhD; Shimin Wang¹, MS; Wenqiang Chen¹, MS; Qiang Fu⁴, MD, PhD; Richard Evans⁵, PhD; Fuqiang Lan¹, MS; Wei Li¹, MS; Juan Xu^{1,2}, PhD; Zhiguo Zhang^{1,2}, PhD

¹School of Medicine and Health Management, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science & Technology, Wuhan, China

²Hubei Provincial Research Center for Health Technology Assessment, Wuhan, China

³Institute of Smart Health, Huazhong University of Science & Technology, Wuhan, China

⁴Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, College for Public Health and Social Justice, Saint Louis University, St Louis, MO, United States ⁵College of Engineering, Design and Physical Sciences, Brunel University London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Zhiguo Zhang, PhD School of Medicine and Health Management Tongji Medical College Huazhong University of Science & Technology No 13 Hangkong Road Wuhan, 430030 China Phone: 86 27 83692730 Email: <u>zhangzhiguo@hust.edu.cn</u>

Abstract

Background: Widespread adoption and continued developments in mobile health care technologies have led to the improved accessibility and quality of medical services. In China, WeChat, an instant messaging and social networking app released by the company Tencent, has developed a specific type of user account called WeChat official account (WOA), which is now widely adopted by hospitals in China. It enables health care providers to connect with local citizens, allowing them to, among other actions, send regular updates through mass circulation. However, with the diversity in function provided by WOA, little is known about its major constitution as well as the influence factors on the WeChat communication index (WCI). The WCI has been widely used in social media impact ranking with various types of WeChat content to fully reflect the dissemination and coverage of tweets as well as the maturity and impact of WOA.

Objective: There are two typical WOAs available to users, namely, WeChat subscription account (WSSA) and WeChat service account (WSVA). The biggest difference between them is the frequency of messages transmitted. This study aimed to explore the function constitution of WSVA adopted by top tertiary hospitals in China and the major contributors of the WCI score.

Methods: A total of 681 top tertiary hospitals were selected from the Hospital Quality Monitoring System; the WOA of every top tertiary hospital was retrieved in the WeChat app. We divided core functional items of WSVAs using categorical principal component analysis. To elicit the factors that influenced the use of WSVA, quantile regression was employed to analyze the WCI score.

Results: From the 668 WOAs identified, adoption of WSVAs (543/668, 81.3%) was more than that of WSSAs (125/668, 18.7%). Functional items of WSVAs were categorized into four clusters: (1) hospital introduction, (2) medical services, (3) visiting assistants, and (4) others. With regard to the influence factors on the WCI, the impact of the activity index of WSVA and the total visiting number of outpatients and emergencies on WCI were statistically significant and positive in all quantiles. However, the year of certification, the type of hospital, the year of public hospital reform, and the number of beds merely affected the WCI at some quantiles.

Conclusions: Our findings are considered helpful to tertiary hospitals in developing in-depth functional items that improve patient experience. The tertiary hospitals should take full advantage of times of posting and provide high-quality tweets to meet the various needs of patients.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13025) doi:10.2196/13025

KEYWORDS

WeChat official account; WeChat service account; social media; function constitution; tertiary hospital; tertiary care centers; health care; WeChat communication index; mobile health; telemedicine

Introduction

Background

Mobile technologies and internet-connected devices hold great potential for improving health care delivery and services [1,2]. According to a report released by the Business Communications Company in 2017, the global market for mobile health technologies is expected to grow at an annual rate of 28.6% [3]. Among others, social media, an important part of mobile apps, is defined by Kaplan and Haenlein [4] as "a set of Internet-based applications built on Web 2.0 ideas and technologies that allow for the creation and exchange of user-generated content." Social media has changed the nature of interaction between individuals and health care providers. It also provides a medium for the public, patients, and health care professionals to communicate on health care issues [5].

With developments in internet capabilities, such as speed and widespread connectivity, social media has continued to manifest its influence. An increasing amount of research involved in the effects of social media on the health care industry has been observed [6-8]. Some researchers have evaluated the academic influence of WeChat [9]. Gan [10] conducted a survey to explore the adoption of WeChat in Chinese public libraries. In the health care field, many researchers have investigated the application of social media within and outside hospitals (eg, hospital apps [11,12], health care apps [13], Facebook [14,15], and WeChat [16]). Others have reported interventions and assistance using social media for particular patients (eg, orthodontic patients [17] and glaucoma patients [18]). In addition, some scholars have concentrated on the use of health care apps by older Germans [19].

WeChat Official Account and WeChat Communication Index

WeChat is the most popular social media mobile app in China, providing over 1 billion daily active users with a multipurpose messaging and mobile payment app [20,21]. The app has rapidly become an integral part of people's daily life, with citizens now using it to message, share updates, find people in their local community, transfer money, and pay utility bills in real time [22]. One of the main accounts available to users on WeChat, since 2012, is the *WeChat official account (WOA)*, which is a lightweight app on WeChat and which targets celebrities, government agencies, and businesses to facilitate cooperation and promotion. WOA transmits messages, including real-time adverts to WeChat users, thus reducing propagation costs and raising brand popularity, among others. According to a report issued by iResearch in 2015, 79.2% of WeChat users subscribe to certain WOAs [23].

There are 2 typical kinds of WOAs: WeChat subscription account (WSSA) and WeChat service account (WSVA). WSSA provides a means to reach the subscribers by information

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13025

propagation. In contrast, WSVA provides entities, such as governments and businesses, with more powerful business services and user management capabilities. One of the main differences between the 2 accounts is frequency of message transmission. Specifically, WSSA can send out 1 group of messages every day, whereas WSVA can only send out 4 groups of messages every month [24].

The WeChat communication index (WCI), released in March 2017 as an integral feature of the WeChat app, provides users with the ability to measure the popularity of keywords based on their search volume and appearance within articles or shared stories [25], which is currently one of the most important media reports in China. Users can track the popularity of keywords over a 7-, 30-, or 90-day period, identifying a WCI score. The WCI score is derived from a series of complex and rigorous calculation formulas, which consist of 4 dimensions, that is, overall communication power,average dissemination power, headline communication power, and peak dissemination power [26] (for the detailed calculation formula of WCI, see Multimedia Appendix 1). Owing to its comprehensiveness, transparency, and openness, the WCI has high credibility and authority in the Chinese industry and has been widely used in various types of social media impact ranking of WeChat content. The WCI can fully reflect the dissemination and coverage of messages released by WOAs as well as the maturity and impact of WOAs, with it currently being adopted by over 20,000 institutions. Besides, WCI has been updated over time, with the latest version being 13.0 at present.

Classification and Reform for Public Hospital in China

According to the Regulation of Medical Institutions, released by the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China (NHC-PRC) [27], there are different types of medical institutions, including comprehensive hospitals (CHs), specialized hospitals (SHs), maternal and child health center, integrative traditional Chinese and western medicine hospitals, township health centers, and ethnicity hospitals. The CHs and SHs play a leading role in China in terms of the number and scale of medical services provided; the main difference between them is that the CHs have complete departments, whereas the SHs only provide one or a few medical specialties. Furthermore, hospitals in China are classified into 3 tiers according to the present Hospital Grading System: tier 1 (primary), tier 2 (secondary), and tier 3 (tertiary), each of which is further divided into 3 levels, including level 1, level 2, and level 3 [28]. The tertiary hospitals with level 3 represent the most advanced level of service provided in China. In addition, the diction tertiary hospitals with level 3 is simplified as top tertiary hospitals in some literature [29-31].

According to *Guiding Opinions on the Pilot Reform of Public Hospitals*, released by NHC-PRC [32], the hospital reform was phased in and implemented in all public hospitals in 5

XSL•FO RenderX

consecutive batches from 2010. The reform endeavored to improve the availability, accessibility, quality, and efficiency of medical services in public hospitals. The application of WSVA and the derived WCI was related to and contributed to fulfilling these purposes.

Objectives

WOAs are now seen as an essential marketing and branding tool by government agencies, celebrities, and businesses alike. Citizens in China are connecting with their favorite brands to receive real-time updates and important information, making it a crucial element of everyday life, with no exception in the health care field in China [33,34]. It is perceived as an ideal medium for implementing a *patient-centered* approach to health care. Specifically, the WOA of electrocardiogram remote consultation for township health center was established in Guandong province in China, through which timely medical service can be provided to address poor diagnostic quality in primary health institution [35]. The design and establishment of a mobile medical consumables management system based on WOA is helpful to manage medical consumable materials more conveniently and efficiently [36]. However, much remains unknown with regard to the main functional items and impact factors on the WCI for WOAs. To improve our understanding of the use of WOAs by top tertiary hospitals in China, the following 3 research questions are identified:

- 1. What was the status quo regarding the application of WOAs used by the top tertiary hospitals in China?
- 2. What was the major function constitution of WOA?
- 3. What were the factors that influence the WCI and their effects on WCI at different levels?

Methods

Sample and Data Collection

The process used for identifying the WOAs of top tertiary hospitals in China is shown in Figure 1. Specifically, 3 stages were completed, as follows, regarding the data collection of this study.

First, through interrogation of the Hospital Quality Monitoring System developed by NHC-PRC [37], 681 top tertiary, comprehensive or specialized, hospitals were identified on May 3, 2018. The hospitals were then classified into different groups based on different regions of China [38], that is, Western China (WC), Central China (CC), and Eastern China (EC), which corresponds to a gradually incremental population density and economic development level. Among the top tertiary hospitals, each of 3 research assistants had access to 227 (681 divided by 3) official websites. They collected the number of beds and total visiting number of outpatients and emergency room in 2017 from each hospital official website and confirmed whether each website of tertiary hospital presented the official quick response (QR) code of WOA. The number of beds mainly refers to the number of open beds representing the capacity of the hospital, which is counted in thousands. However, the number of authorized beds, which relates to the governmental subsidy to each public hospital, was used to replace the number of open beds when the latter could not be found. Moreover, the total visiting number of outpatients and emergencies reflects the quality of medical service to some extent. The research assistants used smartphones to search and subscribe to the WOAs of each hospital to ascertain the type and the year of certification. As a result, 543 WSVAs and 125 WSSAs were identified and verified for further analysis.

Second, 3 research assistants searched these WSVAs on the official website of the Qingbo Index, obtaining the average WCI, number of posting times, and the total number of posted tweets, for each WSVA in April 2018. Here, the average WCI was the sum of the WCI generated by each posting divided by the number of posting times in April 2018. Considering that most WSSAs have no WCI, 303 WSVAs, including 249 WSVAs adopted by tertiary CHs, were chosen for subsequent analysis.

Finally, as for 249 WAVAs, these 3 research assistants randomly chose a certain province located in each region in China and subscribed to all WSVAs in the province, and thereafter, they listed all the specific functional items of each WSVA. As some WSVAs have no specific functional items, a total of 227 WSVAs were identified from 249 WSVAs for function analysis. Then, a list of 15 functions of WSVAs was identified, following discussions and resolution of any discrepancies or disagreements. Eventually, 1 research assistant proceeded to record the functional items of the remaining WSVAs. In addition, 303 WSVAs were employed for analysis of influence factors on the WCI.



Figure 1. Process for identifying the WeChat official accounts adopted by tertiary hospitals. WCI: WeChat communication index; WSSA: WeChat subscription account; WSVA: WeChat service account.



Measure of Factors Influencing the WeChat Communication Index

We investigated 6 indicators: (1) the year of certification of the WSVA, (2) the type of hospital, (3) the year of public hospital reform involved, (4) the number of beds, (5) the total number of visiting outpatients and emergency patients, and (6) the activity index of the WSVA. The impact of these indicators on the WCI was considered. Herein, the certification of the WSVA is optional and officially authorized and approved by the Tencent company. In addition, the certification is not free. After certification is granted, more rights of the WSVA will be given

to the owner, which is helpful for the development and utilization of the functional items of the WSVA. We used the following formula to calculate the activity index of each WSVA [9], which partly represents the emphasis from the tertiary hospitals on WOA and is conducive to promoting users' stickiness:

Activity index = 0.5*ln (number of posting times a month + 1) + 0.5*ln (number of posted tweets a month + 1)

In addition, the variance inflation factor of each independent variable is less than 2. All independent variables and their descriptions and references are listed in Table 1.



Shen et al

Table 1.	Description of	variables that	at influence	WeChat	communication	indexes
Table 1.	Description of	variables the	a minuciee	weenat	communication	писле

Variable name	Description and coding	References
CertificationYear	The initial year of certification of the WSVA ^a . The coding is listed as follows: 1=never certified, 2=certification during 2014 to 2016, 3=certification in 2017, and 4=certification in 2018	Gan, 2016 [10], Xu et al, 2015 [39], and Zhang, 2015 [40]
HospitalType	The type of hospital. The coding is listed as follows: 1=specialized hospital and 2=comprehensive hospital	Huang et al, 2019 [41], Chen et al, 2009 [42], Tatro et al, 2019 [43], and Plantier et al, 2017 [44]
ReformYear	The year of public hospital reform involvement. The coding is listed as follows: 1=2010, 2=2014, 3=2015, 4=2016, and 5=2017	Lin et al, 2014 [45]
BedNumber	The number of beds per top tertiary hospital	Lin et al, 2014 [45]
TotalVistingNumber	The total number of visiting outpatients and emergency patients in 2017	Fuller et al, 2019 [46]
ActivityIndex	The activity index of the WSVA	Zhao et al, 2017 [9]

^aWSVA: WeChat service account.

Method of Visualization for Distribution of WeChat Official Accounts of Tertiary Hospitals

EChart is an open-source visualization library, implemented in JavaScript, that provides intuitive, highly customizable data visualization charts [47]. We developed a program based on EChart library, using the Java language, which demonstrated the geographical distribution of the WOAs of tertiary hospitals in China. As the map produced is 3 dimensional, the number of WOAs in each province in China is displayed together with the color depth and height of the pillars. Furthermore, the yellow, green, and blue portions of the map represent WC, CC, and EC, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

Function Coding and Categorical Principal Component Analysis

As for each functional item, we coded *1* for having such functional item in WSVA and 2 for having no such function. Then, categorical principal components analysis (CATPCA), a variable-centered method aimed to correlate variables based on the relationship between each other, was used to reduce the dimensionality while accounting for as many of the patterns of variation as possible [48,49]. In CATPCA, categorical variables are optimally quantified in the specified dimensionality. As a result, nonlinear rather than linear relationships between variables can be modeled. The CATPCA was completed using SPSS 20.0 (IBM). In addition, the function constitution presents what functions 227 WSVAs of top tertiary CHs provide and what categories these functions can be roughly divided into using CATPCA.

Quantile Regression

Quantile regression, as introduced by Koenker and Bassett, is used to extend the explanation of the conditional mean in ordinary least squares (OLS) regression to the estimation of conditional quantile functions models in which conditional quantiles of the response variable are expressed as functions of observed covariates [50-52]. One advantage of quantile regression, relative to the OLS regression, is that the quantile regression estimates are more robust against outliers in the response measurements, so as to allow a nonnormally distributed

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13025
```

XSL•FO RenderX response variable. As such, quantile regression could identify heterogeneous effects of independent variables on different conditional quantiles. Therefore, quantile regressions are gradually being recognized as a helpful technique in the case of skewed (non-normal) distribution, which can explain response measurement more accurately and comprehensively than classical methods [53]. The conditional quantile function of y_i given x_i can be specified as $Q_{\tau}(y_i | x_i) = x_i\beta_{\tau}$, with $Q_{\tau}(y_i / x_i)$ being the conditional quantile function at quantile τ , with 0 < τ <1, and β_{τ} representing the vector of parameters to be estimated [54].

Given that the mean WCI score of 303 WSVAs was 510.67 (SD 220.61) and that WCI did not satisfy normal distribution, with the P value of Shapiro-Wilk normality test being .03, we analyzed the factors influencing the WCI using quantile regression performed by R 3.5.1, which offers several packages implementing quantile regression analysis. We now have 11 covariates, plus an intercept. For each of the 12 coefficients, we plotted the 9 distinct quantile regression estimates for $\tau = (0.1,$ 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6, 0.7, 0.8, and 0.9) as the black solid curve with filled dots as well as the relevant 95% interval estimates shown by the shaded gray area. For each covariate, the point estimates may be interpreted as the impact of a 1-unit change of the covariate on the relevant conditional WCI quantile, holding other covariates fixed. Thus, each of the plots has a horizontal quantile of the WCI, or τ scale, and the vertical scale indicates the covariate effect. Meanwhile, the red solid line and dashed line in the visualization map of quantile regression analysis show the OLS point, and 95% CI estimates on the conditional mean were reported. Where the shadow area intersects with the black solid line, it suggests that the effect of the covariate on the relevant conditional WCI is not statistically significant because the coefficient corresponding to that quantile is no different from zero.

Results

Basic Statistical Information

Distribution for Top Tertiary Hospitals

Table 2. Distribution of top tertiary hospitals in different types and regions.

1	5 I 51 C		
Type of region	Specialized hospital (N=145), n (%)	Comprehensive hospital (N=536), n (%)	Total (N=681), n (%)
Western China	31 (21.4)	130 (24.3)	161 (23.6)
Central China	38 (26.2)	175 (32.6)	213 (31.3)
Eastern China	76 (52.4)	231 (43.1)	307 (45.1)

Distribution of WeChat Official Accounts Adopted by **Top Tertiary Hospitals**

A total of 668 hospitals hold WOAs, accounting for 98.0% (668/681) of the total number of top tertiary hospitals (for the list of WOAs in all provinces of China, see Multimedia Appendix 2). This shows that most top tertiary hospitals attach great importance to the role of their WOAs. In addition, we found that there are merely 397 hospitals that provide QR codes of their WOAs on the official hospital website, showing that some top tertiary hospitals are still lacking the publicity of their WOAs.

As shown in Figure 2, the EC held 307 WOAs, accounting for nearly half (307/668, 46.0%) of the total of tertiary hospitals, followed by the CC and the WC. Meanwhile, 259 WSVAs adopted by top tertiary hospitals were located in the EC, accounting for 47.7% (259/543) of the total of tertiary hospitals, followed by the CC and the WC. However, the number of WSSAs in the 3 regions is roughly the same. In total, the number of WSSAs or WSVAs adopted by CHs is more than that of SHs because there are more CHs in our dataset. Figures 3 and 4 display the spatial distribution of the sample throughout mainland China. The number of WSVAs is mainly concentrated in the CC and EC. Guangdong province holds the largest number of WSVAs.

Among the 681 tertiary hospitals, there are 145 SHs and 536

CHs. As shown in Table 2, 307 hospitals were located in EC, accounting for nearly half of the total. Obviously, there exist

geographical differences in the distribution of tertiary hospitals.

Figure 2. Distribution of WeChat official accounts operated by top tertiary hospitals.



Number of WeChat official account



Figure 3. Spatial distribution of WeChat subscription accounts operated by top tertiary hospitals.



Figure 4. Spatial distribution of WeChat service accounts operated by top tertiary hospitals.





Function Analysis for WeChat Service Account Adopted by Top Tertiary Comprehensive Hospitals in China

Function Distribution for WeChat Service Account

Table 3 summarizes the distribution of 15 functional itemsavailable in the 227 WSVAs of top tertiary hospitals in China.

The average function number of each tertiary hospital is 7.44. It can be seen that the most widely available function across the different regions of China is visiting appointment, followed by the function inquiry, suggesting that most top tertiary hospitals give priority to appointments and patient inquiries. However, the function online consultation was still underdeveloped (17/227, 7.5%) in most top tertiary hospitals.

Table 3. Function distribution of WeChat service account operated by top tertiary hospitals.

Function item	Western China (N=41), n (%)	Central China (N=71), n (%)	Eastern China (N=115), n (%)	Total (N=227), n (%)
Hospital brief	24 (59)	50 (70)	65 (56.5)	139 (61.2)
Introduction of department and experts	15 (37)	34 (48)	56 (48.7)	105 (46.3)
Information bulletin	21 (51)	29 (41)	59 (51.3)	109 (48.0)
Medical guide	18 (44)	35 (49)	65 (56.5)	118 (52.0)
Hospital navigation	16 (39)	22 (31)	47 (40.9)	85 (37.4)
Visiting appointment	36 (88)	65 (92)	98 (85.2)	199 (87.7)
Inquiry	28 (68)	53 (75)	92 (80.0)	173 (76.2)
Medical charge payment	18 (44)	36 (51)	68 (59.1)	122 (53.7)
Online consultation	3 (7)	7 (10)	7 (6.1)	17 (7.5)
Intelligent guidance	13 (32)	24 (34)	23 (20.0)	60 (26.4)
Personal information man- agement	27 (66)	51 (72)	87 (75.7)	165 (72.7)
Health education	14 (34)	28 (39)	36 (31.3)	78 (34.4)
Advice and feedback	17 (41)	31 (44)	52 (45.2)	100 (44.1)
Related links	17 (41)	35 (49)	67 (58.3)	119 (52.4)
Others	14 (34)	28 (39)	59 (51.3)	101 (44.5)

Function Categorization for WeChat Service Accounts

Owing to the insufficient employment of the function *online consultation*, we used the remaining 14 functional items for the subsequent analysis using CATPCA. Notice that the eigenvalue for a dimension should be larger than 1, when all variables are single nominal. Therefore, there was a 4-dimensional solution, accounting for 50.06% of the total variance (for more details, see Multimedia Appendix 3).

To form a clearer observation, the plane coordinate maps were chosen and drawn for dimensions 1 and 2, and dimensions 1 and 3, respectively, as shown in Figures 5 and 6. As can be seen, 14 functional items could be categorized into 4 clusters by using CATPCA, each of which refers to the adoption of functional

items of the WSVA at the same time, owing to the higher correlation within each cluster. The name of each cluster was refined based on the functional items in the respective cluster.

As shown in Figure 5, cluster 1 is located in quadrant I with the name of visiting assistance, which contains visiting guide, advice and feedback, and intelligent guidance. Cluster 2 is referred to as medical services, covering inquiry, personal information management, visiting appointment, medical charge payment, and related links, all of which are present in quadrant IV. Cluster 3, named hospital introduction, is in quadrant II, which includes the hospital brief, introduction of department and expert, information bulletin, hospital navigation, and health education. Cluster 4 is in quadrant III, which merely holds 1 functional item *others*, as shown in Figure 6.



Figure 5. Component loadings of 14 functional items of WeChat service accounts between dimensions 1 and 2.



Figure 6. Component loadings of 14 functional items of WeChat service accounts between dimensions 1 and 3.



Influence Factors on the WeChat Communication Index

Descriptive Statistics for Influence Factors

The tertiary hospitals with the 10 highest WCIs are shown in Table 4. As seen, 6 of these WSVAs of tertiary hospitals were certificated in 2018. There are 8 CHs and 2 SHs. In terms of regional distribution, 9 tertiary hospitals are located in EC and CC, except 1, which is based in WC. Except from the 2 hospitals with low activity index, which are affiliated to Sun Yat-sen

University, the remaining 8 hospitals have a high activity index. The *West China Hospital, Sichuan University* ranks highest, far ahead of other tertiary hospitals.

The basic information for independent variables is presented in Table 5. It is observed that most WSVAs operated by top tertiary hospitals were certificated in 2017 or 2018, making up 94.4% (287/303) of the total. CHs comprised 79.5% (241/303) of the total. Most hospitals (163/303, 53.8%) are located in EC. As of 2017, all tertiary hospitals were involved in public hospital reform.



Table 4. Top 10 WeChat communication indexes of top tertiary hospitals.

No	Name of top tertiary hospital	Average WCI ^a	Certification year	Hospital type	Region type	Activity index
1	West China Hospital, Sichuan University	1233.49	2014	CH ^b	WC ^c	2.004
2	Hunan Children's Hospital	1099.34	2018	SH^{d}	CC ^e	2.087
3	The First Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University	1074.46	2018	СН	EC^{f}	1.498
4	Guangzhou Women and Children's Medical Center	1026.92	2017	SH	EC	1.966
5	Tongji Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science & Technology	1012.37	2017	СН	CC	2.047
6	Qilu Hospital of Shandong University	996.97	2018	СН	EC	2.124
7	The Third Affiliated Hospital, Sun Yat-sen University	991.86	2017	СН	EC	0.693
8	The First People's Hospital of Foshan	981.47	2018	СН	EC	2.465
9	Yichang Central People's Hospital	951.52	2018	СН	CC	2.538
10	Shanghai Ninth People's Hospital, School of Medicine, Shanghai JiaoTong University	949.48	2018	СН	EC	2.159

^aWCI: WeChat communication index.

^bCH: comprehensive hospital.

^cWC: Western China.

^dSH: specialized hospital.

^eCC: Central China.

^fEC: Eastern China.

Table 5. Basic information for independent variables influencing WeChat communication index.

Variable name	Values				
CertificationYear (N=303), n (%)					
Never certificated (reference category)	7 (2.3)				
Certification during 2014 to 2016 (CertificationYear1)	9 (3.0)				
Certification in 2017 (CertificationYear2)	173 (57.1)				
Certification in 2018 (CertificationYear3)	114 (37.6)				
HospitalType (N=303), n (%)					
Specialized hospital (reference category)	62 (20.5)				
Comprehensive hospital (HospitalType1)	241(79.5)				
ReformYear (N=303), n (%)					
Involved in 2010 (reference category)	51 (16.8)				
Involved in 2014 (ReformYear1)	30 (9.9)				
Involved in 2015 (ReformYear2)	74 (24.4)				
Involved in 2016 (ReformYear3)	54 (17.8)				
Involved since 2017 (ReformYear4)	94 (31.0)				
BedNumber, mean (SD)	1.83 (1.06)				
TotalVisitingNumber, mean (SD)	153.09 (116.43)				
ActivityIndex, mean (SD)	1.99 (0.45)				

Quantile Regression Analysis for WeChat Communication Index

A summary of the quantile regression results for WCI, with each quantile in 0.10 increments, is shown in Figure 7 (for more detailed results of quantile regression, see Multimedia Appendix

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13025
```

XSL•FO RenderX 4). The dummy variables, including the year of certification of WSVA, the type of tertiary hospital, and the year of public hospital reform involved, were generated. In general, it can be seen that all dummy variables did not have a statistically significant effect on WCI, except the type of tertiary hospital,

although there were some significant effects on WCI at some quantiles.

Specifically, we took uncertification as the reference category of the year of certification for WSVA. The impact of the different years of certification on WCI was seen as positive, but insignificant, with a relatively less fluctuation across the different quantiles of WCI. CHs are seen to have a negative impact on WCI, in comparison with SHs, with a downward trend as the quantile increases. In essence, the higher the WCI was, the bigger the effect difference on WCI between CH and SH had. Namely, SHs place more emphasis on WSVA than CHs. It should also be noted that the type of tertiary hospital has a significant impact on WCI after 0.20 quantile and beyond. The impact of the year of the public hospital reform involved on WCI takes 2010 as the reference category; the impact on WCI is generally positive in different periods because one of the purposes of the reform in public hospitals is to benefit the population by the wide adoption of various technologies. However, the effects remain statistically significant at some quantiles, although the impact varies across the different quantiles of WCI.

In addition, there are 3 continuous variables affecting the WCI. Specifically, the effect of the number of beds on WCI is positive for all quantiles but only significant from the 0.70 quantile to the 0.90 quantile, although the effect can no longer be found in the median level. Moreover, the total visiting number of outpatients and emergency patients and the activity index of WSVA both have a significant positive effect on WCI for all quantiles. Figure 7 also shows an overall upward trend, that is, the higher the quantile of WCI, the higher the positive effect of activity index on WCI, whereas the effect of the total visiting number of outpatients and emergencies shows fluctuation.

Figure 7. Ordinary least squares and quantile regression estimates for WeChat communication index model. Vertical axes show coefficient estimates of named explanatory variable; horizontal axes depict the quantiles of the WeChat communication index variable; the red plain line and the red dashed line represent the ordinary least squares point and 95% CI estimates on the conditional mean, respectively; the black dashed lines represent conditional quantile estimates.



Discussion

Principal Findings

This study presented the distribution of WOAs operated by top tertiary hospitals in China and 4 clusters of the functional items of WSVA using CATPCA. The factors influencing the WCI were analyzed using quantile regression. The effects of the total number of visiting outpatients and emergency patients and the activity index of WSVA on the WCI are significant and positive for all quantiles. However, 3 dummy variables are seen to have no significant effect on the WCI.

First, the WOAs, especially WSVAs, have been widely adopted in top tertiary hospitals in China, indicating that they are supportive and aligned to the improvement of the efficiency for medical services and facilitating health care. To the best of the authors' knowledge, one of the main reasons for this is that mobile reading and WeChat reading have already been included in the Chinese national reading category. According to the recent Chinese National Reading Survey, released by the China Press and Publication Research Institute, the proportion of WeChat reading has grown rapidly [55,56]. In addition, it seems that there are more provinces in the WC, but the number of WOAs is generally rare. However, after normalizing the number of WOAs operated by top tertiary hospitals targeted to every province in China, it can be found that there was no significant difference in WSSA adoption between the normalized value sets from WC, CC, and EC, with the P values more than .05 calculated using the Kruskal-Wallis test. All these results demonstrate that the wide application and mutual reference of mobile health technologies between tertiary hospitals make adoption of WOA similar.

In addition, there may still be some drawbacks in the application and promotion of WOAs. The QR code of the WOAs should be provided to facilitate patient scanning on the official website of the tertiary hospital. Some tertiary hospitals have not yet paid much attention to the application of WOAs, with uncreated or uncertified accounts or insufficient functions being provided. However, the WOAs will be an important part of communication if the hospital wants to improve its quality of medical services and influential power. In light of the trend reflected by the year of certification, the application of WOA to top tertiary hospitals is still in its infancy, which should be developed with more functional items and provide better services after certification.

Second, more functional items in the WSVAs should be developed to meet the various demands of patients. Currently, functional items of WSVAs are varied; the focus is generally on visiting appointments and inquiries, although there are 4 clusters of functional items observed. Another worthwhile function is medical charge payments. With the widespread popularity of mobile payment in China, online payments for medical services will undoubtedly be applied. However, with respect to security interface settings of WSVAs, there are still certain risks that have yet to be ameliorated.

Furthermore, it should be noted that interactive functions for medical services should be given more attention for development, although WOAs have increasingly integrated

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13025
```

some functional items from mobile health care apps. With the improved expectation for medical service, some interactive functional items between doctors and patients should be strengthened or developed to further alleviate "the difficulties and high costs of obtaining medical services in China" and meet the higher medical service demands. The development of the functional item online consultation in the WSVA will further support patient-centered medical services. Certainly, there is a need for mechanisms to ensure that doctors participate in online counseling services in the context of the shortage of medical resources in China, for example, involving this service in the performance of doctors. The widespread application of such functions will alleviate the difficulty in seeing a doctor to some extent. This is consistent with Healthy China 2030 Planning [57], Guidance on actively promoting the "Internet +" initiative [58], Opinions on Promoting the Development of "Internet + Medicine" [59], and other relevant policies released by the State Council of China, which suggest speeding up the construction of smart hospitals to further facilitate patients.

Third, the top tertiary hospitals should post high-quality messages as much as possible to expand the influence of WOAs operated by top tertiary hospitals. As shown from the results of the above quantile regression analysis, the total number of visiting outpatients and emergency patients and activity index can promote the communication power of WSVAs. Therefore, it is necessary to take full advantage of the 4 times of posting, optimize the column settings of tweets, and improve the quality and originality of tweets that meet the demands of patients, which is similar to the operation of other social media in the health care field [60,61]. In addition, consumer health vocabulary and health literacy should also be developed and improved to help patients better understand messages [62-64], which will enhance the attractiveness and the degree of activity on WOAs. However, there are some top tertiary hospitals that have no WOAs. Accordingly, it is necessary for those hospitals without WOAs to set up a department or form a team to maintain the system and post high-quality messages. Therefore, all these measures will provide a valuable means to expand the influence of WSVAs and, in return, improve the patient experience, which is consistent with the aim of the reform of health care system in China.

In addition, CHs should also strengthen the construction of WSVAs, which typically apply to large tertiary hospitals at higher quantiles. First, the influence of the type of hospital on the WCI is statistically significant at the higher quantiles, suggesting that the type of tertiary hospital is a sensitive indicator of high WCI scores. From the above results, tertiary hospitals with different WCI scores should take the significant influence factors in the corresponding quantile regression into consideration to quickly improve the influence of their WSVAs. Second, the number of beds represents the size of the hospital. As the size of tertiary hospitals in China continues to expand, its impact on WCI decreases after the 0.70 quantile, the reason for which might be that the hospital staff might be busy and have no motivation to improve the impact of the WCI. Furthermore, tertiary hospitals with a large numbers of beds should take advantage of their size and develop chronic disease management and health education aimed at specific populations

XSL•FO

[65] by introducing new health care technologies using WSVAs, which will ease the conflicts between doctors and patients and establish a harmonious relationship between them.

Limitations

Several potential limitations are worth noticing, and further research will be optimized on the basis of these. First, some bias might exist because we merely collected data from tertiary hospitals. Therefore, the results may not be truly representative of all hospitals in China. In addition, the hospital name and the name of WOA do not correspond in some instances, which means that some WOAs could not be found. Obviously, this affects the accuracy of the distribution of WOAs in China.

Second, the advantage of the CATPCA method is that it can grapple with various types of data, but these 14 functional items are summarized based on a certain amount of investigation and discussion, which might have effects on the categorization of the functional items of WSVA.

Finally, this study collected number of open beds as well as the total number of outpatients and emergency patients in 2017 from the homepages of tertiary hospitals. The time-lag updating of these data might lead to the bias of the result of quantile regression analysis. There also exists the different time of posting messages with the limitations of 4 times, but the relevant data were captured by Qingbo Index system at a fixed date, which may influence the result of the quantile regression analysis. Future research might be started based on panel data.

Conclusions

In this study, the distribution of WOAs was presented. CATPCA was conducted with the data source from the WeChat app using

SPSS 20.0. Quantile regression was used to explore and understand the factors that influenced the WCI, performed by the R 3.5.1. Obviously, quantile regression analysis can provide more abundant information by describing the different effects of independent variables on the dependent variable at different quantiles, which ensure better accuracy and robustness of the regression results. On the basis of the aforementioned results and discussion, some valuable and reasonable results for WOAs, including function constitution and influence factors on the WCI, were identified. With the widespread application of WOA, it is reasonable to believe that WOAs will be an important medium in the future to publicize hospitals and enhance the accessibility of medical care for patients, thereby improving patient experiences.

In addition, the results of this study are useful for tertiary hospitals for a better understanding of how to update the function of their WSVAs and improve the impact of their WCI. Specifically, this study's results of the function constitution of WOAs will primarily help hospitals learn from each other. Subsequently, the hospitals, in partnership with the developer of WOAs, constantly optimize the interface and enrich the functional items of WOAs so as to form a complete, convenient, and integrated medical service for patients, which will alleviate the pressure of patients queuing for medical treatment. Meanwhile, on the basis of exploring the main factors influencing the communication of WOAs, the hospital may take targeted improvement measures to further enhance the timeliness, richness, and readability of health care-related information, which will further enlarge the hospital's publicity on social media, cultivate positive usage intention, and increase the content experiences.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Fundamental Research Funds for the Central Universities (No. 2017WKYXQY005). The authors would like to thank all anonymous reviewers for their valuable comments and input to this research.

Authors' Contributions

LS, the first author, designed and conducted the study into the factors influencing the WCI using quantile regression. SW, the second author, contributed to the research by helping with data collection and function analysis of WSVAs. WC, the third author, contributed to the distribution of WOAs operated by top tertiary hospitals in China. QF, the fourth author, contributed to the statistical analysis. RE, the fifth author, contributed to the language polishing and proofreading. JX, the eighth author, reviewed the draft. ZZ, the corresponding author, designed the study and finalized the draft. All other authors contributed to the preparation and approval of the final accepted version.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 The detailed calculation formula of WeChat communication index. [DOC File, 35 KB - jmir v21i12e13025 app1.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 2 The list of WeChat official accounts in all provinces of China. [DOC File, 67 KB - jmir v21i12e13025 app2.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Component loadings of 14 function items of WeChat service accounts. [DOC File, 44 KB - jmir_v21i12e13025_app3.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 4 The detailed results of quantile regression. [DOC File, 46 KB - jmir_v21i12e13025_app4.doc]

References

- 1. Fiordelli M, Diviani N, Schulz PJ. Mapping mHealth research: a decade of evolution. J Med Internet Res 2013 May 21;15(5):e95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2430] [Medline: 23697600]
- Shen L, Xiong B, Li W, Lan F, Evans R, Zhang W. Visualizing collaboration characteristics and topic burst on international mobile health research: bibliometric analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jun 5;6(6):e135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9581] [Medline: 29871851]
- BCC Research. 2017. Mobile Health (mHealth) Technologies and Global Markets URL: <u>https://www.bccresearch.com/</u> market-research/healthcare/mobile-health-technologies-report-hlc162b.html [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743eATKnJ]
- 4. Kaplan A, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. Bus Horiz 2010 Jan;53(1):59-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]
- Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- 6. Coursaris C, van Osch W. A scientometric analysis of social media research (2004–2011). Scientometrics 2014 Aug 24;101(1):357-380 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11192-014-1399-z]
- 7. Dubois E, Gaffney D. The multiple facets of influence: identifying political influentials and opinion leaders on Twitter. Am Behav Sci 2014;58(10):1260-1277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0002764214527088]
- 8. Erdt M, Nagarajan A, Sin S, Theng Y. Altmetrics: an analysis of the state-of-the-art in measuring research impact on social media. Scientometrics 2016;109(2):1117-1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11192-016-2077-0]
- 9. Zhao R, Wei M. Academic impact evaluation of Wechat in view of social media perspective. Scientometrics 2017;112(3):1777-1791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11192-017-2439-2]
- 10. Gan C. A survey of WeChat application in Chinese public libraries. Libr Hi Tech 2016;34(4):625-638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1108/lht-06-2016-0068]
- 11. Liu H, Lee W, Sun Y, Fen J, Chen T, Chou L, et al. Hospital-owned apps in Taiwan: nationwide survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 16;6(1):e22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8636] [Medline: 29339347]
- 12. Lu C, Hu Y, Xie J, Fu Q, Leigh I, Governor S, et al. The use of mobile health applications to improve patient experience: cross-sectional study in Chinese public hospitals. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 May 23;6(5):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9145] [Medline: 29792290]
- 13. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among us mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 4;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- 14. Kordzadeh N, Young DK. Exploring hospitals' use of Facebook: thematic analysis. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 16;20(5):e190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9549] [Medline: 29769173]
- 15. Glover M, Khalilzadeh O, Choy G, Prabhakar AM, Pandharipande PV, Gazelle GS. Hospital evaluations by social media: a comparative analysis of Facebook ratings among performance outliers. J Gen Intern Med 2015 Oct;30(10):1440-1446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3236-3] [Medline: 25749881]
- Liu J, Zheng X, Chai S, Lei M, Feng Z, Zhang X, et al. Effects of using WeChat-assisted perioperative care instructions for parents of pediatric patients undergoing day surgery for herniorrhaphy. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Aug;101(8):1433-1438. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2018.02.010</u>] [Medline: <u>29499997</u>]
- Li X, Xu Z, Tang N, Ye C, Zhu X, Zhou T, et al. Effect of intervention using a messaging app on compliance and duration of treatment in orthodontic patients. Clin Oral Investig 2016 Nov;20(8):1849-1859. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00784-015-1662-6</u>] [Medline: <u>26631059</u>]
- Dai M, Xu J, Lin J, Wang Z, Huang W, Huang J. Willingness to use mobile health in glaucoma patients. Telemed J E Health 2017 Oct;23(10):822-827. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2016.0254</u>] [Medline: <u>28418773</u>]
- Rasche P, Wille M, Bröhl C, Theis S, Schäfer K, Knobe M, et al. Prevalence of health app use among older adults in Germany: national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 23;6(1):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8619] [Medline: 29362211]
- 20. Wikipedia. WeChat URL: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/WeChat</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743f71hpf]
- 21. TechNode. WeChat Now Has Over 1 Billion Active Monthly Users Worldwide URL: <u>https://technode.com/2018/03/05/</u> wechat-1-billion-users/ [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743fNUfj5]

- 22. CNN International. WeChat: The Chinese Chat App Stealing Weibo's Thunder URL: <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2014/02/27/</u> <u>business/tencent-wechat-unseats-sina-weibo/</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 746ZPNdjz]
- 23. iResearch. Report on Media Value of WeChat Official Account URL: <u>http://wreport.iresearch.cn/uploadfiles/reports/635703238888906250.pdf</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743ISScdE]
- 24. Micro-channel public platform. WeChat Official Accounts Platform URL: <u>https://mp.weixin.qq.com/</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 746Zc4smo]
- 25. Qingbo big data. URL: http://www.gsdata.cn [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743fm5WGb]
- 26. Qingbo big data. WeChat Communication Index URL: <u>http://www.gsdata.cn/site/usage</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743gRsWB8]
- 27. Ministry of health of the People's Republic of China. Rules for the implementation of the regulations governing the medical institutions. 1994 URL: <u>http://www.moh.gov.cn/mohzcfgs/pgz/200804/18303.shtml</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743h3H8U7]
- 28. Law Lib. Hospital Grade Management Method URL: <u>http://www.law-lib.com/law/law_view.asp?id=6145</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743glv0ff]
- Li L, Ji L, Guo X, Ji Q, Gu W, Zhi X, et al. Prevalence of microvascular diseases among tertiary care Chinese with early versus late onset of type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Complications 2015;29(1):32-37. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2014.08.010</u>] [Medline: <u>25256018</u>]
- 30. Lu J, Weng J, Gu W, Guo X, Yang W, Zou D, et al. Non-pharmaceutical factors for poor glycemic control in 13,970 Chinese women with drug-treated type 2 diabetes: a cross-sectional survey in 77 tertiary hospitals in four Chinese cities. Patient Prefer Adherence 2014;8:1161-1167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S66915] [Medline: 25210445]
- Ma X, Chen X, Wang J, Lyman GH, Qu Z, Ma W, et al. Evolving healthcare quality in top tertiary general hospitals in China during the China Healthcare Reform (2010-2012) from the perspective of inpatient mortality. PLoS One 2015;10(12):e0140568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140568] [Medline: 26624005]
- 32. China Government Network. Guidance on the Pilot Reform of Public Hospitals URL: <u>http://www.gov.cn/ztzl/ygzt/</u> <u>content_1661148.htm</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743ioleML]
- 33. Lan F, Shen L, Li W, Yang X. Analysis on the use of WeChat official account of the main class-three hospitals. J Med Inform 2017;38(3):59-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1673-6036.2017.003.013]
- 34. Chen Y, Lin H, Yao Y. Study on the Building and Current Operation of the WeChat official account of tertiary public hospitals. Journal of Medical informatics 2018;39(12):60-65. [doi: <u>10.3969/j.issn.1673-6036.2018.12.03</u>]
- 35. Tang Z, Peng S, Zhang S, Chi L, Chen J, Zhang X, et al. Framing of electrocardiogram remote consultation system based on internet instant messaging tool. Chin J Crit Care 2018;38(3):260-262. [doi: <u>10.3969/j.issn.1002-1949.2018.03.019</u>]
- Gao Z, Xu H, Zhang S. [Development of Mobile Medical Consumable Material Management System]. Zhongguo Yi Liao Qi Xie Za Zhi 2018 Jan 30;42(1):38-40. [doi: <u>10.3969/j.issn.1671-7104.2018.01.010</u>] [Medline: <u>29862744</u>]
- 37. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Health quality monitoring system. 2018 URL: <u>https://www.hqms.org.cn/usp/roster/index.jsp</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 7446Vd1g7]
- 38. National Health and Family Planning Commission. 2016 China Health and Family Planning Statistics Yearbook. Beijing: China Union Medical College Press; 2016.
- 39. Xu J, Kang Q, Song Z, Clarke CP. Applications of mobile social media: WeChat among academic libraries in China. J Acad Librariansh 2015 Jan;41(1):21-30. [doi: 10.1016/j.acalib.2014.10.012]
- 40. Zhang P. Research on Strategy of Model Innovation of WeChat Marketing. In: Proceedings of the 2015 Joint International Mechanical, Electronic and Information Technology Conference. 2015 Presented at: JIMET'15; December 18-20, 2015; Chongqing, China p. 474-477. [doi: 10.2991/jimet-15.2015.88]
- 41. Huang Y, Wang W, Zhao H, Du Y, Liu J, He F, et al. Quality assessment of interpretative commenting and competency comparison of comment providers in China. Clin Chem Lab Med 2019 May 27;57(6):832-837. [doi: <u>10.1515/cclm-2018-0877</u>] [Medline: <u>30332389</u>]
- Chen C, Lin C, Wang S, Hou T. A study of job stress, stress coping strategies, and job satisfaction for nurses working in middle-level hospital operating rooms. J Nurs Res 2009 Sep;17(3):199-211. [doi: <u>10.1097/JNR.0b013e3181b2557b</u>] [Medline: <u>19738448</u>]
- 43. Tatro JM, Schroder LK, Molitor BA, Parker ED, Cole PA. Injury mechanism, epidemiology, and Hospital trends of scapula fractures: a 10-year retrospective study of the National Trauma Data Bank. Injury 2019 Feb;50(2):376-381. [doi: 10.1016/j.injury.2019.01.017] [Medline: 30661668]
- 44. Plantier M, Havet N, Durand T, Caquot N, Amaz C, Biron P, et al. Does adoption of electronic health records improve the quality of care management in France? Results from the French e-SI (PREPS-SIPS) study. Int J Med Inform 2017 Jun;102:156-165. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.04.002] [Medline: 28495344]
- 45. Lin K, Ni R, Shao Y, Wu S, Ma X. Relative Efficiency of Third-Grade General Public Hospitals in Zhejiang Province, China. In: Proceedings of the 2014 Tenth International Conference on Computational Intelligence and Security. 2014 Presented at: CIS'14; November 15-16, 2014; Kunming, China. [doi: <u>10.1109/cis.2014.124</u>]

- 46. Fuller AE, Brown NM, Grado L, Oyeku SO, Gross RS. Material hardships and health care utilization among low-income children with special health care needs. Acad Pediatr 2019;19(7):733-739. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.acap.2019.01.009</u>] [Medline: <u>30853575</u>]
- 47. Apache ECharts. 2018. URL: <u>http://echarts.baidu.com/</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743ilVGnC]
- 48. Linting M, van der Kooij A. Nonlinear principal components analysis with CATPCA: a tutorial. J Pers Assess 2012;94(1):12-25. [doi: 10.1080/00223891.2011.627965] [Medline: 22176263]
- 49. IBM. Categorical Principal Components Analysis (CATPCA) URL: <u>https://www.ibm.com/support/knowledgecenter/en/</u> SSLVMB_24.0.0/spss/categories/idh_cpca.html [accessed 2018-11-13] [WebCite Cache ID 743inV8V2]
- 50. Koenker R, Hallock KF. Quantile Regression. J Econ Perspect 2001 Nov;15(4):143-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1257/jep.15.4.143]
- 51. Angrist J, Pischke JS. Mostly Harmless Econometrics: An Empiricist's Companion. Princeton: Princeton University Press; 2009.
- 52. Koenker R, Bassett G. Regression Quantiles. Econometrica 1978 Jan;46(1):33-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2307/1913643]
- 53. Waldmann E. Quantile regression: a short story on how and why. Stat Model 2018;18(3-4):203-218 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1471082X18759142]
- 54. Euler M, Krishna V, Schwarze S, Siregar H, Qaim M. Oil palm adoption, household welfare, and nutrition among smallholder farmers in Indonesia. World Dev 2017;93:219-235. [doi: 10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.12.019]
- 55. Sina reading. 2018. The 15th National National Reading Survey Report URL: <u>http://book.sina.com.cn/news/whxw/</u>2018-04-18/doc-ifzihnep4386289.shtml [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743k7Yhe1]
- 56. People's daily. Chinese Civilization Network. The 15th National National Reading Survey Report was released URL: <u>http://www.wenming.cn/djw/djw2016sy/djw2016whdg/201804/t20180419_4660402.shtml</u> [accessed 2018-11-20] [WebCite Cache ID 743kYcMGH]
- 57. China Government Network. 2016. The Central Committee of the Communist Party of China issued the 'Outline for the 'Healthy China 2030' Plan' URL: <u>http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2016-10/25/content_5124174.htm</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 746WBbv5S]
- 58. China Government Network. State Council's guidance on actively promoting the 'Internet +' action URL: <u>http://www.gov.cn/</u> zhengce/content/2015-07/04/content_10002.htm [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 746WFVg3d]
- 59. China Government Network. General Office of the State Council Advice on promoting the development of 'Internet + medical health' URL: <u>http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/content/2018-04/28/content_5286645.htm</u> [accessed 2018-11-22] [WebCite Cache ID 746WKWDFV]
- 60. Trivedi R, Shah G, Bangar A. Use of Facebook by local health departments: usage, public health themes, and maintenance. Front Public Health Serv Syst Res 2015;4(5):1-6. [doi: <u>10.13023/FPHSSR.0405.01</u>]
- 61. Neiger BL, Thackeray R, Burton SH, Thackeray CR, Reese JH. Use of twitter among local health departments: an analysis of information sharing, engagement, and action. J Med Internet Res 2013 Aug 19;15(8):e177 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2775] [Medline: 23958635]
- 62. Lewis D, Eysenbach G, Kukafka R, Stavri PZ, Jimison HB. Consumer Health Informatics: Informing Consumers And Improving Health Care. New York: Springer; 2005.
- Valdez RS, Holden RJ, Novak LL, Veinot TC. Transforming consumer health informatics through a patient work framework: connecting patients to context. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Jan;22(1):2-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002826] [Medline: 25125685]
- 64. Yan Q, Xiang F, Shi X, Zhu Q. Implementation of knowledge management in Chinese hospitals. Curr Med Sci 2018 Apr;38(2):372-378. [doi: 10.1007/s11596-018-1888-z] [Medline: 30074199]
- 65. Richter JP, Muhlestein DB, Wilks CE. Social media: how hospitals use it, and opportunities for future use. J Healthc Manag 2014;59(6):447-460. [Medline: 25647968]

Abbreviations

CATPCA: categorical principal components analysis CC: Central China CH: comprehensive hospital EC: Eastern China NHC-PRC: National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China OLS: ordinary least squares QR: quick response SH: specialized hospital WC: Western China WCI: WeChat communication index WOA: WeChat official account WSSA: WeChat subscription account

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13025
```

WSVA: WeChat service account

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 05.12.18; peer-reviewed by A Kulanthaivel, P Schulz, WC Lee; comments to author 14.04.19; revised version received 27.06.19; accepted 27.09.19; published 09.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Shen L, Wang S, Chen W, Fu Q, Evans R, Lan F, Li W, Xu J, Zhang Z Understanding the Function Constitution and Influence Factors on Communication for the WeChat Official Account of Top Tertiary Hospitals in China: Cross-Sectional Study

J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13025 URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13025</u> doi:<u>10.2196/13025</u> PMID:<u>31815674</u>

©Lining Shen, Shimin Wang, Wenqiang Chen, Qiang Fu, Richard Evans, Fuqiang Lan, Wei Li, Juan Xu, Zhiguo Zhang. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 09.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Criteria to Measure Social Media Value in Health Care Settings: Narrative Literature Review

Chukwuma Ukoha¹, BSc, MSc, MIS; Andrew Stranieri¹, BA, GradDipCompSci, AdvDipCompSci, PhD

Centre for Informatics and Applied Optimisation, Federation University Australia, Ballarat, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Chukwuma Ukoha, BSc, MSc, MIS Centre for Informatics and Applied Optimisation Federation University Australia Level 1, T Building University Drive Ballarat, VIC 3350 Australia Phone: 61 353276435 Email: c.ukoha@federation.edu.au

Abstract

Background: With the growing use of social media in health care settings, there is a need to measure outcomes resulting from its use to ensure continuous performance improvement. Despite the need for measurement, a unified approach for measuring the value of social media used in health care remains elusive.

Objective: This study aimed to elucidate how the value of social media in health care settings can be ascertained and to taxonomically identify steps and techniques in social media measurement from a review of relevant literature.

Methods: A total of 65 relevant articles drawn from 341 articles on the subject of measuring social media in health care settings were qualitatively analyzed and synthesized. The articles were selected from the literature from diverse disciplines including business, information systems, medical informatics, and medicine.

Results: The review of the literature showed different levels and focus of analysis when measuring the value of social media in health care settings. It equally showed that there are various metrics for measurement, levels of measurement, approaches to measurement, and scales of measurement. Each may be relevant, depending on the use case of social media in health care.

Conclusions: A comprehensive yardstick is required to simplify the measurement of outcomes resulting from the use of social media in health care. At the moment, there is neither a consensus on what indicators to measure nor on how to measure them. We hope that this review is used as a starting point to create a comprehensive measurement criterion for social media used in health care.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14684) doi:10.2196/14684

KEYWORDS

social media; information systems; health care; value; measurement; criteria

Introduction

Background

The use of social media in health care settings is increasingly becoming prevalent [1,2]. Social media used in health care settings can broadly be grouped into 2 categories—general purpose Web-based social networks and online health communities [3]. General purpose Web-based social networks include most Web 2.0 websites and applications such as Facebook and Twitter that enable users to create and share content or to participate in social networking. Online health

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14684
```

RenderX

communities, on the contrary, are special purpose platforms such as PatientsLikeMe and MedHelp that provide a means for health care professionals, patients, and their families to share information about an illness, seek and offer support, and connect with others in similar circumstances.

Social media refers to internet-based applications that enable the creation and exchange of user-generated content [4]. It is a complex combination of sociology and technology [5]. Social media facilitates social interaction and allows the creation of virtual communities. In terms of technology, social media is underpinned by Web 2.0 technology that enables people to

create, share, collaborate, and communicate. Use cases of social media in health care can broadly be categorized into 4 major types, namely professional to professional (P2P), professional to consumer (P2C), consumer to consumer (C2C), and consumer to professional (C2P) [3]. P2C represents a situation in which a health care professional provides support to a health consumer; C2P represents health consumers who provide support to health care professionals by way of contributing their experience and opinions; and P2P and C2C represent interactions and exchange of support among members of the respective Health 2.0 user groups.

Social media has become a tool of choice for members of the medical profession who see it as a medium to connect, engage, and influence their audience [6]. In many organizations, social media serves both as a medium to communicate with customers and as a medium to communicate internally [7]. Thus, it has become a medium for the health care community to network, develop their skills, and forge their identity [8]. Health care professionals leverage social media to build, reinforce, and maintain professional relationships with colleagues and to share information [9]. Health care providers use social media to promote their organizations, amplify word-of-mouth effects, build strong relationships with both existing and potential customers, improve brand awareness, and increase volume of traffic to website [10,11]. Patients can also access information relevant to their condition through social media [1]. Such medical information may include links to health resources or images or videos with relevant health content [12].

Objectives

Research to date on the value of social media in health care settings has largely focused on the use and value of the application to health care providers [1,13-15] and patients [16-21]. Fewer studies have focused on measuring the value of social media in health care settings. As health care becomes more patient centered and outcome driven, stakeholders need to be able to report and measure outcomes arising from social media use [2,22,23]. In health care settings, there is considerable interest in exploring how best to ascertain value derived from social media initiatives [2,22-24]. However, measuring the value of social media is a conundrum [5,7,25,26]. The value of an information system (IS) is often linked with its ability to satisfy specific needs [27]. Some have argued that the value of social media has to do with its effectiveness as a marketing tool and suggest that metrics such as hit rate and follower numbers that measure the marketing reach be used to measure social media value [28,29]. However, in health care settings, the use of marketing-based metrics alone may not be sufficient to measure the value of social media, given that, in health care, ensuring better health outcomes for patients rather than attracting more patients is the paramount objective. Furthermore, the impact of social media on patient outcomes can be subtle; thus, it may not be measurable using traditional IS metrics alone [30].

Although relevant literature reveals a kaleidoscope of approaches that can potentially be used to measure the value of social media in health care settings, there is little consensus on what indicators to measure or on how to measure them [15,31]. To clarify this complex phenomenon, we explored different approaches to measure the value of social media in health care settings proposed in previous studies. We deployed a taxonomic approach to elucidate the measurement criteria and to present them in a way that illustrates common features. This allowed the classification of diverse measurement approaches according to a predetermined system, with the resulting catalog being used to provide a conceptual framework for discussion, analysis, and information retrieval. Taxonomies related to social media use have been identified to be critical to understanding the state of the art in research in this area [32].

Many measurement criteria of health care social media identified in the relatively few literatures on the subject are confusing and difficult to apply [33]. To date, however, there is no scholarly paper (known to the authors) that reviews the current knowledge, including substantive findings, and theoretical and methodological contributions in this area. This paper fills this gap. By reviewing and elucidating current measurement criteria propounded in the relevant literature, we hoped to contribute to a better understanding of the value of social media in health care.

The aim of this study was to elucidate how the value of social media in health care settings can be ascertained and to taxonomically identify the steps and techniques in social media measurement from a review of relevant literature.

Methods

Overview

To address the objective of this study, we sought to understand existing research [34] from a theoretical and contextual point of view [35]. Although it is not a requirement for narrative review articles to list the types of databases and methodological approaches used to conduct the review or the evaluation criteria for inclusion of retrieved articles [35], we provided this information to ensure methodological transparency.

Repositories containing the full text of relevant research articles were first identified. Search terms described below were constructed and applied to retrieve articles from the repositories. Retrieved articles were culled so that only the articles that were specifically related to measuring value in health care, ISs, and social media deployments remained. We then performed an analysis of the retrieved articles guided by Stevens' [36] measurement typologies also described in the following section. Figure 1 illustrates the activities performed to arrive at a taxonomy and apply the taxonomy to published studies related to determining value from social media use in health care settings.



Figure 1. Sequence of activities in taxonomy development.



Search Criteria

We included articles in journals, conference proceedings, and reports published in English that specifically or broadly discussed measuring ISs value, measuring social media value, and measuring value in health care. Only papers published since 2009 on measuring the value of social media in health care settings were included. Given that the literature on social media use in health care settings is scattered across repositories, the search was not limited to specific databases. Rather, relevant literature was collected from a variety of online databases, that spanned IS, medical informatics, medical and business journals, and conference proceedings and reports [37]. Databases searched included ScienceDirect, Scopus, BMJ, BioMed Central, PubMed Central, PLOS, AIS Library, and ACM Library and Google Scholar as a general database. Furthermore, the Google search engine was used to identify other articles that might not have been accessible in the online databases. To identify published articles pertaining to measuring the value of social media in health care, academic databases were probed using multiple search terms. All searches included the following terms: "value," "social media," "health care" and at least one word comparable to "measurement." This ensured that the review covered substantial relevant literature on the subject and was not confined to one research methodology, one set of journals, or one geographic region [38].

Article Selection and Analysis

The titles and abstracts of 341 articles were reviewed. After sorting through the articles, papers merely discussing the definitions and types of social media, without suggesting the value or measurement criteria, were deemed not relevant to the review, and thus were excluded. At the end, only relevant publications (n=65) were included in the review.

The intent of reviewing the relevant literature on the subject was not to conduct a systematic review; rather, the intention was to enhance the quality of the arguments and assertions presented herein by reviewing a sufficient amount of the literature [39], given that suitable measurement criteria for social media have to be underpinned by relevant theory and embedded in the literature [40].

A narrative review of the published literature that describes measurement criteria for health care social media was conducted after selecting relevant articles. A narrative review approach ensured that the narrative thread would not be lost in the restrictive rules of a systematic review and that issues that require the wider scoping of a narrative review are addressed [41]. While qualitatively analyzing and synthesizing relevant literature, a conscious effort was made to avoid simply repeating ideas presented in the reviewed articles without elucidating how they apply to the subject matter. Thus, this study makes an academic contribution by synthesizing the available material and offering a scholarly analysis [34].

Guideline for Analysis

The phenomenological nature of value and its various perspectives and viewpoints make it challenging to develop suitable measurement criteria for evaluation [42,43]. This study tries to make sense of the different approaches and to make relevant recommendations accordingly. As is usually the case with narrative review articles, this paper does not adopt methodological approaches that would answer specific quantitative questions [35]. Rather, it uses qualitative methods, using headings and subheadings, to discuss the phenomenon that is the focus of the paper being reviewed [35].

To have a consistent basis to compare and contrast the distinct yardsticks used in the measurement of health care social media, a taxonomic approach was adopted, using Stevens' [36] measurement typologies as a guideline. Stevens introduced a theory of levels of measurement in 1946. Level of measurement or scale of measure is a classification that describes the nature of information within the values assigned to variables. According to Stevens, all measurements could be conducted using at least one of four different types of scales called *nominal*, *ordinal*, *interval*, and *ratio* [36]. His measurements cales allow for both qualitative and quantitative measurements and are widely used by researchers. In this study, we used the scales as a framework for taxonomizing the various measurement criteria for social media in health care. This taxonomy would enable a better understanding of how health care providers can measure their social media.

Results

Taxonomy and Criteria

A variety of approaches for measuring the value of social media in health care settings were identified in this review. We have argued that the choice of measurement yardstick depends on the context, that is, the objective that underpins a health care provider's use of social media.

The following sections present the conclusions reached based on the literature reviewed. Table 1 illustrates the taxonomy derived from relevant literature. It describes the content and characteristics of relevant literature, including the objectives, focus of analysis, period of analysis, measure of value adopted, and the type of value identified. It also presents how Stevens' [36] measurement typologies can facilitate a better understanding of the existing measurement criteria for health care social media.



Table 1. Taxonomy derived from the literature on measuring health care social media value.

Taxonomic class	Cate	egory A ^a	Cate	egory B ^a	Cate	egory C ^a	Cate	egory D ^a
Type of article	• • •	IS ^b or IT ^c Business Medical eHealth	•	Peer reviewed Non-peer reviewed	d			
Type of value	•	IS value Health value	•	Utilitarian value Hedonic value	•	Instrumental value Intrinsic value	•	Contextual value
Focus of analysis	•	Value of health care social media and the need for its measurement	•	Measurement of outcomes re- sulting from the use of health care social media	•	Deriving health information from measuring social me- dia data	_	
Period of analysis	•	Pre-social media adoption	•	Post-social media adoption	_		_	
Measurement metric	•	Monetary value	•	Non-monetary value	_		_	
Measurement level	•	Micro Aggregate	• • • •	International National Industry Organizational Individual	_		_	
Measurement approach	•	Quantitative ^e	•	Qualitative ^f	•	Mixed method ^g	_	
Measurement scale	•	Nominal ^h	•	Ordinal ⁱ	•	Interval ^j	•	Ratio ^k

^aCategory, as used here, refers to alternatives within a taxonomic class, in no particular order.

^bIS: information systems.

^cIT: information technology.

^dSome taxonomic classes have fewer categories, hence the empty cells.

^eQuantitative measurement involves the use of an interval or a ratio scale.

^fQualitative measurement involves the use of a nominal or an ordinal scale.

^gThe mixed method approach involves the use of both quantitative and qualitative methods.

^hA nominal scale is used for classification or grouping (eg, = or \neq).

ⁱAn ordinal scale is used for comparison and sorting (eg, > or <).

^jAn interval scale is used to determine difference or affinity (eg, + or –).

^kA ratio scale is used to determine magnitude or amount (eg, x or /).

Type of Article

The analysis of the literature shows that existing literature relevant to the value of social media in health care settings broadly fits into 2 categories: peer reviewed sources and non-peer reviewed sources. Peer reviewed sources outnumbered non-peer reviewed sources.

Furthermore, the literature on the subject can be categorized based on the discipline toward which the publication leans. Some of the relevant literature were published in IS publications, business publications, medical publications, and medical informatics publications, which discuss issues that intersect IS and health care. Most articles cited in this review are from medical informatics publications.

Type of Value

XSL∙F() RenderX

The concept of *value* is multidimensional and its conceptualization depends on the perspective used [44]. When measuring the value of social media in health care, the dilemma

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14684
```

is often what metric to use, whether to use metrics that measure IS value or health value, whether to use metrics that measure utilitarian or hedonic value, or whether to measure instrumental or intrinsic value, as outlined below. The type of value to measure depends on the context of use.

Information System Value and Health Value

IS researchers view value as the worth, desirability, or utility of IS artifacts [43], as happy endings in terms of system impact [45] or as the positive outcome that is created through user-system interaction [46]. In health care, however, value has been conceptualized as *the health outcomes achieved per dollar spent* [30,47,48] or as patient outcomes divided by total costs for providing care [49]. Value in health care is evidenced by the outcomes achieved [30]. However, some health care outcomes may not be immediate, and thus, they may be difficult to measure.

A good measurement criterion for health care social media should reflect its technological features and health care context.

As an IS artifact, social media needs to be evaluated based on outcomes achieved after user-system interaction. However, given that the context is health care, these outcomes should be wellness. On the basis of this argument, the value of health care social media seems to be the positive outcomes it delivers to the intended recipient after interaction with the application.

Utilitarian and Hedonic Value

Effective social media platforms are *sticky*, meaning that users visit them frequently and also spend a fair amount of time on them [50]. Continuing to use a social networking platform indicates that the user must experience some benefits or satisfaction from it [51]. After signing up for social media, the value of the services becomes a factor in their continued usage. Users must receive some perceived value or benefits for using the network, otherwise there would not be any motivation for users to continue using the network after joining [51]. The value users derive from using health care social media could reflect hedonic or utilitarian value.

IS value can be analyzed based on the type of value the IS artifact being studied delivers, that is, whether they provide hedonic or utilitarian value [43]. Hedonic value has to do with a product's entertainment-related or emotional benefits, whereas utilitarian value has to do with what the product does or what it allows the user to do [52].

The literature reviewed suggests that users usually do not use health care social media for entertainment. Rather, they use the application because they see it as a medium to complete some necessary tasks, such as accessing or sharing health-related information. People that use social media for health-related activities have a clear intent for using the application; thus, they deliberately choose media that will satisfy given needs in terms of knowledge, social interactions, companionship, diversion, or escape [53]. In other words, social media is used in health care because of its functional value. Functional value represents value derived from effective task fulfillment [44].

Instrumental and Intrinsic Value

The value of social media in health care settings can be considered either instrumental or intrinsic. Instrumental value is the property that allows something to serve as a means toward getting something else that is valuable [54]. A growing number of the literature [1,13,15] discuss how using social media in health care settings could yield value. Such uses can be said to be instrumentally valuable given that it serves as a means toward getting value. From this perspective, using social media in health care is not valuable in itself but valuable because it leads to other benefits. One way of measuring the instrumental value of social media in health care settings is to evaluate its capacity to develop engaged audiences in health promotion settings [24]. In this example, the use of social media is not valuable in itself, but a means to achieving the desired value which is an engaged audience.

On the contrary, intrinsic value is the property that makes something valuable in itself, as opposed to being a means to something else [54]. From this philosophical point of view, social media can be said to have intrinsic value in health care settings. In health care settings, the intrinsic value of social

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14684
```

media can be measured by evaluating its impact on health care [22,55,56].

Contextual Value

Value does not automatically arise from the properties of an IS, rather it results from the interaction of a user and a given IS in a particular context [44]. In IS research, technology is always linked with context. An IS such as health care social media can be used in different contexts; therefore, it is important to clarify what the use context is to ascertain its value [31]. To understand the value of an IS, it is essential to identify what is important to its users, that is, the value that users desire [44]. Clarifying the use case of an IS when studying its value yields clearer results [43,57,58]. That said, in health care, stakeholders often have numerous mutually exclusive objectives such as access to services, high quality, cost containment, safety, convenience, patient-centeredness, and satisfaction [30].

Although users' objectives and contexts of use are relevant to understanding the value of an IS, many IS value research studies have failed to address the impact of contextual factors [58]. The literature exploring this subject as it relates to the use of social media in health care is scarce. However, a few studies [1,13,15] explored why social media is used in health care and identified 9 categories of reasons: public health promotion, organizational promotion, professional networking, professional education, patient care/education, research, peer support, crowdsourcing health initiatives, and harnessing patients' feedback. This information is important because understanding what users are ultimately trying to accomplish is a prerequisite to defining the appropriate measurement criteria and which measurement tools to use [26].

Focus of Analysis

IS value research broadly fits into 3 categories based on their objectives: improving design, making IS yield consistent benefits, and creating and deriving value from IS [43]. The first category of IS value research seeks to improve design and implementation by elucidating users' motivations, the impact of IS on behavior, and how IS creates utility for users. The second type of IS value research investigates how to make expensive IS investments yield effective and consistent benefits; thus, they explore the impact of IS on the employees, processes, customers, and society. The third research strand, among other things, is concerned with how value is created and derived by users. Most literature reviewed for this study falls into the second category, as most explored the impact of social media on health care providers [6], processes [59], patients [60], and the wider society, for example, in public health surveillance [61,62].

Broadly speaking, on the basis of the focus of their analysis, 3 streams of the literature on measuring the value of social media in health care emerged from the review. The first stream described the potential value of social media in health care [6] and the need to measure the outcomes of social media initiatives [15,31]. The second stream focused on how to measure the value of social media used in health care settings based on outcomes resulting from its use [22,55,63,64]. Finally, the third stream

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```
presents how data derived from social media can be used for measurements relevant to health care [65-67].

Period of Analysis

IS value research can also be categorized based on the period of an IS artifact's life cycle that is the focus of analysis. To this end, there are 2 types of IS value research: preadoption IS value research and postadoption IS value research [43,58,68].

Preadoption

Preadoption IS value research helps decision makers to understand which of the available IS options will most likely yield desired results. Going by the literature reviewed in this study, less or no research studies have focused on the preadoption of social media in health care, probably because trying to measure upfront does not yield much [5]. This suggests that many health care providers are adopting and using social media without knowing whether they are choosing the correct option for their context. If that is the case, then more research needs to be conducted in the area of preadoption of health care social media to help decision makers to understand which of the available social media options (eg, general purpose social media vs online health community) will most likely yield desired results.

Postadoption

Postadoption IS value research investigates the extent to which IS investments have actually yielded the desired value [43,58,68]. Virtually, all the literature reviewed in this study fits into this category. Most of the available literature examined the value of social media to health care providers that are already using the application. Postadoption value research is important because it yields information that allows health care providers to determine whether they have derived value from their social media initiatives.

Metric for Measurement

IS value can be appraised either by using monetary measures or by using nonmonetary measures [43]. Although many advocates that metrics that measure monetary value be used to measure the value of social media in health care, however, metrics that measure nonmonetary value are equally relevant given that a substantial part of IS value is nonfinancial or intangible in nature [58]. Furthermore, health care providers are often not profit seeking; thus, the value of the use of social media in health care may not be effectively measured using only monetary metrics.

Monetary

When used for organizational promotion, the impact of social media on a health care practice can be determined using metrics that measure return-on-investment (ROI), that is, the gain or loss generated on the application relative to the amount of money invested [2,28]. Similarly, one can also measure the value of social media in health care by examining how social media compares with alternative mediums of professional medical education using cost analysis, that is, by comparing the ratio of benefits over costs [69]. Furthermore, medical literature [30,48,49] proposes that value be measured in health care settings based on outcomes achieved per money spent. This

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14684
```

suggests that the value of social media in health care may be measured based on outcomes achieved from using the application per amount of money spent on social media initiatives. However, there is a need to distinguish between performance, which is measured by means of monetary indicators, and its (potentially different) values in terms of the subjective interpretation of (different) stakeholders [58]. In other words, the subjective nonmonetary perceptions of stakeholders are an element of value.

Nonmonetary

There are a wide variety of nonmonetary yardsticks that can be used to measure the value of social media in health care. For example, when used for public health promotion, the value of social media in health care can be measured based on its impact [70] and reliability [61]. Furthermore, the value of social media in health care can be analyzed in terms of its ability to capture patient-generated information [62] or based on health outcomes resulting from the use of the application [56,60,71] Other nonmonetary yardsticks for appraising the value of social media in health care include measuring its leveragability to drive health improvement [72,73], appraising the extent to which it increases outreach [74], or evaluating it based on the extent to which it facilitates audience engagement [24].

Measurement Level

The value of social media in health care can be measured either at the micro or at the aggregate level. Alternatively, the value of social media in health care can be measured at the international, national, industry, organizational, or individual levels.

Micro and Aggregate Level

When measuring the value of social media, it is important to measure at different levels to see big picture results and see more granular results [26]. The value of social media can be appraised at the micro or aggregate levels [43].

Analysis of value at the micro level focuses on the *individual* or *organization*, whereas analysis at the aggregate level focuses on the *network* or *society* [43]. For instance, at the individual level, users' perspectives are paramount when exploring the value of social media use [15,27]. At the organizational level, on the contrary, it is a bit more complicated to establish the value of social media use; thus, a taxonomic approach is recommended to facilitate a better understanding of the phenomenon [32]. Finally, at the societal level, the measurement complexity is more pronounced; thus, it is very difficult to measure the impact of digital artifacts such as social media on the society at large [75].

International, National, Industry, Organizational, and Individual Level

IS value research evaluates the worth, desirability, or utility of artifacts at various levels, such as the society, firm, organizational network, and individuals [43]. The value of an IS can be analyzed at the international, national, industry, organizational, and individual level [76]. Thus, the value of social media in health care can be analyzed at the international, national, industry, organizational, and individual level.

At the international level, the value of social media in health care can be viewed in terms of the ability of the application to support the creation of online health communities that allow health care providers from around the world to interact, without the limitation of geographical location [9]. At the national level, the value of social media in health care can be measured by, for example, evaluating the social media performance of hospitals in a particular country [77]. At the industry level, there are different plausible ways to explore the value of social media in health care, for example, by measuring to see whether hospitals' social media ratings reflect their actual level of competence [66], by measuring to determine the value of social media to the medical profession [6], or by evaluating the potential benefits of using social media to facilitate continuing medical education[69,73]. At the organizational level, the value of social media can be understood in terms of its value in organizations [32], by, among other approaches, measuring the ROI on the application [2]. Finally, at the individual level, the value of social media in health care can be measured by, among other options, exploring the motivations and consequences of its use [27] or by comparing outcomes with the value users desire from the application [15].

Measurement Approach

When measuring the value of social media in health care, it is important that the right measurement approach is chosen. There are various approaches to measurement that are available for measuring the value of social media in health care. There is the choice of using a qualitative, quantitative, or mixed method approach.

Quantitative

The quantitative approach to measurement is the systematic empirical investigation of observable phenomena via statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques [78]. Most relevant theoretical and empirical research papers appear to be concerned with quantifying impact in health care settings. At the basic level, social media impact can be measured by quantifying the number of hits, page views, visits, return visits, unique visitors, cost per unique visitor, time spent, and interaction rate [79]. Some of the other quantitative methods suggested in the literature reviewed include calculating to determine the ROI of social media [2,28], determining the online influence of a health care provider that uses social media by calculating their Klout score [80], and using a cost-benefit analysis to determine the value of social media in health care [69]. Another quantitative metric for measuring value in health care settings is to calculate health outcomes achieved per dollar spent [30,48,49].

Qualitative

XSL•FO

The qualitative approach to measurement is a systematic method of observation that is used to gather nonnumerical data [78]. This type of research identifies meanings, concepts, definitions, characteristics, metaphors, symbols, and description of things and not to their counts or measures [78]. The qualitative method is particularly relevant to measuring the value of social media in health care because its value may manifest in ways that quantitative metrics alone would be unable to capture. Intangible value created by IS artifacts is as important as other types of IS

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14684
```

value [58]; therefore, relying solely on traditional measures such as hit counts or other quantitative methods to measure IS value may yield less accurate results than if some level of qualitative analysis is incorporated in the measurement process [40]. Some of the qualitative methods that have been used to explore the value of social media in health care include sentiment analysis [65], taxonomy [3,15], and analysis based on uses and gratification [53].

Mixed Method

An alternative to both quantitative and qualitative methods is the mixed method research approach. Mixed method is a research approach that uses multiple methods—more than one research method or more than one worldview [81]. It may combine quantitative and qualitative research methods in the same research inquiry to develop rich insights into various phenomena of interest that cannot be fully understood using only one research method [81].

The review of relevant literature suggests that mixed method is relevant to investigating the value of social media in health care settings, especially in instances where one method alone may not effectively capture the outcomes resulting from using the application. For instance, using mixed method to research the value of social media in health care allows one to measure the level of audience engagement, determine what resonates with the audience, and changes resulting from behavioral and educational interventions [72]. Some of the ways mixed method has been used in health care social media research include combining social network analysis with content analysis [82], combining content, thematic, and comparative analysis [83], and combining experiment with qualitative analysis [84].

Measurement Scale

Beyond choosing whether to adopt a qualitative or quantitative approach to measurement, those seeking to measure the value of social media in health care would need to choose the specific scale of measurement to adopt. According to Stevens [36], all types of measurement can fit into at least one of the following measurement typologies: nominal, ordinal, interval, and ratio.

Nominal Scale

The nominal scale is an unrestricted assignment of numerals, words, or letters to events or objects simply as labels or unique identifiers to indicate distinct types [36]. The nominal scale is regarded as the most basic form of measurement and is used to categorize and analyze data in many disciplines. When measuring the value of an IS, the scale level of a value item does not necessarily have to be *cardinal* when it is difficult or even impossible to find reliable numerical data [58]; hence, an alternative yardstick such as the nominal scale could be used.

The literature review revealed that the nominal scale is relevant to appraising social media in health care, as it is used for categorization. For instance, health care social media can be grouped into 2 broad categories, namely, general purpose Web-based social networks and online health communities [3]. general purpose Web-based social networks are websites such as Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and YouTube that enable mass collaboration. Although these platforms are not designed

specifically for patients and health care–related communication, their features and functionalities make them suitable for health-related communication [3]. online health communities, on the contrary, are social media websites such as MedHelp and PatientsLikeMe, which are specifically designed for health-related communication [3]. Going further, the use context of social media in health care can be categorized into 4 broad categories based on participants: P2P, P2C, C2C, and C2P [3] At the granular level, the uses of social media in health care can be grouped into 9 contexts of use: professional networking, harnessing patients' feedback, public health promotion, professional education, patient education, organizational promotion, crowdfunding health initiatives, research, and peer support [15].

The advantage of using a nominal scale is that it can help with classification of types of social media used in health care and the context in which they are used. It can be used to determine mode; for example, the most used type of social media (eg, general purpose or online health communities or Facebook, Twitter, and others) in health care. From reviewing relevant literature, it is apparent that general purpose social media are some of the most used type of social media in health care. The general-purpose social media most referred to in the literature are Facebook [56,66,83] and Twitter [24,65,82].

Ordinal Scale

Ordinal level of measurement is the second of the 4 measurement scales. It is used to measure a categorical, statistical data type where the variables have natural, ordered categories but the distance between the categories is not known [36]. Ordinal scales are relevant to measuring health care social media in situations where there is a need to compare phenomena. For example, anecdotal evidence suggests that some health care providers use social media more effectively than others [31]. Going by that assertion, health care providers that use social media can be ranked based on how effectively they use the application: highly effective user, effective user, and ineffective user. This kind of ranking allows data regarding health care social media to be sorted; however, it does not allow the relative degree of difference between them to be determined. On the basis of the ranking, one can tell that one user is more effective than the other at using social media; however, the extent to which a highly effective user is better than an effective user cannot be described. Similarly, patients' perceived quality of care could be measured based on Twitter data [65]. Speculating based on that assertion, patients' perceived quality of care can be ranked based on quality level, for example, high quality, medium quality, and low quality. The median can be determined in this way, but the average cannot. The rankings indicate the patient's perceived quality of care received but does not provide sufficient information to determine the exact difference in quality between the various categories.

Interval Scale

The interval scale is a *quantitative* measurement scale in which the order and the exact differences between the values are known, but that does not imply the existence of a *true* zero point [36]. The interval scale allows for the degree of difference between items to be determined, but not the ratio

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14684
```

between them, for instance, date when measured from an arbitrary epoch such as anno Domini (AD) or before Christ (BC. Using these scales, it may be misleading to say that one value is twice or some other proportion greater than another.

Interval scales are relevant for measuring social media in health care. Any measurement criteria that include time or date, technically include an interval scale, since hours and days are all interval measurements. For instance, interval scales can be used to identify optimal times for engagement and to tailor strategy so the right content is posted at the right time (when the audience is most active) and the best days of the week. Through Facebook insights, one can view their followers' daily activity over the past week and can go further and narrow it down to individual days to see how engagement shifts by the hour. By being able to see how audience engagement with their social media changes over a designated period, one can determine which periods are best for bringing in new fans. Using an interval scale to measure social media, one could find that evenings are better than mornings or that weekends are better than weekdays when it comes to audience engagement. That would allow for the degree of difference between these periods to be known but not the ratio between them, given that terms such as weekdays, weekends, mornings, and evenings are ambiguous.

Ratio Scale

The ratio scale is a quantitative variable measurement scale that allows comparisons to be made between intervals or differences. Ratio scales are used to estimate *the ratio between a magnitude of a continuous quantity and a unit magnitude of the same kind* [85]. Unlike the interval scale, the ratio scale possesses a nonarbitrary zero value; thus, most measurements in the physical sciences fall under this category.

Ratio scales are widely used in social media measurement, and most social media metrics are examples of the ratio scale. For instance, ratio scales allow social media managers to measure the number of page views, visits, return visits, unique visitors, cost per unique visitor, time spent, and interaction rate [79]. Furthermore, when measuring social media performance, ratio scales can be used to calculate the impressions-to-interactions ratio [28]. Ratio scales can be used to determine how much (magnitude and amount) of something. In health care settings, for instance, the magnitude of a research recruiter's influence can be determined by calculating their Klout score [80]. Influence in this context refers to a measure of a user's ability to drive action from their posts or social interactions. In financial terms, ratio scales can be used to determine the amount of financial benefit a health care provider derives from using social media. For instance, a health care provider can use the ratio scale to calculate the ROI of social media to their practice [2,28].

Ratio scales can also be used to determine how many (count) of something. For example, ratio scales can be used to determine how many health care providers use social media or a particular type of social media [86,87].

Discussion

Summary of Findings

The following taxonomic categories were created based on the literature reviewed: type of article, type of value, period of analysis, measurement metric, measurement level, measurement approach, and measurement scale. From the review of relevant literature, we found the following:

- 1. Articles on social media value can be derived from IS/information technology (IT), business, medical, or medical informatics literature.
- 2. Value to measure when appraising health care social media could be IS/IT value or health value, utilitarian or hedonic value, instrumental or intrinsic value, or contextual value.
- 3. The value of social media in health care can be analyzed pre-social media adoption or post-social media adoption.
- 4. Metrics used to evaluate the value of social media in health care can measure for either monetary or nonmonetary value.
- 5. In health care settings, the value of social media can be measured at the micro or aggregate level. Alternatively, it can be measured at the international, national, industry, organizational, and individual levels.
- 6. The measurement approaches for measuring social media value in health care settings can be quantitative, qualitative, or mixed method in nature.
- 7. One or more of the following measurement criteria is used in the measurement of health care social media: nominal scale, ordinal scale, interval scale, and ratio scale.

Significance of Study

Research aimed at developing measurement criteria for health care social media is important for both theory and practice. From a theoretical standpoint, investigating the measurement criteria of social media supports the accumulation of knowledge in this emerging domain [40]. From a practice point of view, identifying useful measures of social media outcomes enables managers to evaluate the consequences of social media initiatives vis-à-vis the objectives, enabling them to manage social media strategies from positions that are less reactionary and more grounded in established knowledge or theory [40].

Although there are many papers that describe plausible yardsticks for measuring the value of social media in health care settings, this paper is the first to provide a taxonomic review that covers the types of literature on the subject, the period of analysis, and the focus of analysis. It also covers types of value, metrics for measurement, levels of measurement, approaches to measurement, and scales of measurement.

This study aimed to resolve the dilemma regarding what to measure and how to measure by reviewing and synthesizing relevant literature on the subject. This review paper constructively informs stakeholders about what has been learned, what patterns have emerged from the literature, and how research builds upon previous findings [38]. The findings of this study will help health care managers to ascertain the role of social media in health care and to design social media strategies that can yield tangible results.

This study lays the foundation for the development of a framework to help health care providers measure the outcomes of their social media initiatives by explaining current metrics, yardsticks, and tools for measuring its effectiveness. This is critical because without metrics derived from a theoretical understanding of the underlying processes and objectives, the suitability of the framework may be contestable [40].

Limitations

This work aimed to analyze the literature related to social media value to solicit a taxonomy of ways in which value has been conceptualized. The literature reviewed was not intended to be a systematic review, and it is possible that a wider review may have identified articles that suggest additional concepts for the taxonomy.

Conclusions

This review confirmed a diversity of criteria for measuring social media in health care settings. The most important findings being that users are not sure what types of value to look for, what scale of measurement to deploy, what type of measurement to conduct, when to measure, what metrics to use, and whether to measure at the micro or macro level.

At this time, there is no definitive literature or comprehensive set of methods for measuring the short-, medium-, and long-term impacts of social media on health care quality and safety [72]. Addressing these gaps through more (robust) research is likely to uncover simplified criteria for measuring all types of social media and all contexts of use. Furthermore, as social media is only a tool among several digital technologies that are used in health care, it could be difficult to tease out the specific contributions of social media. However, this seeming challenge of measurement should not be perceived as an obstacle but rather an opportunity to design and develop suitable yardsticks for measuring the contributions of social media in health care settings.

As social media continues to permeate health care, having the measures available and in place to monitor and evaluate outcomes over time will help ensure the effective use of social media in health care improvement.

Recommendations

At the start of a health care social media initiative, a comprehensive measurement approach should be put in place. This will ensure that attention is focused on the objectives and enable the verifiability of outcomes [26]. Users need to clearly define what success will look like [26]. Articulating the objective will help define the appropriate metric to adopt and which measurement tools to use [26]. A starting point could be to understand what others are doing with social media and compare strategies [5].

To determine an appropriate measurement criterion for health care social media, there is a need to define the objectives of the social media initiative, the target audience, and the outcome desired from a social media campaign [72]. Thus, when choosing a measurement framework, it is important to define the metrics to capture in terms of the use cases, importance, and specific objectives [26].



We recommend that this review be used as a starting point to further elucidate and create appropriate measurement criteria for health care social media. Relevant steps in this direction would include the identification of value items with which the respective value can be measured and the identification and development of methodologies that allow measurement [58].

Authors' Contributions

CU conceptualized the study and wrote the manuscript. AS reviewed the manuscript and provided scholarly advice. CU and AS jointly addressed the comments of the Editor and Reviewers.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Ventola CL. Social media and health care professionals: benefits, risks, and best practices. Pharm Ther 2014 Jul;39(7):491-520 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25083128]
- 2. Gould DJ, Nazarian S. Social media return on investment: how much is it worth to my practice? Aesthet Surg J 2018 Apr 6;38(5):565-574. [doi: 10.1093/asj/sjx152] [Medline: 29092030]
- 3. Kordzadeh N. Social media in health care. In: Contemporary Consumer Health Informatics. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2016:101-123.
- 4. Kaplan AM, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. Bus Horiz 2010;53(1):59-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]
- 5. Nair M. Understanding and measuring the value of social media. J Corp Acct Fin 2011;22(3):45-51. [doi: 10.1002/jcaf.20674]
- 6. Ruddiman A. The value of social media to you and the profession. BC Med J 2016;58(9):497 [FREE Full text]
- Knight S. Finding Knowledge. 2011. Measuring 'value' in 3rd Sector Social Media URL: <u>http://sjgknight.com/</u> <u>finding-knowledge/2014/09/measuring-value-in-3rd-sector-social-media/</u> [accessed 2019-10-22]
- 8. Stones SR, Smith J. Social media supremacy: a force of change paving the way for the next generation of healthcare and research. Evid Based Nurs 2018 Jan;21(1):2-3. [doi: 10.1136/eb-2017-102846] [Medline: 29146765]
- Rolls K, Hansen M, Jackson D, Elliott D. How health care professionals use social media to create virtual communities: an integrative review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 16;18(6):e166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5312] [Medline: 27328967]
- Razak S, Latip N. The relationship between various factors in the use of social media and its influences on brand performance: A proposal of conceptual framework. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Seminar on Entrepreneurship and Business. 2015 Presented at: ISEB'15; October 17, 2015; Penang, Malaysia p. 336-345.
- 11. McCann M, Barlow A. Use and measurement of social media for SMEs. J Small Bus Ente Dev 2015;22(2):273-287. [doi: 10.1108/jsbed-08-2012-0096]
- 12. Rumsfeld JS, Brooks SC, Aufderheide TP, Leary M, Bradley SM, Nkonde-Price C, American Heart Association Emergency Cardiovascular Care Committee, Council on Cardiopulmonary, Critical Care, Perioperative and Resuscitation, Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, Council on Epidemiology and Prevention. Use of mobile devices, social media, and crowdsourcing as digital strategies to improve emergency cardiovascular care: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation 2016 Aug 23;134(8):e87-108. [doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000428] [Medline: 27334603]
- 13. Panahi S, Watson J, Partridge H. Social media and physicians: exploring the benefits and challenges. Health Informatics J 2016 Jun;22(2):99-112. [doi: 10.1177/1460458214540907] [Medline: 25038200]
- Campbell L, Evans Y, Pumper M, Moreno MA. Social media use by physicians: a qualitative study of the new frontier of medicine. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Jul 15;16:91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0327-y] [Medline: 27418201]
- 15. Ukoha C. On the Value of Healthcare Social Media: Exploring Users' Perspectives. In: Proceedings of the Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems. 2018 Presented at: PACIS'18; June 26-30, 2018; Yokohama, Japan.
- 16. Colineau N, Paris C. Talking about your health to strangers: understanding the use of online social networks by patients. New Rev Hypermedia Multimed 2010;16(1-2):141-160. [doi: <u>10.1080/13614568.2010.496131</u>]
- Adams SA. Blog-based applications and health information: two case studies that illustrate important questions for Consumer Health Informatics (CHI) research. Int J Med Inform 2010 Jun;79(6):e89-e96. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.06.009</u>] [Medline: <u>18701344</u>]
- 18. Kim K, Kwon N. Profile of e-patients: analysis of their cancer information-seeking from a national survey. J Health Commun 2010 Oct;15(7):712-733. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2010.514031] [Medline: 21104502]
- 19. Bosslet GT, Torke AM, Hickman SE, Terry CL, Helft PR. The patient-doctor relationship and online social networks: results of a national survey. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Oct;26(10):1168-1174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-011-1761-2] [Medline: 21706268]

- Shrank WH, Choudhry NK, Swanton K, Jain S, Greene JA, Harlam B, et al. Variations in structure and content of online social networks for patients with diabetes. Arch Intern Med 2011 Sep 26;171(17):1589-1591. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2011.407] [Medline: 21949173]
- 21. Chretien KC, Kind T. Social media and clinical care: ethical, professional, and social implications. Circulation 2013 Apr 2;127(13):1413-1421. [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.128017] [Medline: 23547180]
- 22. Wiggins D. Measuring the impact of social media in healthcare. Analytics in Healthcare and the Life Sciences: Strategies, Implementation Methods, and Best Practices 2012:175-184.
- 23. Skiba D. Evaluation tools to appraise social media and mobile applications. Inform 2017;4(3):32. [doi: 10.3390/informatics4030032]
- 24. Neiger BL, Thackeray R, Burton SH, Giraud-Carrier CG, Fagen MC. Evaluating social media's capacity to develop engaged audiences in health promotion settings: use of Twitter metrics as a case study. Health Promot Pract 2013 Mar;14(2):157-162. [doi: 10.1177/1524839912469378] [Medline: 23271716]
- 25. Rubin H. CIO Insight. 2003. Whiteboard: How to Measure IT Value URL: <u>https://www.cioinsight.com/c/a/Past-News/</u> Whiteboard-How-to-Measure-IT-Value
- 26. Cooper C, Martin M, Kiernan T. Measuring the value of social software. In: IBM Software Services for Lotus. Cambridge, MA: IBM; 2010:1-12.
- 27. Hallikainen P. Why people use social media platforms: exploring the motivations and consequences of use. In: From Information to Smart Society. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing; 2015:9-17.
- 28. Hoffman DL, Fodor M. Can you measure the ROI of your social media marketing? MIT Sloan Manag Rev 2010;52(1):41 [FREE Full text]
- 29. Edosomwan S, Prakasan SK, Kouame D, Watson J, Seymour T. The history of social media and its impact on business. J Appl Manag Entrep 2011;16(3):79-91 [FREE Full text]
- 30. Porter ME. What is value in health care? N Engl J Med 2010;363(26):2477-2481. [doi: 10.1056/nejmp1011024]
- Ukoha C, Stranieri A, Chadhar M. Deriving Value from Health 2.0: A Study of Social Media Use in Australian Healthcare Organizations. In: Proceedings of the Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems. 2017 Presented at: PACIS'17; July 16-20, 2017; langkawi, Malaysia.
- 32. Emamjome FF, Gable GG, Bandara W, Rabaa'i A. Understanding the Value of Social Media in Organisations: A Taxonomic Approach. In: Proceedings of the 18th Pacific Asia Conference on Information Systems. 2014 Presented at: PACIS'14; June 24-28, 2014; Chengdu, China.
- Shaw JM, Mitchell CA, Welch AJ, Williamson MJ. Social media used as a health intervention in adolescent health: a systematic review of the literature. Digit Health 2015;1:2055207615588395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207615588395] [Medline: 29942540]
- 34. Okoli C, Schabram K. A Guide to Conducting a Systematic Literature Review of Information Systems Research. SSRN Journal 2010. [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.1954824]
- 35. Rother ET. Systematic literature review X narrative review. Acta Paul Enferm 2007;20(2):v-vi. [doi: 10.1590/S0103-21002007000200001]
- 36. Stevens SS. On the theory of scales of measurement. Science 1946 Jun 7;103(2684):677-680. [doi: 10.1126/science.103.2684.677] [Medline: 17750512]
- 37. Ngai E, Wat F. A literature review and classification of electronic commerce research. Inform Manag 2002;39(5):415-429. [doi: 10.1016/s0378-7206(01)00107-0]
- 38. Webster J, Watson RT. Analyzing the past to prepare for the future: writing a literature review. Manag Inf Syst Q 2002;26(2):xiii-xxiii. [doi: 10.2307/4132319]
- Hammersley M. Systematic or Unsystematic, is that the question? Some reflections on the science, art and politics of reviewing research evidence. In: The Myth of Research-Based Policy and Practice. London: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2013:110-119.
- 40. Larson K, Watson R. The Value of Social Media: Toward Measuring Social Media Strategies. In: Proceedings of the International Conference on Information Systems. 2011 Presented at: ICIS'11; December 4-7, 2011; Shanghai, China.
- 41. Ferrari R. Writing narrative style literature reviews. Med Writing 2015;24(4):230-235. [doi: 10.1179/2047480615z.00000000329]
- 42. Marthandan G, Tang CM. Information systems evaluation: an ongoing measure. Int J Bus Inf Syst 2010;6(3):336-353. [doi: 10.1504/ijbis.2010.035049]
- 43. Yassaee M, Mettler T. The current state of and possible future avenues for IT value research: a review of the past 10 years. In: Proceedings of the European Conference on Information Systems. 2015 Presented at: ECIS'15; May 26-29, 2015; Munster, Germany.
- 44. Kujala S, Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila K. Value of information systems and products: understanding the users' perspective and values. J Inform Technol Theory Appl 2009;9(4):23-39 [FREE Full text]
- 45. Cockton G. Designing Worth is Worth Designing. In: Proceedings of the 4th Nordic conference on Human-computer interaction: changing roles. 2006 Presented at: NordiCHI'06; October 14-18, 2006; Oslo, Norway p. 165-174. [doi: 10.1145/1182475.1182493]

- 46. Boztepe S. Toward a framework of product development for global markets: a user-value-based approach. Des Stud 2007;28(5):513-533. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.destud.2007.02.010</u>]
- 47. Porter ME, Teisberg EO. Redefining Health Care: Creating Value-Based Competition on Results. Brighton, Massachusetts: Harvard Business Review Press; 2006.
- 48. Wegner SE. Measuring value in health care: the times, they are a changin'. N C Med J 2016;77(4):276-278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18043/ncm.77.4.276] [Medline: 27422952]
- 49. Ken Lee K, Matthew Austin J, Pronovost PJ. Developing a measure of value in health care. Value Health 2016 Jun;19(4):323-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2014.12.009] [Medline: 27325323]
- 50. Zhang M, Guo L, Hu M, Liu W. Influence of customer engagement with company social networks on stickiness: mediating effect of customer value creation. Int J Inform Manag 2017;37(3):229-240. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.04.010]
- 51. Rantamäki J. Tietotekniikan laitos. 2008. Perceived User Value of Social Networking URL: <u>http://www.cse.tkk.fi/en/publications/b/1/papers/rantamaki_final.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-22]
- 52. Wang WS. Creating utilitarian and hedonic value from website quality and online retail performance. J Elect Com Org 2017;15(3):1-13. [doi: 10.4018/jeco.2017070101]
- 53. Kim LS. PQDT Open. 2016. Social Media and Social Support: A Uses and Gratifications Examination of Health 2.0 URL: https://pqdtopen.proquest.com/doc/1758891657.html?FMT=ABS [accessed 2019-10-22]
- 54. Schroeder M. Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. 2008. Value Theory URL: <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/value-theory/</u> [accessed 2019-10-22]
- 55. McCaughey D, Baumgardner C, Gaudes A, LaRochelle D, Wu KJ, Raichura T. Best practices in social media: utilizing a value matrix to assess social media's impact on health care. Soc Sci Comp Rev 2014;32(5):575-589. [doi: 10.1177/0894439314525332]
- 56. Ruckenstuhl P, Schippinger M, Liebmann P, Leithner A, Bernhardt G. Like or dislike? Impact of Facebook on Ewing Sarcoma Treatment. JMIR Cancer 2016 Aug 25;2(2):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/cancer.5367</u>] [Medline: <u>28410188</u>]
- 57. Avgerou C. The significance of context in information systems and organizational change. Inform Syst J 2001;11(1):43-63. [doi: <u>10.1046/j.1365-2575.2001.00095.x</u>]
- 58. Schryen G. Revisiting IS business value research: what we already know, what we still need to know, and how we can get there. European Journal of Information Systems 2013;22(2):139-169. [doi: 10.1057/ejis.2012.45]
- 59. Heldman AB, Schindelar J, Weaver JB. Social media engagement and public health communication: implications for public health organizations being truly 'social'. Public Health Rev 2013;35(1):13. [doi: <u>10.1007/bf03391698</u>]
- 60. Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F, Lopez-Campos G. Patient-reported outcomes and therapeutic affordances of social media: findings from a global online survey of people with chronic pain. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 22;17(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3915] [Medline: 25616273]
- 61. Aslam AA, Tsou M, Spitzberg BH, An L, Gawron JM, Gupta DK, et al. The reliability of tweets as a supplementary method of seasonal influenza surveillance. J Med Internet Res 2014 Nov 14;16(11):e250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3532] [Medline: 25406040]
- 62. Coloma PM, Becker B, Sturkenboom MC, van Mulligen EM, Kors JA. Evaluating social media networks in medicines safety surveillance: two case studies. Drug Saf 2015 Oct;38(10):921-930 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40264-015-0333-5] [Medline: 26242616]
- 63. Woodside JM. Health Intelligence Model for Evaluation of Social Media Outcomes. In: Proceedings of the 2012 Ninth International Conference on Information Technology New Generations. 2012 Presented at: ITNG'12; April 16-18, 2012; Las Vegas, Nevada, USA. [doi: 10.1109/itng.2012.140]
- 64. Gibbons MC. Personal health and consumer informatics. The impact of health oriented social media applications on health outcomes. Yearb Med Inform 2013;8:159-161. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0038-1638848</u>] [Medline: <u>23974564</u>]
- 65. Hawkins JB, Brownstein JS, Tuli G, Runels T, Broecker K, Nsoesie EO, et al. Measuring patient-perceived quality of care in US hospitals using Twitter. BMJ Qual Saf 2016 Jun;25(6):404-413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004309] [Medline: 26464518]
- 66. Glover M, Khalilzadeh O, Choy G, Prabhakar AM, Pandharipande PV, Gazelle GS. Hospital evaluations by social media: a comparative analysis of Facebook ratings among performance outliers. J Gen Intern Med 2015 Oct;30(10):1440-1446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-015-3236-3] [Medline: 25749881]
- 67. Jackson DN, Chou WS, Coa KI, Oh A, Hesse B. Implications of social media use on health information technology engagement: Data from HINTS 4 cycle 3. Transl Behav Med 2016 Dec;6(4):566-576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0437-1] [Medline: 27628436]
- 68. Kohli R, Grover V. Business value of IT: an essay on expanding research directions to keep up with the times. J Assoc Inf Syst 2008;9(1):23-39. [doi: 10.17705/1jais.00147]
- Maloney S, Tunnecliff J, Morgan P, Gaida J, Keating J, Clearihan L, et al. Continuing professional development via social media or conference attendance: a cost analysis. JMIR Med Educ 2017 Mar 30;3(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mededu.6357] [Medline: 28360023]
- 70. Andersen KN, Medaglia R, Henriksen HZ. Social media in public health care: impact domain propositions. Gov Inform Q 2012;29(4):462-469. [doi: 10.1016/j.giq.2012.07.004]

- 71. Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F. Developing a framework to generate evidence of health outcomes from social media use in chronic disease management. Med 2 0 2013;2(2):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/med20.2717] [Medline: 25075238]
- 72. BC Patient Safety & Quality Council and eHealth Strategy Office. BC Patient Safety & Quality Council. 2014. Leveraging Social Media to Drive Health Care Improvement in BC URL: <u>https://bcpsqc.ca/resource/leveraging-social-media-drive-health-care-improvement-bc/</u> [accessed 2019-10-22]
- 73. Flynn S, Hebert P, Korenstein D, Ryan M, Jordan WB, Keyhani S. Leveraging social media to promote evidence-based continuing medical education. PLoS One 2017;12(1):e0168962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168962] [Medline: 28060854]
- 74. Winandy M, Kostkova P, de Quincey E, St Louis C, Szomszor M. Follow #eHealth2011: Measuring the role and effectiveness of online and social media in increasing the outreach of a scientific conference. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 19;18(7):e191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4480] [Medline: 27436012]
- 75. Bannister F, Remenyi D. The societal value of ICT: First steps towards an evaluation framework. Electronic Journal of Information Systems Evaluation 2003;6(2):197-206 [FREE Full text]
- 76. Chan YE. IT value: the great divide between qualitative and quantitative and individual and organizational measures. J Manag Info Syst 2000;16(4):225-261. [doi: 10.1080/07421222.2000.11518272]
- 77. Martinez-Millana A, Fernandez-Llatas C, Bilbao I, Salcedo M, Salcedo V. Evaluating the social media performance of hospitals in Spain: a longitudinal and comparative study. J Med Internet Res 2017 May 23;19(5):e181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6763] [Medline: 28536091]
- 78. Mugenda OM, Mugenda AG. Research Methods: Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches. Nairobi, Kenya: Acts Press; 2003.
- 79. Fisher T. ROI in social media: a look at the arguments. J Database Mark Cust Strategy Manag 2009;16(3):189-195. [doi: 10.1057/dbm.2009.16]
- Khatri C, Chapman SJ, Glasbey J, Kelly M, Nepogodiev D, Bhangu A, STARSurg Committee. Social media and internet driven study recruitment: evaluating a new model for promoting collaborator engagement and participation. PLoS One 2015;10(3):e0118899 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118899] [Medline: 25775005]
- 81. Venkatesh V, Brown SA, Bala H. Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. Manag Inf Syst Q 2013;37(1):21-54. [doi: 10.25300/misq/2013/37.1.02]
- Rabarison KM, Croston MA, Englar NK, Bish CL, Flynn SM, Johnson CC. Measuring audience engagement for public health Twitter chats: insights from #LiveFitNOLA. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Jun 8;3(2):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.7181] [Medline: 28596149]
- Moore K, Cottrell E, Chambers R. Facebook in general practice: a service evaluation in one health economy. BJGP Open 2018 Jan;1(4):bjgpopen17X101181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgpopen17X101181] [Medline: 30564688]
- Maloney S, Tunnecliff J, Morgan P, Gaida JE, Clearihan L, Sadasivan S, et al. Translating evidence into practice via social media: a mixed-methods study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 26;17(10):e242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4763] [Medline: 26503129]
- 85. Michell J. Measurement in Psychology: A Critical History of a Methodological Concept. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1999.
- 86. van de Belt TH, Berben SA, Samsom M, Engelen LJ, Schoonhoven L. Use of social media by Western European hospitals: longitudinal study. J Med Internet Res 2012 May 1;14(3):e61 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1992] [Medline: 22549016]
- 87. Davies N, Murphy DG, van Rij S, Woo HH, Lawrentschuk N. Online and social media presence of Australian and New Zealand urologists. BJU Int 2015 Dec;116(6):984-989 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/bju.13159] [Medline: 25906813]

Abbreviations

C2C: consumer to consumer
C2P: consumer to professional
IS: information system
IT: information technology
P2C: professional to consumer
P2P: professional to professional
ROI: return-on-investment



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.05.19; peer-reviewed by E Siegmund-Schultze, J Lander; comments to author 20.06.19; revised version received 03.08.19; accepted 20.08.19; published 16.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ukoha C, Stranieri A Criteria to Measure Social Media Value in Health Care Settings: Narrative Literature Review J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14684 URL: https://www.imir.org/2019/12/e14684

doi:<u>10.2196/14684</u>

PMID:<u>31841114</u>

©Chukwuma Ukoha, Andrew Stranieri. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 16.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Comparison of YouthCHAT, an Electronic Composite Psychosocial Screener, With a Clinician Interview Assessment for Young People: Randomized Trial

Hiran Thabrew¹, BSc, BM, FRACP, FRANZCP; Simona D'Silva¹, BHSc; Margot Darragh², PhD; Mary Goldfinch³, BN; Jake Meads⁴, PhD; Felicity Goodyear-Smith², MBChB, MD, FRNZCGP(Dist)

¹Department of Psychological Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

⁴School of Health Science, Faculty of Health and Environmental Sciences, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand

Corresponding Author:

Hiran Thabrew, BSc, BM, FRACP, FRANZCP Department of Psychological Medicine Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences University of Auckland Department of Psychological Medicine, University of Auckland Level 12, Support Block, Auckland Hospital, 2 Park Road, Grafton Auckland, 1142 New Zealand Phone: 64 21402055 Email: h.thabrew@auckland.ac.nz

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://www.jmir.org/2020/2/e17339/

Abstract

Background: Psychosocial problems such as depression, anxiety, and substance abuse are common and burdensome in young people. In New Zealand, screening for such problems is undertaken routinely only with year 9 students in low-decile schools and opportunistically in pediatric settings using a nonvalidated and time-consuming clinician-administered Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety (HEEADSSS) interview. The Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool (YouthCHAT) is a relatively new, locally developed, electronic tablet–based composite screener for identifying similar psychosocial issues to HEEADSSS

Objective: This study aimed to compare the performance and acceptability of YouthCHAT with face-to-face HEEADSSS assessment among 13-year-old high school students.

Methods: A counterbalanced randomized trial of YouthCHAT screening either before or after face-to-face HEEADSSS assessment was undertaken with 129 13-year-old New Zealand high school students of predominantly Māori and Pacific Island ethnicity. Main outcome measures were comparability of YouthCHAT and HEEADSSS completion times, detection rates, and acceptability to students and school nurses.

Results: YouthCHAT screening was more than twice as fast as HEEADSSS assessment (mean 8.57 min vs mean 17.22 min; mean difference 8 min 25 seconds [range 6 min 20 seconds to 11 min 10 seconds]; P<.01) and detected more issues overall on comparable domains. For substance misuse and problems at home, both instruments were roughly comparable. YouthCHAT detected significantly more problems with eating or body image perception (70/110, 63.6% vs 25/110, 22.7%; P<.01), sexual health (24/110, 21.8% vs 10/110, 9.1%; P=.01), safety (65/110, 59.1% vs 17/110, 15.5%; P<.01), and physical inactivity (43/110, 39.1% vs 21/110, 19.1%; P<.01). HEEADSSS had a greater rate of detection for a broader set of mental health issues (30/110, 27%) than YouthCHAT (11/110, 10%; P=.001), which only assessed clinically relevant anxiety and depression. Assessment order made no significant difference to the duration of assessment or to the rates of YouthCHAT-detected positive screens for anxiety and depression. There were no significant differences in student acceptability survey results between the two assessments.

²Department of General Practice, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand ³Tamaki College, Auckland, New Zealand

Nurses identified that students found YouthCHAT easy to answer and that it helped students answer face-to-face questions, especially those of a sensitive nature. Difficulties encountered with YouthCHAT included occasional Wi-Fi connectivity and student literacy issues.

Conclusions: This study provides preliminary evidence regarding the shorter administration time, detection rates, and acceptability of YouthCHAT as a school-based psychosocial screener for young people. Although further research is needed to confirm its effectiveness in other age and ethnic groups, YouthCHAT shows promise for aiding earlier identification and treatment of common psychosocial problems in young people, including possible use as part of an annual, school-based, holistic health check.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Network Registry (ACTRN) ACTRN12616001243404p; https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=371422.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13911) doi: 10.2196/13911

KEYWORDS

mass screening; adolescents; anxiety; depression; substance-related disorders; primary health care; school health services; eHealth

Introduction

Psychosocial problems and risky health behaviors are significant issues for young people worldwide. In New Zealand, one-third of adolescents are affected by anxiety and depression [1]; the highest rate of suicide is among youth aged 15 to 24 years [2], and approximately one-fourth of high school students engage in hazardous alcohol use [3]. Mental health issues and risky health behaviors can lead to costly long-term health and social outcomes [4-6], and as such, local and World Health Organization policies emphasize the value of developing more effective tools and appropriately targeted and accessible services to identify and address the needs of young people [7-9]. At the same time, young people want a greater say in how services are designed and delivered and expect services to be diverse, contemporary, and responsive [10].

Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety (HEEADSSS) assessment is a clinician-administered interview-based assessment of young people that can identify mental health and substance use problems [11,12]. Currently, all year 9 (usually 13-year-old) students in low-decile schools (those with the highest proportion of students from low socioeconomic communities) and some attendees at primary care and pediatric services in New Zealand are screened for psychosocial problems via HEEADSSS assessment. Although HEEADSSS offers a straightforward, holistic, and gradual approach to assessing young people across many domains, it is a psychosocial interview rather than a screening tool. Drawbacks include its lack of validation for problem identification, the cost of resourcing, time required for administration (up to an hour per person), and variable quality depending on the skill and experience of the assessor.

The Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool (YouthCHAT) [13,14] is a self-report, electronic screener that covers the following domains: smoking, drinking, recreational drug use (based on the Substances and Choices Scale, SACS) [15], problematic gambling, depression (based on the Patient Health Questionnaire-Adolescent Version, PHQ-A) [16,17], anxiety (based on the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 scale, GAD-7), sexual health, general stresses, exposure to abuse, behavior problems, anger management problems, eating

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13911
```

problems, and physical activity [18]. For each positive domain screened, there is a *help* question that asks participants if they would like help either today or later. Responses to the *help* question support conversations between young people and their health providers about the issues they would like addressed, which facilitates shared decision-making, with increased likelihood that real sustained changes will be made (Figures 1 and 2).

Students complete YouthCHAT electronically on a device, and a summary report is immediately available for the nurse or other health provider through the electronic health record at the point of care. This includes positive or negative responses for each module, and where positive, the score and its interpretation when applicable (eg, depression: PHQ-A score 24=severe depression [20-27 out of a possible 27]) as well as whether help is wanted either now or later is included. A positive POA-9 question triggers a red alert for self-harm. Where YouthCHAT indicates serious issues such as suicidal ideation, the nurse will intervene even when the students indicate they do not want help. Health providers using YouthCHAT are provided with stepped care resources for each module, tailored to their setting. Although detection of positive issues may increase referral rate and hence workload, this applies equally to HEEADSSS assessment.

YouthCHAT was developed via co-design with young people in primary care, youth, and school settings [13,14,19-22], and previous research has demonstrated its acceptability among young people of New Zealand European, Māori, and Pacific Island ethnicities [23] and identified that some students prefer disclosing sensitive information via electronic means rather than face-to-face means [14,24-27].

Electronic screening has been shown to provide consistent results and can lead to more disclosures and reduce staff time [28,29]. Arguments have been made for and against screening for mental health issues such as depression; however, screening has been found to be effective as long as it is linked to evidence-based interventions, not conducted as a *stand-alone* activity [30].

This study aimed to compare the performance and acceptability of YouthCHAT screening and HEEADSSS assessment for 13-year-old students attending a nurse-led clinic in a high school setting.

Figure 1. Participant flow diagram.

Clause 1. Castinians i flaur



Figure 2. Youth Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool questions example.

	255			
	How often did you use alc	oholic drinks (e.g. beer, wine, spirits, premix	es, RTDs) in the last month?	4 STAK
		DidNt use		
		Once a week or less		
		Nore than once a week		
		Most days or more		
BACK				FREEHENREY
_				

Methods

Trial Design

A randomized trial using a counterbalanced design was employed to deliver YouthCHAT screening either before or after face-to-face HEEADSSS assessment.

Mapping of Youth Version, Case-Finding and Help Assessment Tool and Home, Education, Eating,

Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety

Although YouthCHAT and HEEADSSS contained similar areas of assessment, it was necessary to map specific domains to each other for comparison of results. HEEADSSS includes domains on substance misuse, problem eating, sexual health, and physical activity, which are approximately equivalent to YouthCHAT modules. Questions regarding problems at home and safety were mapped for comparison (see Table 1). Although HEEADSSS *mental health* domain includes a number of nonspecific items such a sadness, grief, and difficulty sleeping, YouthCHAT mental health modules only comprised screening measures for depression and anxiety.

Table 1. Mapping Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool (YouthCHAT) and Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety (HEEADSSS) assessment.

Item	YouthCHAT module	HEEADSSS domain
Substance misuse	Smoking or substance misuse (alcohol and drugs)—positive for A Stop <i>Smoking</i> In Schools Trial (ASSIST) or Sub- stances and Choices (SACS) Scale	Positive responses to questions on alcohol and drugs
Problems with eating	Positive for problem eating module	Positive responses to questions on eating and weight
Mental health or distress	Depression or anxiety—positive for Patient Health Ques- tionnaire-Adolescent Version (PHQ-A) or Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) scale	Positive responses to questions on low mood, self-harm, anxiety, suicidal thoughts, unresolved grief, sadness of historical event, and difficulty sleeping
Problems at home	Positive for "relationships with specific people in your life" or "issues at home, school or work"—from stress module	Positive responses to questions on problems at home
Sexual health	Positive response for sexual orientation, risky sexual behav- ior, and unwanted sex	Positive responses to questions on sexuality issues
Safety	Positive response to abuse or anger module, to questions on being bullied, or to violence in the stress module	Positive responses to questions on bullying, drunk driving, and other risky behaviors
Physical inactivity	Positive response to physical inactivity	Negative responses to questions on engaging in physical activity

For HEEADSSS assessment, there are no threshold scores—the assessor decides whether the response is positive for that domain or not. For YouthCHAT, responses are clearly positive or negative for each domain. Where there are added tools, cutoff points are as follows:

- ASSIST: 3 to 26 at risk of health and other problems from current pattern of smoking and greater than 26 at high risk of experiencing severe problems (health, social, financial, legal, and relationship) as a result of current pattern of smoking and likely to be dependent;
- SACS: 2 to 3 low-level problems with alcohol or drugs requiring further assessment and more than 3 problems with alcohol or drugs probably requiring treatment;
- PHQ-A: 10 to 14 moderate depression, 15 to 19 moderately severe depression, and 20 to 27 severe depression; and
- GAD-7: greater than 9 general anxiety disorder.

Participants

All year 9 (13- to 14-year-old) students at a low-decile high school in Auckland, New Zealand, were invited to participate following the provision of written information about the study at the start of the school year and the completion of paired informed parental consent (using an opt-out process) and individual participant assent (as all students were aged <16 years). No students were excluded from the study. HEEADSSS assessment is mandatory for all year 9 students regardless of the study.

Recruitment and Randomization

Participants were randomized to receive either HEEADSSS assessment by a school nurse followed by an electronic YouthCHAT screen (condition 1) or YouthCHAT followed by HEEADSSS assessment (condition 2). Clinic staff were provided with a random list from a computer-generated random numbers table, with consecutive sampling until all enrolled students had completed assessment. This took place during a planned break from class time when students receive their annually required HEEADSSS assessment. Review of results

RenderX

and any necessary follow-up was arranged by the school nurse immediately following the completion of YouthCHAT screening and HEEADSSS assessment.

Outcomes

Primary outcome measures were (1) the time taken to complete YouthCHAT and HEEADSSS, (2) comparative detection rates for YouthCHAT and HEEADSSS for each issue, and (3) acceptability of YouthCHAT to students and staff. YouthCHAT data were collected electronically (completed on an electronic tablet by students), and encrypted results were securely stored on a central database. HEEADSSS results were entered into the electronic health record by school nurses. A subset of students completed paper-based acceptability questionnaires, and the 3 school nurses were interviewed individually.

Analyses

Quantitative data were analyzed using Microsoft Excel 2013 and Statistical Package for the Social Sciences version 25 (SPSS v25). Analyses included basic descriptive statistics, between-intervention analyses undertaken with paired t tests (for numeric variables) or McNemar tests (for categorical variables), and between-condition nonparametric analyses undertaken with Mann-Whitney U tests. Distributions were checked for normality throughout.

Qualitative data were analyzed using a general inductive approach [31], with collated text independently coded by 2 researchers (HT and FG) to identify emerging themes. Discrepancies were resolved through an adjudication session.

Further methodological details are described in our trial protocol [32]. The study was approved by the New Zealand Northern Region Ethics Committee (16/CEN/137/AM03).

Results

Description of Participants

From the 139 eligible students, 129 assented. Electronic screening and face-to-face assessments were conducted between

March and November 2017. There were incomplete or missing data for 19 students, giving a total sample size of 110 for analysis (81%; see Figure 1).

In addition, 63% (71/113) of the participants were of Pacific ethnicity, 29% (33/113) were of Māori ethnicity, and the remaining 8% (9/113) were of New Zealand European or other ethnicity. Moreover, 51% (58/113) of the participants were male, and the randomized condition numbers were similar, with 49% in condition 1 and 51% in condition 2. From the 32 students invited to participate in a focus group (8 during each term), 21 (66%) attended, with 3 groups of 5 participants and 1 group of 6 participants.

Time Taken to Complete Youth Version, Case-Finding and Help Assessment Tool and Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety Assessment

HEEADSSS time data were missing for 19 students; therefore, the comparative time to complete analyses were conducted for 94 students. YouthCHAT took an average of 8 min 57 seconds (range 1 min 45 seconds to 54 min 15 seconds) to complete, compared with HEEADSSS with an average nearly double at 17 min 22 seconds (range 3 min to 45 min), giving a mean difference of 8 min 25 seconds (range 6 min 20 seconds to 11 min 10 seconds; P<.01). For several students, the Wi-Fi connection was lost for YouthCHAT, which may be reflected in the outlier durations of 25 min to 54 min, whereas the vast majority took 10 min or less.

Detection Rates of Complete Youth Version, Case-Finding and Help Assessment Tool and Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety Assessment

The comparative detection rates are presented in Table 2. The 2 assessments had roughly similar detection rates for substance misuse and problems at home, but YouthCHAT detected significantly more issues around problems with eating or body image perception, safety, physical inactivity, and sexual health (all P<.01). HEEADSSS *mental health* category had a greater detection rate when compared with YouthCHAT-detected positive responses to the depression and anxiety tests (P<.01); however, no direct comparison between the assessments for only depression and anxiety rates was possible.

Table 2. Comparison between Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool (YouthCHAT) screening and Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety (HEEADSSS) assessment.

Module/domain	YouthCHAT positive, n (%)	HEEADSSS positive, n (%)	P value ^a
Substance misuse	10 (9.1)	10 (9.1)	.99
Problems with eating or weight	70 (63.6)	25 (22.7)	<.01
Mental health/distress	11 (10.0)	30 (27.2)	.01
Problems at home	30 (27.3)	29 (26.3)	.72
Sexual health	24 (21.8)	10 (9.1)	.01
Safety	65 (59.1)	17 (15.4)	<.01
Physical inactivity	43 (39.1)	21 (19.1)	<.01

^a*P* value from McNemar test.

Effects of Randomization Order

The order in which students received YouthCHAT and HEEADSSS (condition 1 vs condition 2) made no significant difference to the duration of YouthCHAT assessment. For YouthCHAT, condition 1 took an average of 8 min 37 seconds (SD 6 min 54 seconds) and condition 2 took an average of 9 min 24 seconds (SD 8 min 26 seconds). For HEEADSSS, condition 1 took an average of 16 min 13 seconds (SD 8 min 42 seconds) and condition 2 took an average of 18 min 7 seconds (SD 9 min 49 seconds).

Similarly, the order made no significant difference to YouthCHAT-positive depression PHQ-A screen rates (both

condition 1 and condition 2 had 5 positive screens; $\chi^2_{0.95}=0.0$) or to anxiety GAD-7 rates (condition 1 had 3 screens and condition 2 had 2 screens; $\chi^2_{0.68}=0.25$).

Acceptability of Youth Version, Case-Finding and Help Assessment Tool and Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety Assessment

The results of the student acceptability survey completed by 21 students are shown in Table 3. There were no significant differences.



Table 3. Student acceptability of Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool (YouthCHAT) screening and Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety (HEEADSSS) assessment (students attending focus groups, n=21).

Item	YouthCHAT, n (%)	HEEADSSS, n (%)	P value ^a
Agreed to item		·	
Works for people my age	18 (85.7)	16 (76.1)	0.4
I have time to think about my responses	16 (76.1)	11 (52.3)	>.99
I felt safe answering the questions	14 (66.7)	12 (57.1)	0.5
I talked about things that I wouldn't have mentioned	11 (52.3)	9 (42.9)	0.7
It's easier to open up about my unhealthy behaviors and feelings	13 (61.9)	11 (52.3)	0.5
It helped me identify the unhealthy behaviors and feelings I need help with	14 (66.7)	12 (57.1)	0.5
Allowed my nurse to know about my unhealthy behaviors & feelings	13 (61.9)	14 (66.7)	0.7
Has too many questions	6 (28.6)	6 (28.6)	0.99
Questions are too personal	5 (23.8)	8 (38.1)	0.5
I worried about the privacy of my information	9 (42.9)	6 (28.6)	0.3
Takes too long	4 (19.0)	6 (28.6)	0.7
Questions were difficult to understand	2 (9.5)	3 (14.2)	0.6
Questions did not relate to me	1 (4.8)	2 (9.5)	0.6
Is boring	2 (9.5)	3 (14.2)	0.6
I felt embarrassed to talk to my nurse about my answers	6 (28.6)	7 (33.3)	0.7
My nurse was judgmental about things I opened up about	1 (4.8)	2 (9.5)	0.6
Objected to specific questions			
Substance misuse	9 (42.9)	4 (19.0)	0.2
Problems with eating	0 (0.0)	2 (9.5)	0.99
Problems at home	2 (9.5)	1 (4.8)	0.99
Sexual health	8 (38.1)	3 (14.2)	0.8
Safety	6 (28.6)	1 (4.8)	0.1
Physical inactivity	2 (9.5)	1 (4.8)	0.99

 ^{a}P value from chi-squared calculation with rates correction where n<10.

A total of 4 key themes emerged from the analysis of the 3 nurse interviews (Table 4): (1) valuable tool, (2) difficulties with use, (3) comparing YouthCHAT with HEEADSSS, and (4) additional uses for YouthCHAT. In summary, students found YouthCHAT easy to understand, nurses liked its look and feel, it helped identify students at risk, and nurses found the summary report and the help question useful (Figures 2 and 3). Students did identify some difficulties with use, including Wi-Fi connectivity problems at times, and some students had literacy, language, or cognitive ability issues that were a barrier to its use. In comparison with HEEADSSS, nurses found YouthCHAT easier for students to answer, faster to administer, and helped students subsequently answer face-to-face questions. Nurses suggested additional uses, including repeating annually for a longitudinal picture and using opportunistically with at-risk students in all year groups.



 Table 4. Nurses' (N) views on Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool.

Theme and subtheme	Example
Valuable tool	
Questions easy to understand	"Most of the kids were able to answer the questions easily." [N2]
Look and feel	"The introductory video was awesome, was really nice and relaxed and helped the students engage." [N3]
Identifies students at risk	"Gathers information that you sometimes forget to ask." [N1]
Useful summary report	"I really liked the clinical summary at the end of YouthCHAT.10ther staff members (e.g., counsellors) thought it was excellent as well. A lot of information is extracted in 15 minutes, more than I could do 1:1." [N2]
Help question is useful	"I love the fact that it asks 'Do you want help todayor in the future' – we all know that nobody is going to change unless they want to, so it's a good way of saving my time and theirs." [N2]
Difficulties with use	
Connectivity (Wi-Fi) issues	"We had some issues with connectivity." [N1]
Student literacy issues	"Literacy issues - those are the kinds of kids that give up early." [N3]
Hearing, language, cognitive ability, and other issues	"One guy with a hearing issue and the volume couldn't go up high enough for him" [N3]; "Some of them had English skills that were not too good because they had just come over from the islands. Sometimes I get an interpreter in." [N2]
Comparing YouthCHAT ^a with Home, E	ducation, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety
Easier to answer electronically	"Kids love [using e-tablet]. I think it is easier to say yes on an e-tablet (than face to face)." [N1]
Faster to administer	"For me to do a HEEADSSS ^b , it takes so long and then to write it up, whereas YouthCHAT is so quick." [N2]
Helps with subsequent answering of face-to-face questions	"I think it's better to give YouthCHAT first before talking with them face to face as it gets them in the groove, gives them time to get used to answering questions." [N2]
Additional uses for YouthCHAT	
Opportunistically with other school year groups	"Good to capture kids coming into the school halfway through the year. In fifteen minutes we can quickly capture where they are in their lives." [N2]; "I would do it yearly." [N1]
Longitudinally, for example, repeat annually	"Be good tofollow up with them the next year." [N1]
Use by other staff	"I'd really like the rest of the school health team (counsellors, social workers, nurses, psychologist, ad- diction workers, GP) to be able to administer YouthCHAT, not just school nurses." [N2]

^aYouthCHAT: Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool.

^bHEEADSSS: Home, Education, Eating, Activtableities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety.



Ob file in

Thabrew et al

Figure 3. Youth Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool summary report.

	Questionnaire Rep	Off Generate PDF Report Log
	Questionnaire ID:	010103
rvices	Status:	Condeted
uestionnaire	Alert	MALER™ Positive to self harm
oots alize Browser Ali Pesources & Links groups min Roport aic Details ic Datails ic Staff	NHI Number:	AB01234
	Date of Questionnaire:	00/07/2019 14 27 p.m.
	Date of Report:	2307/2019 12:23 p.m.
	Smoking	Ex-employ + 12 months ASSIST amoling score 3 = Low risk (IS3 / S4)
	Drinking and Other Drugs	Drink Once a week or less Uses connects once a week or less Dich use often drink groups of a used of problems probably requiring further assessment and treatment (4-201 20) SACS score 5 n Level of problems probably requiring further assessment and treatment (4-201 20)
	Gambling	Problemate gambing or garring Vilents help not today
	Behaviour	Have not house with pupple attentions at school or work, remembering where put things or waiting their turn Obst houses number and related to do as tool Behaviour score 4 = (>11 / 11)
	Eating Disorders	Not happy with hody shape or weight Recent parages in weight Earling Discorder score & e(2-6.4) Wards huld or of body
	Depression	Little internation of beaution Down on hopieless PHCA score 15 to Notoestaally servere depression(15-18 / 27) **ALERT* Photoise to set-fram Waters hap oost
	Ansiety	Wonying a lot CAUT accer = Low risk (D=/21) Waters to Hop
	Stress	Issues at home Wanta no help
	Sexual Health	Issues of the securit identity Waters halp on tabuy Not security and the security of the secur
	Abuse	Borneone they'ne whall of or hurting them Vilants no help
	Anger control	Problem controlling anger Vlants help today
	Inactivity	Physically active

Discussion

Principal Findings and Comparison With Prior Work

Our results indicate that YouthCHAT is a timesaving, effective, and acceptable psychosocial screener for use in a high school setting. Even with the occasional Wi-Fi glitch, it was significantly faster to use.

In general, YouthCHAT had similar or significantly higher detection rates than HEEADSSS. Although the detection rate for mental health problems or distress was higher with HEEADSSS, this reflects poor mapping of the 2 assessments for this issue. YouthCHAT *mental health* consisted solely of positive scores for depression or anxiety on the PHQ-A or GAD-7, whereas the HEEADSSS domain also included many nonspecific issues such as low mood, distress, unresolved grief, sadness about a historical event, and difficulty sleeping; hence, it is to be expected that more students will score higher for *mental distress* than score positive for depression or anxiety with YouthCHAT. Rates of depression, anxiety, and substance use problems identified via YouthCHAT were in line with expectations for this age group [33,34].

Students revealed significantly more concerns via YouthCHAT than in their HEEADSSS assessment about sensitive issues such as their body weight and sexual health and safety issues such as bullying, violence, and anger. This is consistent with evidence that youth prefer to disclose sensitive information via electronic means, without fear of being judged [24-27]. Electronic screening helps them structure their thoughts and prioritize the issues for which they want help [24]. Despite the difference

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13911
```

RenderX

between groups not being statistically significant, students' concerns regarding privacy of information and being asked questions about sensitive issues suggest that screening for psychosocial issues should always be undertaken in a careful manner and an appropriate setting.

To date, no other screening instrument has been shown to be effective for comprehensively identifying multiple psychosocial problems in young people. Reviews of individual instruments for identifying common psychological problems in young people have identified strengths and weaknesses of different psychometric tests and recommended that these instruments are reserved for targeted use within clinical settings [35,36]. Overall, 3 HEEADSSS-based electronic screeners, TickIT [37], myAssessment [38], and the Headspace Assessment Interview [39], have recently been demonstrated to be acceptable to users in hospital and youth clinic-based settings but have not been evaluated regarding their detection rates.

Given the temporally evolving and fluctuating nature of psychosocial issues during adolescence [40,41], routine (eg, annual) YouthCHAT screening is likely to increase the chance of early detection and intervention. Conducting YouthCHAT before a scheduled HEEADSSS assessment means that the latter needs to focus only on domains where YouthCHAT is positive. Such a *targeted* HEEADSSS approach will reduce the time taken and hence the cost of this assessment. Embedding YouthCHAT screening within a regular *holistic* school health check may also increase mental health literacy [42], normalize the management of psychosocial issues, and reduce stigma about help seeking [43]. Downstream benefits of early intervention may include improved social relationships, better engagement

in education and employment, reduced involvement with the justice system, and lower rates of youth suicide [44].

Strengths and Limitations

Strengths of this study include the comparison of YouthCHAT with an existing means of evaluating young people for psychosocial problems, the high response rate, and the collection of both student and staff perspectives on the use of electronic screening within a school environment. The restriction of participants to 13- to 14-year-olds and 3 school nurses from a single high school limits the generalizability of our findings. Owing to the variability in the time taken to complete both tests being considerably less than anticipated (ie, smaller SDs for the time taken to complete YouthCHAT screening and HEEADSSS assessment than expected), our power to detect a difference between the 2 interventions was higher than anticipated. Furthermore, there is a clear statistical difference between the interventions based on this sample; therefore, our final sample size was sufficient to answer our primary research questions. The inclusion of predominantly Māori and Pacific Island participants is both a strength and weakness of this study. Māori and Pacific people comprise 20% and 11%, respectively, of New Zealanders aged 10 to 17 years; hence, these ethnicities are oversampled. However, Māori and Pacific Island youth have higher rates of emotional difficulties [45,46], including depression [47] and suicide [48], yet they access specialist services at lower rates than other ethnicities [49], so early identification and intervention for these youth is key. Finally, the inability to directly map all the YouthCHAT modules to the HEEADSSS assessment domains limited the scope of comparison.

Conclusions

YouthCHAT has been shown to be significantly quicker than HEEADSSS to administer, has a high detection rate of a range of psychosocial issues, and is acceptable to both students and staff. Its potential use is for both opportunistic and routine annual screening of high school students, especially those of low socioeconomic status. Next steps include its evaluation with students of different ages and in different types of school settings. Current evidence supports its use as a first-line screening instrument, which can be followed by a targeted HEEADSSS assessment where indicated.

Acknowledgments

This study was generously funded by the Starship Foundation, New Zealand. The funder did not have any direct involvement in the design or conduct of the study, analysis of the data, or write-up of the results. The authors acknowledge the contributions to this study made by Professor Jim Warren, Dr Arden Corter, Ms Natalee Zhu, and Dr Alana Cavadino. The authors sincerely thank the students and school staff who made this project possible.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 98 KB - jmir_v21i12e13911_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ. The Christchurch Health and Development Study: review of findings on child and adolescent mental health. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2001 Jun;35(3):287-296. [doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1614.2001.00902.x] [Medline: 11437801]
- Ministry of Health NZ. 2017 Nov 23. Suicide Facts: 2015 data URL: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/suicide-facts-2015-data</u> [accessed 2019-09-10]
- 3. Clark T, Fleming T, Bullen P, Crengle S, Denny S, Dyson B, et al. Youth'12 Overview: The Health and Wellbeing of New Zealand Secondary School Students in 2012. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland; 2013.
- 4. Kessler RC. The costs of depression. Psychiatr Clin North Am 2012 Mar;35(1):1-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2011.11.005] [Medline: 22370487]
- Knapp M, Iemmi V. LSE Research Online. 2013. The Economic Case for Better Mental Health URL: <u>http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/59520/1/_lse.ac.</u>
 <u>uk storage LIBRARY Secondary libfile shared repository Content Knapp%2C%20M Economic%20case Knapp Economic%20case 2014.</u>
 <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
- Ginsburg GS, Becker-Haimes E, Keeton C, Kendall P, Iyengar S, Sakolsky DA, et al. Results from the child/adolescent anxiety multimodal extended long-term study (CAMELS): primary anxiety outcomes. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2018 Jul;57(7):471-480. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.03.017] [Medline: 29960692]
- 7. World Health Organization. Global Accelerated Action for the Health of Adolescents (AA-HA!): Guidance to Support Country Implementation. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.

- Mental Health Foundation of New Zealand. 2012. Rising to the Challenge: The Mental Health and Addiction Service Plan Development Plan 2012-2017 URL: <u>https://www.mentalhealth.org.nz/assets/ResourceFinder/</u> rising-to-the-challenge-mental-health-addiction-service-development-plan.pdf [accessed 2019-08-10]
- Ministry of Health NZ. Youth Mental Health Project URL: <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/mental-health-and-addictions/</u> youth-mental-health-project [accessed 2019-09-10]
- Persson S, Hagquist C, Michelson D. Young voices in mental health care: exploring children's and adolescents' service experiences and preferences. Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry 2017 Jan;22(1):140-151. [doi: <u>10.1177/1359104516656722</u>] [Medline: <u>27368712</u>]
- 11. Golderring J, Rosen D. Getting into adolescent heads: an essential update. Contemp Pediatr 2004;21(64):64-90 [FREE Full text]
- Cohen E, Mackenzie RG, Yates GL. HEADSS, a psychosocial risk assessment instrument: implications for designing effective intervention programs for runaway youth. J Adolesc Health 1991 Nov;12(7):539-544. [doi: 10.1016/0197-0070(91)90084-y] [Medline: 1772892]
- Goodyear-Smith F, Martel R, Darragh M, Warren J, Thabrew H, Clark TC. Screening for risky behaviour and mental health in young people: the YouthCHAT programme. Public Health Rev 2017;38:20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40985-017-0068-1] [Medline: 29450092]
- Goodyear-Smith F, Corter A, Suh H. Electronic screening for lifestyle issues and mental health in youth: a community-based participatory research approach. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Nov 8;16(1):140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0379-z] [Medline: 27821128]
- 15. Christie G, Marsh R, Sheridan J, Wheeler A, Suaalii-Sauni T, Black S, et al. The substances and choices scale (SACS)--the development and testing of a new alcohol and other drug screening and outcome measurement instrument for young people. Addiction 2007 Sep;102(9):1390-1398. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01916.x] [Medline: 17645425]
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ primary care study. Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders. Patient Health Questionnaire. J Am Med Assoc 1999 Nov 10;282(18):1737-1744. [doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737] [Medline: 10568646]
- 17. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]
- 18. Welcome to eCHAT. Welcome to YouthCHAT URL: <u>https://echat.org/projects/youthchat/Home</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 19. Goodyear-Smith F, Arroll B, Coupe N. Asking for help is helpful: validation of a brief lifestyle and mood assessment tool in primary health care. Ann Fam Med 2009;7(3):239-244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.962] [Medline: 19433841]
- 20. Goodyear-Smith F, Coupe NM, Arroll B, Elley CR, Sullivan S, McGill A. Case finding of lifestyle and mental health disorders in primary care: validation of the 'CHAT' tool. Br J Gen Pract 2008 Jan;58(546):26-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3399/bjgp08X263785] [Medline: 18186993]
- 21. Goodyear-Smith F, Warren J, Bojic M, Chong A. eCHAT for lifestyle and mental health screening in primary care. Ann Fam Med 2013;11(5):460-466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1512] [Medline: 24019278]
- 22. Goodyear-Smith F, Warren J, Elley CR. The eCHAT program to facilitate healthy changes in New Zealand primary care. J Am Board Fam Med 2013;26(2):177-182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2013.02.120221] [Medline: 23471931]
- 23. Goodyear-Smith F, Arroll B, Coupe N, Buetow S. Ethnic differences in mental health and lifestyle issues: results from multi-item general practice screening. N Z Med J 2005 Apr 1;118(1212):U1374. [Medline: <u>15806177</u>]
- 24. Bradford S, Rickwood D. Young people's views on electronic mental health assessment: prefer to type than talk? J Child Fam Stud 2015;24(5):1213-1221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-014-9929-0] [Medline: 25960628]
- 25. Watson PD, Denny SJ, Adair V, Ameratunga SN, Clark TC, Crengle SM, et al. Adolescents' perceptions of a health survey using multimedia computer-assisted self-administered interview. Aust N Z J Public Health 2001 Dec;25(6):520-524. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-842x.2001.tb00316.x] [Medline: 11824987]
- Chisolm DJ, Gardner W, Julian T, Kelleher KJ. Adolescent satisfaction with computer-assisted behavioural risk screening in primary care. Child Adolesc Ment Health 2008 Nov 1;13(4):163-168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1475-3588.2007.00474.x] [Medline: 19779573]
- 27. Harris SK, Knight JR. Putting the screen in screening: technology-based alcohol screening and brief interventions in medical settings. Alcohol Res 2014;36(1):63-79 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26259001]
- 28. Renker PR. Breaking the barriers: the promise of computer-assisted screening for intimate partner violence. J Midwifery Womens Health 2008;53(6):496-503. [doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2008.07.017] [Medline: 18984505]
- Harris SK, Knight JR, Van Hook S, Sherritt L, Brooks TL, Kulig JW, et al. Adolescent substance use screening in primary care: validity of computer self-administered versus clinician-administered screening. Subst Abus 2016;37(1):197-203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/08897077.2015.1014615] [Medline: 25774878]
- Goodyear-Smith FA, van Driel ML, Arroll B, del Mar C. Analysis of decisions made in meta-analyses of depression screening and the risk of confirmation bias: a case study. BMC Med Res Methodol 2012 Jun 12;12:76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-76] [Medline: 22691262]

- Thabrew H, Corter A, Goodyear-Smith F, Goldfinch M. Randomized trial comparing the electronic composite psychosocial screener YouthChat with a clinician-interview assessment for young people: a study protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Jul 31;6(7):e135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7995] [Medline: 28760727]
- 32. Thomas DR. A general inductive approach for analyzing qualitative evaluation data. Am J Eval 2016 Jun 30;27(2):237-246. [doi: 10.1177/1098214005283748]
- Jackson N, Denny S, Sheridan J, Fleming T, Clark T, Peiris-John R, et al. Uneven reductions in high school students' alcohol use from 2007 to 2012 by age, sex, and socioeconomic strata. Subst Abus 2017;38(1):69-76. [doi: 10.1080/08897077.2016.1252827] [Medline: 27782782]
- Fleming TM, Clark T, Denny S, Bullen P, Crengle S, Peiris-John R, et al. Stability and change in the mental health of New Zealand secondary school students 2007-2012: results from the national adolescent health surveys. Aust N Z J Psychiatry 2014 May;48(5):472-480. [doi: 10.1177/0004867413514489] [Medline: 24317154]
- 35. Brooks SJ, Kutcher S. Diagnosis and measurement of anxiety disorder in adolescents: a review of commonly used instruments. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 2003;13(3):351-400. [doi: 10.1089/104454603322572688] [Medline: 14642023]
- 36. Myers K, Winters NC. Ten-year review of rating scales. I: overview of scale functioning, psychometric properties, and selection. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2002 Feb;41(2):114-122. [doi: 10.1097/00004583-200202000-00004] [Medline: 11837400]
- 37. Whitehouse SR, Lam P, Balka E, McLellan S, Deevska M, Penn D, et al. Co-creation with TickiT: designing and evaluating a clinical eHealth platform for youth. JMIR Res Protoc 2013 Oct 18;2(2):e42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2865] [Medline: 24140595]
- Bradford S, Rickwood D. Acceptability and utility of an electronic psychosocial assessment (myAssessment) to increase self-disclosure in youth mental healthcare: a quasi-experimental study. BMC Psychiatry 2015 Dec 1;15:305 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0694-4] [Medline: 26627041]
- 39. Parker A, Hetrick S, Purcell R. Psychosocial assessment of young people refining and evaluating a youth friendly assessment interview. Aust Fam Physician 2010 Aug;39(8):585-588 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20877754]
- 40. Costello EJ, Egger HL, Angold A. The developmental epidemiology of anxiety disorders: phenomenology, prevalence, and comorbidity. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2005 Oct;14(4):631-48, vii. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chc.2005.06.003</u>] [Medline: <u>16171696</u>]
- 41. Thapar A, Collishaw S, Pine DS, Thapar AK. Depression in adolescence. Lancet 2012 Mar 17;379(9820):1056-1067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4] [Medline: 22305766]
- 42. Kelly CM, Jorm AF, Wright A. Improving mental health literacy as a strategy to facilitate early intervention for mental disorders. Med J Aust 2007 Oct 1;187(S7):S26-S30. [Medline: <u>17908021</u>]
- 43. Committee on the Science of Changing Behavioral Health Social Norms, Board on Behavioral, Cognitive, and Sensory Sciences, Division of Behavioral and Social Sciences and Education, National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. The National Center for Biotechnology Information. Ending Discrimination Against People with Mental and Substance Use Disorders: The Evidence for Stigma Change URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27631043 [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 44. Gould MS, Greenberg T, Velting DM, Shaffer D. Youth suicide risk and preventive interventions: a review of the past 10 years. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2003 Apr;42(4):386-405. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.CHI.0000046821.95464.CF</u>] [Medline: <u>12649626</u>]
- 45. Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties in New Zealand Children: New Zealand Health Survey. Wellington: Ministry of Health; 2018.
- 46. Ministry of Health. Social, Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties in New Zealand Children: Technical Report. Wellington: Ministry of Health (Technical Report). Wellington: Ministry of Health; 2018.
- 47. Clark TC, Robinson E, Crengle S, Fleming T, Ameratunga S, Denny SJ, et al. Risk and protective factors for suicide attempt among indigenous Māori youth in New Zealand: the role of family connection. J Aborig Health 2011;7(1):16-48. [doi: 10.18357/ijih71201112350]
- 48. Gluckman P. Office of the Prime Minister's Science Advisory Committee. 2017. Youth Suicide in New Zealand: A Discussion Paper URL: <u>https://www.pmcsa.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/17-07-26-Youth-suicide-in-New-Zealand-a-Discussion-Paper.</u> pdf [accessed 2019-09-10]
- 49. Clark T, Fleming T, Bullen P, Crengle S, Denny S, Dyson B, et al. The Health and Wellbeing of Māori New Zealand Secondary School Students in 2012. Te Ara Whakapiki Taitamariki: Youth'12. Melbourne: Wiley; 2013.

Abbreviations

RenderX

GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7
HEEADSSS: Home, Education, Eating, Activities, Drugs and Alcohol, Sexuality, Suicide and Depression, Safety
PHQ-A: Patient Health Questionnaire-Adolescent Version
SACS: Substances and Choices Scale
YouthCHAT: Youth version, Case-finding and Help Assessment Tool

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13911

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.03.19; peer-reviewed by R Martel, M Subotic-Kerry; comments to author 29.06.19; revised version received 23.07.19; accepted 27.09.19; published 03.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
Thabrew H, D'Silva S, Darragh M, Goldfinch M, Meads J, Goodyear-Smith F
Comparison of YouthCHAT, an Electronic Composite Psychosocial Screener, With a Clinician Interview Assessment for Young People:
Randomized Trial
J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13911
URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13911
doi:10.2196/13911
PMID:31793890

©Hiran Thabrew, Simona D'Silva, Margot Darragh, Mary Goldfinch, Jake Meads, Felicity Goodyear-Smith. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 03.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

A Customized Social Network Platform (Kids Helpline Circles) for Delivering Group Counseling to Young People Experiencing Family Discord That Impacts Their Well-Being: Exploratory Study

Andrew Campbell^{1*}, BA, MAppSc, PhD; Brad Ridout^{1*}, PhD; Krestina Amon¹, PhD; Pablo Navarro², BPsych (Hons), MHlthSc, MAppPsych; Brian Collyer², BA, BSc (Hons); John Dalgleish², MBA

¹Cyberpsychology Research Group, Faculty of Medicine & Health, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

²Kids Helpline, Yourtown, Brisbane, Australia

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Andrew Campbell, BA, MAppSc, PhD Cyberpsychology Research Group Faculty of Medicine & Health The University of Sydney Level 2, Charles Perkins Centre Camperdown, 2006 Australia Phone: 61 415280495 Email: andrew.campbell@sydney.edu.au

Abstract

Background: It has often been reported that young people are at high risk of mental health concerns, more so than at any other time in development over their life span. The situational factors that young people report as impacting their well-being are not addressed as often: specifically, family discord. Kids Helpline, a national service in Australia that provides free counseling online and by telephone to young people in distress, report that family discord and well-being issues are one of the major concerns reported by clients. In order to meet the preferences that young people seek when accessing counseling support, Kids Helpline has designed and trialed a custom-built social network platform for group counseling of young people experiencing family discord that impacts their well-being.

Objective: In this exploratory study, we communicate the findings of Phase 1 of an innovative study in user and online counselor experience. This will lead to an iterative design for a world-first, purpose-built social network that will do the following: (1) increase reach and quality of service by utilizing a digital tool of preference for youth to receive peer-to-peer and counselor-to-peer support in a safe online environment and (2) provide the evidence base to document the best practice for online group counseling in a social network environment.

Methods: The study utilized a participatory action research design. Young people aged 13-25 years (N=105) with mild-to-moderate depression or anxiety (not high risk) who contacted Kids Helpline were asked if they would like to trial the social networking site (SNS) for peer-to-peer and counselor-to-peer group support. Subjects were grouped into age cohorts of no more than one year above or below their reported age and assigned to groups of no more than 36 participants, in order to create a community of familiarity around age and problems experienced. Each group entered into an 8-week group counseling support program guided by counselors making regular posts and providing topic-specific content for psychoeducation and discussion. Counselors provided a weekly log of events to researchers; at 2-week intervals, subjects provided qualitative and quantitative feedback through open-ended questions and specific psychometric measures.

Results: Qualitative results provided evidence of user support and benefits of the online group counseling environment. Counselors also reported benefits of the modality of therapy delivery. Psychometric scales did not report significance in changes of mood or affect. Counselors and users suggested improvements to the platform to increase user engagement.

Conclusions: Phase 1 provided proof of concept for this mode of online counseling delivery. Users and counselors saw value in the model and innovation of the service. Phase 2 will address platform issues with changes to a new social network platform. Phase 2 will focus more broadly on mental health concerns raised by users and permit inclusion of a clinical population of young people experiencing depression and anxiety.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR) ACTRN12616000518460; https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=370381

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16176) doi:10.2196/16176

KEYWORDS

social media; social networking; online counseling; family discord; well-being

Introduction

The demand for Australian online counseling services by young people experiencing family discord and the impact on emotional well-being are substantial and unabating; 8.18% (12,052) and 9.04% (13,322) of the 147,424 contacts recorded by yourtown Kids Helpline in 2018 were related to family relationship problems and emotional wellness, respectively [1]. Family discord is defined as disharmony among family members, which may or may not include the child; this can include persistent arguments, controlling behaviors, intimidations, and threats [2]. Improved service reach using online platforms, such as group counseling via a secure social network, is a cost-effective approach to solving consumer demand owing to its accessibility to tech-savvy young people and it gives them the ability to respond en masse. However, challenges in ensuring appropriate user engagement, delivering high-quality evidence-based counseling, and maintaining the confidentiality and safety of clients are key to determining the efficacy of an online mental health service.

It is established that the most popular online resource young people are attracted to is social networking [3-5] and, yet, such platforms are currently not used at scale by mental health services to support young peoples' mental health. This may be largely due to the problem with a lack of evidence-based implementation of social networking as a means of e-mental health service provision. Specifically, they are fraught with safety and privacy issues (ie, maintaining user anonymity as well as allowing counselors to monitor and intervene where necessary with at-risk clients). Of major note, globally, no research has been conducted in order to establish evidence-based policy and practice guidelines on how to group-counsel young people via a social network. Given this, online mental health support has typically been provided via chat, Web forum, or email-based counseling in a one-to-one, typically peer-to-peer, format by various mental health services. However, demand by young people for a secure and mobile phone-accessible mental health social networking service, where they can connect to counselors as well as peers experiencing similar issues, is growing given their online communication preferences [4,6]. In this study, we will use a custom-built social networking site (SNS) to address consumer demand as well as user preference for engaging with those with lived experience of family discord. While retaining the option to access counseling experts, this research aims to establish the viability and usability of Kids Helpline Circles (KHL Circles) as an innovative, purpose-built SNS delivered by yourtown Kids Helpline for Australian youth.

Kids Helpline is the leading national service in telephone and online counseling in Australia, given that it is the only 24/7 counselor-monitored service (ie, not a peer-to-peer counseling

service). Consumers who receive help via the service often wish to revisit in order to receive ongoing counseling support, not just one-time counseling or further referral to other services. Garcia [7] reported that there were more than 70,000 attempts to contact Kids Helpline in the first half of 2019 that were not answered due to the service not having enough online and telephone counselors to meet the increasing demand. To provide more flexibility in meeting demand, Kids Helpline is now focused on providing a professionally facilitated online community for long-term support of clients between the ages of 13 and 25 years, to provide continuous connection and ongoing counseling support to prevent relapse. However, the concept of a purpose-built, secure, private, and counselor-controlled e-mental health-focused SNS needs to be piloted in order to ensure its efficacy before launching it as a new support service for Australian young people.

This participatory action research (PAR)-designed exploratory study [8] sought to develop the evidence base to validate the proof of concept for KHL Circles: a purpose-built, private, and secure SNS, designed to provide 24/7 group counseling to young people in Australia experiencing family discord. This study draws on evidence that young people already seek out others via their private social network choices (eg, Facebook and Instagram) for peer support, in order to feel they are not alone with their problems [4]. However, there are serious concerns that seeking help from peers online who are strangers and nonexperts may expose young people to inaccurate or misleading information and hostile or derogatory comments, which may have a negative impact on their mental health [9]. KHL Circles seeks to address these concerns by providing clients with evidence-based mental health information and support delivered via group counseling. If needed, counselors can direct young people to community services to access legal, financial, disability, or employment advice. KHL Circles also facilitates peer support by connecting clients with other clients of a comparative age who are experiencing similar issues to share stories and support each other; it is facilitated and monitored by professionally trained and accredited counselors who are part of their closed, small-group, social network. This supportive, moderated, online approach has been identified as theoretically optimal in several recent studies that have proposed SNS as an adjunct to online mental health interventions [6,10,11]. However, no research has yet determined a working model for utilizing a private and secure, purpose-built, e-mental health social network for ongoing group counseling to support young people experiencing family discord and mental well-being concerns.

Methods

Participants

A total of 105 participants were recruited from the Kids Helpline telephone and Web-chat counseling service, as well as from their website and social media posts. The participants initially contacted the service to seek help for their concerns and upon counselor interview and assistance for their immediate concerns, they were introduced to the option to join KHL Circles as volunteer participants. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) aged 13-25 years and of any gender identity, (2) newly contacting or previously engaged (ie, returning client) with Kids

Table 1. Participant demographics and response count.

Helpline via one-on-one phone and/or Web counseling, (3) seeking support specifically for issues related to family discord and emotional well-being (eg, at-home psychological abuse, distress, or communication problems with family members), and (4) able to speak English (ie, required under ethical approval for the study, as no translator for other languages could be provided within the counselor-mediated social network). The mean age of participants was 16.2 years (SD 2.9) and the majority were female (86/105, 81.9%). The age, gender, and location breakdowns of participants are presented in Table 1. A total of 81.9% (86/105) of the sample spoke only English. Other languages also spoken included Mandarin, Cantonese, Dutch, Bosnian, Telugu, Punjabi, Bisaya, Korean, and Japanese.

Demographic	Participants (N=105), n (%)
Age (years)	
13-15	50 (47.6)
16-18	36 (34.3)
19-21	10 (9.5)
22-24	8 (7.6)
25	1 (1.0)
Gender	
Female	86 (81.9)
Male	10 (9.5)
Trans or gender diverse	6 (5.7)
Other	1 (1.0)
Missing	2 (1.9)
Location	
New South Wales	32 (30.5)
Victoria	22 (21.0)
Queensland	22 (21.0)
South Australia	4 (3.8)
Tasmania	1 (1.0)
Western Australia	1 (1.0)
Australian Capital Territory	3 (2.9)
Missing	15 (14.3)

Design and Procedures

This exploratory study used a single-group, PAR, mixed-method design [8] to assess the acceptability, safety, user experience, and potential mental health benefits of KHL Circles. There were six *Circles* (ie, Groups) conducted over a 12-month period, from May 2017 to May 2018. There were 9 participants in Groups 1 and 2 (conducted concurrently), 8 participants in Group 3, and 13 participants in Group 4 (conducted concurrently with Group 3). After the first four groups were completed, the number of participants per group was increased to 32 for Group 5 and 34 for Group 6 in response to qualitative feedback from participants and to increase engagement and activity within each Circle.

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16176/

RenderX

Volunteer participants who contacted a Kids Helpline phone or Web counselor received immediate one-to-one counseling (ie, standard care model for the service). While in one-to-one counseling, they were asked if they would be interested in joining the study trialing the peer-support social network, KHL Circles. Those who indicated they wanted to join the trial were informed that they may not be able to join one of the Circles in the social network immediately and, if this was the case, they would be asked to wait for the next group to begin. Potential volunteer participants were screened for severe mental health problems (ie, high-level depression and anxiety) or risk of self-harm behaviors before being permitted into the online group-counseling environment. Screening was conducted through counselor interview. Those who were deemed high risk

were provided with one-to-one counseling via Kids Helpline's regular telephone or Web counseling services. Once suitable participants were assigned to a KHL Circle, they completed an entrance survey containing psychometric tests to measure baseline depression, anxiety, self-esteem, and perceived social support.

All volunteer participant members of KHL Circles were asked to use pseudonyms in order to protect their identities from each other. The counselor facilitating the group was the only group member aware of their true identities. Participants were instructed not to reveal any identifying information during the trial, including any identifying photos or images. Those recruited were asked to give electronic consent if they were 16 years of age or older, or consent and optional assent from a parent or guardian if 15 years of age or under. Participants were also asked to read the Kids Helpline policy and agree that during their time in KHL Circles, if they choose to start their own social network support group on a non-Kids Helpline service (eg, Facebook), that Kids Helpline would not be liable for the safety and running of those groups.

Participants completed a baseline survey in the week prior to joining their Circle containing psychometric tests measuring levels of depression, anxiety, self-esteem, and perceived peer support. Participants were also asked to complete a *check-in* survey at the end of weeks 2, 4, and 6, and a final survey at the conclusion of the study (ie, end of week 8); all surveys contained the same four psychometric tests, along with open-response questions on their experiences of KHL Circles. Counselors provided weekly reports on their perceptions of group engagement and any group-counseling concerns or functional issues regarding the online platform. All participants were informed prior to joining KHL Circles that their Circle would be closed at the end of the 8-week cycle, after which each member may revert to one-to-one counseling using Kids Helpline telephone and Web counseling services.

The research protocol was approved by The University of Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) (Project #2016/132) and registered with the Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry (ANZCTR) (ACTRN12616000518460).

Kids Helpline Circles Platform

KHL Circles was developed by a team of researchers, psychologists, and programmers following consultation and beta testing with young Kids Helpline clients and using PAR design principles [8]. The platform was developed using the open-source social networking software Elgg [12], which was customized by a team of Web developers and graphic designers to meet the requirements of the service. The platform was available to participants via any Internet-enabled computer or mobile device. The mobile version of the site was adjusted to fit the size of the screen being used by the participant but included all the same components as the desktop version. Participants could log in to KHL Circles anytime throughout

the trial. The platform was run on Kids Helpline's own private servers and monitored by Kids Helpline counselors 7 days a week. Clients were also asked to report any risk they foresaw or major conflict within the group by contacting Kids Helpline via telephone or Web counseling services.

As part of the baseline survey, participants put forward their pseudonym, which was reviewed by the site administrator to ensure that it did not reveal their identity. In the days leading up to week 1, the site administrator assigned participants to their Circles and emailed them unique log-in details. Participants were asked to log in to the site prior to the week 1 commencement date to complete their profiles (ie, gender, hobbies, and likes) and to choose a profile picture from a suite of alien images (see Figure 1 for images of some of the alien characters for user choice). On the first day of week 1, a KHL counselor posted a welcome message explaining to participants how the Circle would be run and asked them to test out the posting features of the site (ie, posting text, pictures, and videos, and liking or commenting on posts of other users, similar to well-known Facebook functions; see Figure 1). Participants were also provided with some ground rules (eg, respecting others, no offensive material, and keeping their identity private) and were asked to expand on this list with their own expectations of their Circles.

The main menu bar of the site presented six tools:

- 1. Topics: the default view, which showed a list of the all discussion posts and threads posted to date, with the most recent at the top of the page.
- 2. Recent activities: allowed participants to quickly access topics they had contributed to.
- 3. Your profile: participants could update their profile information here.
- 4. Messages: participants could send and receive a private message to or from a Kids Helpline counselor but not to or from other participants.
- 5. Contact KHL: a link to the Kids Helpline phone and Web-chat counseling service.
- 6. Sign out.

For each Circle, Kids Helpline Counselors posted three new topics each week-every Monday, Wednesday, and Friday-consisting of age-appropriate psychoeducational material about family discord, including conversational text, images, and videos; topics also consisted of a reflection and discussion activity to encourage engagement and interaction between participants on ways of addressing various issues within this subject. Each week focused on one of eight modules: (1) Introduction; (2) Family relationships; (3) Emotions; (4) Mental health and resilience; (5) Help-seeking and social support; (6) Family communication and negotiation skills; (7) Conflict resolution, self-care, and relapse prevention; and (8) Summary and close. Participants could also start their own topics or contribute to an ongoing Song of the Day topic.



Figure 1. Kids Helpline Circles (KHL Circles) mobile phone interface design.



Safety Protocols

The safety protocol of KHL Circles is based upon the existing safety protocols of the Kids Helpline phone and Web counseling service, which includes policies for mandatory reporting. Monitoring of KHL Circles by Kids Helpline counselors was done 24/7 and was combined with having access to contact details via participants' Kids Helpline files; this allowed any potential risks to the safety or mental health of participants to be addressed proactively by contacting the participant directly via email or via the private messaging function of KHL Circles, encouraging them to contact the Kids Helpline phone counseling service.

KHL Circles was hosted on Kids Helpline's private server, using a URL secured with HTTP over Secure Socket Layer (SSL); HTTP Secure (HTTPS) conformed to industry best practice as defined by the Open Web Application Security Project [13]. Privacy and online safety were managed in accordance with recommendations by the eSafety Commissioner of the Australian Government [14], with participants required to accept the terms of use of KHL Circles, which included clauses regarding their privacy, online bullying or harassment, and the use of offensive comments. Participants were informed that failure to comply with guidelines may result in temporary or permanent removal from the service. In accordance with international standards for the legal age of having a social media account, only those 13 years of age and over were permitted into the study. Moreover, in accordance with The University of Sydney HREC and the ANZCTR, those aged 13-15 years needed to provide personal assent, while those 16 years of age and over

needed to provide personal consent. All participants under the age of 18 years were informed that they had the option to gain parental consent for the study.

Measures

The following psychometric tests were included as part of each survey (ie, the baseline survey; *check-in* surveys at weeks 2, 4, and 6; and the final survey at week 8): (1) the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support [15], (2) the Centre for Epidemiological Studies—Depression Scale for Children [16], (3) the Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale [17], and (4) the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale [18].

The baseline survey asked participants what they hoped to gain from KHL Circles (open response). Each check-in survey and the final survey asked participants whether they felt that KHL Circles had helped them feel supported in coping with their problems (yes/no) and, if so, what made them want to return to communicate with their Circle (open response). The final survey also asked participants to indicate how helpful they found KHL Circles (4-point scale), if they would return to KHL Circles for any future issues (yes/no), and what sorts of issues they would be comfortable discussing in KHL Circles (from a list of nine options or specify other). Participants were also asked to indicate the most helpful and least helpful aspects of KHL Circles (from a list of four options for each or specify *other*) and what they considered to be the most important features of a social media peer-support site (from a list of eight options or specify other). Each survey concluded with the opportunity for participants to provide any other comments or feedback (open response).

Safety was assessed using the following a priori indicators: (1) any instances of adverse events, (2) any instances of breaching guidelines of use, and (3) qualitative feedback from participants.

Results

Participants

As recorded in the baseline survey, most participants were female (86/105, 81.9%) and aged between 13 and 15 years

 Table 2. Participant demographics and response count.

(43/105, 41.0%). A total of 105 participants responded to the baseline survey; however, over the course of the study, the number of participants who completed the *check-in* surveys and the final survey (week 8) reduced significantly (see Table 2).

Questionnaire	Participants (N=105), n (%)
Baseline survey	105 (100)
Week 2 survey	48 (45.7)
Week 4 survey	12 (11.4)
Week 6 survey	13 (12.4)
Final survey (week 8)	8 (7.6)

Qualitative Data Analysis

A simple content analysis of responses to the qualitative questions was conducted. Each response was read and assigned an open code that summarized the key idea in their initial response [19,20]. For example, "to see if some other people are in my situation so I don't feel like my problems only apply to me and my family" was assigned an open code of Relate with others. Similar codes were grouped together under axial codes, which were given a descriptive heading. For example, Relate with others was grouped with Not to feel alone under Connect with others. Similar axial codes were then grouped together under main categories and provided with a descriptive title. For example, Connect with others was grouped with Receive support under the category Engage with others for support. KA reviewed all coding and BR provided a second review: each was a research associate covered under HREC approval for the study analysis. Disagreements were resolved by consensus [21].

As part of the baseline survey, participants were asked, "What do you hope to gain from joining Kids Help Line Circles?" Content analysis of the 105 participant responses to this question produced six categories: (1) *Engage with others for support* (76/105, 72.4%; eg, "I hope to gain support through meeting people going through similar experiences and not feeling as alone"); (2) *Receive information* (26/105, 24.8%; eg, "An insight into how others deal with similar circumstances"); (3) *Positive self-outcome* (22/105, 21.0%; eg, "Something that can make me feel happy and worthy of myself"); (4) *Provide support* (11/105, 10.5%; eg, "I hope to gain a better mindset and help others that are in trouble"); (5) *Miscellaneous* (3/105, 2.9%; eg, "I hope that it's worth joining"); and (6) *Unsure* (8/105, 7.6%).

As part of the *check-in* surveys, participants were asked, "Do you feel that being a member of the KHL Social Network 'Circles' has helped you feel supported in coping with your problems?" to which 41 out of 68 (60%) responses were *yes*. Participants were further asked, "If being part of Kids Helpline Circles has helped you, what makes you want to return to talk to people when you feel like it?" Content analysis of 22

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16176/
```

participants' open responses revealed four categories: (1) *Sense* of community (15/22, 68%); eg, "I feel like others understand what I am going through, and that I am not alone in my feelings and struggles"); (2) *Safe environment* (6/22, 27%; eg, "Knowing that it's a safe environment to help others and to get help"); (3) *Helpful environment* (5/22, 23%); eg, "All the people I have talked to is [sic] really nice and I feel like we all really make an effort to help and support each other in any way we can"); and (4) *Miscellaneous* (2/22, 2%; eg, "I don't use it much but I will try to more").

The final survey also asked participants, "Do you feel that being a member of the KHL Social Network 'Circles' has helped you feel supported in coping with your problems?" to which there were 5 responses, 3 (60%) of which were *yes*. Only one participant provided a response to the follow-up open-response question "If being part of Kids Helpline Circles has helped you, what makes you want to return to talk to people when you feel like it?" so qualitative analysis was not possible.

User Experience

As part of the final survey, participants were asked questions about their experiences using KHL Circles. Of the 8 participants who responded to the final survey, 5 (63%) provided responses to the user experience questions. The topics participants felt most comfortable discussing were peer relationships (3/5, 60%), family relationships (3/5, 60%), depression (3,/5 60%), and anxiety (3/5, 60%). Other responses included well-being, motivation, sexuality, romantic relationships, gender and identity, and image. When asked, "What did you find the most helpful aspect of KHL Circles?" responses included "connecting with people who understood my concerns" and "learning a lot about the topic discussed." The only unhelpful aspect identified was "focusing on just the topic" (ie, family discord). When asked about what they thought the most important features of a social media peer-support service were, the most common response was emojis (4/5, 80%), followed by games (3/5, 60%), anonymity (3/5, 60%), mobile phone app integration (3/5, 60%) and easy navigation (3/5, 60%).

Weekly Summary Reports by Counselor Facilitators

In addition to the questionnaires completed by participants, the counselor facilitators submitted weekly summaries to report on participant activity and user experiences. In each Circle, activity was highest in week 1, with 207 posts or comments and 532 *likes* in total across all groups. Activity generally started to drop off by week 2 (170 posts or comments and 326 *likes*), with the biggest drop during week 3 (73 posts or comments and 128 *likes*). Engagement typically continued to reduce over the remaining weeks, reaching a low of 11 posts or comments and 69 *likes* in week 8. Counselors reported a pattern where many participants were logging on and participating earlier in the week but not returning during the remainder of the week.

The most frequent comments made about the experience using the platform were about the navigation challenges. These included clunky scrolling mechanics, inability to resize images, manual linking of images and videos, and inability to archive posts for better flow. Frequent mention was also made about the need to include an automated time stamp to orient users about when posts were made.

Simple technical issues raised by participants involved issues uploading images and videos and the changing of passwords, which were guided or corrected by the counselors directly. Issues that needed immediate attention included counselors not being able to see groups due to log-in or log-out errors and an inability to directly message participants via Elgg, unless participants had directly messaged them first. One participant also suggested to counselors that mobile app notifications were needed, which was a function that was unfortunately not available within the Elgg platform.

Psychometric Tests Analysis

An intention of this exploratory study was to conduct repeated-measures quantitative analyses of the psychometric tests administered to participants; however, due to the drop-off in response rates between the baseline survey (105/105, 100%) and final survey (8/105, 7.6%), data quality was too low to conduct meaningful analysis.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This exploratory, mixed-methods, PAR study aimed to assess the user experience and potential benefits of a purpose-built social networking platform, KHL Circles, for online group counseling of young people experiencing family discord. Results showed that the main benefit participants hoped to gain from KHL Circles prior to joining was engaging with others with similar lived experiences. This was the most common theme identified in relation to engaging with others for support. Other themes identified included gaining new information and positive self-outcomes. While low response numbers precluded any significant findings from the psychometric measures used in the study, the majority of participants reported that the overall experience of being a member of KHL Circles helped them in being supported in coping with their problems with family discord. Of those who reported that the service did not help them, it was found that comorbid problems not specific to family

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16176/

discord may have been a factor (eg, school bullying, romantic relationship problems, and specific mental health concerns). While the response rate to the final survey was very low, the majority of those who did remain engaged through the full 8 weeks reported they would continue to use the purpose-built social network if it was made available, which qualitative responses indicated was largely due to obtaining a sense of community about a specific issue they all shared.

As reported by the counselor facilitators of KHL Circles, the least helpful aspect of KHL Circles was reported to be the Elgg platform itself, given that it was not easy to navigate or find threaded responses for counselor engagement with each group. Many users reported that the platform would have been more engaging if it was like existing, popular social networks that they were familiar with (eg, Facebook) and provided a better quality of standard tools (eg, emojis, games, and better mobile phone operability).

Limitations

While providing proof of concept for the KHL Circle model, results from this study are limited by low retention rates across the 8-week cycle of each group. User experience feedback should, therefore, be interpreted with caution as it only reflects the experiences of participants who completed the entire 8-week cycle. Completion rates of all psychometric surveys were poor beyond initial baseline collection (see Table 2), so no inferences could be drawn regarding any impact on mental health and emotional well-being. Low engagement with these surveys is not surprising given the age group studied and their primary motivation to be part of the study (ie, to connect with others the same age with lived experience of family discord). The length and clinical focus of the surveys-those not focused on family discord issues-may also have led to refusal to complete the surveys due to self-perceived lack of relevance, disinterest, or disengagement from the study. Phase 2 of KHL Circles will seek to significantly reduce the number and length of mental health surveys provided, as well as to make changes to the platform to increase engagement and activity within the groups in order to encourage higher retention across the 8-week program.

The recruitment for this study was restricted to those with mild-to-moderate levels of depression, anxiety, or stress, in order to abide by the strict ethics protocol provided for this exploratory research. As such, through careful ethical consideration of online safety of minors, this study may have inadvertently denied access to those who are in significant need of such an innovation to aid their distress around family discord and provide relatable online community support and expert counselor facilitation. Phase 2 will seek the inclusion of all young people who wish to access the KHL Circles service, given that Kids Helpline's services already attract a high level of distressed young people that would not fit the category of mild-to-moderate levels of depression and anxiety.

Of importance to note was the very high rate of female participants in this study. While not unusual to see more females than males engage in seeking help [22]—historically, yourtown Kids Helplines' client data over two decades supports this trend—ways in which to attract males to online services needs

XSL•FO RenderX

to be further explored. This could include the introduction of more *project*-oriented group counseling set around a focus activity such as gaming, for example [23].

From a technical perspective, the Elgg platform was reported by users and counselors to be too rigid to use in comparison to popular platforms such as Facebook. Given this, at the conclusion of the Phase 1 study, the researchers sourced a new platform called HumHub [24], which will undergo customization by Kids Helpline for Phase 2. It includes high-level server security features and functions requested by users (ie, emojis, better integration with linked images and videos, and notifications), with an interface like publicly available SNS's such as Facebook. Of notable importance for this research progressing into Phase 2 will be the continuous monitoring of user experience of the social network service platform in order to incorporate iterative design changes to meet the needs of both the end user (ie, client) and the counselor facilitator.

Conclusions

Social network uptake and sustained use by young people, not only for leisure but for community support or nonexpert counseling and advice-seeking, has been documented over many years [4,5,25-27]. The risk of utilizing nonexpert, nonsecure, social network support groups via such platforms as Facebook is problematic at best and dangerous at worst for the well-being and safety of young people [25,28]. Kids Helpline's innovation in developing a custom-built, social network platform focused on the two most common topics young people contact their services around: family discord and mental well-being. Phase 1 is the first phase of a series of PAR studies to refine such a resource to address typical youth issues. Thus, the findings from this study support proof of concept and user interest for its evolution as a service delivery model. The potential significance of the proposed research is the provision of greater access to online support for clients of Kids Helpline and other online mental health services globally; lack of access is highly problematic, given that young people often do not know how to access mental health services as first-time users, find the services on offer costly and invasive to their needs, or simply do not trust what is available, whether it is online or offline [3-5,9,11,22,25,27,29].

As determined by Ridout and Campbell's [6] systematic review, this research is the first of its kind in determining an innovative online model for cost-effective provision of short-to-long-term psychosocial support, with potential for ongoing group counseling support of Australian youth with mental illness. The applied research approach between academic experts, clinical expertise, and a not-for-profit group-yourtown Kids Helpline-demonstrates clearly the recommendations of utilizing a partnership model in innovating and developing mental health services for hard-to-reach populations (eg, youth) [29]. This research has moved on to Phase 2, where data collection began in 2018 and will continue through 2020, during which the implementation of the revised platform will be evaluated with the inclusion of a larger and more diverse user people group, inclusive young experiencing of greater-than-moderate levels of distress.

Acknowledgments

This research and development initiative was funded generously by a philanthropic contribution from the Future Generation Investment Fund (FGX) scheme; funding allowed for the development of KHL Circles and its initial evaluation phase [30].

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- yourtown Strategy and Research. Kids Helpline Insights 2018: National Statistical Overview. Brisbane, Australia: yourtown; 2019. URL: <u>https://www.yourtown.com.au/sites/default/files/document/</u> KHL%20Insights%20National%20Statistical%20Overview%202018a.pdf [accessed 2019-08-16]
- Coch D, Fischer KW, Dawson G, editors. Human Behavior, Learning, and the Developing Brain: Typical Development. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; 2007.
- 3. Campbell AJ, Robards F. Using Technologies Safely and Effectively to Promote Young People's Wellbeing: A Better Practice Guide for Services. Sydney, Australia: Young and Well Cooperative Research Centre; 2013 Mar. URL: <u>https://www.health.nsw.gov.au/kidsfamilies/youth/Documents/better-practice-guide.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-06-25]
- 4. O'Dea B, Campbell A. Healthy connections: Online social networks and their potential for peer support. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;168:133-140. [Medline: 21893921]
- 5. Chou WS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Social media use in the United States: Implications for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2009 Nov 27;11(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249] [Medline: 19945947]
- 6. Ridout B, Campbell A. The use of social networking sites in mental health interventions for young people: Systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 18;20(12):e12244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12244] [Medline: 30563811]
- 7. Garcia J. The Age. 2019 Jul 07. Thousands of Kids Helpline calls go unanswered URL: <u>https://www.theage.com.au/national/</u> <u>queensland/thousands-of-kids-helpline-calls-go-unanswered-20190705-p524he.html</u> [accessed 2019-08-16]
- 8. Schuler D, Namioka A, editors. Participatory Design: Principles and Practices. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; Mar 01, 1993.

- Naslund JA, Aschbrenner KA, Marsch LA, Bartels SJ. The future of mental health care: Peer-to-peer support and social media. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci 2016 Apr;25(2):113-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1017/S2045796015001067</u>] [Medline: <u>26744309</u>]
- Rice S, Gleeson J, Davey C, Hetrick S, Parker A, Lederman R, et al. Moderated online social therapy for depression relapse prevention in young people: Pilot study of a 'next generation' online intervention. Early Interv Psychiatry 2018 Aug;12(4):613-625. [doi: 10.1111/eip.12354] [Medline: 27311581]
- Alvarez-Jimenez M, Bendall S, Lederman R, Wadley G, Chinnery G, Vargas S, et al. On the HORYZON: Moderated online social therapy for long-term recovery in first episode psychosis. Schizophr Res 2013 Jan;143(1):143-149. [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.10.009] [Medline: 23146146]
- 12. Wikipedia. Elgg (software) URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Elgg (software) [accessed 2019-03-26]
- 13. Open Web Application Security Project (OWASP). OWASPTM Foundation: The free and open software security community URL: <u>https://www.owasp.org/index.php/</u> [accessed 2018-01-03]
- 14. eSafety. Sydney, Australia: eSafety Commissioner Safety by design URL: <u>https://www.esafety.gov.au/esafety-information/</u> <u>safety-by-design</u> [accessed 2018-01-03]
- 15. Zimet GD, Dahlem NW, Zimet SG, Farley GK. The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. J Pers Assess 1988 Mar;52(1):30-41. [doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2]
- Faulstich ME, Carey MP, Ruggiero L, Enyart P, Gresham F. Assessment of depression in childhood and adolescence: An evaluation of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale for Children (CES-DC). Am J Psychiatry 1986 Aug;143(8):1024-1027. [doi: 10.1176/ajp.143.8.1024] [Medline: 3728717]
- 17. Reynolds CR. Concurrent validity of What I Think and Feel: The Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale. J Consult Clin Psychol 1980;48(6):774-775. [doi: 10.1037//0022-006x.48.6.774]
- 18. Rosenberg M. Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press; 1965.
- Elo S, Kyngäs H. The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 2008 Apr;62(1):107-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x] [Medline: 18352969]
- 20. Hsieh H, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 2005 Nov;15(9):1277-1288. [doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687] [Medline: 16204405]
- 21. Krippendorff KH. Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. 4th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2019.
- 22. Mackenzie CS, Gekoski WL, Knox VJ. Age, gender, and the underutilization of mental health services: The influence of help-seeking attitudes. Aging Ment Health 2006 Nov;10(6):574-582. [doi: 10.1080/13607860600641200] [Medline: 17050086]
- Jones CM, Scholes L, Johnson D, Katsikitis M, Carras MC. Gaming well: Links between videogames and flourishing mental health. Front Psychol 2014;5:260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00260] [Medline: 24744743]
- 24. HumHub. The flexible open source social network kit URL: <u>https://humhub.org/en</u> [accessed 2018-06-30]
- 25. Notley T. Young people, online networks, and social inclusion. J Comput Mediat Commun 2009 Jul 01;14(4):1208-1227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009.01487.x]
- 26. O'Keeffe GS, Clarke-Pearson K, Council on Communications and Media. The impact of social media on children, adolescents, and families. Pediatrics 2011 Apr;127(4):800-804. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2011-0054</u>] [Medline: <u>21444588</u>]
- 27. Pascoe CJ. Resource and risk: Youth sexuality and new media use. Sex Res Social Policy 2011 Mar 12;8(1):5-17. [doi: 10.1007/s13178-011-0042-5]
- 28. Richards D, Caldwell PH, Go H. Impact of social media on the health of children and young people. J Paediatr Child Health 2015 Dec;51(12):1152-1157. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.13023] [Medline: 26607861]
- 29. Acharya B, Maru D, Schwarz R, Citrin D, Tenpa J, Hirachan S, et al. Partnerships in mental healthcare service delivery in low-resource settings: Developing an innovative network in rural Nepal. Global Health 2017 Jan 13;13(1):2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-016-0226-0] [Medline: 28086925]
- 30. Future Generation: Investment and Social Returns. Future Generation Global URL: <u>https://futuregeninvest.com.au/lic/future-generation-global-investment-company/</u> [accessed 2019-12-04]

Abbreviations

ANZCTR: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry FGX: Future Generation Investment Fund HREC: Human Research Ethics Committee HTTPS: HTTP Secure KHL Circles: Kids Helpline Circles PAR: participatory action research SNS: social networking site SSL: Secure Socket Layer



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.09.19; peer-reviewed by E Said-Hung, L Schwab-Reese; comments to author 04.10.19; revised version received 07.11.19; accepted 13.11.19; published 20.12.19.
<u>Please cite as:</u>
Campbell A, Ridout B, Amon K, Navarro P, Collyer B, Dalgleish J
A Customized Social Network Platform (Kids Helpline Circles) for Delivering Group Counseling to Young People Experiencing Family Discord That Impacts Their Well-Being: Exploratory Study
J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16176
URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16176/
Output: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16176/

©Andrew James Campbell, Brad Ridout, Krestina Amon, Pablo Navarro, Brian Collyer, John Dalgleish. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 20.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Compliance and Retention With the Experience Sampling Method Over the Continuum of Severe Mental Disorders: Meta-Analysis and Recommendations

Hugo Vachon¹, PhD; Wolfgang Viechtbauer^{1,2}, PhD; Aki Rintala¹, MSc; Inez Myin-Germeys¹, PhD

¹Center for Contextual Psychiatry, Department of Neurosciences, KU Leuven, Leuven, Belgium

²School for Mental Health and Neuroscience, Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

Corresponding Author: Hugo Vachon, PhD Center for Contextual Psychiatry, Department of Neurosciences KU Leuven Kapucijnenvoer 33 bus 7001 (blok h) Leuven, 3000 Belgium Phone: 32 0492087694 Email: hugo.vachon@eortc.org

Abstract

Background: Despite the growing interest in the experience sampling method (ESM) as a data collection tool for mental health research, the absence of methodological guidelines related to its use has resulted in a large heterogeneity of designs. Concomitantly, the potential effects of the design on the response behavior of the participants remain largely unknown.

Objective: The objective of this meta-analysis was to investigate the associations between various sample and design characteristics and the compliance and retention rates of studies using ESM in mental health research.

Methods: ESM studies investigating major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and psychotic disorder were considered for inclusion. Besides the compliance and retention rates, a number of sample and design characteristics of the selected studies were collected to assess their potential relationships with the compliance and retention rates. Multilevel random/mixed effects models were used for the analyses.

Results: Compliance and retention rates were lower for studies with a higher proportion of male participants (P<.001) and individuals with a psychotic disorder (P<.001). Compliance was positively associated with the use of a fixed sampling scheme (P=.02), higher incentives (P=.03), higher time intervals between successive evaluations (P=.02), and fewer evaluations per day (P=.008), while no significant associations were observed with regard to the mean age of the sample, the study duration, or other design characteristics.

Conclusions: The findings demonstrate that ESM studies can be carried out in mental health research, but the quality of the data collection depends upon a number of factors related to the design of ESM studies and the samples under study that need to be considered when designing such protocols.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14475) doi:10.2196/14475

KEYWORDS

experience sampling; ecological momentary assessment; compliance; retention; severe mental disorders

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The experience sampling method (ESM) [1] or ecological momentary assessment (EMA) [2] can be used interchangeably to refer to an assessment method that involves the collection of repeated and momentary self-evaluations in the context of an

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475
```

individual's daily life. Compared with conventional clinical tools that are typically administered once and in a lab/clinical setting, this methodology improves ecological validity, limits potential artifacts because of retrospective recall [3-6], can capture the within-person fluctuations of psychological states and behaviors [7-9], and allows for a more fine-grained examination of contextual factors [10-12]. As such, ESM is of particular interest in clinical psychology where patients are

affected by memory problems [3,4], unstable affective states [5,6], and by a heightened sensitivity to contextual factors [17-19]. ESM has, therefore, been extensively used in this field of research over the past 30 years [7,8], particularly in populations with depressive disorders [7,9] and psychosis [8,10].

Although ESM presents several advantages over conventional clinical assessment tools, the very nature of this method, requiring multiple self-evaluations over time in daily life, also introduces some challenges. One major challenge is to achieve high compliance and retention rates. The compliance rate can be defined as the ratio of the number of self-evaluations that participants actually completed over the theoretical maximum number of self-evaluations allowed by the protocol (0%-100% when expressed as a percentage), whereas the retention rate refers to the proportion (or percentage) of participants included in the final analyses (eg, a subject withdrawing their participation from a study, for example, because the data collection procedure is experienced to be too burdensome, would be excluded). These two rates are often inherently linked in ESM research, as participants providing an insufficient number of responses are conventionally excluded from the analyses [11], which in turn influences the retention rate.

In the framework of ESM, compliance and retention rates are often reported to describe the quantity of data collected and to provide an indication of the quality of the data collection procedures. ESM studies are naturalistic investigations, inevitably leading to missing data. When people are engaging in certain sport, leisure, or work activities, driving in their car, or taking a nap, they will not be able to fill out the ESM questionnaire (either because they do not hear the notification of the data collection device or because responding would be inconvenient, unsafe, or inappropriate to do in a given situation). Compliance rates close to 100% are therefore unlikely. Yet, ideally, one wants to reach the highest compliance possible, as this alleviates concerns about selective reporting at moments that are most convenient for the study participants (which could lead to bias). At the same time, we also need a sufficient number of data points to investigate, for example, variability over time, and to estimate stable associations between variables measured using this method. It is, therefore, important to identify how characteristics of both the ESM design and the samples under investigation influence compliance and retention. Using this information, we might be able to identify designs that are more acceptable to a given group of study participants.

To our knowledge, whether design and sample characteristics influence retention has not been the focus of prior research, but several studies have examined this question with respect to compliance. Compliance tends to decrease over the duration of the ESM follow-up [12], during the early mornings [26-28], the evenings [13], in the middle of the week [14], outside home [15], when questionnaires encompass more items [16], when successive self-evaluations are separated by longer periods [15], and in the absence of incentives [16]. In addition, even if not directly targeting compliance, Stone et al [17] found that the number of daily self-evaluations correlated significantly with an increased perception of burdensomeness, which may indirectly impact compliance. In other words, compliance may be tightly related to methodological aspects that researchers

XSL•FO

could adjust to increase the amount of data collected and to enhance the acceptability of ESM for study participants.

The ESM literature displays a rather heterogeneous methodological landscape. Designs vary from 2 [18] to 50 evaluations per day [19], occurring at fixed [20], semirandom [21], or random time intervals [22], for 1 [23] to 150 days [24], using paper-and-pencil [25] or electronic devices [26], Likert scales [27], or visual analogue scales [28], and with questionnaires varying in length from 2 [29] to 100 items [30]. In addition, Janssens et al [31] argued that the methodological choices in designing ESM research are often guided more by practical considerations (contextual constraints, statistical requirements, and replication of existing protocols) rather than based on theory or evidence. Thus, whereas these decisions may have considerable influence on the quality of the data collection, there is currently a lack of empirical evidence to guide researchers when designing their ESM protocols.

The compliance rate in ESM studies may also be influenced by the individual characteristics of the study samples. Indeed, compliance appears to drop in relation to the ratio of male participants [14,32], in substance users [14], alcohol users [15], and in younger samples [16], but also in individuals with higher levels of negative affect [15], or in those with a psychotic disorder [32], putting clinical samples at particular risk for exhibiting low compliance levels.

Therefore, both design- and participant-related factors may influence compliance. Fortunately, compliance is typically reported within the ESM literature, making this information highly accessible for a meta-analysis over a large sample of studies. To date, two studies have addressed this question through a meta-analysis. Morren et al [16] demonstrated the effect of several design- (ie, length of ESM questionnaires, use of an alarm, and use of an incentive) and participant-related (ie, age and gender of the sample) characteristics on the compliance rate in ESM studies. Conversely, Jones et al [33] did not observe any effect of design characteristics (ie, frequency of evaluations, duration of the study, and device) or of clinical status (ie, substance use) on compliance. However, these reviews focused on patients with chronic pain and substance users, respectively, which limits the comparability of their findings and, importantly, the generalizability to other clinical samples. Finally, the potential influence of design and sample characteristics on the retention rate in ESM research remains unexplored.

Objective

This meta-analysis, therefore, aims to fill this gap and examines compliance and retention in ESM studies focusing on severe mental disorders, investigating the effect of a large set of designand participant-related factors with the aim to provide, if achievable, empirically-based guidelines that could support researchers' choices in designing ESM protocols.

Methods

Protocol Registration

This study was based on the PRISMA-P (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols) guidelines [34]. The protocol has been registered in the

International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews database (PROSPERO 2017: CRD42017060322) and is described in more detail elsewhere [35].

Data Sources and Literature Search

A systematic literature search was performed until February 2017 without publication time limit in PubMed and Web of Science (ie, Web of Science Core Collection). The search strategy was designed to include relevant terms for identifying studies using momentary assessment methods (eg, "experience sampling method" and "ecological momentary assessment") and terms related to the clinical diagnosis of the participants under study (eg, "psychotic disorder", "major depressive disorder", and "bipolar disorder"). The search strategy used either Medical Subject Heading or keyword headings. A concept plan was built with the identified keywords and descriptors to run the search (see Multimedia Appendix 1).

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Studies using ESM/EMA designs in adults with a psychotic disorder, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, or at high risk for these disorders, and samples of the general population including individuals with or at high risk for these disorders have been included in this review to cover a broader range of the continuum of mood and psychotic disorders. Observational and randomized controlled studies have been included. Case studies, case reports, protocols, descriptions of study designs, systematic reviews, and studies published in a language other than English have not been considered. When available within the included studies, data from nonpsychopathological/healthy control groups have also been considered to serve as a reference group. Studies with only a single daily assessment have been excluded as this form of time sampling is qualitatively distinct from the repeated momentary assessments within a day that defines ESM research. To determine the eligibility of the original studies, two researchers (HV and AR) independently conducted the screening of the studies in the title/abstract and full-text phases based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Screening results were compared with identify any discrepancies. In case of a disagreement, a third researcher (IM-G) was consulted and the discrepancy was resolved through group consensus.

Data Extraction

When available, data were extracted for the following items: (1) general study characteristics (ie, authors, title, year, and study design); (2) sample characteristics (ie, number of participants included in the study/analysis, mean age, gender composition, clinical status, ethnicity, educational status, employment status, marital status, cohabiting status, and medication use); (3) design characteristics (ie, number of momentary assessments per day, number of assessment days, number of assessment, delay between assessment periods, sampling method [fixed, semirandom, or random sampling], time intervals between the first and the last assessment within a day, time of the start and the end of the assessments within a day, number of items

in the questionnaire, approximate mean duration of the questionnaire, type of scales used in the questionnaire, type of method used to perform the assessment, type of incentive, and amount of the incentive); and (4) the compliance rate (proportion of self-evaluations completed by the participants compared with the theoretical maximal number of self-evaluations allowed by the design) and the retention rate (proportion of individuals included in the final analysis out of the number of individuals included at baseline). For studies that included multiple groups (eg, a psychotic disorder group and a healthy control group), sample/design characteristics and the compliance and retention rates were coded at the group level. Studies that fulfilled the inclusion criteria were examined for overlapping samples (Multimedia Appendix 1). When needed, the corresponding authors of the original studies were contacted for further information. Data from the included studies have been extracted and stored in a customized spreadsheet structured according to the items mentioned above, which is provided as part of the Multimedia Appendix 1.

Risk of Bias

According to the PRISMA guidelines, risk of bias should be assessed for each study (eg, lack of blinding, lack of randomization). However, the current review did not investigate randomized controlled trials and neither compliance nor retention rates were primary outcomes within the sample of studies included in the meta-analysis. Additionally, there is to date no standardized risk of bias assessment guideline for ambulatory studies. The evaluation of the risk of bias was therefore not performed (although we did examine the data for potential publication bias; see further below).

Statistical Analysis

For compliance, there is, in principle, a proportion of completed self-evaluations per participant (eg, 0.80 for the first subject, 0.65 for the second subject, and so on), but this information is never reported. Instead, we analyzed the mean proportions (equation [a], Figure 1), where p_{ij} denotes the proportion of completed evaluations for the *j*th participant in the *i*th group and n_i the group size). We expected either p_i to be reported directly (either in terms of a proportion or percentage) or the total number of self-evaluations collected, which is easily converted to p_i (equation [b], Figure 1), where x_i denotes the total number of self-evaluations collected and m_i the theoretical maximal number of self-evaluations per subject as allowed by the design). The sampling variance of p_i was computed following equation (c) (equation [c], Figure 1), where SD_i is the SD of the compliance rates of the n_i subjects in the *i*th group. As SD_i was not available for approximately half of the groups, we imputed missing SD_i values based on the expected quadratic relationship between p_i and SD_i (ie, SD_i must be 0 for p_i equal to 0 and 1 and will peak around $p_i=0.5$). For this, we first meta-analyzed the available log-transformed SD_i values [36] using a mixed effects meta-regression model with p_i and p_i^2 as predictors and then imputed missing SD_i values based on the fitted values from this model (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 1. Equations.

(a) $\bar{p}_{i} = (\sum_{j=1}^{n_{i}} p_{ij})/n_{i}$ (b) $\bar{p}_{i} = x_{i}/(n_{i} \times m_{i})$ (c) $Var[\bar{p}_{i}] = SD_{i}^{2}/n_{i}$ (d) $y_{i} = \arcsin(\sqrt{p_{i}})$ (e) $Var[y_{i}] = 1/(4 \times n_{i})$

For the analysis of the retention rates, the reported/calculated proportions (of individuals included in the final analysis compared with the number of individuals included at baseline) were first transformed using the (variance-stabilizing) arcsine transformation before the analysis (equation [d], Figure 1), where p_i is the proportion of individuals in the *i*th group that were retained for the final analysis [37]. This allowed the inclusion of groups with perfect (ie, 100%) retention rates (which occurred in about a quarter of the groups) without the need to make use of continuity corrections. The sampling variance of the transformed proportions was computed following equation (e), Figure 1.

As a study may include multiple groups, we used a multilevel random/mixed effects model [38] with random effects for studies and groups within studies for the analysis of both outcomes. The overall mean compliance and retention rates, averaged over groups and studies, were estimated using intercept-only models. The influence of the various sample and design characteristics on the outcomes was examined by including such characteristics as predictors in the models. Group type (6 levels: healthy control, general population, high risk, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, and psychotic disorder), ESM sampling scheme (3 levels: fixed, semirandom, and random), data collection method (7 levels: paper-and-pencil, personal digital assistant [PDA], Web-based, call, SMS, voicemail, and mixed), and scale type (3 levels: Likert scale, visual analogue scale, and mixed) were included as factors in the models. All other design characteristics (eg, duration of the ESM follow-up and frequency of the daily evaluations) and sample characteristics (eg, mean age of the sample) were included as continuous predictors in the models. Each of the design and sample characteristics was

examined separately. All models were fitted using restricted maximum likelihood estimation, using the R metafor package [39] for the analyses. For the intercept-only models, we report the estimated mean rates (as percentages and after back transformation of the mean arcsine rate for retention) with corresponding 95% CIs. For the meta-regression models, we report the model coefficients, corresponding standard errors, tests and 95% CIs of the individual coefficients, and, for models containing factors, the Q_M test of the factor as a whole. For each

meta-regression model, we also report pseudo- R^2 -type values [40] for the between-study and between-group variance accounted for by the moderator included in the model.

Heterogeneity was assessed using the Q-test [41] and based on the estimates of the between-study and between-group heterogeneity variance components (with 95% profile likelihood confidence intervals). The presence of outliers or influential studies was determined based on using Cook distance [42] and by examining the distribution of the standardized residuals and the predicted random effects at the group and study levels. Funnel plots and meta-regression models using sample size as predictor were used to examine the data for funnel plot asymmetry.

Results

After screening based on title and abstract, a total of 220 studies were considered for inclusion (Figure 2). Of these, 141 were excluded for reasons as outlined in Figure 2. Finally, 79 studies fulfilled all inclusion criteria (Multimedia Appendix 1). Table 1 shows the characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis.



Figure 2. Flow chart of study inclusion protocol.




Table 1. Descriptive statistics of the sample of studies (N=79).

Vachon et al

Characteristics	Study level, n (%)	Group level, n (%)
General characteristics		
Year of publication		
<2000	4 (5)	N/A ^a
2000-2004	4 (5)	N/A
2005-2009	10 (13)	N/A
2010-2014	41 (52)	N/A
≥2015	20 (25)	N/A
Sample size		
0-49	24 (30)	80 (61)
50-99	26 (33)	32 (24)
100-149	14 (18)	9 (7)
150-199	6 (8)	4 (3)
≥200	9 (11)	7 (5)
Number of groups per study		
1	42 (53)	N/A
2	26 (33)	N/A
3	7 (9)	N/A
4	3 (4)	N/A
5	1 (1)	N/A
ample characteristics		
Age (years)		
18-29	29 (37)	39 (30)
30-39	23 (29)	45 (34)
40-49	15 (19)	27 (21)
≥50	3 (4)	5 (4)
Unavailable	9 (11)	16 (12)
Gender (% female)		
<25	4 (5)	11 (8)
25-49	18 (23)	28 (21)
50-74	34 (43)	57 (43)
≥75	17 (22)	26 (20)
Unavailable	6 (8)	10 (8)
Clinical status		
Healthy controls	N/A	33 (25)
General population	N/A	19 (14)
High risk for a severe mental disorder	N/A	10 (8)
Major depressive disorder	N/A	30 (23)
Bipolar disorder	N/A	9 (7)
Psychotic disorder	N/A	31 (24)
Design characteristics		
Number of days		
1-5	12 (15)	20 (15)

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475

XSL•FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2019 | vol. 21 | iss. 12 |e14475 | p.145 (page number not for citation purposes)

Vachon et al

racteristics	Study level, n (%)	Group level, n (%)	
6-10	54 (68)	94 (71)	
>10	13 (17)	18 (14)	
Number of evaluations/day			
2-3	11 (14)	17 (13)	
4-5	23 (29)	33 (25)	
6-7	6 (8)	11 (8)	
8-9	9 (11)	13 (10)	
10	27 (34)	54 (41)	
>10	2 (3)	3 (2)	
Unavailable	1 (1)	1 (1)	
Sampling scheme			
Fixed	14 (18)	23 (17)	
Semirandom	32 (41)	55 (42)	
Random	31 (39)	51 (39)	
Unavailable	2 (3)	3 (2)	
Number of items			
<20	36 (46)	58 (44)	
20-39	24 (30)	36 (27)	
40-59	8 (10)	15 (11)	
≥60	1 (1)	4 (3)	
Unavailable	10 (13)	19 (14)	
Scale type			
Likert scale	46 (58)	80 (61)	
Visual analogue scale	8 (10)	11 (8)	
Mixed	23 (29)	38 (29)	
Unavailable	2 (3)	3 (2)	
Data collection method			
Paper	27 (34)	50 (38)	
Personal digital assistant	42 (53)	66 (50)	
Other	11 (14)	16 (12)	
Compliance rate (%)			
50-59	3 (4)	7 (5)	
60-69	8 (10)	12 (9)	
70-79	24 (30)	39 (30)	
80-89	21 (27)	35 (27)	
≥90	9 (11)	16 (12)	
Unavailable	14 (18)	23 (17)	
Retention rate (%)			
50-59	1 (1)	2 (1)	
60-69	4 (5)	6 (4)	
70-79	10 (13)	13 (10)	
80-89	11 (14)	19 (14)	
≥90	46 (58)	76 (58)	

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475

XSL•FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2019 | vol. 21 | iss. 12 |e14475 | p.146 (page number not for citation purposes)

JOURNAL OF MEDICAL INTERNET RESEARCH	Vachon et al	
Characteristics	Study level, n (%)	Group level, n (%)
Unavailable	7 (9)	16 (12)

^aN/A: not applicable.

Descriptive Information

The final sample of studies comprised 8013 individuals from 132 different groups (with 1-5 groups per study). The mean age of the individuals was 31.7 years (SD 10.3, range of the mean age of the groups=18-71.9), and 62.79% (5032/8013) of the participants were female (SD 23.1, range of the percentage of females in the groups=6.7%-100%). Overall, 1282 (1282/8013, 16.00%) were individuals without a diagnosis of psychiatric illness, 3456 (3456/8013, 43.13%) were recruited from the general population, 1423 (1432/8013, 17.76%) were diagnosed with a psychotic disorder, 1326 (1326/8013, 16.55%) were diagnosed with major depressive disorder, 266 (266/8013, 3.32%) were diagnosed with bipolar disorder, and 260 (260/8013, 3.24%) were diagnosed with a high risk for one of the mental disorders under study.

From a design perspective, ESM studies included in the meta-analysis involved a mean of 6.9 evaluations per day (SD 3.0, range 2-14) for 11.2 days (SD 19.0, range 1-150) for a total mean number of 60.2 evaluations per study (SD 45.0, range 8-300). Successive evaluations within a day were separated by an average of 131.2 min (SD 92.8, range 45-720) and participants were required to fill in evaluations during a mean total time window of 13.5 h per day (SD 2.2, range 3-17). The sampling scheme was random in 39.2%, semirandom in 40.5%, and fixed in 17.7% of the studies. On average, 22.5 items per questionnaire were collected by the ESM studies (SD 18.6, range 2-135). As compensation, the mean value of the incentives for the completion of the ESM studies was €63.6 (SD 69, range 0-350).

Other variables such as ethnicity, education level, marital status, or other design parameters (eg, continuous or intermittent assessment, approximate mean duration of the questionnaire, type of incentive, and strategies taken by the researchers to maintain/increase retention and compliance) may be relevant for the association with compliance and retention, but were reported inconsistently or by too few studies to be taken into account.

Meta-Analyses of the Compliance and Retention Rates

Mean compliance was reported in 65 (65/79, 82%) of the studies, whereas retention rate was reported in 73 (73/79, 92%) of the studies, and 58 (58/79, 73%) of the studies reported both compliance and retention rates. All studies included in the analysis reported at least one of these main outcomes. At the group level, compliance rates were available for 109 (109/132, 82.6%), and retention rates were available for 116 (109/132, 87.9%) of the groups (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for forest plots). On the basis of the multilevel models, the estimated average compliance was 78.7% (95% CI 76.2 to 81.2), and the estimated average retention was 93.1% (95% CI 90.8 to 95.1). However, 2 studies with very low compliance rates [43,44] and 3 studies with very low retention rates [44-46] were found to be overly influential based on their Cook distances (larger than the median Cook distance plus 2.5 times the interquartile range) and were excluded from further analyses (Multimedia Appendix 1). On the basis of the reduced dataset, the estimated average compliance and retention increased slightly to 79.7% (95% CI 77.5-81.8) and 94% (95% CI 92.0-95.7), respectively.

The underlying true effects were heterogeneous, showing Q_{104} =3398.31, P<.001, and Q_{111} =666.94, P<.001, for compliance and retention, respectively. For compliance, the estimates of the between-study and between-group variance components were 50.9 (95% CI 22.4-89.4) and 33.3 (95% CI 19.7-58.2), respectively. Hence, a larger part of the total amount of heterogeneity in the underlying true outcomes was because of differences between studies (60%) as opposed to differences between groups (40%). The same pattern held for retention, with estimated between-study and between-group variance components of 0.015 (95% CI 0.006-0.028; 57% of total amount of heterogeneity) and 0.011 (95% CI 0.005-0.022; 43% of total amount of heterogeneity), respectively.

Visual inspection of the funnel plots did not reveal any marked asymmetry (Figure 3). Moreover, the regression test for funnel plot asymmetry was not significant for either outcome (P=.24 and P=.84, respectively).



Figure 3. Funnel plots for compliance and retention.



Retention 500 400 Sample size (n) 300 200 6 0 50 60 100 70 80 90 97 Retention (%) (arcsine scale)

Meta-Regression Analyses of the Sample Characteristics

The results of the meta-regression analyses of the sample characteristics are shown in Table 2. For some continuous predictors, the distribution of the predictor included some extremely large or low values. In such cases, we restricted the analysis to a range that excluded such extreme values. Scatterplots of the unrestricted and the restricted data (where applicable) are provided as part of Multimedia Appendix 1.

The analyses revealed significant relationships between some of the characteristics of the participants and the mean compliance and retention rates. Specifically, the proportion of women in ESM studies was found to be a significant predictor of both compliance (P<.001) and retention (P=.006), with estimated compliance and retention levels increasing by 18.1% and 11.9% points, respectively, when comparing a sample constituted exclusively of female participants with a sample composed exclusively of male participants. Second, the clinical status of the participants was also found to be a significant predictor of compliance and retention (P<.001). In particular, mean compliance and retention rates of samples of individuals without a psychiatric condition were estimated to be 10.8% and 9.5% points, respectively, higher when compared with samples of individuals with a psychotic disorder. Contrary to our expectations based on previous research, the mean age of the samples did not exhibit a significant relationship with compliance (P=.08) nor retention (P=.35).



Vachon et al

Table 2. Results of the meta-regression analyses of the sample characteristics.

Sample characteristics	k	Estimate	SE	P value	95% CI	Q _M test (<i>df</i>)	R ² (%)	
							Study	Group
Compliance							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Age	98					a	34	0
Intercept		85.65	3.44		78.91-92.39			
Beta		-0.18	0.1	.08	-0.38 to 0.02			
Gender (% female)	99					—	0	44
Intercept		68.41	2.51		63.49-73.33			
Beta		0.18	0.04	<.001	0.11-0.25			
Clinical status	105					41.48 (5)	0	54
Intercept (HC ^b)		82.61	1.53		79.61-85.6			
Beta (GP ^c)		-1.55	2.6	.55	-6.64 to 3.54			
Beta (HR ^d)		-1.67	2.36	.48	-6.30 to 2.96			
Beta (MDD ^e)		-0.77	1.8	.67	-4.31 to 2.76			
Beta (BD ^f)		0.57	2.44	.82	-4.21 to 5.36			
Beta (PD ^g)		-10.77	1.75	<.001	-14.2 to -7.34			
Retention								
Age	102					_	0	42
Intercept		1.382	0.067		1.250-1.514			
Beta		-0.00	0.002	.35	-0.006-0.002			
Gender (% female)	107					—	12	0
Intercept		1.183	0.055		1.075-1.290			
Beta		0.002	0.001	<.01	0.001-0.004			
Clinical status	112					26.27 (5)	0	41
Intercept (HC)		1.405	0.031	_	1.344-1.466			
Beta (GP)		-0.081	0.047	.09	-0.173 to 0.011			
Beta (HR)		-0.123	0.064	.06	-0.249 to 0.004			
Beta (MDD)		-0.035	0.041	.39	-0.114 to 0.045			
Beta (BD)		-0.098	0.064	.13	-0.224 to 0.028			
Beta (PD)		-0.192	0.039	<.001	-0.268 to -0.116			

^aNot applicable.

^bHC: healthy control.

^cGP: general population.

^dHR: high risk for a severe mental disorder.

^eMDD: major depressive disorder.

^fBD: bipolar disorder.

^gPD: psychotic disorder.

Meta-Regression Analyses of the Design Characteristics

The results of the meta-regression analyses of the design characteristics are shown in Table 3. The analyses revealed significant relationships between some of the design characteristics and compliance but not with retention. First, the number of evaluations per day was found to be a significant predictor of compliance (P=.008). To illustrate, mean compliance is estimated to fall by 8% points when comparing a follow-up involving 2 evaluations per day with a follow-up involving 10 evaluations per day (Figure 4).

Second, the duration of the time interval between successive evaluations within a day was also found to be a significant

XSL•FO RenderX

predictor of compliance (P=.02), with an estimated decrease in mean compliance by 10.8% points when comparing time intervals of 240 min with time intervals of 60 min. Third, relying on fixed sampling is predicted to yield a mean compliance that is 6.7% points higher (P=.02) compared with more conventional semirandom sampling (which did not differ from random sampling, P=.78). Fourth, the use of Web-based or mixed data collection method (ie, using different devices or platforms) was found to be a significant predictor of compliance (*P*=.03) compared with the use of PDAs, with an estimated decrease in mean compliance by 14% points and 16.5% points, respectively. Finally, the value of the incentives was found to significantly predict compliance (*P*=.02), with an estimated increase of 8.8% points in mean compliance when comparing the use of €200 incentives.



Vachon et al

 Table 3. Results of the meta-regression analyses of the design characteristics.

Design characteristics	k	Estimate	SE	P value	95% CI	Q _M test (df)	R ² (%)	
							Study	Group
Compliance					-			
Evaluations	104					a	19	0
Intercept		86.23	2.75		80.84-91.61			
Beta		-0.99	0.38	<.01	-1.73 to -0.25			
Days	103					_	1	0
Intercept		78.69	1.86		75.04-82.34			
Beta		0.14	0.18	.43	-0.21 to 0.49			
Hours/day	76					_	36	0
Intercept		74.8	10.41		54.39-95.21			
Beta		0.28	0.76	.71	-1.21 to 1.78			
Duration between evalua- tions	71					_	51	0
Intercept		71.43	3.4		64.76-78.10			
Beta		0.06	0.02	.02	0.01-0.11			
Items	83					_	0	0
Intercept		81.96	2.39		77.27-86.65			
Beta		-0.15	0.1	.14	-0.34 to 0.05			
Sampling scheme	103					6.78	22	0
Intercept (semirandom)		78.5	1.64		75.27-81.72			
Beta (random)		-0.63	2.29	.78	-5.13 to 3.86			
Beta (fixed)		6.7	2.95	.02	0.90-12.50			
Data collection method	105					14.98	27	0
Intercept (PDA ^b)		81.14	1.38		78.45-83.84			
Beta (paper-pencil)		-2.90	2.24	.20	-7.29 to 1.49			
Beta (calls)		6.89	4.75	.15	-2.43 to 16.20			
Beta (SMS)		-0.91	6.06	.88	-12.79 to 10.97			
Beta (voicemail)		-12.64	8.19	.12	-28.69 to 3.41			
Beta (Web-based)		-13.99	6.49	.03	-26.70 to -1.27			
Beta (mixed)		-16.5	7.79	.03	-31.77 to -1.23			
Scale type	102					0.28 ^c	7	0
Intercept (LS ^d)		79.03	1.45		76.19-81.87			
Beta (VAS ^e)		-0.84	3.45	.81	-7.60 to 5.93			
Beta (mixed)		0.98	2.48	.69	-3.87 to 5.83			
Incentives	43					—	23	0
Intercept		75.36	2.23		70.99-79.73			
Beta		0.04	0.02	.02	0.01-0.09			
Retention								
Evaluations	111						0	1
Intercept		1.275	0.053		1.171-1.379			
Beta		0.007	0.007	.34	-0.007 to 0.020			

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475

XSL•FO RenderX

Vachon et al

Design characteristics	k	Estimate	SE	P value	95% CI	Q _M test (<i>df</i>)	R ² (%)	
							Study	Group
Days	109					_	0	0
Intercept		1.329	0.036		1.259-1.399			
Beta		-0.000	0.004	.96	0.007-0.007			
Hours/day	87					_		
Intercept		1.358	0.186		0.994-1.722			
Beta		-0.001	0.014	.92	-0.028 to 0.025			
Duration between evalua- tions	86					_	2	17
Intercept		1.36	0.06		1.243-1.478			
Beta		-0.000	0	.71	-0.001 to 0.001			
Items	92					_	0	2
Intercept		1.274	0.044		1.188-1.360			
Beta		0.002	0.002	.35	-0.00 to 0.01			
Sampling scheme	111					0.17 ^c	0	0
Intercept (semirandom)		1.322	0.031		1.263-1.382			
Beta (random)		-0.007	0.045	.88	-0.095 to 0.082			
Beta (fixed)		0.018	0.058	.76	-0.095 to 0.131			
Data collection method	112					7.22 ^c	7	0
Intercept (PDA)		1.342	0.026		1.291-1.393			
Beta (paper-pencil)		-0.039	0.043	.36	-0.124 to 0.046			
Beta (calls)		-0.123	0.114	.28	-0.346 to 0.101			
Beta (SMS)		0.082	0.121	.50	-0.155 to 0.318			
Beta (Web-based)		-0.153	0.089	.09	-0.328 to 0.022			
Beta (mixed)		0.229	0.164	.16	-0.093 to 0.550			
Scale type	111					1.55 ^c	0	0
Intercept (LS)		1.3	0.026		1.248-1.352			
Beta (VAS)		0.062	0.07	.37	-0.074 to 0.198			
Beta (mixed)		0.047	0.045	.30	-0.042 to 0.135			
Incentives	52					_	0	19
Intercept		1.272	0.041		1.193-1.352			
Beta		0	0	.62	-0.001 to 0.001			

^aData not applicable.

^bPDA: personal digital assistant.

^cNot significant.

^dLS: Likert scale.

^eVAS: visual analogue scale.



Figure 4. Graphical representation of the relationship between the compliance of experience sampling method studies and the frequency of daily self-evaluations.



Discussion

The aim of the present meta-analysis was to investigate compliance and retention rates in ESM studies including subjects across the spectrum of severe mental disorders and to examine how these outcomes are related to various person characteristics and design aspects. First, we found relatively high mean levels of compliance (ie, 78.7%) and retention (ie, 93.1%) across the included ESM studies. This is in line with previous findings in individuals with chronic pain [16] and substance users [33], supporting the feasibility and acceptability of ESM in mental health research. Second, we were also able to identify several sample and design characteristics that appear to be related to both the compliance and retention rate in ESM studies.

Influence of the Sample Characteristics

Both the gender composition and the clinical status of the groups were found to predict the degree of compliance and retention in ESM studies. First, the proportion of male participants within a sample was negatively associated with compliance, supporting similar findings in adolescents [15] and adult samples [14,32,47]. Second, as reported previously in the literature [32,48], individuals with a psychotic disorder exhibited significantly lower compliance and retention rates compared with the other groups. In contrast, we did not find differences in the mean compliance and retention rates in samples at risk for a psychiatric condition and in individuals with mood disorders compared with healthy control or general population samples. This result is not in line with previous findings suggesting that greater negative affect in adolescents [15] and higher depressive symptoms in young adults [47] predicts lower

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475
```

XSL∙F() RenderX compliance with ESM. The lower compliance in individuals with a psychotic disorder may be because of the inclusion of more severely ill people (eg, during acute phases of psychosis) or because of the presence of more severe cognitive impairments in individuals with a psychotic disorder compared with a major depressive [49] or bipolar disorder [50]. Finally, contrary to previous studies [16,32], we did not observe a significant association between the mean age of the samples and compliance. This could be because of a difference in the nature of the sample, with Morren et al review [16] focusing specifically on chronic pain patients, or to a difference in the nature of the study design, with Rintala et al [32] relying exclusively on paper-and-pencil assessment schemes. Thus, while younger samples were found to be less compliant when ESM assessments were conducted using a paper-and-pencil approach, the emergence of electronic devices in ESM research together with the current mobile phone use habits in young individuals [51] may have facilitated and increased the feasibility of ESM studies in younger samples.

In sum, ESM studies in individuals with a psychotic disorder or in samples with a higher proportion of male participants are at risk for lower compliance and retention rates. To increase compliance and retention, researchers could engage in procedures that aim to maintain the compliance of the participants as described in the review of Morren et al [16], such as sending reminders, providing a more extensive briefing, or contacting the participants regularly by phone to increase motivation. However, Jones et al [33] did not find any difference in compliance between studies mentioning a preliminary training of the participants for ESM and the ones not mentioning it.

These methods may thus not be sufficient to improve compliance. Therefore, the potentially higher loss of data should also be taken into account in the sample size calculation preceding any ESM study investigating individuals with these characteristics.

Influence of the Design Characteristics

We also found a number of design characteristics that were associated with the compliance and retention rates. First, the number of evaluations per day was associated with compliance levels in the ESM studies. On average, for each additional evaluation per day, mean compliance is predicted to fall by approximately 1% point. However, a lower compliance rate with a higher number of evaluations may still result in more data points. For example, according to our results, an ESM study involving 8 evaluations per day would result in an estimated mean of 6.18 completed evaluations/day, whereas a sampling frequency of 7 evaluations per day would result in only 5.48 evaluations/day. This result does not corroborate the findings of previous single studies investigating samples with different characteristics [17,33], which could be explained by the potential lack of statistical power inherent in single studies. In addition, the severity of the psychiatric disorders under study in the current meta-analysis compared with the aforementioned conditions might play a role in this discrepancy of results. For instance, individuals with severe mental disorders might be more reactive to the repetition of self-evaluations through the requirement of larger cognitive efforts to self-evaluate or the experience of a greater affective reactivity to the follow-up compared with individuals with milder conditions.

Second, the current meta-analysis found no significant association between the number of data collection days and the compliance and retention rates. This result corroborates the absence of an effect of study duration on compliance observed in substance users [33]. This finding is also in line with an ESM study in patients with schizophrenia [52], which reported that missing data were not associated with the number of assessment days in the study. These findings are particularly worth emphasizing when considering the current common practice in ESM research in severe mental disorders. Indeed, in the current review, most studies relied on relatively intensive (ie, median number of evaluations per day, =7.5 evaluations) and short (ie, median duration of ESM studies, =7 days) assessment schemes. Given the current findings, together with the observation of a beneficial effect of longer intervals between successive evaluations on mean compliance, it may be worthwhile for researchers and practitioners to favor longer protocols with less intensive assessment frequencies to maximize compliance to ESM while collecting the same amount of data. Some statistical approaches (eg, time-lagged analyses or network analyses) [53] could, however, require a sufficient number of evaluations at the day level.

Third, our analyses revealed an association between the ESM sampling strategy and the compliance and retention rate, with fixed sampling schemes resulting on average in higher compliance and retention rates. Although this seems to favor fixed over random sampling schemes to improve the quantity

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475
```

of the data, the choice is not so simple. For instance, Husky et al [54] used a fixed sampling scheme and reported that participants were more likely to be alone over the duration of the ESM study, an observation that "may reflect the choice of participants to be in a quiet environment or to otherwise isolate themselves when completing electronic interviews." In other words, a fixed sampling scheme allows participants to plan their daily tasks in accordance with the scheduled assessment times, which may increase compliance rates but potentially at the cost of lower ecological validity and increased bias. A random assessment scheme would avoid this problem, but, as argued by Piasecki et al [55], random time sampling may be perceived as more burdensome by study participants, thus potentially leading to lower compliance because of the respondents not knowing when the next assessment will occur. As such, if both sampling schemes present respective advantages, the current meta-analysis cannot clearly establish the optimal choice regarding this design characteristic. Therefore, this choice should be based on the requirements of the scientific question under study.

Fourth, we found a positive association between the value of the incentives and the compliance rates in ESM studies, similar to what was reported by Morren et al [16] in chronic pain patients. In contrast, Jones et al [33] did not find any effect of tying the amount of the incentives to the compliance rates (eg, providing an incentive per filled out report). However, it is worth noting that we did not consider the administration mode of the incentives, nor the value of the incentives per evaluation, but only the total value of the incentives provided to the participants at the end of the study.

Finally, no significant differences in compliance or retention rates were found between studies using a PDA compared with paper-and-pencil diaries. A similar result was recently reported in a meta-analysis of ESM studies in substance users [33]. In addition, the number of items within the ESM questionnaire was not significantly associated with compliance or retention, which contradicts previous research that found a lower number of items to be associated with higher compliance rates [16]. One reason for this discrepancy may be the lack of transparency about the actual number of items used in an ESM questionnaire. As argued by Morren et al [16], most studies only report the items that they have included in the analyses and hence may fail to report the actual number of items used in the entire questionnaire. This lack of transparency necessarily undermines the reliability of the analyses.

In fact, this point underscores a more general lack of clarity in the description of the methods used in ESM research, an issue previously underlined by Morren et al [16] and Jones et al [33]. In our sample, 73% of the studies reported both compliance and retention rates, which is definitely higher than the proportion observed in the review by Morren et al, where only 25% of the studies reported both these indexes [16]. However, it is necessary to point out that (1) this relatively high proportion of studies reporting compliance and retention rates in the current review is likely to be an overestimation as our inclusion criteria required at least 1 of these indexes to be reported and; (2) if mean compliance was reported in 82% of the studies, the corresponding variance was only reported in 50% of the studies.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

We, therefore, argue that ESM studies should clearly disclose all aspects of the protocol while systematically providing the standard statistical indexes (ie, mean and variance of the compliance rate and the retention rate) to allow an assessment of the quality of the data collection procedures.

Recommendations

Overall, this systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrate that both the characteristics of the samples under study and the design of ESM studies may influence compliance and retention rates in ESM research. On the basis of these findings, we propose the following recommendations:

- There is evidence that compliance and retention rates depend on the characteristics of the individuals under investigation. Samples of individuals with psychosis and a higher number of male participants appear to have a higher risk of lower compliance and retention. The potentially higher loss of data should be taken into account in the sample size calculation preceding any ESM study investigating individuals with these characteristics.
- 2. The evidence also suggests that the degree of compliance depends on various design choices in ESM studies.
 - A higher number of evaluations per day and smaller time intervals between successive evaluations are associated with lower compliance, whereas this is not the case for the number of days in an ESM study. Therefore, it may be worthwhile to decrease the number of evaluations while increasing the number of days, as such obtaining a similar number of data points while maximizing compliance.
 - The total amount of the incentive was associated with better compliance. Therefore, increasing the amount of the incentive may have a beneficial effect on the compliance of the participants with an ESM study.
- 3. The relative lack of transparency in reporting ESM protocols is likely to undermine the replicability of ESM studies and the assessment of their feasibility in severe mental disorders.
 - We recommend disclosing clearly all aspects of the procedures used in a given ESM study, regardless of their relevance for a given study, including but not limited to the actual number of ESM items participants answered, the amount of time between a signal and the answer of a participant that experimenters used to define compliance with a momentary evaluation, and any exclusion reasons, especially if experimenters exclude participants based on a predefined minimal mean compliance level.
 - We advise to report both the compliance mean level and the related SD, and the retention rate. When

possible, this information should be provided at the group level.

Limitations

This is the first review to systematically investigate predictors of compliance and retention rates in ESM research in severe mental disorders. However, despite its strengths, this review is not without limitations. First, the inconsistent report of essential information on the design of the ESM studies is likely to have introduced statistical errors in the estimation of the associations.

Second, compliance and retention rates are differently operationalized across studies in the literature. For compliance, evaluations are considered unanswered if the participants responded after 15 min following the trigger in some studies [11], whereas others used shorter time windows [56]. Concomitantly, subjects may only be retained for the analysis if they exceed a certain minimal compliance threshold [11], a threshold that also varies across studies. Thus, as the calculation of both these central indexes is not standardized in current practice in ESM research, the results might also reflect the heterogeneity of the experimenters' methodological decisions.

Finally, it would have been of interest to examine to what degree potential participants are willing to participate in a study using ESM as a data collection method in the first place (and whether this is associated with certain participant or design characteristics). A brief search of the literature revealed considerable heterogeneity in reported *acceptance rates* across studies investigating clinical populations, varying from 38% in a group of patients with acute psychotic symptoms [57] to 96% in patients with schizophrenia [52], and from 67% to 97% in patient groups with an affective disorder [58,59]. Unfortunately, this type of information is not regularly reported in the literature and, if so, in even less standardized ways than compliance and retention rates. We were therefore unable to investigate this outcome in a systematic manner as part of this meta-analysis.

Conclusions

This meta-analysis constitutes a first step toward the optimization of ESM research. Compliance and retention were associated with the gender and clinical status of the participants. Compliance, but not retention, was also associated with a number of design characteristics. In particular, compliance was lower with higher sampling frequencies but not with the duration of ESM studies, a finding that stands in contrast with current practices in ESM research. This review also demonstrates that ESM studies can be carried out in mental health research, but the quality of the data collection may depend upon a number of factors related to the design of the studies and samples under investigation that need to be considered when designing such protocols.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary material.

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475

[DOCX File , 2074 KB - jmir_v21i12e14475_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Larson R, Csikszentmihalyi M. The experience sampling method. New Dir Methodology Soc Behav Sci 1983:41-56 [FREE Full text]
- 2. Stone AA, Shiffman S. Capturing momentary, self-report data: a proposal for reporting guidelines. Ann Behav Med 2002;24(3):236-243. [doi: 10.1207/S15324796ABM2403_09] [Medline: 12173681]
- 3. Levin RL, Heller W, Mohanty A, Herrington JD, Miller GA. Cognitive deficits in depression and functional specificity of regional brain activity. Cogn Ther Res 2007 Apr 6;31(2):211-233. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10608-007-9128-z</u>]
- 4. Ohmuro N, Matsumoto K, Katsura M, Obara C, Kikuchi T, Hamaie Y, et al. The association between cognitive deficits and depressive symptoms in at-risk mental state: a comparison with first-episode psychosis. Schizophr Res 2015 Mar;162(1-3):67-73. [doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2015.01.008] [Medline: 25618299]
- 5. Myin-Germeys I, Delespaul PA, deVries MW. Schizophrenia patients are more emotionally active than is assumed based on their behavior. Schizophr Bull 2000;26(4):847-854. [doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033499] [Medline: 11087017]
- Thompson RJ, Mata J, Jaeggi SM, Buschkuehl M, Jonides J, Gotlib IH. The everyday emotional experience of adults with major depressive disorder: examining emotional instability, inertia, and reactivity. J Abnorm Psychol 2012 Nov;121(4):819-829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0027978] [Medline: 22708886]
- aan het Rot M, Hogenelst K, Schoevers RA. Mood disorders in everyday life: a systematic review of experience sampling and ecological momentary assessment studies. Clin Psychol Rev 2012 Aug;32(6):510-523. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cpr.2012.05.007</u>] [Medline: <u>22721999</u>]
- 8. Myin-Germeys I, Oorschot M, Collip D, Lataster J, Delespaul P, van Os J. Experience sampling research in psychopathology: opening the black box of daily life. Psychol Med 2009 Sep;39(9):1533-1547. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291708004947] [Medline: 19215626]
- Colombo D, Palacios AG, Alvarez JF, Patané A, Semonella M, Cipresso P, et al. Current state and future directions of technology-based ecological momentary assessments and interventions for major depressive disorder: protocol for a systematic review. Syst Rev 2018 Dec 13;7(1):233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-018-0899-y] [Medline: 30545415]
- Myin-Germeys I, Kasanova Z, Vaessen T, Vachon H, Kirtley O, Viechtbauer W, et al. Experience sampling methodology in mental health research: new insights and technical developments. World Psychiatry 2018 Jun;17(2):123-132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20513] [Medline: 29856567]
- 11. Delespaul P. Assessing Schizophrenia in Daily Life: The Experience Sampling Method. Maastricht: Datawyse / Universitaire Pers Maastricht; 1995.
- Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M, Skouteris H, Richardson B, Blore J, Holmes M, Mills J. Does the burden of the experience sampling method undermine data quality in state body image research? Body Image 2013 Sep;10(4):607-613. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.06.003</u>] [Medline: <u>23856302</u>]
- ALLIGER GM, WILLIAMS KJ. Using signal-contingent experience sampling methodology to study work in the field: a discussion and illustration examining task perceptions and mood. Pers Psychol 1993 Sep;46(3):525-549. [doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1993.tb00883.x]
- Messiah A, Grondin O, Encrenaz G. Factors associated with missing data in an experience sampling investigation of substance use determinants. Drug Alcohol Depend 2011 Apr 01;114(2-3):153-158. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.09.016</u>] [Medline: <u>21075563</u>]
- Sokolovsky AW, Mermelstein RJ, Hedeker D. Factors predicting compliance to ecological momentary assessment among adolescent smokers. Nicotine Tob Res 2014 Mar;16(3):351-358 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ntr/ntt154] [Medline: 24097816]
- 16. Morren M, van Dulmen S, Ouwerkerk J, Bensing J. Compliance with momentary pain measurement using electronic diaries: a systematic review. Eur J Pain 2009 Apr;13(4):354-365. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejpain.2008.05.010</u>] [Medline: <u>18603458</u>]
- Stone AA, Broderick JE, Schwartz JE, Shiffman S, Litcher-Kelly L, Calvanese P. Intensive momentary reporting of pain with an electronic diary: reactivity, compliance, and patient satisfaction. Pain 2003 Jul;104(1-2):343-351. [doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(03)00040-x] [Medline: 12855344]
- Bentall RP, Myin-Germeys I, Smith A, Knowles R, Jones SH, Smith T, et al. Hypomanic personality, stability of self-esteem and response styles to negative mood. Clin Psychol Psychother 2011;18(5):397-410. [doi: <u>10.1002/cpp.780</u>] [Medline: <u>21887813</u>]
- Kuppens P, Oravecz Z, Tuerlinckx F. Feelings change: accounting for individual differences in the temporal dynamics of affect. J Pers Soc Psychol 2010 Dec;99(6):1042-1060. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0020962</u>] [Medline: <u>20853980</u>]
- 20. van Roekel E, Bennik EC, Bastiaansen JA, Verhagen M, Ormel J, Engels RC, et al. Depressive symptoms and the experience of pleasure in daily life: an exploration of associations in early and late adolescence. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2016 Dec;44(5):999-1009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-0090-z] [Medline: 26496738]
- Ruscio AM, Gentes EL, Jones JD, Hallion LS, Coleman ES, Swendsen J. Rumination predicts heightened responding to stressful life events in major depressive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 2015 Feb;124(1):17-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/abn0000025] [Medline: 25688429]

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475
```

- 22. Audrain-McGovern J, Wileyto EP, Ashare R, Cuevas J, Strasser AA. Reward and affective regulation in depression-prone smokers. Biol Psychiatry 2014 Nov 01;76(9):689-697 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.04.018] [Medline: 24947541]
- 23. Aldinger M, Stopsack M, Ulrich I, Appel K, Reinelt E, Wolff S, et al. Neuroticism developmental courses--implications for depression, anxiety and everyday emotional experience; a prospective study from adolescence to young adulthood. BMC Psychiatry 2014 Aug 06;14:210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-014-0210-2] [Medline: 25207861]
- 24. Vachon H, Bourbousson M, Deschamps T, Doron J, Bulteau S, Sauvaget A, et al. Repeated self-evaluations may involve familiarization: an exploratory study related to ecological momentary assessment designs in patients with major depressive disorder. Psychiatry Res 2016 Nov 30;245:99-104. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.08.034] [Medline: 27541343]
- 25. Barge-Schaapveld DQ, Nicolson NA. Effects of antidepressant treatment on the quality of daily life: an experience sampling study. J Clin Psychiatry 2002 Jun;63(6):477-485. [Medline: <u>12088158</u>]
- Demiralp E, Thompson RJ, Mata J, Jaeggi SM, Buschkuehl M, Barrett LF, et al. Feeling blue or turquoise? Emotional differentiation in major depressive disorder. Psychol Sci 2012;23(11):1410-1416 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0956797612444903] [Medline: 23070307]
- 27. Myin-Germeys I, Marcelis M, Krabbendam L, Delespaul P, van Os J. Subtle fluctuations in psychotic phenomena as functional states of abnormal dopamine reactivity in individuals at risk. Biol Psychiatry 2005 Jul 15;58(2):105-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.02.012] [Medline: 16038680]
- 28. Blum LH, Vakhrusheva J, Saperstein A, Khan S, Chang RW, Hansen MC, et al. Depressed mood in individuals with schizophrenia: a comparison of retrospective and real-time measures. Psychiatry Res 2015 Jun 30;227(2-3):318-323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.03.008] [Medline: 25895490]
- 29. Havermans R, Nicolson NA, Berkhof J, deVries MW. Patterns of salivary cortisol secretion and responses to daily events in patients with remitted bipolar disorder. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2011 Feb;36(2):258-265. [doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.07.016] [Medline: 20732746]
- Sagar KA, Dahlgren MK, Racine MT, Dreman MW, Olson DP, Gruber SA. Joint effects: a pilot investigation of the impact of bipolar disorder and marijuana use on cognitive function and mood. PLoS One 2016;11(6):e0157060 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157060] [Medline: 27275781]
- Janssens KA, Bos EH, Rosmalen JG, Wichers MC, Riese H. A qualitative approach to guide choices for designing a diary study. BMC Med Res Methodol 2018 Nov 16;18(1):140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0579-6] [Medline: 30445926]
- 32. Rintala A, Wampers M, Myin-Germeys I, Viechtbauer W. Response compliance and predictors thereof in studies using the experience sampling method. Psychol Assess 2019 Feb;31(2):226-235. [doi: <u>10.1037/pas0000662</u>] [Medline: <u>30394762</u>]
- Jones A, Remmerswaal D, Verveer I, Robinson E, Franken IH, Wen CK, et al. Compliance with ecological momentary assessment protocols in substance users: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2019 Apr;114(4):609-619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/add.14503] [Medline: 30461120]
- Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, PRISMA-P Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev 2015 Jan 01;4:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-4-1] [Medline: 25554246]
- 35. Vachon H, Rintala A, Viechtbauer W, Myin-Germeys I. Data quality and feasibility of the Experience Sampling Method across the spectrum of severe psychiatric disorders: a protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev 2018 Jan 18;7(1):7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-018-0673-1] [Medline: 29347967]
- 36. Nakagawa S, Poulin R, Mengersen K, Reinhold K, Engqvist L, Lagisz M, et al. Meta-analysis of variation: ecological and evolutionary applications and beyond. Methods Ecol Evol 2014 Dec 17;6(2):143-152. [doi: 10.1111/2041-210X.12309]
- 37. Rücker G, Schwarzer G, Carpenter J, Olkin I. Why add anything to nothing? The arcsine difference as a measure of treatment effect in meta-analysis with zero cells. Stat Med 2009 Feb 28;28(5):721-738. [doi: <u>10.1002/sim.3511</u>] [Medline: <u>19072749</u>]
- 38. Konstantopoulos S. Fixed effects and variance components estimation in three-level meta-analysis. Res Synth Methods 2011 Mar;2(1):61-76. [doi: 10.1002/jrsm.35] [Medline: 26061600]
- 39. Viechtbauer W. Conducting Meta-Analyses in R with the metafor Package. J Stat Soft 2010;36(3):1-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18637/jss.v036.i03]
- 40. Raudenbush S. Random effects models. In: Cooper L, Hedges LV, editors. The Handbook of Research Synthesis. New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 1994:301-321.
- 41. Cochran WG. Some methods for strengthening the common χ^2 tests. Biometrics 1954 Dec;10(4):417. [doi: 10.2307/3001616]
- 42. Viechtbauer W, Cheung MW. Outlier and influence diagnostics for meta-analysis. Res Synth Methods 2010 Apr;1(2):112-125. [doi: <u>10.1002/jrsm.11</u>] [Medline: <u>26061377</u>]
- Kuepper R, Oorschot M, Myin-Germeys I, Smits M, van Os J, Henquet C. Is psychotic disorder associated with increased levels of craving for cannabis? An Experience Sampling study. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2013 Dec;128(6):448-456. [doi: <u>10.1111/acps.12078</u>] [Medline: <u>23330571</u>]
- Ramsey AT, Wetherell JL, Depp C, Dixon D, Lenze E. Feasibility and acceptability of smartphone assessment in older adults with cognitive and emotional difficulties. J Technol Hum Serv 2016;34(2):209-223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15228835.2016.1170649] [Medline: 27683018]

- 45. Wichers M, Peeters F, Geschwind N, Jacobs N, Simons CJ, Derom C, et al. Unveiling patterns of affective responses in daily life may improve outcome prediction in depression: a momentary assessment study. J Affect Disord 2010 Jul;124(1-2):191-195. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.11.010] [Medline: 20004977]
- 46. Lee-Flynn SC, Pomaki G, Delongis A, Biesanz JC, Puterman E. Daily cognitive appraisals, daily affect, and long-term depressive symptoms: the role of self-esteem and self-concept clarity in the stress process. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2011 Feb;37(2):255-268. [doi: 10.1177/0146167210394204] [Medline: 21239598]
- Silvia PJ, Kwapil TR, Eddington KM, Brown LH. Missed beeps and missing data: dispositional and situational predictors of nonresponse in experience sampling research. Soc Sci Comput Rev 2013 Mar 13;31(4):471-481. [doi: 10.1177/0894439313479902]
- 48. Johnson EI, Grondin O, Barrault M, Faytout M, Helbig S, Husky M, et al. Computerized ambulatory monitoring in psychiatry: a multi-site collaborative study of acceptability, compliance, and reactivity. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2009;18(1):48-57. [doi: <u>10.1002/mpr.276</u>] [Medline: <u>19195050</u>]
- 49. Fleming SK, Blasey C, Schatzberg AF. Neuropsychological correlates of psychotic features in major depressive disorders: a review and meta-analysis. J Psychiatr Res 2004 Jan;38(1):27-35. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0022-3956(03)00100-6</u>] [Medline: <u>14690768</u>]
- 50. Bora E, Yucel M, Pantelis C. Theory of mind impairment in schizophrenia: meta-analysis. Schizophr Res 2009 Apr;109(1-3):1-9. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.schres.2008.12.020</u>] [Medline: <u>19195844</u>]
- Torous J, Friedman R, Keshavan M. Smartphone ownership and interest in mobile applications to monitor symptoms of mental health conditions. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Jan 21;2(1):e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2994] [Medline: 25098314]
- 52. Granholm E, Loh C, Swendsen J. Feasibility and validity of computerized ecological momentary assessment in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull 2008 May;34(3):507-514 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm113] [Medline: 17932087]
- 53. Borsboom D, Cramer AO. Network analysis: an integrative approach to the structure of psychopathology. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2013;9:91-121. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185608] [Medline: 23537483]
- Husky MM, Gindre C, Mazure CM, Brebant C, Nolen-Hoeksema S, Sanacora G, et al. Computerized ambulatory monitoring in mood disorders: feasibility, compliance, and reactivity. Psychiatry Res 2010 Jul 30;178(2):440-442. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychres.2010.04.045</u>] [Medline: <u>20488558</u>]
- 55. Piasecki TM, Hufford MR, Solhan M, Trull TJ. Assessing clients in their natural environments with electronic diaries: rationale, benefits, limitations, and barriers. Psychol Assess 2007 Mar;19(1):25-43. [doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.19.1.25] [Medline: 17371121]
- Mata J, Thompson RJ, Jaeggi SM, Buschkuehl M, Jonides J, Gotlib IH. Walk on the bright side: physical activity and affect in major depressive disorder. J Abnorm Psychol 2012 May;121(2):297-308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0023533] [Medline: 21553939]
- 57. So SH, Peters ER, Swendsen J, Garety PA, Kapur S. Detecting improvements in acute psychotic symptoms using experience sampling methodology. Psychiatry Res 2013 Nov 30;210(1):82-88. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychres.2013.05.010</u>] [Medline: <u>23849758</u>]
- Husen K, Rafaeli E, Rubel JA, Bar-Kalifa E, Lutz W. Daily affect dynamics predict early response in CBT: feasibility and predictive validity of EMA for outpatient psychotherapy. J Affect Disord 2016 Dec;206:305-314. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.08.025] [Medline: 27662571]
- Husky M, Olié E, Guillaume S, Genty C, Swendsen J, Courtet P. Feasibility and validity of ecological momentary assessment in the investigation of suicide risk. Psychiatry Res 2014 Dec 15;220(1-2):564-570. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychres.2014.08.019</u>] [Medline: <u>25155939</u>]

Abbreviations

BD: bipolar disorder EMA: ecological momentary assessment ESM: experience sampling method GP: general population HC: healthy control HR: high risk for a severe mental disorder LS: Likert scale MDD: major depressive disorder PD: psychotic disorder PDA: personal digital assistant PRISMA-P: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis Protocols VAS: visual analogue scale



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.04.19; peer-reviewed by J Swendsen, S Rabung; comments to author 18.07.19; revised version received 13.09.19; accepted 24.09.19; published 06.12.19.
Please cite as:
Vachon H, Viechtbauer W, Rintala A, Myin-Germeys I

Compliance and Retention With the Experience Sampling Method Over the Continuum of Severe Mental Disorders: Meta-Analysis and Recommendations J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14475 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14475 doi:10.2196/14475 PMID:31808748

©Hugo Vachon, Wolfgang Viechtbauer, Aki Rintala, Inez Myin-Germeys. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 06.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Detecting Lifestyle Risk Factors for Chronic Kidney Disease With Comorbidities: Association Rule Mining Analysis of Web-Based Survey Data

Suyuan Peng^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Feichen Shen², PhD; Andrew Wen², MS; Liwei Wang², PhD; Yadan Fan³, PhD; Xusheng Liu⁴, MD; Hongfang Liu², PhD

¹Center for Data Science in Health and Medicine, Peking University, Beijing, China

²Department of Health Sciences Research, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, United States

³Institute for Health Informatics, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States

⁴The Second Medical College, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China

Corresponding Author:

Xusheng Liu, MD The Second Medical College Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine No 111 Dade Road Guangzhou, China Phone: 86 13503078703 Email: <u>liuxusheng@gzucm.edu.cn</u>

Abstract

Background: The rise in the number of patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) and consequent end-stage renal disease necessitating renal replacement therapy has placed a significant strain on health care. The rate of progression of CKD is influenced by both modifiable and unmodifiable risk factors. Identification of modifiable risk factors, such as lifestyle choices, is vital in informing strategies toward renoprotection. Modification of unhealthy lifestyle choices lessens the risk of CKD progression and associated comorbidities, although the lifestyle risk factors and modification strategies may vary with different comorbidities (eg, diabetes, hypertension). However, there are limited studies on suitable lifestyle interventions for CKD patients with comorbidities.

Objective: The objectives of our study are to (1) identify the lifestyle risk factors for CKD with common comorbid chronic conditions using a US nationwide survey in combination with literature mining, and (2) demonstrate the potential effectiveness of association rule mining (ARM) analysis for the aforementioned task, which can be generalized for similar tasks associated with noncommunicable diseases (NCDs).

Methods: We applied ARM to identify lifestyle risk factors for CKD progression with comorbidities (cardiovascular disease, chronic pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, and cancer) using questionnaire data for 450,000 participants collected from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) 2017. The BRFSS is a Web-based resource, which includes demographic information, chronic health conditions, fruit and vegetable consumption, and sugar- or salt-related behavior. To enrich the BRFSS questionnaire, the Semantic MEDLINE Database was also mined to identify lifestyle risk factors.

Results: The results suggest that lifestyle modification for CKD varies among different comorbidities. For example, the lifestyle modification of CKD with cardiovascular disease needs to focus on increasing aerobic capacity by improving muscle strength or functional ability. For CKD patients with chronic pulmonary disease or rheumatoid arthritis, lifestyle modification should be high dietary fiber intake and participation in moderate-intensity exercise. Meanwhile, the management of CKD patients with diabetes focuses on exercise and weight loss predominantly.

Conclusions: We have demonstrated the use of ARM to identify lifestyle risk factors for CKD with common comorbid chronic conditions using data from BRFSS 2017. Our methods can be generalized to advance chronic disease management with more focused and optimized lifestyle modification of NCDs.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14204) doi:10.2196/14204

KEYWORDS

chronic kidney disease; association rule mining; Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; noncommunicable diseases

Introduction

Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is a progressive disease associated with high rates of mortality, morbidity, and disability [1,2]. Renal replacement therapies have been performed on approximately 8 million adults in the United States, with significant economic burdens [3]. The rate of progression of CKD from one major stage to another varies based on both unmodifiable (eg, age, race/ethnicity, family history) and modifiable (eg, hypertension, dyslipidemia, cigarette smoking, overweight/obesity, physical inactivity, dietary patterns) risk factors. Modifiable lifestyle risk factors account for 24% of the excess risk of CKD [4]. Observational and nonrandomized prospective studies have suggested that patients who modify their unhealthy lifestyles have fewer hospitalizations, are more likely to adhere to established CKD treatment goals (anemia or mineral and bone disease), and may have improved rates of survival [5-7]. Therefore, recognition of those lifestyle risk factors is vital in informing strategies to achieve renoprotection.

Lifestyle modification for CKD patients involves long-term habit changes, requires considerable effort from patients, and may take years to be effective. Evidence does exist that supports the value of lifestyle intervention for treating hypertension or diabetes and preventing cardiovascular events, but studies on suitable lifestyle interventions for patients with CKD are sparse. In addition, lifestyle risk factors for CKD with different comorbidities may vary. For example, lifestyle interventions for CKD with mineral and bone disorder include adequate calcium and vitamin D consumption, exercise, and fall prevention. The lifestyle risk factors for CKD with diabetes include unhealthy diet, sedentary lifestyle, and obesity. The lifestyle risk factors and modification strategies for CKD suggested by different guidelines may also vary [8-10], which poses a major challenge for clinical practice and research.

With the advance of digital health care strategies, a large amount of data can be leveraged for identifying lifestyle risk factors. Popular approaches for identifying lifestyle risk factors include epidemiological or statistical approaches with an implicit assumption that risk factors are linearly associated with a disease. However, it oversimplifies complex relationships between risk factors and diseases.

In this paper, we explore the use of a popular data mining technique, association rule mining (ARM), to determine more nuanced relationships between lifestyle risk factors and CKD with comorbidities. ARM is commonly used for performing unsupervised exploratory data analysis over a wide range of research and commercial domains, including biology and bioinformatics (eg, biological sequence analysis, analysis of gene expression data) [11-13]. Rules produced by ARM are able to summarize the impact of several factors in combination in a nonhierarchical fashion.

Methods

Materials

Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System

We conducted an ARM analysis using the 2017 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), which was published in July 2018 [14]. The BRFSS is an annual health-related telephone survey conducted by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention that is designed to measure the health-related risk behaviors, chronic health conditions, and use of preventive services of adult residents (≥18 years) of the United States (including all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Guam, and Puerto Rico). More than 400,000 adults are interviewed each year, making it the largest telephone-based survey in the world and enabling it to be a powerful tool for health promotion activities. The BRFSS system consists of 29 modules and 358 variables that collect information about health status, healthy days or health-related quality of life, health care access, exercise, inadequate sleep, chronic health conditions, oral health, tobacco and e-cigarette use, alcohol consumption, immunization status, falls, seat belt use, drinking and driving, breast and cervical cancer screening, prostate cancer screening, colorectal cancer screening, and HIV/AIDS [15]. The validity of BRFSS variables for indexing chronic disease conditions has been previously demonstrated [15,16]. The BRFSS 2017 contains a total of 450,016 responses and 17,547 CKD cases.

Semantic MEDLINE Database

The Semantic MEDLINE Database (SemMedDB) [17] is a repository of semantic predications (subject-predicate-object triples) extracted from the titles and abstracts of all PubMed citations, which is widely used to conduct literature-based knowledge discovery in the biomedical domain [18-21]. The predications are extracted by SemRep [22], which is a semantic interpreter developed by the National Library of Medicine. Specifically, the semantic predications consist of UMLS (Unified Medical Language System) metathesaurus concepts as arguments (eg, subject and object) and a semantic relationship (eg, "treat") from an extended version of the UMLS Semantic Network as a predicate. There are currently more than 83 million semantic predications in this database in the June 30, 2017, version of this database. Although SemMedDB provides structured predications, further inference work is needed to filter out noisy data and discover new knowledge. In this study, we treated the SemMedDB as a knowledge resource and extracted a subgraph that contains all triples related to CKD for enriching the survey data.

Charlson Comorbidity Index

We evaluated the noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) of each participant by using the classification of Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) [23], consisting of 17 comorbidities, developed and validated as a measure of 1-year mortality risk and burden of disease. In addition to CKD, we investigated five NCDs:

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14204
```

cardiovascular disease, chronic pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, and non-skin cancer.

Institutional review board approval was not necessary for this study due to the nature of the study (secondary analysis of an anonymized dataset).

Methodology Overview

We applied ARM for the CKD population using the 2017 BRFSS data to generate rules for detecting lifestyle risk factors

Figure 1. Workflow of this study. ARM: association rule mining; BRFSS: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System; CKD: chronic kidney disease; NCD: noncommunicable disease; SemMedDB: Semantic MEDLINE Database.

used for ARM analysis.



BRFSS Input Data Preparation

We first selected 58 variables (involving 18 modules) related to behaviors from the BRFSS 2017 data by utilizing domain expert knowledge (from two nephrologists: S Peng and X Liu), with a focus on the presence of a condition or behavior rather than the questions about obvious feelings (as shown in Multimedia Appendix 1). If the given condition of interest was present in the patient, it was marked as 1, otherwise 0 or NA. For example, completion of the flu vaccine series was defined by a participant answering "yes" to the question: "During the past 12 months, have you had either a flu shot or a flu vaccine that was sprayed in your nose?" (possible answers were "yes," "no," "don't know/not sure," and "refused"). Only those who answered "yes" were annotated as 1 and included in the analysis. Records with responses of "no," "unknown," or "refused" were annotated as 0; those with missing data were completely excluded from the analysis to minimize underestimation. For each patient, we extracted all variables that were marked as 1 and prepared the input.

Association Rule Mining of the Chronic Kidney Disease Cohort in BRFSS

We then applied the Apriori algorithm [24] on the input data for 58 variables among 17,547 CKD patients. Apriori is a popular algorithm for mining association rules that is divided into two steps: (1) finding frequent itemsets and (2) constructing rules from frequent itemsets. An association rule is an implication between disjoint itemsets: $m \Rightarrow n$. The left-hand side of the rule is the antecedent and the right-hand side the consequent. An itemset containing *k* items is called a *k*-itemset. If *T* is a transaction, *m* is an itemset, and $m \subseteq T$, then T contains m. The support of the rule $m \Rightarrow n$ is the fraction of transactions that contain both m and n (equation 1 in Figure 2). A frequent itemset is one whose support is at least some threshold, always denoted as *minSup*.

for CKD progression, including demographic information,

lifestyle behaviors, clinical symptoms, and chronic disease conditions. Correlation analysis was performed to assess

differences in lifestyle risk factors in the status of

comorbidity-related CKD. To enrich the BRFSS data,

SemMedDB was mined to identify lifestyle risk factors for CKD

presented in publications. The workflow is shown in Figure 1. The arules package (version v1.6-4) for R (version 3.5.2) was

The rule $m \Rightarrow n$ with confidence (equation 2 in Figure 2) means that the fraction of transactions in *T* containing *m* that also contain *n* is confidence. It measures how often items in *m* appear in transactions that contain *n*. Confidence can also be referred to as the strength of the rule. The threshold of confidence is always denoted as *minConf*.

Lift (equation 3 in Figure 2) is an index that indicates the relative magnitude of the probability of observing *m* under the condition of *n*, compared with the overall probability of observing *m*. When lift = 1, the two occurrences, $m \Rightarrow n$, are independent of each other. When the lift value is greater than 1, the two occurrences are dependent on one another; the higher the value, the greater the relevance of the interaction.

XSL•FO

Figure 2. Equations.



We used the following heuristic for generating the final association rules to be analyzed. We first selected itemsets with support value larger than the average of support values of all itemsets and lift value greater than 1. We then kept itemsets with lift value larger than the average lift values of those selected itemsets as our final association rules. We focused our analysis of the association rules of five NCDs as determined by the CCI: cardiovascular disease, chronic pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, and non-skin cancer.

Correlation Analysis of Comorbidities and Risk Factors

To assess differences of lifestyle risk factors in the status of comorbidity-related CKD, correlation analysis was performed. We retrieved five subcohorts of NCDs (cardiovascular disease, chronic pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, non-skin cancer) from the CKD cohort and evaluated the contribution and correlation of lifestyle risk factors.

Literature Enrichment Analysis

We mined SemMedDB for lifestyle risk factors that were not present in the BRFSS system by also using ARM. We first retrieved all relevant triplets (subject, predicate, and object) related to CKD. For example, <Diet Therapy, Treats, CKD>, <CKD, Coexists_With, Diabetes>, and <CKD, Causes, Hypertensive Disease> are some example triplets retrieved. We then selected terms from the triplets that were relevant to lifestyle behavior, symptoms, and diseases based on a list of relevant semantic types (see Multimedia Appendix 2). We filtered out 47 terms with generic meaning (eg, patients, agent, woman, child, author, disease).

We then applied the Apriori algorithm on the extracted pairwise terms to mine frequent itemsets and generate rules. Based on our previous work [25], our item matrix was very sparse, with a density of 0.00026. To mine sufficiently interesting rules, we set the minimum support and minimum confidence by making sure every rule was presented at least two times and selected itemsets with lift value greater than 1. We then kept itemsets with lift value larger than the average lift values of those selected itemsets as our final association rules. Specifically, we focused our analysis of the association rules on six specific semantic types (daily or recreational activity, food, hazardous or poisonous substance, individual behavior, mental or behavioral dysfunction, finding) to detect lifestyle risk factors present in publications that the BRFSS questionnaire does not mention.

Results

Characteristics of Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease Cohort

Overall, a total of 17,547 participants were reported have CKD in the BFRSS 2017 data; 80.09% (14,053/17,547) were white and 60.13% (10,551/17,547) were men. The mean age was 64.42 (SD 13.81) years. The characteristics of the CKD cohort are presented in Table 1.



Table 1. Characteristics of participants in the BFRSS (Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System) 2017 with chronic kidney disease (N=17,547).

Characteristics	Participants
Age (years), mean (SD)	64.42 (13.81)
Male, n (%)	10,551 (60.13)
Completed interview, n (%)	15,348 (87.47)
Ever served on active duty in the United States Armed Forces, n (%)	2940 (16.76)
Income categories ^a , n (%)	
Less than \$15,000	2608 (14.86)
\$15,000 to less than \$25,000	3455 (19.69)
\$25,000 to less than \$35,000	1792 (10.21)
\$35,000 to less than \$50,000	1955 (11.14)
\$50,000 or more	4734 (26.98)
Education level, n (%)	
Did not graduate middle school	1933 (11.02)
Did not graduate high school	5213 (29.71)
Attended college or technical school	5151 (29.36)
Graduated from college or technical school	5181 (29.53)
Marital status, n (%)	
Married	7904 (45.04)
Divorced	3047 (17.36)
Widowed	3821 (21.78)
Separated	494 (2.82)
Never married	1801 (10.26)
A member of an unmarried couple	374 (2.13)
Race, n (%)	
White	14,053 (80.09)
Black or African American	1763 (10.05)
American Indian or Alaskan Native	535 (3.05)
Asian	261 (1.49)
Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	159 (0.91)
Other race	351 (2.00)
No preferred race	50 (0.28)
Comorbidity, n (%)	
CHD ^b or myocardial infarction	4828 (28.12)
Stroke	15,204 (86.65)
COPD ^c , emphysema, or chronic bronchitis	3763 (21.45)
Asthma	2888 (16.46)
Rheumatoid arthritis	10,798 (61.98)
Diabetes	6642 (37.85)
Cancer	3974 (22.65)

^aThe rest of the people refused to answer this question.

^bCHD: coronary heart disease.

^cCOPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

XSL•FO RenderX

Association Rule Mining of the Chronic Kidney Disease Cohort in BRFSS

For heuristics, we set a lower bound of 0.1 for support and computed the average for all selected support values. As a result, we set the average support (0.150) as a threshold and selected 12,141 frequent itemsets. Among the 12,141 frequent itemsets, we then picked the average lift 1.094 as the threshold to finalize 7677 association rules. Figure 3 shows the curve between ranked associations and interestingness metrics (support and lift). The threshold was also marked on the curve.

Among the 7677 association rules, we retrieved subsets that related to five adverse conditions included in NCDs from CCI, including cardiovascular disease, chronic pulmonary disease, rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, and non-skin cancer. For each of the input conditions, we then selected the top 10 association rules with the highest lift score regardless of whether the disease appeared on the left or right side.

From the top rules of each comorbidity, we determined that (1) CKD patients with comorbidity of cardiovascular disease have

Figure 3. Support and lift value selection.

symptoms of high blood pressure, high cholesterol, asthma, function limitation, and lower aerobic and strengthening level; (2) CKD patients with a comorbidity of chronic pulmonary disease tend to have clinical manifestations of being overweight, hypertension, unhealthy diet (french fries or fried potatoes, less consumption of fruit and vegetables), and lower aerobic and strengthening level; (3) CKD patients with a comorbidity of rheumatoid arthritis are associated with hypertension, overweight, asthma, difficulty walking/doing errands alone, and less leisure-time physical activities; (4) CKD patients with a comorbidity of diabetes have a variety of clinical manifestations, including hypertension, high cholesterol, overweight, less leisure-time physical activities, and lower aerobic and strengthening level; and (5) CKD patients with non-skin cancer are associated with age (older than 65 years), asthma, less muscle strengthening, and lower aerobic level.

Examples of the top rules with the highest lift scores are shown in Table 2 (see Multimedia Appendix 3 for details on the results of the top 10 rules for subsets).



 Table 2. Examples of the top rule for subsets.

Comorbidities	Keywords ^a	Top rule	Lift	Count
Cardiovascular disease	'x.michd'	{diffwalk,x.casthm1,x.rfhype5,x.rfsmok3} => {x.michd}	1.43	2783
Chronic pulmonary disease	chccopd1,' 'x.casthm1'	$\{diffalon, x. casthm1, x. drdxar1, x. rfsmok3\} \Longrightarrow \{diffwalk\}$	1.93	2643
Rheumatoid arthritis	'x.drdxar1'	$\{diffalon, x. casthm1, x. drdxar1, x. rfsmok3\} \Longrightarrow \{diffwalk\}$	1.93	2676
Diabetes	'diabete3'	$\{diffwalk, x. casthm 1, x. rfchol 1, x. rfhype 5, x. rfsmok 3\} \Longrightarrow \{diabete 3\}$	1.53	2726
Cancer	'chcocncr'	$\{chcocncr, x. casthm1\} => \{x. age65yr\}$	1.2	2697

^aWe used the variable code to represent each variable. The meaning of the code is shown in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Correlation Analysis of Comorbidities and Risk Factors

We conducted a correlation analysis using variables present in the top 10 rules for the five NCDs and CKD with a total of 25 variables. Figure 4 shows the heatmap of the correlation coefficient values of those variables with the five NCDs, CKD, and CKD with the comorbidities. Spearman rank correlation test was used for the analysis.

Peng et al

Figure 4. Heatmap for correlation analysis of comorbidities and lifestyle risk factors.



Disease

The correction analysis showed that people with NCDs including CKD have less physical activity in their leisure time and consume fewer fruits and vegetables. Hypertension, high cholesterol, age older than 65 years, male sex, difficulty walking, and difficulty concentrating had positive correlations with cardiovascular disease and rheumatoid arthritis but negative correlations with CKD comorbid conditions.

Literature Enrichment Analysis

We set the support threshold to 0.00047 and the confidence threshold to 0.0001 to ensure every rule was presented at least two times, and then expressed the results with lift value greater than 1 by descending order to finalize important association rules. Among all 1323 association rules, 140 keywords from six specific semantic types were selected as a lifestyle word list (daily or recreational activity, food, hazardous or poisonous substance, individual behavior, mental or behavioral dysfunction, finding) to detect novel rules related to lifestyle risk factors present in publications. Multimedia Appendix 4 shows the top 20 rules.

Associations found using this method indicated that iron deficiency, depressed mood, sedentary lifestyle, and malnutrition were associated with anemia, hyperparathyroidism, obesity, and atherosclerosis, respectively, which the BRFSS questionnaire does not mention (Table 3).

 Table 3. Lifestyle-related top rules of SemMedDB.

Top rules	Lift	Count
{Iron deficiency} => {Anemia}	20.92	3
{Depressed mood} => {Hyperparathyroidism; Secondary}	16.24	2
{Obesity} => {Sedentary}	15.18	2
{Obesity} => {Hypercholesterolemia}	15.18	2
{Malnutrition} => {Atherosclerosis}	9.33	3



Discussion

Comparison With Other Studies and Reviews

The association rules indicated that CKD patients comorbid with cardiovascular disease are more likely to have symptoms of high blood pressure, high cholesterol, asthma, function limitation, and lower aerobic and strengthening levels.

The proper assessment of overall progressive risk in patients with CKD requires an adequate assessment of the presence and severity of other major risk factors. CKD is an independent risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease; CKD is considered a cardiovascular disease risk equivalent [26,27]. Damaged kidneys may release too much renin, which helps to control blood pressure but increases the risk for heart attack, congestive heart failure (CHF), and stroke. CHF is responsible for up to 50% of deaths in patients with renal failure [3,28]. The signs and symptoms of heart failure include shortness of breath (dyspnea), fatigue, and weakness, consistent with our findings. The Physicians' Health Study and other observational studies suggest that increased physical activity, higher cardiorespiratory fitness, and lower sedentary time are associated with reduced incidence of CHF [29]. Evidence shows that exercise training results in improved physical performance and functioning in patients with CKD [30]. Hence, the highlight of lifestyle modification of CKD with cardiovascular disease is to increase aerobic capacity by improving muscle strength or functional ability.

Findings also point to similar risk factors for CKD with chronic pulmonary disease or rheumatoid arthritis. The relationship between rheumatoid arthritis and chronic pulmonary disease (especially for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) was found recently, in which people with rheumatoid arthritis were at 47 percent greater risk of hospitalization for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease than those in the control group [31]. Our finding supported evidence in the CKD cohort, the mechanisms that link CKD comorbid with the two diseases are speculative at present, which might be inflammation, autoimmunity, or genetic predispositions shared between them.

The lifestyle risk factors of these two comorbidities include hypertension, overweight, unhealthy diet (french fries or fried potatoes, less consumption of fruit and vegetables), and physical inactivity. Because the items did not determine exactly when symptoms of CKD or other NCDs originated, there are two possible interpretations of the result. One possible interpretation is that participants began reducing their physical activity and intake of fruits and vegetables when they developed CKD or chronic conditions. Symptoms of chronic conditions, such as hypertension, bone pain, peripheral neuropathy, side effects from medicines and fluid retention, itch, or sleep disturbance, can all negatively affect daily physical activity level, especially for CKD patients. Fruits and vegetables are a rich source of carbohydrates, vitamins, potassium, magnesium, and dietary fiber, whereas legumes and dried beans are important vegetable proteins. However, the limitation of potassium, fructose [32,33], or dietary protein intake has been common practice to control uremia. Despite the known benefits of fruit and vegetable

consumption, intake remains poor in both the general and CKD populations [34].

An alternative interpretation is that lower vegetable and fruit consumption contributes to the development or maintenance of CKD or other NCDs. This interpretation has greater plausibility because it is consistent with other epidemiological studies and existing biological knowledge. However, fruits and vegetables should not be omitted from the everyday diet; this practice may lead to nutrient deficiency and low fiber-related constipation, which contribute to further accumulation of uremic toxins. The national "2 fruits and 5 vegetables" campaign guides Australians toward healthy fruit and vegetable consumption, which is applicable to CKD [35]. Also, regular participation in moderate-intensity exercise may enhance certain aspects of immune function and exert anti-inflammatory effects. Therefore, the lifestyle modification of CKD with chronic pulmonary disease or rheumatoid arthritis should be high dietary fiber intake and participation in moderate-intensity exercise to decrease inflammation and oxidative stress.

CKD is associated with insulin resistance and, in advanced CKD, decreased insulin degradation. In the association rules for CKD with diabetes, the results pointed to hypertension, high cholesterol, overweight, less leisure-time physical activities, and lower aerobic and strengthening as lifestyle risk factors rather than an unhealthy diet. Hence, the lifestyle modification of CKD with diabetes is consistent with the prevention of type 2 diabetes (predominantly exercise and weight loss), which can successfully decrease the development of CKD with diabetes.

CKD is recognized as a disease that may complicate cancer and its therapy (eg, immunotherapy). Cancer can cause CKD either directly or indirectly through the adverse effects of therapies; conversely, CKD may be a risk factor for cancer [36,37]. We found that age older than 65 years and physical inactivity were associated with CKD with non-skin cancer. The BRFSS questionnaire does not incorporate the therapeutics of cancer; therefore, the lifestyle risk factors of CKD with cancer cannot be evaluated in our research.

Enrichment of the BRFSS Questionnaire

The BRFSS does not specifically target CKD or NCDs; therefore, many clinical manifestations were not considered, including potentially relevant items such as anorexia, nausea, vomiting, fatigue, anemia, and bone disease. To enrich the questionnaire, we used the SemMedDB to find lifestyles that related to the clinical manifestations specifically with CKD from publications. The results indicated that iron deficiency, depressed mood, sedentary lifestyle, and malnutrition are associated with anemia, hyperparathyroidism, obesity, and atherosclerosis, respectively, which the BRFSS questionnaire did not mention. CKD can affect a patient's health-related quality of life in many ways. The diagnosis alone might cause fear or anxiety. Anemia, frailty, coexisting comorbidities, and depression are also major contributory factors to quality of life in CKD. Meat and meat alternatives are the main source of protein in the CKD diet. Healthy choices include lean cuts of meat, skinless poultry, eggs, fish, seafood, and plant-based protein foods such as legumes, dried beans, nuts, and seeds. The questionnaire of the BRFSS does not contain the variables

of meat or protein consumption, nor does it contain information on micronutrient deficiency.

Effectiveness of Association Rule Mining in the Noncommunicable Disease Domain

The results of the correlation analysis found that hypertension, high cholesterol, age older than 65 years, male sex, difficulty walking, and attention deficit disorder were positively correlated with cardiovascular disease and rheumatoid arthritis, but negatively correlated with corresponding CKD comorbidities (CKD with cardiovascular disease/rheumatoid arthritis). The ARM results suggest that patients with CKD older than 65 years are more likely to have signs or symptoms of hypertension, asthma, and difficulty walking, which is inconsistent with the aforementioned findings. It was caused by the differences between the two algorithms: a correlation is the relationship that exists between two or more variables in which a change in one variable causes a change in the other variable when the two variables are said to be correlated. Association rules are of the form $\{X_1, ..., X_n\} \rightarrow Y$, meaning that if you find all signs or symptoms of $X_1, ..., X_n$ in a disease it is possible to find another sign or symptom (Y). Epidemiological studies and existing domain knowledge are inconsistent with the result of correlation analysis but consistent with the results of ARM.

A wide range of disorders may develop as a consequence of the loss of renal function with CKD. These include disorders of fluid and electrolyte balance, as well as abnormalities related to hormonal or systemic dysfunction. Treatment strategies should be modified based on the needs of the individual patient. Variations and inconsistencies are inevitable in clinical practice; therefore, recognizing modifiable risk factors in medical interventions are important for providing effective chronic disease management. ARM has several applications in the medical domain, and it has been used for detecting risk factors for diabetes and cardiovascular disease [38,39]. This study illustrates how ARM approaches could be used in risk factor detection of CKD and provides the potential effectiveness of the method of ARM analysis for NCDs. ARM methods, such as Apriori, have also been used on electronic health record data to identify associations among clinical concepts. The strength of the ARM approach compared with a more conventional correlation analysis is that it has identified sizeable groups that can easily be defined and identified for intervention at a practice level in real time to allow more focused and immediate correction of bias in chronic disease management.

Limitations

This research used a large representative sample, was based on items that asked about diagnosed disease, and included a number of relevant covariates; however, there are some aspects of this study that should be noted as limitations.

First, from 17,547 CKD patients, only 15,348 completed the interview. The dataset was skewed toward the white race and male gender, which may affect the generalizability of lifestyle interventions to other races and females. Other research found

similar results [40] in which lower response rates (<40%) were associated with the underrepresentation of racial/ethnic minorities (eg, Hispanics), women, and younger individuals in the BRFSS survey.

Second, CKD and cancer can influence each other either directly or indirectly through the adverse effects of therapies. Since the BRFSS questionnaire was based on self-reporting, we cannot connect enough information. The lifestyle risk factors of CKD with cancer could be confirmed in further research using direct physical examination or biochemical indexes.

Third, the semantic predications consist of UMLS metathesaurus concepts as arguments, so we cannot tell whether "sedentary lifestyle" and "depressed mood" can be treated as "leisure-time physical activity calculate variables" or "ever been told you have depressive disorder." As such, whether these differences are involved in observed associations for CKD needs to be considered in further epidemiological research. More robust observational or quasi-experimental studies would be needed to fully support the long-term impact of interventions for modifiable risk factors.

Finally, for the semantic predication triples extracted from the SemMedDB, we ignored the semantic meaning of the predicates and only kept subjects and objects as pairwise associations. However, we also found some predications with negative meanings. For example, the triples <Diet; Protein-Restricted, Neg_Treats, CKD>, <Dietary intake, Neg_Associated_With, CKD>, <End-stage renal failure, Neg_Coexists_With, CKD>, and <Ferritin level, Neg Manifestation Of, CKD> contain predicates with negative meaning, like not treats, have no association with, does not coexist with, or does not manifest. The reason we did not completely remove those triples is that we found inconsistency because both positive and negative relationships for the same factor may be reported. For example, according to a 2015 study conducted by Wong [41], a positive relationship between abnormal blood pressure and CKD was found in SemMedDB; however, in a 1992 study conducted by Taniguchi et al [42], a negative relationship between the same two items was detected. The SemMedDB only maintains information contained in the title and abstract; therefore, it is difficult to address inconsistencies without reading through the full text. In the future, we will count positive and negative associations for each pairwise term and assign weights for different predications for a better semantic representation.

Conclusion

This study related both lifestyle risk factors and CKD with five other comorbid chronic conditions using the largest national US survey available and provided a suggestion for BRFSS questionnaire enrichment. Various lifestyle risk factors result in the presence of different comorbid conditions for CKD patients, and different signs and symptoms may be observed. The findings illustrate how ARM approaches could be used in risk factor detection of chronic diseases to allow more focused and optimized chronic disease management.



Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the National Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine (Pilot Project on Clinical Collaboration of Major and Difficult Diseases 2018, Nephrology: X Liu, and Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine Program: Y Wu (YN2018ZWB04). These organizations had no role in study design, data collection, analysis, or interpretation of data. They also had no role in composing the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 BRFSS 2017 code mapping index. [DOCX File, 20 KB - jmir_v21i12e14204_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Selected semantic types. [DOCX File, 15 KB - jmir_v21i12e14204_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Top 10 rules for subsets. [DOCX File, 19 KB - jmir v21i12e14204 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Lifestyle-related rules from SemMedDB. [DOCX File , 15 KB - jmir_v21i12e14204_app4.docx]

References

- 1. US Renal Data System. USRDS 2009 Annual Data Report: Atlas of Chronic Kidney Disease and End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2009.
- Webster AC, Nagler EV, Morton RL, Masson P. Chronic kidney disease. Lancet 2017 Mar 25;389(10075):1238-1252. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32064-5</u>] [Medline: <u>27887750</u>]
- Coresh J, Astor BC, Greene T, Eknoyan G, Levey AS. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease and decreased kidney function in the adult US population: third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Kidney Dis 2003 Jan;41(1):1-12. [doi: <u>10.1053/ajkd.2003.50007</u>] [Medline: <u>12500213</u>]
- 4. Tarver-Carr ME, Powe NR, Eberhardt MS, LaVeist TA, Kington RS, Coresh J, et al. Excess risk of chronic kidney disease among African-American versus white subjects in the United States: a population-based study of potential explanatory factors. J Am Soc Nephrol 2002 Sep;13(9):2363-2670 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.asn.0000026493.18542.6a] [Medline: 12191981]
- Lee W, Campoy S, Smits G, Vu Tran Z, Chonchol M. Effectiveness of a chronic kidney disease clinic in achieving K/DOQI guideline targets at initiation of dialysis--a single-centre experience. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007 Mar;22(3):833-838. [doi: 10.1093/ndt/gf1701] [Medline: 17127695]
- Wei S, Chang Y, Mau L, Lin M, Chiu H, Tsai J, et al. Chronic kidney disease care program improves quality of pre-end-stage renal disease care and reduces medical costs. Nephrology (Carlton) 2010 Feb;15(1):108-115. [doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1797.2009.01154.x] [Medline: 20377778]
- Curtis BM, Ravani P, Malberti F, Kennett F, Taylor PA, Djurdjev O, et al. The short- and long-term impact of multi-disciplinary clinics in addition to standard nephrology care on patient outcomes. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2005 Jan;20(1):147-154. [doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfh585] [Medline: 15585514]
- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA Guideline for the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Management of High Blood Pressure in Adults: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2018 Oct 23;138(17):e426-e483. [doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000597] [Medline: 30354655]
- 9. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M, Authors/Task Force Members. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: the Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens 2018 Oct;36(10):1953-2041. [doi: 10.1097/HJH.0000000000001940] [Medline: 30234752]

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14204
```

- Eckel RH, Jakicic JM, Ard JD, de Jesus JM, Houston MN, Hubbard VS, American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014 Jul 01;63(25 Pt B):2960-2984 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.11.003] [Medline: 24239922]
- 11. Elloumi M, Zomaya A. Biological Knowledge Discovery Handbook. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley; 2013.
- 12. Akash R, Gupta M. Association rule mining: applications in various areas. 2008 Presented at: International Conference on Data Management; February 26-28, 2008; Ghaziabad, India.
- 13. Altaf W, Shahbaz M, Guergachi A. Applications of association rule mining in health informatics: a survey. Artif Intell Rev 2016 May 9;47(3):313-340. [doi: 10.1007/s10462-016-9483-9]
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017. Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Data database URL: https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/annual_data/annual_2017.html
- Pierannunzi C, Hu SS, Balluz L. A systematic review of publications assessing reliability and validity of the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS), 2004–2011. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Mar 24;13(1):13. [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-49]
- Li C, Balluz LS, Ford ES, Okoro CA, Zhao G, Pierannunzi C. A comparison of prevalence estimates for selected health indicators and chronic diseases or conditions from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, the National Health Interview Survey, and the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2007-2008. Prev Med 2012 Jun;54(6):381-387. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.04.003] [Medline: 22521996]
- 17. Kilicoglu H, Shin D, Fiszman M, Rosemblat G, Rindflesch TC. SemMedDB: a PubMed-scale repository of biomedical semantic predications. Bioinformatics 2012 Oct 08;28(23):3158-3160. [doi: <u>10.1093/bioinformatics/bts591</u>]
- 18. Shen F, Liu H, Sohn S, Larson DW, Lee Y. Predicate oriented pattern analysis for biomedical knowledge discovery. IIM 2016;08(03):66-85. [doi: 10.4236/iim.2016.83006]
- Shen F, Liu H, Sohn S, Larson D, Lee Y. Biomedical query generator for knowledge discovery. 2015 Presented at: 2015 IEEE International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedicine (BIBM); November 9-12, 2015; Washington, DC. [doi: 10.1109/bibm.2015.7359833]
- 20. Zhu Q, Tao C, Shen F, Chute C. Exploring the pharmacogenomics knowledge base (PharmGKB) for repositioning breast cancer drugs by leveraging Web ontology language (OWL) and cheminformatics approaches. Pac Symp Biocomput 2014:172-182 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24297544]
- 21. Shen F, Lee Y. Knowledge discovery from biomedical ontologies in cross domains. PLoS ONE 2016 Aug 22;11(8):e0160005. [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0160005]
- Rindflesch TC, Fiszman M. The interaction of domain knowledge and linguistic structure in natural language processing: interpreting hypernymic propositions in biomedical text. J Biomed Inform 2003 Dec;36(6):462-477. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2003.11.003]
- 23. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie C. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chron Dis 1987 Jan;40(5):373-383. [doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8]
- 24. Agrawal R, Srikant R. Fast algorithms for mining association rules. In: Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Very Large Data Bases. 1994 Presented at: 20th International Conference on Very Large Data Bases; September 12-15, 1994; Santiago de Chile, Chile p. 487-499.
- 25. Peng S, Fan Y, Wang L, Wen A, Liu X, Liu H. Leveraging association rule mining to detect pathophysiological mechanisms of chronic kidney disease complicated by metabolic syndrome. 2018 Presented at: 2018 IEEE International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedicine (BIBM); December 3-6, 2018; Madrid, Spain. [doi: 10.1109/bibm.2018.8621226]
- 26. Sarnak MJ, Levey AS, Schoolwerth AC, Coresh J, Culleton B, Hamm LL, American Heart Association Councils on Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease, High Blood Pressure Research, Clinical Cardiology, EpidemiologyPrevention. Kidney disease as a risk factor for development of cardiovascular disease: a statement from the American Heart Association Councils on Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease, High Blood Pressure Research, Clinical Cardiology, and Epidemiology and Prevention. Circulation 2003 Oct 28;108(17):2154-2169. [doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000095676.90936.80] [Medline: 14581387]
- Levey AS, Beto JA, Coronado BE, Eknoyan G, Foley RN, Kasiske BL, et al. Controlling the epidemic of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease: what do we know? What do we need to learn? Where do we go from here? National Kidney Foundation Task Force on Cardiovascular Disease. Am J Kidney Dis 1998 Nov;32(5):853-906. [doi: 10.1016/s0272-6386(98)70145-3] [Medline: 9820460]
- 28. US Renal Data System. USRDS 2007 Annual Data Report: Atlas of End-Stage Renal Disease in the United States. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; 2007.
- 30. Johansen K, Painter P. Exercise in individuals with CKD. Am J Kidney Dis 2012 Jan;59(1):126-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2011.10.008] [Medline: 22113127]
- Mcguire K, Aviña Zubieta JA, Esdaile JM, Sadatsafavi M, Sayre EC, Abrahamowicz M, et al. Risk of incident chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in rheumatoid arthritis: a population based cohort study. Arthritis Care Res 2018 Apr 02;71(5):602-610. [doi: <u>10.1002/acr.23410</u>]

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14204
```

- 32. Ferder L, Ferder MD, Inserra F. The role of high-fructose corn syrup in metabolic syndrome and hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep 2010 Apr;12(2):105-112. [doi: 10.1007/s11906-010-0097-3] [Medline: 20424937]
- Johnson RJ, Nakagawa T, Sanchez-Lozada LG, Shafiu M, Sundaram S, Le M, et al. Sugar, uric acid, and the etiology of diabetes and obesity. Diabetes 2013 Oct;62(10):3307-3315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/db12-1814] [Medline: 24065788]
- Chan M, Kelly J, Batterham M, Tapsell L. A high prevalence of abnormal nutrition parameters found in predialysis end-stage kidney disease: is it a result of uremia or poor eating habits? J Ren Nutr 2014 Sep;24(5):292-302. [doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2014.03.008] [Medline: 25023456]
- Pollard CM, Miller MR, Daly AM, Crouchley KE, O'Donoghue KJ, Lang AJ, et al. Increasing fruit and vegetable consumption: success of the Western Australian Go for 2&5 campaign. Public Health Nutr 2008 Mar;11(3):314-320. [doi: 10.1017/S1368980007000523] [Medline: 17612423]
- 36. Launay-Vacher V, Oudard S, Janus N, Gligorov J, Pourrat X, Rixe O, Renal InsufficiencyCancer Medications (IRMA) Study Group. Prevalence of Renal Insufficiency in cancer patients and implications for anticancer drug management: the renal insufficiency and anticancer medications (IRMA) study. Cancer 2007 Sep 15;110(6):1376-1384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.22904] [Medline: 17634949]
- 37. Launay-Vacher V. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease in cancer patients: lessons from the IRMA study group. Semin Nephrol 2010 Nov;30(6):548-556. [doi: 10.1016/j.semnephrol.2010.09.003] [Medline: 21146120]
- 38. Nahar J, Imam T, Tickle KS, Chen YP. Association rule mining to detect factors which contribute to heart disease in males and females. Expert Syst Appl 2013 Mar;40(4):1086-1093. [doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2012.08.028]
- 39. Simon G, Schrom J, Castro M, Li P, Caraballo P. Survival association rule mining towards type 2 diabetes risk assessment. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2013;2013:1293-1302 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24551408]
- Schneider KL, Clark MA, Rakowski W, Lapane KL. Evaluating the impact of non-response bias in the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS). J Epidemiol Community Health 2010 Oct 19;66(4):290-295. [doi: 10.1136/jech.2009.103861]
- 41. Wong PK. Silent kidney disease and hypertension in Cambodia a pilot study in Mercy Medical Center Cambodia. Clin Nephrol 2015;83 (2015)(S1):14-16. [doi: <u>10.5414/cnp83s014</u>]
- 42. Taniguchi K, Itoh H, Yamaguchi T. [Arrhythmias, excitation and conduction abnormalities in chronic kidney failure with hemodialysis]. Nihon Rinsho 1992 Jan;50 Suppl:676-683. [Medline: <u>1374488</u>]

Abbreviations

ARM: association rule mining BRFSS: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index CHF: congestive heart failure CKD: chronic kidney disease NCDs: noncommunicable diseases SemMedDB: Semantic MEDLINE Database UMLS: Unified Medical Language System

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 30.03.19; peer-reviewed by F Hadaegh, R Subhashini, T Kothari; comments to author 23.04.19; revised version received 18.09.19; accepted 22.10.19; published 10.12.19.

Please cite as: Peng S, Shen F, Wen A, Wang L, Fan Y, Liu X, Liu H Detecting Lifestyle Risk Factors for Chronic Kidney Disease With Comorbidities: Association Rule Mining Analysis of Web-Based Survey Data J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14204 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14204 doi:10.2196/14204 PMID:31821152

©Suyuan Peng, Feichen Shen, Andrew Wen, Liwei Wang, Yadan Fan, Xusheng Liu, Hongfang Liu. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 10.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

QardioArm Upper Arm Blood Pressure Monitor Against Omron M3 Upper Arm Blood Pressure Monitor in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: A Validation Study According to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol Revision 2010

Victoria Mazoteras-Pardo¹, PhD; Ricardo Becerro-De-Bengoa-Vallejo¹, PhD; Marta Elena Losa-Iglesias², PhD; Daniel López-López³, PhD; David Rodríguez-Sanz¹, PhD; Israel Casado-Hernández¹, PhD; Cesar Calvo-Lobo¹, PhD; Patricia Palomo-López⁴, PhD

¹School of Nursing, Physiotherapy, and Podiatry, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Madrid, Spain

²Faculty of Health Sciences, Universidad Rey Juan Carlos, Madrid, Spain

³Research, Health, and Podiatry Group, Department of Health Sciences, Faculty of Nursing and Podiatry, Universidade da Coruña, Ferrol, Spain ⁴University Center of Plasencia, Universidad de Extremadura, Plasencia, Spain

Corresponding Author: Cesar Calvo-Lobo, PhD School of Nursing, Physiotherapy, and Podiatry Universidad Complutense de Madrid Plaza Ramón y Cajal, 3 Madrid, 28040 Spain Phone: 34 913941544 Email: <u>cescalvo@ucm.es</u>

Abstract

Background: Hypertension is considered as a main risk factor for chronic kidney disease development and progression. Thus, the control and evaluation of this disease with new software and devices are especially important in patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease.

Objective: This study aimed to validate the QardioArm mobile device, which is used for blood pressure (BP) self-measurement in patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease, by following the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2 (ESH-IP2) guidelines.

Methods: A validation study was carried out by following the ESH-IP2 guidelines. A sample of 33 patients with chronic kidney disease self-measured their BP by using the QardioArm and Omron M3 Intellisense devices. Heart rate (HR), diastolic BP, and systolic BP were measured.

Results: The QardioArm fulfilled the ESH-IP2 validation criteria in patients who suffered from chronic kidney disease.

Conclusions: Thus, this study is considered as the first validation using a wireless upper arm oscillometric device connected to an app to measure BP and HR meeting the ESH-IP2 requirements in patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease. New validation studies following the ESH-IP2 guidelines should be carried out using different BP devices in patients with specific diseases.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14686) doi:10.2196/14686

KEYWORDS

blood pressure; hypertension; kidney disease; mobile apps; software validation



Introduction

Background

Increased afferent sympathetic activation may be an early event in patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease [1]. Various types of kidney damage may lead to a heightened sympathetic drive by central integrative pathways to the hypothalamus [2,3]. The ensuing efferent response may lead to an increase in renin activity, retention of sodium retention, and, eventually, vasoconstriction, which may contribute to hypertension development and propagation [4]. Hypertension may be considered as a main risk factor for chronic kidney disease development and progression. Thus, the control and evaluation of this disease with new software and devices are especially important in patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease. Patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease must strictly control their hypertension. Nevertheless, most of these patients failed to control their blood pressure (BP), showing a lower control rate compared with the general population [4-6].

Active involvement is required in patients with hypertension to get a successful management of this disease. Encouragement of home BP monitoring is considered as one of the main measures that increased patient compliance with their treatment, showing a great potential to improve hypertension control rates [7-9]. To get efficient home BP monitoring, an accurate BP measurement technique needs to be used by a validated device [7]. Standard validation protocols are considered as objective guidelines, which allow health care professionals to recommend a device to their patients [10-13].

The Association for the Advancement of Medical Instrumentation published a protocol to validate electronic and aneroid sphygmomanometers in 1987. In 1990, the protocol of the British Hypertension Society appeared as a new guideline. Afterward, both protocols were revised in 1993 [10,11]. On the basis of these experiences, the Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring of the European Society of Hypertension published a simplified international protocol to facilitate this assessment process in 2002 to revise, unify, and simplify the previous protocols [12]. In 2010, this last European Society of Hypertension protocol was revised (ie, European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2 [ESH-IP2]), being more exigent than the previous protocol [13]. These protocols have been validated for the general adult population; nevertheless, their validation needs to be carried out in special populations, such as patients with chronic kidney disease [14].

Objectives

The hypothesis of this study was that QardioArm (Atten Electronics Co) would be valid for self-measurement of BP and heart rate (HR) in renal patients according to the ESH-IP2 guidelines. Hence, the purpose of this study was to validate the QardioArm for BP self-measurement in patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease, following the ESH-IP2 guidelines.

Methods

Study Design

This study was a descriptive investigation study to validate the QardioArm device for the measurement of BP and HR in patients with chronic kidney disease according to the ESH-IP2 guidelines [13]. It was performed between January 2019 and May 2019.

Ethical Information

The Institutional Research and Ethical Committee at the University of Extremadura (Badajoz, Spain), with the code 151/2019, approved this study. This study adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki [15]. Participants were fully informed about the study protocol. All participants signed their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Devices

Omron M3 Intellisense

The Omron M3 Intellisense (Omron Healthcare) was considered as the gold standard in this study. This device was validated in the general population [16] and in patients with chronic kidney disease [14] following the ESH-IP2 guidelines. This device has validated in comparison with a been mercury sphygmomanometer with a mean of -1.3 mm Hg (SD 4.3) for systolic pressure and a mean of 2.1 mm Hg (SD 4.1) for diastolic pressure in patients with chronic kidney disease [14]. In addition, at the beginning of this study, the Omron M3 was evaluated in comparison with a certified pressure device (the Omron M2) [16] in 3 BP measurements to ensure the correct functioning of the gold standard. The used Omron M3 Intellisense monitor was purchased in a local market. The Omron M3 Intellisense is an automated and oscillometric upper arm device for home BP monitoring. This device comprised a standard arm cuff, circumference ranging from 22 to 32 cm, and a large cuff, circumference ranging from 32 to 42 cm. This device used IntelliSense technology to acquire a comfortable controlled inflation without pressure presetting or reinflation.

QardioArm

The QardioArm was selected as the test device in this study. QardioArm is a fully automatic, noninvasive, wireless BP monitor. QardioArm comprises a BP measurement system intended to assess the diastolic BP and systolic BP and HR in the adult population [17].

This device used an inflatable cuff that was wrapped around the upper arm. Cuff circumference ranged from 22 to 37 cm.

A specific free Qardio app was downloaded from the Apple App Store or Google Play Store. A device with Bluetooth 4.0, iOS 7.0 (or later), and Android 4.4 *KitKat* (or later) was required, being compatible with iPod, iPhone, Apple Watch, iPad, and Android phones and tablets.

Furthermore, the QardioArm provided an automatic screen, including graphics, to facilitate visual data interpretation. This app is configured by issue reminders and warnings, and the measurements and progress are real time shared with other users.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Patients and Recruitment

All patients were recruited from the *Fresenius Medical Care* dialysis clinics in Plasencia (Extremadura) and signed the written informed consent.

Following the ESH-IP2 guidelines [13], 33 patients who fulfilled the selection criteria were included in this study. Inclusion criteria were women and men, aged at least 25 years, who underwent hemodialysis treatment. Of the total participants, this study included at least 10 men and 10 women, according to the requirements of the guidelines. Exclusion criteria were patients with a sustained arrhythmia or circulatory problems, which are considered as contraindicated conditions for the use of the cuff, as well as pregnant women.

Study Protocol

A total of 2 nurses with experience in BP measurement carried out all assessments. The measurement room provided an adequate temperature without any factor that could have influenced the measurements, such as noise and distractions [12,13].

Each participant self-reported birth date, sex, height, weight, and body mass index (using the Quetelet index in kg/m^2), and the arm circumference was measured to ensure the adequate cuff size.

Furthermore, participants were placed in sitting position in the measurement room, and BP measurements were assessed after a rest period (from 10 to 15 min). BP coinciding with the HR was measured on the right arm in 30 patients with chronic kidney disease, whereas BP was assessed on the left arm in 3 patients because of the presence of an arteriovenous fistula on the right arm (n=2) and right hemiplegia (n=1). A total of 9 consecutive measurements were carried out following the ESH-IP2 guidelines [12,13], alternating the 2 described devices (the Omron M3 Intellisense and the QardioArm). All measurements were recorded according to the following protocol:

- BP A—entry BP using the standard device
- BP B—device detection BP using the test instrument
- BP 1—using standard device
- BP 2—using the test instrument
- BP 3—using standard device
- BP 4—using the test instrument
- BP 5—using the standard device
- BP 6—using the test instrument
- BP 7—using the standard device

At the same time of measurement, the patients remained quiet, calm, sitting and without moving, placing the back straight, maintaining the feet over the floor in parallel position, without crossing their legs, and resting the arm over a flat surface, with the hand palm upward and the elbow in a slightly flexed position to place their fist at the height of the heart. The interval time between BP measurements varied from 30 to 60 seconds [13]. All measurements were performed in the same room.

Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed by using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 19 (SPSS Inc). Results were described in mean (SD).

The device accuracy following the ESH-IP2 guidelines was based on a comparison between the measurements of the reference (Omron M3) and test device (QardioArm).

For each patient, the device measurements such as BP 2, BP 4, and BP 6 were first compared with the measurements such as BP 1, BP 3, and BP 5, respectively, and also with the measurements such as BP 3, BP 5, and BP 7, respectively. Comparisons that were more favorable to the device were used.

Indeed, differences were classified separately for both diastolic BP and systolic BP, depending on whether their values were within 5, 10, or 15 mm Hg [13], and for HR, depending on whether their values were within 3, 5, or 8 beats per minute.

Results were analyzed and detailed according to the ESH-IP2 requirements to conclude if the used device passed or failed to pass the explained validation protocol. Parts 1 and 2 of the validation protocol concern the differences in number of the requested ranges for each individual measurement (99 measurements) and each individual patient (33 patients), respectively [13].

Furthermore, Bland and Altman graphs were used to illustrate the relationship between systolic BP differences (systolic BP and device-reference) and mean systolic BP (device and reference), diastolic BP differences (diastolic BP and device-reference) and mean diastolic BP (device and reference), or HR differences (HR and device-reference) and average HR (device and reference).

Results

Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease

A sample of 35 patients with chronic kidney disease were recruited to assess 33 participants who met the ESH-IP2 inclusion criteria, and 2 of them were excluded because of device failure (n=1) and arrhythmias (n=1).

The remaining sample (n=33) was screened. There were 15 females and 18 males. The characteristics of the patients, such as age, height, weight, body mass index, and arm circumference, are presented in Table 1.



Table 1.	Sociodemograp	hic characte	ristics of	the patients.
	<u> </u>			

Variables	Total group (N=33)		Male (n=18)		Female (n=15)	
	Mean (SD)	Range (minimum to maximum)	Mean (SD)	Range (minimum to maximum)	Mean (SD)	Range (minimum to maximum)
Age (years)	71.03 (11.24)	45.0-91.0	70.11 (11.11)	45.0-90.0	72.13 (11.69)	48.0-91.0
Weight (kg)	70.70 (15.68)	46.5-101.0	70.33 (13.66)	46.5-100.0	71.15 (18.31)	46.80-101.0
Height (cm)	162.30 (9.52)	141.0-180.0	166.61 (5.63)	155.0-180.0	157.13 (10.77)	141.0-174.0
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	27.02 (6.70)	18.07-43.72	25.26 (4.27)	18.07-33.48	29.14 (8.48)	18.96-43.72
Arm circumference (mm)	267.27 (31.18)	215.0-350.0	262.50 (24.15)	220.0-310.0	273.0 (38.06)	215.0-350.0

Blood Pressure Outcome Measurements

Validation findings for the QardioArm BP device following the 2010 ESH-IP2 are presented in Table 2 (Part 1), Table 3 (Part 2) and Textbox 1 (Part 3).

The measurement numbers differing from the standard device (Omron M3) of 5, 10, and 15 mm Hg or less were presented in Tables 2 and 3 and Textbox 1, for diastolic BP and systolic BP, following the ESH-IP2 [13].

Mean differences between the test device and standard device were 2.43 mm Hg (SD 4.15) for diastolic BP and 4.03 mm Hg (SD 4.42) for systolic BP.

From these analyses, of 99 measurements, 81 differences for systolic BP and 85 differences for diastolic BP showed an absolute difference within 5 mm Hg (compared with at least 65 differences for diastolic BP and 73 differences for systolic BP according to the ESH-IP2 criteria). Furthermore, 92 comparisons for systolic BP and 95 comparisons for diastolic BP showed an absolute difference within 10 mm Hg (compared with at least 81 differences for diastolic BP and 87 differences for systolic BP according to the ESH-IP2 criteria).

In addition, of 99 differences, 96 for systolic BP and 95 for diastolic BP exhibited an absolute difference within 15 mm Hg (compared with at least 93 for diastolic BP and 96 for systolic BP according to the ESH-IP2 criteria). Indeed, the validation of part 1 of the device was successfully completed.

According to part 2 of the 2010 ESH-IP2 criteria, of 33 patients, 29 patients showed a minimum of 2 of 3 comparisons within a 5 mm Hg difference for systolic BP, and 30 patients showed a minimum of 2 of 3 comparisons within a 5 mm Hg difference for diastolic BP (compared with at least 24 patients for systolic BP and diastolic BP according to the ESH-IP2 criteria). Nevertheless, 2 patients showed their 3 differences outside 5 mm Hg for systolic BP, and no patients showed their 3 differences outside 5 mm Hg for systolic BP, and no patients showed their 3 differences outside 5 mm Hg for diastolic BP and systolic BP according to the ESH-IP2 criteria). Owing to these 2 described conditions, validation of part 2 of the device was successfully completed.

Therefore, part 3 of the QardioArm device validation was completed, as both parts 1 and 2 were validated for diastolic BP and systolic BP.

Table 2. Validation results of the Part 1 of the QardioArm blood pressure device according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2010.

Validation results of QardioArm—Part 1 ^a	≤5 mm Hg	≤10 mm Hg	≤15 mm Hg	Grade 1	Mean (SD), mm Hg
Pass requirements ^b					
Two of	73	87	96	c	—
All of	65	81	93	_	_
Achieved ^d					
Systolic blood pressure	81	92	96	Pass	4.03 (4.42)
Diastolic blood pressure	85	95	95	Pass	2.43 (4.15)

^aAccuracy is determined by the number differences in these ranges for both individual measurements (part 1) and individual subjects (part 2). To pass, a device must achieve all the minimum pass requirements shown.

^bPass requirements: as required by the IP.

^cNot applicable.

^dAchieved: as recorded by the device.



Mazoteras-Pardo et al

Table 3. Validation results of the Part 2 of the QardioArm blood pressure device according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2010.

Validation results of QardioArm—Part 2 ^a	2/3≤5 mm Hg	0/3≤5 mm Hg	Grade 2	Grade 3
Pass requirements ^b	≥24	≤3	c	_
Achieved ^d				
Systolic blood pressure	29	2	Pass	Pass
Diastolic blood pressure	30	0	Pass	Pass

^aAccuracy is determined by the number differences in these ranges for both individual measurements (part 1) and individual subjects (part 2). To pass, a device must achieve all the minimum pass requirements shown.

^bPass requirements: as required by the IP.

^cNot applicable.

^dAchieved: as recorded by the device.

Textbox 1. Validation results of the Part 3 of the QardioArm blood pressure device according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2010.

Validation results of QardioArm—Part 3

Result: Pass

Heart Rate Outcome Measurements

Validation findings for the QardioArm HR device following the 2010 ESH-IP2 are presented in Table 5 (Part 1), Table 6 (Part 2) and Textbox 2 (Part 3).

Measurement numbers differing from the standard device Omron M3 of 3, 5, and 8 beats per minute or less are detailed in Tables 5 and 6 and Textbox 2 for HR. Mean differences between the test device and standard device were 1.93 beats per minute (SD 3.04).

From these analyses, of 99 differences, 85 showed an absolute difference within 3 beats per minute, 94 differences showed an absolute difference within 5 beats per minute, and 95 differences showed an absolute difference within 8 beats per minute. Thus, part 1 device validation was successfully completed for the HR.

According to the part 2 of the 2010 ESH-IP2, of 33 participants, 29 showed a minimum of 2 of 3 comparisons within 3 beats per minute difference for HR. Nevertheless, 1 participant showed 3 differences outside 3 beats per minute. As these 2 detailed conditions were validated, the part 2 device validation was successfully completed.

Therefore, part 3 of the QardioArm device validation was completed, as both parts 1 and 2 were validated for HR.

Indeed, the QardioArm device met the validation criteria of the ESH-IP2 for the diastolic BP, systolic BP, and HR for patients who suffered from chronic kidney disease.

The prior findings coincided with the Bland and Altman graphs that visually showed the differences between QardioArm device measurements and Omron M3 measurements for systolic BP (Figure 1), diastolic BP (Figure 1) and HR (Figure 1).

Table 5. Validation results of the Part 1 for the QardioArm heart rate device according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2010.

Validation results QardioArm—Part 1 ^a	≤3 bpm	≤5 bpm	≤8 bpm	Grade 1	Mean (SD), bpm
Pass requirements ^b					
Two of	73	87	96	c	—
All of	65	81	93	_	_
Achieved ^d					
Heart rate	85	94	95	Pass	1.93 (3.04)

^aAccuracy is determined by the number differences in these ranges for both individual measurements (part 1) and individual subjects (part 2). To pass, a device must achieve all the minimum pass requirements shown.

^bPass requirements: as required by the IP.

^cNot applicable.

^dAchieved: as recorded by the device.

 Table 6.
 Validation results of the Part 2 for the QardioArm heart rate device according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2010.

Validation results QardioArm—Part 2 ^a	2/3≤3 bpm	0/3≤3 bpm	Grade 2	Grade 3
Pass requirements ^b	≥24	≤3	c	_
Achieved ^d				
Heart rate	29	1	Pass	Pass

^aAccuracy is determined by the number differences in these ranges for both individual measurements (part 1) and individual subjects (part 2). To pass, a device must achieve all the minimum pass requirements shown.

^bPass requirements: as required by the IP.

^cNot applicable.

^dAchieved: as recorded by the device.

Textbox 2. Validation results of the Part 3 for the QardioArm heart rate device according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2010.

Validation results QardioArm—Part 3

Result: Pass

•



Figure 1. Plots of (A) systolic blood pressure, (B) diastolic blood pressure, and (c) heart rate differences between the QardioArm and Omron M3. Difference: systolic blood pressure (A), diastolic blood pressure (B), or heart rate (C) differences between the QardioArm and Omron M3. Mean: mean systolic (A), diastolic (B), or heart rate (C) average values of the QardioArm and Omron M3.



Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Findings

Globally, the use of home BP monitoring is increasing in several countries, being a useful complement to clinic measurements with significant acceptance by patients with hypertension with several advantages [7,9,18,19]. Patients who suffer from chronic

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14686
```

The main disadvantage of automated home sphygmomanometers is their inaccuracy, although their accuracy is progressively improving [13]. This inaccuracy is more frequent in populations

with specific diseases, which may require additional validation

kidney disease may use a validated sphygmomanometer at home

because it seems to be especially cost-effective [6,7,18,20-22].

tests [7,23]. Indeed, the European Society of Hypertension J Med Internet Res 2019 | vol. 21 | iss. 12 |e14686 | p.178

Practice Guidelines 2010 for home BP monitoring recommended specific validation tests for patients with end-stage chronic kidney disease [9]. Arterial stiffness may influence the correspondence between readings measured by using mercury and oscillometric devices [8,24].

Nevertheless, there is a lack of research studies, which validate devices in patients with chronic kidney disease [14,24-27]. Further validation studies are necessary for patients with chronic kidney disease. Indeed, further studies should specifically investigate the validation of QardioArm in patients with chronic kidney disease with arterial stiffness as a future line of research.

This research is considered as the first study investigating the validation of a wireless upper arm oscillometric device connected to an app to measure HR and BP in chronic kidney disease patients. This validation has been carried out following the ESH-IP2 guidelines, although a validated noninvasive oscillometric upper arm device was used as a reference instead of a mercury sphygmomanometer.

QardioArm has been previously validated for the general population in the first place by our team [28] and later by other authors [29]. In addition, our team validated QardioArm in obese patients [30].

According to the results of our prior works, the number of differences included in each category according to the ESH-IP2 (5, 10, and 15 mm Hg) for systolic BP and diastolic BP was similar in the 3 validations [28-30], as parts 1 and 2 of the protocol were passed. QardioArm in the general population achieved better results in both phases of the protocol for systolic and diastolic BP, especially in part 1 (higher differences in the 3 categories) [28]. Within phase 1, the differences obtained in the systolic BP of renal patients in this study were very similar to those of the general population [28], whereas the differences

obtained in the diastolic BP were more similar to the obese population [30]. Phase 2 of this study was almost identical to the 3 previous validations [28-30], with minor differences (1 or 2 individuals).

Following the ESH-IP2 guidelines, the findings of this study showed that the QardioArm device successfully passed the validation requirements for patients with chronic kidney disease [13]. Nevertheless, our findings may not be extrapolated to other specific populations with specific diseases such as elderly or diabetic patients as well as pregnant women, as these conditions have not been addressed. In addition, it should be considered that patients with advanced chronic kidney disease could present a specific chronic kidney disease type and future studies should be carried out to develop new app validations according to the specific recommendations in each kind of chronic kidney disease patients Nevertheless, arterial stiffness measurements of patients with chronic kidney disease involved in this study could be useful, although the standard validation protocols did not require these measures. Finally, consecutive sampling bias should be considered in this study, and a simple randomization sampling process could be more adequate for future studies.

Conclusions

The findings of this study are relevant because it is considered as the first validation to show that a device connected to an app to measure BP and HR met the requirements of the 2010 ESH-IP2 in the patients who suffer from chronic kidney disease.

Besides, the ESH-IP2 guidelines should stress on validating the BP devices in other specific populations by publishing explicit criteria for such a validation in these populations.

Finally, it is highly recommended to determine the accuracy of this device in other populations with specific diseases such as pregnant women, elderly people, or arrhythmic patients.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Converse RL, Jacobsen TN, Toto RD, Jost CM, Cosentino F, Fouad-Tarazi F, et al. Sympathetic overactivity in patients with chronic renal failure. N Engl J Med 1992 Dec 31;327(27):1912-1918. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM199212313272704</u>] [Medline: <u>1454086</u>]
- 2. Hausberg M, Kosch M, Harmelink P, Barenbrock M, Hohage H, Kisters K, et al. Sympathetic nerve activity in end-stage renal disease. Circulation 2002 Oct 8;106(15):1974-1979. [doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000034043.16664.96] [Medline: 12370222]
- 3. Sata Y, Schlaich MP. The potential role of catheter-based renal sympathetic denervation in chronic and end-stage kidney disease. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 2016 Jul;21(4):344-352. [doi: 10.1177/1074248415624156] [Medline: 26740184]
- Schlaich MP, Sobotka PA, Krum H, Whitbourn R, Walton A, Esler MD. Renal denervation as a therapeutic approach for hypertension: novel implications for an old concept. Hypertension 2009 Dec;54(6):1195-1201. [doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.138610] [Medline: 19822798]
- 5. Bakris G, Ritz E. The message for World Kidney Day 2009: hypertension and kidney disease: a marriage that should be prevented. Kidney Int 2009 Mar;75(5):449-452 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.694] [Medline: 19218998]
- Skonieczny P, Heleniak Z, Karowiec M, Michalczuk M, Ksiazek M, Pakuła B, et al. Prevalence and hypertension treatment schedule in hemodialysis patients and renal transplant recipients in 2006 and 2014/2016. Transplant Proc 2018;50(6):1807-1812. [doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2018.02.163] [Medline: 30056905]
- 7. Pickering TG, Miller NH, Ogedegbe G, Krakoff LR, Artinian NT, Goff D, American Heart Association, American Society of Hypertension, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. Call to action on use and reimbursement for home blood pressure monitoring: a joint scientific statement from the American Heart Association, American Society of Hypertension,

and Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2008;23(4):299-323. [doi: 10.1097/01.JCN.0000317429.98844.04] [Medline: 18596492]

- 8. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves J, Hill MN, et al. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals: part 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. Circulation 2005 Mar 8;111(5):697-716. [doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000154900.76284.F6] [Medline: 15699287]
- 9. Parati G, Stergiou GS, Asmar R, Bilo G, de Leeuw P, Imai Y, ESH Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring. European Society of Hypertension practice guidelines for home blood pressure monitoring. J Hum Hypertens 2010 Dec;24(12):779-785. [doi: 10.1038/jhh.2010.54] [Medline: 20520631]
- 10. The AAMI Store. 1993. American National Standard: Non-invasive sphygmomanometers Part 2: Clinical investigation of automated measurement type URL: <u>https://my.aami.org/aamiresources/previewfiles/8106002_1306_preview.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-29]
- 11. O'Brien E, Petrie J, Littler W, de Swiet M, Padfield PL, O'Malley K, et al. The British Hypertension Society protocol for the evaluation of automated and semi-automated blood pressure measuring devices with special reference to ambulatory systems. J Hypertens 1990 Jul;8(7):607-619. [doi: 10.1097/00004872-199007000-00004] [Medline: 2168451]
- O'Brien E, Pickering T, Asmar R, Myers M, Parati G, Staessen J, Working Group on Blood Pressure Monitoring of the European Society of Hypertension. Working group on blood pressure monitoring of the European society of hypertension international protocol for validation of blood pressure measuring devices in adults. Blood Press Monit 2002 Mar;7(1):3-17. [doi: 10.1097/00126097-200202000-00002] [Medline: 12040236]
- O'Brien E, Atkins N, Stergiou G, Karpettas N, Parati G, Asmar R, et al. European Society of Hypertension International Protocol revision 2010 for the validation of blood pressure measuring devices in adults. Blood Press Monit 2010;15(1):23-38. [doi: 10.1097/mbp.0b013e3283360e98]
- Akpolat T, Erdem E, Aydogdu T. Validation of the Omron M3 Intellisense (HEM-7051-E) upper arm blood pressure monitor, for self-measurement, according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol revision 2010 in a stage 3-5 chronic kidney disease population. Kidney Blood Press Res 2012;35(2):82-88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000330719] [Medline: 21912183]
- 15. Asociación Médica Mundial. Declaración de Helsinki de la Asociación Médica Mundial Principios éticos para las investigaciones médicas en seres humanos. Seúl, octubre de 2008. J Oral Res 2013;2(1):42-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17126/joralres.2013.009]
- 16. Asmar R, Khabouth J, Topouchian J, El Feghali R, Mattar J. Validation of three automatic devices for self-measurement of blood pressure according to the International Protocol: The Omron M3 Intellisense (HEM-7051-E), the Omron M2 Compact (HEM 7102-E), and the Omron R3-I Plus (HEM 6022-E). Blood Press Monit 2010;15(1):49-54. [doi: 10.1097/mbp.0b013e3283354b11]
- 17. GetQardio. 2016. Qardioarm: User Manual Version 2.1.2015 URL: <u>https://www.getqardio.com/es</u> [accessed 2019-10-29]
- Funahashi J, Ohkubo T, Fukunaga H, Kikuya M, Takada N, Asayama K, et al. The economic impact of the introduction of home blood pressure measurement for the diagnosis and treatment of hypertension. Blood Press Monit 2006 Oct;11(5):257-267. [doi: 10.1097/01.mbp.0000217996.19839.70] [Medline: 16932035]
- 19. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Rosei EA, Azizi M, Burnier M, et al. 2018 ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. J Hypertens 2018;36(10):1953-2041. [doi: 10.1097/hjh.00000000001940]
- 20. Agarwal R, Peixoto AJ, Santos SF, Zoccali C. Out-of-office blood pressure monitoring in chronic kidney disease. Blood Press Monit 2009;14(1):2-11. [doi: 10.1097/mbp.0b013e3283262f58]
- 21. Akpolat T. Home sphygmomanometers: what should a nephrologist know? J Nephrol 2011;24(3):300-306. [doi: 10.5301/jn.2010.2902]
- 22. Agarwal R. Managing hypertension using home blood pressure monitoring among haemodialysis patients--a call to action. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2010 Jul;25(6):1766-1771 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq171] [Medline: 20350928]
- 23. Akpolat T. Proposal of a method for the evaluation of inaccuracy of home sphygmomanometers. Blood Press Monit 2009;14(5):208-215. [doi: 10.1097/mbp.0b013e328330d47b]
- Thompson AM, Eguchi K, Reznik ME, Shah SS, Pickering TG. Validation of an oscillometric home blood pressure monitor in an end-stage renal disease population and the effect of arterial stiffness on its accuracy. Blood Press Monit 2007 Aug;12(4):227-232. [doi: 10.1097/MBP.0b013e328108f544] [Medline: 17625395]
- 25. Peixoto AJ, Gray TA, Crowley ST. Validation of the SpaceLabs 90207 ambulatory blood pressure device for hemodialysis patients. Blood Press Monit 1999 Oct;4(5):217-221. [doi: 10.1097/00126097-199910000-00003] [Medline: 10547641]
- 26. Semret M, Zidehsarai M, Agarwal R. Accuracy of oscillometric blood pressure monitoring with concurrent auscultatory blood pressure in hemodialysis patients. Blood Press Monit 2005 Oct;10(5):249-255. [doi: 10.1097/01.mbp.0000172713.28029.84] [Medline: 16205443]
- Czarkowski M, Staszków M, Kostyra K, Shebani Z, Niemczyk S, Matuszkiewicz-Rowinska J. Determining the accuracy of blood pressure measurement by the Omron HEM-907 before and after hemodialysis. Blood Press Monit 2009 Oct;14(5):232-238. [doi: 10.1097/mbp.0b013e328331d5b5] [Medline: 19938337]
- 28. Pardo VM, Iglesias ME, Chicharro JL, Vallejo R. The QardioArm app in the assessment of blood pressure and heart rate: reliability and validity study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 15;5(12):e198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8458] [Medline: 29246880]
- 29. Chahine MN, Topouchian J, Zelveian P, Hakobyan Z, Melkonyan A, Azaki A, et al. Validation of BP devices QardioArm in the general population and Omron M6 Comfort in type II diabetic patients according to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol (ESH-IP). Med Devices (Auckl) 2018;11:11-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/MDER.S142126] [Medline: 29343992]
- Mazoteras-Pardo V, Becerro-De-Bengoa-Vallejo R, Losa-Iglesias ME, López-López D, Palomo-López P, Rodríguez-Sanz D, et al. The QardioArm blood pressure app for self-measurement in an obese population: validation study using the European society of hypertension international protocol revision 2010. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Oct 25;6(10):e11632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11632] [Medline: 30361193]

Abbreviations

BP: blood pressure **ESH-IP2:** European Society of Hypertension International Protocol 2 **HR:** heart rate

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.05.19; peer-reviewed by S Omboni, E Navarro Flores, P Munuera Martínez; comments to author 14.09.19; revised version received 17.09.19; accepted 22.10.19; published 02.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Mazoteras-Pardo V, Becerro-De-Bengoa-Vallejo R, Losa-Iglesias ME, López-López D, Rodríguez-Sanz D, Casado-Hernández I, Calvo-Lobo C, Palomo-López P QardioArm Upper Arm Blood Pressure Monitor Against Omron M3 Upper Arm Blood Pressure Monitor in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease: A Validation Study According to the European Society of Hypertension International Protocol Revision 2010 J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14686 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14686 doi:10.2196/14686 PMID:<u>31789600</u>

©Victoria Mazoteras-Pardo, Ricardo Becerro-De-Bengoa-Vallejo, Marta Elena Losa-Iglesias, Daniel López-López, David Rodríguez-Sanz, Israel Casado-Hernández, Cesar Calvo-Lobo, Patricia Palomo-López. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 02.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Comparative Effectiveness of a Web-Based Patient Decision Aid for Therapeutic Options for Sickle Cell Disease: Randomized Controlled Trial

Lakshmanan Krishnamurti¹, MD; Diana Ross¹, MSN; Cynthia Sinha¹, PhD; Traci Leong², PhD; Namita Bakshi¹, MS; Nonita Mittal¹, MD; Divya Veludhandi¹, BSc; Anh-Phuong Pham¹, BSc; Alankrita Taneja¹, MBBS; Kamesh Gupta¹, MBBS; Julum Nwanze¹, MBBS, MPH; Andrea Marie Matthews¹, BSc; Saumya Joshi¹, MBBS; Veronica Vazquez Olivieri¹, BSc; Santhi Arjunan¹, BSc; Ifechi Okonkwo¹, BSc; Ines Lukombo¹, BS; Peter Lane¹, MD; Nitya Bakshi¹, MS, MD; George Loewenstein^{1,3}, PhD

¹Aflac Cancer and Blood Disorders Center, Emory University School of Medicine, Children's Healthcare of Atlanta, Atlanta, GA, United States ²Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

³Center for Behavioral Decision Research, Department of Social and Decision Sciences, Carnegie Mellon University, Pittsburgh, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Lakshmanan Krishnamurti, MD Aflac Cancer and Blood Disorders Center Emory University School of Medicine Children's Healthcare of Atlanta 1405 Clifton Road NE Atlanta, GA, 30322 United States Phone: 1 404 727 0710 Email: lkrishn@emory.edu

Abstract

Background: Hydroxyurea, chronic blood transfusions, and bone marrow transplantation are efficacious, disease-modifying therapies for sickle cell disease but involve complex risk-benefit trade-offs and decisional dilemma compounded by the lack of comparative studies. A patient decision aid can inform patients about their treatment options, the associated risks and benefits, help them clarify their values, and allow them to participate in medical decision making.

Objective: The objective of this study was to develop a literacy-sensitive Web-based patient decision aid based on the Ottawa decision support framework, and through a randomized clinical trial estimate the effectiveness of the patient decision aid in improving patient knowledge and their involvement in decision making.

Methods: We conducted population decisional needs assessments in a nationwide sample of patients, caregivers, community advocates, policy makers, and health care providers using qualitative interviews to identify decisional conflict, knowledge and expectations, values, support and resources, decision types, timing, stages and learning, and personal clinical characteristics. Interview transcripts were coded using QSR NVivo 10. Alpha testing of the patient decision aid prototype was done to establish usability and the accuracy of the information it conveyed, and then was followed by iterative cycles of beta testing. We conducted a randomized clinical trial of adults and of caregivers of pediatric patients to evaluate the efficacy of the patient decision aid.

Results: In a decisional needs assessment, 223 stakeholders described their preferences, helping to guide the development of the patient decision aid, which then underwent alpha testing by 30 patients and 38 health care providers and iterative cycles of beta testing by 87 stakeholders. In a randomized clinical trial, 120 participants were assigned to either the patient decision aid or standard care (SC) arm. Qualitative interviews revealed high levels of usability, acceptability, and utility of the patient decision aid in education, values clarification, and preparation for decision making. On the acceptability survey, 72% (86/120) of participants rated the patient decision aid as good or excellent. Participants on the patient decision aid arm compared to the SC arm demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in decisional self-efficacy (P=.05) and a reduction in the informed sub-score of decisional conflict (P=.003) at 3 months, with an improvement in preparation for decision making (P<.001) at 6 months. However, there was no improvement in terms of the change in knowledge, the total or other domain scores of decisional conflicts, or decisional self-efficacies at 6 months. The large amount of missing data from survey completion limited our ability to draw conclusions

about the effectiveness of the patient decision aid. The patient decision aid met 61 of 62 benchmarks of the international patient decision aid collaboration standards for content, development process, and efficacy.

Conclusions: We have developed a patient decision aid for sickle cell disease with extensive input from stakeholders and in a randomized clinical trial demonstrated its acceptability and utility in education and decision making. We were unable to demonstrate its effectiveness in improving patient knowledge and involvement in decision making.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03224429; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03224429 and ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02326597; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02326597

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14462) doi:10.2196/14462

KEYWORDS

decision aids; decision support; sickle cell anemia; sickle cell disease; sickle cell disorders

Introduction

Sickle cell disease (SCD) is a major public health problem in the United States, affecting an estimated 100,000 individuals [1] and associated with significant morbidity caused by pain crises, acute chest syndrome, stroke, pulmonary hypertension, leg ulcers, and irreversible organ damage [2]. SCD has substantial health care utilization, with total annual charges in the United States that exceed \$1.5 billion [3,4]. Quality of life is impaired [5-12], productivity is diminished (with a 40-60%) unemployment rate [13]), and there is increased risk of premature mortality, especially in patients with the genotypes HbSS or HbS/ β° thalassemia [2,14-18]. SCD predominantly affects ethnic minorities, with African Americans, followed by Hispanics, being the largest affected communities [18]. Disease-modifying therapies, such as hydroxyurea (HU), chronic transfusion therapy (CTT), and bone marrow transplantation (BMT), have demonstrated efficacy in clinical trials. HU is effective at reducing complications and health care utilization in children and adults, and improves survival in adults [19-25]; however, it must be taken daily and indefinitely with regular monitoring for side effects, and its impact on long-term organ function is unknown. HU is underprescribed and when prescribed is underutilized, with 85% of SCD patients who received a HU prescription never filling it [19,23,25,26] and an average prescription refill rate of 58% [27]. Over 20% of families refuse HU, citing reasons such as fear of cancer or other side effects, concern about lack of efficacy, and unwillingness to take the medicine or make the additional visits to clinic or pharmacy [23,26]. BMT is potentially curative, but is associated with treatment-related morbidity, risk of mortality, and later effects such as infertility [28]. Only a small minority of eligible patients undergo BMT even when an HLA-identical sibling donor is available [29,30]. CTT is efficacious in primary and secondary prevention of stroke but is associated with significant risks such as allo-immunization and iron overload [31-34]. In making choices regarding HU, BMT, or CTT, patients and caregivers are most influenced by perceived efficacy and safety [35,36]. There are trade-offs between the benefits and harms between the different treatment options, such that an individual patient's preference, values, and risks of different outcomes could influence their decisions. A major contributor to decisional dilemma associated with treatments for SCD is the absence of studies to compare the benefits and harms of these treatments and guide patients in their choice of treatments. Thus, there is

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462

a need for research that helps to understand patient values and preferences to determine how to help them make informed treatment decisions in line with these values and preferences.

The Ottawa Decision Support Framework is an evidence-based, practical guideline for assisting patients in making health or social decisions [37-40]. It uses a three-step process to: (1) assess client and practitioner determinants of decisions to identify decision support needs; (2) provide decision support through counseling and decision tools; and (3) evaluate decision making. The Ottawa decisional support framework has been used to guide the development and evaluation of more than 30 patient decision aids, practitioner decision support resources, and tools to evaluate the quality and outcomes of decisions [37-40].

The overarching objective of this study was to develop a Web-based patient decision aid, drawing input from patients, their caregivers, and other stakeholders to meet the decisional needs of patients with SCD considering various treatment options, and then to test the efficacy of the patient decision aid in real life conditions. The research question was whether a Web-based decision aid that is comprehensible, acceptable, and usable, and would meet the decisional needs of those with SCD, is feasible. We hypothesized that the use of a patient decision aid would help patients and families better navigate treatment choices. Further, we proposed that a Web-based patient decision aid would help clarify patient values for themselves and for their health care providers.

Methods

Needs Assessment

We identified and recruited stakeholders connected with decision making for SCD. We included: (1) individuals with SCD aged 8-80 years old; (2) individuals who were post bone marrow transplant for SCD; (3) parents/legal guardians/caregivers (including significant others, family, and friends) of individuals with SCD (newborn to 80 years) directly involved in decision making with/for that individual; (4) parents/legal guardians/caregivers (including significant others) of individuals who were post-bone marrow transplant for SCD who were directly involved in decision making with/for that individual; (5) stakeholders involved in any aspect of SCD; (6) health care providers who were directly involved in sickle cell health care, including but not limited to physicians, nurse practitioners,

physician assistants, social workers, and nurses; and (7) those able to comprehend English.

We excluded family members/individuals/caregivers not directly involved in decision making regarding SCD health care, and stakeholders who were not involved in any aspect of SCD. We recruited participants in local, regional, and national SCD meetings as well as SCD clinics. We conducted semistructured qualitative interviews of stakeholders to elicit their experience in seeking information about, and making decisions related to, SCD and to identify decisional conflict (uncertainty), knowledge and expectations, values (what is important to patients), support and resources, decision types, timing, stages and learning, and personal clinical characteristics. We also explored what values were most important to patients to inform not only the development of the patient decision aid but also future approaches to therapy. The interviews were conducted utilizing both open- and closed-ended questions. Demographic and disease complication information were also collected from each participant. Interviews lasted 30-40 minutes and were transcribed verbatim. A coding scheme to organize data into themes was developed using QSR NVivo 10 software (QSR International Pty Ltd, Chadstone, Victoria, Australia). Each code was defined and sustained throughout the analysis, and these codes were eventually developed into categories. From the coding process, we retained the categories that we believed held the most explanatory power, and then the primary categories were further analyzed. In the initial steps of analysis, we gave all data equal consideration and we focused on variation across the data rather than frequency counts of concepts. Analysis concluded when we observed the replication of concepts. Ultimately, we developed categories from consistent patterns in the data. Thematic saturation was achieved when the team believed the development of categories addressed the research question. Inter-coder agreement was achieved in three steps: (1) one team member performed the initial coding of the transcripts, and as concepts developed, they were discussed and deliberated by the entire team; (2) once coding and deliberation was completed, a second team member coded all transcripts and verified the original coding scheme (in the event of disagreement between the two coders, a third team member served as arbitrator by also coding the transcripts in question); and (3) results were discussed until the entire team came to a consensus.

Development of the Patient Decision Aid

The results of the needs assessment were used to create the storyboard for the patient decision aid, and through iterative cycles of refinement they were used in the creation of its first draft prototype. We developed the patient decision aid [41] in accordance with International Patient Decision Aids Standards (IPDAS) [42-44]. The patient decision aid was designed to describe SCD and provide information on all three treatment options, describe the positive and negative features of each option, and describe the likelihood of positive and negative outcomes. We used up-to-date scientific evidence, cited the

sources in a reference and technical section, disclosed sources of funding, and disclosed any conflicts of interest. The patient decision aid was written at a Grade 5 equivalent reading level or less, and provided ways to help patients obtain additional information through means other than reading, such as audio and video. We also included patient stories to represent a range of positive and negative experiences.

Field Testing of the Patient Decision Aid

Alpha testing for clarity, comprehensibility, and usability was completed by patients, stakeholders, and clinicians. The results of the alpha testing then informed the finalization of the prototype of the Web-based patient decision aid. We conducted two iterative cycles of beta testing with patients, caregivers, stakeholders, and health care providers from around the United States.

Qualitative interviews with patients and health care providers were conducted during the beta testing of the patient decision aid to elicit stakeholder perspective on the quality, accuracy of, and satisfaction with the content and presentation of the patient decision aid, as well as suggestions on how to improve it. After the first round of beta testing, all the qualitative interviews were contemporaneously analyzed, and when thematic saturation was achieved they were used to modify the prototype patient decision aid. This was then subjected to a second iterative cycle of beta testing. We then synthesized these findings and applied them to the design of the final patient decision aid.

We included all potential subgroups (ie, adults, adolescents, parents of adolescents, and parents of young children), and we focused our efforts on recruiting the largest number of patients possible to include individuals drawn from different demographic descriptions and who were considering different treatment options. While the recommended sample size in qualitative interviews is 12-90 individuals with a median of 30 [45], we planned a larger sample size to enable us to characterize patients based on their experiences with the intervention or usual care, as well as age and role (patient versus parent), while enabling us to achieve thematic saturation [45].

Benchmarking of the Patient Decision Aid

For benchmarking the final patient decision aid, we used the International Patient Decision Aids Standards self-evaluation instrument (IPDASi), a validated, interrater-reliable [46-49,50]. The IPDASi provided an internationally accepted benchmark to assess the quality of development, the process, the content, any potential biases, and the methods of field testing and evaluating a patient decision aid.

Randomized Clinical Trial of the Efficacy of the Patient Decision Aid

We further evaluated acceptability and usability of this final patient decision aid among participants in a randomized clinical trial (NCT03224429). Inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the randomized clinical trial.

Inclusion criteria:

• Individuals with sickle cell disease (SCD) aged 8-80 years old

OR

• Parent/legal guardian of patients (age<18 years) with SCD who are directly involved in decision making regarding SCD health care treatment

OR

- · Health care provider directly involved in care of individuals with SCD, including child of parent/legal guardian enrolled in study
- Patients/parents/caregivers who have made a past decision to not obtain treatment of the considered option or who have not obtained treatment of the chosen option in past 12 months
- Able to comprehend English
- Patients/parent/legal guardian who will have access to the internet from iPad, smart phone, or personal computer
- Patients <18 years may participate in Testing of Decision Aid, Cohort B, if they have participated in the Qualitative Needs Assessment first

Exclusion criteria:

- Family members/individuals/caregivers not directly involved in decision making regarding SCD health care
- Patient/parent/legal guardian who has already decided to begin and has started the treatment option
- Parent/legal guardian of child who is participating in Cohort B of this study
- Child <18 years of age of parent/legal guardian who is participating in Cohort A of this study and randomized to the control arm and not the decision aid arm
- Spouse, significant other, or other family member involved in decision making for child <18 years if parent/legal guardian of child already enrolled into this study.

Participants considering disease-modifying therapies for SCD were randomized to receive either the patient decision aid or standard care (SC) arms prior to deciding. Cohort A consisted of three subgroups: (1) parents or legal guardians of children aged <18 years old; (2) individuals with SCD who were between 18-28 years old; and (3) individuals with SCD who were >28 years old. Within each of these groups, we identified what particular treatment decision participants were considering (HU/BMT/CTT), and then assigned them to the HU, BMT, or CTT strata according to the intervention that they were contemplating. Cohort A subgroup participants were randomized to patient decision aid versus SC. SC was defined as usual care with a current health care provider in usual practice without the use of a patient decision aid. We collected demographic information from adults with SCD, or caregivers of pediatric patients, that included age, gender, race, education, marital status, and employment.

Participants in the patient decision aid arm completed surveys at randomization and were provided access to the patient decision aid with a unique access ID and password for the purpose of this study. Participants were scheduled for their second research visit to coincide with the completion of discussions with the health care provider/team regarding treatment options. Participants were asked to complete the study surveys via a paper version or online within 2 weeks of the office/clinic visit. Self-reported information regarding themselves or the patient they cared for was updated relative to SCD management and complications, since Consent/Visit 1 Participants received a monthly follow-up via telephone or email to verify their ability to access and navigate the website. Soon after, and within 4 months following their discussion with their health care provider, participants were scheduled for their final research visit. Participants were asked to complete the study surveys as either a paper or online version within 2 weeks of this office/clinic visit.

After completion of the final study visits and surveys and data collection on the patient decision aid arm, participants in the SC arm were offered password-protected access to the patient decision aid website. Participants were given 4 weeks to review this site, at which time they were asked to complete a series of questionnaires either electronically or via a paper version.

Adolescent patients aged 10-18 years old were assigned to cohort B and were offered the ability to view the patient decision aid without randomization. The purpose of cohort B was to test the quality and comprehension of information and the impact on daily life relating to management of SCD in patients <18 years of age.

Outcomes Studied in the Clinical Trial

Overview

We used the measurement tools developed to operationalize the variables in the Ottawa decisional framework to study several patient centered outcomes.

Acceptability of the Patient Decision Aid

Acceptability of the patient decision aid was tested using the Acceptability of Education Survey (8 multiple choice questions, 2 short answer questions), [48] a validated measure of the comprehensibility of components of a patient decision aid, as

well as its length, pace, amount of information, balance in presentation of information about options, and overall suitability for decision making [49-52].

Patient Knowledge and Understanding of Treatment Risks and Benefits

The impact on patient knowledge was tested by using a knowledge questionnaire. Since knowledge is different from understanding, we designed questions that tested understanding (specifically health literacy).

Patient Attitudes Towards Decision Making

The desirability or personal importance a participant assigns to the risks and benefits of a treatment option was determined by administering a Values survey (14 multiple choice questions, six fill in the blank questions) [48,52-54]. The measures of the Decision/Choice Predisposition scale (one multiple choice questions and four fill in the blank questions) [55] were used to determine if the participant was leaning towards, or had a propensity to select, an option. The Stage of Decision Making refers to the individual's readiness to engage in decision making, progress in making a choice, and receptivity to considering or reconsidering an option. For the Stage of Decision Making survey (10 multiple choice questions) [56], participants indicated their stage of decision making with responses ranging from "I haven't thought about the decision" to "I have made my decision and am unlikely to change my mind". Decision support is most likely to be useful in individuals who are in active contemplation or are willing to consider or reconsider an option. The tool is not scored but it is used to screen out patients or to study the covariation in decisional conflict or interventions.

Impact on Decision Making

The impact of the patient decision aid on the decision-making process and on the treatment decision includes the preparation for decision making, the specific decision made, satisfaction with the decision-making process, and satisfaction with the decision. We used the Preparation for Decision Making scale (10 multiple choice items) [57] to assess a patient's perception of how useful a patient decision aid or other decision support intervention is in preparing the respondent to communicate with their practitioner at a consultation focused on making a health decision. It is not specific or temporally-related to a particular visit to the doctor and as such was well suited to this study.

Psychological Impact of the Patient Decision Aid on Decision Making

This was assessed by the decisional regret scale [58], which measures distress or remorse after a health care decision, the Decision Self-Efficacy Scale (11 multiple choice questions) [59], which measures self-confidence or belief in one's ability to make decisions and includes participating in shared decision making, and the Decisional Conflict Scale (16 multiple choice questions) [60], which measures the uncertainty in choosing options and the modifiable factors contributing to this uncertainty.

Patient and Caregiver Perspectives Elicited by Qualitative Research Methods

Qualitative interviews were conducted at baseline for all cohorts, with a focus on how people prefer to learn about SCD, the information content (ie, what physicians and other health care personnel share with patients and caregivers), and medical decision making. Participants were asked about their questions for their health care providers and what they would like to learn about SCD. Qualitative interviews were then conducted within 4 weeks of visit 3 to evaluate the extent to which the method of educational tool (standard practice or patient decision aid) helped the participant to recognize that a decision needed to be made regarding treatment of SCD, to understand the values that affected the decision, and understand if and how these values were addressed with the health care provider in making the health care decision. Qualitative interviews of pediatric patients were conducted after they had accessed the patient decision aid in order to assess their involvement in decision making, their preferences regarding Web-based educational content, and their views about the quality and acceptability of the patient decision aid.

Analytic Methods

We assumed that 30% of patients or parents participate in decision making with standard care, and that the rate of patient or parent participation would double with the intervention. Based on a 90% power and a 0.05 significance level, we required 110 patients, 55 in each group, for comparing 2 binomial proportions. To account for attrition we recruited 120 patients, 60 in each treatment group and 20 in each age group. Reasons for missing data were considered in the analysis. We also assessed the plausibility of the assumptions associated with the approach.

Systematic efforts were instituted to maximize follow-up. A calendar was maintained for the timing for subject procedures, and participants were contacted by telephone and email for reminders and scheduling. If a subject did not respond after five contact attempts, the subject was considered to be lost to follow up. We assumed that the data were missing at random and conducted simple imputation to calculate total scores and subscores. We then compared changes in these scores between the patient decision aid and SC control groups. We did not use model-based methods such as multiple imputation, as the purpose of this study was not to estimate a model but to evaluate the assigned intervention based on survey results over time. We then imputed the missing responses with the mean. We realize that imputing the mean preserves the mean of the observed data and these estimates remain unbiased, but we also realized that imputation with the means results in underestimation of the SE and introduces a source of bias.

Results

Decisional Needs Assessment

A total of 223 individuals, including adult patients, caregivers of pediatric patients, health care providers and other stakeholders, participated in qualitative interviews regarding



decisional needs assessment about decision making for treatments for sickle cell disease (Table 1).

The participants had a higher level of academic achievement, with 86% reporting having had some college education. Thus, their views may or may not be representative of the sickle cell community at large. It should be noted that participants had predominantly been enrolled in local, regional and national conferences about SCD and so may have been more active about their own care. We included qualitative interviews conducted on entry into the randomized clinical trial in this analysis because patients had not been exposed to the patient decision aid yet.

 Table 1. Subject flow and baseline demographics for the decisional needs assessment.

Demographic	Adult patient (n=63)	Caregiver (n=61)	Stakeholder (n=42)	Health care provider (n=56)
Age (years), median (range)	27 (18-66)	39 (16-71)	a	_
Gender (female), n (%)	50 (79)	47 (77)	24 (57)	28 (50)
Race (African-American), n (%)	60 (96)	56 (92)	24 (57)	—
Ethnicity (non-Hispanic), n (%)	62 (98)	60 (98)	41 (98)	—
Education (some college or greater), n (%)	54 (86)	40 (65)	42 (100)	_
Employment (part or full time), n (%)	38 (60)	38 (63)	_	—
Married, n (%)	8 (12)	19 (31)	_	_

^aNot applicable.

Qualitative analysis yielded the following major themes in the various aspects of decision making: how people prefer to learn about SCD, their thoughts about the content, and how they used this information for medical decision making. They discussed the content of the information shared by physicians and other health care personnel with patients and caregivers regarding

what they would like to learn about SCD and what outcomes were important to them. While patients and caregivers relied on their conversations with their physicians for making decisions regarding treatment, they also shared several perspectives on how they would like to receive information that would help them participate in decision making (Textbox 2).

Textbox 2. Stakeholder preferences regarding Web-based educational resources to aid in decision making regarding treatment options.

- High quality, unbiased, evidence-based information to guide decision making
- Interactive design with easily comprehensible, customizable content presented in a visually pleasing, user-friendly format with limited text and attractive graphics
- Hear directly from individuals like themselves regarding their experiences with treatments and treatment decisions
- Patient video testimonials on the participants covered
- Accurate and unbiased information about pros, cons, and outcomes of each treatment option

In accordance with the stakeholder preferences, we designed the presentation format, synthesized evidence generated, created a script and storyboard, and drafted a Web-based prototype of the patient decision aid. The iterative process utilized for the development and testing of the patient decision aid using the Ottawa decisional framework is outlined in Figure 1. The following key elements were included in the design of the patient decision aid:

- Each line of text was designed to read at ≤5th grade level and tested using the Smog Readability Formula. Where necessary, definitions of words were provided.
- Minimizing of text and maximizing the use of graphics.
- High quality information which was subjected to extensive peer review by national SCD experts.

- Links to peer-reviewed references and credible sources of information.
- Information was divided into sections (sickle cell care, treatment options, values clarification, communication with physicians, etc).
- Content was displayed in accordion format to eliminate clutter and allow users to customize specificity and detail as desired.
- Ability to personalize content in the context of personal health information and a personalized folder with saved content, graphics, and videos.
- Values clarification exercises, with side by side comparison of treatment options based on values or combination of values.
- Ability to save information and values clarification exercises in preparation for discussions with their physician.



Krishnamurti et al

Figure 1. The iterative process for the development and testing of the patient decision aid using the Ottawa decisional framework.



Field Testing

Alpha testing for clarity, comprehensibility, and usability was completed with 30 patients/stakeholders and 36 clinicians. The results of alpha testing helped with the finalization of the prototype Web-based patient decision aid. We then conducted two iterative cycles of beta testing with 87 patients, caregivers, stakeholders, and health care providers from around the US. The qualitative interviews conducted as a part of the beta testing were also subjected to rigorous qualitative analyses.

The following themes emerged in the qualitative analyses of patient and health care provider interview transcripts from beta testing of the patient decision aid:

- A high level of satisfaction with the accuracy and quality of the content and presentation.
- Acceptability of the patient decision aid for ease of use, comprehensibility, and use of graphics.
- High perceived utility of the values clarification exercises.
- Satisfaction with the large number of video testimonials from patients and stakeholders sharing their personal narrative about medical decisions making regarding disease modifying therapy for SCD.

Benchmarking the Patient Decision Aid

We evaluated the quality of the development process, content, potential biases, and the methods of field testing and evaluating a patient decision aid using the 12 domains from the 2006 IPDASi checklist. The patient decision aid met 61/62 standards (see Multimedia Appendix 1). However, since we were unable to provide stories of patients who had an adverse outcome after BMT in the patient decision aid, it did not meet all requirements.

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462
```

RenderX

Randomized Clinical Trial

We randomized 120 participants to a clinical trial of the patient decision aid to determine its impact on knowledge and decisional conflict, preparedness, and regret. Participants were assigned to HU, BMT, and CTT strata according to the intervention that they were contemplating (BMT 73, HU 29, CTT 18). Participants randomized to the patient decision aid underwent interviews and completed surveys at study assignment, then again three months later after having a chance to review the instrument, and then again after six months when they were likely to have made their therapeutic decisions. Participants assigned to the control arm provided the same measures at baseline and at three and six months. After six months, they were given access to the patient decision aid and were interviewed and completed surveys at seven months. Of all the participants in the trial, 76% (91/120) were female with a median age of 34 years (mean 35.5), 75% (90/120) were African American, 8% (11/120) were Hispanic, 80% (96/120) had some college education, 53% (64/120) were employed, and 26% (31/120) were married (Figure 2 and Table 2). Over the different stages of the study, 76 patients were lost to follow up. Of those patients lost to follow up, 72% (55/76) were female with a median age of 31.5 years (mean 33), 75% (57/76) were African American, 8% (6/76) were Hispanic, 72% (55/76) had some college education, 56% (43/76) were employed, and 21% (16/76) were married. Of the 120 patients enrolled, 16% (19/120) did not complete any study procedures and were lost to follow up despite our a priori defined methods to retain contact. Completion rates for different surveys, overall and at different timepoints, ranged from 43-68%. In a univariate analysis the age, gender, race, ethnicity, educational level,

employment status, and marital status did not statistically significantly predict loss to follow-up (Table 2).





Of 120 patients enrolled in the study, completion rate of interviews varied between qualitative interviews and survey instruments and at different stages of the study. Qualitative interviews and surveys were completed by 101 and 78 patients at baseline, 71 and 48 patients at 3 months, 49 and 42 patients

at 6 months, and 18 and 13 subjects at 9 months. These data suggest at least in this study the burden of completion of qualitative interviews may have been less than the completion of surveys and that participants seemed to lose interest in the study over time.

Table 2.	Subject flow	and self-identified	demographics of	all participants	versus those v	who were lost	to follow up.
----------	--------------	---------------------	-----------------	------------------	----------------	---------------	---------------

Demographic	Lost to follow up (n=76)	Total participants (N=120)	<i>P</i> value
Age (years), median	31.5	34	.21
Gender (female), n (%)	55 (72)	91 (76)	.45
Race (African-American), n (%)	57 (75)	90 (75)	.99
Ethnicity (non-Hispanic), n (%)	69 (91)	109 (91)	.99
Education (some college or greater), n (%)	55 (72)	96 (80)	.19
Employment (part or full time), n (%)	43 (56)	64 (53)	.68
Married, n (%)	16 (21)	31 (26)	.42

Acceptability Survey

Overall, 144 out of a maximum possible 300 individual surveys (response rate 48%) were completed on the acceptability of the patient decision aid information on SCD treatment options pertinent to BMT, CTT, or HU at different timepoints. A range of 58-85% (median 72%) of participants rated the information

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462
```

RenderX

as good or excellent on various sections of the patient decision aid. Detailed descriptions of the response to each individual section is described in Table 3. In completing acceptability surveys, 106 participants also provided additional narrative comments. Participants said the website was informative, helpful, easy to understand, provided a lot of new information in one place, and was very helpful in making decisions.

Participants appreciated being able to save information, to clarify values, and to view video testimonials.

Table 3. Results of the acceptability survey.

Criterion	Median (% ranking as good or excellent)
Comprehensibility of different information sections (1=Poor, 2=Fair, 3=Good, 4=Excellent)	
Impact of sickle cell	3 (84)
Risk factors	3 (72)
Research	3 (57)
Treatment options	3 (69)
Evidence supporting self-care	3 (68)
HU ^a /BMT ^b /CTT ^c	3 (68)
Evidence about HU/BMT/CTT	3 (64)
Stories about others	3 (58)
Amount of time learning took: (1=too much, 2=too little, 3=just right)	3 (72)
The amount of information was: (1=Poor, 2=Fair, 3=Good, 4=Excellent)	3 (72)
Found the information: (1=slanted towards self-care, 2=slanted towards interventions, 3=balanced)	3 (62)
Information was useful when making decision regarding HU/BMT/CTT (1=Yes, 2=No)	1 (87)
Ways to calculate risk factors (1=Easy, 2=Difficult)	1 (68)
Health history worksheet made the decision: (1=Easy, 2=difficult)	1 (81)
Portfolio worksheet made your discussion with the physician more: (1=Easy, 2=Difficult)	1 (81)
Did it provide information to help someone decide on whether to accept HU/BMT/CTT (1=Yes, 2=No)	1 (76)

^aHU: hydroxyurea.

^bBMT: bone marrow transplantation.

^cCTT: chronic transfusion therapy.

Values Survey

Patients/caregivers also completed validated values questionnaires [52] at multiple timepoints throughout the study, for a total of 172 out of a possible 420 completed surveys (43% completion rate). Intriguingly, at each timepoint in all subgroups, the median score for the values questionnaire (Table 4) was 11, the highest possible score. In the patient decision aid group, at the final research visit (visit three, at the six-month time point), 41/60 participants (68% completion rate) who completed the

values survey all gave the highest possible score for the values queried, indicating that these values were their most important considerations for making decisions. At the final research visit, 33 participants also gave additional narrative comments following completion of the values questionnaire, with freedom from pain, not having to take medications, and improved quality of life among the most important considerations in considering a treatment. Being well informed about complications of a treatment and not being worse off because of complications were also major sources of caution.



 Table 4. Values considered important by patients and caregivers regarding treatments.

Value	Median ^a (25th, 75th percentile)
How important is it for you to know the complications of SCD ^b ?	11 (11, 11)
How important is the benefit of reducing SCD-related complications?	11 (10, 11)
How important is the possibility of living longer due to a treatment?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of hair loss from hydroxyurea?	11 (7, 11)
How important is risk of darkening of nails due to hydroxyurea?	11 (7, 11)
How important is risk of cancer due to hydroxyurea?	11 (9, 11)
How important is the need for recurrent blood draws on treatment?	11 (8, 11)
How important is possibility of reducing stroke risk due to transfusion?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of transfusion reaction?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of infection due to transfusions?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of iron overload due to transfusion?	11 (10, 11)
How important is possibility of cure by BMT ^c ?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of graft failure from BMT?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of graft versus host disease from BMT?	11 (10, 11)
How important is risk of infertility following BMT?	11 (5, 11)
How important is risk of death following BMT?	11 (11, 11)

^aEvaluated on an 11-point Likert scale.

^bSCD: sickle cell disease.

^cBMT: bone marrow transplantation.

Knowledge Survey

Participants completed a knowledge survey about SCD and treatment options, first at baseline and then at different time points (Table 5). Differences in the proportion of correct answers in the patient decision aid and in the SC control arm at all time points did not reach statistical significance. The study was powered based on differences detected in the group, since attempting to detect differences in impact on individual decisions in each group would have required an unrealistically large sample size. Patients were nonrandomly assigned to BMT, HU, or CTT subgroups based on the decision they were considering. Surprisingly, most of the participants indicated that they were considering the BMT option. Subgroup analysis was underpowered and not realistic given the low rate of

compliance with survey completion, with further attrition over time. Thus, the small numbers and asymmetric distribution limited the numbers available for meaningful subgroup analysis. In addition, participants were given access to the entire patient decision aid containing information on all the treatment options, which could have resulted in them simultaneously considering more than one of the options available to them. We therefore believed that it was difficult to clearly separate the impact of the patient decision aid on different decisions, so we combined the three cohorts for comparison between the patient decision aid and SC control arms. Since there was no statistically significant difference in the knowledge scores between the patient decision aid and SC groups at any time point, we did not carry out analyses of comparison of difference in change in scores from baseline.

Table 5. Percentage of correct answers for knowledge questionnaire.

Time-point	Patient decision aid, N (Mean)	Standard care control, N (Mean)	P value
Baseline	39 (49.83)	38 (49.87)	.97
3 months	23 (52.90)	19 (52.90)	.12
6 months	22 (55.54)	17 (46.49)	.12
9 months (cross-over)	a	12 (51.18)	_

^aNot applicable.

RenderX

Choice Predisposition Survey

A total of 170 choice predisposition scale surveys (40.5% response rate) were completed by participants at different time

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462

points to indicate which treatment they were leaning towards. There was no statistically significant change in the predisposition scale following the use of the patient decision aid. The median scale score was 52 at baseline and 72 at 6

months (P=.57). Of 30 participants who completed the choice predisposition survey at six months, 7 indicated an inclination towards making a decision (23%). A total of 109 participants gave narrative comments on their choice predisposition survey. The major reasons for not making a choice for a treatment were: (1) a desire to think more about the decision; (2) not being convinced that the benefits outweighed the risks; (3) not being convinced that their disease was severe enough; and (4) not being convinced that the treatment would benefit them in particular. Those choosing a treatment did so: (1) to have a better quality of life; (2) to be free of pain; and (3) because they were confident they were making an informed decision.

Stages of Decision Making

We scored stages of decision making on a six-point Likert scale ranging from, "I haven't thought about the decision," to "I have made my decision and am unlikely to change my mind." The tool is not typically scored but is used to screen out patients or to study the covariation in decisional conflict or interventions. Differences in the median stages of decision making at baseline and at three and six months in the two arms were not statistically significant.

Preparedness for Decision Making Survey

Individual subscales on a five-point Likert scale (ranging from not at all to a great deal) are summed and converted into a composite score, with a higher score indicating a greater preparedness for decision making. There were 74 participants (37 patient decision aid, 37 SC) with baseline data, 42 participants (23 patient decision aid, 19 SC) with three-month data, and 39 participants (22 patient decision aid, 17 SC) with six-month data. Of these, 38 had both three-month and baseline data, and 32 had both six-month and baseline data. Of the 10 survey questions, five had missing data. Four of those questions had only one missing value; one question had two. Again, we performed single mean imputation. There were no differences observed after three months among our 38 participants, but an overall difference at six months. At six months, the patient decision aid participants had a significantly higher change in preparedness for their decision-making score (P<.001) than the SC participants.

The mean difference of change in the preparedness for the decision making survey was not statistically significant at 3 months (P=0.16), but was statistically significant at 6 months (P<.001)

Decisional Regret Survey

The 7 participants who made a treatment decision regarding HU and the 4 patients who made a treatment decision regarding CTT in the course of the study completed the decisional regret scale [58]. No patient in the subgroup considering a decision regarding BMT completed a decisional regret survey. All individuals indicated a low level of regret following the HU or CTT decision, with scores ranging from 20-25 on a 100-point scale, but the number of individuals who made a decision was not large enough for any formal statistical analysis. Follow-up qualitative interviews after the completion of the study with the 46 participants in the patient decision aid group and the 16 participants in the SC group who crossed over to the patient

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462
```

XSL•FO

decision aid group at the end of the study indicated that participants were able to carefully consider pros and cons, clarify their own values, and felt empowered to make a decision about a therapeutic option.

Decision Self-Efficacy Survey

Regarding the decision self-efficacy survey, there were 78 participants (39 patient decision aid, 39 SC) with baseline data, 42 participants with three-month data, and 42 participants (23 patient decision aid, 18 SC) with six-month data. Of these, 36 had both three-month and baseline data and 35 had both six-month and baseline data. Of the 11 survey questions, 4 had missing data. Three of those questions had only one missing value; one question had two. Again, we performed single mean imputation for partially completed surveys. There was a statistically significant difference in the change in the decisional self-efficacy score (P=.05) observed after three months among our 36 participants. However, the difference in the change in decisional self-efficacy scores from baseline among the 35 participants with baseline and six-month data was not statistically significant, though the patient decision aid participants had a greater change in self-efficacy score (P=.06) than the SC patients.

Decisional Conflict Survey

During the randomized clinical trial, 172 decisional conflict scales were completed. Decisional conflict scale responses were scored for the total score, uncertainty subscore, informed subscore, values clarity subscore, support subscore, and effective decision subscore. The decisional conflict scale consists of 16 items in 5 response categories and is scored on a 0-100 scale.

There were 41 participants that completed both the baseline and the three-month surveys. Analyses were conducted with two-tailed t tests (alpha=.05) as hypotheses were based on inequality rather than specifying the direction of the inequality. A total of 9 participants had some missing data, with only one participant having missed more than one question. We do not believe that certain treatment preference subgroups were more likely to have missing values, as 7 were interested in BMT and 2 in HU (P>.99 by Fisher's exact test). Similarly, 4/9 participants were randomly assigned to the patient decision aid group and 5/9 to the SC group. Certain questions did not seem to be more likely to be missing than others, as the number of missing questions ranged from 0-3 for each of the 16 questions. However, we confirmed the results of the t test with a nonparametric method that didn't utilize SE. Table 6 depicts the total scores and subscale scores difference over time, with the mean difference representing the baseline scores minus the 3-month scores. The P value refers to the difference in the mean differences from baseline. We tested whether the average change in scores equaled zero, and in all cases, inference from the nonparametric Wilcoxon test matched the results of the t test (Table 6). Average difference and P value are shown in Table 6. Based on these analyses, the patient decision aid group had a significantly greater decrease in the informed subscore of decisional conflict when comparing the three-month datae to the baseline data. Of the 79 patients with baseline data and 42 patients with six-month data, there were 36 participants with results from both time points. The six-month versus baseline

results are depicted in Table 7. There was no difference in total decision conflict score or subscale scores when comparing the

six-month survey with baseline data. This lack of difference remained when we compared patients by random assignment.

Table 6. Comparison of change in decision conflict scale from baseline at the 3-month time point for the patient decision aid group versus the SC group.

Parameters Mean differ		Mean difference, patient decision aid	Mean difference, SC ^a	P value
Su	bscales			
	Uncertainty	5.21	1.32	.38
	Informed	-14.65	1.75	.003
	Values clarity	-4.17	-4.39	.97
	Support	1.14	-7.02	.15
	Effective decision	1.69	-3.46	.35
Tot	al score	-1.91	-2.43	.81

^aSC: standard care.

Table 7. Comparison of change in decisional conflict scale from baseline at the 6-month time-point according to randomization to Patient decision aid versus SC.

Parameters	Mean difference, patient decision aid	Mean difference, SC ^a	P value
Subscales			
Uncertainty	10.1	-1.2	.34
Informed	-2.4	-6.9	.72
Values clarity	-2.4	-4.2	.89
Support	5.2	-6.0	.40
Effective decision	6.8	-1.7	.48
Total score	3.7	-3.8	.52

^aSC: standard care.

Qualitative Interviews After Use of the Patient Decision Aid in the Randomized Clinical Trial

Another set of qualitative interviews was conducted within three months of the initial education about/use of the patient decision aid. These qualitative interviews provide substantial insight into the user experience of the patient decision aid and as such are reported here in some detail. The following were the major themes that emerged from these interviews. Users of the patient decision aid:

- Overwhelmingly endorsed and appreciated the patient decision aid and found it to be very educational for decision making;
- Reported that the information was concise and presented well;
- Particularly noted that good information was provided on risks and benefits;
- Noted that doctors did not elaborate as much as patients wanted them to on the risks of treatment (especially HU) and that the patient decision aid was a useful supplementary source of information;
- Thought that the testimonials were very important and had an impact on decision making, helping users see patients who had experience with the treatment;

- Felt that the identification of risks, benefits, family needs, and what is important through questions and information provided in the steps (values clarification) helped them to decide whether to pursue the treatment;
- Felt that information on the website empowered users to talk to doctors because it helped to identify information patients/parents should ask about and gave them a place to start when bringing up a treatment with the doctor;
- Particularly felt that they did not receive information about BMT as a treatment option from their health care providers and that information was provided in the patient decision aid. Patients/parents reported that when they brought up BMT they were sometimes told they did not qualify or the doctor would not recommend that treatment without sending them to a specialist;
- Felt that not all patients/parents brought up treatments to the doctors but went about trying to find information on their own. These methods of learning included the internet, talking to others, and conferences. When patients/parents talked with doctors about a treatment they felt that the doctors did not always give enough information regarding risks and benefits and that the information did not include patient experiences, which was deemed to be very important.



Qualitative Interviews of Pediatric Patients (Cohort B) After Using the Patient Decision Aid

We enrolled 16 adolescents in cohort B, which was open to adolescents under the age of 18, and they were nonrandomly assigned to the patient decision aid arm. Participants completed a baseline decisional needs qualitative interview and were then given the opportunity to view the patient decision aid. During follow-up, the patients completed an interview about their experience with viewing the patient decision aid and they were also offered an opportunity to take the self-efficacy scale, but none did. Qualitative analysis was performed on the transcripts of the 29 interviews (16 at baseline, 6 at 3 months, and 7 at 6 months). The following themes emerged from the baseline interviews: (1) patients reported being aware of information about self-management and supportive medical treatments; (2) they reported being involved along with their parent in the medical decision-making process; (3) they reported an eagerness to learn from high quality sources on the internet; (4) they mainly accessed the internet over the telephone; and (5) they indicated a desire to see information that was in graphic form rather than as text. In follow-up interviews, patients reported that they found the patient decision aid to be easy to use, easy to read and understand, and that it helped them speak with their physicians.

Analysis of Online Usage of the Patient Decision Aid

We analyzed patterns of use for the patient decision aid with the online Google Analytics tool from the opening of the website to the general public following the completion of the clinical trial on October 1, 2016. From then to March 17, 2019 there have been 38,787 page views by 4587 users from 103 countries, with the United States being responsible for 55.73% of the sessions. The contents of the site were accessed in US English by 3281 users (71.39%). The bounce rate (ie, the proportion of single page sessions of zero second duration with no interaction) was 52%. The average session lasted 7.27 minutes and covered 4.72 pages. The 2017 content marketing benchmark report analyzed Google analytics data from 181 websites from 2015-2016 in order to establish industry benchmarks across a wide swath of web analytics metrics [61]. Compared with the industry benchmarks for bounce rate (53-67%), session duration (1:47-3:38 minutes), and pages viewed per session (1-2 pages), the patient decision aid performed very well. While the site has been accessed in 43 states and 92 metro areas in the United States, more than 70% of the sessions have occurred in 10 states. The site was accessed using a mobile device in 1/3 of the sessions and 77% of the users were in the 18-54 years old age group. The patient decision aid's Facebook page, which is meant to promote the site, has received over 100 likes.

Discussion

Primary Findings

In this paper, we reported the development, completion, and testing of the first ever patient patient decision aid for SCD [41], which was created with the extensive engagement of patients, their caregivers, health care providers, community advocates, and policy makers. Using a theory-based, iterative process based on the Ottawa decision support framework and large-scale

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462
```

community engagement, we obtained substantial input from these stakeholders on the conception, design, development, alpha and beta testing, finalization, and peer review of the patient decision aid. Stakeholder input also yielded insights into how patients and caregivers navigate decision making for SCD [62,63].

Overall, both the qualitative interviews of participants obtained during the beta testing phase and during the randomized clinical trial) and the surveys of acceptability indicated a strong endorsement from patients and caregivers regarding the utility and ease of use of the patient decision aid. Traffic to the website, the proportion of visitors who left immediately, the proportion of new visitors, the amount of time spent by the average visitor, and the average number of pages visited per session all met and compared favorably with the industry standards for Web-based education [64-66]. The patient decision aid met all but one of 62 benchmarks for patient decision aids established by the IPDAS collaboration. Specifically, the patient decision aid did not include patient stories of those with an adverse outcome after BMT because no caregiver of a patient who had an adverse outcome of BMT came forward to share their story. In the patient decision aid arm, compared to the SC arm, there were statistically significant differences in improvement in decisional self-efficacy, a reduction in the informed subscore of the decisional conflict at three months, and improvement in preparedness for decision making at six months. In addition, there were no statistically significant differences in change in knowledge or preparedness for decision making at three months, or other domains of decisional conflict or change in self efficacy at six months. However, these results must also be viewed against the overall high dropout rate in survey completion in the randomized controlled trial. We were unable to draw conclusions about the decision quality (ie, whether or not people made decisions congruent with their values) for two reasons, one of which was that the median score that participants assigned to each value queried was the highest possible score, suggesting that this study identified the most important values that patients and caregivers considered when making decisions. However, the remarkable homogeneity of the scores that this population assigned to each of these values made it impossible to study any value-based differences. Second, very few individuals completed the decision regret scale, and most of those who completed it were in the SC arm. Overall, the findings of this study suggest that the patient decision aid provided high-quality information and enabled patients and their caregivers to work with their physicians to make treatment decisions based on their own values and preferences.

Prior studies indicated that, as compared with usual care, the patient decision aid can better improve people's knowledge regarding therapeutic options and reduce their decisional conflict related to feeling uninformed and unclear about their personal values [67]. However, in this study we did not find any significant differences or improvement in knowledge, instead observing reduced decisional conflict, improved preparation, and improved self-efficacy for decision making. These observations are in keeping with the findings of systematic reviews of the utility of patient patient decision aids, which suggest that while a patient decision aid may improve

XSL•FO RenderX

knowledge, reduce decisional conflict, and stimulate patients to be more active in decision making, they have little effect on satisfaction and a variable effect on decisions [37-40].

Stakeholders representing the SCD community, a population dealing with a serious chronic illness and disproportionate socioeconomic disadvantage, indicated a strong preference for a Web-based educational resource and demonstrated the acceptability and usability of such an instrument. The patient decision aid provides detailed values clarification exercises in the section, "What is important for me." This section allows users to clarify their own values by directly rating the importance of each attribute of a decision after they have viewed the information. Users can compare treatment options by placing predefined values as prioritized by them and then comparing pros and cons of each of the options side by side. While there are at least 98 different values clarification methods, there is a paucity of data on the optimal design of values clarification methods to be used [68,69]. The most promising design feature identified is explicitly showing people the implications of their values by, for example, displaying the extent to which each of their decision options aligns with what matters to them [68,69]. We have now included this as well as several other values clarification methods. Of note, during the qualitative interviews of participants, they overwhelmingly endorsed the perceived utility of the values clarification exercises. This study thus demonstrates the potential for use of a patient decision aid by other racial and minority ethnic groups dealing with chronic illness.

Our tests of efficacy were inconclusive, so more research is needed to determine how patients and caregivers use the patient decision aid in decision making and how the patient decision aid can be used in supporting SCD treatment decisions. While a patient decision aid is a decision support tool, patient and caregiver participation in shared decision making may be related to patient, physician, and decision characteristics, as well as socioeconomic and demographic factors [63,70]. This study did not involve an intervention aimed at influencing physician behavior regarding involving patients in decision making. It is possible that this may have limited the impact of the use of the patient decision aid on patient/caregiver involvement in decision making. Further studies are therefore required to determine how physician involvement in incorporating a patient decision aid in discussions with patients may contribute to shared decision making in real world settings. Crosby et al have described the use of patient decision aids for HU in SCD patients that included coaching by clinicians [71]. Further study is needed to develop and test coaching methods for use of the patient decision aid to determine if they will improve both its utilization and utility.

HU, CBT, and BMT have disparate therapeutic intents and side effects, and they may be offered at different stages of disease progression according to evidence-based guidelines rather than simultaneously. We nonrandomly assigned subjects to the study arm based on the decision they were considering, without attempting to verify whether the patient was eligible, the treatment was recommended or was being actively considered.

The study population was split in each arm into groups of 20, representative of each age group and the treatment option they

were looking to decide on. As such, the numbers were too small to study the impact of the patient decision aid in each age group for each type of decision. Instead, we had to undertake pooled analyses of these types of decisions. We were intrigued by the fact that most patients wanted to learn about BMT, which was unanticipated because until now only a small number of patients have undergone this treatment. This choice may be reflective of several factors including increasing interest in, or the lack of information about, BMT. It may also be reflective of the fact that information about HU is generally available through other sources, but that there is a general lack of information about BMT. Since the pros and cons and intent of each treatment is different, future studies may consider examining the efficacy of a patient decision aid for individual age ranges and individual decision types.

A major limitation of this study is the large amount of missing survey completion data in the randomized control trial. This introduces a source of bias and limits our ability to draw statistically valid conclusions. The likely causes of missing data in the study are the burden of surveys to be completed, geographic dispersion of participants around the country, and the fact that investigators had no direct contact or ongoing therapeutic relationship with participants. This underscores the inherent difficulty in conducting studies with national enrollment through direct contact with patients in the absence of an ongoing therapeutic relationship with the investigators. We chose to recruit patients primarily in national conferences to access a large, nationally representative population who would provide their candid opinion about the decision-making process without concerns about offending a health care provider. However, this approach limited our ability to follow up with patients during routine clinical encounters. Participants in the study had unusually high levels of academic achievement, with 80% reporting at least some college education. Further, the majority were attending national or regional sickle cell conferences. It is thus possible that the participants were unusually active regarding their care and may not be representative of the SCD population at large. We anticipate that in studies basing their recruitment in sickle cell clinics, we are more likely to have access to the entire range of activity of the general sickle cell population. The evaluation measures used in this study are those that are included in the Ottawa decision framework. However, it is possible that health literacy may have contributed to the burden of completion of surveys, as there was a long interval between first access to the patient decision aid and the offering of surveys for completion. Future trials may also consider limiting subject burden of survey completion and planning a short interval between an intervention and assessment to be better able to test various aspects of efficacy of the patient patient decision aid in patients with SCD.

Conclusions

We created a patient decision aid for patients with SCD with engagement and input from consumers, patients, caregivers, physicians, and other stakeholders in the conception, design, development, alpha and beta testing, finalization, peer review, and implementation of this resource. The development stage and qualitative interviews among trial participants demonstrated a high degree of acceptability of the patient decision aid among

XSL•FO

users. While there were statistically significant improvements in decisional conflict and preparation for decision making, because of the large amount of missing data in the completion of follow-up surveys we cannot draw conclusions about the effectiveness of the patient decision aid in improving patient involvement in decision making, and in decision-making quality.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by PCORI grant CE-1304-6859 (LK). We also acknowledge the support and guidance of Dr. Lakiea Bailey, PhD, of the sickle cell community consortium, in the field testing and dissemination of the sickle cell patient decision aid.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Completed IPDAS checklist Indicating Compliance of sickleoptions.org with IPDAS standards. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 297 KB - jmir_v21i12e14462_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 3145 KB - jmir_v21i12e14462_app2.pdf]

References

- Hassell KL. Population estimates of sickle cell disease in the U.S. Am J Prev Med 2010 Apr;38(4 Suppl):S512-S521. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.12.022] [Medline: 20331952]
- Powars DR, Chan LS, Hiti A, Ramicone E, Johnson C. Outcome of sickle cell anemia: a 4-decade observational study of 1056 patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2005 Nov;84(6):363-376. [Medline: <u>16267411</u>]
- Okam MM, Shaykevich S, Ebert BL, Zaslavsky AM, Ayanian JZ. National trends in hospitalizations for sickle cell disease in the United States following the FDA approval of hydroxyurea, 1998-2008. Med Care 2014 Jul;52(7):612-618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000143] [Medline: 24926708]
- McCavit TL, Xuan L, Zhang S, Flores G, Quinn CT. National trends in incidence rates of hospitalization for stroke in children with sickle cell disease. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2013 May;60(5):823-827 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.24392] [Medline: 23151905]
- 5. Panepinto JA, Bonner M. Health-related quality of life in sickle cell disease: past, present, and future. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2012 Aug;59(2):377-385. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.24176] [Medline: 22522407]
- Palermo TM, Riley CA, Mitchell BA. Daily functioning and quality of life in children with sickle cell disease pain: relationship with family and neighborhood socioeconomic distress. J Pain 2008 Sep;9(9):833-840 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2008.04.002] [Medline: 18550443]
- McClish DK, Penberthy LT, Bovbjerg VE, Roberts JD, Aisiku IP, Levenson JL, et al. Health related quality of life in sickle cell patients: the PiSCES project. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2005 Aug 29;3:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-3-50] [Medline: 16129027]
- Dampier C, LeBeau P, Rhee S, Lieff S, Kesler K, Ballas S, Comprehensive Sickle Cell Centers (CSCC) Clinical Trial Consortium (CTC) Site Investigators. Health-related quality of life in adults with sickle cell disease (SCD): a report from the comprehensive sickle cell centers clinical trial consortium. Am J Hematol 2011 Feb;86(2):203-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.21905] [Medline: 21264908]
- 9. Dale JC, Cochran CJ, Roy L, Jernigan E, Buchanan GR. Health-related quality of life in children and adolescents with sickle cell disease. J Pediatr Health Care 2011;25(4):208-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2009.12.006] [Medline: 21700135]
- Bonner MJ. Health related quality of life in sickle cell disease: just scratching the surface. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2010 Jan;54(1):1-2. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.22301</u>] [Medline: <u>19785024</u>]
- Barakat LP, Patterson CA, Daniel LC, Dampier C. Quality of life among adolescents with sickle cell disease: mediation of pain by internalizing symptoms and parenting stress. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2008;6:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-6-60] [Medline: 18691422]
- Adeyemo TA, Ojewunmi OO, Diaku-Akinwumi IN, Ayinde OC, Akanmu AS. Health related quality of life and perception of stigmatisation in adolescents living with sickle cell disease in Nigeria: A cross sectional study. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2015 Jul;62(7):1245-1251. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.25503</u>] [Medline: <u>25810358</u>]
- 13. Bediako SM. Predictors of employment status among African Americans with sickle cell disease. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2010 Nov;21(4):1124-1137. [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2010.0945] [Medline: 21099066]

- Platt OS, Brambilla DJ, Rosse WF, Milner PF, Castro O, Steinberg MH, et al. Mortality in sickle cell disease. Life expectancy and risk factors for early death. N Engl J Med 1994 Jun 9;330(23):1639-1644. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJM199406093302303</u>] [Medline: <u>7993409</u>]
- 15. Lanzkron S, Carroll CP, Haywood C. Mortality rates and age at death from sickle cell disease: U.S., 1979-2005. Public Health Rep 2013;128(2):110-116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/003335491312800206] [Medline: 23450875]
- Hamideh D, Alvarez O. Sickle cell disease related mortality in the United States (1999-2009). Pediatr Blood Cancer 2013 Sep;60(9):1482-1486. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.24557] [Medline: 23637037]
- Darbari DS, Wang Z, Kwak M, Hildesheim M, Nichols J, Allen D, et al. Severe painful vaso-occlusive crises and mortality in a contemporary adult sickle cell anemia cohort study. PLoS One 2013;8(11):e79923 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079923] [Medline: 24224021]
- 18. Ojodu J, Hulihan MM, Pope SN, Grant AM. Incidence of sickle cell trait--United States, 2010. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2014 Dec 12;63(49):1155-1158 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25503918]
- Haywood C, Beach MC, Lanzkron S, Strouse JJ, Wilson R, Park H, et al. A systematic review of barriers and interventions to improve appropriate use of therapies for sickle cell disease. J Natl Med Assoc 2009 Oct;101(10):1022-1033. [doi: 10.1016/s0027-9684(15)31069-5] [Medline: 19860302]
- Brawley OW, Cornelius LJ, Edwards LR, Gamble VN, Green BL, Inturrisi CE, et al. NIH consensus development statement on hydroxyurea treatment for sickle cell disease. NIH Consens State Sci Statements 2008;25(1):1-30 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18309362</u>]
- 21. Charache S, Dover GJ, Moyer MA, Moore JW. Hydroxyurea-induced augmentation of fetal hemoglobin production in patients with sickle cell anemia. Blood 1987 Jan;69(1):109-116 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 2431728]
- 22. Wang WC, Ware RE, Miller ST, Iyer RV, Casella JF, Minniti CP, et al. Hydroxycarbamide in very young children with sickle-cell anaemia: a multicentre, randomised, controlled trial (BABY HUG). Lancet 2011 May 14;377(9778):1663-1672 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60355-3] [Medline: 21571150]
- 23. Brandow AM, Jirovec DL, Panepinto JA. Hydroxyurea in children with sickle cell disease: practice patterns and barriers to utilization. Am J Hematol 2010 Aug;85(8):611-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.21749] [Medline: 20658592]
- 24. Thornburg CD, Calatroni A, Telen M, Kemper AR. Adherence to hydroxyurea therapy in children with sickle cell anemia. J Pediatr 2010 Mar;156(3):415-419 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.09.044] [Medline: 19880135]
- 25. Lanzkron S, Haywood C, Hassell KL, Rand C. Provider barriers to hydroxyurea use in adults with sickle cell disease: a survey of the Sickle Cell Disease Adult Provider Network. J Natl Med Assoc 2008 Aug;100(8):968-973. [Medline: 18717150]
- 26. Zumberg MS, Reddy S, Boyette RL, Schwartz RJ, Konrad TR, Lottenberg R. Hydroxyurea therapy for sickle cell disease in community-based practices: a survey of Florida and North Carolina hematologists/oncologists. Am J Hematol 2005 Jun;79(2):107-113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.20353] [Medline: 15929107]
- 27. Patel NG, Lindsey T, Strunk RC, DeBaun MR. Prevalence of daily medication adherence among children with sickle cell disease: a 1-year retrospective cohort analysis. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2010 Sep;55(3):554-556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/pbc.22605] [Medline: 20658630]
- 28. Arnold SD, Bhatia M, Horan J, Krishnamurti L. Haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for sickle cell disease current practice and new approaches. Br J Haematol 2016 Aug;174(4):515-525. [doi: <u>10.1111/bjh.14167</u>] [Medline: <u>27255787</u>]
- 29. Hansbury EN, Schultz WH, Ware RE, Aygun B. Bone marrow transplant options and preferences in a sickle cell anemia cohort on chronic transfusions. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2012 Apr;58(4):611-615. [Medline: 22435112]
- Jae GA, Lewkowitz AK, Yang JC, Shen L, Rahman A, Del Toro G. Barriers to conceiving sibling donors for sickle cell disease: perspectives from patients and parents. Ethn Health 2011;16(4-5):431-445. [doi: <u>10.1080/13557858.2011.558619</u>] [Medline: <u>21797728</u>]
- 31. Chou ST. Transfusion therapy for sickle cell disease: a balancing act. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2013;2013:439-446. [doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2013.1.439] [Medline: 24319217]
- 32. Greenway A, Ware RE, Thornburg CD. Long-term results using hydroxyurea/phlebotomy for reducing secondary stroke risk in children with sickle cell anemia and iron overload. Am J Hematol 2011 Apr;86(4):357-361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.21986] [Medline: 21442640]
- Wang WC, Dwan K. Blood transfusion for preventing primary and secondary stroke in people with sickle cell disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Nov 14(11):CD003146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003146.pub2] [Medline: 24226646]
- Wang WC. Central nervous system complications of sickle cell disease in children: an overview. Child Neuropsychol 2007 Mar;13(2):103-119. [doi: 10.1080/09297040600788136] [Medline: 17364568]
- 35. Hankins J, Hinds P, Day S, Carroll Y, Li C, Garvie P, et al. Therapy preference and decision-making among patients with severe sickle cell anemia and their families. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2007 Jun 15;48(7):705-710. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.20903] [Medline: 16732581]
- Haywood C, Beach MC, Bediako S, Carroll CP, Lattimer L, Jarrett D, et al. Examining the characteristics and beliefs of hydroxyurea users and nonusers among adults with sickle cell disease. Am J Hematol 2011 Jan;86(1):85-87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ajh.21883] [Medline: 21117058]

- 37. O'Connor AM, Bennett C, Stacey D, Barry MJ, Col NF, Eden KB, et al. Do patient decision aids meet effectiveness criteria of the international patient decision aid standards collaboration? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Med Decis Making 2007;27(5):554-574. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X07307319] [Medline: 17873255]
- O'Connor AM, Bennett CL, Stacey D, Barry M, Col NF, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009(3):CD001431. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>19588325</u>]
- 39. O'Connor AM, Rostom A, Fiset V, Tetroe J, Entwistle V, Llewellyn-Thomas H, et al. Decision aids for patients facing health treatment or screening decisions: systematic review. BMJ 1999 Sep 18;319(7212):731-734 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10487995]
- O'Connor AM, Stacey D, Entwistle V, Llewellyn-Thomas H, Rovner D, Holmes-Rovner M, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2003(2):CD001431. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001431] [Medline: 12804407]
- 41. Sickle Options Inc.. SICKLE OPTIONS. Atlanta, GA: Sickle Options Inc; 2014. URL: <u>http://sickleoptions.org/en_US/</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YFzvaUy]
- 42. Elwyn G, O'Connor AM, Bennett C, Newcombe RG, Politi M, Durand M, et al. Assessing the quality of decision support technologies using the International Patient Decision Aid Standards instrument (IPDASi). PLoS One 2009 Mar;4(3):e4705 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004705] [Medline: 19259269]
- Holmes-Rovner M, Nelson WL, Pignone M, Elwyn G, Rovner DR, O'Connor AM, et al. Are patient decision aids the best way to improve clinical decision making? Report of the IPDAS Symposium. Med Decis Making 2007;27(5):599-608. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X07307272] [Medline: 17873257]
- 44. Holmes-Rovner M. International Patient Decision Aid Standards (IPDAS): beyond decision aids to usual design of patient education materials. Health Expect 2007 Jun;10(2):103-107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2007.00445.x] [Medline: 17524003]
- 45. Malterud K, Siersma VD, Guassora AD. Sample Size in Qualitative Interview Studies: Guided by Information Power. Qual Health Res 2015 Nov 27:1753-1760. [doi: 10.1177/1049732315617444] [Medline: 26613970]
- 46. Joseph-Williams N, Newcombe R, Politi M, Durand M, Sivell S, Stacey D, et al. Toward Minimum Standards for Certifying Patient Decision Aids: A Modified Delphi Consensus Process. Med Decis Making 2014 Aug;34(6):699-710. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X13501721] [Medline: 23963501]
- Elwyn G, O'Connor A, Stacey D, Volk R, Edwards A, Coulter A, et al. Developing a quality criteria framework for patient decision aids: online international Delphi consensus process. BMJ 2006 Aug 26;333(7565):417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38926.629329.AE] [Medline: 16908462]
- 48. Elwyn G, O'Connor AM, Bennett C, Newcombe RG, Politi M, Durand M, et al. Assessing the quality of decision support technologies using the International Patient Decision Aid Standards instrument (IPDASi). PLoS One 2009;4(3):e4705 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004705] [Medline: 19259269]
- 49. Joseph-Williams N, Newcombe R, Politi M, Durand M, Sivell S, Stacey D, et al. Toward Minimum Standards for Certifying Patient Decision Aids: A Modified Delphi Consensus Process. Med Decis Making 2014 Aug;34(6):699-710. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X13501721] [Medline: 23963501]
- Elwyn G, O'Connor AM, Bennett C, Newcombe RG, Politi M, Durand MA, et al. Assessing the quality of decision support technologies using the International Patient Decision Aid Standards instrument (IPDASi). PLoS One 2009;4(3):e4705
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004705] [Medline: 19259269]
- 51. User Manual-Acceptability. 1996. Connor AM, Cranney A URL: <u>https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/eval_accept.html</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YGd7Lnd]
- 52. O'Connor AM. User Manual-Values2004 09/30/2017 cited 2017 September 30 URL: <u>http://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/User_Manuals/UM_Values.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YHbjMxA]
- O'Connor AM, Tugwell P, Wells GA, Elmslie T, Jolly E, Hollingworth G, et al. Randomized trial of a portable, self-administered decision aid for postmenopausal women considering long-term preventive hormone therapy. Med Decis Making 1998;18(3):295-303. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X9801800307] [Medline: 9679994]
- 54. O'Connor AM, Wells GA, Tugwell P, Laupacis A, Elmslie T, Drake E. The effects of an 'explicit' values clarification exercise in a woman's decision aid regarding postmenopausal hormone therapy. Health Expect 1999 Mar;2(1):21-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1369-6513.1999.00027.x] [Medline: 11281872]
- 55. O'Connor AM. User Manual-Measures of Decision/Choice Predisposition 1996 09/30/2017 cited 2017 September 30 URL: http://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/User_Manuals/UM_ChoicePredisposition_Decision.pdf [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YISHdtT]
- 56. O'Connor AM. User Manual- Stage of Decision Making 2000 (Modified 2003) 09/30/2017 cited 2017 September 30 URL: <u>https://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/User_Manuals/UM_Stage_Decision_Making.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YI15hCU]
- 57. Bennett C, Graham ID, Kristjansson E, Kearing SA, Clay KF, O'Connor AM. Validation of a preparation for decision making scale. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Jan;78(1):130-133. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2009.05.012</u>] [Medline: <u>19560303</u>]

- Brehaut JC, O'Connor AM, Wood TJ, Hack TF, Siminoff L, Gordon E, et al. Validation of a decision regret scale. Med Decis Making 2003;23(4):281-292. [Medline: <u>12926578</u>]
- 59. O'Connor AM. User Manuals Self-Efficacy 1995 URL: <u>http://decisionaid.ohri.ca/docs/develop/User_Manuals/</u> <u>UM_ChoicePredisposition_Decision.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YISHdtT]
- 60. O'Connor AM. Validation of a decisional conflict scale. Med Decis Making 1995;15(1):25-30. [Medline: 7898294]
- 61. Baker J. Brafton 2017 Content Marketing Benchmark Report URL: <u>https://www.brafton.com/blog/strategy/</u> <u>brafton-2017-content-marketing-benchmark-report/</u> [accessed 2019-08-11]
- Sinha CB, Bakshi N, Ross D, Krishnamurti L. From trust to skepticism: An in-depth analysis across age groups of adults with sickle cell disease on their perspectives regarding hydroxyurea. PLoS One 2018;13(6):e0199375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199375] [Medline: 29949647]
- 63. Bakshi N, Sinha CB, Ross D, Khemani K, Loewenstein G, Krishnamurti L. Proponent or collaborative: Physician perspectives and approaches to disease modifying therapies in sickle cell disease. PLoS One 2017;12(7):e0178413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178413] [Medline: 28727801]
- 64. Bischoff B. www.spinutechcom/blog Internet. 2015. 7 Website Analytics That Matter Most URL: <u>https://www.spinutech.com/blog/digital-marketing/7-website-analytics-that-matter-most/</u> [accessed 2019-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 78YYPc9sA]
- 65. Tian H, Brimmer DJ, Lin JS, Tumpey AJ, Reeves WC. Web usage data as a means of evaluating public health messaging and outreach. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(4):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1278] [Medline: 20026451]
- 66. Yu CH, Parsons JA, Mamdani M, Lebovic G, Hall S, Newton D, et al. A Web-based intervention to support self-management of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: effect on self-efficacy, self-care and diabetes distress. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2014 Dec 14;14:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-014-0117-3] [Medline: 25495847]
- 67. Stacey D, Légaré F, Col NF, Bennett CL, Barry MJ, Eden KB, et al. Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014;1:CD001431. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD001431.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>24470076</u>]
- Witteman HO, Gavaruzzi T, Scherer LD, Pieterse AH, Fuhrel-Forbis A, Chipenda Dansokho S, et al. Effects of Design Features of Explicit Values Clarification Methods: A Systematic Review. Med Decis Making 2016 Aug;36(6):760-776. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X16634085] [Medline: 27044883]
- Witteman HO, Scherer LD, Gavaruzzi T, Pieterse AH, Fuhrel-Forbis A, Chipenda DS, et al. Design Features of Explicit Values Clarification Methods: A Systematic Review. Med Decis Making 2016 May;36(4):453-471. [doi: 10.1177/0272989X15626397] [Medline: 26826032]
- 70. Jolles MP, Lee P, Javier JR. Shared decision-making and parental experiences with health services to meet their child's special health care needs: Racial and ethnic disparities. Patient Educ Couns 2018 Oct;101(10):1753-1760. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2018.05.022] [Medline: 29884531]
- Crosby LE, Walton A, Shook LM, Ware RE, Treadwell M, Saving KL, et al. Development of a Hydroxyurea Decision Aid for Parents of Children With Sickle Cell Anemia. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2019 Jan;41(1):56-63. [doi: 10.1097/MPH.00000000001257] [Medline: <u>30044352</u>]

Abbreviations

BMT: bone marrow transplantation
CTT: chronic transfusion therapy
HU: hydroxyurea
IPDAS: International Patient Decision Aids Standards
IPDASi: International Patient Decision Aids Standards self-evaluation instrument
SC: standard care
SCD: sickle cell disease

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.05.19; peer-reviewed by L Hsu, H Witteman, S Curtis, S Sabarguna; comments to author 14.06.19; revised version received 18.08.19; accepted 04.09.19; published 04.12.19.

Please cite as:

Krishnamurti L, Ross D, Sinha C, Leong T, Bakshi N, Mittal N, Veludhandi D, Pham AP, Taneja A, Gupta K, Nwanze J, Matthews AM, Joshi S, Vazquez Olivieri V, Arjunan S, Okonkwo I, Lukombo I, Lane P, Bakshi N, Loewenstein G Comparative Effectiveness of a Web-Based Patient Decision Aid for Therapeutic Options for Sickle Cell Disease: Randomized Controlled Trial J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14462 URL : https://www.imir.org/2019/12/e14462

URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14462</u> doi:<u>10.2196/14462</u> PMID:<u>31799940</u>



©Lakshmanan Krishnamurti, Diana Ross, Cynthia Sinha, Traci Leong, Namita Bakshi, Nonita Mittal, Divya Veludhandi, Anh-Phuong Pham, Alankrita Taneja, Kamesh Gupta, Julum Nwanze, Andrea Marie Matthews, Saumya Joshi, Veronica Vazquez Olivieri, Santhi Arjunan, Ifechi Okonkwo, Ines Lukombo, Peter Lane, Nitya Bakshi, George Loewenstein. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 04.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Searching the Internet for Infertility Information: A Survey of Patient Needs and Preferences

Felicia Brochu¹, MSc; Stephanie Robins^{2,3}, MSc; Skye A Miner^{3,4}, PhD; Paul H Grunberg⁵, BA; Peter Chan⁶, MSc, MD, CM, FRCSC, FACS; Kirk Lo⁷, MD, CM, FRCSC; Hananel E G Holzer^{6,8,9}, MD; Neal Mahutte¹⁰, MD, FRCSC; Sophia Ouhilal¹⁰, MD, FRCSC; Togas Tulandi^{3,6}, MD, MHCM, FRCSC, FACOG; Phyllis Zelkowitz^{1,2,3}, EdD

- ⁵Department of Psychology, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada
- ⁶McGill University Health Center, Montreal, QC, Canada
- ⁷Mount Sinai Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁸Hadassah University Hospitals, Jerusalem, Israel

- ⁹Hebrew University, Jerusalem, Israel
- ¹⁰Montreal Fertility Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Phyllis Zelkowitz, EdD Department of Psychiatry Jewish General Hospital 4333 Côte-Sainte-Catherine Road Montreal, QC, H3T 1E4 Canada Phone: 1 5143408222 ext 25258 Email: phyllis.zelkowitz@mcgill.ca

Abstract

Background: Given the complexity of infertility diagnoses and treatments and the convenience of the internet for finding health-related information, people undergoing infertility treatments often use Web-based resources to obtain infertility information and support. However, little is known about the types of information and support resources infertility patients search for on the internet and whether these resources meet their needs.

Objective: The aims of this study were to (1) examine what individual factors, namely, demographic characteristics and distress, are associated with searching the internet for different types of infertility-related information and support resources and (2) determine whether Web-based resources meet the needs of patients.

Methods: Men and women seeking infertility care responded to a survey assessing use of Web-based resources for accessing infertility-related information and support. The survey further assessed satisfaction with Web-based resources as well as perceived stress and depressive symptomatology.

Results: A total of 567 participants, including 254 men and 313 women, completed the survey. Most participants (490/558, 87.8%) had searched the internet for infertility information and support. Searchers were more likely to be women (P<.001), highly educated (P=.04), long-term patients (P=.03), and more distressed (P=.04). Causes of infertility, treatment options, and scientific literature about infertility were the three most frequently searched topics, whereas ways to discuss treatment with family and friends as well as surrogacy and ways to find peer support were the three least searched topics. Of those who searched the internet, 70.9% (346/488) indicated that their needs were met by Web-based information, whereas 29.1% (142/488) said that their needs were not met. Having unmet needs was related to greater levels of perceived stress (P=.005) and depressive symptomatology (P=.03).

Conclusions: This study provides evidence for the important role of the internet in accessing infertility information and support and for the ability of Web-based resources to meet patients' needs. However, although distressed patients reported particularly

¹Department of Psychiatry, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

²Department of Psychiatry, Jewish General Hospital, Montreal, QC, Canada

³Lady Davis Institute, Jewish General Hospital, Montreal, QC, Canada

⁴Department of Sociology, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

high rates of searching, their needs were not always met, suggesting that they may benefit from alternative sources of information and support or guidance from health care providers when searching the internet.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15132) doi:10.2196/15132

KEYWORDS

infertility; internet; consumer health information; patient satisfaction; stress, psychological

Introduction

Background

The widespread access to internet technologies (eg, computers and mobile phones) has facilitated the delivery and acquisition of health information and support. Approximately 70% of North American adults use the internet as a source of health information [1,2], with higher rates among people with health concerns as well as those who rate their health as poor [3,4]. Web-based resources offer a number of advantages over print and face-to-face resources; these include ready availability, instantaneous access to frequently updated sources of information, anonymity, and contact with people with similar difficulties. Furthermore, the internet may offer an opportunity to increase access to health resources by overcoming geographic and socioeconomic barriers that can sometimes prevent underserved populations, such as infertile men and linguistic minorities, from obtaining information and support. Accordingly, people with infertility concerns may seek out information and emotional support using the internet.

Infertility, defined as the inability to achieve clinical pregnancy following 12 months of regular unprotected intercourse [5], has an estimated Canadian prevalence between 11.5% and 16% [6]. Infertility is a chronic health condition that is associated with feelings of stigma, loss of control, and a rollercoaster of *emotions* [7,8]. To gain familiarity with the medical language used in the diagnosis and treatment of infertility and to better cope with the potential stigma and psychological distress, people with infertility concerns are likely to search the internet to find infertility-related information and social support [9-11]. Accordingly, a systematic review revealed that patients with infertility tend to go on the internet to meet their informational needs, find emotional and psychological support, and find assistance for medical decision making [12]. After accessing Web-based sources of information, infertile women have been shown to feel better informed and better able to make infertility-related decisions [10]. Previous research has also demonstrated how the internet may be a useful tool to provide educational and emotional support to those living with a stigmatized health condition [13]. The use of online support groups has been associated with a number of advantages including increased patient empowerment [14,15], normalization of patients' experiences [16,17], and reduced social isolation [18]. These benefits suggest that online discussion about emotions and personal experiences [17,19] may be helpful for improving patients' psychosocial experience of infertility.

Notwithstanding the potential benefits of online communication, evidence suggests that the use of the internet poses risks of misinformation and increased emotional strains to infertility patients [12,20]. Examples of emotional consequences include

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15132

feelings of sadness and distress after reading both negative and positive stories relating to others' treatment outcomes, obsessive use of online communities, and misunderstandings among group members [21]. Furthermore, using the internet to access health information involves challenges such as difficulty locating or accessing the information, judging the quality and comprehensiveness of sources, and understanding technical terms [22,23]. Studies investigating the quality of Web-based infertility-related information suggest that available websites generally do not meet standards for readability, quality, and suitability [24,25]. Varying levels of electronic health (eHealth) literacy, which is the ability to search, find, understand, and appraise health information found on the internet [26], can exacerbate the difficulties to access resources for one's needs.

However, few studies have investigated whether the information and support resources available on the internet in fact meet patients' needs and expectations [12]. Moreover, one study found that only half of their sample of women with infertility issues who used an online expert forum to discuss infertility were satisfied with the responses received [27]. Although this study highlights the potential of Web-based resources to meet users' needs, previous research is limited in studying online communities who may not represent the diverse infertility patient population. Research has also primarily focused on the experiences of infertile women, whereas less emphasis has been given to the needs and experiences of men. More research is needed to gauge the impact of Web-based resources other than forums on the needs of diverse infertility patients, especially men who tend to be underrepresented in infertility care and research [28,29] and whose needs for information and support may be different from those of women.

Individual characteristics such as gender may be related to the tendency to search for Web-based infertility-related information. Gender differences in help-seeking [30,31] and health information-seeking behaviors [32] extend to searches for health information on the internet. Specifically, past studies indicate that women engage in more Web-based health information seeking [33-35], indicating that infertile women may be particularly likely to search the internet for infertility information and support. Furthermore, in addition to enduring the physical burden of infertility, women more often report infertility-related emotional distress [36]. Perhaps, for this reason, infertile women generally seek more social support [37]. Research shows that women are generally more active in online communities compared with men [21,38], although there is some evidence that men also benefit from interacting online [39-41].

Other individual characteristics found to be associated with the use of Web-based health resources include white non-Hispanic ethnicity, higher educational attainment, higher income, and

XSL•FO RenderX

frequent internet use in general [42,43]. Language and health literacy difficulties can reduce accessibility to Web-based health information and support, thereby making it challenging for immigrants [44] and people with less education [45] to access the appropriate resources for their needs. In addition, greater psychological distress may encourage more Web-based health information seeking and the use of more online sources of support [46,47]. Similarly, individual characteristics are likely to influence whether Web-based health information meets people's needs. Specifically, nonwhite ethnicity and lower income have been shown to be related to greater perceived helpfulness of infertility-related Web-based resources [10], emphasizing the need to explore differences in how people use and perceive Web-based health resources in a diverse group of individuals with infertility concerns.

Given the omnipresence of the internet in the lives of infertility patients, efforts should be made to better understand patients' online experiences. This study addressed an important gap in the literature by investigating how both men and women seeking infertility care use the internet and whether they are satisfied with what they find. By understanding the online experiences of patients from diverse sociodemographic backgrounds, we may be better able to characterize the types of information and support resources that people need and analyze whether the internet is useful in meeting those needs. Such information is necessary to guide the development of future Web-based resources that are tailored to the needs of infertility patients.

Study Objectives

The first objective of this study was to examine whether people seeking infertility care searched the internet for infertility-related information and support resources and to explore whether demographic and psychological factors were associated with searching. Specifically, gender, immigration status, education, treatment duration, perceived stress, and depressive symptomatology were examined in relation to searching the internet. The second objective was to describe the infertility-related topics that people endorsed searching for and to explore the relationships between types of searches and participant characteristics. Finally, this study aimed to inquire whether Web-based resources met people's informational and support needs and to examine which participant characteristics were associated with satisfaction with Web-based resources.

Methods

Procedure and Participants

A self-report survey was distributed to men and women seeking infertility care services to investigate their needs and preferences regarding information and support about infertility issues. Recruitment was conducted from July to December 2015 in four fertility and urology clinics in the Montreal and Toronto areas. Participants were recruited in both private and hospital-based fertility clinics to ensure a sociodemographically diverse sample. Participants were eligible to participate if they were (1) seeking care at a fertility clinic, (2) at least 18 years old, (3) able to read and answer questions in French or English, and (4) able to access the internet. Of the 808 patients approached, almost all (795/807, 98.4%) were eligible. Only

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15132
```

6.2% (49/710) patients refused because of lack of interest, time constraints, and personal stress level or because they were unprepared to discuss infertility experiences. Those who agreed to participate in the study (n=746) accessed the Web-based survey on a tablet while sitting in clinicians' waiting rooms, or through an emailed link that directed them to a secured website where they could complete the survey at a later time. Consent was implied if the participant accessed the link. Following completion of the study, participants received a Can \$10 gift card. A total of 88.3% (659/746) of people who agreed to participate completed the survey. This study focused specifically on the experiences of men and women undergoing infertility treatment as a dyadic unit and thus reported data from participants in heterosexual relationships only (n=567). Respondents who were single (n=23), nonheterosexual (n=28), or who did not indicate their relationship type (n=89) were excluded from this analysis because their small number did not allow to appropriately investigate their distinct needs and experiences.

The study protocol was approved by the research ethics boards of all the institutions where recruitment took place.

Materials

Patient Survey

The patient survey (Multimedia Appendix 1) was developed by the corresponding author in collaboration with coinvestigators and community stakeholders including reproductive health specialists and infertility patients. The survey was pilot tested to ensure the clarity and relevance of the items, the appropriate order of the questions, and the length of time required to complete the questionnaire. Feedback from stakeholders guided the final version of the questionnaire. The survey was sent via email; data were then anonymized by removing all personal information in the final dataset. The survey consisted of questions addressing patients' experiences and opinions toward different sources of information and support as well as questions history and regarding fertility psychological and sociodemographic characteristics (eg, income and ethnicity). The survey assessed the use of Web-based resources for accessing infertility-related information and support. This section of the survey included three questions: (1) Have you searched online for information about infertility? to which participants answered yes or no; (2) Did you look online for the following ...? (eg, scientific literature about infertility, diagnostic tests, and how to find peer support or mentor), where respondents selected all types of information and support resources that applied to them; and (3) In general, did the information you found online meet your needs? to which participants answered yes or no.

For the purpose of analysis, individual items listed in question 2 were grouped into four conceptual categories: *diagnostic information* (diagnostic tests, interpreting results of diagnostic tests, my diagnosis, scientific literature about infertility, and causes of infertility), *treatment information* (treatment options, success rates of treatment, medications used in treatment, side effects of treatment, adoption/foster parenting, using donor sperm or eggs, and surrogacy), information about *services and providers* (clinics where treatment is offered, my physician or

XSL•FO RenderX

medical team, coverage by provincial health care plans, coverage by private health care plans, and how to get a second opinion), and *connections with others* (others' experiences with infertility, how to discuss treatment with family/friends, and how to find peer support/mentor). The categories were created by summing the number of specific items that heuristically fell in that category.

Depressive Symptomatology

The 2-item Patient Health Questionnaire [48] was used to assess the level of depressive symptoms patients had experienced in the previous 2 weeks. Each item is rated on a 4-point Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). The score for each item is summed to obtain a total score between 0 and 6, with higher scores indicating more severe depressive symptomatology. A score of \geq 2 warrants further clinical investigation for depression. The scale was shown to be comparable with its longer version (9-item Patient Health Questionnaire) and other depression scales in terms of reliability (Cronbach alpha=.83) and criterion and construct validity [48,49].

Perceived Stress

Perceived stress was evaluated using the 4-item Perceived Stress Scale [50]. Each item asks participants to rate the extent to which they experience life events as stressful and whether they feel able to overcome difficult events on a Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (never) to 4 (very often). Total scores vary between 0 and 16, with higher scores corresponding to greater perceived stress. The 4-item Perceived Stress Scale is normally distributed [51] and has demonstrated satisfactory reliability (Cronbach alpha=.77) and strong criterion validity [50,51].

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to describe sample characteristics, including sex, age, annual household income, education, immigrant status, treatment duration, and causes of infertility. Descriptive statistics were also used to determine how many participants searched the internet for information and support resources and how many reported that this information met their needs. Bivariate analyses including Chi-squares and t test statistics were then performed to examine differences between those who did and did not search the internet (ie, searchers and nonsearchers) and those who reported that their information needs were or were not met. Furthermore, correlations, t tests, and analysis of variance were used to explore the relationship between individual characteristics and searching for each of the four information categories. Post hoc Hochberg GT2 tests were used to further investigate difference between groups. Variables that were significantly related to searching the internet were included in the regression analyses, which were used to examine the relationship between participant characteristics and having searched for specific categories of infertility health information. Participants were classified into two groups according to treatment duration: those who spent ≤6 months undergoing infertility treatments and those who had been in treatment for >6 months. Treatment duration was dichotomized to determine whether there are differences in the Web-based queries of novice and experienced infertility patients.

Sample Characteristics

Sample characteristics are presented in Table 1. In the sample of heterosexual couples, nine people did not answer the question about searching the internet; hence, the final sample consisted of 558 participants, including 249 men and 309 women. The mean age was 36.53 (SD 5.5) years and ranged from 22 to 62 years. Approximately half of the sample was born in Canada and had an income below Can \$80,000/year. In terms of education, 8.6% (47/548) of participants had completed high school, 25.9% (142/548) obtained a "Collège d'enseignement général et professionnel" diploma (CEGEP, ie, preuniversity and professional training) or technical degree, and 65.5% (359/548) obtained a university degree or more, revealing an overall well-educated group of participants. About one-third of participants reported male factor infertility, whereas another third reported female factor infertility. A small number (44/558, 7.9%) of participants reported diagnoses involving both male and female factors, 17.7% (99/558) of cases were left unexplained, and 5.4% (30/558) of couples had not received diagnostic testing.



Table 1. Patients' demographic characteristics (n=558).

Characteristics	Values, n (%)
Gender	
Male	249 (44.6)
Female	309 (55.4)
Annual household income (Canadian dollars)	
<\$80,000	258 (47.7)
≥\$80,000	283 (52.3)
Education (highest level achieved)	
High school degree or less	47 (8.6)
Collège d'enseignement général et professionnel/technical college degree	142 (25.9)
University degree or more	359 (65.5)
Cause of infertility	
Male factor only	180 (32.3)
Female factor only	194 (34.8)
Male and female factors	44 (7.9)
Unexplained	99 (17.7)
No diagnostic testing	30 (5.4)
Treatment duration (months)	
≤6	218 (39.4)
>6	335 (60.6)
Born in Canada	288 (52.4)

Results

Do Participants Search the Internet?

A majority (490/558, 87.8%) of participants searched the internet for health information about infertility, whereas 12.2% (68/558) of participants did not. On average, those who used Web-based resources endorsed searching for 11 of 20 (SD 3.92) infertility-related topics. Significantly more women (290/309, 93.9%) searched compared with men (200/249, 80.3%; χ^2_1 =23.6; P<.001). Searching the internet was prevalent at all education levels, although those with more education were more likely to search (χ^2_2 =6.5; *P*=.04); specifically, 89.4% (321/359) of participants with a university degree or more and 88.0% (125/142) of participants with some CEGEP or university degree searched the internet, whereas slightly fewer participants with a high school degree or less (36/47, 76.65%) searched the internet. Participants with longer treatment duration (303/335, 90.4%) were more likely than new patients (184/218, 84.4%) to have searched for Web-based infertility information (χ^2_1 =4.6; P=.03). Perceived stress was associated with searching, with searchers (mean 5.95, SD 2.88) reporting significantly higher

levels of perceived stress compared with nonsearchers (mean 5.16, SD 3.02; t_{555} =-2.11; *P*=.04). Similarly, searchers (mean 1.36, SD 1.40) reported significantly more depressive symptomatology compared with nonsearchers (mean 0.99, SD 1.39; t_{552} =-2.09; *P*=.04).

What Do Participants Search for?

Descriptive Analysis by Search Category

Out of the 490 participants who searched the internet, all (490/490, 100%) endorsed searching for *diagnostic information*. In addition, nearly all participants endorsed searching for at least one item in the categories *treatment information* (443/490, 90.4%) and *services and providers* (440/490, 89.8%). Approximately two-third of participants (317/490, 64.7%) searched for topics within the category *connections with others*. Table 2 presents a comparison of searching frequencies between men and women for each specific topic of information and support subsumed under the four conceptual categories: *diagnostic information, treatment information, information* about *services and providers,* and *connections with others*. Gender and other participant characteristics were examined in relation to search categories.



Brochu et al

Table 2. Comparison of topics searched by men (n=200) and women (n=290) who reported using the internet to access infertility-related information and support resources.

Types of infertility information	Women, n (%)	Men, n (%)	Chi-square (df)	P value
Diagnostic information				
Scientific literature about infertility	255 (88.2)	158 (79.0)	7.7 (1)	.006
Causes of infertility	271 (94.1)	182 (91.0)	1.7 (1)	.19
Diagnostic tests	225 (78.1)	135 (67.8)	6.5 (1)	.01
Interpreting results of diagnostic tests	185 (64.5)	199 (59.8)	1.1 (1)	.30
My diagnosis	223 (77.2)	145 (72.9)	1.2 (1)	.28
Treatment information				
Treatment options	252 (87.5)	169 (84.5)	0.9 (1)	.34
Medications used in treatment	230 (79.9)	140 (71.1)	5.0 (1)	.03
Success rates of treatment	242 (83.7)	166 (84.7)	0.1 (1)	.78
Side effects of treatment	225 (77.9)	143 (72.2)	2.0 (1)	.16
Using donor sperm or eggs	61 (21.3)	41 (20.9)	0.01 (1)	.91
Surrogacy	29 (10.1)	27 (13.9)	1.6 (1)	.21
Adoption/foster parenting	89 (31.1)	52 (26.7)	1.1 (1)	.29
Information about services and providers				
My physician or medical team	200 (69.4)	99 (49.5)	19.8 (1)	<.001
Clinics where treatment is offered	203 (70.7)	109 (55.6)	11.6 (1)	.001
How to get a second opinion	69 (24.1)	51 (26.0)	0.2 (1)	.64
Provincial health care coverage	170 (59.6)	116 (59.2)	0.01 (1)	.92
Private health care coverage	148 (51.9)	87 (44.6)	2.5 (1)	.12
Connections with others				
How to find peer support/mentor	31 (10.9)	20 (10.2)	0.1 (1)	.81
Others' experiences with infertility	199 (69.8)	102 (52.0)	15.7 (1)	<.001
How to discuss my treatment with family or friends	44 (15.4)	21 (10.7)	2.2 (1)	.14
Other	4 (1.3)	2 (0.8)	31.9 (1)	.67

Diagnostic Information

Seeking *diagnostic information* was significantly associated with gender (t_{479} =-2.32; *P*=.02), such that women (mean 6.43, SD 1.90) searched for more *diagnostic information* compared with men (mean 6.00, SD 2.12). It was further associated with treatment duration ($t_{330,511}$ =-3.49; *P*=.001), indicating that those who have been in treatment for longer (mean 6.52, SD 1.81) sought more *diagnostic information* than people new to treatment (mean 5.84, SD 2.20). In this category, causes of infertility, scientific literature, and information about diagnosis and diagnostic tests were among the most searched topics for both men and women, although women searched significantly more for scientific literature (255/289, 88.2% vs 158/200, 79.0%) and diagnostic tests (225/288, 78.1% vs 135/199, 67.8%) compared with men (Table 2).

Treatment Information

Searching for *treatment information* was significantly related to treatment duration (t_{475} =-4.19; *P*<.001) only, meaning that people with longer treatment duration (mean 1.90, SD 1.21)

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15132
```

RenderX

searched for more topics related to *treatment information* than people with shorter treatment duration (mean 1.44, SD 1.05). Within the *treatment information* category, treatment options and treatment success rates were among the most searched topics for both men and women, whereas surrogacy and adoption were less commonly searched (Table 2). In addition, more women (230/288, 79.9%) searched for medications used in treatment as compared with men (140/197, 71.1%).

Services and Providers

Searching for services and providers was associated with gender $(t_{478}=3.52; P<.001)$, with women (mean 2.52, SD 1.25) endorsing searching for more items than men (mean 0.73, SD 0.84). In addition, there was a significant difference between levels of education for searching for that category (F_{2471} =6.25; P=.002). Post hoc Hochberg GT2 tests indicated that those with (mean 2.40, CEGEP/technical-level SD 1.34) and university-level (mean 2.41, SD 1.29) education searched for significantly (P=.004 and P=.002, respectively) more topics than people with a high school degree or less (mean 1.60, SD 1.24). Searches of people with a CEGEP/technical degree did

not differ from those of people with a university degree (P>.99). Compared with men, women were significantly more likely to search for information on their physician and medical team (200/288, 69.4% vs 99/200, 49.5%) and for clinics where infertility treatment is offered (203/287, 70.7% vs 109/196, 55.6%; Table 2).

Connections With Others

Finally, searching for topics related to connections with others was positively correlated with perceived stress (r=0.11; P=.01) and depressive symptomatology (r=0.12; P=.01). It was also associated with gender ($t_{396,356}$ =-3.10; P=.002), such that women (mean 0.96, SD 0.78) endorsed more topics in that category compared with men (mean 0.73, SD 0.84). In addition, searching for connections with others was related to treatment duration $(t_{474} = -3.44; P = .001)$, suggesting that those with longer treatment duration (mean 0.97, SD 0.82) searched for more connections with others than those with shorter treatment duration (mean 0.71, SD 0.77). There was a significant difference between levels of education (F_{2470} =3.19; P=.04). Post hoc Hochberg GT2 tests revealed that those with CEGEP/technical degrees (mean 0.60, SD 0.74) searched significantly more (P=.04) for connections with others than those with high school diplomas or less (mean 0.98, SD 0.90). However, there was no difference in searching between high school and university (P=.20) nor between CEGEP/technical and university (P=.38). Others' experiences with infertility was the most endorsed item in this category, sought by significantly more women (199/285, 69.8%) than men (102/196, 52.0%), whereas the two remaining items

about how to find peer support and how to discuss infertility with family and friends were searched less frequently (Table 2).

Regressions

Regression analysis was used to investigate the unique contribution of the variables that were significantly associated with searching for each of the different categories (Table 3). As only one variable was significantly associated with searching for treatment information, no regression analysis was performed for that category. The multiple regression predicting searching for *diagnostic information* was significant (F_{3467} =7.31; P<.001) and explained 4.5% of the variance. More education and longer treatment duration were shown to be significant predictors of seeking diagnostic information, whereas gender was not. As for searching for services and providers, the significant model $(F_{2471}=8.61; P<.001)$ demonstrated that both being a woman and being more educated were significant predictors of searching for this category, accounting for 3.5% of the variance. As depression and perceived stress were highly correlated with each other (Pearson r=0.63; P<.001), we tested two separate models predicting the search for connections with others. The first model (F_{3469} =8.12; P<.001; R^2 =0.049) showed that being a woman, having a longer treatment duration, and feeling depressed were significant predictors of looking on the internet for resources regarding connections with others. The second model (F_{3471} =8.06; P<.001; R^2 =0.049) also indicated that gender and treatment duration were significant determinants but perceived stress was not.

Table 3. Regression analysis summary for participant characteristics associated with searching for diagnostic information, services and providers, and connections with others.

Variables	Unstandardized beta	SE for unstandardized beta	Standardized beta	t value (df)	P value
Diagnostic information		•		·	
Gender	.35	.18	.09	1.88 (467)	.06
Education	.34	.15	.11	2.36 (467)	.02
Treatment duration	.60	.19	.15	3.23 (467)	.001
Services and providers					
Gender	.39	.12	.15	3.26 (471)	.001
Education	.23	.10	.11	2.43 (471)	.02
Connections with others - model	L				
Gender	.20	.08	.12	2.61 (469)	.01
Treatment duration	.24	.08	.14	3.12 (469)	.002
Depression	.05	.03	.09	2.00 (469)	.05
Connections with others - model 2	2				
Gender	.20	.08	.12	2.63 (471)	.01
Treatment duration	.24	.08	.14	3.12 (471)	.002
Perceived stress	.02	.01	.08	1.77 (471)	.08

Meeting the Needs of Patients

Of those who searched on the internet, 70.9% (346/488) indicated that their needs were met and 29.1% (142/488)

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15132
```

indicated that their needs were not met by Web-based information. Table 4 represents the proportions of participants who searched for specific topics of information depending on whether their needs were or were not met. Participants who

reported having their needs met by Web-based resources were more likely to search for information about the following topics: their diagnosis, treatment options, success rates of treatment, provincial health care coverage, how to find peer support/mentor, and how to discuss treatment with family or friends. With respect to the broader categories, those with met needs (mean 6.42, SD 1.94) reported searching for more items in the *diagnostic information* category compared with those with unmet needs (mean 5.85, SD 2.11; t_{478} =-2.87; *P*=.004); there was no difference between groups for the three other categories.

Table 4.	Comparison	of topics s	earched by	participants r	reporting met	(n=346) and	d unmet (n=142) needs.

Types of infertility information	Met needs, n (%)	Unmet needs, n (%)	Chi-square (df)	P value
Diagnostic information			•	
Scientific literature about infertility	296 (85.5)	117 (82.4)	0.8 (1)	.38
Causes of infertility	323 (93.4)	129 (91.5)	0.5 (1)	.47
Diagnostic tests	263 (76.2)	96 (68.1)	3.4 (1)	.06
Interpreting results of diagnostic tests	223 (64.8)	80 (56.7)	2.8 (1)	.10
My diagnosis	271 (78.6)	96 (67.6)	6.5 (1)	.01
Treatment information				
Treatment options	307 (88.7)	113 (80.1)	6.2 (1)	.01
Medications used in treatment	266 (77.3)	103 (73.6)	0.8 (1)	.38
Success rates of treatment	300 (87.7)	108 (76.1)	10.3 (1)	.001
Side effects of treatment	268 (77.9)	99 (69.7)	3.6 (1)	.06
Using donor sperm or eggs	75 (21.9)	27 (19.4)	0.4 (1)	.54
Surrogacy	37 (10.9)	19 (13.7)	0.7 (1)	.39
Adoption/foster parenting	94 (27.6)	47 (33.8)	1.9 (1)	.17
Information about services and providers				
My physician or medical team	213 (61.6)	85 (60.3)	0.1 (1)	.79
Clinics where treatment is offered	222 (64.9)	90 (64.3)	0.02 (1)	.9
How to get a second opinion	89 (26.0)	31 (22.3)	0.7 (1)	.39
Provincial health care coverage	215 (62.9)	71 (51.1)	5.7 (1)	.02
Private health care coverage	172 (50.4)	63 (45.3)	1.0 (1)	.31
Connections with others				
How to find peer support/mentor	43 (12.6)	8 (5.8)	4.8 (1)	.03
Others' experiences with infertility	212 (62.2)	89 (64.0)	0.1 (1)	.7
How to discuss my treatment with family or friends	53 (15.5)	12 (8.6)	4.0 (1)	.046
Other	3 (0.9)	3 (2.1)	48.0 (1)	.09

Only the psychological distress variables were found to be significantly related to having unmet needs for information. Participants whose needs were unmet (mean 6.51, SD 2.89) reported greater perceived stress than participants whose needs were met (mean 5.72, SD 2.85; t_{485} =2.80; P=.005). Similarly, people with unmet needs (mean 1.58, SD 1.53) reported significantly more depressive symptomatology compared with those with met needs (mean 1.28, SD 1.35; t_{482} =2.18; P=.03). Gender, education level, and treatment duration were unrelated to having met or unmet needs.

Discussion

Principal Findings

To determine whether there is a need to tailor Web-based health resources to support infertility patients, this study sought to identify the kind of information users were seeking and whether existing resources met their needs. Survey results revealed a nearly ubiquitous search for Web-based information about infertility diagnosis, treatment, services, and providers, and many respondents also sought online emotional support and access to others. Web-based resources were generally perceived to meet the searchers' needs, and there was little evidence of a digital divide, in that there were no differences in search patterns by income or immigrant status. However, certain factors were associated with distinct search patterns and satisfaction with

Web-based resources; these included gender, infertility treatment duration, and psychological distress.

Although men and women searched for similar types of information, women were more likely to search the internet for scientific literature, their physician or medical team, diagnostic tests, medications used in treatment, clinics where treatment is offered, and for others' experiences with infertility, demonstrating women's greater interest in gathering both practical and experiential information about infertility. This finding is in line with research showing that women engage in more Web-based health information seeking than men [35] and that they are more active in online support groups [37]. Women also tend to assume primary responsibility for gathering information about infertility [10]. As most treatment procedures are centered on women's bodies regardless of the cause of infertility, it makes sense that women take a greater interest in searching for information such as medications used in treatment. Men, on the other hand, often feel excluded from the infertility treatment experience [52]. Furthermore, a recent review of Canadian infertility websites revealed that only 20% of fertility clinic websites included information about male infertility [25], indicating that Web-based resources may be more targeted to women. This study did not identify any specific topic searched more by men compared with women. Given that the current findings indicate that some men are in fact searching for infertility information on the internet, and other research suggests that men also benefit from experiential information found on online forums [39], further investigation of the specific interests of male infertility patients is warranted.

Treatment duration was associated to more searching for information about diagnosis and treatment, suggesting that participants who had spent more time in treatment may have been looking for alternatives because of treatment failures. In addition, those with longer treatment duration sought more connections with others, which may indicate a greater need for emotional support following a prolonged treatment process. Seeking online social support may benefit infertility patients by providing a medium for normalizing and validating infertility-specific problems and reducing social isolation during this difficult time.

This study addressed an important gap in the literature regarding the ability of Web-based resources to meet infertility patients' needs [12], given the variability of Web-based infertility-related resources in terms of quality, readability, and suitability [24,25]. In this study, the majority of participants found Web-based resources useful in meeting their informational and support needs. As infertility patient populations tend to be fairly well educated, they may have the eHealth literacy and searching skills necessary to find and access the infertility resources that correspond to their needs. Indeed, the results of this study indicated that less well-educated patients were less likely to search the internet, though there was no difference by education in reporting that the resources met their needs. Alternative sources of information such as written materials (ie, pamphlets) and in-person discussions may be preferred by patients with lower levels of education. Further investigation of the relationship between level of education and searching the internet is needed to understand the nature of this correlation.

Although people with higher levels of psychological distress were more likely to search for Web-based sources of information, they more often reported unmet needs for information and support. Psychological distress was the only factor that distinguished the almost one-third of participants who reported that Web-based information and support resources did not meet their needs. It is well established that infertility can be a source of psychological distress for both men and women [36]. It may be that greater perceived stress and depression triggers patients to rely more on the internet to access informational and emotional support resources. In support of this, previous research has identified a number of psychological factors associated with increased online health seeking behaviors including health anxiety [46], neuroticism [53], dissatisfaction with care [54], and perceptions of poor health [3]. Our results also show that distressed participants sought more social support resources than those without distress. This suggests that people experiencing infertility-related stress and depression have an increased desire to connect with people who understand their situation compared with those who are less distressed and that Web-based resources may facilitate those connections.

Despite the fact that they searched more for Web-based resources about infertility, our findings indicate that the likelihood of unmet needs increased with greater stress and depressive symptoms. It is possible that Web-based resources are not tailored to the needs of those with high levels of infertility-related distress. Future research should investigate the types of resources that people with high levels of infertility-related distress want and work with them to develop those resources. On the other hand, it may also be that the internet caused distress in certain cases or that distressed people viewed things more negatively [55]. For example, Malik and Coulson [20] found that participating in online support groups can expose users to stories about negative experiences with infertility, pregnancy news, and inaccurate information, which may be upsetting to infertility patients. In other cases, people may not succeed in finding or accessing the information and support resources that they are looking for on the internet, thereby feeling more distressed than before the search. Research shows that patients who have difficulty understanding or filtering available Web-based information are likely to experience information overload, which has been associated with poorer psychological well-being [56]. In contrast, participants with better mental health may have been more likely to report met needs because they were not looking for information regarding mental health and how to cope with infertility. However, this study did not explicitly ask participants why internet resources did or did not meet their needs nor whether the resources included an information category regarding mental health and coping. Future studies should inquire directly about the reasons why certain infertility patients are dissatisfied with the information and support resources available on the internet and why other patients feel that the internet appropriately meets their needs. This is an important step for tailoring Web-based resources to better meet the needs of those with infertility concerns. It is also possible that other sources of information and support, such as health care professionals, counselors, and in-person peer support groups, may be better suited to meet the needs of people in distress. A

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

recent study found that the perceived stress of women participating in online support groups for infertility was unrelated to the supportive elements gained from those groups [57], suggesting that other forms of support may be required to relieve their stress.

Strengths and Limitations

One of the strengths of this study is the recruitment of participants from fertility clinics rather than through online infertility forums. This allowed for greater generalizability of the results as it does not restrict the sample to only those who use online communities, thereby assessing how a diverse sample of infertility patients use different Web-based health resources and allowing the investigation of the characteristics of those who do not search the internet. In addition, this study inquired about a comprehensive list of topics that infertility patients are likely to look for. Furthermore, this study extended the literature by having a sample that included not only women but also an almost equal number of men. Including men in fertility research is important, as men also go through the challenges involved in infertility diagnosis and treatment as well as experience infertility-related distress [58]. Although more women than men reported that they had searched for Web-based infertility resources, most men still used the internet to seek infertility information and support.

Notwithstanding several study strengths, limitations must be noted. First, the participants of this study included only people seeking infertility care; therefore, this sample may not be representative of people with infertility who are not seeking medical treatment. Furthermore, the recruitment procedure involved a self-selection process, which may introduce bias among study participants as those individuals who volunteered to take our Web-based survey may be more comfortable using the internet. Although a large majority (81.15%) of people in the United States have access to the internet according to a recent survey, internet access remains associated with sociodemographic factors such as age lower than 35 years, non-Hispanic white ethnicity, higher education, higher income, and urban residency [59]. It should be noted that in this study, all those who were approached to solicit their participation met the inclusion criterion of having internet access. In addition, these analyses included heterosexual couples only. Future studies should explore the online experiences and satisfaction of a more diverse sample of people with infertility concerns by including single and nonheterosexual individuals. This would allow infertility researchers and care providers to better understand the distinct needs and concerns of single individuals and same-sex couples who are increasingly using assisted reproduction techniques to fulfill their family plans. For example, it would be important to understand the extent to which Web-based resources meet the needs for social connection in these groups as well as information regarding such topics as donor gametes and surrogacy.

Although it was found that participants with met needs searched significantly more for medical information about diagnosis and treatments as well as for proactive social support resources, this study did not identify any type of Web-based infertility information and support that was searched more by those with

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15132
```

unmet needs. Although our list of items was comprehensive, it is possible that these participants searched for types of resources that were not included in the response options. It is also possible that other participant characteristics, such as low health literacy [60], may have made it less likely that participants would find the right information for their needs or be satisfied with the information found.

Finally, data analysis was primarily performed using correlational statistics, which, although suitable to identify statistical relationships between variables, does not allow detection of the directionality of relationships or to make causal interpretations. Thus, we cannot draw conclusions about whether distress caused participants to have unmet needs or whether having unmet needs caused distress.

Implications for Future Research

Longitudinal research is needed to examine the direction of the relationship between experiencing psychological distress, searching the internet, and having needs met or unmet by the internet. In addition, qualitative interviews or questionnaires could be used to determine why infertility patients believe Web-based information did or did not meet their needs. This information may help to inform the development of Web-based resources with appropriate information and support tools that correspond to the needs of infertility patients and of those not in treatment but who require information and support in the process of trying to conceive. The vastness, inconsistency, and variable quality of Web-based resources may act as a barrier for obtaining infertility information and support. Future research should explore whether individualization and tailoring of Web-based resources can improve the perceived met needs and well-being of infertility patients, especially those who experience distress. Emergent evidence suggests that the development of patient-centered psychoeducational eHealth interventions may provide an opportunity to empower people with infertility problems and to address their needs for information and support [61-65]. However, the eHealth literature could benefit from more research to assess the feasibility and usability of these interventions as well as the informational and emotional advantages and the cost-effectiveness of these potential solutions [66].

Conclusions

Both men and women undergoing infertility treatment used the internet to seek a broad range of information and support resources related to infertility. Most of them reported that Web-based resources met their needs. Distressed patients reported particularly high rates of searching, but their needs were not always met. Further research is needed to understand why distressed patients do not find Web-based resources helpful in meeting their needs and whether alternative ways of providing information and support may be better suited for these people. This study reveals that most infertility patients are well able to find Web-based resources that meet their needs. However, certain infertility patients may benefit from discussions with their health care providers regarding the use of the internet for obtaining information and support; providers may be able to help them navigate through the large number of

infertility-related resources by suggesting trustworthy and suitable websites.

Authors' Contributions

The first author, FB, performed the analyses, interpretation of the results, and write up of the manuscript. SR, SAM, and PHG were involved in the revision of this manuscript. PC, KL, HH, NM, SO, and TT were involved in study recruitment and revision of this manuscript. PZ supervised the project and manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 The patient survey. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 116 KB - jmir_v21i12e15132_app1.pdf]

References

- Prestin A, Vieux SN, Chou WS. Is online health activity alive and well or flatlining? Findings from 10 years of the health information national trends survey. J Health Commun 2015;20(7):790-798. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2015.1018590</u>] [Medline: <u>26042588</u>]
- Statistics Canada. 2013. Internet Use, by Age Group, Internet Activity, Sex, Level of Education and Household Income URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tb11/en/tv.action?pid=2710001601&pickMembers%5B0%5D=1.</u> <u>1&pickMembers%5B1%5D=3.4&pickMembers%5B2%5D=4.1&pickMembers%5B3%5D=5.1&pickMembers%5B4%5D=6.</u> <u>1</u> [accessed 2018-05-10]
- Ahadzadeh AS, Sharif SP, Ong FS, Khong KW. Integrating health belief model and technology acceptance model: an investigation of health-related internet use. J Med Internet Res 2015 Feb 19;17(2):e45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3564] [Medline: 25700481]
- 4. Houston TK, Allison JJ. Users of internet health information: differences by health status. J Med Internet Res 2002;4(2):E7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4.2.e7] [Medline: 12554554]
- 5. Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, Dyer S, Racowsky C, de Mouzon J, Sokol R, et al. The international glossary on infertility and fertility care, 2017. Hum Reprod 2017 Sep 1;32(9):1786-1801 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/humrep/dex234] [Medline: 29117321]
- 6. Bushnik T, Cook JL, Yuzpe AA, Tough S, Collins J. Estimating the prevalence of infertility in Canada. Hum Reprod 2012 Mar;27(3):738-746 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/humrep/der465] [Medline: 22258658]
- Cousineau TM, Domar AD. Psychological impact of infertility. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2007 Apr;21(2):293-308. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2006.12.003</u>] [Medline: <u>17241818</u>]
- Hanna GB, Gough B. Emoting infertility online: a qualitative analysis of men's forum posts. Health (London) 2016 Jul;20(4):363-382. [doi: 10.1177/1363459316649765] [Medline: 27246813]
- 9. Huang JY, Al-Fozan H, Tan SL, Tulandi T. Internet use by patients seeking infertility treatment. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2003 Oct;83(1):75-76. [doi: 10.1016/s0020-7292(03)00253-4] [Medline: 14511879]
- 10. Kahlor L, Mackert M. Perceptions of infertility information and support sources among female patients who access the internet. Fertil Steril 2009 Jan;91(1):83-90. [doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.11.005] [Medline: 18243181]
- Weissman A, Gotlieb L, Ward S, Greenblatt E, Casper RF. Use of the internet by infertile couples. Fertil Steril 2000 Jun;73(6):1179-1182. [doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(00)00515-x] [Medline: 10856479]
- 12. Zillien N, Haake G, Fröhlich G, Bense T, Souren D. Internet use of fertility patients: a systemic review of the literature. Journal für Reproduktionsmedizin und Endokrinologie (Journal of Reproductive Medicine and Endocrinology) 2011;8(4):281-287 [FREE Full text]
- 13. Berger M, Wagner TH, Baker LC. Internet use and stigmatized illness. Soc Sci Med 2005 Oct;61(8):1821-1827. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.03.025] [Medline: 16029778]
- 14. van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CH, Taal E, Shaw BR, Seydel ER, van de Laar MA. Empowering processes and outcomes of participation in online support groups for patients with breast cancer, arthritis, or fibromyalgia. Qual Health Res 2008 Mar;18(3):405-417. [doi: 10.1177/1049732307313429] [Medline: 18235163]
- 15. van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CH, Taal E, Seydel ER, van de Laar MA. Participation in online patient support groups endorses patients' empowerment. Patient Educ Couns 2009 Jan;74(1):61-69. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.07.044</u>] [Medline: <u>18778909</u>]
- Hinton L, Kurinczuk JJ, Ziebland S. Infertility; isolation and the internet: a qualitative interview study. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Dec;81(3):436-441. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2010.09.023</u>] [Medline: <u>21036506</u>]

- Kingod N, Cleal B, Wahlberg A, Husted GR. Online peer-to-peer communities in the daily lives of people with chronic illness: a qualitative systematic review. Qual Health Res 2017 Jan;27(1):89-99. [doi: 10.1177/1049732316680203] [Medline: 27956659]
- Nambisan P. Information seeking and social support in online health communities: impact on patients' perceived empathy. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2011 May 1;18(3):298-304 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000058</u>] [Medline: <u>21486888</u>]
- 19. Porter M, Bhattacharya S. Helping themselves to get pregnant: a qualitative longitudinal study on the information-seeking behaviour of infertile couples. Hum Reprod 2008 Mar;23(3):567-572. [doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem398] [Medline: 18089553]
- Malik SH, Coulson NS. 'They all supported me but I felt like I suddenly didn't belong anymore': an exploration of perceived disadvantages to online support seeking. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol 2010 Sep;31(3):140-149. [doi: 10.3109/0167482X.2010.504870] [Medline: 20718585]
- 21. Malik SH, Coulson NS. Computer-mediated infertility support groups: an exploratory study of online experiences. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Oct;73(1):105-113. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.05.024] [Medline: 18639409]
- 22. Benigeri M, Pluye P. Shortcomings of health information on the internet. Health Promot Int 2003 Dec;18(4):381-386. [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dag409] [Medline: 14695369]
- 23. Lee K, Hoti K, Hughes JD, Emmerton L. Dr Google and the consumer: a qualitative study exploring the navigational needs and online health information-seeking behaviors of consumers with chronic health conditions. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 2;16(12):e262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3706] [Medline: 25470306]
- 24. de Man AM, Rashedi A, Nelen W, Anazodo A, Rademaker A, de Roo S, et al. Female fertility in the cancer setting: availability and quality of online health information. Hum Fertil (Camb) 2018 Sep 19:1-9. [doi: 10.1080/14647273.2018.1506891] [Medline: 30230389]
- Robins S, Barr HJ, Idelson R, Lambert S, Zelkowitz P. Online health information regarding male infertility: an evaluation of readability, suitability, and quality. Interact J Med Res 2016 Oct 21;5(4):e25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.6440] [Medline: 27769954]
- 26. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 16;8(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9] [Medline: 16867972]
- 27. Himmel W, Meyer J, Kochen MM, Michelmann HW. Information needs and visitors' experience of an Internet expert forum on infertility. J Med Internet Res 2005 Jun 30;7(2):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.2.e20] [Medline: 15998611]
- 28. Law C. Men on the margins? Reflections on recruiting and engaging men in reproduction research. Method Innov 2019;12(1). [doi: 10.1177/2059799119829425]
- 29. Petok WD. Infertility counseling (or the lack thereof) of the forgotten male partner. Fertil Steril 2015 Aug;104(2):260-266. [doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.04.040] [Medline: 26048155]
- 30. Juvrud J, Rennels JL. 'I Don't Need Help': Gender differences in how gender stereotypes predict help-seeking. Sex Roles 2017;76(1-2):27-39. [doi: 10.1007/s11199-016-0653-7]
- 31. Yousaf O, Popat A, Hunter MS. An investigation of masculinity attitudes, gender, and attitudes toward psychological help-seeking. Psychol Men Masc 2015;16(2):234-237. [doi: 10.1037/a0036241]
- 32. Manierre MJ. Gaps in knowledge: tracking and explaining gender differences in health information seeking. Soc Sci Med 2015 Mar;128:151-158. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.01.028] [Medline: 25618604]
- Beck F, Richard J, Nguyen-Thanh V, Montagni I, Parizot I, Renahy E. Use of the internet as a health information resource among French young adults: results from a nationally representative survey. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(5):e128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2934] [Medline: 24824164]
- Bidmon S, Terlutter R. Gender differences in searching for health information on the internet and the virtual patient-physician relationship in germany: exploratory results on how men and women differ and why. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 22;17(6):e156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4127] [Medline: 26099325]
- 35. Hallyburton A, Evarts LA. Gender and online health information seeking: a five survey meta-analysis. J Consum Health Internet 2014;18(2):128-142. [doi: 10.1080/15398285.2014.902268]
- Greil AL. Infertility and psychological distress: a critical review of the literature. Soc Sci Med 1997 Dec;45(11):1679-1704. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0277-9536(97)00102-0</u>] [Medline: <u>9428088</u>]
- Grunberg PH, Dennis C, da Costa D, Zelkowitz P. Infertility patients' need and preferences for online peer support. Reprod Biomed Soc Online 2018 Aug;6:80-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rbms.2018.10.016] [Medline: 30547107]
- 38. Malik SH, Coulson NS. Coping with infertility online: an examination of self-help mechanisms in an online infertility support group. Patient Educ Couns 2010 Nov;81(2):315-318. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.01.007] [Medline: 20144521]
- 39. Hanna E, Gough B. Searching for help online: an analysis of peer-to-peer posts on a male-only infertility forum. J Health Psychol 2018 Jun;23(7):917-928. [doi: 10.1177/1359105316644038] [Medline: 27106090]
- 40. Richard J, Badillo-Amberg I, Zelkowitz P. 'So Much of This Story Could Be Me': Men's use of support in online infertility discussion boards. Am J Mens Health 2017 May;11(3):663-673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1557988316671460] [Medline: 27702886]

- 41. Malik SH, Coulson NS. The male experience of infertility: a thematic analysis of an online infertility support group bulletin board. J Reprod Infant Psychol 2008;26(1):18-30. [doi: 10.1080/02646830701759777]
- 42. Cotten SR, Gupta SS. Characteristics of online and offline health information seekers and factors that discriminate between them. Soc Sci Med 2004 Nov;59(9):1795-1806. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.02.020] [Medline: 15312915]
- 43. Rice RE. Influences, usage, and outcomes of Internet health information searching: multivariate results from the Pew surveys. Int J Med Inform 2006 Jan;75(1):8-28. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.07.032] [Medline: 16125453]
- 44. Kreps GL, Sparks L. Meeting the health literacy needs of immigrant populations. Patient Educ Couns 2008 Jun;71(3):328-332. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pec.2008.03.001</u>] [Medline: <u>18387773</u>]
- 45. Paasche-Orlow MK, Parker RM, Gazmararian JA, Nielsen-Bohlman LT, Rudd RR. The prevalence of limited health literacy. J Gen Intern Med 2005 Feb;20(2):175-184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.40245.x] [Medline: 15836552]
- 46. Eastin MS, Guinsler NM. Worried and wired: effects of health anxiety on information-seeking and health care utilization behaviors. Cyberpsychol Behav 2006 Aug;9(4):494-498. [doi: <u>10.1089/cpb.2006.9.494</u>] [Medline: <u>16901253</u>]
- 47. Gallagher S, Doherty DT. Searching for health information online: characteristics of online health seekers. J Evid Based Med 2009 May;2(2):99-106. [doi: 10.1111/j.1756-5391.2009.01021.x] [Medline: 21348996]
- 48. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The Patient Health Questionnaire-2: validity of a two-item depression screener. Med Care 2003 Nov;41(11):1284-1292. [doi: 10.1097/01.MLR.0000093487.78664.3C] [Medline: 14583691]
- 49. Löwe B, Kroenke K, Gräfe K. Detecting and monitoring depression with a two-item questionnaire (PHQ-2). J Psychosom Res 2005 Feb;58(2):163-171. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2004.09.006] [Medline: 15820844]
- 50. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav 1983 Dec;24(4):385-396. [doi: <u>10.2307/2136404</u>] [Medline: <u>6668417</u>]
- 51. Warttig SL, Forshaw MJ, South J, White AK. New, normative, English-sample data for the Short Form Perceived Stress Scale (PSS-4). J Health Psychol 2013 Dec;18(12):1617-1628. [doi: 10.1177/1359105313508346] [Medline: 24155195]
- 52. Culley L, Hudson N, Lohan M. Where are all the men? The marginalization of men in social scientific research on infertility. Reprod Biomed Online 2013 Sep;27(3):225-235. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.rbmo.2013.06.009</u>] [Medline: <u>23871364</u>]
- 53. Lagoe C, Atkin D. Health anxiety in the digital age: an exploration of psychological determinants of online health information seeking. Comput Human Behav 2015;52:484-491. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.06.003]
- 54. Tustin N. The role of patient satisfaction in online health information seeking. J Health Commun 2010 Jan;15(1):3-17. [doi: 10.1080/10810730903465491] [Medline: 20390974]
- 55. Mathews A, MacLeod C. Cognitive vulnerability to emotional disorders. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2005;1:167-195. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.143916] [Medline: 17716086]
- 56. Swar B, Hameed T, Reychav I. Information overload, psychological ill-being, and behavioral intention to continue online healthcare information search. Comput Human Behav 2017;70:416-425. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.068</u>]
- 57. Chazan L, Kushnir T. Losses and gains of psychosocial resources: effects on stress among women undergoing infertility treatments and participating in social network systems. Psychiatr Q 2019 Jul 24. [doi: 10.1007/s11126-019-09661-0] [Medline: 31342254]
- 58. Greil AL, Slauson-Blevins K, McQuillan J. The experience of infertility: a review of recent literature. Social Health Illn 2010 Jan;32(1):140-162 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9566.2009.01213.x] [Medline: 20003036]
- 59. Greenberg-Worisek AJ, Kurani S, Finney Rutten LJ, Blake KD, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Tracking healthy people 2020 internet, broadband, and mobile device access goals: an update using data from the health information national trends survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jun 24;21(6):e13300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13300] [Medline: 31237238]
- 60. Birru M, Steinman RA. Online health information and low-literacy African Americans. J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 3;6(3):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e26] [Medline: 15471752]
- 61. Cousineau TM, Green TC, Corsini E, Seibring A, Showstack MT, Applegarth L, et al. Online psychoeducational support for infertile women: a randomized controlled trial. Hum Reprod 2008 Mar;23(3):554-566 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem306] [Medline: 18089552]
- 62. Daniluk JC, Koert E. Fertility awareness online: the efficacy of a fertility education website in increasing knowledge and changing fertility beliefs. Hum Reprod 2015 Feb;30(2):353-363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu328] [Medline: 25480922]
- 63. Samoocha D, Bruinvels DJ, Elbers NA, Anema JR, van der Beek AJ. Effectiveness of web-based interventions on patient empowerment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2010 Jun 24;12(2):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1286] [Medline: 20581001]
- 64. Wiklander M, Strandquist J, Obol CM, Eriksson LE, Winterling J, Rodriguez-Wallberg KA, et al. Feasibility of a self-help web-based intervention targeting young cancer patients with sexual problems and fertility distress. Support Care Cancer 2017 Dec;25(12):3675-3682 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3793-6] [Medline: 28721554]
- 65. Winterling J, Wiklander M, Obol CM, Lampic C, Eriksson LE, Pelters B, et al. Development of a self-help web-based intervention targeting young cancer patients with sexual problems and fertility distress in collaboration with patient research partners. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Apr 12;5(2):e60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5499] [Medline: 27073057]
- 66. Aarts JW, van den Haak P, Nelen WL, Tuil WS, Faber MJ, Kremer JA. Patient-focused internet interventions in reproductive medicine: a scoping review. Hum Reprod Update 2012;18(2):211-227. [doi: <u>10.1093/humupd/dmr045</u>] [Medline: <u>22108381</u>]

Abbreviations

CEGEP: Collège d'enseignement général et professionnel **eHealth:** electronic health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.06.19; peer-reviewed by E Hanna, J Farzi; comments to author 20.07.19; revised version received 13.08.19; accepted 24.09.19; published 12.12.19.

Please cite as:

Brochu F, Robins S, Miner SA, Grunberg PH, Chan P, Lo K, Holzer HEG, Mahutte N, Ouhilal S, Tulandi T, Zelkowitz P Searching the Internet for Infertility Information: A Survey of Patient Needs and Preferences J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15132 URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15132</u> doi:<u>10.2196/15132</u> PMID:<u>31829963</u>

©Felicia Brochu, Stephanie Robins, Skye A Miner, Paul H Grunberg, Peter Chan, Kirk Lo, Hananel E G Holzer, Neal Mahutte, Sophia Ouhilal, Togas Tulandi, Phyllis Zelkowitz. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 12.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Exploring the Characteristics and Preferences for Online Support Groups: Mixed Method Study

Melanie Louise Plinsinga^{1*}, PhD; Manuela Besomi^{1*}, BSc, MSc; Liam Maclachlan¹, PhD; Luciano Melo², PhD; Sarah Robbins^{3,4}, PhD; Belinda J Lawford⁵, PhD; Pek Ling Teo⁵, BPT, MHS; Kathryn Mills⁶, PhD; Jenny Setchell¹, PhD; Thorlene Egerton⁵, PhD; Jillian Eyles^{3,4}, PhD; Leanne Hall¹, PhD; Rebecca Mellor¹, PhD; David J Hunter^{3,4}, MBBS, PhD, FRACP; Paul Hodges¹, PhD; Bill Vicenzino¹, PhD; Kim Bennell⁵, PhD

⁶Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Macquarie University, Sydney, Australia

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Kim Bennell, PhD Centre for Health, Exercise, and Sports Medicine Department of Physiotherapy University of Melbourne Alan Gilbert Building 161 Barry Street Carlton, 3053 Australia Phone: 61 3 8344 4135 Email: k.bennell@unimelb.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Osteoarthritis (OA) is a chronic, disabling, and prevalent disorder. As there is no cure for OA, long-term self-management is paramount. Support groups (SGs) can facilitate self-management among people living with OA. Understanding preferences in design and features of SGs, including online SGs (OSGs), among people with OA can inform future development of SG interventions for this condition.

Objective: The objective of this study was to investigate health care– and health information–seeking behavior, digital literacy, and preferences for the design of SGs in people with OA. The study also explored the perceived barriers and enablers to being involved in OSGs.

Methods: An online survey study was conducted with a mixed method design (quantitative and qualitative). Individuals aged \geq 45 years with knee, hip, or back pain for \geq 3 months were recruited from an extant patient database of the Institute of Bone and Joint Research via email invitations. Quantitative elements of the survey included questions about sociodemographic background; health care– and health information–seeking behavior; digital literacy; and previous participation in, and preferences for, SGs and OSGs. Respondents were classified into 2 groups (Yes-SG and No-SG) based on previous participation or interest in an SG. Group differences were assessed with Chi-square tests (significance level set at 5%). Responses to free-text questions relating to preferences regarding OSG engagement were analyzed qualitatively using an inductive thematic analysis.

Results: A total of 415 people with OA completed the survey (300/415, 72.3% females; 252/415, 61.0% lived in a major city). The Yes-SG group included 307 (307/415, 73.9%) participants. Between the Yes-SG and No-SG groups, there were no differences in sociodemographic characteristics, health care– and health information–seeking behavior, and digital literacy. An online format was preferred by 126/259 (48.7%) of the Yes-SG group. Trained peer facilitators were preferred, and trustworthiness of advice and information were highly prioritized by the respondents. Qualitative analysis for OSG participation revealed 5 main themes.

¹School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia

²The Sax Institute, Ultimo, Australia

³Kolling Institute of Medical Research, Institute of Bone and Joint Research, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

⁴Department of Rheumatology, Royal North Shore Hospital and Northern Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

⁵Centre for Health, Exercise, and Sports Medicine, Department of Physiotherapy, University of Melbourne, Carlton, Australia

Lack of time and motivation were the main barriers identified. The main enablers were related to accessibility, enjoyment of the experience, and the content of the discussed information.

Conclusions: These findings highlight the preferences in design features and content of SGs and OSGs and may assist in the further development of such groups.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15987) doi:10.2196/15987

KEYWORDS

osteoarthritis; self-help groups; self-management; surveys and questionnaires

Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a highly prevalent chronic condition [1] and can have a significant negative impact on both the individual and society. OA is one of the leading causes of functional limitation in older adults [1] and is associated with considerable direct and indirect health care costs [2,3]. These costs are predicted to rise substantially over the coming decades [2]. Accessible, high-quality strategies that support people to self-manage OA successfully are urgently needed.

The international chronic condition self-management support (CCSMS) framework describes principles to guide the implementation of strategies to support self-management [4]. These principles recommend that strategies should be as follows: (1) informed by evidence and the needs of the users, (2) person-centered, (3) easily accessible, (4) offering choice and autonomy, (5) aligned with treatment options that are available, and (6) emphasizing maximum benefits while minimizing harms [4]. Self-management support strategies offered to people with knee and hip OA, as well as back pain, typically involve therapeutic exercise programs, general physical activity promotion, and weight loss programs for those who are overweight [5,6]. These OA self-management support strategies aim to reduce pain and improve physical function and the quality of life. Previous research into painful musculoskeletal disorders has shown that self-management support strategies that provide social support and networks may also lead to improved pain and self-efficacy and increase physical function [7-9]. Social support provided in groups promotes a sense of belonging and active interaction [10,11], something that is important for both the individual and the group-the individual must continue to participate to receive all of their benefits, and the group relies on the aggregate knowledge where a larger community is likely to know more about a problem than a smaller one [12]. Therefore, the addition of social support and networks could potentially improve the outcomes of people living with knee, hip, and back OA.

A medium through which people with OA can potentially access social support and networks is support groups (SGs). SGs aim to provide avenues for people with a disease or condition to share information, provide empathy, and promote positive health behaviors. Given the availability of the internet in most households in the Western countries [13,14] and the data showing an increase in online health service usage [14], online SGs (OSGs) may be an inexpensive and convenient way for people to participate in SGs. The number of OSGs has increased in recent years, particularly as adjuncts to traditional care [15]. The nature of such groups varies widely. A systematic review

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987

of SGs across all health conditions [16] reported that about half were found to include only peer-to-peer engagement, whereas the other half included peer-to-peer engagement as part of a multifactorial intervention. The latter may be moderated by health professionals or administrators [17]. How people engage in OSGs varies. Broadly, participants might be readers or posters. Among the posters, participants may be initiators, responders, authorities, discussants, supporters, and more. Many participant styles are unique to the health condition [18]. Retrospective studies suggest that the benefits obtained from participation may be influenced by how an individual chooses to participate, but direct associations are yet to be made [12,19]. Reducing depressive symptoms and improving social support are the most commonly proposed mechanisms by which the OSGs were thought to afford health benefits [18,20]. Other outcomes of interest include general well-being, empowerment, anxiety, quality of life, health care utilization, or specific behavior changes (eg, weight loss) [21-24].

If SGs and OSGs are to be employed as strategies of self-management support, the principles of the CCSMS framework should be considered [4]. However, currently, the first guiding principle for self-management support strategies (ie, informed by evidence and the needs of the users) cannot be met as there is a paucity of evidence to inform the design and implementation of effective OSGs, particularly, in relation to people with OA. No previous studies have investigated the needs and preferences of people with OA regarding the design features and content of OSGs. There is no evidence outlining whether people are willing to engage with such groups and reasons why or why not. We are also uninformed regarding the demographic profile of those who are willing to engage with SGs, compared with those who are not. This study surveyed people with OA to determine the needs of potential SG and OSG users by investigating the health care- and health information-seeking behavior, digital literacy, and preferences for the design of SGs. The specific study aims were as follows: (1) compare sociodemographic characteristics, health care- and health information-seeking behavior, and digital literacy between those who are currently using or interested in joining and those who are not using or not interested in joining SGs; (2) evaluate preferences for content, delivery method, and types of engagement in relation to SGs; and (3) explore the perceived barriers and enablers to being involved in OSGs.
Methods

Study Design and Setting

An online survey study was conducted with a mixed method design conforming with the checklist for reporting result of internet electronic surveys (Multimedia Appendix 1). Potentially eligible participants were identified from the patient database of the Institute of Bone and Joint Research (University of Sydney). An email invitation to participate, including a link to the survey, was sent to people who had consented to be contacted for future research opportunities. Ethics approval was obtained from the Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) of the University of Sydney (HREC #2017/957). Online informed consent was provided before the survey could be accessed by clicking a required checkbox.

Participants

People aged \geq 45 years who had previously received a clinical diagnosis of OA for any joint [25] were invited to participate. The survey commenced with 2 screening questions: (1) "Are you over 45 years of age?" and (2) "Do you have knee, hip, or back pain lasting more than 3 months?" Respondents who answered *no* to either question were excluded from the survey. People with comorbidities (eg, diabetes and heart disease) were also eligible; however, questions pertaining to SGs were specific to musculoskeletal conditions.

Sample Size

A generic sample size calculation was used to determine the minimum sample size needed for generalizable results, given the exploratory aims of the study. Considering the estimated population size of people living with OA (primarily affecting the hands, spine, knees, and hips) in Australia is over 2 million [26], an acceptable margin of error of 5%, and accepted confidence level of 95%, the minimum sample size required was 385.

Procedure

Data collection occurred between March and September 2018. The survey was administered through the Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) survey software (version 9.3.6, Vanderbilt University) and comprised closed, open, and multiple-choice questions (Multimedia Appendix 2). The quantitative information (closed and multiple-choice questions) was collected across 4 blocks of questions: (1) sociodemographic characteristics, (2) health care- and health information-seeking behavior, (3) use of technology (digital literacy), and (4) participation and preferences of SGs. The specific musculoskeletal condition (ie, hip OA, knee OA or back pain) was not identified. The type and wording of each question was composed by the research team. Face validity was ascertained by asking a sample of patient representatives (N=5) to view and provide feedback on each question in blocks 2 to 4. The order of questions was not randomized. Rather, the survey followed a predetermined logic where contingent questions were included/skipped based on participants' previous responses. Qualitative data were collected with 3 open questions exploring possible barriers and enablers to OSG engagement: "What would make it difficult for you to use an OSG?" (Q36), "What would make it easier for you to use an OSG?" (Q37), and "Is there anything else you would like to say about using OSGs?" (Q38). Recruitment and data collection were conducted concurrently.

Analysis

Quantitative Analysis

All data were exported from REDCap into Microsoft Excel, and quantitative data were processed using the Statistical Package for the Social Science (version 13.0, IBM). All nominal or categorical variables were described with absolute frequency and percentages, and ordinal data were described with median and interquartile range. Respondents were categorized in 2 groups based on their response to the question "Have you ever been a part of an SG?" (Q17), followed by the question "Are you still a part of this SG?" (Q17a). If the answer on the former (Q17) was no, this was followed by the question: "Would you be interested in joining an SG?" (Q18). The Yes-SG group were respondents that were either currently part of an SG (Yes to Q17 and Q17a) or interested in joining one (No to Q17 followed by Yes to Q18). The No-SG group were respondents that were neither currently part of an SG nor interested in joining one (No to Q17a and Q18; Figure 1). Group differences were assessed with Chi-square (categorical data) and Mann-Whitney U (ordinal data) tests. The significance level was set at 5%.



Figure 1. Flowchart of questions for classifying respondents into Yes-SG and No-SG. Logic questions included in the survey that were not used for classification are specified with an asterisk. Q: question; SG: support group.



Qualitative Analysis

Data from all respondents (Yes-SG and No-SG groups) were considered in the qualitative analysis. To explore perspectives on the barriers and enablers to involvement in an OSG, inductive thematic analysis was conducted with the free-text responses following principles outlined by Braun and Clarke [27]. First, 3 health researchers familiarized themselves with the entire qualitative dataset by reading, rereading, and noting preliminary codes related to the study objective (JS, JE, and MP) [27]. Codes were then grouped into provisional themes using Microsoft Excel by a researcher (MP). Coding anomalies and provisional themes were then discussed, and themes were refined until a final theming structure was agreed upon (JS, MP, KM, and TE). A theme was considered a final theme if it captured perspectives of multiple responders and was grounded in the data. All relevant criteria of the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research checklist were addressed to ensure qualitative rigor [28].

Results

Respondents

A total of 695 respondents accessed the survey. Of these, 39 did not meet the inclusion criteria, and 235 did not complete the survey. In total, 415 respondents with OA completed the survey and were included in the analysis. The Yes-SG group

comprised those who were either currently part of an SG (n=48) or interested in joining one (n=259). The No-SG group comprised those who were neither currently part of an SG (n=52) nor interested in joining one (n=56; Figure 1).

Quantitative Results

Sociodemographic Characteristics and Health Careand Health Information–Seeking Behavior

Sociodemographic characteristics and health care– and health information–seeking behavior of respondents are described in Table 1. The majority of respondents were female (300/415, 72.3%) and lived in a major city (252/415, 61.0%). Employment status revealed that 189 out of 415 respondents were retired (189/415, 45.8%), 165 were working (165/415, 40.0%), 31 were on a pension (other than age pension; 31/415, 7.5%), and 28 were not working (eg, unemployed or caring for another person; 28/415, 6.8%). Technology and media (eg, internet searches, social media, newspaper, or television) were used for health information seeking by the majority of respondents (367/415, 88.4%). Sociodemographic characteristics and current health care— or health information—seeking behavior were not significantly different between Yes-SG and No-SG respondents.



Plinsinga et al

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics and health care- and health information-seeking behavior of the survey respondents.

Sociodemographic characteristics and health information-seeking behavior	All respondents (N=415)	Yes-SG ^a (N=307)	No-SG ^b (N=108)	P value
Sex (female), Q ^c 3, n (%)	300 (72.3)	225 (73.3)	75 (69.4)	.44
Accessibility/Remoteness Index of Australia code ^d (Q3), n (%))			.62
Major city	252 (61.0)	184 (60.3)	68 (63.0)	
Inner regional	110 (26.6)	88 (28.9)	22 (20.4)	
Outer regional	42 (10.2)	30 (9.8)	12 (11.1)	
Remote	9 (2.2)	3 (1.0)	6 (5.6)	
State of residence (Q3), n (%)				.02
Australian Capital Territory	19 (4.6)	16 (5.2)	3 (2.8)	
New South Wales	289 (69.6)	214 (69.7)	75 (69.4)	
Queensland	28 (6.7)	22 (7.2)	6 (5.6)	
South Australia	6 (1.4)	3 (1.0)	3 (2.8)	
Tasmania	9 (2.2)	6 (2.0)	3 (2.8)	
Victoria	54 (13.0)	40 (13.0)	14 (13.0)	
Western Australia	10 (2.4)	6 (2.0)	4 (3.7)	
Employment (Q5), n (%)				.09
Retired	189 (45.8)	145 (47.5)	44 (40.7)	
Working	165 (40.0)	115 (37.7)	50 (46.3)	
Pension	31 (7.5)	27 (8.9)	4 (3.7)	
Not working (eg, unemployed or caring for another person)	28 (6.8)	18 (5.9)	10 (9.3)	
Financial status (Q6), n (%)				.65
Careful	179 (43.1)	132 (43.0)	47 (43.5)	
Able to manage	32 (7.7)	21 (6.8)	11 (10.2)	
Straining	133 (32.0)	99 (32.2)	34 (31.5)	
Comfortable	71 (17.1)	55 (17.9)	16 (14.8)	
Education (Q7), n (%)				.90
Year 11 or below	67 (16.2)	46 (15.0)	21 (19.4)	
Year 12	28 (6.8)	22 (7.2)	6 (5.6)	
Certificate 3 or 4	57 (13.8)	41 (13.4)	16 (14.8)	
Diploma/advanced diploma	92 (22.2)	69 (22.5)	23 (21.3)	
Undergraduate	79 (19.1)	60 (19.6)	19 (17.6)	
Postgraduate	91 (22.0)	68 (22.2)	23 (21.3)	
Limitation of daily activities (0-100), Q8, median (IQR)	52 (31-66)	52 (31-66)	51 (32.5-65)	.92
Seeking professional health care (Q9), n (%)				.57
I do not currently	100 (24.1)	75 (24.4)	25 (23.1)	
Once a year	36 (8.7)	23 (7.5)	13 (12.0)	
Once every 6 months	50 (12.0)	39 (12.7)	11 (10.2)	
Once every 3 months	85 (20.5)	63 (20.5)	22 (20.4)	
Once monthly	108 (26.0)	83 (27.0)	25 (23.1)	
Once weekly	36 (8.7)	24 (7.8)	12 (11.1)	
Use of technology for health information seeking (Q11), n (%)				.38
Yes	367 (88.4)	274 (89.3)	93 (86.1)	

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987

XSL•FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2019 | vol. 21 | iss. 12 |e15987 | p.220 (page number not for citation purposes)

behavior	All respondents (N=415)	Yes-SG ^a (N=307)	No-SG ^b (N=108)	P value	
No	48 (11.6)	33 (10.7)	15 (13.9)		
Types of technology used (ranked in top 3 for Q12), n (%)				e	
Website endorsed by advocacy group	228 (62.1)	177 (64.6)	51 (54.8)		
Google or internet search	172 (46.9)	132 (48.2)	40 (43.0)		
Health app	143 (39.0)	111 (40.5)	32 (34.4)		
Wikipedia	117 (31.9)	97 (35.4)	20 (21.5)		
Newspaper/magazine	87 (23.7)	58 (21.2)	29 (31.2)		
Free flyers	81 (22.1)	50 (18.3)	31 (33.3)		
Internet forums	70 (19.1)	49 (17.9)	21 (22.6)		
Podcasts	69 (18.8)	50 (18.3)	19 (20.4)		
Television/radio	68 (18.5)	48 (17.5)	20 (21.5)		
Social media	66 (18.0)	50 (18.3)	16 (17.2)		

Social dama a marking about a visiting and health information cooling All man and anta (NI 415) 1.

^aUsing or wishing to join a support group.

^bNot using and not interested in joining or using a support group.

^cQ: question.

^dAustralian International Standard Recording Code national agency.

^eNot applicable.

Digital Literacy

Digital literacy characteristics, including the type of electronic device, frequency of internet use, and self-reported ability to use the internet, were not statistically different (P < .05) between Yes-SG and No-SG groups. Respondents reported that they used all types of devices (mobiles, tablets, laptops, and desktop computers). The majority of respondents (334/415, 80.5%) indicated accessing the internet every day, and 351 out of 415 respondents rated themselves as having good or excellent ability to use the internet (85.4%; Multimedia Appendix 3).

Participation and Preferences of Support Groups

For those who reported having been part of an SG (N=100), 32 had been part of it for <6 months, 28 between 6 months and 2 years, and 40 for >2 years. The majority participated in an SG delivered in person (54/100, 54.0%) or Web-based through social media (eg, Facebook; 41/100, 41.0%). Remaining respondents (3/100, 3%) participated over the phone and Web-based through a specialist website. For those who were not currently part of an SG (N=52), only 29 informed the reasons for leaving it. The main reported reason was "Not enough time to participate" (18/29, 62.1%), followed by "I did not find the information relevant to me" (6/29, 20.7%) and "I did not agree with the information on the SG" (3/29, 10.3%).

Regarding the level of importance of the different types of information that could be provided, Yes-SG respondents most frequently reported information pertaining to having research results explained in language that was understandable, potential new treatments, and pain management advice as being

(extremely/very) important (302/307, 98.4%; 297/307, 96.7%; 288/307, 93.8%; respectively). However, diet advice and a discussion on *media programs of interest* were selected least often (Figures 2 and 3). For the types of services that could be available through SGs, respondents selected having treatment programs available in my area and access to health professionals as (extremely/very) important (293/307, 95.4%; and 264/307, 86.0%; respectively), whereas having social meetups was selected least often (111/307, 36.2%).

Among all respondents, 369 out of 415 (88.9%) thought they would (strongly) benefit from an OSG, 260 out of 415 (62.7%) thought receiving support from peers is (extremely) important, and 243 out of 415 (58.6%) were (extremely) motivated to use an OSG. Within the Yes-SG group, 126 out of 259 respondents (48.7%) indicated that they would prefer to access an SG online (eg, online format), 67 (25.9%) through a face-to-face meeting, 58 (22.4%) via email, and 8 (2.9%) via phone (Multimedia Appendix 2). Of those preferring OSG (N=126), 31.7% (40/126) would mainly participate in an OSG by commenting, discussing, or debating topics, and 31.7% (40/126) indicated they would prefer to only read articles. Remaining responses included asking questions (20/126, 15.9%), sharing articles from the OSG with non-OSG members (16/126, 12.7%), and having direct contact with a moderator (4/126, 3.2%). Respondents within the Yes-SG group indicated a high level of trust (average level of trust 73.4/100 points) in advice provided by a health professional. Interestingly, trust in information provided by a trained peer facilitator with the same condition was equally high (71.7/100 points).







Figure 3. Preferences on service distribution for Yes-support group.



Qualitative Results

Thematic analysis of the qualitative responses identified 5 key themes related to barriers and enablers to OSG use: (1) ease of access, (2) enjoyment of experience, (3) information quality, (4) time, and (5) motivation. An overview of themes and subthemes is provided in Multimedia Appendix 4. Respondents are distinguished by numbers where quotes are used.

Theme 1: Ease of Access

Analysis identified that *ease of access* was a key concern for respondents when considering using an OSG for OA. Some respondents noted various technological factors that would help them access the OSG. These factors included making sure that the OSG was accessible to people of all abilities. Respondents identified accessibility features such as larger fonts, subtitles,

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987
```

RenderX

clear sound and visuals, voice-activated programs, and the ability to save and print content. Many respondents emphasized a preference for an intuitive design, including making the OSG easy to use with minimal passwords, clear step-by-step instructions, technical support, and compatibility across browsers. For example, there were suggestions for *a well-structured webpage that is easy to search* (Participant 1) and *an OSG that is quick and easy to use* (Participant 2). Respondents also said it would be helpful if the OSG could be accessed across different devices, such as computers, laptops, and mobile phones. Variable internet availability and reliability as well as variable levels of digital skills were also frequently mentioned as important access considerations for OSGs.

Theme 2: Enjoyment of Experience

The *enjoyment of experience* of participating in an OSG was also identified as an important theme for respondents. Physical comfort (eg, pain, fatigue, and poor concentration ability) and personality/mood were raised as concerns by some respondents because of the potential effect of these factors on their ability to interact with an OSG. Respondents mentioned the need to encourage empathy and positivity among members of an OSG for OA and to avoid negativity and pessimism. For example, Participant 4 said:

[OSGs] can be very supportive but sometimes they seem to attract people who have had negative experiences with treatment, health professionals, etc. So, you need to be careful of some comments and information. [Participant 4]

The impersonal nature of online contact was mentioned by many respondents, and having access to personalized features within the OSG, such as familiar people, face-to-face opportunities, and a contactable person for phone and/or online support, was requested. For example, Participant 5 said:

[The OSG] loses the personal touch. Like talking to a computer!! You wouldn't know if your problem is being addressed or if it's generalized. [Participant 5]

Theme 3: Quality of Information

Quality of information is considered an important aspect of an OSG. Respondents discussed that the content of an OSG should include relevant, novel, and dynamic information on a range of different topics that are tailored to the individual needs. For example, Participant 6 said:

Maybe specific weekly topics and activities—that would keep me more motivated. [Participant 6]

In addition, respondents said that it was essential that the information provided in the OSG is trustworthy and facilitators are qualified. Participant 7 stated:

[I] would not like the sessions [within the OSG] to be just chat sessions. I believe they should be chaired by a medical specialist in the OA field. [Participant 7]

Overall, respondents highlighted that information should be trustworthy and distributed in a clear and concise language that avoids jargon.

Theme 4: Time

The concept of *time* was mentioned by most respondents. Some respondents made assumptions that OSGs are held at set times, and in this case, they expressed concerns about the need for planning and organizing. For example, Participant 8 mentioned:

[I would prefer] a specific day and time allocated on a fortnightly or monthly basis. [Participant 8]

Similarly, flexibility with regard to the amount of time to engage and the time of day seemed important to respondents. The ability to return to information at a later time or print was also suggested: *Just being able to access at any time the information.* [Participant 9]

Most respondents highlighted that having limited time available per day might act as a barrier to their engagement with an OSG.

Theme 5: Motivation

Respondents reported different views on *motivation*. Some respondents reported that they were highly motivated to try an OSG:

I am in full support of this venture, especially as I live in a regional town with minimal services and access to information comes mainly from the Internet. [Participant 10]

Some reported they might require more motivation before becoming involved in an OSG:

I'm a bit skeptical, but would give it a try. [Participant 11]

Others reported they lack motivation:

I don't really like online anything. [Participant 12]

Respondents suggested that reminders and notifications via SMS and/or email may facilitate engagement. Also, knowledge of the potential benefits of OSGs could help motivate patients to be involved.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study used a mixed method design to explore health careand health information-seeking behavior, digital literacy, preferences, and barriers for the design of SGs for people living with OA. Of the 415 survey participants, 307 (74.0%) were either currently using or wishing to join an SG, and the majority identified online as their preferred mode of delivery rather than via email, phone, or face-to-face. For those who were currently part of an SG, the 2 main methods of delivery were in person and Web-based (eg, social media). Most participants reported that they were currently using the internet on a range of devices to access health information. The majority felt that they would benefit from the participation in an SG and indicated trustworthy and qualified health professionals and peer leaders as preferred facilitators of SGs. Furthermore, up-to-date quality information (eg, new treatments, latest research results, and pain management advice) in lay language was deemed important. Qualitative analysis revealed a lack of time and motivation as the main barriers for OSG participation. Although from a small number of respondents, the reported reasons for leaving an SG sustain these qualitative findings. Respondents suggest that factors including information about benefits and reminders could facilitate engagement. The main enablers were related to accessibility, enjoyment of the experience, and quality (novel and trustworthy) of the information.

Strengths and Limitations

Strengths and limitations of this study need to be considered. Strengths included the size of the respondent group (well powered to provide generalizable data) and the high response rate after distribution of the survey. However, it is important to

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987
```

note the limitations to the generalizability of this study that are highly contextual. As participants represent a sample of convenience, the results may not represent the views of all people with hip, knee, or back OA. Results may also not be applicable across countries, particularly, where cultural and social conditions differ considerably from the Australian context. As recruitment was undertaken via an institutional patient database, there is also the possibility that our cohort is more comfortable with, and capable of engaging with, technology. In addition, respondents were also likely to be active seekers of health information, have English language competency, and have higher health literacy. As such, participants may not represent vulnerable groups, including people who need additional support for such health engagement and those with culturally and linguistically diverse background. A limitation of the survey is that it may not reflect all types of (online) health information resources. As such, the results should be interpreted relative to the conducted survey. This study had a high representation of people who are either currently using or interested in joining an SG (Yes-SG) and may underrepresent people who do not use SGs. Furthermore, it is possible that respondents who were not currently part of an SG (part of the No-SG group) were still interested in joining another SG, but this information was not collected. The authors acknowledge potential differences in health careand health information-seeking behavior, digital literacy, and preferences within the Yes-SG group, for example, differences between people who are currently using and those who are interested in joining an SG. Although the majority of the Yes-SG group comprised people interested in joining an SG (259/307, 84.4%), further research is required to understand if there are differences in preferences (eg, specialist website, social media, or in person) between people who are willing to use OA SGs and those who are already in such groups. The quantitative analysis examined differences between Yes-SG and No-SG for survey questions regarding SGs including OSGs, whereas the qualitative analysis included data of all respondents but only related to OSG questions. This needs to be considered when interpreting the results. Data used for the qualitative analysis of this study were obtained through 3 open-ended survey questions. This approach potentially limits the ability to conduct an in-depth exploration of individuals' attitudes and beliefs regarding OSGs, which may be possible with interviews. However, it does enable anonymous responses, which may be advantageous by reducing the risk of a Hawthorn effect bias.

Comparison With Previous Studies

Previous research reports that people with higher income and education levels [29,30], those living with a chronic health condition [10], and those who are more proactive in seeking health information [31] are more likely to engage in OSGs. Similarly, our survey respondents were relatively well educated; however, they also were confident using technology to seek health information, and the majority of the Yes-SG group preferred OSGs. Respondents also emphasized that it would be helpful if the OSG could be accessed across different devices (computers, laptops, and mobile phones) or as an app. However, the qualitative analysis revealed that respondents had variable levels of digital skills and indicated a preference for intuitive,

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987
```

simple designs with clear step-by-step instructions including technical support. This finding is in line with recommendations from previous studies that state OSGs should aim to employ simple navigation design, visually appealing sites, compatibility across multiple devices, and accessible and printable content to ensure people with all levels of computer experience can participate [32,33].

Respondents in our study rated advice on pain management, new treatment options, and provision of research results in a consumer-friendly language as extremely important when they were asked to rate different types of information that could be available via SGs. Similarly, the qualitative analysis revealed the importance of having access to relevant, novel information on a range of topics tailored to individuals in an OSG. Dynamic information is preferred in clear and concise language that avoids jargon. Previous research has indicated that accurate and up-to-date information can promote active participation, allow people to make informed choices [34], and give them greater control over their own health care decisions [35,36]. Therefore, we recommend future OSGs integrate up-to-date relevant information that is simple to follow. This is potentially implementable through the use of subject headings, keywords, or moderator-driven explanations of complex topics.

The majority of respondents who were currently using or interested in joining SGs reported that they were likely to trust advice from either a health professional or a trained peer facilitator. However, qualitative analysis highlighted that some respondents felt the opposite. Specifically, respondents stressed the importance of attaining trustworthy information from online facilitators in OSGs. Previous research examining enablers and barriers to using SGs in patients with arthritis, breast cancer, or fibromyalgia found that older participants (compared with younger ones) did not favor OSGs because of a lack of trust in the internet [37]. Our participants were all aged >45 years and might have held similar perceptions regarding distrust of information from the internet. Trust in the OSGs might be facilitated by several strategies, such as embedding the group within trusted host sites (eg, consumer advocate organizations), use of a health professional or trained peer moderator or maintaining a minimum number of group membership to permit diversity of opinion. It is currently unknown whether a strategy is more effective than another at increasing consumer trust.

Conclusions

From this study, we suggest that the use of SGs could be facilitated by the inclusion of digital options such as email, social media, and health websites to enhance engagement. Our findings also suggest that efforts need to be made to ensure the online platform is intuitive and accessible. Information to help people make decisions about which treatments to seek are desired by users of OSG. Other important features of an OSG for hip/knee OA or back pain include having an expert health professional or trained peer facilitator to moderate the OSG, providing information that is free of jargon, and incorporating reminders to facilitate engagement. Members also need to feel confident about the security of their personal information, the trustworthiness of the information and advice, and the credibility of the experts providing input to the group. Finally, a moderator

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

or facilitator's role should include efforts to maintain interest, so the membership continues to be motivated to engage.

Acknowledgments

Funding for this study was provided by a Program Grant (APP1091302) and a Centre of Research Excellence Grant (APP1079078) from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) of Australia. DJH, KB, and PWH (APP1102905) are supported by fellowships from the NHMRC.

Conflicts of Interest

DJH provides consulting advice to Merck Serono, TLCBio, Pfizer, and Lilly.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Checklist for Reporting Result of Internet E-surveys (CHERRIES). [DOCX File , 17 KB - jmir_v21i12e15987_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Survey questions. [DOCX File , 19 KB - jmir v21i12e15987 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Table S1. Digital literacy characteristics of survey respondents. [DOCX File , 15 KB - jmir_v21i12e15987_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Table S2. Themes and subthemes derived from the qualitative analysis. [DOCX File , 14 KB - jmir_v21i12e15987_app4.docx]

References

- Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, Nolte S, Ackerman I, Fransen M, et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. Ann Rheum Dis 2014 Jul;73(7):1323-1330. [doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204763] [Medline: 24553908]
- Ackerman I, Bohensky M, Pratt C, Gorelik A, Liew D. Arthritis Australia. 2016. Counting the Costs: The Current and Future Burden of Arthritis URL: <u>https://arthritisaustralia.com.au/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/</u> <u>Final-Counting_SUMMARY_MAY2016_160527.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-25]
- 3. Hunter DJ, Schofield D, Callander E. The individual and socioeconomic impact of osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2014 Jul;10(7):437-441. [doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2014.44] [Medline: 24662640]
- Mills SL, Brady TJ, Jayanthan J, Ziabakhsh S, Sargious PM. Toward consensus on self-management support: the international chronic condition self-management support framework. Health Promot Int 2017 Dec 1;32(6):942-952 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/daw030] [Medline: 27242377]
- 5. NICE Clinical Guidelines. London, UK: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2014. Osteoarthritis: Care and Management in Adults URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK248069/</u> [accessed 2019-10-25]
- 6. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. 2018. Guideline for the Management of Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis URL: <u>https://www.racgp.org.au/FSDEDEV/media/documents/Clinical%20Resources/Guidelines/Joint%20replacement/</u> Guideline-for-the-management-of-knee-and-hip-OA-2nd-edition.pdf [accessed 2019-10-25]
- Ethgen O, Vanparijs P, Delhalle S, Rosant S, Bruyère O, Reginster JY. Social support and health-related quality of life in hip and knee osteoarthritis. Qual Life Res 2004 Mar;13(2):321-330. [doi: <u>10.1023/B:QURE.0000018492.40262.d1</u>] [Medline: <u>15085904</u>]
- Evers AW, Kraaimaat FW, Geenen R, Jacobs JW, Bijlsma JW. Pain coping and social support as predictors of long-term functional disability and pain in early rheumatoid arthritis. Behav Res Ther 2003 Nov;41(11):1295-1310. [doi: 10.1016/s0005-7967(03)00036-6] [Medline: 14527529]
- 9. Ferreira VM, Sherman AM. The relationship of optimism, pain and social support to well-being in older adults with osteoarthritis. Aging Ment Health 2007 Jan;11(1):89-98. [doi: 10.1080/13607860600736166] [Medline: 17164163]
- Armstrong N, Powell J. Patient perspectives on health advice posted on Internet discussion boards: a qualitative study. Health Expect 2009 Sep;12(3):313-320 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00543.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19555377</u>]
- 11. Ridings CM, Gefen D. Virtual community attraction: why people hang out online. J Comput Mediat Commun 2014;10(1):-[FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2004.tb00229.x]

- 12. Xing W, Goggins S, Introne J. Quantifying the effect of informational support on membership retention in online communities through large-scale data analytics. Comput Human Behav 2018;86:227-234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.04.042]
- 13. Ryan C. Census. 2016. Computer and Internet Use in the United States: 2016 URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/content/dam/</u> <u>Census/library/publications/2018/acs/ACS-39.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-25]
- 14. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2018. Household Use of Information Technology, Australia, 2016-17 URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/8146.0</u> [accessed 2019-10-25]
- Merolli M, Gray K, Martin-Sanchez F. Health outcomes and related effects of using social media in chronic disease management: a literature review and analysis of affordances. J Biomed Inform 2013 Dec;46(6):957-969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2013.04.010] [Medline: 23702104]
- Eysenbach G, Powell J, Englesakis M, Rizo C, Stern A. Health related virtual communities and electronic support groups: systematic review of the effects of online peer to peer interactions. Br Med J 2004 May 15;328(7449):1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7449.1166] [Medline: 15142921]
- 17. Barak A, Boniel-Nissim M, Suler J. Fostering empowerment in online support groups. Comput Human Behav 2008;24(5):1867-1883. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2008.02.004</u>]
- Carron-Arthur B, Ali K, Cunningham JA, Griffiths KM. From help-seekers to influential users: a systematic review of participation styles in online health communities. J Med Internet Res 2015 Dec 1;17(12):e271 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4705] [Medline: 26627369]
- van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CH, Taal E, Seydel ER, van de Laar MA. Self-reported differences in empowerment between lurkers and posters in online patient support groups. J Med Internet Res 2008 Jun 30;10(2):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.992] [Medline: 18653442]
- 20. Griffiths KM, Calear AL, Banfield M. Systematic review on Internet Support Groups (ISGs) and depression (1): Do ISGs reduce depressive symptoms? J Med Internet Res 2009 Sep 30;11(3):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1270] [Medline: 19793719]
- 21. Laranjo L, Arguel A, Neves AL, Gallagher AM, Kaplan R, Mortimer N, et al. The influence of social networking sites on health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Jan;22(1):243-256 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002841] [Medline: 25005606]
- 22. Wildevuur SE, Simonse LW. Information and communication technology-enabled person-centered care for the 'big five' chronic conditions: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Mar 27;17(3):e77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3687] [Medline: 25831199]
- 23. van Eenbergen MC, van de Poll-Franse LV, Heine P, Mols F. The impact of participation in online cancer communities on patient reported outcomes: systematic review. JMIR Cancer 2017 Sep 28;3(2):e15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/cancer.7312] [Medline: 28958985]
- 24. Willis EA, Szabo-Reed AN, Ptomey LT, Steger FL, Honas JJ, Washburn RA, et al. Do weight management interventions delivered by online social networks effectively improve body weight, body composition, and chronic disease risk factors? A systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Feb;23(2):263-272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16630846] [Medline: 26880695]
- 25. Altman R, Asch E, Bloch D, Bole G, Borenstein D, Brandt K, et al. Development of criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis. Classification of osteoarthritis of the knee. Diagnostic and Therapeutic Criteria Committee of the American Rheumatism Association. Arthritis Rheum 1986 Aug;29(8):1039-1049. [doi: 10.1002/art.1780290816] [Medline: 3741515]
- 26. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2018. Osteoarthritis URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/</u> <u>chronic-musculoskeletal-conditions/osteoarthritis/contents/what-is-osteoarthritis</u> [accessed 2019-10-25]
- 27. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 29. Im E, Chee W, Liu Y, Lim HJ, Guevara E, Tsai H, et al. Characteristics of cancer patients in internet cancer support groups. Comput Inform Nurs 2007;25(6):334-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/01.NCN.0000299655.21401.9d] [Medline: 18000430]
- 30. Owen JE, Boxley L, Goldstein MS, Lee JH, Breen N, Rowland JH. Use of health-related online support groups: population data from the California health interview survey complementary and alternative medicine study. J Comput Mediat Commun 2010 Apr 14;15(3):427-446. [doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2010.01501.x]
- 31. Dutta MJ, Feng H. Health orientation and disease state as predictors of online health support group use. Health Commun 2007;22(2):181-189. [doi: 10.1080/10410230701310323] [Medline: 17668997]
- 32. Ammerlaan J, van Os-Medendorp H, Scholtus L, de Vos A, Zwier M, Bijlsma H, et al. Feasibility of an online and a face-to-face version of a self-management program for young adults with a rheumatic disease: experiences of young adults and peer leaders. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2014 Mar 25;12:10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1546-0096-12-10] [Medline: 24666817]

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987

- Smarr KL, Musser DR, Shigaki CL, Johnson R, Hanson KD, Siva C. Online self-management in rheumatoid arthritis: a patient-centered model application. Telemed J E Health 2011 Mar;17(2):104-110. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2010.0116</u>] [Medline: <u>21361817</u>]
- 34. Chou L, Ellis L, Seneviwickrama K, Cicuttini F, Lasserre K, Teichtahl A, et al. Systematic review of consumers' perceived needs of osteoarthritis health information. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2016 Apr;24:S237 [FREE Full text]
- Brand CA, Ackerman IN, Bohensky MA, Bennell KL. Chronic disease management: a review of current performance across quality of care domains and opportunities for improving osteoarthritis care. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2013 Feb;39(1):123-143. [doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2012.10.005] [Medline: 23312413]
- 36. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. 2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century URL: <u>http://www.nationalacademies.org/hmd/~/media/Files/Report% 20Files/2001/</u> Crossing-the-Quality-Chasm/Quality% 20Chasm% 202001% 20% 20report% 20brief.pdf [accessed 2019-10-25]
- van Uden-Kraan CF, Drossaert CH, Taal E, Smit WM, Bernelot Moens HJ, van de Laar MA. Determinants of engagement in face-to-face and online patient support groups. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 7;13(4):e106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1718] [Medline: 22155649]

Abbreviations

CCSMS: Chronic Condition Self-Management Support HREC: Human Research Ethics Committee NHMRC: National Health and Medical Research Council OA: osteoarthritis OSG: online support group REDCap: Research Electronic Data Capture SG: support group

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 24.08.19; peer-reviewed by N Coulson, E Sadeghi-Demneh; comments to author 25.09.19; revised version received 15.10.19; accepted 20.10.19; published 03.12.19.

Please cite as:

Plinsinga ML, Besomi M, Maclachlan L, Melo L, Robbins S, Lawford BJ, Teo PL, Mills K, Setchell J, Egerton T, Eyles J, Hall L, Mellor R, Hunter DJ, Hodges P, Vicenzino B, Bennell K Exploring the Characteristics and Preferences for Online Support Groups: Mixed Method Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15987 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15987 doi:10.2196/15987 PMID:31793893

©Melanie Louise Plinsinga, Manuela Besomi, Liam Maclachlan, Luciano Melo, Sarah Robbins, Belinda J Lawford, Pek Ling Teo, Kathryn Mills, Jenny Setchell, Thorlene Egerton, Jillian Eyles, Leanne Hall, Rebecca Mellor, David J Hunter, Paul Hodges, Bill Vicenzino, Kim Bennell. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 03.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Investigating How Bowel Cancer Survivors Discuss Exercise and Physical Activity Within Web-Based Discussion Forums: Qualitative Analysis

Alicia Olsen^{1*}, BSc, MSc, PhD; Justin Keogh^{1,2,3,4*}, PhD; Sally Sargeant^{5*}, PhD

¹Faculty of Health Sciences and Medicine, Bond University, Robina, Australia

²Human Potential Centre, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand

³Cluster for Health Improvement, Faculty of Science, Health, Education and Engineering, University of the Sunshine Coast, Sunshine Coast, Australia ⁴Kasturba Medical College Mangalore, Manipal Academy of Higher Education, Manipal, India

⁵School of Health and Human Sciences, Southern Cross University, Bilinga, Australia

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Alicia Olsen, BSc, MSc, PhD Faculty of Health Sciences and Medicine Bond University University Drive Robina, 4226 Australia Phone: 61 0449821196 Email: <u>aolsen@bond.edu.au</u>

Abstract

Background: Online cancer support group discussions enable patients to share their illness experience with others. The sharing of technical and emotional support information and the ability to ask for advice are some of the primary discussions shared online. People with bowel cancer can also use these forums to support each other by sharing information based on personal experiences. This type of support provides newly diagnosed patients with advice about several topics, including exercise from those who have been there. Information gathered from online discussion boards may complement the advice received by health professionals.

Objective: This study aimed to explore the nature of information related to exercise and physical activity exchanged online for cancer survivors.

Methods: A public open access bowel cancer discussion board was searched for threads containing information related to physical activity or exercise. Keywords such as *exercise*, *physical activity*, *moving*, *walking*, *lifting*, *weights training*, and *resistance* were used to search for threads (online conversations) related to exercise or physical activity. Only threads initiated by bowel cancer patients or survivors were included. From more than 6000 posts, the inclusion criteria yielded 75 threads for analysis. Inductive thematic analysis was conducted across all included threads.

Results: Analysis yielded 3 main themes: *level of exercise competence, beneficial dimensions of exercise*, and *faith in the knowledge. Level of exercise competence* illustrated the varying definitions of exercise that members of the forum discussed in the forum. *Beneficial dimensions of exercise* revealed that forum members shared both the spiritual benefits associated with exercise as well as the physical benefits or goodness that they feel exercise or physical activity provides them. *Faith in the knowledge* of exercise demonstrated that forum members were aware of the general benefits of exercise but felt disappointed that it did not keep the cancer at bay. However, members also had faith that exercise would keep them healthy after diagnosis and treatment.

Conclusions: The analysis revealed that people with bowel cancer discuss exercise and physical activity online and that they view exercise as having a mostly positive influence on their cancer journey. However, personal definitions of exercise became a source of conflict within the group. People with bowel cancer seeking information about exercise may benefit from participating in online support groups as it appears that there are many similar others willing to share their personal experiences with exercise. In addition, health care professionals responsible for caring for people with bowel cancer may use these findings to discuss exercise with their patients while being mindful of how they may view exercise.

KEYWORDS

exercise; physical activity; cancer; qualitative research; patient portals; internet

Introduction

Background

Many patients with chronic disease increasingly utilize online health support groups, with the Pew Research Center reporting that 20% (N=2253) of internet users living with a chronic disease participated in some form of online discussion forum [1]. Specifically, people diagnosed with cancer use the internet to search for disease-related information, for supportive communication, for practical tips on daily living with cancer [2-4], to find out more about their disease as well as other general health issues [5], and to search for information regarding diagnosis and treatments [6].

The value of advice received from online cancer support group members appears to be different from the value of advice received from health care professionals. In some cases, the information sought in online cancer support discussion boards may complement the advice received from the health professionals [7]. However, the influences of other cancer patients' experiences discussed in online forums were found to be greater than the influences of advice given by doctors [8]. Such a view is consistent with the findings of Gill and Whisnat [9] who reported that people with ovarian cancer commonly used online forums to discuss whether the health information received from their health care professionals was honest and accurate. The members used online forums when their trust in the health care professional was low, such as in the case where the participant was not satisfied with the health care professional's suggestion to wait before initiating treatment. They also shared information about diet, activities related to daily life, and treatment side effects [9]. It is, therefore, suggested that online cancer forums provide a platform for people to discuss and advise each other on issues related specifically to their cancer, especially when they do not feel that they are getting the required information and support from their health care professionals.

Analyses of online discussion forums reported that forums served as an opportunity for members to communicate their experiences with similar others when they may have not been able to speak to others directly [10-12]. This included the ability to discuss intimate bodily symptoms [13]. Men with prostate cancer reported being able to discuss their uncomfortable and challenging experiences, such as urinary and bowel function and continence, with other members of the group [14].

Courneya and Friedenreich [15] noted that 40 out of 130 (31%) cancer survivors maintained and 21 out of 130 (16%) returned to physical activity following treatment completion. Furthermore, it was suggested that many have searched the internet and online groups for information about exercise specific to their form of cancer and treatment [16]. This implies that people with cancer are seeking exercise information, support, and advice from online cancer support groups.

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13929
```

XSL•F() RenderX However, relatively little research has examined how individuals with bowel cancer may interact and benefit from online communities, despite bowel cancer being the third most diagnosed cancer internationally [17]. Despite the frequency of its diagnosis and relatively high survival rates, bowel cancer commands considerably less public—and scholarly—attention in contrast to the other 2 leading cancers, breast and prostate cancers [18].

Objectives

Research advocates physical activity and exercise for people with bowel cancer [19-21], yet little is known about bowel cancer patients' experience with physical activity, which makes it challenging for health care professionals to provide effective physical activity counseling to this population. This study applies a qualitative analysis of messages exchanged online to explore how bowel cancer online forum members define exercise in addition to describing their previous experiences with exercise. The aim of this study was to provide insights from the bowel cancer patients' perspective that can allow health care professionals to better counsel and support their patients with respect to their exercise and physical activity needs.

Methods

Selection of Online Discussion Group

To illustrate the views of people with bowel cancer about exercise, a qualitative inductive thematic analysis (ITA) of online asynchronous archived discussions on a bowel cancer discussion board was conducted. A complete search of online bowel cancer discussion groups was conducted using the Google search engine using the keywords *bowel cancer*, *online forum*, and *online support group*. The forum chosen for analysis is one of the largest online cancer forums [22] and is available internationally. International availability meant a greater potential of reaching a wider demographic. Another reason for choosing this forum was that it clearly specifies that any information posted on the discussion boards is open to public view.

An asynchronous discussion board was chosen because this type of communication enables individuals to connect with other members at a time and place convenient to them [23]. In addition, posting on an asynchronous discussion board allows all members to potentially read and respond to a message thread, even though it may have been originally posted many days or weeks previously. Furthermore, participants may search message threads using keywords to locate and read information relevant to their current information needs, with these individuals being the primary users of discussion boards [24].

The discussion boards are open to people currently being treated for bowel cancer; survivors of bowel cancer; and caregivers, significant others, and other family members of people with cancer. The research question sought to answer how people

with bowel cancer discuss exercise; therefore, threads initiated by patients and survivors of bowel cancer only were included in the analyses. Threads that did not explicitly include information about the initial post's connection to bowel cancer were not included in the analysis. Inclusion criteria required that forum posts (1) must be initiated explicitly by a person currently or formally diagnosed as having bowel cancer and (2) must include a discussion related to physical activity or exercise.

Ethical Considerations

This research was approved by the lead university's ethics committee.

Traditional research ethics dictate that researchers must take the necessary precautions to ensure the privacy and confidentiality of data as well as collection of informed consent of all participants [25]. It is argued that information posted in a public discussion group is a public act and, therefore, is available for public consumption, which requires no more than the usual precautions [26]. Eysenbach and Wyatt [27] report that a *passive analysis* of online data collection does not mandate informed consent. A *passive analysis* occurs when the researcher strictly observes the interaction and communication of a public online space. This research did not actively engage with members of the online community, meaning that the processes involved in the study could be classified as a *passive analysis* of the data.

Data Collection

At the time of data collection, the discussion board consisted of 280,356 posts. Keywords such as *exercise*, *physical activity*, *moving*, *walking*, *lifting*, *weightstraining*, and *resistance* were used to search for threads related to exercise or physical activity. Threads identified were then opened, and the posts were read. *Search by Keyword* identified keyword search terms within posts. *Search by Title* identified keyword search terms in the title of the threads.

Each thread contained its own unique title named by the member who initiated the thread. This title was used as an indicator by other members to identify the contents of the thread. Each thread was briefly read online to establish that it met the inclusion criteria. Once all threads had been reviewed, they were organized chronologically based on the date of the initial post of the thread. The lead researcher (AO) read through all threads and posts several times to familiarize herself with the general context of the posts, the online community, and the interactions within the online community. Threads were dated from March 4, 2003, with the earliest thread related to physical activity or exercise, to July 11, 2014, when data collection ceased. Date restrictions on threads were not warranted because knowledge of the benefits was available as of 1999 when Courneya [28] published one of the first studies investigating the benefits of exercise for people diagnosed with cancers other than breast cancer.

Discussion threads initiated by significant others, caregivers, or others were excluded. A thorough search of the online discussion board yielded 139 threads, with 37 threads identified by a title search and an additional 102 threads by a keyword search.

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13929
```

RenderX

Data Analysis

An ITA was conducted following the recommendations of Braun and Clarke [29]. ITA is a systematic approach that identifies commonalities laterally across the dataset and assists with outlining an understanding of what those commonalities indicate.

Analytic Approach

Highlighting phrases and statements within the text referring to exercise and physical activity achieved the first step of analysis. Initial notes were then made from the phrases and statements. Initial notes from the data extracts were then grouped based on similarities into initial codes. The initial codes were then analyzed and grouped together to create provisional themes. Provisional themes were created from similar initial codes, opposing initial codes, and linearly across a theme to create levels of a particular theme.

Regular meetings were held between the lead author and coder and an experienced qualitative researcher (SS), where potential provisional themes were discussed based on the initial codes to ensure a thorough analysis of the extracts. The lead coder also completed self-reflections to identify possible biases and address personal thoughts and actions during the analytical process. Following the recommendations of Braun and Clarke [29], the provisional themes were then checked to ensure that they were representative of the dataset and the general narrative of the analysis. Initial notes and initial codes were developed across 96 threads with 331 unique contributors, where data saturation was deemed to have occurred as reading further posts did not yield any new significant themes [30].

Results

A total of 3 themes, *level of exercise competence, beneficial dimensions of exercise*, and *faith in the knowledge of the benefits of exercise* were identified within the online forum that illustrated the role and presence of exercise for people with bowel cancer.

Theme 1: Level of Exercise Competence

Level of exercise competence indicated that members of the forum held different ideas of what defined exercise, what exercise provided a health benefit, and what was an appropriate amount of exercise. One post in the forum said:

People can have work that requires difficult physical labor for decades and still have their health deteriorate as they age, because they haven't been doing the right kinds of exercise. I watched my mother's health go in two years, despite her active life and very healthy eating habits—she gardened and did yard work, and walked, but she never ran, or cycled, or swam. [Participant 80]

This member believed that there were the *right kinds* of exercise such as running, cycling, or swimming that preserved health, when in fact gardening, yard work, and walking can improve health outcomes [31,32]. Some members had a jaded view on what type of physical activity could help recovery and held the belief that because it was not the *right kinds* of exercise, there

would be no benefits. This belief encouraged feelings of helplessness of other members because it pushed the view that running, cycling, or swimming were the only beneficial forms of exercise and physical activity for people with bowel cancer.

The description of what does, or does not, constitute as exercise was commonly discussed among members of the group. One forum member wrote:

I am trying to find "the perfect" diet and exercise plan so I can help my body beat this and recover. [Participant 141]

This suggested that this participant was feeling stressed with the idea of constructing *the perfect* survivorship plan, a feeling intensified by posts that discussed the right kinds of exercise. This pressure may have discouraged this participant from beginning any activity because the plan might have been viewed by others as suboptimal or even flawed because it did not meet the other's standards of what constituted appropriate exercise.

This view of what constituted appropriate exercise was not held consistently across the group. For example, one member wrote:

I try to swim and do exercises 5 times a week, can't run or anything else but it all helps. [Participant 269]

This member indicated that they participated in some form of structured exercise but also believed that any little bit counted even if participation in other forms of structured exercise was limited. Another member wrote:

We try to have Friday night date night at a local restaurant and we walked there. Hey, it's something! [Participant 105]

This member accepted that although there was no engagement in any vigorous form of exercise or physical activity, something was achieved, which was felt to be better than nothing.

Theme 2: Beneficial Dimensions of Exercise

This theme illustrated that bowel cancer patients discussed exercise as having many benefits. One member wrote:

Another thing that is SO emphasized by every doctor I've seen or any medical article I've read is exercise. I'm not as good about it as I should be, but when I do walk on a regular basis, I feel better, both physically and mentally. [Participant 105]

This member demonstrates to other members of the forum how exercise, specifically regular walking, has provided them with benefits. To corroborate the benefits of exercise they experience, they have included hearing about the benefits of exercise from additional sources, namely, doctors and medical articles. Another member wrote:

I too am and was a fitness freak (running/walking/weights/yoga daily) and almost went insane after my surgery not being able to do as much...but, I am now back to almost my normal routine and it makes a HUGE difference in how I am feeling both mentally and physically. [Participant 13]

This member illustrated to the group how being fit and engaging in various fitness activities has provided them with general

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13929

mental and physical benefits. Furthermore, this member highlights the magnitude of these benefits.

One subtheme, called spiritual benefits of exercise, was expressed by using phrases that illustrated a heightened sense of unworldliness. In their own way, bowel cancer survivors were embracing the spirituality and peace that exercise offered them and shared these experiences with other members of the group. For example, one member stated:

The walking will calm the universe. [Participant 255]

Members of the forum also discussed that physical activity has the ability to provide inner strength and tranquility. For example, 1 contributor wrote:

I always moved as much as I could, and the pleasant fatigue and peace that I gained from the daily exercise helped me sleep and feel good about my day. [Participant 76]

This member illustrates how exercise provided serenity that translated into changing their daily mood. This commentary highlights the psychological importance of exercise and physical activity.

Another subtheme, physical benefits of exercise, indicated the benefits exercise had on technical aspects of cancer and was expressed by this member who said:

We also exercise most every day and participate in yoga several times a week. I really believe that all this has helped me manage side effects, reduce tiredness, rebound to feeling "normal" again, etc. [Participant 208]

This member shared with others that exercise was helping with cancer treatments. The owner of the post expressed the value exercise had for them during their treatment because it was helping to decrease the feelings of fatigue and allowing feelings of normalcy. Here, this member was having a better response to the disease and the treatments because of exercise. Other members shared the exercise benefits they received in a more general sense:

I was encouraged to walk a lot after the surgery, and I did—I think this helped my recovery. [Participant 22]

This post demonstrated that forum members had positive experiences with exercise in relation to bowel cancer and were sharing these experiences with other members of the group.

The final subtheme, medical benefits, illustrated that some members of the forum talked about exercise as a form of complementary medicine or the medical benefits and acknowledged that:

While it may feel that your wife is ratting on you, I think that she is aware that walking is the best medicine for you. I imagine your surgeon told you that too. [Participant 144]

Here, this member related exercise to a form of medicine or treatment for bowel cancer. A different member shared the same view and wrote:

I view my exercise and my diet and meditation as an extension of my treatment. [Participant 255]

Members posted about exercise in medical terms by using words such as *medicine*, *treatment*, *holistic*, and *vital*. The members were using these terms to describe the value exercise had during and following treatment. The use of the medical terms suggested that these members value exercise and physical activity as therapeutically important to their recovery and had adopted a more active lifestyle as part of their medical treatment in the same way as one undergoes chemotherapy or radiotherapy as a form of therapy.

One member of the forum illustrated how they viewed exercise as a part of their medical journey. This member stated:

It may be hard to believe when you're lying in pain but the walking and other exercise are so good (not to mention vital) to your recovery. [Participant 144]

This member states the indispensable importance of exercise in recovery and survivorship. This member explains that being physically active is the best thing one can do. From the analysis of the threads, it is uncertain whether or not members of the forum discussed exercise in medical terms because of the influence of the interaction they had with their health care professional. However, as some members of the forum were encouraged to participate in physical activities by their health care professional, it is possible that when they shared this information with the forum, they adopted terminology used by their health care professional. This may have resulted in other members relaying that advice to others.

Theme 3: Faith in the Knowledge of the Benefits of Exercise

This theme describes some members' disappointment in their belief that exercise would have kept them cancer free, but at the same time, speaks about the faith they have in the ability of exercise to help the recovery process. A member felt particularly let down and voiced skepticism about published research based on their experiences. This member writes:

Thank you for an interesting item, I have to admit I look at these studies with a jaded eye now. I was exercising (brisk walking or swimming, strength training and yoga) regularly for years (20 or more) and eating my nine servings of veggies/fruit per day. My co-workers would make fun of me. I ate very little red meat (Once a month or less). Yet I still came done with stage 4 rectal CA. [Participant 48]

This member expressed feelings of defeat, which may have had negative implications for whether this person would continue to have an active lifestyle after treatment and may have influenced any future discussions about activities with either other members or health care professionals. This member had negative feelings toward exercise. Some other members of the forum expressed similar sentiments. Other members wrote:

I too was very active, walking 5 miles each morning, eating healthy—all the things I thought would keep me healthy—luck of the draw I guess. [Participant 7]

A different forum member wrote:

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13929
```

It's funny though, you take care of yourself, try and eat right most of your life, work out physically and cardio, maintain your weight throughout your life and blamn, 2006 cancer and 2010 could be looking at a pace maker in my retirement years. Then you have people that are overweight, obese, don't watch what they eat, don't exercise, smoke, drink etc., and blamn, never a health issue. Scratch head and go figure :) :) :) LOL!!!!!!!! [Participant 83]

However, other members of the forum did not appear to adopt these negative feelings about why being physically active had not prevented them from being diagnosed with bowel cancer. Some members of the forum shared that they too exercised before diagnosis, but they did not blame exercise for not keeping them cancer free. One member wrote:

I have exercised most of my life before (not much during) and after cancer. Even if it didn't help stop the beast, which I do believe it does, I would still do it. [Participant 103]

This member chose to have a positive outlook and had accepted that sometimes bad things happen, but this did not change their attitude about exercise. Another member wrote:

My doctor told me there would be a 95% chance that the cancer would return. I asked him what I could do to prevent reoccurrence. He told me exercise. That was no problem for me as I have always exercised. [Participant 239]

This member appeared to have taken things as a matter of fact. It would seem that diagnosis had been accepted, treatment had been completed and now this member was working on surviving. According to their doctor, exercise was the way to survive. This member may not know that exercise had been reported to reduce the risk of bowel cancer and, therefore, did not express feelings of defeat, or this member did know, but had chosen to move forward in survivorship without dwelling on what had already happened regarding the cancer diagnosis.

Discussion

Principal Findings

An ITA of an online asynchronous bowel cancer discussion board identified several ways in which exercise and physical activity are present in the lives of people diagnosed with bowel cancer. Furthermore, this analysis identified ways in which they viewed exercise and physical activity and how they communicated their views on this topic with each other.

Limitations

Some limitations of this study exist, with the first being that the keywords related to other forms of exercise including tai chi, yoga, or Pilates were not explicitly searched. However, the search terms that were used did identify threads in which physical activities including yoga, tai chi, and Pilates were discussed among the forum members. Furthermore, the evidence surrounding the benefits of activities such as yoga for people with bowel cancer is mostly inconclusive. A randomized control trial reported that yoga did not have a significant effect on the

quality of life of people with bowel cancer [33]. The second limitation is the potential cultural difference between those on the online forum. It has been reported that Puerto Rican breast cancer survivors preferred to not use the internet for seeking information on physical activity [16]. Similarly, African Americans and Latinos aged 50 years and above were more likely to search the internet for bowel cancer information compared with whites aged 50 years and above who utilized the internet to search for general health information [34]. Third, not all bowel cancer discussion forums will serve the same purpose. An evaluation of a different online bowel support community reported that threads were initiated by asking questions as a way to initiate conversations [11]. Although this was similar to the online support community analyzed here, there were several posts wherein members would introduce themselves to the group along with information about who they were, what their diagnosis was, and any therapies they were currently using or thinking about using. Therefore, the themes discussed in this research may only be applicable to this online support community. Although a limitation, these themes are apparent in the threads and speak about the ways some bowel cancer patients discussed exercise and physical activity among themselves in the online medium. They can, therefore, still inform health care professionals about the way exercise is discussed among some bowel cancer patients and can help inform future physical activity counseling practices and survivorship guidelines.

Turner et al [10] reported that members who spent more time reading posts on online communities had limited traditional face-to-face partner support. It could be speculated that more time spent reading would coincide with more posts. However, this was not the case, with Turner et al [10] finding no significant interaction between depth of face-to-face support or depth of online support and posting frequency. The nature of this analysis was to review discussions of exercise and/or physical activity; therefore, particularly passionate members of the group may have increased the likelihood of introducing user frequency bias simply by being more communicative than other members about the topic. This, however, speaks about the passion some bowel cancer survivors have in relation to exercise and physical activity and the important role exercise played in their survivorship plan.

Comparison With Previous Work

This analysis indicated that exercise and physical activity had many different meanings to members of this forum. This was identified by the *level of exercise competence* theme. While discussing exercise, which had no clear and uniform meaning across all forum members but quite narrow definitions for some individuals, the lack of nonverbal cues and tone of voice within the online environment meant that there were numerous instances of negative emotions and animosity between members of the forum. The scope of what exercise is and is not to individuals with bowel cancer was an important finding of this research. First, because it clarified for researchers that more research remains to be done to further educate bowel cancer patients on what constitutes exercise and physical activity. Furthermore, the difference in understanding the definition appears to influence their exercise and physical activity habits,

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13929
```

which may have implications on how health care professionals gather information from and educate their patients during discussions related to cancer survivorship. As lack of time was indicated as the primary barrier to discussing exercise with cancer patients [35], developing an efficient way to gain a mutual understanding of the definition of exercise with each patient may be important to the efficiency of care.

The varied opinions of the members on what activities were considered exercise had implications for whether or not other members engaged in physical activity or contemplated engaging. Understanding that all forms of physical activity no matter how brief or low intensity are likely to have some benefits for insufficiently active cancer survivors and that some activity is better than none would encourage the discouraged to participate at some level. This has the potential to lead to greater health benefits from future involvement in longer-duration and/or higher-intensity physical activities. However, it should also be noted that there is the potential for harm in sourcing exercise advice and information from peers or those not trained in prescribing exercise. For example, it is possible that underactive or deconditioned members of the online forum may be at risk of a musculoskeletal or cardiovascular event if they begin exercise programs beyond their capabilities. At present, the negative outcomes of peer advice on exercise have not been explored; therefore, it is not possible to draw any definitive conclusions on the relative potential of benefit versus harm from seeking peer or online advice.

Exercise provided different benefits to those who chose to participate in exercise, and this information was shared among the members of the online forum. The beneficial dimensions of exercise theme identified that members of the forum categorized these benefits as spiritual, physical, and medical benefits. Similarly, women diagnosed with gynecological cancer used exercise as part of their spiritual practice [36]. However, because of the quantitative nature of Lopez et al's study [36], the significance of exercise in relation to life meaning was not explored. From the analysis of the online forum data in this study, it can be speculated that exercise provided these bowel cancer patients with a feeling of purpose. Members of this forum discussed the ability of exercise to reconnect them with life and feelings of calmness experienced following exercise. People diagnosed with bowel cancer who participated in preoperative exercise reported that exercise gave them a sense of purpose and that this assisted with their ability to perform their usual activities [37]. Members of this online forum wrote about similar relationships in their posts to each other about the spiritual benefits of exercise.

The members of the forum also discussed the physical benefits of exercise. Similar findings have been reported elsewhere. For example, a qualitative inquiry into the exercise experiences and preferences of bowel cancer survivors, who completed a 12-week individualized exercise intervention, reported significant improvements in strength, aerobic fitness, and endurance [38]. The reported physical benefits of the 12-week exercise intervention were similar to the benefits members discussed in this online discussion forum. This is an expected finding based on the documented results, which suggested that exercise and physical activity have many positive physical

XSL•FO RenderX

benefits for people diagnosed with bowel cancer. The findings of this study, therefore, add to the existing evidence with respect to how the benefits obtained by people with bowel cancer may reflect how they define and view exercise as a part of their cancer survivorship.

One unique finding of this analysis was the language members of the forum used when discussing exercise in terms of medical benefits. The forum members used terms generally reserved for standard cancer care. It was referred to as an extension of treatment or different side of treatment and was understood by this online bowel cancer community as not universally accepted by the medical community as standard or usual care. This information adds to the understanding of the role of exercise in cancer care and survivorship from the patients' perspectives. It is possible that health care professionals hold similar views based on discussions the bowel cancer community had about the role of their health care professional in discussing exercise with them. However, more exploration is needed. The benefits of exercise reported by the patients in the online discussion forum were influenced to some extent by the patients' varied definitions of exercise, but unified by the variety of benefits experienced by physically active members of the forum.

This analysis recognized that exercise was an important component in the lives of many people diagnosed with bowel cancer. This was expressed within the third theme, faith in the knowledge of the benefits of exercise. Forum members shared their negative and positive experiences and feelings toward exercise with each other in the online discussion board. This theme explained that people diagnosed with bowel cancer have a complicated relationship with exercise, with several members expressing their anger toward the inability of physical activity and exercise to keep them disease free, whereas others shared their belief that exercise would help them in their recovery. Shaha and Cox [39] reported that people receiving a bowel cancer diagnosis experienced fear and anxiety, which led them to question their choices, goals, and attitudes toward life. This level of anxiety was similar to what was demonstrated in the third theme in this study because members of the forum questioned their attitudes and beliefs about the goal they had set for themselves to live a healthy life through exercise and physical activity. To them, bowel cancer challenged this goal by way of threatening their identity. However, these feelings were not uniform for all members. This other group of bowel cancer survivors chose not to question their beliefs about exercise and continue exercising through the illness experience. In this way, the role of exercise transformed from reducing disease risk to improving the illness experience. These members trusted exercise to help them move forward. Such divergence of patients' perceptions around the role of exercise and physical

activity in reducing the risk of developing bowel cancer and improving their life post cancer diagnosis further supports the importance of health care professionals understanding their patients' perceptions on exercise if they wish their patients to optimize their cancer survivorship.

To summarize, this study adds to the body of knowledge surrounding the ways in which bowel cancer patients discuss exercise and physical activity with their peers using a qualitative analysis of their discussions in an online forum. This study draws attention to the value bowel cancer patients place on exercise in their cancer journey as well as the way they are sharing that information with others. This study is novel in the examination of language in the online context in connection with bowel cancer patients' discussions of exercise and physical activity. The results of this study can be used to inform health care professionals about how their patients view exercise and physical activity and where they are sourcing information related to this topic. Furthermore, such information can augment behavior change interventions relative to exercise and bowel cancer.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the analysis of the public online asynchronous discussion board revealed that many members associated exercise with positive feelings and were aware of and enjoying the benefits of exercise in their recovery and survivorship. It was also apparent that other members were perturbed by the discussions and the meaning of exercise for them, with such discussions being perceived as negative and threatening.

The results also highlight some key features about the ways bowel cancer survivors and patients discuss exercise among themselves and the perceived role exercise has in recovery. For example, exercise played a large role in the recovery of many of the forum members. This was demonstrated in their posts about the many benefits they received from being physically active during their journey in addition to the faith they expressed in exercise helping them live better.

The themes identified within this analysis provide important insights into how people with bowel cancer experience exercise in relation to disease and the important role of exercise in survivorship. This information is important to clinical discussions about the role that exercise may play in bowel cancer survivorship and how the patients' perceptions and previously held beliefs may influence their future exercise and physical activity behavior. Such insight may also influence future exercise and physical activity intervention research in terms of communication styles and techniques of physical activity counseling.

Authors' Contributions

AO and SS contributed to the data analysis. AO, SS, and JK contributed to the writing and editing of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.



References

- 1. Fox S, Purcell K. Pew Research Center. 2010. Social Media and Health URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2010/03/24/</u> social-media-and-health/ [accessed 2019-01-03]
- Yli-Uotila T, Rantanen A, Suominen T. Online social support received by patients with cancer. Comput Inform Nurs 2014 Mar;32(3):118-26; quiz 127. [doi: <u>10.1097/CIN.00000000000028</u>] [Medline: <u>24335490</u>]
- 3. Meier A, Lyons EJ, Frydman G, Forlenza M, Rimer BK. How cancer survivors provide support on cancer-related internet mailing lists. J Med Internet Res 2007 May 14;9(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.2.e12] [Medline: 17513283]
- 4. Josefsson U. Coping with illness online: the case of patients' online communities. Inform Soc 2005;21(2):133-141. [doi: 10.1080/01972240590925357]
- 5. Rimer BK, Lyons EJ, Ribisl KM, Bowling JM, Golin CE, Forlenza MJ, et al. How new subscribers use cancer-related online mailing lists. J Med Internet Res 2005 Jul 1;7(3):e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.3.e32] [Medline: 15998623]
- 6. Asiedu GB, Eustace RW, Eton DT, Breitkopf CR. Coping with colorectal cancer: a qualitative exploration with patients and their family members. Fam Pract 2014 Oct;31(5):598-606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmu040] [Medline: 25080507]
- Armstrong N, Powell J. Patient perspectives on health advice posted on Internet discussion boards: a qualitative study. Health Expect 2009 Sep;12(3):313-320 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00543.x] [Medline: 19555377]
- Chiu Y, Hsieh Y. Communication online with fellow cancer patients: writing to be remembered, gain strength, and find survivors. J Health Psychol 2013 Dec;18(12):1572-1581. [doi: <u>10.1177/1359105312465915</u>] [Medline: <u>23221492</u>]
- Gill PS, Whisnant B. A qualitative assessment of an online support community for ovarian cancer patients. Patient Relat Outcome Meas 2012;3:51-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PROM.S36034] [Medline: 23185122]
- 10. Turner J, Grube J, Meyers J. Developing an optimal match within online communities: an exploration of CMC support communitiestraditional support. J Commun Health 2001;51(2):231-251. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1460-2466.2001.tb02879.x</u>]
- 11. Foster C, Roffe L. An exploration of the internet as a self-management resource. J Res Nurs 2009;14(1):13-24. [doi: 10.1177/1744987108099237]
- 12. Seale C, Charteris-Black J, MacFarlane A, McPherson A. Interviews and internet forums: a comparison of two sources of qualitative data. Qual Health Res 2010 May;20(5):595-606. [doi: 10.1177/1049732309354094] [Medline: 20008955]
- Seale C, Ziebland S, Charteris-Black J. Gender, cancer experience and internet use: a comparative keyword analysis of interviews and online cancer support groups. Soc Sci Med 2006 May;62(10):2577-2590. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.11.016] [Medline: 16361029]
- Öster I, Hedestig O, Johansson M, Klingstedt N, Lindh J. Sharing experiences in a support group: men's talk during the radiotherapy period for prostate cancer. Palliat Support Care 2013 Aug;11(4):331-339. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1478951512000661</u>] [Medline: <u>23013742</u>]
- Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM. Relationship between exercise pattern across the cancer experience and current quality of life in colorectal cancer survivors. J Altern Complement Med 1997;3(3):215-226. [doi: <u>10.1089/acm.1997.3.215</u>] [Medline: <u>9430325</u>]
- Treviño RA, Vallejo L, Hughes DC, Gonzalez V, Tirado-Gomez M, Basen-Engquist K. Mexican-American and Puerto Rican breast cancer survivors' perspectives on exercise: similarities and differences. J Immigr Minor Health 2012 Dec;14(6):1082-1089 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10903-012-9648-9] [Medline: 22610693]
- 17. Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global Cancer Observatory. Estimated number of new cases in 2018, worldwide, both sexes, all ages URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/tkhqwbf</u> [accessed 2019-01-02]
- van Mossel C, Leitz L, Scott S, Daudt H, Dennis D, Watson H, et al. Information needs across the colorectal cancer care continuum: scoping the literature. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2012 May;21(3):296-320. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2012.01340.x] [Medline: 22416737]
- Fisher A, Wardle J, Beeken RJ, Croker H, Williams K, Grimmett C. Perceived barriers and benefits to physical activity in colorectal cancer patients. Support Care Cancer 2016 Feb;24(2):903-910 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-2860-0] [Medline: 26268781]
- van Roekel EH, Bours MJL, Breedveld-Peters JJL, Meijer K, Kant I, van den Brandt PA, et al. Light physical activity is associated with quality of life after colorectal cancer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015 Dec;47(12):2493-2503. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000698] [Medline: 25970666]
- 21. Husson O, Mols F, Ezendam NP, Schep G, van de Poll-Franse LV. Health-related quality of life is associated with physical activity levels among colorectal cancer survivors: a longitudinal, 3-year study of the PROFILES registry. J Cancer Surviv 2015 Sep;9(3):472-480. [doi: 10.1007/s11764-014-0423-x] [Medline: 25573723]
- Portier K, Greer GE, Rokach L, Ofek N, Wang Y, Biyani P, et al. Understanding topics and sentiment in an online cancer survivor community. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 2013 Dec;2013(47):195-198. [doi: <u>10.1093/jncimonographs/lgt025</u>] [Medline: <u>24395991</u>]
- 23. Wright K. Perceptions of on line support providers: an examination of perceived homophily, source credibility, communication and social support within on line support groups. Commun Quart 2000 Jan;48(1):44-59. [doi: 10.1080/01463370009385579]

- 24. Chung JE. Social networking in online support groups for health: how online social networking benefits patients. J Health Commun 2014;19(6):639-659. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2012.757396] [Medline: 23557148]
- 25. Buchanon EA, Zimmer M. Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Internet Research Ethics URL: <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/</u> <u>archives/win2018/entries/ethics-internet-research/</u> [accessed 2019-01-03]
- 26. Mann C, Stewart F. Introducing online methods. In: Internet Communication and Qualitative Research: A Handbook for Researching Online. London: Sage Publications Ltd; 2000.
- 27. Eysenbach G, Wyatt J. Using the internet for surveys and health research. J Med Internet Res 2002;4(2):E13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4.2.e13] [Medline: 12554560]
- 28. Courneya KS, Friedenreich CM, Arthur K, Bobick TM. Physical exercise and quality of life in postsurgical colorectal cancer patients. Psychol Health Med 1999;4(2):181-187. [doi: <u>10.1080/135485099106315</u>]
- 29. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 30. Guest G, Bunce A, Johnson L. How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. Field Methods 2006;18(1):59-82. [doi: 10.1177/1525822X05279903]
- 31. Buffart LM, Thong MS, Schep G, Chinapaw MJ, Brug J, van de Poll-Franse LV. Self-reported physical activity: its correlates and relationship with health-related quality of life in a large cohort of colorectal cancer survivors. PLoS One 2012;7(5):e36164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036164] [Medline: 22567135]
- Gunnell AS, Knuiman MW, Divitini ML, Cormie P. Leisure time physical activity and long-term cardiovascular and cancer outcomes: the Busselton Health Study. Eur J Epidemiol 2014 Nov;29(11):851-857. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10654-014-9963-7</u>] [Medline: <u>25354993</u>]
- 33. Cramer H, Pokhrel B, Fester C, Meier B, Gass F, Lauche R, et al. A randomized controlled bicenter trial of yoga for patients with colorectal cancer. Psychooncology 2016 Apr;25(4):412-420. [doi: 10.1002/pon.3927] [Medline: 26228466]
- Lumpkins CY, Mabachi N, Lee J, Pacheco C, Greiner KA, Geana M. A prescription for internet access: appealing to middle-aged and older racial and ethnic minorities through social network sites to combat colorectal cancer. Health Commun 2017 Jul;32(7):916-920. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2016.1195679] [Medline: 27435103]
- Keogh JW, Pühringer P, Olsen A, Sargeant S, Jones LM, Climstein M. Physical activity promotion, beliefs, and barriers among Australasian oncology nurses. Oncol Nurs Forum 2017 Mar 1;44(2):235-245. [doi: <u>10.1188/17.ONF.235-245</u>] [Medline: <u>28222085</u>]
- 36. López AJ, McCaffrey R, Griffin MT, Fitzpatrick JJ. Spiritual well-being and practices among women with gynecologic cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 2009 May;36(3):300-305. [doi: <u>10.1188/09.ONF.300-305</u>] [Medline: <u>19403451</u>]
- Burke SM, Brunet J, Sabiston CM, Jack S, Grocott MP, West MA. Patients' perceptions of quality of life during active treatment for locally advanced rectal cancer: the importance of preoperative exercise. Support Care Cancer 2013 Dec;21(12):3345-3353. [doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-1908-2] [Medline: 23912669]
- Spence RR, Heesch KC, Brown WJ. Colorectal cancer survivors' exercise experiences and preferences: qualitative findings from an exercise rehabilitation programme immediately after chemotherapy. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2011 Mar;20(2):257-266. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2010.01214.x] [Medline: 20649808]
- 39. Shaha M, Cox CL. The omnipresence of cancer. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2003 Sep;7(3):191-196. [Medline: 12932481]

Abbreviations

ITA: inductive thematic analysis

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 06.03.19; peer-reviewed by A Fisher, A Sleight; comments to author 16.05.19; revised version received 01.10.19; accepted 02.10.19; published 16.12.19.

Please cite as: Olsen A, Keogh J, Sargeant S Investigating How Bowel Cancer Survivors Discuss Exercise and Physical Activity Within Web-Based Discussion Forums: Qualitative Analysis J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13929 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13929 doi:10.2196/13929 PMID:31841117

©Alicia Olsen, Justin Keogh, Sally Sargeant. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 16.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,

provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Digital Alerting and Outcomes in Patients With Sepsis: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Meera Joshi^{1,2}, MBBS, MRCS; Hutan Ashrafian², PhD, MRCS; Sonal Arora¹, PhD, MRCS; Sadia Khan¹, DM; Graham Cooke³, FRCP; Ara Darzi², Med Sci FRS

¹Chelsea and Westminster Hospital, NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom

²Department of Surgery and Cancer, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

³Division of Infectious Diseases, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Meera Joshi, MBBS, MRCS Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 369 Fulham Rd, Chelsea London, SW10 9NH United Kingdom Phone: 44 2033158000 Email: meera.joshi03@imperial.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: The diagnosis and management of sepsis remain a global health care challenge. Digital technologies have the potential to improve sepsis care.

Objective: The aim of this paper was to systematically review the evidence on the impact of digital alerting systems on sepsis related outcomes.

Methods: The following databases were searched for studies published from April 1964 to February 12, 2019, with no language restriction: EMBASE, MEDLINE, HMIC, PsycINFO, and Cochrane. All full-text reports of studies identified as potentially eligible after title and abstract reviews were obtained for further review. The search was limited to adult inpatients. Relevant articles were hand searched for other studies. Only studies with clear pre- and postalerting phases were included. Primary outcomes were hospital length of stay (LOS) and intensive care LOS, whereas secondary outcomes were time to antibiotics and mortality. Studies based solely on intensive care, case reports, narrative reviews, editorials, and commentaries were excluded. All other trial designs were included. A qualitative assessment and meta-analysis were performed.

Results: This review identified 72 full-text articles. From these, 16 studies met the inclusion criteria and were included in the final analysis. Of these, 8 studies reviewed hospital LOS, 12 reviewed mortality outcomes, 5 studies explored time to antibiotics, and 5 studies investigated intensive care unit (ICU) LOS. Both quantitative and qualitative assessments of the studies were performed. There was evidence of a significant benefit of digital alerting in hospital LOS, which reduced by 1.31 days (P=.014), and ICU LOS, which reduced by 0.766 days (P=.007). There was no significant association between digital alerts and mortality (mean decrease 11.4%; P=.77) or time to antibiotics (mean decrease 126 min; P=.13).

Conclusions: This review highlights that digital alerts can considerably reduce hospital and ICU stay for patients with sepsis. Further studies including randomized controlled trials are necessary to confirm these findings and identify the choice of alerting system according to the patient status and pathological cohort.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15166) doi:10.2196/15166

KEYWORDS

RenderX

diagnosis; electronic health records, sepsis; medical order entry systems, outcome assessment (health care)

Introduction

Sepsis Challenges

Sepsis is a major health concern causing significant mortality worldwide [1,2]. Although used to describe a variety of clinical conditions, the most recent recommendations suggest that sepsis should be defined as a "life threatening organ dysfunction caused by a dysregulated host response to infection" [3]. In the United States, the average annual age adjusted incidence is 300-1000 cases per 100,000 people [4]. The mortality from this condition is as high as one in four patients [1,2,5,6]. In addition, it poses a significant financial burden on health care systems. The annual total costs of sepsis in the United States was US \$20 billion in 2011 [7]. Additionally, there are numerous indirect costs that may significantly impact patients' quality of life. For example, the older population may have severe long-term health problems after sepsis, including both cognitive dysfunction and functional disability [8].

Early Detection of Sepsis

Recognizing sepsis early and initiating timely treatment results in improved patient outcomes and significant cost reduction [9,10]. The International Surviving Sepsis Campaign recommends early identification of patients with sepsis and immediate treatment such as antibiotics within 1 hour of suspecting sepsis and septic shock [11]. A retrospective multicenter study found for every hour's delay in the treatment of patients with septic shock, the risk of death increases by 7.6% [12]. Delays in identification of sepsis are often attributable to a lack of diagnostic tools, gradual disease progression, and no gold standard for diagnosis [13]. Interventions such as regular monitoring of vital signs and elevated lactate levels aid early recognition [14]. However, despite these measures, patients are still being diagnosed late. Although track and trigger scoring systems such as the National Early Warning Score have standardized the documentation of vital signs and enabled earlier recognition to a degree, they are still subject to inaccuracies in recordings because of their subjective nature and intermittent monitoring [15]. Alternate strategies in sepsis detection are therefore urgently required to improve outcomes.

Digital Technology in Sepsis

Digital technology holds significant promise in enabling early sepsis recognition. Coupled with the rapid expansion of electronic health records (EHRs) worldwide, it is now possible to provide health care staff with real-time information on laboratory tests, imaging, and physiological vital signs at the bedside. This is particularly relevant in sepsis because of the traditional reliance on risk scoring systems used to define sepsis. These include the Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS) and Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score [16,17]. Although usually calculated through paper-based observational charts alongside separate interfaces to retrieve blood test results, both have the potential to be automated using EHRs to reduce error and enhance digital alerting. There is now increased literature in this field that can support new clinical decisions in sepsis management. The aim of our paper was to offer an up-to-date systematic review of digital alerting systems on patient sepsis outcomes.

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15166/
```

Methods

Data Sources and Searches

We applied the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement for this review [18]. Our search on February 12, 2019, included the following databases: EMBASE, MEDLINE, HMIC, PsycInfo, and Cochrane (April 1964 to February 12, 2019) without language restriction. The search was limited to articles reporting the use of electronic alerts in adult medical inpatients with sepsis who were not initially in intensive care. The search terms included digital technology and sepsis (for complete search strategy, see the Multimedia Appendix 1 search strategy). There were supplemental references that were manually gathered through reference lists.

Outcome Measures

Our primary outcome was hospital and intensive care unit (ICU) length of stay (LOS) for patients with sepsis. Secondary outcome measures included sepsis-associated mortality and the time to antibiotics.

Study Selection

Studies were eligible for inclusion if patients had sepsis with a clear reporting of the diagnostic criteria. In addition, studies were only eligible for inclusion if the outcomes could be compared pre- and postintroduction of digital alerts for sepsis. Studies where the clear outcome measures of interest were not stated were not included. The outcomes of interest were mortality, time to antibiotics, and ICU LOS, and hospital LOS. Studies only required one outcome of interest to be eligible for inclusion. There was no fixed number of patients required in each treatment group nor a fixed duration of follow-up.

Data Extraction and Quality Assessment

All included study characteristics and outcome measures were extracted by one investigator and verified by another. All full-text reports of studies identified as potentially eligible after title and abstract review were obtained for further review. All empirical research into digital sepsis alerting in adults and outcome measures were included. Information on the study location, type of hospital, type of alert, and whom the alert was directed at were all extracted using a set standardized form. Studies were only included if a comparative study of pre- and postalerting groups was performed and the number of patients in each group was clearly stated. Studies solely based on intensive care were excluded, as extra levels of care and treatments offered to these patients would affect the sepsis outcome measures. Additionally, case reports, narrative reviews, editorials, and commentaries were excluded. After full text review, if a study was excluded, the reasons were noted and disagreements were resolved by a third reviewer. A PRISMA flow diagram was used to map studies included, studies excluded, and the reasons for their inclusion/exclusion (Multimedia Appendix 2).

Data Synthesis and Analysis

A qualitative assessment of all studies was performed. For the primary outcome of hospital LOS, a weighted mean difference

was calculated. A weighted mean difference was also used in ICU LOS. For the secondary outcome measure of mortality, we used percentage change between the pre- and postalerting groups. To ensure a standard way to compare the studies, all times to antibiotics were converted into minutes and number of days used for ICU/hospital LOS. For the meta-analysis, outcomes were analyzed by calculating the difference in means between studies or the ratio of means within each study. We substituted the median for the mean in studies where only the median was reported. We employed an inverse-variance approach with a random effects model using the DerSimonian and Laird methodology for both continuous and categorical variables. This was accomplished using Stata 13 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas). The I^2 statistic was used to estimate the degree of heterogeneity between studies.

Risk-of-Bias Assessment

The Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) was used to score the included papers on the basis of the quality [19]. The range of scores was from 0 to 9. Studies with a score of \geq 7 were rated as *higher-quality* studies, whereas those with scores \leq 7 were rated as *lower-quality* studies.

Results

Search Results

The literature search identified 3861 references (appendix). One article was found through hand searching. After screening, 72 full-text reviews were reviewed, including one translated from Spanish. A total of 16 studies met the inclusion criteria and were included in the final analysis. A description of the studies including the sepsis intervention, alert type, and criteria used to define sepsis can be found in Multimedia Appendix 3. All studies that defined sepsis alerts and the pre- and postalerting stages are presented in Multimedia Appendix 4.

Characteristics of Studies and Digital Alerting Used

All studies investigated digital sepsis alerts (Multimedia Appendix 3). Several studies additionally used a rapid response team in combination with the digital sepsis alert in the alerting group [20-22]. An electronic order set was used by four studies in the alerting group [21,23-25].

The studies were predominantly single-center studies; however, one study that was multicenter study across three hospital sites [26]. Most studies were based in the United States; however, one study was from the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia [20] and one was from Spain [27]. Most studies were based in large hospital settings; six studies were based in academic centers [20,22,23,28-30], and three centers were level 1 trauma centers [21,29,31]. Within the hospital setting, only one study had a hospital-wide sepsis alert [21], and eight had alerts solely in the emergency department (ED) [20,23,27,29-33]. In addition, five studies included only medical wards [24,26,28,34,35], and two studies included both on medical and surgical wards [22,25]. All the studies were pre- and postimplementation studies.

The type of electronic alerts used in the studies varied. Most studies used digital alerts generated through EHRs on desktop-based computers [20-23,27,29-35]. Two studies

involved alerting via a mobile device [24,25] and two studies used text paging [26,28]. One study predominantly used alerting through EHRs but used additional text paging at the discretion of the ED attending [23]. This is shown in Multimedia Appendix 3. Most of the digital alerts in the study were aimed at the nursing staff [20,22-25,28,32]. Although one study was aimed solely at clinicians [31], two studies had alerts sent to both clinicians and the rapid response team [21,26]. In addition, in four studies, it was unknown whom the digital alerts were sent to [27,29,33,35].

The sepsis-alerting criteria varied among studies; many studies used a variation of the SIRS criteria [20-24,26,29,34]. SIRS is defined as a temperature >38°C or <36°C, heart rate >90 beats/min, respiratory rate >20 breaths/min or arterial CO₂ lower than 32 mm Hg, and white blood cell $count > 12,000/mm^3$ or <4000/mm³ [16]. Only one study used two or more SIRS criteria alone [34]. Some used two or more SIRS criteria with a suspicion of infection [21,23,31]. Hayden et al used two or more SIRS criteria with a suspicion of infection but had two subgroups of patients: one with a systolic blood pressure (SBP) of <90 mm Hg and one with an SBP >90 mm Hg. A combination of two or more SIRS criteria with evidence of end-organ dysfunction was also used as a criterion to alert [20,26,30]. Narayanan et al reported two types of sepsis alerts: one alert if two or more SIRS criteria were used and another if severe sepsis/septic shock criteria (ie, two or more SIRS criteria + end-organ dysfunction OR fluid nonresponsive hypotension) [30]. One study used the combination of two or more SIRS criteria and anion gap acidosis [22]. Crum et al used a combination of two or more SIRS criteria; infectious ED diagnosis or symptom diagnosis and antibiotic administration in the ED; and acute organ dysfunction (lactate level \geq 4.0 mmol/L and persistent hypotension within 6 hours of triage or vasopressor use) [29]. Austrian et al had two types of alerts: one with two or more SIRS criteria and another with an SBP <90 mm Hg or lactate level $\geq 4 \text{ mg/dL}$. Not all studies used SIRS; Pulia et al [33] used a fever plus any abnormal vital sign, whereas Sawyer et al [28] and Ferreras et al [27] used an algorithm consisting of laboratory values and hemodynamic parameters. The study by Mathews et al [35] was an abstract only and no details were found on the alerting criteria used.

All studies included had clear outcome measures with a defined sepsis alert and pre- and postalerting stage (Multimedia Appendix 4). Some studies reviewed several outcome measures of interest. All studies were non-ICU based and either alerted in the ED or the hospital wards. In total, 8 studies reviewed the hospital LOS, 5 studies reviewed the ICU LOS, 11 reviewed the mortality outcomes, and 5 studies reviewed the time to antibiotics. Several studies have tried to adjust for potential confounders. Guirgis et al [21] performed multivariate adjusted comparisons, whereas Westra [25] used techniques such as propensity scoring and bootstrapping to adjust for confounders [25]. Each outcome measure is reviewed below in further detail.

Hospital Length of Stay

Hospital LOS was included in eight studies [20,21,23,25,26,28,32,34]. In total, there were 3948 patients in the prealerting group and 4872 patients in the postalerting group

XSL•FO RenderX

Joshi et al

across these eight studies. The results highlight a significant reduction in hospital LOS by 1.311 days in the postalerting group (95% CI -2.362 to -0.261; P=.014). The proportional decrease in hospital LOS was the study with the biggest impact on LOS, which was Arabi et al [20]. The strong treatment effect seen may be partly explained by the addition of a rapid response team; however, the rapid response team was also used in the study by Guirgis et al [21] and the effect on LOS was not as remarkable.

Intensive Care Unit Length of Stay

For ICU LOS (when patients were escalated from the ward setting), five studies were included [20,21,23,26,32] (Multimedia Appendix 4). In total, 3627 patients were included in the prealerting group and 4475 were included in the postalerting group. The weighted mean difference for all studies showed a significant reduction in ICU LOS by 0.766 days for the alerting group versus the prealerting group (95% CI –1.324 to 0.209; P=.007). The biggest impacting study was the one by Arabi et al [20]. This may have been explained by the addition of a rapid response team; however, the rapid response team was also used in the study by Guirgis et al [21] and the effect on LOS was not as remarkable.

Mortality

For mortality, 11 studies were included [20,24,27,28,31,32,34,35]. In total, there were 5868 patients in the prealerting group and 6629 in the postalerting group. There was no significant reduction between digital alerts and mortality (mean decrease 11.4%; 95% CI –0.873 to 0.646; *P*=.77).

Time to Antibiotics

For time to antibiotics, five studies were included [20,23,29,33] (Multimedia Appendix 4). In total, there were 991 patients in the prealerting group and 1473 in the postalerting group. On the basis of three studies with available data, the weighted mean difference in time to antibiotics from the prealerting to the alerting group showed no significant reduction (126 min) in time to antibiotics (95% CI -291.113 to 39.015; P=.13).

Diagnostic Accuracy

The diagnostic accuracy of the digital sepsis alerts is shown in Multimedia Appendix 5. Of all the abovementioned studies included in the review, only five studies attempted to address the diagnostic accuracy [24,32]. There was high heterogeneity in the accuracy of alerting in these studies. The specificity of digital alerting in sepsis remained high, with four studies reporting specificities of 81.92% (78.73-84.8 range) [24], 97% [26], 82.0% [25], and 94.56% (93.64-95.32 range) [27]. Although the specificity remained high, the sensitivity showed high heterogeneity: 95.16% (89.77-98.20) [24], 95.2% [25], 87% (81.93-91.66) [27], 80.4% [32], and 16% [26]. The sensitivities and specificities were not given in any other studies. In total, three studies had high negative predictive values of digital alerting and sepsis ranging from 94% [26] to 98.88% (97.58-99.59) [24] and 99.11% (98.69-99.4) [27]. The positive predictive value was much lower at 14.6% [32], 26% [26], 50.21% (43.64-56.78) [24], and 51.64% (46.15-57.11) [27].

Risk of Bias Assessment

All included studies were assessed for the quality of their methodology. All studies had a nonrandomized design methodology, and the NOS was used (Multimedia Appendix 6). Of all studies included, only six were of *higher* quality. Many had poor comparability due to a lack of randomization.

Discussion

Patients with sepsis have high morbidity, mortality, and associated treatment costs [1,7,36].

This review found that digital alerting in sepsis is associated with significant reductions in hospital LOS by 1.311 days (P=.014) and ICU LOS by 0.766 days (P=.007). Both mortality and time to antibiotics showed no significant differences between the prealerting and postalerting groups.

Reduced hospital LOS and ICU LOS are likely due to earlier diagnosis, improved time to treatments such as antibiotics, earlier fluid replacement, minimized inflammatory cytokines, and cytokine stress. A previous systematic review on the diagnostic accuracy and effectiveness of digital alerts found no improvements in clinical outcomes when digital alerts in sepsis were employed [37]. However, since its publication, there has been a growth in the number of empirical studies on digital alerting and sepsis outcomes, as more hospitals worldwide are transferring to EHRs and digital solutions. All studies identified in this review are recent and after 2010, reflecting the entry of new technology in this field.

This review also identified a wide variation in the diagnosis of sepsis and multiple measures used for this purpose. Many of the studies included in the review have used the SIRS definition of sepsis or a modification of it. This is perhaps because it is the most practical in a clinical setting with readily available vital sign data and laboratory tests. Although SIRS was routinely used as a definition of sepsis, the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis 3) declared that the use of two or more SIRS criteria in identifying sepsis was not specific enough [3]. The SIRS criteria may be met without infective disease processes, such as trauma [38]. The variation in diagnostic criteria may explain the lack of literature meta-analysis in digital sepsis alerts to date. The ideal alerting criteria required for sepsis in combination with guidance on the latest definitions must be reviewed in further large-scale randomized studies. The ideal sepsis alerts must correctly identify patients with sepsis and exclude those without sepsis. Alerting with low positive predictive value is likely to contribute to alert fatigue, and it is suggested that more sophisticated algorithms may be required to correctly identify patients with sepsis [32]. A recent retrospective comparison of scoring systems found the National Early Warning Score to be more accurate in detecting sepsis as compared with other scoring systems including SIRS [39]. Furthermore, multicenter studies are required to review these findings. In addition to the alert itself, the way the alert is delivered must be reviewed. There is no one best method in the literature to the type of alert to be used and who it needs to be sent to. A combination of EHR,



text paging, and mobile alerts have been used in the studies included in this review.

Of all the studies included in the review, only five studies attempted to address diagnostic accuracy [24,32]. There was high heterogeneity in the accuracy of the alerting in these studies. Far more research is required in large studies to elucidate diagnostic accuracy in digital alerting. Although digital alerting in sepsis is beneficial, it is likely that the alerts be used in combination with an application of other resources such as staff education, direct communication for patients with sepsis, and rapid response teams. In one study, 5 months of training in addition to the sepsis alert helped contribute to a reduction in sepsis mortality [24].

Despite the significance of some of the clinical outcomes assessed, our study has limitations due to the variability of methodologies and study types, and most studies scored low on quality. Most of the studies are observational in design, thus creating a high risk of bias. There was a high heterogeneity between the studies, and there were very limited data on the diagnostic accuracy of many of the included results. Furthermore, the pre- and postalerting study design may be prone to selection bias due to variations in the patient population and changes in ways of providing care at hospitals over time. A further limitation of the studies is that the size of the postalerting cohort is larger than that of the prealerting cohort, despite the fact that many of the included studies followed postimplementation cohorts for a shorter period of time than the preimplementation cohort. Although all studies used electronic digital alerting, some studies additionally used a rapid response team and electronic order sets. This may have led to a confounding bias in outcomes.

There are several studies published recently with different study designs to help address some of these concerns. The first is a retrospective cohort study with patients exposed or not exposed to the electronic ICU telemedicine sepsis management in the ED [40]. This is a novel form of alerting using telemedicine. In this study, the exposed cohort had a quicker time to antibiotics than the unexposed cohort (122.3 [SD 83.3] min versus 163.4 [SD 204.4] min; P=.04] [40]. However, the hospital LOS and mortality were similar between both cohorts.

Another study design is the use of a prospective quality improvement study [41]. The alerting system was customized to local practice with regularly incorporated feedback through the plan-do-study-act (PDSA) cycles [41]. In this study, a machine learning algorithm was implemented with continuous incorporation of feedback, creating a system tailor made to the hospital workflow [41]. After several PDSA cycles, the machine learning algorithm sepsis mortality reduced by 60.24% with a hospital LOS reduction of 9.55% [41]. The alerting in this study was very different from that in other studies because of the machine learning approach [41]. Although it was not included in the original meta-analysis, the analysis was redone to include this study, and there was no difference in either the hospital LOS (proportional decrease: 11.3%; 95% CI –0.189 to 0.038; *P*=.003) or mortality (mean decrease: 11.4%; 95% CI –0.844 to 0.616; *P*=.76).

Further research should also seek to answer several other important questions such as the optimal type of sepsis alert, which team members should be alerted, and at what frequency should they be alerted. A recent observational cohort study reviewing successive improvements over a 10-year period found that reviewed sepsis alerts were sent to a telephonist and alerts were sent to a nurse's mobile phone [42]. They found that time to antibiotics was reduced to 1 hour (55 min to 1 hour 30 min) when the alert was sent to the telephonist and to 45 min (30 min to 1 hour) when the alert was sent directly to the nurse's mobile phone (P=.02) [42].

Further large-scale multicenter prospective randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with a single standardized sepsis alert are required. An RCT would help exclude confounding biases, although implementation maybe challenging. Overall, two recent RCTs have been published; however, both studies had insufficient sample sizes, with insufficient power to detect differences between the prealerting and postalerting groups [43,44]. The results of both RCTs were also contradictory. One RCT on sepsis alerting through EHRs found no significant difference in outcome measures after alerting [43]. However, at least 66% of patients were on antibiotics at the time of the alert, and this high baseline compliance may have led to a lower marginal return on improved detection through alerting and partly explain these findings [43]. The other RCT on the use of machine learning-based sepsis prediction systems supported similar findings to this review with a reduction in hospital LOS by 2.7 days and a mortality reduction of 58% [44].

The cumulative effect of an additional rapid response team, staff education, and electronic order sets alongside digital alerting must also be evaluated. Further studies should also be performed in different clinical health systems, as the value of alerting is likely to depend on baseline performance of health systems. This would aid generalizability and widespread implementation. Importantly, the diagnostic accuracy for the digital alerting in most studies included is unknown and needs to be clearly defined in future work to ascertain the validity of findings. Finally, the cost-effectiveness of digital sepsis alerts also needs further evaluation if we are to justify its use in the current fiscal climate.

Automated digital alerts can improve sepsis-related outcomes. This review highlights a significant reduction in hospital LOS by 1.311 days and ICU LOS by 0.766 days. The emergence of digital technologies has the capacity to transform the rapid identification of patient physiological deterioration and, in turn, revolutionize patient care through alerts and novel treatment innovations (such as *smart wards*). Higher-quality evidence through larger, better-designed randomized studies is needed to guide the application of digital alerting in patients at risk of sepsis.

Acknowledgments

We thank Mrs Jackie Kemp, the librarian, for her assistance with the search and reviewing of the databases. This paper is an independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Imperial Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) and NIHR Imperial Patient Safety Translational Research Centre (PSTRC). The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the National Health Service, the NIHR, or the Department of Health and Social Care. Infrastructure support for this research was provided by the NIHR Imperial BRC and the NIHR Imperial PSTRC.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategy. [DOCX File , 14 KB - jmir_v21i12e15166_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses flow diagram. [DOCX File, 38 KB - jmir_v21i12e15166_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Characterization of studies and digital alerts used. [DOCX File , 23 KB - jmir v21i12e15166 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 All studies reviewing outcome measures. [DOCX File , 21 KB - jmir_v21i12e15166_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Diagnostic accuracy. [DOCX File , 20 KB - jmir_v21i12e15166_app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Risk of bias of a nonrandomized prospective comparative cohort comparing pre and postalerting based on the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale.

[DOCX File, 15 KB - jmir_v21i12e15166_app6.docx]

References

- Angus DC, Linde-Zwirble WT, Lidicker J, Clermont G, Carcillo J, Pinsky MR. Epidemiology of severe sepsis in the United States: analysis of incidence, outcome, and associated costs of care. Crit Care Med 2001 Jul;29(7):1303-1310. [doi: 10.1097/00003246-200107000-00002] [Medline: 11445675]
- Martin GS, Mannino DM, Eaton S, Moss M. The epidemiology of sepsis in the United States from 1979 through 2000. N Engl J Med 2003 Apr 17;348(16):1546-1554. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa022139</u>] [Medline: <u>12700374</u>]
- Seymour CW, Liu VX, Iwashyna TJ, Brunkhorst FM, Rea TD, Scherag A, et al. Assessment of clinical criteria for sepsis: for the Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). J Am Med Assoc 2016 Mar 23;315(8):762-774 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.0288] [Medline: 26903335]
- 4. Kempker JA, Martin GS. The changing epidemiology and definitions of sepsis. Clin Chest Med 2016 Jun;37(2):165-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ccm.2016.01.002] [Medline: 27229635]
- 5. Linde-Zwirble WT, Angus DC. Severe sepsis epidemiology: sampling, selection, and society. Crit Care 2004 Aug;8(4):222-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/cc2917] [Medline: 15312201]
- Dombrovskiy VY, Martin AA, Sunderram J, Paz HL. Rapid increase in hospitalization and mortality rates for severe sepsis in the United States: a trend analysis from 1993 to 2003. Crit Care Med 2007 May;35(5):1244-1250. [doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000261890.41311.E9] [Medline: 17414736]
- 7. Torio C, Andrews R. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2013. National Inpatient Hospital Costs: The Most Expensive Conditions by Payer, 2011 URL: <u>https://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb160.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-10-29]
- Iwashyna TJ, Ely EW, Smith DM, Langa KM. Long-term cognitive impairment and functional disability among survivors of severe sepsis. J Am Med Assoc 2010 Oct 27;304(16):1787-1794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1553] [Medline: 20978258]

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15166/
```

- 9. Gaieski DF, Mikkelsen ME, Band RA, Pines JM, Massone R, Furia FF, et al. Impact of time to antibiotics on survival in patients with severe sepsis or septic shock in whom early goal-directed therapy was initiated in the emergency department. Crit Care Med 2010 Apr;38(4):1045-1053. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181cc4824] [Medline: 20048677]
- Paoli CJ, Reynolds MA, Sinha M, Gitlin M, Crouser E. Epidemiology and costs of sepsis in the United States-an analysis based on timing of diagnosis and severity level. Crit Care Med 2018 Dec;46(12):1889-1897 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003342] [Medline: <u>30048332</u>]
- Rhodes A, Evans LE, Alhazzani W, Levy MM, Antonelli M, Ferrer R, et al. Surviving sepsis campaign: international guidelines for management of sepsis and septic shock: 2016. Intensive Care Med 2017 Mar;43(3):304-377. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4683-6] [Medline: 28101605]
- 12. Kumar A, Roberts D, Wood KE, Light B, Parrillo JE, Sharma S, et al. Duration of hypotension before initiation of effective antimicrobial therapy is the critical determinant of survival in human septic shock. Crit Care Med 2006 Jun;34(6):1589-1596. [doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000217961.75225.E9] [Medline: 16625125]
- McLymont N, Glover GW. Scoring systems for the characterization of sepsis and associated outcomes. Ann Transl Med 2016 Dec;4(24):527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.12.53] [Medline: 28149888]
- Lee SM, An WS. New clinical criteria for septic shock: serum lactate level as new emerging vital sign. J Thorac Dis 2016 Jul;8(7):1388-1390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/jtd.2016.05.55] [Medline: 27501243]
- 15. Downey C, Tahir W, Randell R, Brown J, Jayne D. Strengths and limitations of early warning scores: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. Int J Nurs Stud 2017 Nov;76:106-119. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2017.09.003</u>] [Medline: <u>28950188</u>]
- Bone RC, Balk RA, Cerra FB, Dellinger RP, Fein AM, Knaus WA, et al. Definitions for sepsis and organ failure and guidelines for the use of innovative therapies in sepsis. The ACCP/SCCM Consensus Conference Committee. American College of Chest Physicians/Society of Critical Care Medicine. Chest 1992 Jun;101(6):1644-1655. [doi: 10.1378/chest.101.6.1644] [Medline: 1303622]
- Vincent J, de Mendonça A, Cantraine F, Moreno R, Takala J, Suter P, et al. Use of the SOFA score to assess the incidence of organ dysfunction/failure in intensive care units: results of a multicenter, prospective study. Working group on "sepsis-related problems" of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. Crit Care Med 1998 Nov;26(11):1793-1800. [doi: 10.1097/00003246-199811000-00016] [Medline: 9824069]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. Br Med J 2009 Jul 21;339:b2535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535] [Medline: 19622551]
- Stang A. Critical evaluation of the Newcastle-Ottawa scale for the assessment of the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses. Eur J Epidemiol 2010 Sep;25(9):603-605. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z</u>] [Medline: <u>20652370</u>]
- 20. Arabi YM, Al-Dorzi HM, Alamry A, Hijazi R, Alsolamy S, Al Salamah M, et al. The impact of a multifaceted intervention including sepsis electronic alert system and sepsis response team on the outcomes of patients with sepsis and septic shock. Ann Intensive Care 2017 Dec;7(1):57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13613-017-0280-7] [Medline: 28560683]
- Guirgis FW, Jones L, Esma R, Weiss A, McCurdy K, Ferreira J, et al. Managing sepsis: electronic recognition, rapid response teams, and standardized care save lives. J Crit Care 2017 Aug;40:296-302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2017.04.005] [Medline: 28412015]
- Benson L, Hasenau S, O'Connor N, Burgermeister D. The impact of a nurse practitioner rapid response team on systemic inflammatory response syndrome outcomes. Dimens Crit Care Nurs 2014;33(3):108-115. [doi: 10.1097/DCC.0000000000046] [Medline: 24704733]
- Hayden GE, Tuuri RE, Scott R, Losek JD, Blackshaw AM, Schoenling AJ, et al. Triage sepsis alert and sepsis protocol lower times to fluids and antibiotics in the ED. Am J Emerg Med 2016 Jan;34(1):1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2015.08.039] [Medline: 26386734]
- 24. Manaktala S, Claypool SR. Evaluating the impact of a computerized surveillance algorithm and decision support system on sepsis mortality. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Jan;24(1):88-95. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocw056</u>] [Medline: <u>27225197</u>]
- 25. Westra B, Landman S, Yadav P, Steinbach M. Secondary analysis of an electronic surveillance system combined with multi-focal interventions for early detection of sepsis. Appl Clin Inform 2017 Jan 18;8(1):47-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2016-07-RA-0112] [Medline: 28097288]
- 26. Umscheid CA, Betesh J, VanZandbergen C, Hanish A, Tait G, Mikkelsen ME, et al. Development, implementation, and impact of an automated early warning and response system for sepsis. J Hosp Med 2015 Jan;10(1):26-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jhm.2259] [Medline: 25263548]
- 27. Ferreras J, Judez D, Tirado G, Aspiroz C, Martínez-Álvarez R, Dorado P, et al. [Implementation of an automatic alarms system for early detection of patients with severe sepsis]. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin 2015 Oct;33(8):508-515. [doi: 10.1016/j.eimc.2015.01.002] [Medline: 25701057]
- Sawyer AM, Deal EN, Labelle AJ, Witt C, Thiel SW, Heard K, et al. Implementation of a real-time computerized sepsis alert in nonintensive care unit patients. Crit Care Med 2011 Mar;39(3):469-473. [doi: <u>10.1097/CCM.0b013e318205df85</u>] [Medline: <u>21169824</u>]

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15166/

- 29. Crum B, Green J, Nettiksimmons J, Nesper A, Patel A. Effect of a computerized decision support system on time to antibiotic initiation for severe sepsis. Vol 20, Academic Emergency Medicine. Academic Emergency Medicine 2013:S289 [FREE Full text]
- 30. Narayanan N, Gross K, Pintens M, Fee C, MacDougall C. Effect of an electronic medical record alert for severe sepsis among ED patients. Am J Emerg Med 2016 Mar;34(2):185-188. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajem.2015.10.005</u>] [Medline: <u>26573784</u>]
- Berger T, Birnbaum A, Bijur P, Kuperman G, Gennis P. A computerized alert screening for severe sepsis in emergency department patients increases lactate testing but does not improve inpatient mortality. Appl Clin Inform 2010;1(4):394-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4338/ACI-2010-09-RA-0054] [Medline: 23616849]
- 32. Austrian J, Jamin C, Doty G, Blecker S. Impact of an emergency department electronic sepsis surveillance system on patient mortality and length of stay. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 May 1;25(5):523-529. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocx072</u>] [Medline: <u>29025165</u>]
- 33. Pulia M, Vuong I, Schandel C, Sharp B. Impact of an Electronic Health Record Sepsis Screen on Antibiotic Stewardship in the Emergency Department. Academic Emergency Medicine 2016;23:S147.
- 34. McRee L, Thanavaro JL, Moore K, Goldsmith M, Pasvogel A. The impact of an electronic medical record surveillance program on outcomes for patients with sepsis. Heart Lung 2014;43(6):546-549. [doi: 10.1016/j.hrtlng.2014.05.009] [Medline: 24961633]
- 35. Mathews K, Budde J, Glasser A, Lorin S, Powell C. Impact of an in-patient electronic clinical decision support tool on sepsis-related mortality. Crit Care Med 2014;42:A1594. [doi: 10.1097/01.ccm.0000458469.63789.ed]
- 36. Wheeler AP, Bernard GR. Treating patients with severe sepsis. N Engl J Med 1999 Jan 21;340(3):207-214. [doi: 10.1056/NEJM199901213400307] [Medline: 9895401]
- 37. Makam AN, Nguyen OK, Auerbach AD. Diagnostic accuracy and effectiveness of automated electronic sepsis alert systems: a systematic review. J Hosp Med 2015 Jun;10(6):396-402 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jhm.2347] [Medline: 25758641]
- Brun-Buisson C. The epidemiology of the systemic inflammatory response. Intensive Care Med 2000;26(Suppl 1):S64-S74. [doi: <u>10.1007/s001340051121</u>] [Medline: <u>10786961</u>]
- Usman OA, Usman AA, Ward MA. Comparison of SIRS, qSOFA, and NEWS for the early identification of sepsis in the Emergency Department. Am J Emerg Med 2019 Aug;37(8):1490-1497. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ajem.2018.10.058</u>] [Medline: <u>30470600</u>]
- 40. Machado SM, Wilson EH, Elliott JO, Jordan K. Impact of a telemedicine eICU cart on sepsis management in a community hospital emergency department. J Telemed Telecare 2018 Apr;24(3):202-208. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X17691862] [Medline: 29278979]
- McCoy A, Das R. Reducing patient mortality, length of stay and readmissions through machine learning-based sepsis prediction in the emergency department, intensive care unit and hospital floor units. BMJ Open Qual 2017;6(2):e000158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjoq-2017-000158] [Medline: 29450295]
- 42. Westphal G, Pereira A, Fachin S, Sperotto G, Gonçalves M, Albino L, et al. An electronic warning system helps reduce the time to diagnosis of sepsis. Rev Bras Ter Intensiva 2018;30(4):414-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5935/0103-507X.20180059] [Medline: 30570029]
- Downing NL, Rolnick J, Poole SF, Hall E, Wessels AJ, Heidenreich P, et al. Electronic health record-based clinical decision support alert for severe sepsis: a randomised evaluation. BMJ Qual Saf 2019 Sep;28(9):762-768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs-2018-008765] [Medline: 30872387]
- 44. Shimabukuro DW, Barton CW, Feldman MD, Mataraso SJ, Das R. Effect of a machine learning-based severe sepsis prediction algorithm on patient survival and hospital length of stay: a randomised clinical trial. BMJ Open Respir Res 2017;4(1):e000234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjresp-2017-000234] [Medline: 29435343]

Abbreviations

BRC: Biomedical Research Centre
ED: emergency department
EHR: electronic health record
ICU: intensive care unit
LOS: length of stay
NOS: Newcastle-Ottawa scale
NIHR: National Institute for Health Research
PDSA: plan-do-study-act
PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses
PSTRC: Patient Safety Translational Research Centre
RCT: randomized controlled trial
SBP: systolic blood pressure
SOFA: sequential organ failure assessment
SIRS: systemic inflammatory response syndrome

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.06.19; peer-reviewed by L Shallcross, S Manaktala; comments to author 10.08.19; revised version received 06.09.19; accepted 03.10.19; published 20.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Joshi M, Ashrafian H, Arora S, Khan S, Cooke G, Darzi A Digital Alerting and Outcomes in Patients With Sepsis: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15166 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15166/</u>

doi:<u>10.2196/15166</u> PMID:<u>31859672</u>

©Meera Joshi, Hutan Ashrafian, Sonal Arora, Sadia Khan, Graham Cooke, Ara Darzi. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 20.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Attitudes Toward Health Care Virtual Communities of Practice: Survey Among Health Care Workers

Nicole Yada^{1*}, BCom, MSc; Milena Head^{1*}, BMATH, MBA, PhD

DeGroote School of Business, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Milena Head, BMATH, MBA, PhD DeGroote School of Business McMaster University 1280 Main Street West Hamilton, ON, L8S 4M4 Canada Phone: 1 905 525 9140 ext 24435 Email: headm@mcmaster.ca

Abstract

Background: Virtual communities of practice (VCoPs) have been shown to be an effective means for knowledge and research uptake, but little is known about why health care workers choose to use them. The elaboration likelihood model (ELM) is a theoretical model of persuasion that distinguishes between different routes of information processing that influence attitude formation and change. To date, no research has investigated the antecedents to these processing routes for VCoPs within a health care setting. In understanding these determinants, VCoPs can be appropriately designed to increase their chances of use and value among health care professionals.

Objective: Our aim is to explore how motivation and ability affect attitudes toward using VCoPs for those working in health care.

Methods: Data were collected from 86 health care workers using an online survey at two Canadian health care conferences. Participants were shown a mock VCoP and asked about their perceptions of the online platform and related technologies. The survey instrument was developed based on previously validated scales to measure participants' ability and motivation toward using a VCoP. Attitudes were assessed both at the beginning and end of the study; intention to use the platform was assessed at the end.

Results: Ability (expertise with CoPs and VCoPs) was found to directly affect intention to use the system (P<.001 and P=.009, respectively) as was motivation (P<.001). Argument quality had the greatest effect on formed attitudes toward VCoPs, regardless of the user's level of experience (lower expertise: P=.04; higher expertise: P=.003). Those with higher levels of CoPs expertise were also influenced by peripheral cues of source credibility (P=.005 for attitude formation and intention to use the system) and connectedness (P=.04 for attitude formation; P=.008 for intention to use the system), whereas those with lower levels of CoP expertise were not (P>.05). A significant correlation between formed attitude and intention to use the VCoPs system was found for those with higher levels of expertise (P<.001).

Conclusions: This research found that both user ability and motivation play an important and positive role in the attitude toward and adoption of health care VCoPs. Unlike previous ELM research, evidence-based arguments were found to be an effective messaging tactic for improving attitudes toward VCoPs for health care professionals with both high and low levels of expertise. Understanding these factors that influence the attitudes of VCoPs can provide insight into how to best design and position such systems to encourage their effective use among health care professionals.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15176) doi:10.2196/15176

KEYWORDS

RenderX

virtual community of practice; eHealth; digital health; knowledge translation; implementation science; elaboration likelihood model; technology adoption

Introduction

Motivation and Background

Health care in Canada remains fragmented regarding access and delivery. As a result, there is a growing push to enhance integration across sectors, locations, and providers to improve patient experience [1]. This includes greater recognition of the need to improve information sharing and enhanced communication to meet these needs [1]. One way to achieve these goals is through communities of practice (CoPs), which are increasingly used in health care as a means of advancing knowledge use and creation through collaborative learning [2,3]. A CoP is defined as "a group of people who share a concern, a set of problems, or a passion about a topic, and who deepen their knowledge and expertise in this area by interacting on an ongoing basis" [4].

A CoP becomes a virtual community of practice (VCoP) when its members use information and communication technologies (ICTs) as their primary means for collaboration and communication. Although VCoPs do not exclude face-to-face meetings, ICT help to overcome geographic and organizational barriers, thereby increasing the efficiency of information sharing [5]. In a health care context, VCoPs allow their members to access information relevant to their practice on an as-needed basis [6], facilitate problem solving through active debate and integration of differing perspectives [7], and enable health care providers to efficiently stay up-to-date on the increasing medical evidence base and share newly acquired information with their peers [8]. However, it is important to note that relevant content is necessary to maintain engagement among VCoP members, which can quickly become outdated due to the rapidly changing evidence base and policies present in health care [7]. Additionally, many VCoP members prefer to observe and not participate, whereas some clinicians prefer to communicate only with members of their own specialty, thus limiting the potential to advance interprofessional knowledge [7,9]. Overall, research has demonstrated the effectiveness of these VCoPs for health care quality improvement, but little is known about how and why users choose to adopt technology to support CoPs [9-11]. Further, technology adoption in health care is subject to unique factors and influences [12]. To ensure the successful

implementation of such a technology, it is important to understand the factors influencing the decision to use it.

Theoretical Framework

Understanding the process by which intentions to use a platform such as a VCoP are formed is necessary, and the elaboration likelihood model (ELM) [13] provides a promising conceptual framework through which to study this. The ELM [13] is a model of persuasion that posits that users process given information (or "elaborate") based on their level of motivation and ability related to the issue at hand, leading to attitude formation and change. When information processing leads to a change in attitude, this is referred to as *persuasion* [14]. Widely validated as a framework in psychology and marketing (eg, [15]), the ELM is considered the foremost influential model used to study attitude formation and change [16].

Persuasion theories are based on the assumption that individuals process the same messages with varying levels of effort [17]. The ELM is a dual-process model that posits two routes of information processing that differ based on extent (more versus less) of processing [18]: (1) the central route, where users are highly motivated or able and are influenced by argument quality, and (2) the peripheral route, where users are not as highly motivated or able and are influenced by more superficial factors, such as the likability of the endorser, source credibility, and message medium. Attitudes formed through the latter process tend to be less stable over time [19].

The ELM was used to guide this study. This model suggests that a person's characteristics of motivation and ability determine the route through which they process information and form attitudes, leading to their intention to use the system [20]. As such, antecedents to VCoP processing routes have been divided into two broad categories: (1) ability (operationalized through four types of user experience or expertise) and (2) motivation to use the technology (operationalized through the constructs of relevance to job and perceived usefulness). The ELM also suggests that differing levels of ability and motivation may influence information processing and outcome variables, such as attitude formation and change as well as intention to use. Thus, we further investigated these antecedents by separating them into high and low levels for each user characteristic. Our research model built off of the ELM framework is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Research model to investigate attitudes and intention to use health care virtual community of practice.



Ability (User Expertise)

Expertise can refer to domain expertise (ie, understanding of health care) or system expertise (ie, ability to use a VCoP system in general). The focus of this paper is on system expertise because the VCoP target users are health care workers who possess health care domain expertise. According to Bhattacherjee and Sanford [18], system experts are more inclined to critically appraise messaging to inform system attitudes and acceptance. They are more aware of the possibility of bias and inaccuracy in messaging, whereas users with lower levels of expertise tend to rely more on peripheral cues, rather than embedded message arguments, to form their opinions [18]. Thus, user expertise influences the extent of elaboration because it affects an individual's ability to process information relating to the system [20,21].

Motivation

Perceived Usefulness

Perceived usefulness is a function of productivity, performance, effectiveness, and overall usefulness of an object [18,22]. When there is a match between the user's needs and what the source offers, the user's motivation to process the message increases because it is deemed to be useful. Highly motivated users are more likely to elaborate on what the source is saying [23] and are more likely to distinguish between strong and weak arguments [19]. Strong arguments for these highly motivated individuals increase positive attitudes, whereas weak arguments result in a decrease in positive attitudes [19]. Those that perceive low usefulness will not expend the same effort on message elaboration as those that perceive high usefulness. In the context of health care, the perceived usefulness of technology has been shown to impact clinicians' motivation to accept and use the technology [24].

Relevance to Job

Job relevance is defined by Bhattacherjee and Sanford [18] as the system's relevance to the user's work. To clarify the intended application of this term, our study used "relevance to job" to minimize confusion. Systems perceived to be highly relevant to one's work tend to be subject to greater elaboration and scrutiny of related messaging. Users that perceive systems to have high relevance to their job are less likely to pay attention to peripheral cues, whereas those that perceive low relevance to job will not be motivated to dedicate effort to thoughtful processing and will rely on other, peripheral cues to shape their attitudes toward a system [18].

We examine how these antecedents affect attitudes toward, and intention to use, a VCoP system through the mediating routes of persuasion. Descriptions of the constructs used to represent these routes of persuasion are presented subsequently.

Central Route of Persuasion (Argument Quality)

Quality arguments are those viewed as informative, helpful, valuable, and persuasive [18,21]. As documented in the extant literature [18,21,25], argument quality is used to represent the central route to persuasion. ELM considers argument quality to be the determining factor for whether information is influential when in a state of high elaboration [21]; argument quality has a greater impact on attitudes for those in a state of high elaboration than in low elaboration [26].

Our study presented high-quality arguments as six positively framed arguments (as listed in Table A1 in Multimedia Appendix 1), which Angst and Agarwal [14] have defined as those that contain both credible content and beneficial outcomes. Applied to a VCoP context, an example of such an argument could be:

Virtual communities of practice (VCoPs) have been shown to facilitate development of an innovative patient-focused integration of medical, social, and supportive services by health-care organizations, while allowing health-care providers to use their energy and time more efficiently and provide care that is collaborative and cost-effective. [6]

The quality of the argument is found to be more persuasive under conditions of high relevance compared with low relevance [19]. When issues are perceived to be of high relevance, if arguments are strong, then increasing the number of arguments increases persuasion [19]. However, if the quality of the

XSL•FO RenderX

argument is weak, this reduces their persuasive effect [19]. In contrast, when issues are perceived to be of low relevance, more messages (regardless of their quality) serve as a peripheral cue signaling worthiness of the message and positively affect persuasion [19,26].

Peripheral Route of Persuasion

Source Credibility

This construct refers to the perceived credibility of the message source but does not consider the message content itself [21,27]. Source credibility assesses the source's knowledgeability, expertise, trustworthiness, and credibility [18,21]. It is considered a peripheral cue because source credibility is expected to be more important for those who are not experts [21]. For such individuals, the presence of source credibility could increase the favorability of an argument, and could even bias how the quality of the argument is perceived [21,28]. In a health care context, source credibility may be exhibited through a colleague's opinion, a viewpoint from an opinion leader in the domain, or the organization affiliated with the product or system.

Connectedness

As a design element, connectedness is defined as the extent to which website visitors are able to express their views, benefit from the community of visitors to the website, and share a common bond with website visitors [25]. It is considered a peripheral cue because it does not pertain to the message content itself. Although classified and validated as a peripheral cue in a traditional information systems context [25], connectedness has not been investigated as a peripheral cue in a VCoP context. User satisfaction and knowledge self-efficacy (feeling knowledgeable and capable of helping others) have been shown to positively affect continued participation in VCoPs [29]; therefore, it is important that community members feel that their opinions matter and that they have influence on the group. Within CoPs, connection to other members and the value derived from them sustain the community's activities [4]. Within a broader online context, a sense of connectedness with other participants or consumers has been shown to positively impact trust [30,31], willingness to return, and become loyal to the site [32-34]. These are necessary considerations for the continued usage of VCoPs.

Research Question

Virtual CoPs are known to benefit health care workers [6,7,35-37]. However, the factors influencing their adoption of the technology to support them are not well understood [8,36]. Although past research has shown that the ELM's central and peripheral routes influence attitude formation and change, and ultimately the intention to use an information system, our research seeks to gain insight into the potential antecedents of these two routes of processing among health care workers for VCoPs. To date, no research has investigated these precursors in this context. By understanding what influences these two persuasion routes, we can better understand how to design and position a virtual CoP for health care workers to encourage their use.

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15176

Thus, using ELM as a guiding framework, this research seeks to investigate the following question: For those working in health care, how does motivation and ability affect attitudes toward using VCoPs?

Methods

Sample and Procedure

Participants in this study were adults older than 18 years working in the health care system (either as a clinician, administrator, researcher, or nonclinical staff). This study aimed to determine how motivation and ability affect an individual's attitudes toward health care technology adoption (specifically VCoPs); therefore, it was necessary that the participants worked in health care.

Surveys were administered at two large health care conferences that took place in Toronto during October 2016. The conferences were one day apart and had a total of approximately 3000 attendees who were predominantly health care providers, administrators, and academics. A confidence interval of 90% with a 10% margin of error was used to calculate a minimum sample size of 67 [38].

Data were collected using online surveys conducted on laptops at the conferences. Postcards (providing a link to the survey) also were handed out at the conferences for those who wished to complete the survey following the conference. There was no compensation for participation.

After an initial screening question to ensure that the participant worked in health care, each participant's consent was obtained via a detailed consent form. They were then asked a series of questions regarding their knowledge of VCoPs and related technologies, and they were asked to evaluate a mock website interface of the home page and two subpages of a proposed virtual CoP. These mock-ups were used to provide participants with a sense of what a VCoP would look like and allow for visualization of our central and peripheral cues of investigation (argument quality, source credibility, and connectedness). Participants were then asked questions about their perceptions of the VCoP, which included argument quality (the strength of an informational message's arguments), source credibility (the expertise of people providing endorsements), connectedness, and their attitude toward and intention to use such a system.

Instrument

The survey contained 25 closed-ended questions, 3 open-ended questions, and 5 demographic questions. On average, it took participants approximately 15 minutes to complete the survey. To ensure content validity, measurement scales were selected from existing literature where they had been prevalidated. Some of the questions were slightly adapted to reflect the context of this study; all items were assessed using 7-point Likert scales for their respective questions. The full measurement instrument can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1. Based on previous research [18], the concept of ability was operationalized as user expertise across four areas (expertise with social networks, electronic medical records [EMRs], CoPs, and VCoPs). Motivation was represented through the constructs of relevance to job and perceived usefulness [18]. The two routes of

persuasion are represented through argument quality (central route) and source credibility and connectedness (peripheral route) and were measured in alignment with extant ELM research [14,18,25]. Attitudes were assessed both at the beginning (initial attitude) and end (formed attitude) of the study to enable the examination of attitude change [14,18,39]. Finally, the intention to use such a platform was measured using a one-item scale (as per [18,39]).

The three open-ended questions probed further into understanding health care workers' perceptions of VCoPs ("What would encourage you to use a VCoP?"; "What barriers would prevent you from using a VCoP?"; and "What helped you form your attitude toward the VCoP?"). Answers to these open-ended questions helped to provide insights to our interpretation of the closed-ended survey results. The demographic questions (age, gender, job title, sector, and education) were used to ensure our sample was representative of the broader health care worker population and to examine potential effects on the primary constructs of interest.

Analysis Strategy

To examine the proposed research model, the following steps were conducted: (1) the direct effects of user characteristics (ability and motivation) were examined on outcome variables (formed attitude, attitude change, and intention to use); (2) user characteristic constructs were divided into high- and low-level groups (ie, high and low levels of ability or expertise as well as motivation) and these groups were examined for their effects on outcome variables; and (3) based on the findings from step 2, high- and low-level groups of user characteristics were examined across information processing routes (central and peripheral) for their effects on the outcome variables. Spearman rho correlations were used to test relationships between variables in the research model. The decision to use a nonparametric test was made because the outcomes of interest were found to violate the assumption of normality when using Shapiro-Wilk normality. This research introduced a new health care context to apply the ELM to investigate attitude formation toward VCoP; therefore, correlation was deemed an appropriate test for examining what, if any, potential relationships existed between the antecedents, persuasion routes, and outcomes.

The antecedent constructs for ability (user expertise) and motivation (relevance to job and perceived usefulness) were divided into higher (\geq 5 on a 7-point scale) and lower (\leq 3 on a 7-point scale) user groups. Answers of 4 (on a 7-point scale) were not included in this analysis to create a distinct separation of user groups for the analysis and to increase the rigorousness of the analysis.

Data were analyzed using JGR version 1.7-16 statistical software, which is an open-source graphical user interface for R. The total number of participants for the online survey was 88, from which two respondents were removed for insufficient responses to questions. This exceeded our minimum sample size requirement of 67.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Full demographic information of the participants is provided in Table 1. The mean age of participants was 39.98 (SD 10.84) years, reflective of the average age (ie, 43) of the health care workforce [40]. Females made up 70% (58/86) of the sample. According to the Canadian Institute for Health Information, 80% of Canadian health care workers are female [40].



Yada & Head

Table 1. Characteristics of the participants who completed the online survey (N=86).

Characteristic	Participants			
Age (years; N=76), mean (SD)	39.98 (10.84)			
Gender (N=83), n (%)				
Female	58 (70)			
Male	25 (30)			
Primary job title, n (%)				
Physician	5 (6)			
Nurse	8 (9)			
Allied health professional	3 (4)			
Administrator	26 (30)			
Nonclinical staff	9 (10)			
Researcher	3 (4)			
Student	3 (4)			
Other	27 (31)			
Unknown ^a	2 (2)			
Primary sector, n (%)				
Academia	3 (4)			
Association	1 (1)			
Community mental health and addictions	2 (2)			
Government	20 (23)			
Home and community care	6 (7)			
Hospital	23 (27)			
Industry	2 (2)			
Long-term care	9 (10)			
Primary care	7 (8)			
Other	11 (13)			
Unknown ^a	2 (2)			
Education, n (%)				
Some high school or less	0 (0)			
Completed high school or GED	0 (0)			
Some college	0 (0)			
College diploma	3 (4)			
Undergrad or bachelor's degree	27 (31)			
Master's degree	39 (45)			
Beyond master's	10 (12)			
Other ^b	5 (6)			
Unknown ^a	2 (2)			

^aUnknown: participant did not provide answer.

^bOther: PhD (n=2); current master's student (n=1); postgraduate master's certificate (n=1); MD, CCFP, FCF (n=1).

Scale Validation

XSL•FO RenderX

With the exception of user expertise and intention to use, all constructs in this research are reflective in nature. They were

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15176
```

each measured by multiple survey questions (items) in which these items were expected to correlate with one another and share a common theme. User expertise probed into self-reported experience with technologies and forums relevant to this
investigation and was not necessarily expected to correlate. Intention to use was measured using a single item adapted from Bhattacherjee and Sanford [18]. To measure the internal consistency of the reflective constructs in our survey instrument, Cronbach alphas were assessed, which all met the recommended threshold of 0.70 [41]. Multimedia Appendix 2 provides details of our scale validation.

Key Findings

Table 2 provides the results of the first step of our analysis in which the direct effects of user characteristics (ability and motivation) were examined on outcome variables (attitude change, formed attitude, and intention to use). Both motivation constructs of perceived usefulness and relevance to job were significantly correlated with formed attitude and intention to use (P<.001). Unlike the user expertise construct, there were no significant correlations with motivational constructs and attitude change.

Table 2. Direct influence of user characteristic antecedents on outcomes (N=86).

Characteristic	Attitude change		Formed attitude		Intention to use	
	Spearman rho	P value	Spearman rho	P value	Spearman rho	P value
User expertise						
Online social networks	-0.104	.34	0.112	.30	0.164	.13
Electronic medical records	-0.060	.58	-0.004	.97	0.076	.49
Communities of practice (CoPs)	-0.215	.047	0.165	.13	0.362	.001
Virtual communities of practice (VCoPs)	-0.222	.04	0.068	.53	0.279	.009
Perceived usefulness	0.022	.84	0.349	.001	0.512	.001
Relevance to job	0.000	.99	0.385	.001	0.428	.001

The second step of our analysis separated both ability and motivation user characteristics into higher- and lower-level groups (higher group: >4 on 7-point Likert scale; lower group: <4 on 7-point Likert scale) to examine for their effects on outcome variables. For the motivation user characteristics (relevance to job and perceived usefulness constructs), the vast majority of participants fell into the higher category. Similarly, most participants fell into the higher category for their familiarity with online social networks and EMRs. Thus, meaningful comparisons across high and low levels of these motivation constructs and the first two experience items were not possible. However, CoPs and VCoPs expertise did reveal differences between low- and high-expertise groups. Higher expertise users for both CoPs and VCoPs exhibited greater intention to use a health care VCoP than those with lower expertise $(F_{1.56}=7.800,$ $P=.007; F_{1.67}=6.199,$ P=.02,respectively). When examining high and low group differences

for attitude change, expertise with CoPs stood out in terms of its significance ($F_{1,54}$ =5.006, P=.03) between higher- and lower-level experience groups (n=45 and n=30, respectively).

The third step of our analysis involved delving more deeply into the significant results of the previous step by examining high- and low-level groups of user characteristics (specifically, CoPs expertise) across information processing routes (central and peripheral) for their effects on outcome variables. As shown in Table 3, central route cues (operationalized as argument quality) were the most important persuasion route for both those with higher and lower levels of expertise. Those with higher levels of CoPs expertise were also influenced by peripheral cues of source credibility (P=.005 for formed attitude and intention to use the system) and connectedness (P=.04 for formed attitude; P=.008 for intention to use the system), whereas those with lower levels of CoPs expertise were not (P>.05).

Table 3.	Impact o	f persuasion	routes on	outcomes	by	expertise	level	(N=)	75)
----------	----------	--------------	-----------	----------	----	-----------	-------	------	-----

Expertise level	Argument quality		Source credibility		Connectedness		Formed attitude	
	Spearman rho	P value	Spearman rho	P value	Spearman rho	P value	Spearman rho	P value
Lower (n=30)			·	·		·		
Attitude change	-0.233	.22	0.131	.49	0.214	.26	0.237	.21
Formed attitude	0.377	.04	0.109	.56	0.189	.32		
Intention to use	0.413	.02	0.118	.53	0.203	.28	0.187	.32
Higher (n=45)								
Attitude change	0.193	.20	0.193	.20	0.232	.12	0.290	.05
Formed attitude	0.433	.003	0.412	.005	0.314	.04		
Intention to use	0.440	.003	0.416	.005	0.392	.008	0.554	<.001



Discussion

Principal Results

Using the ELM framework, this research found that both ability and motivation play an important and positive role in the adoption of health care VCoPs. Health care workers that perceived the VCoP to be useful and relevant to their job (motivation constructs) had a significantly more positive attitude formation toward and intention to use the system. These motivation constructs were more strongly (positively) correlated with argument quality than they were with the peripheral cues of source credibility and connectedness.

For user expertise (ability construct), familiarity with online social networks and EMRs did not play a role in the perceptions and adoption of a VCoP; however, experience with CoPs and VCoPs both had statistically significant negative correlations with attitude change. This means that the higher the experience level, the smaller the change in attitude after experiencing our experimental VCoP. Conversely, the lower the experience level with CoPs and VCoPs, the larger the change in attitude.

Health care workers with higher CoPs and VCoPs expertise exhibited greater intention to use a health care VCoP than those with lower expertise. As expected, these higher and lower levels of expertise groups differed in their processing routes. Although the central processing route (operationalized as argument quality) was the most important persuasion route for both levels of CoPs expertise, those with higher levels of expertise were also influenced by peripheral cues of source credibility and connectedness.

Connections to Previous Work

To date, the application of ELM to the field of eHealth remains limited and has been from the patient perspective and not the provider [14]. This study was the first to apply ELM to investigate attitude formation toward VCoPs for those working in health care and quality improvement. Although connectedness has been investigated as an ELM peripheral cue for traditional information systems [25], our study is the first to include this construct when investigating VCoPs in health care. Additionally, the investigation of antecedents to the validated concepts of central and peripheral routes to persuasion for health care VCoPs is novel. Thus, when compared with extant research on health care VCoPs, this study presents a unique population (health care providers) and provides insights through new constructs of investigation in this context (ability and motivation antecedents as well as the connectedness construct).

The results of this study confirmed previous ELM work that showed the importance of central and peripheral routes of persuasion for attitude formation or change and intention to use ICTs [13,14,18,29]. The importance of argument quality as a central route to persuasion was validated [18,21,25]. Surprisingly, argument quality, traditionally found most effective in persuading those in states of high elaboration [21,26], was found to be an effective influencer on attitude formation for both those with higher and lower levels of CoP expertise (ie, both high and low elaboration states).

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15176
```

Another interesting and surprising result related to expertise (specifically CoP expertise) was that attitude formation of those with low levels of CoP user expertise was most influenced by central rather than peripheral routes of persuasion. Connectedness and source credibility, traditionally seen as peripheral cues [18,25], were only significantly correlated with formed attitude for those with high levels of CoP user expertise. The most important factor contributing to positive attitudes for those with low levels of CoP user expertise was the central route, operationalized as argument quality. This conflicts with extant ELM research in non-health care contexts that found peripheral cues to most influence those in states of lower elaboration. Specifically, previous work has found that users with lower levels of system expertise tend to rely more on peripheral cues, rather than embedded message arguments, to form their opinions [18].

Implications

Rolls et al [9] found that those working in health care see virtual communities as a source for relevant clinical information to inform their clinical decision making, especially given the limited communication channels, which are a known barrier to translating research into practice. The potential for such systems to improve health care quality has been demonstrated, but little is known about how and why health care workers adopt technologies to support CoPs [9-11]. This research helps us to understand the factors influencing the use of health care VCoPs, thus providing a basis for understanding how to best design and position such systems to encourage their effective use among health care workers.

Our research showed that health care user motivation (perceived usefulness and relevance to job) has a positive impact on one's formed attitude and intention to use health care VCoPs. Although there were no significant correlations between motivational constructs and attitude change, this is not surprising given the overall high rating of these two constructs in our sample. The health care workers in our study were already highly motivated (saw VCoPs as being useful and relevant to their jobs); therefore, there were no significant differences between pre and post measures of attitude. The association of high motivation with strong attitudes and intention to use highlights the importance of these factors in determining the likelihood of the technology's success in a health care context. The implication is that manipulation of these factors, such as through leadership and organizational support to socialize and normalize the value of CoPs and VCoPs (for relevance to job and perceived usefulness), may offer a promising approach to improve their likelihood of adoption.

For ability (specifically, experience with CoPs and VCoPs), our research showed that this factor directly affects attitude change or intention to use VCoPs. Unlike motivation constructs, there was a broad range of prior expertise with CoPs and VCoPs in our sample. As our results show, health care workers with less prior experience with such systems experience a significantly positive attitude change toward these systems through initial exposure. Thus, this initial exposure to gain familiarity with VCoPs is an important opportunity for practitioners to establish positive attitudes toward such systems among health care

workers. Further, the strong correlation found between attitudes and intention to use the system for those with higher levels of expertise highlights the importance of understanding how to change attitudes, and thus intention to use, among those with lower levels of expertise.

Although experience with CoPs and VCoPs provides interesting insights in establishing positive attitudes for health care VCoPs, the other two ability items (expertise with online social networks and EMRs) did not reveal any significant correlations. One explanation for this result may be that these particular items were not as applicable to this context given their high level of experience and expertise with the health care sample. These two items could not be separated into high and low expertise levels because everyone was highly familiar with these systems. Online social networks have now become commonplace; therefore, their relevance or ability to impact attitudes for other types of systems has diminished. If everyone is highly experienced with this technology, it may no longer be an effective predictor for acceptance of another technology. Although EMRs are a more specific technology, the same could be argued for its understanding and skillfulness among health care professionals. All health care professionals in our sample were highly familiar with EMRs; therefore, it no longer proved to be a predictor for acceptance of VCoPs. The implication is that these two expertise items may no longer be relevant to today's health care professionals in examining VCoPs technology acceptance.

Although the findings about the processing routes by level of expertise run counter to ELM theory, the highly educated participants and the nature of their work are reflective of an evidence-minded study population. Given the importance of evidence for health care, these research findings are not surprising but do hold important clues for how to effectively appeal to different levels of user expertise. Rather than using source credibility and connectedness for those yet to experience the system, providing evidence of the system's effectiveness is a promising tactic to use. Once persuaded to use the system, other messaging cues, such as the credibility of the source and the interface's sense of connectedness, can be used to further entrench attitudes and strengthen the intention to use. Through the insights gained about the unique antecedents to attitude formation in health care, the design and messaging can be improved to appeal to those experienced with CoPs in their traditional offline form to translate this experience to usage of an online environment. For both those with higher and lower levels of expertise, evidence-based arguments are indeed an effective messaging tactic to improving attitudes toward VCoPs.

Given the novelty of VCoPs for quality improvement in health care in Canada, this research provides needed insight into effective messaging to increase the technology's uptake and use. The relative newness of this technology for health care means opinions are not long-held; therefore, exposure to related information determines attitudes regarding its usage. To derive the maximum benefit from existing government expenditure and investment in eHealth, it is crucial to capitalize on this period when attitudes are being formed to create positive attitude changes. Increasing the capacity for sharing of evidence-based knowledge to support its implementation requires changes to structures and processes, which VCoPs have been shown to address effectively. Thus, improving the usage and adoption of VCoPs warrants investigation of the factors influencing attitudes toward such platforms. This study has provided insight into the antecedents to attitude formation, and the differences in influential factors between those with higher and lower levels of expertise.

Limitations and Future Research Directions

It is acknowledged that the conferences at which this study's surveys were administered may have biased the sample. Given that the conference participants were already actively involved in health care quality improvement by nature of their attendance, they may already have been "converted" to such concepts as CoPs. However, as this represents the target audience for such a technology, these research findings can have greater contextual relevance.

Other potential limitations are the environment in which the surveys took place and the length of the survey. Survey booths were located in high-traffic areas, and the majority of participants completed the survey during break periods; therefore, the potential for distraction as an external influence is recognized.

Another limitation is that this investigation was conducted in a Canadian context, in which health care is predominantly public based. Thus, these results may not be immediately transferrable to countries that have different health care systems or different socioeconomic, demographic, or cultural characteristics.

This study provides an important stepping stone to understand how attitudes of health care workers are formed for virtual communities of practice. There are several opportunities for future research to help deepen our understanding and further generalize our results. First, there is an opportunity to broaden the sample across different venues and contexts of health care. Venues that target different types of health care workers may allow for some interesting comparisons across professions (for example, physicians versus nurses versus administrators). Sampling across health care systems may also reveal some insights unique to public and private systems. Second, this study focused on the preusage stage of VCoPs, seeking to understand the factors that influence attitudes toward and intention to use such systems. Although participants had an opportunity to view a system mock-up from which they based their preusage survey responses, a longitudinal investigation of actual VCoP interaction may reveal insights to encourage continued usage. Finally, there are several other antecedents that could impact persuasion routes of attitude formation and change for VCoPs. This study focused on user experience, perceived usefulness, and relevance to job as ability and motivation factors. Research in non-health care contexts has shown that privacy, social influence, argument framing, and individual characteristics (age, gender, personality) may impact attitude formation or change and intention to use such systems. Future studies can explore the potential impact of these other types of variables.

Conclusion

Although ELM's framing of the central and peripheral routes to persuasion have been shown to influence attitude formation

https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15176

XSL•FO RenderX

and change, and ultimately intention to use, this research gathered insights into potential antecedents of these two routes. By understanding what influences these two routes, we can better understand how to design and position a virtual CoP for health care practitioners.

There are challenges in bringing evidence into practice in health care [42]; however, this research highlights an exciting

opportunity to translate research findings through peer knowledge-sharing in a trusting, online environment. Showcasing VCoPs value to members through the interface and eventual effects on practice will be a necessary future endeavor to ensure continued usage, and warrants further investigation. Health care resources are increasingly stretched. Enabling effective collaboration through VCoPs will contribute positively to fostering a culture of health care quality improvement.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank those who supported this research process, including (but not limited to) Ivan Yuen, Dr Joshua Tepper, and the other members of the thesis supervisory committee, Drs Melissa Brouwers and Khaled Hassanein.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Survey instrument. [DOCX File , 22 KB - jmir_v21i12e15176_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Scale validation. [DOCX File , 16 KB - jmir v21i12e15176 app2.docx]

References

- 1. Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term Care. 2019. Ontario health teams: guidance for health care providers and organizations. URL: <u>http://health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/connectedcare/oht/</u>
- Jeffs L, McShane J, Flintoft V, White P, Indar A, Maione M, et al. Contextualizing learning to improve care using collaborative communities of practices. BMC Health Serv Res 2016 Sep 2;16(1):1. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12913-016-1566-4</u>] [Medline: <u>27590455</u>]
- 3. Li LC, Grimshaw JM, Nielsen C, Judd M, Coyte PC, Graham ID. Use of communities of practice in business and health care sectors: a systematic review. Implementation Sci 2009 May 17;4(1):1. [doi: <u>10.1186/1748-5908-4-27</u>]
- 4. Wenger E, McDermott R, Snyder W. Cultivating Communities of Practice: A Guide to Managing Knowledge. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business Press; 2002.
- Roberts J. Limits to communities of practice. J Management Studies 2006 May;43(3):623-639. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00618.x] [Medline: 24843434]
- 6. Winkelman WJ, Choo CW. Provider-sponsored virtual communities for chronic patients: improving health outcomes through organizational patient-centred knowledge management. Health Expect 2003 Dec;6(4):352-358. [doi: 10.1046/j.1369-7625.2003.00237.x]
- 7. Ikioda F, Kendall S, Brooks F, De Liddo A, Buckingham Shum S. Factors that influence healthcare professionals' online interaction in a virtual community of practice. Soc Network 2013;2(4):174-184. [doi: <u>10.4236/sn.2013.24017</u>]
- McGowan BS, Wasko M, Vartabedian BS, Miller RS, Freiherr DD, Abdolrasulnia M. Understanding the factors that influence the adoption and meaningful use of social media by physicians to share medical information. J Med Internet Res 2012 Sep 24;14(5):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2138] [Medline: 23006336]
- Rolls K, Hansen M, Jackson D, Elliott D. How health care professionals use social media to create virtual communities: an integrative review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 16;18(6):e166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5312] [Medline: 27328967]
- 10. Barnett S, Jones SC, Bennett S, Iverson D, Robinson L. A virtual community of practice for general practice training: a preimplementation survey. JMIR Med Educ 2016 Aug 18;2(2):e13. [doi: 10.2196/mededu.5318]
- Nembhard IM, Nazem AG, Webster TR, Wang Y, Krumholz HM, Bradley EH. Understanding the use and impact of the online community in a national quality improvement campaign. BMJ Qual Saf 2011 Jan;20(1):68-75. [doi: 10.1136/bmjqs.2010.040253] [Medline: 21228078]
- 12. Protti D. Missed Connections: The Adoption of Information Technology in Canadian Health Care. Toronto, ON: CD Howe Institute; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.cdhowe.org/sites/default/files/attachments/research_papers/mixed/commentary_422.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 715KZ4jaQ]

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15176
```

- 13. Petty RE, Cacioppo JT. Communication And Persuasion: Central And Peripheral Routes to Attitude Change (Springer Series in Social Psychology). New York: Springer Verlag; 1986:1.
- Angst CM, Agarwal R. Adoption of electronic health records in the presence of privacy concerns: the elaboration likelihood model and individual persuasion. MIS Quart 2009 Jun;33(2):339-370.
- 15. Bitner M, Obermiller C. Advances in Consumer Research. Volume 12. Provo, UT: Association for Consumer Research; 1985. The elaboration likelihood model: limitations and extensions in marketing URL: <u>http://acrwebsite.org/volumes/6427/volumes/v12/NA-12</u> [accessed 2018-07-21] [WebCite Cache ID 71550fPLO]
- 16. Teng S, Khong KW, Goh WW. Persuasive communication: a study of major attitude-behavior theories in a social media context. J Internet Commer 2015 Mar 16;14(1):42-64. [doi: 10.1080/15332861.2015.1006515]
- Rudd JK, Glanz K. How individuals use information for health action: consumer information processing. In: Glanz KE, Lewis FM, Rimer BK, editors. Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 1990:978.
- Bhattacherjee A, Sanford C. Influence processes for information technology acceptance: an elaboration likelihood model. MIS Quart 2006;30(4):805-825. [doi: 10.2307/25148755]
- 19. Petty R, Cacioppo J. The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion. Adv Exp Soc Psychol 1986;19:123-205. [doi: 10.1016/s0065-2601(08)60214-2]
- 20. Ratneshwar S, Chaiken S. Comprehension's role in persuasion: the case of its moderating effect on the persuasive impact of source cues. J Consum Res 1991 Jun;18(1):52-62. [doi: 10.1086/209240]
- 21. Sussman SW, Siegal WS. Informational influence in organizations: an integrated approach to knowledge adoption. Inform Syst Res 2003 Mar;14(1):47-65. [doi: 10.1287/isre.14.1.47.14767]
- 22. Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR. User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Manage Sci 1989 Aug;35(8):982-1003. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982]
- 23. DeBono KG, Harnish RJ. Source expertise, source attractiveness, and the processing of persuasive information: a functional approach. J Pers Soc Psychol 1988;55(4):541-546. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.55.4.541]
- 24. Holden RJ, Karsh B. The technology acceptance model: its past and its future in health care. J Biomed Inform 2010 Feb;43(1):159-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2009.07.002] [Medline: 19615467]
- 25. Cyr D, Head M, Lim E, Stibe A. The art of online persuasion through design: the role of issue involvement as it influences users based on prior knowledge. In: SIGHCI 2015 Proceedings. 2015 Presented at: Fourteenth Annual Workshop on HCI Research in MIS; Dec 13, 2015; Fort Worth, TX p. 18.
- 26. Petty RE, Cacioppo JT. The effects of involvement on responses to argument quantity and quality: central and peripheral routes to persuasion. J Pers Socl Psychol 1984;46(1):69-81. [doi: <u>10.1037/0022-3514.46.1.69</u>]
- 27. Chaiken S. Heuristic versus systematic information processing and the use of source versus message cues in persuasion. J Pers Soc Psychol 1980;39(5):752-766. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.39.5.752]
- 28. Chaiken S, Maheswaran D. Heuristic processing can bias systematic processing: effects of source credibility, argument ambiguity, and task importance on attitude judgment. J Pers Soc Psychol 1994 Mar;66(3):460-473. [Medline: <u>8169760</u>]
- Cheung CM, Lee MK, Lee ZW. Understanding the continuance intention of knowledge sharing in online communities of practice through the post-knowledge-sharing evaluation processes. J Am Soc Inf Sci Tec 2013 May 28;64(7):1357-1374. [doi: 10.1002/asi.22854]
- 30. Hoffman DL, Novak TP, Peralta M. Building consumer trust online. Commun ACM 1999;42(4):80-85. [doi: 10.1145/299157.299175]
- 31. Lee T. The impact of perceptions of interactivity on customer trust and transaction intentions in mobile commerce. J Electron Commer Re 2005;6(3):165-180.
- 32. Cyr D, Head M, Ivanov A. Perceived interactivity leading to e-loyalty: development of a model for cognitive-affective user responses. Int J Hum-Comput St 2009 Oct;67(10):850-869. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2009.07.004]
- Berthon P, Pitt L, Watson RT. Marketing communication and the world wide web. Bus Horizons 1996 Sep;39(5):24-32. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0007-6813(96)90063-4</u>]
- 34. Srinivasan SS, Anderson R, Ponnavolu K. Customer loyalty in e-commerce: an exploration of its antecedents and consequences. J Retailing 2002 Mar;78(1):41-50. [doi: 10.1016/S0022-4359(01)00065-3]
- 35. Jarvis-Selinger S, Armstrong A, Mehta S, Campion E, Black K. Orthopaedic educators' electronic community of practice: development of a supportive online learning environment for academic orthopedic surgeons. In: Ho K, Jarvis-Selinger H, Novak Lauscher J, Scott R, editors. Technology Enabled Knowledge Translation for eHealth. New York: Springer Science+Business Media; 2012:117-131.
- 36. Ranmuthugala G, Plumb JJ, Cunningham FC, Georgiou A, Westbrook JI, Braithwaite J. How and why are communities of practice established in the healthcare sector? A systematic review of the literature. BMC Health Serv Res 2011 Oct 14;11(1):1273. [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-11-273]
- 37. Valaitis R, Akhtar Danesh N, Brooks F, Binks S, Semogas D. Online communities of practice as a communication resource for community health nurses working with homeless persons. J Adv Nurs 2011 Jun 2011;67(6):1273-1284. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05582.x]
- 38. Raosoft. 2018. Sample size calculator URL: http://www.raosoft.com/samplesize.html [WebCite Cache ID 715ISIguz]

RenderX

- 39. Taylor S, Todd PA. Understanding information technology usage: a test of competing models. Inform Syst Res 1995 Jun;6(2):144-176. [doi: 10.1287/isre.6.2.144]
- 40. Canada's Health Care Providers, 1997 to 2011. A Reference Guide Overview and Methodological Notes. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Institute for Health Information; 2013.
- 41. Hulley S, Cummings S, Browner W, Grady D, Newman T. Designing cross-sectional and cohort studies. In: Designing Clinical Research. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007:109-126.
- 42. Grimshaw JM, Eccles MP, Lavis JN, Hill SJ, Squires JE. Knowledge translation of research findings. Implement Sci 2012;7:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-50] [Medline: 22651257]

Abbreviations

CoP: community of practice EHR: electronic health record ELM: elaboration likelihood model ICT: information and communications technology VCoP: virtual community of practice

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 25.06.19; peer-reviewed by M Feijt, T Wang, G Kolostoumpis; comments to author 22.07.19; revised version received 13.08.19; accepted 31.10.19; published 04.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Yada N, Head M Attitudes Toward Health Care Virtual Communities of Practice: Survey Among Health Care Workers J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15176 URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15176</u> doi:10.2196/15176 PMID:<u>31799934</u>

©Nicole Yada, Milena Head. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 04.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Clinically Meaningful Use of Mental Health Apps and its Effects on Depression: Mixed Methods Study

Renwen Zhang¹, MPhil; Jennifer Nicholas², PhD; Ashley A Knapp², PhD; Andrea K Graham^{2,3}, PhD; Elizabeth Gray², MSc; Mary J Kwasny², ScD; Madhu Reddy^{1,2}, PhD; David C Mohr², PhD

¹Department of Communication Studies, Northwestern University, Evanston, IL, United States

²Center for Behavioral Intervention Technologies, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

³Department of Medical Social Sciences, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Renwen Zhang, MPhil Department of Communication Studies Northwestern University 2240 Campus Dr MTS Program Evanston, IL, 60208 United States Phone: 1 8479976596 Email: alicezhang@u.northwestern.edu

Abstract

Background: User engagement is key to the effectiveness of digital mental health interventions. Considerable research has examined the clinical outcomes of overall engagement with mental health apps (eg, frequency and duration of app use). However, few studies have examined how specific app use behaviors can drive change in outcomes. Understanding the clinical outcomes of more nuanced app use could inform the design of mental health apps that are more clinically effective to users.

Objective: This study aimed to classify user behaviors in a suite of mental health apps and examine how different types of app use are related to depression and anxiety outcomes. We also compare the clinical outcomes of specific types of app use with those of generic app use (ie, intensity and duration of app use) to understand what aspects of app use may drive symptom improvement.

Methods: We conducted a secondary analysis of system use data from an 8-week randomized trial of a suite of 13 mental health apps. We categorized app use behaviors through a mixed methods analysis combining qualitative content analysis and principal component analysis. Regression analyses were used to assess the association between app use and levels of depression and anxiety at the end of treatment.

Results: A total of 3 distinct clusters of app use behaviors were identified: learning, goal setting, and self-tracking. Each specific behavior had varied effects on outcomes. Participants who engaged in self-tracking experienced reduced depression symptoms, and those who engaged with learning and goal setting at a moderate level (ie, not too much or not too little) also had an improvement in depression. Notably, the combination of these 3 types of behaviors, what we termed "clinically meaningful use," accounted for roughly the same amount of variance as explained by the overall intensity of app use (ie, total number of app use sessions). This suggests that our categorization of app use behaviors succeeded in capturing app use associated with better outcomes. However, anxiety outcomes were neither associated with specific behaviors nor generic app use.

Conclusions: This study presents the first granular examination of user interactions with mental health apps and their effects on mental health outcomes. It has important implications for the design of mobile health interventions that aim to achieve greater user engagement and improved clinical efficacy.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15644) doi:10.2196/15644

KEYWORDS mHealth; mobile apps; mental health; engagement



Introduction

Over the past decade, mobile phone apps have become portals for managing health. These digital tools help users monitor physical activity, plan healthy meals, and keep track of daily moods and other personal data. Given the accessibility and ubiquity of mobile phones, researchers and clinicians have increasingly leveraged mobile phone apps to deliver health interventions and enhance self-management of chronic conditions such as depression and anxiety [1-4]. Mental health apps can enhance skill building, deliver psychoeducation, and facilitate self-monitoring, thereby reducing symptoms of depression and anxiety [2,5,6]. These mobile technologies incorporate a wide array of system features and strategies that foster user engagement and promote behavior change, such as customization, reminders, self-monitoring, rewards, and peer support [3,7-10].

For mental health apps to be effective and successful, user engagement is critical. However, little consensus exists on how to define and measure engagement [11-13]. Engagement has been inconsistently viewed as a multidimensional construct, variably encompassing behavioral, emotional, and cognitive factors [14,15]. Consequently, engagement measures vary enormously, ranging from self-report questionnaires to system usage data or sensor data [16,17]. In this study, we define user engagement as a behavioral experience that involves people's physical interaction with mobile phone apps [18]. System usage data are the most commonly used behavioral measures of engagement in mobile health (mHealth) interventions, as they can be acquired in the course of app use and require no additional effort from the user [14]. These data quantitatively capture how users physically interact with the app in terms of intensity (eg, number of app use sessions [19]), frequency (eg, number/percentage of days the app is used [20]), duration (eg, time spent on the app [21,22]), time between first and last app use [19,20]), and types (eg, passive, active, reflective, and didactic [23,24]). These measures of behavioral engagement have been found to be related to health outcomes such as psychological well-being [20,22].

However, behavioral engagement metrics have typically employed broad use metrics that measure the quantity of engagement. Few studies have examined more granular user interactions with specific components of mHealth interventions, which might provide insight into how a person is using an app in ways that are clinically meaningful [25]. For example, a user might simply open an app in response to a prompt without any deeper engagement, whereas others might engage in more meaningful activities such as inputting or reflecting on data and reading content. These different types of activities might reflect differing levels and types of engagement, resulting in various health outcomes. Identifying the types of user behaviors could provide insight into what aspects of mHealth interventions are engaging to users and what aspects may drive behavior change and symptom improvement [15,26]. This could also inform opportunities for designing more engaging and clinically effective mHealth interventions.

Zhang et al

This study aimed to provide a categorization of the types of user behaviors in a suite of mental health apps for depression and anxiety. We then examine how the different types of app use are related to improvements in symptoms of depression and anxiety. To provide a holistic picture of app use, we also differentiate the more nuanced app use from generic app use (ie, intensity and duration of app use) and examine how these different use metrics influence outcomes. As such, this study presents the first granular classification of user interactions with mental health apps and their impact on outcomes.

Methods

Participants and Procedure

This study represents a secondary analysis of data from a randomized trial examining the efficacy of coaching and app recommendations to increase engagement with IntelliCare, a suite of mental health apps (Clinicaltrials.gov NCT02801877). Full study details have been described elsewhere [27]. In brief, participants were recruited between July 2016 and May 2017 via social and print media advertising, research registries, and commercial recruitment firms. People interested in participating completed an initial Web-based questionnaire deployed through a secure Web-based data capture system (Research Electronic Data Capture; [28]). The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) aged 18 years or older, (2) reported elevated symptoms of depression (Patient Health Questionnaire-9 [PHQ-9] ≥10) or anxiety (generalized anxiety disorder-7 [GAD-7] ≥8), (3) resided in the United States, (4) could speak and read English, and (5) had an Android phone with data and text plans. Following baseline assessment, 301 eligible participants were randomized to 1 of the 4 treatments within a 2×2 factorial design for 8 weeks. Brief descriptions of the mobile intervention and each condition are provided below. The trial was approved by the Northwestern University Institutional Review Board before participant contact and monitored by an independent data safety monitoring board throughout the study period. All participants provided informed consent.

Treatments

IntelliCare

The IntelliCare platform consists of 12 clinical apps, each targeting a specific behavioral or psychological treatment strategy (eg, cognitive restructuring, behavioral activation, social support, and relaxation) to improve symptoms of depression and anxiety. The specific apps have been described in more detail elsewhere [2,19]. In addition, a Hub app consolidates notifications from the downloaded clinical apps and is able to recommend other apps in the suite. IntelliCare apps prioritize interactive skills training over psychoeducation and are designed for frequent, short interactions.

Coaching

Participants assigned to the coach condition received 8 weeks of coaching aimed to support engagement. Coaching was based on a low-intensity coaching model [29] that relied primarily on brief SMS text messaging (2-3 messages per week) to promote engagement. Participants assigned to the self-guided condition had no sustained contact with coaches. Participants in both



conditions received an orientation call at the beginning of the trial to ensure they had appropriately installed the Hub app and understood how to use the IntelliCare platform.

Recommendations

Participants randomized to the recommendation condition received recommendations for new apps weekly through the Hub app. The recommendation system leveraged app use data from approximately 80,000 users who had downloaded the IntelliCare apps to identify apps that the individual was more likely to use based on their app use profile. Participants not assigned to the recommendation condition did not receive recommendations and were encouraged to explore the apps by themselves.

Measures

App Use Metrics

Usage logs for each app were recorded locally on the user's mobile phone, which were then obtained and analyzed to extract app use metrics. In this study, we categorized 2 types of app use: clinically meaningful app use and generic app use.

Clinically meaningful app use metrics were developed in a 2-step process. First, a group of 5 psychologists who had been involved in the design of the apps created granular app use

markers from raw event data. These app use markers were each defined by a small number of app event data considered to be indicative of meaningful engagement. Examples of such markers are app event data that defined completion of a skill-building exercise, reading psychoeducational text, or logging daily activities. Second, 2 authors (AZ and JN) developed a coding scheme to categorize these app use markers, drawing on existing literature and qualitative interviews with 32 IntelliCare users. Specifically, these 2 authors first collectively coded 18.8% (20/106) of the app use markers to develop the coding scheme and then used this coding scheme to separately categorize the remaining markers. Any disagreements in categorization were sent to the third author (AK), who served as a tiebreaker, and were resolved through rigorous discussion. During this process, we removed a number of app use markers that rarely occurred (eg, texting a friend from within the app) or were not considered clinically meaningful (eg, launching the app and viewing app use tips). Through this process, we identified 67 aggregated activities considered to be clinically meaningful, which we labeled "clinically meaningful use activities." These activities were further grouped into 6 types (see Multimedia Appendix 1). The categorization procedure is presented in the bottom 4 steps of Figure 1. The 6 types of clinically meaningful activities identified were as follows:

Figure 1. Procedure for categorizing app use activities across 13 IntelliCare apps.



- 1. Viewing/listening: reading/watching/listening to content from the app (eg, playing an exercise video, viewing a coping card, and listening to a relaxing audio)
- 2. Creating/inputting: creating and editing content for the purpose of learning and cultivating a skill (eg, identifying a coping activity and creating a positive or self-affirming statement)
- 3. Setting goals: selecting, editing, or adding self-identified or assigned goals (eg, adding or deleting a checklist item and selecting a weekly goal)
- 4. Scheduling: scheduling activities or changing reminders to fit one's schedule (eg, scheduling an upcoming exercise and changing the reminder time)
- 5. Tracking: keeping track of one's own performance or status through checking off, rating, or logging personal activities and moods, including facts and reasons (eg, checking a

completed activity, rating a level of stress, and creating a sleep log)

6. Reviewing: reviewing one's own content and progress (eg, reviewing past activities and lessons).

Generic app use was measured by 2 metrics: intensity of use and duration of use [22]. Intensity of use was defined as a user's total number of app use sessions over the 8-week treatment period. An app use session was specified as a sequence of user-initiated actions or events separated by less than 5 min. Duration of use was defined as the total time an individual spent using the apps over the treatment period. It was calculated by summing the mean duration (in hours) of daily app sessions across all days in treatment.

Outcome Assessment

The primary outcomes of the study were depression and anxiety symptom severity, measured with the PHQ-9 [30] and GAD-7 [31] at baseline and end of treatment (week 8). Higher scores reflect higher levels of depression or anxiety.

Data Analysis

Principal component analysis was performed on the 6 identified types of clinically meaningful activities, standardizing by type, to explore any underlying patterns of these activity types. Medians and IQRs of app use metrics were reported. Then, the relationship between app use metrics and treatment outcomes was analyzed using linear regression analyses, adjusting for baseline PHQ-9 or GAD-7 and randomization strata. We first plotted the bivariate relations between all use metrics and end-of-treatment outcomes, which revealed nonlinear patterns. In response, we categorized each app use metric into 4 quartiles. We considered the first quartile minimal intensity of use, the second quartile low intensity of use, the third quartile moderate intensity of use, and the fourth quartile high intensity of use. Regression models were fit to examine the relationship between the quartiles of app use metrics and outcomes, using the lowest quartile as the reference group. Regression coefficients (beta) with their 95% CIs and significance levels were reported for both unadjusted and adjusted models. In addition, the R^2 values were reported for the unadjusted models to assess the magnitude of the effect. All analyses were performed using R version 3.5.1.

Ethical Standards

The authors assert that all procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national and institutional committees on human experimentation and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008.

Results

Participants

A total of 301 eligible participants were enrolled in the randomized trial. The majority of participants were female (228/301, 75.7%), and the mean age was 37 (SD 11.84) years, ranging from 18 to 69 years. Most (237/301, 78.7%) of the participants identified themselves as white, 29 (9.6%) as African American, 10 (3.3%) as Asian, and 25 (8.3%) as "other." The mean baseline level of depression (PHQ-9) was 13.21 (SD 4.63), and the mean baseline level of anxiety (GAD-7) was 11.98 (SD 4.02). A total of 10 participants discontinued treatment and were lost to follow-up. Further details of the sample and participant flow through the study are reported in the study by Mohr et al [27].

Clinically Meaningful Use

Correlation analysis showed that the 6 identified types of clinically meaningful activities were highly correlated; accordingly, we conducted a principal component analysis to further group these activity types. The analysis identified 3 clusters of meaningful activities that could best be described as: (1) "learning," encompassing "viewing" and "creating;" (2) "goal setting," including "setting goals" and "scheduling;" and (3) "self-tracking," consisting of "reviewing" and "tracking." The first 2 principal components explained 72.4% of the variability in the data (see Figure 2). Figure 1 presents a visual illustration of the categorization of clinically meaningful activities across the apps.



Figure 2. Principal component analysis of the types of clinically meaningful activities.



Self-tracking was performed most often, with a median frequency of 152 activities (IQR 61-300). Learning was performed less often, with a median frequency of 110 activities (IQR 52-191). Goal setting was used the least, with a median frequency of 59 activities (IQR 15-141). We also examined the frequency of overall clinically meaningful app use by combining all the 67 identified clinically meaningful use activities. The median frequency of clinically meaningful app use was 400 (IOR 200-608).

Generic App Use

Over the 8-week treatment period, the median number of app use sessions was 184 (IQR 116-306), and the median duration of app use over the 8-week treatment period was 3.0 hours (IQR 1.7-5.0).

App Use and Depression Outcome

Clinically Meaningful Use

We first examined how each of the 3 clusters of clinically meaningful activities predicted individuals' level of depression at the end of treatment, compared with the lowest quartile (minimal use) of each cluster (Table 1). End of treatment PHQ-9, after controlling for treatment condition and baseline PHQ-9, was significantly related to moderate intensity of learning (beta=-2.17; P=.002); moderate intensity of goal setting (beta=-2.08; P=.007); and low, moderate, and high intensity of self-tracking (beta=-2.46; P=.002; beta=-1.94; P=.01; and beta=-1.92; P=.009, respectively), compared with minimal intensity use. Moreover, learning and control variables accounted for 29.2% variance of the model (adjusted R^2 =0.292), goal setting and control variables accounted for 26.5% variance of the model (adjusted R^2 =0.265), and self-tracking and control variables accounted for 27.4% variance of the model (adjusted $R^2 = 0.274$).



Table 1. Regression models of 3 clusters of clinically meaningful activities predicting depression outcome.

Covariate	Model 1 ^a		Model 2 ^b		Model 3 ^c	
	Estimate (SE)	P value	Estimate (SE)	P value	Estimate (SE)	P value
Intercept	1.86 (0.93)	.047	1.57 (0.93)	.09	2.16 (0.91)	.02
Coached	-0.78 (0.52)	.13	-0.42 (0.56)	.46	-0.12 (0.56)	.83
Full Hub	-0.21 (0.50)	.67	-0.28 (0.51)	.59	-0.05 (0.51)	.93
PHQ9_baseline	0.54 (0.05)	<.001	0.56 (0.06)	<.001	0.55 (0.06)	<.001
Learning_minimal intensity ^d						
Learning_low intensity	0.64 (0.73)	.39	e	_	_	—
Learning_moderate intensity	-2.17 (0.71)	.002	_		_	_
Learning_high intensity	-1.22 (0.73)	.09	_	—	_	_
Goal setting_minimal intensity ^d						
Goal setting_low intensity	_		-0.62 (0.76)	.41	_	_
Goal setting_moderate intensity	_	_	-2.08 (0.76)	.007	_	_
Goal setting_high intensity	_	_	-0.76 (0.76)	.32	_	_
Self-tracking_minimal intensity ^d						
Self-tracking_low intensity	_		_	_	-2.46 (0.78)	.002
Self-tracking_moderate intensity	_	_	_	_	-1.94 (0.76)	.01
Self-tracking_high intensity	_	_	_	—	-1.92 (0.73)	.009

 ${}^{a}R^{2}=0.307$; Adjusted $R^{2}=0.292$.

 ${}^{b}R^{2}=0.281$; Adjusted $R^{2}=0.265$.

^c*R*²=0.289; Adjusted *R*²=0.274.

^dValues of reference group.

^eNot applicable.

In addition to examining the 3 identified clusters of clinically meaningful activities, we also explored how outcomes were related to overall clinically meaningful app use. As shown in Table 2 (model 1), after controlling for treatment condition and baseline level of depression, PHQ-9 at the end of treatment was significantly and negatively associated with low intensity of meaningful use (beta=-2.00; P=.007), moderate intensity of meaningful use (beta=-2.05; P=.006), and high intensity of meaningful use (beta=-2.05; P=.006), compared with minimal intensity of clinically meaningful app use. Clinically meaningful app use and the control variables accounted for 27.3% variance of the model (adjusted R^2 =0.273).

Generic App Use

PHQ-9 at the end of treatment was significantly and negatively associated with low intensity of generic app use (beta=-1.44; P=.047), moderate intensity of generic app use (beta=-2.38; P=.001), and high intensity of generic app use (beta=-2.45; P=.001), compared with minimal intensity of generic app use (Table 2, model 2). In general, as the number of generic app use sessions increased, symptoms of depression at the end of treatment decreased. The intensity metrics and control variables accounted for 27.9% variance of the model (adjusted R^2 =0.279). Only moderate duration of use was significantly associated with PHQ-9 at week 8 (beta=-1.52; P=.045) when compared with minimal duration of use (Table 2, model 3). The duration metrics and control variables accounted for 25.8% variance of the model (adjusted R^2 =0.258).



Table 2.	Regression mo	odels of total	meaningful	app use,	generic app	use, and	duration of	f app use	e predicting of	depression	outcome
----------	---------------	----------------	------------	----------	-------------	----------	-------------	-----------	-----------------	------------	---------

Covariate	Model 1 ^a		Model 2 ^b		Model 3 ^b	
	Estimate (SE)	P value	Estimate (SE)	P value	Estimate (SE)	P value
Intercept	2.25 (0.92)	.02	2.24 (0.92)	.02	1.71 (0.93)	.07
Coached	-0.34 (0.53)	.52	-0.58 (0.51)	.26	-0.57 (0.54)	.23
Full Hub	-0.11 (0.51)	.82	0.26 (0.54)	.63	0.02 (0.53)	.98
PHQ9_baseline	0.55 (0.06)	<.001	0.55 (0.05)	<.001	0.54 (0.06)	<.001
Meaningful use_minimal intensity						
Meaningful use_low intensity	-2.00 (0.74)	.007	e	_	_	_
Meaningful use_moderate intensity	-2.07 (0.74)	.006	_	—	_	_
Meaningful use_high intensity	-2.05 (0.74)	.006	_		_	—
Generic app use_minimal intensity ^d						
Generic app use_low intensity	_		-1.44 (0.72)	.047	_	_
Generic app use _moderate intensity	_		-2.38 (0.73)	.001	_	_
Generic app use_high intensity	—		-2.45 (0.76)	.001	_	_
Generic app use_minimal duration ^d						
Generic app use_low duration	_	_	_	_	-0.32 (0.75)	.68
Generic app use_moderate duration	_	_	_	_	-1.52 (0.76)	.045
Generic app use_high duration	_		_		-1.24 (0.78)	.12

^a*R*²=0.288; Adjusted *R*²=0.273.

^b*R*²=0.295; Adjusted *R*²=0.279.

^c*R*²=0.274; Adjusted *R*²=0.258.

^dValues of reference group.

^eNot applicable.

App Use and Anxiety Outcome

Anxiety (GAD-7) at the end of the treatment was neither significantly associated with the 3 clusters of clinically meaningful activities (all Ps>.11) nor the overall clinically meaningful app use (all Ps>.13). Therefore, no further analyses were conducted regarding the association between anxiety and additional generic app use metrics.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study provided a categorization of user behaviors in a suite of mental health apps and investigated how different types of app use were related to improvements in depression and anxiety symptoms following an 8-week intervention. The results showed that different types of clinically meaningful activities (ie, learning, goal setting, and self-tracking) had varied effects on outcomes. Self-tracking at varied levels of intensity was related to improvement in depression symptoms, whereas only moderate intensity of learning and goal setting predicted improvement in depression symptoms. Thus, this study provides insight into how different types of app use might be conducive to improved intervention outcomes.

Drawing on a mixed methods approach, we identified 6 types of clinically meaningful activities across multiple apps, which

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15644/
```

were further grouped into 3 clusters—learning, goal setting, and self-tracking. This categorization was achieved through a combination of qualitative content analysis and quantitative statistical analysis. The results show that users engaged in self-tracking most frequently, followed by learning and goal setting. These 3 types of use activities have been well documented in mHealth and human-computer interaction (HCI) research as approaches to drive engagement and promote behavior change [8,32]. However, little is known about how these activities are related to health outcomes, as previous studies have primarily focused on the clinical outcomes of generic app use [21,33]. By shifting attention from generic app use to a more granular examination of meaningful app use, this study provides a more nuanced understanding of user engagement with mental health apps.

Notably, overall clinically meaningful app use (combination of all 67 identified clinically meaningful use activities) accounted for roughly the same amount of variance in depression severity as explained by the intensity of overall app use (ie., total number of app use sessions). Therefore, our identification of clinically meaningful app use was successful at capturing the activities associated with better mental health outcomes. This suggests that we accurately identified the clinically meaningful intervention components within this suite of apps. As such, we believe that the association between app use and outcome can be largely explained by these clinically meaningful use activities,

XSL•FO RenderX

which clustered into 3 types of activities, reinforcing the importance of self-tracking, goal setting, and psychoeducation elements within mHealth interventions for depression.

More specifically, these 3 clusters of clinically meaningful activities were associated with reductions in depression symptoms at the end of treatment. In particular, self-tracking was found to be beneficial at all levels of intensity compared with minimal intensity of use. This is in accordance with HCI research suggesting that self-tracking, or personal informatics, can lead to behavior change [34], chronic disease management [35], and self-knowledge and self-reflexivity [36,37]. Our study extends this line of research by demonstrating the clinical benefits of self-tracking in the context of mental health. It is important to note that self-tracking in our study consisted of both data collection (ie, tracking) and data reflection (ie, review), as delineated in the stage-based model of personal informatics systems [34]. This suggests that mHealth could better support users by facilitating self-tracking through the incorporation of design features that promote data collection and data reflection.

It is important to note that greater amounts of engagement did not necessarily lead to greater reductions in depression. Although self-tracking was generally beneficial, only a moderate level of engagement with learning and goal setting was associated with reduced depressive symptoms. Neither high nor low intensity of app use could predict better outcomes compared with minimal intensity of use. This result suggests that mHealth interventions might follow the Goldilocks principle-"Not too much. Not too little. Just right" [38]. Just as in many digital technologies, mental health apps do not promise that "the more engagement, the better outcomes;" rather, we argue that the benefits of app use may only be seen when the doses of various classes of intervention features "just right." Too frequent engagement with goal setting and learning may lead to fatigue, whereas too scarce engagement may lead to ineffectiveness. Thus, mental health technologies should be designed to promote use at the right amount, possibly by sending users reminders based on their app use data. An alternate explanation is that people who engage in learning and goal setting more frequently may be less responsive to treatment. That is, perhaps higher engagement in these activities is associated with a more treatment resistant course of depression, or is exhibited by individuals with more complex comorbidities, thereby indicating that the intervention components do not fit the needs of certain individuals. Thus, high engagement in these activities could be an indicator of risk of lower responsiveness to treatment and could be used to guide the implementation of alternative treatment strategies for individuals who are likely to benefit from additional support.

The overall intensity of generic app use also predicted reductions in depression symptoms. Generally, it appears that people who engaged in higher intensity of app use had lower levels of depression at the end of treatment. However, the duration of app use minimally contributed to better outcomes. This finding corresponds to prior work suggesting that people tend to use mobile apps in very short bursts of time, given their habit of using smartphones in spare moments [39,40]. Although duration of engagement plays a critical role in Web-based interventions [21], the current ways in which people interact with smartphones

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15644/

XSL•FO

suggest that mHealth apps should be designed to be quick to use, have simple interactions, and support a single or limited set of related tasks [2,40]. IntelliCare aligns with these endeavors to facilitate frequent but short interactions.

However, our investigation of meaningful app use was not associated with reduced anxiety symptoms. This is consistent with the findings in the main trial, where significant reductions in anxiety symptom were not related to number of app sessions or time between first and last app use but were only associated with the number of app downloads [27]. The discrepancy in effects of app use on depression and anxiety is a novel finding and suggests that different types of use may be more effective for some psychological states and not others. We speculate that motivation may be an important factor. Users in low motivational states may require self-tracking, goal setting, and learning features in specific doses such that they receive enough to be beneficial but not so much that it overwhelms them. On the other hand, anxiety may be less sensitive to dose responses because it is a more activating condition. To understand such nuance, we need more research specifically designed to examine the relationship between clinically meaningful activities and symptoms across various disorders or symptomatology.

Overall, this study has important implications for the design of mHealth for depression, which includes the following:

- Self-tracking, goal setting, and learning are 3 components that have clinical benefits, which should be incorporated into mental health apps.
- Mental health apps could be designed according to the Goldilocks principle, incorporating the "just right" amount of intervention components and promoting use at the right amount, possibly through sending user reminders or alerts based on app use data.
- People tend to use apps in very short bursts of time, so mental health apps should be quick to use, have simple interactions, and support a single or limited set of related tasks.

However, because of the exploratory nature of the research, design considerations derived from this study focus only on app content and engagement. Within the wider context, research indicates that app design and quality assessment must also consider users' lived experience, app usability and stability, and data privacy and security [41]. For example, the critical importance of privacy and security in relation to mental health apps was highlighted in 2 recent studies, which suggest that currently available mental health apps often misuse user data [42] and that users' willingness to share personal sensing data varies depending on the type of data collected and with whom they are shared [43]. Indeed, the importance of these factors is evident within the ever-growing array of app quality measures and guidelines, including those from the American Psychiatric Association [41] and the US Food and Drug Administration [44].

Limitations

Despite its contributions and implications, this study has some limitations. First, the user activities identified in this study were not exhaustive; some activities were eliminated because of their

low frequency. As a secondary analysis, this study is exploratory by nature, and future studies should continue exploring more specific types and patterns of user behaviors in using mHealth technologies and their relationships with outcomes of mental health conditions. Second, although this study demonstrated the associations of both generic and specific app use with clinical outcomes over the treatment period, it is difficult to make causal claims about the effects. The relationship between app use and symptom change is likely dynamic. For example, app use may contribute to lower subsequent symptoms, and symptom changes may in turn increase app use [45]. Experimental studies are warranted to examine how different intervention components uniquely contribute to outcomes. Third, this study only examined outcomes within the 8-week treatment period. Future research could build on this preliminary model to explore the long-term effects of different app use behaviors.

Conclusions

Engagement with digital health interventions is a long-standing problem; however, little is known about how users interact with mental health apps in clinically meaningful ways. This study employed a novel, mixed methods methodology to derive greater understanding of users' engagement with apps that cannot be seen through generic use data. Using a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods, we uncovered 3 clusters of clinically meaningful activities-learning, goal setting, and self-tracking-with each type associated with reductions in depression symptoms. However, different activities and intensities of use produced varied effects. Although only moderate intensity of learning and goal setting led to reductions in symptoms of depression, self-tracking at all levels of intensity predicted improvement in depression. Understanding the relationship between different types of user activities and clinical outcomes could inform the design of mental health apps that are more clinically effective for users.

Acknowledgments

Research was supported by the National Institute of Mental Health (T32 MH115882; R01 MH100482) and National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (K01 DK116925).

Conflicts of Interest

DCM has an ownership interest in Adaptive Health, Inc, which has a license from Northwestern University for IntelliCare and has accepted honoraria from Apple Inc. AKG and MJK have received consulting fees from Actualize Therapy, LLC. None of the other authors have conflicts to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Codebook of the categorization of app use behaviors. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 18 KB - jmir_v21i12e15644_app1.xlsx]

References

- Bardram JE, Frost M, Szántó K, Faurholt-Jepsen M, Vinberg M, Kessing LV. Designing Mobile Health Technology for Bipolar Disorder: A Field Trial of the Monarca System. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2013 Presented at: CHI'13; April 27-May 2, 2013; Paris, France p. 2627-2636. [doi: 10.1145/2470654.2481364]
- Mohr DC, Tomasino KN, Lattie EG, Palac HL, Kwasny MJ, Weingardt K, et al. IntelliCare: an eclectic, skills-based app suite for the treatment of depression and anxiety. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 5;19(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6645] [Medline: 28057609]
- Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Proudfoot J, Christensen H. Mobile apps for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of features and content quality. J Med Internet Res 2015 Aug 17;17(8):e198 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.4581</u>] [Medline: <u>26283290</u>]
- Torous J, Friedman R, Keshavan M. Smartphone ownership and interest in mobile applications to monitor symptoms of mental health conditions. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Jan 21;2(1):e2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2994] [Medline: 25098314]
- Firth J, Torous J, Nicholas J, Carney R, Rosenbaum S, Sarris J. Can smartphone mental health interventions reduce symptoms of anxiety? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Affect Disord 2017 Aug 15;218:15-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.04.046] [Medline: 28456072]
- Fitzpatrick KK, Darcy A, Vierhile M. Delivering cognitive behavior therapy to young adults with symptoms of depression and anxiety using a fully automated conversational agent (Woebot): a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Jun 6;4(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7785] [Medline: 28588005]
- Doherty G, Coyle D, Sharry J. Engagement With Online Mental Health Interventions: an Exploratory Clinical Study of a Treatment for Depression. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2012 Presented at: CHI'12; May 5-10, 2012; Austin, Texas, USA p. 1421-1430. [doi: 10.1145/2207676.2208602]
- 8. Oinas-Kukkonen H, Harjumaa M. Persuasive systems design: key issues, process model, and system features. Commun Assoc Inf Syst 2009;24:485-500. [doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.02428]

- Stawarz K, Preist C, Tallon D, Wiles N, Coyle D. User experience of cognitive behavioral therapy apps for depression: an analysis of app functionality and user reviews. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 6;20(6):e10120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10120] [Medline: 29875087]
- 10. Gravenhorst F, Muaremi A, Bardram J, Grünerbl A, Mayora O, Wurzer G, et al. Mobile phones as medical devices in mental disorder treatment: an overview. Pers Ubiquit Comput 2015;19(2):335-353. [doi: 10.1007/s00779-014-0829-5]
- Doherty K, Doherty G. Engagement in HCI: conception, theory and measurement. ACM Comput Surv 2018;51(5):1-39. [doi: <u>10.1145/3234149</u>]
- 12. Torous J, Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Firth J, Christensen H. Clinical review of user engagement with mental health smartphone apps: evidence, theory and improvements. Evid Based Ment Health 2018 Aug;21(3):116-119. [doi: 10.1136/eb-2018-102891] [Medline: 29871870]
- Yardley L, Spring BJ, Riper H, Morrison LG, Crane DH, Curtis K, et al. Understanding and promoting effective engagement with digital behavior change interventions. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):833-842. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.015</u>] [Medline: <u>27745683</u>]
- 14. Perski O, Blandford A, West R, Michie S. Conceptualising engagement with digital behaviour change interventions: a systematic review using principles from critical interpretive synthesis. Transl Behav Med 2017 Jun;7(2):254-267 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-016-0453-1] [Medline: 27966189]
- Short CE, DeSmet A, Woods C, Williams SL, Maher C, Middelweerd A, et al. Measuring engagement in eHealth and mHealth behavior change interventions: viewpoint of methodologies. J Med Internet Res 2018 Nov 16;20(11):e292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9397] [Medline: 30446482]
- 16. Arapakis I, Lalmas M, Cambazoglu BB, Marcos M, Jose JM. User engagement in online news: Under the scope of sentiment, interest, affect, and gaze. J Assn Inf Sci Tec 2014;65(10):1988-2005. [doi: 10.1002/asi.23096]
- 17. O'Brien HL, Toms EG. The development and evaluation of a survey to measure user engagement. J Am Soc Inf Sci 2010;61(1):50-69. [doi: 10.1002/asi.21229]
- Pham Q, Graham G, Carrion C, Morita PP, Seto E, Stinson JN, et al. A library of analytic indicators to evaluate effective engagement with consumer mHealth apps for chronic conditions: scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jan 18;7(1):e11941 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11941] [Medline: 30664463]
- Lattie EG, Schueller SM, Sargent E, Stiles-Shields C, Tomasino KN, Corden ME, et al. Uptake and usage of IntelliCare: a publicly available suite of mental health and well-being apps. Internet Interv 2016 May;4(2):152-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.06.003] [Medline: 27398319]
- 20. Kwasny MJ, Schueller SM, Lattie E, Gray EL, Mohr DC. Exploring the use of multiple mental health apps within a platform: secondary analysis of the IntelliCare field trial. JMIR Ment Health 2019 Mar 21;6(3):e11572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11572] [Medline: 30896433]
- 21. Couper MP, Alexander GL, Zhang N, Little RJ, Maddy N, Nowak MA, et al. Engagement and retention: measuring breadth and depth of participant use of an online intervention. J Med Internet Res 2010 Nov 18;12(4):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1430] [Medline: 21087922]
- 22. Mattila E, Lappalainen R, Välkkynen P, Sairanen E, Lappalainen P, Karhunen L, et al. Usage and dose response of a mobile acceptance and commitment therapy app: secondary analysis of the intervention arm of a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jul 28;4(3):e90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5241] [Medline: 27468653]
- 23. Cussler EC, Teixeira PJ, Going SB, Houtkooper LB, Metcalfe LL, Blew RM, et al. Maintenance of weight loss in overweight middle-aged women through the internet. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2008 May;16(5):1052-1060 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.19] [Medline: 18309301]
- Glasgow RE, Christiansen SM, Kurz D, King DK, Woolley T, Faber AJ, et al. Engagement in a diabetes self-management website: usage patterns and generalizability of program use. J Med Internet Res 2011 Jan 25;13(1):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1391] [Medline: 21371992]
- 25. Graham ML, Strawderman MS, Demment M, Olson CM. Does usage of an eHealth intervention reduce the risk of excessive gestational weight gain? Secondary analysis from a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 9;19(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6644] [Medline: 28069560]
- 26. Davies C, Corry K, van Itallie A, Vandelanotte C, Caperchione C, Mummery WK. Prospective associations between intervention components and website engagement in a publicly available physical activity website: the case of 10,000 Steps Australia. J Med Internet Res 2012 Jan 11;14(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1792] [Medline: 22260810]
- 27. Mohr DC, Schueller SM, Tomasino KN, Kaiser SM, Alam N, Karr C, et al. Comparison of the effects of coaching and receipt of app recommendations on depression, anxiety, and engagement in the IntelliCare platform: factorial randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 Aug 28;21(8):e13609 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13609] [Medline: 31464192]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 29. Mohr DC, Cuijpers P, Lehman K. Supportive accountability: a model for providing human support to enhance adherence to eHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Mar 10;13(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1602] [Medline: 21393123]

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15644/
```

RenderX

- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 31. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]
- 32. Munson S, Consolvo S. Exploring Goal-setting, Rewards, Self-monitoring, and Sharing to Motivate Physical Activity. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare (PervasiveHealth) and Workshops. 2012 Presented at: PervasiveHealth'12; May 21-24, 2012; San Diego, CA, USA. [doi: 10.4108/icst.pervasivehealth.2012.248691]
- Cheung K, Ling W, Karr CJ, Weingardt K, Schueller SM, Mohr DC. Evaluation of a recommender app for apps for the treatment of depression and anxiety: an analysis of longitudinal user engagement. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Aug 1;25(8):955-962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy023] [Medline: 29659857]
- Li I, Dey A, Forlizzi J. A Stage-Based Model of Personal Informatics Systems. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2010 Presented at: CHI'10; April 10-15, 2010; Atlanta, Georgia, USA p. 557-566. [doi: 10.1145/1753326.1753409]
- 35. MacLeod H, Tang A, Carpendale S. Personal Informatics in Chronic Illness Management. In: Proceedings of Graphics Interface 2013. 2013 Presented at: GI'13; May 29-31, 2013; Regina, Saskatchewan, Canada.
- 36. Lupton D. The Quantified Self. Malden, MA, USA: Polity Press; 2016.
- 37. Neff G, Nafus D. Self-Tracking. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2016.
- 38. Turkle S. Alone Together: Why We Expect More From Technology And Less From Each Other. New York, NY: Basic Books; 2017.
- Oulasvirta A, Tamminen S, Roto V, Kuorelahti J. Interaction in 4-second Bursts: the Fragmented Nature of Attentional Resources in Mobile HCI. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2005 Presented at: CHI'05; April 2-7, 2005; Portland, Oregon, USA. [doi: 10.1145/1054972.1055101]
- Vaish R, Wyngarden K, Chen J, Cheung B, Bernstein M. Twitch Crowdsourcing: Crowd Contributions in Short Bursts of Time. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2014 Presented at: CHI'14; April 26 - May 1, 2014; Toronto, Ontario, Canada p. 3645-3654. [doi: 10.1145/2556288.2556996]
- Torous JB, Chan SR, Gipson SY, Kim JW, Nguyen T, Luo J, et al. A hierarchical framework for evaluation and informed decision making regarding smartphone apps for clinical care. Psychiatr Serv 2018 May 1;69(5):498-500. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201700423] [Medline: 29446337]
- 42. Huckvale K, Torous J, Larsen ME. Assessment of the data sharing and privacy practices of smartphone apps for depression and smoking cessation. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Apr 5;2(4):e192542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.2542] [Medline: 31002321]
- 43. Nicholas J, Shilton K, Schueller SM, Gray EL, Kwasny MJ, Mohr DC. The role of data type and recipient in individuals' perspectives on sharing passively collected smartphone data for mental health: cross-sectional questionnaire study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 5;7(4):e12578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12578] [Medline: 30950799]
- 44. US Food and Drug Administration. 2019. Digital Health Software Precertification (Pre-Cert) Program. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/digital-health/digital-health-software-precertification-pre-cert-program</u> [accessed 2019-11-08]
- 45. Mohr DC, Duffecy J, Jin L, Ludman EJ, Lewis A, Begale M, et al. Multimodal e-mental health treatment for depression: a feasibility trial. J Med Internet Res 2010 Dec 19;12(5):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1370] [Medline: 21169164]

Abbreviations

GAD-7: generalized anxiety disorder-7 HCI: human-computer interaction mHealth: mobile health PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 25.07.19; peer-reviewed by K Stawarz, C Striley, V Strotbaum, C Pasarelu; comments to author 21.09.19; revised version received 04.10.19; accepted 20.10.19; published 20.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Zhang R, Nicholas J, Knapp AA, Graham AK, Gray E, Kwasny MJ, Reddy M, Mohr DC Clinically Meaningful Use of Mental Health Apps and its Effects on Depression: Mixed Methods Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15644 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15644/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/15644</u>

PMID:<u>31859682</u>



©Renwen Zhang, Jennifer Nicholas, Ashley A Knapp, Andrea K Graham, Elizabeth Gray, Mary J Kwasny, Madhu Reddy, David C Mohr. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 20.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Understanding Drivers of Resistance Toward Implementation of Web-Based Self-Management Tools in Routine Cancer Care Among Oncology Nurses: Cross-Sectional Survey Study

Matthijs de Wit^{1,2,3}, MSc; Mirella Kleijnen⁴, PhD; Birgit Lissenberg-Witte⁵, PhD; Cornelia van Uden-Kraan^{1,2,3}, PhD; Kobe Millet⁴, PhD; Ruud Frambach⁴, PhD; Irma Verdonck-de Leeuw^{1,2,3,6}, PhD

¹Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of Clinical, Neuro- and Developmental Psychology, Amsterdam, Netherlands

²Cancer Center Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

³Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁴Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, School of Business and Economics, Department of Marketing, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁵Amsterdam UMC, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Amsterdam, Netherlands

⁶Amsterdam UMC, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Irma Verdonck-de Leeuw, PhD Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Department of Clinical, Neuro- and Developmental Psychology Van der Boechorstraat 7 Amsterdam, 1081 BT Netherlands Phone: 31 204440988 Email: im.verdonck@vumc.nl

Abstract

Background: Supporting patients to engage in (Web-based) self-management tools is increasingly gaining importance, but the engagement of health care professionals is lagging behind. This can partly be explained by resistance among health care professionals.

Objective: The aim of this study was to investigate drivers of resistance among oncology nurses toward Web-based self-management tools in cancer care.

Methods: Drawing from previous research, combining clinical and marketing perspectives, and several variables and instruments, we developed the Resistance to Innovation model (RTI-model). The RTI-model distinguishes between passive and active resistance, which can be enhanced or reduced by functional drivers (incompatibility, complexity, lack of value, and risk) and psychological drivers (role ambiguity, social pressure from the institute, peers, and patients). Both types of drivers can be moderated by staff-, organization-, patient-, and environment-related factors. We executed a survey covering all components of the RTI-model on a cross-sectional sample of nurses working in oncology in the Netherlands. Structural equation modeling was used to test the full model, using a hierarchical approach. In total, 2500 nurses were approached, out of which 285 (11.40%) nurses responded.

Results: The goodness of fit statistic of the uncorrected base model of the RTI-model (n=239) was acceptable (χ^2_1 =9.2; Comparative Fit Index=0.95; Tucker Lewis index=0.21; Root Mean Square Error of Approximation=0.19; Standardized Root Mean Square=0.016). In line with the RTI-model, we found that both passive and active resistance among oncology nurses toward (Web-based) self-management tools were driven by both functional and psychological drivers. Passive resistance toward Web-based self-management tools was enhanced by complexity, lack of value, and role ambiguity, and it was reduced by institutional social pressure. Active resistance was enhanced by complexity, lack of value, and social pressure from peers, and it was reduced by social pressure from the institute and patients. In contrast to what we expected, incompatibility with current routines was not a significant driver of either passive or active resistance. This study further showed that these drivers of resistance were moderated by expertise (*P*=.03), managerial support (*P*=.004), and influence from external stakeholders (government; *P*=.04).

Conclusions: Both passive and active resistance in oncology nurses toward Web-based self-management tools for patients with cancer are driven by functional and psychological drivers, which may be more or less strong, depending on expertise, managerial support, and governmental influence.

RenderX

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14985) doi:10.2196/14985

KEYWORDS

psycho-oncology; health-related quality of life; self-management; eHealth; implementation science; resistance to innovations

Introduction

In current health care, self-management is increasingly gaining importance. Self-management is defined as "those tasks that individuals undertake to deal with the medical, role, and emotional management of their health condition(s)" [1]. Despite the benefits of self-management [2,3], engagement by patients, as well as health care professionals, is still lagging behind. Self-management support in cancer care is a rather new area and not yet implemented in routine care in many countries and settings. Electronic health (eHealth) might facilitate engagement in self-management. A recent meta-review on eHealth targeting patients with cancer showed positive effects on perceived support, knowledge levels, and information competence [4]. Therefore, moving toward Web-based self-management tools as part of personal health management seems a promising avenue, but to date, the actual use of such tools is also still more an aspiration than a reality. Implementing innovations successfully, such as integrating Web-based self-management tools in clinical processes, requires institutional commitment from the management and buy-in from health care professionals and, ultimately, patients [5]. Resistance toward innovations, such as Web-based self-management, is an important phenomenon that potentially hinders a successful takeoff. In cancer care, there is an important role for oncology nurses in stimulating and supporting self-management behaviors in patients [6-9]. Understanding potential resistance regarding Web-based self-management among oncology nurses is therefore key to successfully integrating the use of Web-based self-management tools in routine cancer care.

Resistance is typically characterized by different levels of intensity. In line with previous research, we differentiate between passive and active resistance. Passive resistance represents a generic, initial attitude to resist an innovation [10], where an individual (ie, the nurse) does not adopt an innovation or postpones the decision until there is a clear reason to change routine care. Active resistance is characterized by a conscious, deliberate decision. This may go beyond the individual's decision to reject, involving public displays of disapproval and actively encouraging others to resist the innovation as well [11,12]. Nurses may "make or break" a patient's use of such tools, as patients often regard nurses as authoritative figures; in addition, they are key players in the introduction of Web-based self-management tools [6-9]. Both passive and active resistance may hamper implementation of Web-based self-management tools, but knowledge about drivers of passive and active resistance among oncology nurses is lacking. Therefore, the objective of this study was to investigate the drivers of passive and active resistance among oncology nurses toward Web-based self-management and identify possible factors that may moderate the effect of these drivers. The results of this study are highly relevant in developing future interventions that aim to improve implementation of Web-based self-management tools.

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14985/

Methods

Study Design, Participants, and Recruitment

All participants in this cross-sectional survey study were registered nurses working in oncology care in Dutch health care organizations. On the basis of sample size calculations for structural equation models, the minimum sample size for the base model structure was set at 100 (anticipated effect size: 0.1; desired statistical power level: 0.95; number of latent variables: 2; number of observed variables: 8; probability level: 0.05) [13]. To investigate potential moderating effects, we aimed to include 400 participants. In line with policies regarding studies among health care professionals in the Netherlands, no informed consent, further than regular provision of information about the study, was needed.

Participants were recruited in the second half of 2016 through "V&VN Oncologie," a professional association for Dutch oncology nurses. All 2500 members were first approached through a call in the monthly email newsletter to fill out an open Web-based version of the survey (data of respondents were protected and only accessible by authorized users: the authors). Respondents filled out the same version of the survey and were presented with a limited number of questions per page. Respondents were asked to answer all questions. If there were blank answers, respondents were prompted to fill out all answers (respondents could still skip and leave an answer blank). Respondents could navigate freely between successive pages before submitting the Web-based survey. To incentivize participation, participants were offered a €10 participation fee and were able to enter a raffle to win a tablet, smartwatch, or gift card. Initial response was lower than anticipated (n=276,initial response rate: 11.04%); therefore, a paper version of the survey was subsequently distributed among the attendees of the yearly 2-day conference for nurses working in Dutch oncology, organized by the V&VN Oncology. This conference was attended by V&VN Oncology members who perhaps had already seen the first survey recruitment messages, as well as nonmembers who had not seen the messages yet. Another 400 hard copies of the survey were distributed at the conference, of which 81 were returned (response rate: 20.3%). In total, 357 out of 2500 nurses responded (response rate 14.28%). To prevent multiple entries from the same individual, double entries were removed on the basis of personal identifiable information entered by participants, preserving the first entry. In addition, initially, only respondents who completed the demographics section of the survey were included, leading to a study population of 285 out of 2500 potential participants (response rate: 11.40%).

Measures

For this study, the Resistance to Innovation model (RTI-model) was developed and used (Figure 1). The RTI-model draws from theory of innovation resistance, related frameworks in health

XSL•FO

de Wit et al

care, and, especially, the field of implementation science [10,11,14-17]. The outcome to actively or passively resist an innovation can be influenced by functional and psychological drivers. Functional drivers include incompatibility with current routines [18], complexity of the innovation [19], lack of value—especially in comparison with existing alternatives [20,21]—and expected risks about performance and reliability [12,20,22]. Psychological drivers include role ambiguity, which is defined as the lack of clarity on how to incorporate and use an innovation in routine care [23], as well as social pressure [24] from patients, peers, and the organization. The effect of these drivers on resistance may be moderated by staff-, organization-, patient-, and environment-related characteristics.

These included experience and expertise in supporting patients in (Web-based) self-management activities (staff related) [23], institutional orientation and support, technical support, managerial support (organization related) [24], ability of patients, as well as value for patients as perceived by nurses (patient related), dynamics of Dutch oncological care [25], and influences of external stakeholders (government and health care insurance companies; environment-related). Several staff-related control variables were included: demographics (age, type of institution, position, counselor position, and years of experience), tendency to comply [26], and organizational commitment [27]. "Perceived rate of adoption" was included as an organization-related control variable (see Figure 1).





To cover all components of the RTI-model (passive and active resistance, functional and psychological drivers of resistance, and moderating and control variables), a 118-item survey was composed, including 34 scales (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for an overview of all items and scales used for each variable. See Multimedia Appendix 2 for the questionnaire). On the basis of psychometric properties, some scales were excluded from further analyses (see Results section and Multimedia Appendix 1 for more information, such as factor loadings). The previously validated multi-item scales were tailored to the context of Web-based self-management and health care institutions in the Netherlands. Most original items were transformed to 5-point Likert scales, ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. The draft version of the survey was pretested among 9 nurses using the plus-minus method [28], combined with an interview with debriefing questions. Feedback from this pretest resulted in minor changes, such as reformulation of certain items and answer options, addition of total estimated time needed to fill out the questionnaire, and an example of the concept of

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14985/

RenderX

self-management for clarification purposes. The electronic survey was thoroughly tested regarding usability and technical functionality by the authors, but this was not part of the pretest. Translation validation was based on consensus among the authors, partially informed by the pretest among 9 nurses.

Statistical Analyses

A 2-step approach was used to test the RTI-model and assess the fit of the final model [29]. Only complete cases at the base model were included in the analyses of the RTI-model. In the first step, a Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA), using Lavaan for R [30], was performed to examine the consistency of all measurement scales for variables with more than 2 items. To purify the measures, factor loadings (factor loading <0.5 and >3.0 compared with the reference factor), fit indices (Comparative Fit Index/Tucker Lewis index [CFI/TLI] \geq 0.9; Root Mean Square Error of Approximation [RMSEA] <0.06; Standardized Root Mean Square [SRMR] <0.08), and consensus among the authors were used as decision rules to remove items,

to split measurement scales into 2 or more new variables, or to combine separate scales into 1 new variable. These modifications based on the CFA results are reported in the Results section and led to improvements regarding reliability and validity of the set of measures, to perform the next steps in the analysis.

In the second step, structural equation modeling, using Mplus (version 7) [31], was used to test the full model via a hierarchical approach. A base model was estimated first, including all direct effects of functional and psychological drivers on the exogenous constructs' passive and active resistance. Thereafter, several control variables were added individually to the base model as direct effects on the exogenous constructs. Control variables were modeled uncorrelated with the endogenous constructs, and correlations were added one by one on the basis of modification indices >10. The control variables were "demographics" (modeled as 1 latent variable comprising age, type of institution, position, counselor position [providing psychosocial care], and years of experience), organizational commitment, and perception of rate of adoption. Following this, moderators were investigated in the base model with multi-group

Table 1. Study sample characteristics.

comparison, after dividing the moderator in 2 groups by using a median split. Finally, each moderator was added as direct effects to the base model and to each of the models that were corrected for the control variables. The moderators were modeled to be uncorrelated to the endogenous constructs and control variables, and variables were allowed to be correlated on the basis of modification indices >10 to improve the fit of the model.

Results

Sample Characteristics

In total, 285 nurses participated, of whom 239 participants filled out all questions. Most participants were female (227/239, 94.4%). Their mean age was 43 years (SD 10.8) and a majority (150/239, 62.8%) were oncology nurses by training. The median years of working experience was 6 years (IQR 2-12 years), and the majority worked on a part-time basis. All sample characteristics are presented in Table 1. Differences between nurses who completed the questionnaire and those who did not are presented in Table 2. Groups differed significantly on training (P=.01) and type of hospital (P=.02).

Variables	Nurses (N=239)
Age (years), mean (SD)	43.3 (10.8)
Sex, n (%)	
Female	227 (94.4)
Male	12 (5.6)
Training, n (%)	
Nurse	25 (10.5)
Nurse specialist	64 (26.8)
Oncology nurse	150 (62.8)
Counseling, n (%)	
Yes	128 (53.6)
No	111 (46.4)
Type of hospital, n (%)	
University hospital	69 (28.9)
General teaching hospital	91 (38.1)
General hospital	54 (22.6)
Miscellaneous (home care and hospice)	25 (10.5)
New patients each year, n (%)	
0-50	37 (15.5)
51-100	83 (34.7)
>100	118 (49.4)
Missing	1 (0.4)
Years of experience current position, median (IQR)	6 (2-12)
Working hours per week, median (IQR)	32 (26-32)

RenderX

Table 2.	Statistics	of incom	plete cases	compared	with	complete cases.
14010 -	blaubuob	or meoning		comparea	** 1011	complete cases.

de Wit et al

Variables	Complete cases (N=239)	Incomplete cases (N=46)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	43.3 (10.8)	44.2 (10.9)	.62
Sex, n (%)			.29
Female	227 (94.4)	41 (89.1)	
Male	12 (5.6)	4 (8.7)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1 (2.2)	
Training, n (%)			.01
Nurse	25 (10.5)	12 (26.1)	
Nurse specialist	64 (26.8)	8 (17.4)	
Oncology nurse	150 (62.8)	26 (56.5)	
Counseling, n (%)			.26
Yes	128 (53.6)	20 (43.5)	
No	111 (46.4)	25 (54.3)	
Missing	0 (0.0)	1 (2.2)	
Type of hospital, n (%)			.02
University hospital	69 (28.9)	8 (17.4)	
General teaching hospital	91 (38.1)	15 (32.6)	
General hospital	54 (22.6)	11 (23.9)	
Miscellaneous (home care and hospice)	25 (10.5)	12 (26.1)	
Number of new patients each year, n (%)			.13
0-50	37 (15.5)	9 (19.6)	
51-100	83 (34.7)	9 (19.6)	
>100	118 (49.4)	28 (60.9)	
Missing	1 (0.4)	0 (0)	
Years of experience current position			.22
Median	6	8	
Range	0-36	0-30	
IQR	2-12	2-14	
Working hours per week			.34
Median	32	30	
Range	16-40	24-38	
IQR	26-32	25.5-32	

Measurement Model Results

Confirmatory Factor Analyses

The validity of most scales with more than 2 items was good. For 5 scales, either 1 item was removed or more items were removed: complexity (item 2; functional driver), social pressure from the institution (item 2; psychological driver), experience (item 1 and 3; staff-related moderator), perception of rate of adoption (item 1; control variable of organizational-related moderator), and rejection (item 1; active resistance). Active resistance was initially operationalized on 2 subdimensions—rejection and opposition—but based on the analysis merged into 1 overall variable capturing active

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14985/
```

XSL•FO RenderX resistance. A total of 2 scales were split: dynamics of the environment (item 1 and 3 and item 2 and 4; environment-related moderator) and tendency to comply (item 1 and 2; staff-related control variable). Final factor loadings for each scale are reported in Multimedia Appendix 1, and an overview of all decisions made on the basis of the CFA results.

Structural Equation Model

The goodness of fit statistic of the uncorrected base model (Figure 2) was acceptable [32]— χ^2_1 =9.2; CFI=0.95; TLI=0.21; RMSEA=0.19; SRMR=0.016; Tables 3 and 4. Passive resistance was enhanced by complexity, lack of value, and role ambiguity, whereas social pressure from the institute significantly reduced passive resistance. Active resistance was enhanced by

complexity, lack of value, and social pressure from peers, and this was reduced by social pressure from the institution and from patients. Of the moderators presented in Figure 1, only the significant moderators are discussed, that is, expertise, managerial support, and influence external stakeholders (government; see Tables 3 and 4 and Figure 2). Correcting the models for the control variables produced similar factor loadings and model fits results.







Table 3. Standardized factor loadings of functional and psychological drivers on active and passive resistance, including moderator effects: Base model (Model 1), Expertise regarding self-management as moderator (Model 2), Influence from Government as moderator (Model 3), and Managerial support as moderator (Model 4).

Driver	ver Model 1: Base Model 2: Expertise model (N=239)		Model 3: Influence from gov- ernment		Model 4: Managerial support		
		Low (N=110)	High (n=129)	Low (n=104)	High (n=135)	Low (n=126)	High (n=111)
Passive resistance							
Incompatibility	0.035	0.12	-0.035	0.14	-0.053	0.010	0.14
Complexity	0.21 ^a	0.24	0.093	0.048	0.37 ^b	0.094	0.39 ^b
Lack of value	0.20 ^a	0.44 ^c	0.12	0.23	0.13	0.094	0.24 ^a
Risk	0.15	-0.068	0.26 ^a	0.064	0.25 ^a	0.12	0.19
Role ambiguity	0.34 ^c	0.11	0.39 ^b	0.34 ^b	0.34 ^b	0.31 ^b	0.30 ^b
Social pressure: institutional	-0.21 ^b	-0.32 ^c	-0.12	-0.075	-0.29 ^b	-0.073	-0.27 ^b
Social pressure: peers	-0.033	0.006	-0.15	-0.13	0.023	-0.089	0.12
Social pressure: patients	-0.068	0.076	-0.14	-0.19	0.067	-0.098	-0.020
Active resistance							
Incompatibility	0.031	0.10	-0.001	0.010	0.022	-0.079	0.22
Complexity	0.30 ^c	0.37 ^c	0.22 ^b	0.18	0.38 ^c	0.19 ^b	0.44 ^c
Lack of value	0.23 ^c	0.41 ^c	0.14	0.12	0.26 ^c	0.12	0.26 ^b
Risk	0.089	-0.058	0.15 ^a	0.17	0.075	0.14 ^a	0.088
Role ambiguity	-0.041	-0.13	-0.022	-0.027	-0.045	0.066	-0.16
Social pressure: institutional	-0.11 ^a	-0.13 ^a	-0.11	0.008	-0.15 ^b	-0.065	-0.21 ^b
Social pressure: peers	0.15 ^b	0.019	0.19 ^b	0.012	0.21 ^c	0.050	0.30 ^c
Social pressure: patients	-0.11 ^a	0.044	-0.21 ^b	-0.20 ^a	0.010	-0.13 ^a	-0.025

^aP≤.05. ^bP≤.01.

cP≤.001.



Table 4. Model information of the different models: Base model (Model 1), Expertise regarding self-management as moderator (Model 2), Influence from Government as moderator (Model 3), and Managerial support as moderator (Model 4).

Model information	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Mode fit indices				
χ^2 (df)	9.2 (1)	8.4 (2)	6.2 (2)	7.2 (2)
P value	.002 ^a	.02 ^b	.045 ^b	.03 ^b
CFI ^c	0.95	0.95	0.98	0.97
TLI ^d	0.21	0.22	0.61	0.51
RMSEA ^e	0.19	0.16	0.13	0.15
SRMR ^f	0.016	0.016	0.013	0.015
Multigroup comparison: Wald (<i>df</i> =16); <i>P</i> value	g	28.21; .03 ^b	27.472; .04 ^b	34.91; .004 ^a
Residual variances				
Passive resistance	0.43	0.32 ^h ; 0.47 ⁱ	0.43 ^h ; 0.40 ⁱ	0.46 ^h ; 0.30 ⁱ
Active resistance	0.19	0.17 ^h ; 0.18 ⁱ	0.19 ^h ; 0.16 ⁱ	0.16 ^h ; 0.19 ⁱ

 $^{a}P \leq .01.$

 $^{b}P \leq .05.$

^cCFI: Comparative Fit Index.

^dTLI: Tucker Lewis index.

^eRMSEA: Root Mean Square Error of Approximation.

^fSRMR: Standardized Root Mean Square Residual.

^gNot applicable.

^hLow subgroup.

ⁱHigh subgroup.

With regard to possible staff-related moderators, expertise regarding self-management was found to significantly moderate the effect of functional and psychological drivers on resistance (P=.03, Table 4), whereas experience was not (P=.29). Among nurses with a low level of expertise, lack of value enhanced passive resistance, whereas institutional pressure reduced passive resistance. Complexity and lack of value enhanced active

resistance, and institutional pressure reduced active resistance for this group (Figure 3). Among nurses with a high level of expertise (Figure 3), risk and role ambiguity significantly enhanced passive resistance. Complexity, risk, and social pressure from peers significantly enhanced active resistance among nurses with high levels of expertise, whereas pressure from patients reduced active resistance among these nurses.





XSL•FO

Perceived influence of external stakeholders (government; environmental moderator) also had a significant moderating effect (P=.04). Among nurses who perceived lower levels of influence from the government (Figure 4), role ambiguity significantly enhanced passive resistance, and social pressure from patients significantly reduced active resistance. Among nurses who perceived high levels of influence from the government (Figure 4), complexity, risk, and role ambiguity enhanced passive resistance, whereas social pressure from the institute significantly reduced passive resistance. Among these nurses who perceived high levels of governmental influence, complexity, lack of value, and social pressure from peers significantly enhanced active resistance. Social pressure from the institute significantly reduced active resistance (Figure 4). Another significant moderating effect was found for managerial support (P=.004; organizational moderator). Among nurses who perceived lower levels of managerial support (Figure 5), role ambiguity significantly enhanced passive resistance; complexity and risk significantly enhanced active resistance, whereas social pressure from patients significantly reduced active resistance. Among nurses who perceived a high level of managerial support (Figure 5), complexity, lack of value, and role ambiguity were significant drivers of passive resistance, whereas institutional social pressure significantly reduced passive resistance. For this group, complexity, lack of value, and social pressure from peers enhanced active resistance, whereas institutional social pressure significantly reduced active resistance.

Figure 4. Schematic overview of the moderating effect of perceived influence of external stakeholders (government) among nurses with low (left) and high (right) levels of perceived influence of external stakeholders (government). $*P \le .05$, $**P \le .01$, $***P \le .001$.



Figure 5. Schematic overview of the moderating effects of managerial support on the effect of functional and psychological drivers on passive and active resistance among nurses with low (left) and high (right) levels of managerial support. $*P \le .05$, $**P \le .01$, $***P \le .001$.



XSL•FO

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study showed that among oncology nurses, passive resistance toward Web-based self-management tools was enhanced by complexity, lack of value, and role ambiguity, and it was reduced by institutional social pressure. Active resistance was enhanced by complexity, lack of value, and social pressure from peers, and it was reduced by social pressure from the institute and patients. In contrast to what we expected, incompatibility with current routines was not a significant driver of either passive or active resistance. This study further showed that these drivers of resistance were moderated by expertise, managerial support, and influence from external stakeholders (government).

Perceived complexity of working with Web-based self-management tools was an important driver of both passive and active resistance among nurses, which is consistent with the view that complexity (related to "ease of use") is a key factor when evaluating innovations or technology [33,34]. Manufacturers of innovations should therefore pay extra attention to make sure the end user understands the advantage of using the innovation. If the advantages of a service can be clearly conveyed, health care providers are more likely to try it [23] and experience the (lack of) complexity themselves.

Lack of value was a significant driver of both passive and active resistance in this study. When nurses view an innovation to be of little added value to their current way of working or when they already use existing tools, this leads to higher resistance. This effect was also observed in a study among general practitioners (GPs) on referring patients to self-management programs, where a negative evaluation by GPs of advantages offered by such programs created a barrier toward implementation [35]. Another study investigating nurses' evaluations of new technologies also recognized "advantages offered" versus "the lack thereof" as the most commonly mentioned driver for both enhancing and impeding implementation [36]. However, even when providers recognize the value of an innovation, it can still potentially lead to resistance. A study on the implementation of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) reported that providers still voiced concerns, even when they acknowledged the value of those PROMs [37]. In this study, the lack of value was especially important as a driver of passive and active resistance among nurses with a low level of expertise but not among those with a high level of expertise. Nurses with low levels of expertise are likely to have less knowledge about such tools; therefore, they perhaps have difficulty assessing the value of the tool, resulting in a more conservative evaluation that tends to be more toward the negative side. Addressing lack of value can be challenging, but improving the performance of the tool, as well as positioning it differently, might reduce resistance caused by this driver.

Risk was found to enhance passive and active resistance, but it did so only among nurses with a high level of expertise. Uncertainty about the reliability and satisfaction of use with an innovation can lead to postponement of adoption until the

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14985/
```

XSI•FC

adopting user can learn more about it [12]. In addition, when an innovation is perceived as a major change in the way of working, this is associated with higher levels of perceived risk [38,39]. Nurses with a high level of expertise might consider themselves able and qualified and therefore justified to vocalize their opinions and express their resistance when risk reaches a certain threshold. Risk can potentially be addressed through endorsements and testimonials, as well as facilitation of trialing the tool [12].

Role ambiguity was a significant driver of passive (but not active) resistance, especially in nurses with a high level of expertise. This finding may be similar to what we found for the risk driver: because of their abilities, they are more likely to recognize the problematic nature of role ambiguity and consequently express their concerns about the implementation of such an innovation. A study among customers in their evaluation of a new self-service system found that even a positive evaluation could be trumped by role ambiguity, which may lead to the customer not trying the service [23]. This phenomenon was also observed among nurses, where ambiguous role clarity was linked to low research utilization in evidence-based practice [40]. A recent study looking into self-management support among nurses in oncology found low levels of self-reported confidence and actual use regarding "using assistive devices and technology (ie, eHealth) to provide remote guidance" (ie, Web-based self-management tools), perhaps indicating a form of role ambiguity and therefore low levels of use [41]. Greenhalgh et al postulated that new interventions can have a "hard core" (the innovation itself) and a "soft periphery" (the organizational structures and systems required for the full implementation of the innovation) [42]. Role ambiguity may occur, as the innovation lacks a "hard core" [43] or as clear working instructions or role boundaries are lacking. Role ambiguity may therefore also be addressed by providing education and training, as well as contextually relevant education aids (eg, wallet cards with instructions) [23].

Social pressure was a significant driver of both passive and active resistance. Institutional social pressure reduced both types of resistance, especially among nurses with a low level of expertise, which is in line with findings that coercive institutional pressure results in positive intentions in the adoption process [24]. In addition, social pressure from patients was found to reduce active resistance, especially among nurses with a high level of expertise. In contrast, social pressure from peers was found to significantly enhance active resistance, especially among nurses with high levels of expertise. One explanation could perhaps be found in the psychological reactance theory, which suggests that when an individual perceives a message as threatening to his or her ability to enact free behavior (ie, an experienced nurse being told what to do, ie, by peers), the said individual experiences reactance. This could consequently lead to restorative behaviors (ie, resistance), to restore their threatened freedom [44,45].

Incompatibility was not found to be a significant driver of resistance in this study. This is perhaps partially caused by the perception that the usage of self-management tools can be modified to be compatible with current ways of working.

Moderating effects on drivers of resistance were staff related (nurses' expertise), organization related (managerial support), and environment related (governmental influence). The moderating effect of expertise suggests that social pressure should be used with caution in implementation interventions, as active resistance among nurses with high levels of expertise can only be reduced by social pressure from patients and the institution, but not from peers. This finding sheds light on the commonly used practice of "implementation champions" [46], suggesting that this is not always the straightforward choice; however, more research is needed to understand this process. Managerial support and governmental influence may be viewed as important sources of stimulation. When these are perceived to be high, the effect of social pressure from patients to reduce resistance disappears, whereas the reducing effects of social pressure from patients on resistance remain when this stimulation is perceived as low. Social pressure from the institute only seems effective in reducing passive and active resistance among nurses with low levels of expertise, when managerial support is perceived to be high, or when governmental influence is perceived to be high. This is in line with current views that when implementing an innovation, both executive vision and strategic vision are of key importance (which could be expressed through social pressure from the institute, managerial support, and governmental influence) [47-49].

Managerial Implications

Implementation interventions that aim to reduce passive resistance would probably be most effective, addressing the complexity, lack of value, risk, and role ambiguity surrounding the innovation. This could involve, for example, facilitating trial, communicating relative advantages in a better manner, offering testimonials, providing clear instructions for working with the innovation, or even by making (small) changes to the innovation itself. The process of reducing passive resistance can be accelerated when the organization as a whole (including management) makes its positive position about the innovation clear. This would mainly be effective for those organizations in which employees have a low level of expertise. In case of high expertise, endorsement from the organization (and management) may not be as effective.

Implementation interventions that aim to reduce active resistance on the contrary (and not primarily passive resistance), should especially address complexity, as well as lack of value and risk. Making (drastic) changes to the innovation itself (besides earlier mentioned activities to better the evaluation of certain drivers) becomes a more viable option to consider with active resistance, considering the potential consequences of active resistance. In the case of active resistance, institutional pressure does not seem to work for people with high expertise, whereas pressure from peers even enhances it. However, pressure from patients does seem to work for the high expertise group; therefore, this can be an effective "pull" toward usage.

Limitations

Although this study provided valuable first insights into drivers of resistance among nurses toward Web-based self-management tools, there are some limitations that need to be addressed. Initially, role conflict was included as a driver, but the variable was excluded from further analysis because of problems with the measurement properties. Furthermore, those who completed all questions, compared with those who did not, differed significantly on training and type of hospital, which is a possible indication of participation bias. In addition, as there is no information about nonrespondents, potential selection bias cannot be completely ruled out. Moreover, we did not reach the 400 respondents we initially aimed for. Furthermore, in the survey, the participants were given short and concise descriptions of the tools that were subject to potential resistance. This is of course different from real-world experiences in evaluating innovations, where context also plays an important role. In addition, this cross-sectional study put participants in an "evaluation mindset," with static information for the duration of filling out the survey. Real-world adoption processes are dynamic however, these keep changing over time, when new information becomes available. The cross-sectional design of the study does not allow to make concrete statements on dynamic effects. In addition, general perceptions on innovative concepts, such as the use of Web-based self-management tools in routine care, are also likely to shift over time (ie, to a more accepting mindset). Future studies should therefore aim to use a longitudinal design, operationalizing the examples that are studied closer to what could be encountered in the real world. Furthermore, generalizations about these findings should be made with caution, as processes like these are very context dependent.

This study contributes to better understanding the drivers of passive and active resistance among nurses who are pivotal stakeholders in the implementation of Web-based self-management tools in routine cancer care. The results of this study are highly relevant to health care organizations that aim to implement Web-based self-management tools.

Conclusions

Passive resistance and active resistance are driven by functional and psychological drivers, and these drivers are moderated by expertise, managerial support, and governmental influence.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all health care professionals who participated in this study. This work was supported by the Dutch Cancer Society/Alpe d'HuZes Fund under Grant VUP 2014-7202. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the paper. The datasets used and/or analyzed during this study will be made available in a data repository.

Authors' Contributions

All authors designed this study. MW collected all responses from participants, both on the Web and offline. BL performed all analyses. All authors were involved in interpretation of the data and read and approved the final paper.

Conflicts of Interest

IMVdL is named as the inventor of Oncokompas, a self-management portal for patients with cancer used in this study (institutional), and IMVdL obtained funding for research related to Oncokompas from the Dutch Cancer Society/Alpe d'HuZes Fund, Pink Ribbon, Achmea Health Care Assurance, Nutricia, and Redkite (all institutional funding). The other authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Overview of all results and statistics. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 118 KB - jmir_v21i12e14985_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Questionnaire used in this study. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 3557 KB - jmir_v21i12e14985_app2.pdf]

References

- McCorkle R, Ercolano E, Lazenby M, Schulman-Green D, Schilling LS, Lorig K, et al. Self-management: enabling and empowering patients living with cancer as a chronic illness. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61(1):50-62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20093] [Medline: 21205833]
- 2. Kim S, Kim K, Mayer D. Self-management intervention for adult cancer survivors after treatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Oncol Nurs Forum 2017 Nov 1;44(6):719-728. [doi: <u>10.1188/17.ONF.719-728</u>] [Medline: <u>29052663</u>]
- 3. Kim AR, Park HA. Web-based self-management support interventions for cancer survivors: a systematic review and meta-analyses. Stud Health Technol Inform 2015;216:142-147. [doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-564-7-142] [Medline: 26262027]
- 4. Slev V, Mistiaen P, Pasman H, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, van Uden-Kraan CF, Francke A. Effects of eHealth for patients and informal caregivers confronted with cancer: a meta-review. Int J Med Inform 2016 Mar;87:54-67. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.12.013] [Medline: 26806712]
- 5. Basch E, Snyder C. Overcoming barriers to integrating patient-reported outcomes in clinical practice and electronic health records. Ann Oncol 2017 Oct 1;28(10):2332-2333. [doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx506] [Medline: 28961852]
- 6. Schulman-Green D, Wagner EH, McCorkle R. Self-Management Support. In: Psycho-oncology. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- Wilkinson M, Whitehead L, Crowe M. Nurses perspectives on long-term condition self-management: a qualitative study. J Clin Nurs 2016 Jan;25(1-2):240-246. [doi: <u>10.1111/jocn.13072</u>] [Medline: <u>26769211</u>]
- 8. Been-Dahmen JM, Dwarswaard J, Hazes JM, van Staa A, Ista E. Nurses' views on patient self-management: a qualitative study. J Adv Nurs 2015 Dec;71(12):2834-2845. [doi: 10.1111/jan.12767] [Medline: 26358863]
- 9. Slev VN, Pasman HR, Eeltink CM, van Uden-Kraan CF, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Francke AL. Self-management support and eHealth for patients and informal caregivers confronted with advanced cancer: an online focus group study among nurses. BMC Palliat Care 2017 Nov 21;16(1):55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12904-017-0238-4] [Medline: 29162081]
- 10. Heidenreich S, Handrich M. What about passive innovation resistance? Investigating adoption-related behavior from a resistance perspective. J Prod Innov Manag 2015;32(6):878-903. [doi: 10.1111/jpim.12161]
- 11. Kleijnen M, Lee N, Wetzels M. An exploration of consumer resistance to innovation and its antecedents. J Econ Psychol 2009;30(3):344-357. [doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2009.02.004]
- 12. Ram S, Sheth JN. Consumer resistance to innovations: the marketing problem and its solutions. J Consum Mark 1989;6(2):5-14. [doi: 10.1108/EUM00000002542]
- 13. DanielSoper. A-priori Sample Size Calculator for Structural Equation Models. URL: <u>https://www.danielsoper.com/statcalc/</u> calculator.aspx?id=89 [accessed 2019-03-04]
- Tabak RG, Khoong EC, Chambers DA, Brownson RC. Bridging research and practice: models for dissemination and implementation research. Am J Prev Med 2012 Sep;43(3):337-350 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.05.024] [Medline: 22898128]
- Nilsen P. Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. Implement Sci 2015 Apr 21;10:53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-015-0242-0] [Medline: 25895742]
- Fleuren MA, Paulussen TG, van Dommelen P, van Buuren S. Towards a measurement instrument for determinants of innovations. Int J Qual Health Care 2014 Oct;26(5):501-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzu060</u>] [Medline: <u>24951511</u>]

RenderX

- 17. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implement Sci 2009 Aug 7;4:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50] [Medline: 19664226]
- 18. Gurtner S. Association for Information Systems (AIS) eLibrary. 2014. Modelling Consumer Resistance to Mobile Health Applications. URL: <u>http://aisel.aisnet.org/ecis2014/proceedings/track09/7</u> [accessed 2015-11-21]
- 19. Schillewaert N, Ahearne MJ, Frambach RT, Moenaert RK. The adoption of information technology in the sales force. Ind Mark Manag 2005;34(4):323-336. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.indmarman.2004.09.013</u>]
- 20. Heidenreich S, Handrich M. Adoption of technology-based services: the role of customers' willingness to co-create. J Serv Manag 2015;26(1):44-71. [doi: 10.1108/josm-03-2014-0079]
- 21. Rijsdijk SA, Hultink EJ, Diamantopoulos A. Product intelligence: its conceptualization, measurement and impact on consumer satisfaction. J Acad Mark Sci 2007;35(3):340-356. [doi: 10.1007/s11747-007-0040-6]
- 22. Grewal D, Gotlieb J, Marmorstein H. The moderating effects of message framing and source credibility on the price-perceived risk relationship. J Consum Res 1994;21(1):145-153. [doi: <u>10.1086/209388</u>]
- 23. Meuter ML, Bitner MJ, Ostrom AL, Brown SW. Choosing among alternative service delivery modes: an investigation of customer trial of self-service technologies. J Mark 2005;69(2):61-83. [doi: <u>10.1509/jmkg.69.2.61.60759</u>]
- 24. Liu H, Ke W, Wei KK, Gu J, Chen H. The role of institutional pressures and organizational culture in the firm's intention to adopt internet-enabled supply chain management systems. J Oper Manag 2010;28(5):372-384. [doi: 10.1016/j.jom.2009.11.010]
- 25. Homburg C, Jensen O. The thought worlds of marketing and sales: which differences make a difference? J Mark 2007;71(3):124-142. [doi: 10.1509/jmkg.71.3.124]
- 26. Guo L, Arnould EJ, Gruen TW, Tang C. Socializing to co-produce: pathways to consumers' financial well-being. J Serv Res 2013;16(4):549-563. [doi: 10.1177/1094670513483904]
- 27. Meyer JP, Allen NJ, Smith CA. Commitment to organizations and occupations: extension and test of a three-component conceptualization. J Appl Psychol 1993;78(4):538-551 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.78.4.538]
- 28. de Jong M, Schellens PJ. Formative evaluation in document design: validity of the plus-minus method for the pretesting of public information brochures. In: Proceedings of the Contemporary Renaissance: Changing the Way we Communicate. Proceedings 1998 IEEE International Professional Communication Conference. 1998 Presented at: IPCC'98; September 23-25, I998; Québec City, Canada p. 123-130. [doi: 10.1109/IPCC.1998.722086]
- 29. Anderson JC, Gerbing DW. Structural equation modeling in practice: a review and recommended two-step approach. Psychol Bull 1988;103(3):411-423. [doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.103.3.411]
- 30. Rosseel Y. lavaan: An R Package for Structural Equation Modeling. J Stat Softw 2012;48(2):1-36. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02]
- Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus: Statistical Analysis With Latent Variables (User's Guide) Version 5. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén; 2007.
- 32. Hooper D, Coughlan J, Mullen M, Hooper D. Structural equation modelling: guidelines for determining model fit. Electron J Bus Res Methods 2008;6(1):53-60 [FREE Full text]
- Proctor E, Silmere H, Raghavan R, Hovmand P, Aarons G, Bunger A, et al. Outcomes for implementation research: conceptual distinctions, measurement challenges, and research agenda. Adm Policy Ment Health 2011 Mar;38(2):65-76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10488-010-0319-7] [Medline: 20957426]
- 34. Davis FD, Bagozzi RP, Warshaw PR. User acceptance of computer technology: a comparison of two theoretical models. Manage Sci 1989;35(8):982-1003. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982]
- 35. Sunaert P, Vandekerckhove M, Bastiaens H, Feyen L, Bussche PV, de Maeseneer J, et al. Why do GPs hesitate to refer diabetes patients to a self-management education program: a qualitative study. BMC Fam Pract 2011 Sep 8;12:94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2296-12-94] [Medline: 21902832]
- de Veer AJ, Fleuren MA, Bekkema N, Francke AL. Successful implementation of new technologies in nursing care: a questionnaire survey of nurse-users. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2011 Oct 27;11:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-11-67] [Medline: 22032728]
- Ridgeway JL, Beebe TJ, Chute CG, Eton DT, Hart LA, Frost MH, et al. A brief Patient-Reported Outcomes Quality of Life (PROQOL) instrument to improve patient care. PLoS Med 2013 Nov;10(11):e1001548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001548] [Medline: 24265598]
- 38. Robertson TS. Innovative Behavior and Communication. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston; 1971.
- 39. Ram S. A model of innovation resistance. Adv Consum Res 1987;14:208-212 [FREE Full text]
- 40. Forsman H, Rudman A, Gustavsson P, Ehrenberg A, Wallin L. Nurses' research utilization two years after graduation--a national survey of associated individual, organizational, and educational factors. Implement Sci 2012 May 18;7:46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-7-46] [Medline: 22607663]
- 41. Jongerden IP, Slev VN, van Hooft SM, Pasman HR, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, de Veer AJ, et al. Self-management support in patients with incurable cancer: how confident are nurses? Oncol Nurs Forum 2019 Jan 13;46(1):104-112. [doi: 10.1188/19.ONF.104-112] [Medline: 30547958]

RenderX

- 42. Greenhalgh T, Robert G, Macfarlane F, Bate P, Kyriakidou O. Diffusion of innovations in service organizations: systematic review and recommendations. Milbank Q 2004;82(4):581-629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00325.x] [Medline: 15595944]
- 43. Freund KM, Battaglia TA, Calhoun E, Dudley DJ, Fiscella K, Paskett E, Patient Navigation Research Program Group. National Cancer Institute Patient Navigation Research Program: methods, protocol, and measures. Cancer 2008 Dec 15;113(12):3391-3399 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.23960] [Medline: 18951521]
- 44. Brehm JW. Psychological Reactance: A Theory of Freedom and Control. Oxford: Academic Press; 1966.
- 45. Tatum NT, Olson MK, Frey TK. Noncompliance and dissent with cell phone policies: a psychological reactance theoretical perspective. Commun Educ 2018;67(2):226-244. [doi: 10.1080/03634523.2017.1417615]
- 46. Miech EJ, Rattray NA, Flanagan ME, Damschroder L, Schmid AA, Damush T. Inside help: an integrative review of champions in healthcare-related implementation. SAGE Open Med 2018;6:2050312118773261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2050312118773261] [Medline: 29796266]
- 47. Martin RL. The execution trap. Drawing a line between strategy and execution almost guarantees failure. Harv Bus Rev 2010;88(7-8):64-71, 168. [Medline: 20607964]
- 48. Morgan NA, Whitler KA, Feng H, Chari S. Research in marketing strategy. J Acad Mark Sci 2018;47(1):4-29. [doi: 10.1007/s11747-018-0598-1]
- 49. NFU e-health. NFU e-health Vision. URL: <u>https://www.citrienfonds-ehealth.nl/over/visie-1/</u>[accessed 2019-12-11] [WebCite Cache ID 78nwJFJ6y]

Abbreviations

CFA: Confirmatory Factor Analysis CFI: Comparative Fit Index eHealth: electronic health GP: general practitioner PROM: patient-reported outcome measure RMSEA: Root Mean Square Error of Approximation RTI-model: Resistance to Innovation model SRMR: Standardized Root Mean Square TLI: Tucker Lewis index

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 10.06.19; peer-reviewed by M Eicher, O Blanson Henkemans; comments to author 28.09.19; revised version received 10.10.19; accepted 22.10.19; published 17.12.19.

Please cite as:

de Wit M, Kleijnen M, Lissenberg-Witte B, van Uden-Kraan C, Millet K, Frambach R, Verdonck-de Leeuw I Understanding Drivers of Resistance Toward Implementation of Web-Based Self-Management Tools in Routine Cancer Care Among Oncology Nurses: Cross-Sectional Survey Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14985 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14985/ doi:10.2196/14985 PMID:31845900

©Matthijs de Wit, Mirella Kleijnen, Birgit Lissenberg-Witte, Cornelia van Uden-Kraan, Kobe Millet, Ruud Frambach, Irma Verdonck-de Leeuw. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 17.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Attitudes Toward Blockchain Technology in Managing Medical Information: Survey Study

Yong Sauk Hau¹, PhD; Jae Min Lee², PhD; Jaechan Park¹, PhD; Min Cheol Chang³, MD

¹Department of Business Administration, School of Business, Yeungnam University, Gyeongsan-si, Republic of Korea

²Department of Pediatrics, College of Medicine, Yeungnam University, Taegu, Republic of Korea

³Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, College of Medicine, Yeungnam University, Taegu, Republic of Korea

Corresponding Author:

Min Cheol Chang, MD Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation College of Medicine Yeungnam University 317-1, Daemyungdong, Namku Taegu, 705-717 Republic of Korea Phone: 82 1093621220 Email: <u>wheel633@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: The recently developed blockchain technology uses a peer-to-peer network to distribute data to all participants for storage. This method enhances data safety, reliability, integrity, and transparency. To successfully introduce blockchain technology to medical data management, it is essential to obtain consent from medical doctors and patients.

Objective: The aim of this study was to examine medical doctors' and patients' attitudes toward the use of blockchain technology and interpret the findings within the framework of expectancy theory.

Methods: In this questionnaire survey, we examined medical doctors' (n=90) and patients' (n=90) attitudes toward the use of blockchain technology in the management and distribution of medical information. The questionnaire comprised 8 questions that assessed attitudes toward new means of managing and distributing medical information using blockchain technology. Responses were rated on a scale that ranged from 1 (very negative) to 7 (very positive).

Results: Medical doctors (mean 3.7-5.0) reported significantly more negative attitudes than patients (mean 6.3-6.8). Furthermore, self-employed doctors reported more negative attitudes than employed doctors and university professors.

Conclusions: To successfully introduce blockchain technology to medical data management, it is necessary to promote positive attitudes toward this technology among medical doctors, especially self-employed doctors.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15870) doi:10.2196/15870

KEYWORDS

electronic health records; attitude; medical staff; patient; surveys and questionnaires

Introduction

Background

RenderX

In addition to an increase in life expectancy and use of health care services, medical advances have also led to an exponential growth in the amount of patient medical information available [1]. At present, different hospitals store and manage different fragments of a patient's medical information. This method of managing medical information entails 4 disadvantages [1]. First, it makes it difficult for medical doctors to fully identify patients' medical information. Second, as doctors do not have access to

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15870
```

patients' complete medical records, they may subject patients to redundant medical examinations that they have previously undergone in other hospitals. Third, when an interhospital transfer occurs, a patient or his/her guardian will be required to print the medical information on paper, transfer or copy imaging scans onto a CD, and submit them to another hospital. This process is not only inconvenient to the patient or guardian, but the process also carries the risk of omission of certain aspects of patient medical information. Finally, there is a risk that the information that is stored in the hospital may be hacked and leaked.

The recently developed blockchain technology differs from the conventional method of data storage in a central server or specific institution. Specifically, it uses a peer-to-peer network that distributes the data to all participants for storage; these users are responsible for hosting and managing the data [2,3]. This technology enhances data safety, reliability, integrity, and transparency [2,3]. Conventional centralized networks store data in a central server so that only a single central institution has access to the information. In contrast, blockchain-based distribution networks assign an account that contains distributable data to each user [4,5]. This renders hacking virtually impossible because anyone who wishes to modify the stored data will have to simultaneously hack into a vast number of user accounts [4,5]. Given this advantage, blockchain technology has been applied in diverse fields, such as finance, distribution, logistics, public services, and arts [6].

Recently, technology has gained a growing interest in the field of medicine [7-11]. Particularly, the use of blockchain technology in the transfer of medical data allows the patient rather than the hospital to own medical data. As a result, the patient rather than the hospital has control over medical data [1,4,7]. This enables patients to conveniently submit a complete set of medical data to any hospital upon transfer, and it helps physicians gain a better understanding of patients on the basis of the submitted data and plan suitable treatments [1,4,7]. In addition, it can reduce health care costs because patients are less likely to be subjected to redundant medical examinations when complete medical information is available. Moreover, it greatly reduces the risk of potential disclosure of patient medical information [1,4,7]. These advantages of blockchain technology are expected to have a positive influence on clinicians and patients.

Objectives

However, the initial stages of introduction of blockchain technology to medical practice may involve challenges. Particularly, the introduction of blockchain technology to medical data management necessitates the fulfillment of 2 criteria: (1) it must solve technical problems, and (2) health care service providers (ie, medical doctors) and consumers (ie, patients) must consent to its use. According to expectancy theory [12], which is a widely used theory of human motivation in the field of psychology, medical doctors and patients are more likely to use blockchain technology when they hold positive attitudes toward it, and they are less likely to use it when they hold negative attitudes toward it. In this regard, medical doctors' and patients' attitudes are salient factors that must be examined in research studies on the application of blockchain technology to medical data management because a person's attitude toward using a new information technology is indicative of their likelihood of using it [13]. However, the extant research on the introduction of blockchain technology to the health care sector has not shed any light on medical doctors' and patients' attitudes. Therefore, this study attempted to examine medical doctors' and patients' attitudes toward the use of blockchain technology and interpret the findings within the framework of expectancy theory [12].

Methods

Survey

The investigations were carried out following the rules of the Declaration of Helsinki of 1975. We conducted a questionnaire survey among practicing medical doctors who were between the ages of 30 and 49 years. Before the participants responded to the questionnaires, they viewed a video. The authors do not have any associations or relationships with the company that produced the video. In addition, a questionnaire survey was conducted among patients who were between the ages of 30 and 49 years. We think that the medical doctors under the age of 30 years are not experienced in the medical field enough to conduct this survey, and some doctors and patients over the age 49 years might find it difficult to understand blockchain technology. These participants were recruited from the lobby of a university hospital, and they provided consent before their participation in the survey.

The questionnaire comprised items that assessed attitudes toward new means of managing and distributing medical information using blockchain technology [1,14,15]. The questionnaire comprised the following items: (1) unlike traditional methods of medical data management, which bestow complete control over medical information to the hospital, blockchain technology allows a patient to choose the extent to which their medical information is stored, distributed, and managed; (2) blockchain technology delivers each aspect of a patient's medical information to medical doctors; (3) as blockchain technology renders it impossible for one to hack medical information, it enhances the security of patient medical information; (4) blockchain technology prohibits anyone from revising a medical chart without patient consent once it has been created by a medical doctor; (5) blockchain technology allows patients to access information anywhere and at any time; (6) as blockchain technology allows hospitals to exchange medical information, patients do not have to print medical charts on paper, copy imaging scans onto a CD, and submit them to another hospital; (7) as blockchain technology reduces the likelihood of patients being subjected to redundant medical examinations, it lowers health care costs and reduces the time that patients spend at a hospital; and (8) blockchain technology makes it possible for one to use standardized medical big data to enhance the precision and personalization of medical treatments.

The items that were used to measure attitudes toward blockchain technology were adapted from a validated measure that has been used in previous studies, such as those that have been conducted by Venkatesh et al [13] and Min et al [16]. Responses to each item were recorded on a scale that ranged from 1 (*very negative*) to 7 (*very positive*). Higher scores were indicative of more positive attitudes, whereas lower scores were indicative of more negative attitudes.

The item that was used to gauge the levels of medical doctors' and patients' previous knowledge about blockchain technology was adapted from a validated measure in a similar previous study by Bettman and Park [17]. The level of previous knowledge about blockchain technology was gauged on a scale ranging from 1 (*do not know it at all*) to 7 (*know it very well*).



Statistical Analysis

The collected data were analyzed using SPSS Version 24.0 (IBM Corporation). The data were analyzed in 2 steps. In the first step, the demographic characteristics and attitudes of medical doctors and patients were compared using the Mann-Whitney U and Chi-square tests. In the second step, Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U tests were conducted to compare the demographic characteristics and attitudes of self-employed and employed doctors and university professors; the least significant difference test was used as a posthoc test. The level of statistical significance was specified as P<.05.

Results

Demographics

A total of 90 medical doctors from 16 different departments and 90 patients participated in this survey. Table 1 presents their demographic characteristics, and Table 2 summarizes the distribution of medical doctors across the 16 different departments that they represented.

The results of the first step of data analysis revealed no significant differences in the demographic characteristics of medical doctors and patients (Table 1).

Table 1.	Significance	of the difference	in the demograp	phic characteristics	s of medical docto	rs and patients.
----------	--------------	-------------------	-----------------	----------------------	--------------------	------------------

Demographic characteristics	Medical doctors (n=90)	Patients (n=90)	P value
Age (years), 30s:40s, n	62:28	60:30	.75
Gender, male:female, n	62:28	60:30	.75
Level of prior knowledge ^a , mean (SD)	3.0 (1.4)	3.0 (1.5)	.69

^aLevel of prior knowledge about blockchain technology was rated on a scale that ranged from 1 (Do not know it at all) to 7 (Know it very well). Higher scores are indicative of a higher level of prior knowledge about blockchain technology.

 Table 2. Distribution of medical doctors across the departments that they represented (N=90).

Department	Frequency, n (%)
Rehabilitation and physical medicine	27 (30)
Pediatrics	14 (16)
Neurosurgery	6 (7)
Anesthesiology	6 (7)
Family medicine	6 (7)
General practice	6 (7)
Internal medicine	5 (6)
Orthopedics	3 (3)
Dermatology	3 (3)
Plastic surgery	3 (3)
Obstetrics and gynecology	3 (3)
Diagnostic medicine	3 (3)
Psychiatry	2 (2)
General surgery	1 (1)
Radiology	1 (1)
Radiation oncology	1 (1)

Result of Survey

The emergent means for all items that measured attitudes toward blockchain technology (ie, >3.5) were indicative of positive attitudes among both medical doctors and patients (Table 3).



Table 3. Significance of the difference in attitudes toward the use of blockchain technology in the management of medical information between medical doctors and patients.

Blockchain technology application	Medical doctors, mean (SD)	Patients, mean (SD)	P value ^a
(1) Unlike traditional methods of medical data management, which bestow complete control over medical information to the hospital, blockchain technology allows a patient to choose the extent to which their medical information is stored, distributed, and managed.	3.9 (1.9)	6.4 (0.8)	<.001
(2) Blockchain technology delivers each aspect of a patient's medical information to medical doctors.	4.4 (1.9)	6.3 (0.9)	<.001
(3) As blockchain technology renders it impossible for one to hack medical information, it enhances the security of patient medical information.	4.4 (1.8)	6.8 (0.5)	<.001
(4) Blockchain technology prohibits anyone from revising a medical chart without patient consent once it has been created by a medical doctor.	3.7 (1.9)	6.4 (1.0)	<.001
(5) Blockchain technology allows patients to access information anywhere and at any time.	4.2 (1.9)	6.7 (0.6)	<.001
(6) As blockchain technology allows hospitals to exchange medical information, patients do not have to print medical charts on paper, copy imaging scans onto a CD, and submit them to another hospital.	5.0 (1.9)	6.8 (0.5)	<.001
(7) As blockchain technology reduces the likelihood of patients being subjected to redundant medical examinations, it lowers health care costs and reduces the time that patients spend at a hospital.	4.7 (2.0)	6.8 (0.5)	<.001
(8) Blockchain technology makes it possible for one to use standardized medical big data to enhance the precision and personalization of medical treatments.	4.7 (2.0)	6.7 (0.8)	<.001

^aValues in italics are significant at the .05 level of significance.

However, medical doctors reported significantly more negative attitudes than patients across all items (mean 3.7-5.0; Table 3). Medical doctors reported the most negative attitude (mean 3.7) for the following item (ie, item 4): "blockchain technology prohibits anyone from revising a medical chart without patient consent once it has been created by a medical doctor." The second most negative attitude (mean 3.9) was reported for the following item (ie, item 1): "unlike traditional methods of medical data management, which bestow complete control over medical information to the hospital, blockchain technology allows a patient to choose the extent to which their medical information is stored, distributed, and managed." Meanwhile, patients reported more positive attitudes than medical doctors across all items (mean 6.3-6.8; Table 3).

The results of the second step of data analysis revealed no significant difference in the demographic characteristics of self-employed and employed doctors and university professors (Table 4).

Self-employed doctors reported significantly more negative attitudes than employed doctors and university professors on the following two items (Table 5): "since blockchain technology allows hospitals to exchange medical information, patients do not have to print medical charts on paper, copy imaging scans onto a CD, and submit them to another hospital" (item 6) and "since blockchain technology reduces the likelihood of patients being subjected to redundant medical examinations, it lowers health care costs and reduces the time that patients spend at a hospital." (item 7). There was no significant difference among the 3 groups on the other items (Table 5).

Table 4. Sign	ificance of the difference	in the demographic character	istics of self-employed an	d employed doctors ar	d university professors.
---------------	----------------------------	------------------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	--------------------------

Demographic characteristics	Self-employed doctors (n=14)	Employed doctors (n=54)	University professors (n=22)	P value
Age (years), 30s:40s, n	7:7	13:41	14:8	.15
Gender, male:female, n	12:2	36:18	14:8	.32
Level of prior knowledge ^a , mean (SD)	3.1 (1.5)	3.0 (1.5)	2.8 (1.4)	.74

^aLevel of prior knowledge about blockchain technology was rated on a scale that ranged from 1 (*Do not know it at all*) to 7 (*Know it very well*). Higher scores are indicative of a higher level of prior knowledge about blockchain technology.


Table 5. Significance of the difference in attitudes toward new methods of managing medical information using blockchain technology among self-employed doctors, employed doctors, and university professors.

Blockchain technology application	Self-employed doctors, mean (SD)	Employed doctors, mean (SD)	University profes- sors, mean (SD)	P value
(1) Unlike traditional methods of medical data management, which bestow complete control over medical information to the hospital, blockchain technology allows a patient to choose the extent to which their medical information is stored, distributed, and managed.	3.0 (1.9)	4.0 (1.9)	4.4 (1.7)	.09
(2) Blockchain technology delivers each aspect of a patient's medical information to medical doctors.	3.5 (2.4)	4.5 (1.9)	4.8 (1.6)	.10
(3) As blockchain technology renders it impossible for one to hack medical information, it enhances the security of patient medical information.	4.5 (2.0)	4.4 (1.8)	4.5 (1.8)	>.99
(4) Blockchain technology prohibits anyone from revising a medical chart without patient consent once it has been created by a medical doctor.	3.1 (1.9)	3.9 (2.1)	3.5 (1.5)	.42
(5) Blockchain technology allows patients to access information anywhere and at any time.	3.3 (2.1)	4.3(1.9)	4.7 (1.6)	.07
(6) As blockchain technology allows hospitals to exchange medical infor- mation, patients do not have to print medical charts on paper, copy imaging scans onto a CD, and submit them to another hospital.	3.5 (2.4)	5.2 (1.8)	5.4 (1.3)	.02 ^{<i>a</i>,<i>b</i>}
(7) As blockchain technology reduces the likelihood of patients being subjected to redundant medical examinations, it lowers health care costs and reduces the time that patients spend at a hospital.	2.9 (2.4)	5.0 (1.9)	5.1 (1.7)	.02 ^{<i>a</i>,<i>b</i>}
(8) Blockchain technology makes it possible for one to use standardized medical big data to enhance the precision and personalization of medical treatments.	3.8 (2.4)	4.9 (2.0)	5.0 (1.9)	.14

^aMean item score for self-employed doctors < mean item score for employed doctors and university professors.

^bValues in italics are significant at the .05 level of significance.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study examined medical doctors' and patients' attitudes toward new methods of managing and distributing medical information using blockchain technology. The major findings of this study can be summarized into 3 points. First, medical doctors reported significantly more negative attitudes than patients across all items that measured attitudes toward the application of blockchain technology to the management and distribution of medical information (Table 3). Second, self-employed doctors reported significantly more negative attitudes than employed doctors and university professors on the sixth and seventh items, which pertain to 2 advantages of blockchain technology, namely, convenient exchange of medical information among hospitals and lower number of redundant medical examinations (Table 5). Third, patients obtained means that ranged from 6 to 7 across all the items; this indicates that they held very positive attitudes toward the application of blockchain technology to medical data management (Table 3).

The 3 major findings of this study can be interpreted within the framework of the expectancy theory of psychological motivation [12], which suggests that people are motivated to pursue positive outcomes and avoid negative outcomes [12,18]. In this regard, the first finding can be interpreted to mean that medical doctors have more negative attitudes about blockchain technology than patients as they expect its use to lead to negative outcomes. For example, medical doctors' attitudes were most negative for the fourth item, which delineates how blockchain technology makes

RenderX

it difficult for one to revise medical charts (Table 3). This feature of blockchain technology may be disadvantageous to medical doctors, when there is a medical dispute between them and a patient or guardian. Similarly, the second most negative attitudes were reported for the first item, which articulates the fact that blockchain technology allows patients to have complete control over their medical data (Table 3). This may have caused medical doctors to be concerned about potential misuse of patient medical information. The second major finding of this study has practical implications as it suggests that the use of blockchain technology may lead to negative outcomes among self-employed doctors. According to expectancy theory [12], there is a perceived association between a person's actions and their consequent rewards [12,18]. Rewards may be of various types (eg, money and praise from other people) [12,18]. Self-employed doctors reported significantly more negative attitudes than employed doctors and university professors on the sixth and seventh items (Table 5). These items pertain to 2 advantages of blockchain technology: (1) it facilitates convenient transfer of medical information among hospitals, and (2) it lowers health care costs and reduces the time that patients spend at a hospital by minimizing the need for redundant medical examinations. As the profits that are earned from medical examinations contribute to self-employed doctors' incomes, they may worry that the use of blockchain technology will lower their income. More specifically, patients may decline undergoing a medical examination that has been recommended by a smaller clinic if they have already undergone similar examinations in a larger hospital, even when such examinations are required to make an accurate medical diagnosis.

The third finding of this study suggests that patients hold very favorable attitudes toward the use of blockchain technology. This may be because of the fact that the application of blockchain technology to medical data management will yield outcomes that are beneficial rather than harmful to patients. Expectancy theory suggests that people cognitively analyze the gains and losses of behaviors in which they intend to engage [12,18]. In this regard, blockchain technology may offer patients several gains and lead to only a few losses. For instance, it grants patients direct control over their medical information and enhances the transparency and stability of their medical records [2,3]. Moreover, blockchain technology can decrease health care costs by diminishing the need for redundant medical examinations and making it easier to transfer patient medical information to another hospital [1]. In addition, it can contribute to medical research by granting researchers access to patients' personal medical data [1,4].

The 3 major findings of this study, which are consistent with the premises of expectancy theory [12], suggest that to successfully introduce blockchain technology to medical data management, it is necessary to promote positive attitudes toward this technology among medical doctors. This can be achieved by alleviating their concerns about the adverse outcomes of the introduction of blockchain technology to medical data management and raising awareness about its potential advantages to medical doctors. In addition, the findings suggest that it is especially necessary to alleviate self-employed doctors' concerns about potential problems that may result from introducing blockchain technology to medical data management.

At present, many companies worldwide are researching the means by which blockchain technology can be introduced to the health care sector [4,6]. Some pilot projects have been conducted in the domains of management and distribution of medical data. Although various studies have actively examined the new means by which blockchain technology can be applied to medical data management in the health care sector [2-7], none of the past studies have examined the attitudes of direct users of blockchain technology in health care sectors, namely, medical doctors and patients.

Conclusions

In this study, we ascertained the extent to which the attitudes of medical doctors and patients are favorable toward the use of blockchain technology in the management and distribution of medical information. We found that medical doctors reported more negative attitudes than patients. Therefore, to introduce blockchain technology to medical data management, it is necessary to alleviate the concerns that medical doctors (especially self-employed doctors) have about the use of blockchain technology. Our study has some limitations. First, we did not examine the specific factors that lead to negative and positive attitudes toward the use of blockchain technology in medical data management. Second, diverse age groups were not represented in the study sample. Third, the number of doctors working in a specific department (physical medicine and rehabilitation) is disproportionately high. Fourth, the number of included subjects was relatively small. Fourth, a qualitative analysis method, such as a qualitative survey, can be effectively used to clearly show medical doctors' and patients' attitudes toward blockchain technology. However, we analyzed them by using only the quantitative analysis method using a questionnaire-based survey. Future studies that address these limitations will be able to enrich the present findings.

Acknowledgments

The 2017 Yeungnam University Research Grant supported this work. The National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF) Grant (NRF-2019R1F1A1061348) supported this work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Chang MC, Hau YS, Park JC, Lee JM. The application of blockchain technology in stroke rehabilitation. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2019 Jul;98(7):e74. [doi: 10.1097/PHM.000000000001083] [Medline: 30516553]
- 2. Jo BW, Khan RM, Lee Y. Hybrid blockchain and internet-of-things network for underground structure health monitoring. Sensors (Basel) 2018 Dec 4;18(12):pii: E4268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s18124268] [Medline: 30518124]
- 3. Park J, Youn T, Kim H, Rhee K, Shin S. Smart contract-based review system for an IoT data marketplace. Sensors (Basel) 2018 Oct 22;18(10):pii: E3577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s18103577] [Medline: 30360413]
- 4. Mackey TK, Kuo T, Gummadi B, Clauson KA, Church G, Grishin D, et al. 'Fit-for-purpose?' challenges and opportunities for applications of blockchain technology in the future of healthcare. BMC Med 2019 Mar 27;17(1):68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1296-7] [Medline: 30914045]
- Ren YJ, Leng Y, Cheng YP, Wang J. Secure data storage based on blockchain and coding in edge computing. Math Biosci Eng 2019 Mar 7;16(4):1874-1892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3934/mbe.2019091] [Medline: 31137190]
- Yli-Huumo J, Ko D, Choi S, Park S, Smolander K. Where is current research on blockchain technology?-a systematic review. PLoS One 2016;11(10):e0163477 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0163477</u>] [Medline: <u>27695049</u>]
- Balis C, Tagopoulos I, Dimola K. Moving towards a blockchain-based healthcare information system. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019 Jul 4;262:168-171. [doi: 10.3233/SHTI190044] [Medline: 31349293]

RenderX

- Bernardi F, Lima V, Pellison F, Marques PM, Rijo R, Galliez RM, et al. Blockchain based network for tuberculosis: a data sharing initiative in Brazil. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019 Jul 4;262:264-267. [doi: <u>10.3233/SHTI190069</u>] [Medline: <u>31349318</u>]
- 9. Dimitrov DV. Blockchain applications for healthcare data management. Healthc Inform Res 2019 Jan;25(1):51-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2019.25.1.51] [Medline: 30788182]
- Drosatos G, Kaldoudi E. Blockchain applications in the biomedical domain: a scoping review. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2019;17:229-240 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2019.01.010] [Medline: 30847041]
- Shuaib K, Saleous H, Shuaib K, Zaki N. Blockchains for secure digitized medicine. J Pers Med 2019 Jul 13;9(3):pii: E35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm9030035] [Medline: 31337080]
- 12. Vroom VH. Work and Motivation. New York: John Wiley; 1964.
- 13. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. Manag Inf Syst Q 2003;27(3):425-480. [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- 14. Chen Y, Ding S, Xu Z, Zheng H, Yang S. Blockchain-based medical records secure storage and medical service framework. J Med Syst 2018 Nov 22;43(1):5. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-018-1121-4] [Medline: 30467604]
- 15. Gordon WJ, Catalini C. Blockchain technology for healthcare: facilitating the transition to patient-driven interoperability. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2018;16:224-230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.06.003] [Medline: 30069284]
- 16. Min D, Kim J. Is power powerful? Power, confidence, and goal pursuit. Int J Res Mark 2013;30(3):265-275. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2012.12.001]
- 17. Bettman JR, Park CW. Effects of prior knowledge and experience and phase of the choice process on consumer decision processes: a protocol analysis. J Consum Res 1980;7(3):234-248. [doi: 10.1086/208812]
- 18. Champoux JE. Organizational Behavior: Integrating Individuals, Groups, and Process. West Third Street, St. Paul: West Publishing Company; 1996.

Abbreviations

NRF: National Research Foundation

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.08.19; peer-reviewed by M Raghavendra, TT Kuo; comments to author 03.09.19; revised version received 27.09.19; accepted 20.10.19; published 09.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u>

Hau YS, Lee JM, Park J, Chang MC Attitudes Toward Blockchain Technology in Managing Medical Information: Survey Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e15870 URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e15870</u> doi:<u>10.2196/15870</u> PMID:<u>31815676</u>

©Yong Sauk Hau, Jae Min Lee, Jaechan Park, Min Cheol Chang. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 09.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Identifying and Overcoming Policy-Level Barriers to the Implementation of Digital Health Innovation: Qualitative Study

Laura Desveaux^{1,2}, PhD, PT; Charlene Soobiah¹, BSc; R Sacha Bhatia^{1,2}, MD, MBA; James Shaw^{1,2}, PhD, PT

¹Institute for Health System Solutions and Virtual Care, Women's College Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada ²Institute for Health Policy, Management, and Evaluation, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author: Laura Desveaux, PhD, PT Institute for Health System Solutions and Virtual Care Women's College Hospital 76 Grenville St Toronto, ON, M5B1S2 Canada Phone: 1 416 323 6400 ext 4302 Email: <u>laura.desveaux@wchospital.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: High-level policy barriers impede widespread adoption for even the most well-positioned innovations. Most of the work in this field assumes rather than analyzes the driving forces of health innovation. Objective: The aim of this study was to explore the challenges and opportunities experienced by health system stakeholders in the implementation of digital health innovation in Ontario.

Objective: The aim of this study was to explore the challenges and opportunities experienced by health system stakeholders in the implementation of digital health innovation in Ontario.

Methods: We completed semistructured interviews with 10 members of senior leadership across key organizations that are engaged in health care–related digital health activities. Data were analyzed using qualitative description.

Results: A total of 6 key policy priorities emerged, including the need for (1) a system-level definition of innovation, (2) a clear overarching mission, and (3) clearly defined organizational roles. Operationally, there is a need to (4) standardize processes, (5) shift the emphasis to change management, and (6) align funding structures.

Conclusions: These findings emphasize the critical role of the government in developing a vision and creating the foundation upon which innovation activities will be modeled.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14994) doi: 10.2196/14994

KEYWORDS

health care; policy; implementation; health technology

Introduction

Background

Digital health innovation is the cornerstone of health care modernization efforts in a number of countries internationally [1-3]. Notwithstanding select evidence of impact on quality and efficiency [4,5], its application in practice has been described as a *plague of pilots* where innovations fail to become part of routine practice because of limited funding or inability to scale to broader sectors of the health care system [6-11]. Translating evidence into practice remains a challenge despite the accumulating body of evidence regarding factors underlying

RenderX

success and failure [12,13]. The Ontario government began developing the Digital Health Strategy in 2015 and unveiling the strategy and its guiding principles in 2016 (see Table 1). In this strategy, the Ontario government outlined a Digital First philosophy as 1 of the 7 guiding principles, which considers new and existing programs and asks, "How can we do it with digital health?" [14]. The creation of this strategy addressed a previously unmet need for provincial guidance on the adoption and integration of digital innovation within the public system, signaling a potential inflection point that hinges on the ability to both understand and overcome barriers to digital health innovation.

Table 1.	Guiding	principles f	or the	Ontario	digital	health	strategy.
----------	---------	--------------	--------	---------	---------	--------	-----------

Desveaux et al

Principle ^a	Description
Put patients first	Focus efforts on faster access to care, innovative and integrated care, empower patients and caregivers, and ensure a fiscally sustainable public health care system
Adopt a "Digital First" philosophy	Approach new and existing programs and discussions by asking, "How can we do it with digital health?"
Make solutions about quality care	Design new policies, care models, funding structures, and workflows that are best for patients and providers—then think about how technology can help
Be transparent	Use open, evidence-based standards to guide governance and investment decisions; report progress publicly and regularly
Be innovative	Use the full scope of creativity of what is possible with contemporary technology to support patient and provider decision making, virtualize processes, and deliver services
Build on what we have already	Leverage existing assets as a starting point when possible
Be pragmatic	Strive for solutions that are "good enough" and processes, such as governance, that are not needlessly burdensome

^aAdapted from Bell R. Ontario's Patients First: Digital Health Strategy. Canada Health Infoway Partnership Conference 2016 [14].

Overarching Barriers to Digital Health Innovation

Obstacles in the digital health innovation process stem from features of the innovation itself and the broader implementation context, which includes the divergent interests of a variety of stakeholder groups [14]. Innovations that establish proof of concept often lack a strategic plan for diffusion, which complicates uptake and adoption into routine care [15,16]; however, high-level policy barriers impede widespread adoption more broadly for even the most well-positioned innovations [17]. For the purposes of this paper, we refer to adoption at the organizational level, recognizing that this cannot be achieved without engagement of and support from frontline clinicians. Context and culture drive changes in the use of technology [18], highlighting the central role that policy reform will play in the success (or failure) of the digital health agenda. Despite this, policy (or a lack thereof) is conspicuously missing from studies examining the drivers of failure when it comes to scaling digital health innovations. For example, Sundin et al [11] categorize failures according to financial, technical, organizational, employee, customer, or contextual barriers.

Policy is a Central Driver of Change

Greenhalgh et al [19] highlight that health and fiscal policy often underpinned the inability to move from a successful pilot to mainstream service and explicitly outline the need to identify and attend to potential drivers (or roadblocks) at a policy level to avoid nonadoption or abandonment. Attention has been paid to practical guidance for health system modernization, outlining approaches to funding reform and the organization of services [20]. The same attention and rigor devoted to the mechanics of the activity must be paid to the overarching policy context [21]. An array of organizational and institutional arrangements underpins the innovation process, which includes both innovation development and facilitating the implementation of advancements into clinical practice [22]; however, most work assumes rather than analyzes the underlying components and driving forces of health innovation [22]. Guiding theories, such as Rogers Diffusion of Innovation [23], highlight that the process of adoption is at the level of the individual, which is driven by communication through social channels. Diffusion

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14994/

occurs across several stages that include knowledge, persuasion, decision, implementation, and confirmation, highlighting that an individual's decision to adopt or reject an innovation depends on receiver variables, social system variables, and perceived characteristics of innovation [23]. Organizational factors, such as the capacity to innovate, readiness for the digital health innovation, availability of funding, and extent of changes required to implement the innovation [20], also influence the adoption process [24] and thereby impact the uptake of digital health innovations in practice. Therefore, the objective of this study was to understand the challenges and opportunities in the implementation of digital health innovation from the perspective of organizations as the adoption unit, and the potential policy-level actions that might promote enhanced uptake of digital health innovation at scale in Ontario.

Shifting From an Economic to a Health System Lens

The major contributions to the body of literature on Health Innovation Systems are driven by an economic perspective and thereby frame innovation achievements against the backdrop of economic change [22]. In contrast to that work, we are focused on innovations that enable health systems to better achieve their goals of providing better outcomes alongside improved patient and provider experience, at controlled or reduced costs [25] (ie, a digital innovation that allows for real-time image sharing across institutions and providers, reducing the need for duplicate imaging). In this way, we fundamentally adopt a health system perspective in our paper, as opposed to a view that might focus on economic development more generally. For the purposes of this paper, a health system is defined as a functionally related group of interacting organizations and providers that share a common aim [26] of providing the best possible care for a population at the lowest possible costs.

Methods

Study Design

Our approach was informed by a constructivist paradigm [27] and used thematic analysis [28] to understand how current challenges and opportunities impact the implementation of



digital health innovations in Ontario. For the purposes of this study, we focused on the organization as the "adopter" and therefore the subsequent unit of study. These insights informed subsequent recommendations to overcome these challenges and capitalize on opportunities. Ethical approval was obtained from the Women's College Hospital Research Ethics Board.

Our study was conducted in the province of Ontario, Canada, where the majority of health care is publicly funded and privately delivered. However, despite the fact that our data collection took place in a single Canadian province, we focused our analytic strategy on identifying challenges and opportunities that apply to health care systems across high-income countries.

Participants

A purposive sampling strategy was used to select participants, whereby the research team generated a preliminary list of key organizations that are engaged in health care–related digital health activities in Ontario, Canada. Participants were required to occupy a position of senior leadership within their organization to ensure their ability to speak to system-level barriers. This list was then circulated to a broader advisory group to elicit suggestions to ensure a wide range of perspectives. A total of 9 potential participants were then sent an introductory email, outlining the purpose of the study and requesting their participation or asking them to identify an appropriate alternative within their organization. All 9 potential participants expressed interest and contacted the study authors directly to be scheduled for an interview.

Data Collection and Analysis

Interviews were conducted in person by 2 experienced qualitative scientists (LD and JS). A semistructured interview guide was used (see Multimedia Appendix 1). The interview questions were open ended to elicit participant experiences related to the policy and strategy dimensions of the implementation of digital health innovations. Interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. A total of 3 team members (LD, CS, and JS) analyzed data iteratively and inductively. The first 4 transcripts were independently read and coded before the meeting to discuss an initial coding scheme. As interviews continued, original themes identified in the first 4 interviews were further explored and refined to the point of

theoretical saturation while giving participants an opportunity to identify new insights. No new themes emerged after the initial 4 interviews; therefore, no additional participants were recruited after initial themes reached saturation. The findings are presented in terms of the key aspects of policy, which require attention to best promote the adoption of digital health innovations at a system level.

Results

Participant Breakdown

A total of 10 participants were interviewed across 9 interviews (1 participant invited a colleague to their interview), with an average duration of 40 min (range 21-61 min). Participants included representatives of key organizations within the digital health landscape (see Table 2 for descriptions), including the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care (MOHLTC), the Ontario Telemedicine Network, Ontario MD, Canada Health Infoway, and the MaRS Excellence in Clinical Innovation Technology Evaluation program, as well as key leaders in health innovation.

Participants were unanimous in their belief that "what we're doing at a system level is not working." The importance of strong leadership at an organizational and system level was viewed as critical for the successful implementation of digital health innovation, with an emphasis on establishing a culture of innovation. Participants described 6 key priorities requiring action at the policy level to catalyze digital health innovation, including the following: (1) a system-level definition of innovation, (2) a clear overarching mission for digital health innovation, and (3) clearly defined organizational roles. Operationally, there is a need to (4) provide guidance on standardized processes, (5) shift the emphasis to change management, and (6) align funding structures. A participant summarized the problem as follows:

It's still not a case of build it and they will come. I've been working in this space for 20 years and truly if you look at the penetration of virtual care—there's still tremendous opportunity at the system level ...you know we are a broken system. [P03]



Table 2.	Organizational	representation.
----------	----------------	-----------------

Desveaux et al

Organization	Description ^a
Ontario MOHLTC ^b	Provincial ministry responsible for administering the health care system and providing services to the province of Ontario
Ontario MD	Helping physician practices advance electronic medical records, products, and services so that we col- lectively enhance the delivery of patient care
Ontario Telemedicine Network	Develop and support telemedicine solutions that enhance access and quality of health care in Ontario and inspire adoption by health care providers, organizations, and the public
Canada Health Infoway	Improve the health of Canadians by working with partners to accelerate the development, adoption, and effective use of digital health solutions across Canada
MaRS EXCITE ^c	Foster the adoption of innovative health technologies in Ontario and leverage those successes and experiences into global markets

^aDescriptions reflect organizational missions taken directly from respective organizational websites where available.

^bMOHLTC: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care.

^cEXCITE: Excellence in Clinical Innovation Technology Evaluation.

A System-Level Definition of Innovation Is Needed to Align Innovation Efforts

Innovation was defined differently across participants in our sample, with each definition exhibiting unique nuances that reflected the participant's past experience and organizational perspective. For example, one arm's-length policy organization was focused on understanding and modifying components of the health innovation system that could better promote the generation, testing, and ultimate adoption of new technologies:

The real innovation for us is the way of aligning all of the bits and pieces of the sector—from everything from policy and payment all the way down to the actual solution. [P05]

In contrast, a representative from yet another organization took an even broader approach, defining innovation simply as changing processes of problem solving:

People are now understanding that innovation is just doing things differently—right, like changing your process, changing you're approach, changing how you think about the problem and what you do to solve that problem. [P08]

These varied definitions of innovation across key stakeholders are a consequence of a nonexistent, shared conceptual foundation for both digital health innovation and what the health system is supposed to do more broadly. This lack of shared understanding about the nature of health innovation impedes effective communication and collective action, making it extremely difficult to achieve alignment across activities.

A Clear Mission is Needed to Drive Innovation Efforts

Drivers of innovation varied across participants and were largely reflective of their organization's current direction and leadership. Approaches to virtual care were primarily driven by the needs of these individual organizations (ie, reduced cost or improved efficiency). The importance of patient experience was highlighted by several participants, but it was rarely highlighted as the primary driver for innovation. The tension between system needs and patient benefit was accentuated by the nature of a publicly funded health care system, where the distinction between payer and end user complicated the value proposition:

It's classic virtual care things where the benefits accrue to the patient largely but the patient doesn't pay. So any time you've got that not perfect alignment in incentives, then you've got work to do. To try and figure out how to get people motivated to grow the service. [P05]

Virtual care initiatives were characterized by a top-down approach, despite the recognition that a "grassroots" or "frontline" approach to innovation is more likely to support effective problem solving and adoption. Despite highlighting clinician resistance as a key barrier to adoption, participants often described decision-making processes that failed to engage relevant end users (ie, clinicians and/or patients):

One of the biggest groups that resists process is clinicians. The way they function—they're workflow, is disrupted when you put in a disruptive technology—so that's one of the difficult groups [...] so you know that is sort of one area that we would be struggling with likely in all our technologies is the end user of the technology. [P07]

Organizational Roles Need to Be Clearly Defined

Participants described a poorly organized system with respect to the introduction, adoption, and scale of virtual care innovations. The key players within the system's virtual care space are fragmented and function strategically and operationally as independent organizations. Participants felt that unclear roles and responsibilities perpetuated this fragmentation, and they proposed effective governance and accountability as a potential solution:

I think—in Ontario—this is a real problem is because ownership is often not taken or not clear, and so who's driving that agenda is not clear- and [who is] accountable for it and when they do become accountable for that. [Organizations] take a very narrow space of it, where it's just their thing that they can do and that's a problem. [P09]

RenderX

The MOHLTC's Digital Health Board, an advisory committee tasked with providing advice with respect to priorities, was described as a "sponsor" of the province's digital health strategy but devoid of "any formal accountability." Participants emphasized that, although priority setting begins to address the issue, a general lack of accountability persists, which hinders collaboration and progress. In extreme cases, this leads to organizations having competing or overlapping priorities, resulting in an inefficient use of system resources:

There's another layer around prioritization around the big agencies in this eHealth space, and the ministry did say these are your roles in a letter last year to all of us, that has never been enforced, we're kind of still figuring it out. [P01]

Provide Guidance on Processes to Standardize Across Organizations

The fragmented nature of processes and infrastructure related to virtual care was attributed to the operational silos that characterize virtual care organizations and health care institutions. Fragmentation results in a virtual care landscape that includes a heterogeneous assortment of technologies with limited interoperability, driven by disparate, institutionally specific procurement processes that are widely acknowledged as onerous and not conducive to early-stage innovations:

Every different hospital is different, taking a different approach, working with different partners, and in some respects, that's promoted by the chief innovation officer of programs is that they do want institutional partnership between institutions and innovators—but that ends up being less collaborative across institutions. [P09]

In the absence of a shared vision and shared processes, organizations engage in procurement decisions independent of one another, which contributes to the lack of interoperability among technological innovations within the broader system. This was unanimously viewed as a significant barrier to a virtually enabled health care system, complicating the landscape for new innovations for which interoperability is fundamental to their functionality and value proposition.

The Emphasis Needs to Shift From the Technology to Change Management

The existence of microcultures within organizations (and therefore the system) presents both an opportunity and a challenge, as some of these microcultures push for change, whereas others try to maintain the status quo. Strategies to enable a broader culture shift included collaborative approaches to innovation, entry-level education, and modifications to existing incentives:

Basically they are different elements of the system and different structures in the system and any time you try to make change there is a tendency for those individual structures or nodes to try to revert back to the current state—the status quo. So, there's a kind of system stability. I think that it's possible to give sufficient pushes at different nodes and changing the

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14994/
```

incentives at each node to move to the different state within the system. [P02]

Establishing buy-in from clinicians is "all about the change management." The importance of this shift in mindset from implementation to change management was recognized by many participants; however, it was only operationalized by a few. The current emphasis was primarily placed on the solution and the proposed payment model—a mindset that was viewed as a barrier to successful adoption. Although the payment model was highlighted as a key barrier to adoption and scale (as the system lacks a mechanism for clinicians to bill for virtually enabled care), this was not viewed as a significant challenge from a change perspective:

Just changing the care model—or the payment model—will not make that happen, you have to actually have an adoption plan and you know to actually promote that to occur and so there really has to be change management strategies to make that occur—so you have to have both of them to make that actually happen. [P09]

Funding Mechanisms Must Evolve to Reflect the Nature of Innovation

Siloed funding for virtual care initiatives and innovation further contributes to the fragmentation of activities across the sector. Siloed program funding creates a barrier to establishing a business case, as many virtual solutions that are designed for one setting (eg, the community) will result in savings realized in another setting (eg, acute care):

There aren't many mechanisms in place where they can flow budget from one group to another and when you've got these silos around the way dollars flow, that can be a real hurdle in how innovation is taken up. [P07]

The primary funding mechanisms for organizations interested in innovation are institutional operating budgets or public grant funding through national agencies (ie, Canadian Institutes of Health Research). Unfortunately, institutional budgets are considerably strained, and "there are very few central points of knowledge around how [grant] funding works" across the range of funding sources. Funding is usually given for a defined period, and it leaves the responsibility of sustainability and ongoing funding to the organization itself. Precarious funding impacts the likelihood of sustainability and results in siloed investments that ultimately undermine the implementation and adoption of innovation efforts.

Discussion

Advancing the Understanding of Policy-Level Barriers to Digital Innovation

Our results build on previous literature by illustrating how a lack of system guidance, both conceptually and structurally, contributes to the inability of many digital health innovations to move beyond local success to realize their impact at scale. Despite technological advances and rapidly accumulating evidence on the value of digital health, the development of

policy-level guidance has lagged behind. Against the backdrop of Ontario's Digital First strategy, policy-level gaps undermine the potential success of digital health innovations. First, there is a need for system-level clarity around the definition of innovation, the primary mission underlying innovation efforts, and organizational roles and responsibilities. In addition to these governing principles, the strategies to support the uptake of innovation in practice must evolve to align with the objectives of the broader system. These strategies include, but are not limited to, organizational procurement processes, funding models and innovation incentives, and broader implementation strategies. As specific recommendations for funding reform (the finding Funding Mechanisms Must Evolve to Reflect the Nature of Innovation) have been outlined previously [20], we will devote the discussion to exploring the remaining recommendations.

Establishing a Definition of Digital Health Innovation

Health care organizations' pursuit of their missions is often fraught with complexity. Failure to achieve full realization often extends beyond funding issues and is attributable to organizational structures and interactions or competing policy pressures [29,30]. An overarching definition of innovation and its agenda are needed at a system level to help organize and align innovation efforts across the many organizations that make up the system. Innovation refers to novel products, processes, business models, methods of communication, or origination of novel markets (ie, those that were not previously known or used in a given setting) [31]; therefore, digital health innovation could be described as novel digitally enabled products, processes, business models, methods of communication, or origination of new markets in health care. Novel innovations do not have to be new but can be borrowed from other industries and applied in different contexts or could be used in different ways. Digital health innovations should be evidence informed and show a positive impact to support spread and scale across organizations.

Articulating a Clear Mission

Articulating a vision and establishing a clear direction are central to the ability to achieve health care transformation [32,33]. An absence of clearly defined goals undermines accountability [34] and the ability of individuals and organizations to achieve broader system goals. Furthermore, there is a need to clarify what should be done when conflict arises among the range of competing demands (eg, access, quality, cost control, and customer satisfaction) [35]. The implementation of innovation at scale depends on the co-ordination of various types of knowledge within a system or, more explicitly, the connection of various organizations and institutions [22]-a coordinated effort that relies on a common mission and understanding. We propose an explicitly stated guiding principle, whereby health system innovations must improve at least one dimension of the Institute for Healthcare Improvement's "Quadruple Aim" [25] (outcomes, patient experience, provider experience, and cost), without adversely affecting the remaining dimensions from a system perspective (note that this may mean that while costs are increased in one area of the system, cost reductions are realized in another).

Provide Overarching Guidance on Institutional Processes

The interactions among individuals, institutions, and organizations contribute to coherent trajectories of system change over time [22]. Analogous to the concept of technological interoperability, the processes and structures that guide innovation activities within the system must exhibit some degree of synergy. In the absence of synergistic processes, the resulting system complexity creates an inadvertent barrier to innovation [36]. Changes to existing institutional structures are crucial to the viability of a true Health Innovation System, which depends on effective co-ordination across a range of industries and specializations [22]. Much like the Ontario government's Digital First philosophy [37], organizational processes should be developed (or revised) by asking "how can this align with similar processes or structures within the system?" We suggest that the system would benefit from policy-level guidance on key elements to include (ie, demonstrated system-level interoperability for institutional procurements), which will facilitate alignment across organizational activities and provide the foundation upon which organizational processes will be built [33].

Shift the Emphasis to Change Management

Taking these policy-level implications of our research down to the level of the organization, we observed the following: "One-size-fits-all" strategies often translate into suboptimal engagement, underscoring the need for a change management approach that tailors implementation strategies to the varied needs of end users [38] (see Figure 1). Beyond the demonstrated need for strategies to engage clinicians and end users, a parallel need exists for investment in "internal" capabilities for transformation [39]. Implementation agents must acknowledge that the introduction of digital health innovations necessitates changes to service delivery, and change management is part of the process. As such, it is critical to attend to the central considerations of tool, team, and routine throughout the implementation process [40] to understand how successes can not only be achieved but also be spread, scaled, and sustained. The adoption of digital health innovation is an iterative process that involves complex interactions among these central factors, among others. We suggest that those individuals responsible for implementing innovations in practice utilize existing approaches [19,40-42] to assist in the systematic consideration of key factors to develop their implementation strategy in a way that mitigates the impact of unanticipated obstacles. Notably, although these tools can strengthen the development of implementation strategies, achieving transformative change through health system innovation will unequivocally require creative and bold leadership [33,36,43]. Furthermore, only 0.3% of research funding from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (a national research funding body) has supported change management strategies or scaling up innovation [44], signaling a disconnect between system priorities and investment and underscoring the need for an aligned strategy.

It is important to note that the findings of this study depict a cross-sectional state in time. Organizations and systems are dynamic (and not time invariant); therefore, their activities are

linked and informed by a grid of evolving connections. Notwithstanding, our results highlight the current system gaps, and we propose related policy-level activities that will promote the broader uptake of digital health innovation.

Although we achieved theoretical saturation in our sample, participants were mainly from urban organizations in Ontario; therefore, our findings may not reflect the challenges of implementing digital health innovations in rural organizations. Our results are not intended to be generalizable to every example of digital health innovation in Ontario, and future work would benefit from the validation or refinement of these themes from the perspectives of those responsible for technology adoption (ie, patients and health care providers). Although these findings reflect the local health system context in Ontario, Canada, many health care systems are pursuing increased quality through innovative modification of current delivery systems [2,3,20,45]. Fragmented service delivery and a lack of standardization plague health systems internationally [46], further highlighting the broad relevance of our findings.

Figure 1. System and organizational activities to facilitate the adoption of digital health innovation.



Conclusions

Despite much policy-level talk of triggering a revolution in service delivery and many small-scale proof-of-concept examples, digital health innovations are rarely mainstreamed or sustained [47]. Our findings build on previous work on health system capacity planning, which emphasizes the role of the government in charting the digital course by developing a vision and creating the foundation upon which (currently fragmented) innovation activities will be modeled [33]. It is important to note that transformative change does not necessitate growth in size or the addition of resources; instead, it may be achieved by thoughtful and efficient reconfiguration of existing practices [48,49]. Health care systems around the world and their stakeholders can reflect on these findings and recommendations to consider their utility in advancing local health innovation agendas. To support policy efforts, evaluations of digital health innovations should focus on identifying the factors that influence adoption of a given innovation (as outlined in Roger's Diffusion of Innovation Theory) to support the evolution beyond the pilot stage to broader adoption.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to acknowledge the individuals who participated in this study for their forthright contributions.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interview guide. [DOCX File , 16 KB - jmir_v21i12e14994_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Governmet of Canada. 2018. Notice: Health Canada's Approach to Digital Health Technologies URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/medical-devices/activities/announcements/notice-digital-health-technologies.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- 2. HSJ | Health Service Journal. 2002. Delivering 21st Century IT Support for the NHS: National Strategic Programme URL: http://www.connectingforhealth.nhs.uk/publications/delivery_21_century_IT.pdf [accessed 2019-11-11]
- Walsh M, Chipperfield A. Australian National Telehealth Think Tank. J Telemed Telecare 2000;6(6):353. [doi: 10.1258/1357633001935978] [Medline: 11265107]
- Chaudhry B, Wang J, Wu S, Maglione M, Mojica W, Roth E, et al. Systematic review: impact of health information technology on quality, efficiency, and costs of medical care. Ann Intern Med 2006 May 16;144(10):742-752. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-144-10-200605160-00125] [Medline: 16702590]
- 5. Ekeland AG, Bowes A, Flottorp S. Effectiveness of telemedicine: a systematic review of reviews. Int J Med Inform 2010 Nov;79(11):736-771. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.006] [Medline: 20884286]
- de Bont A, Bal R. Telemedicine in interdisciplinary work practices: on an IT system that met the criteria for success set out by its sponsors, yet failed to become part of every-day clinical routines. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2008 Oct 27;8:47
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-8-47] [Medline: 18954428]
- Wyatt JC, Sullivan F. eHealth and the future: promise or peril? Br Med J 2005 Dec 10;331(7529):1391-1393 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.331.7529.1391] [Medline: 16339252]
- 8. Zanaboni P, Wootton R. Adoption of telemedicine: from pilot stage to routine delivery. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012 Jan 4;12:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-1] [Medline: 22217121]
- Kuipers P, Humphreys JS, Wakerman J, Wells R, Jones J, Entwistle P. Collaborative review of pilot projects to inform policy: a methodological remedy for pilotitis? Aust New Zealand Health Policy 2008 Jul 19;5:17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-8462-5-17] [Medline: 18638412]
- 10. Huang F, Blaschke S, Lucas H. Beyond pilotitis: taking digital health interventions to the national level in China and Uganda. Global Health 2017 Jul 31;13(1):49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-017-0275-z] [Medline: 28756767]
- 11. Sundin P, Callan J, Mehta K. Why do entrepreneurial mHealth ventures in the developing world fail to scale? J Med Eng Technol 2016;40(7-8):444-457. [doi: 10.1080/03091902.2016.1213901] [Medline: 27686003]
- 12. Obstfelder A, Engeseth KH, Wynn R. Characteristics of successfully implemented telemedical applications. Implement Sci 2007 Jul 27;2:25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-2-25] [Medline: 17662134]
- Wootton R. Twenty years of telemedicine in chronic disease management--an evidence synthesis. J Telemed Telecare 2012 Jun;18(4):211-220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2012.120219] [Medline: 22674020]
- Gupta A, Thorpe C, Bhattacharyya O, Zwarenstein M. Promoting development and uptake of health innovations: The Nose to Tail Tool. F1000Res 2016;5:361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12688/f1000research.8145.1] [Medline: 27239275]
- Gagnon MP, Duplantie J, Fortin JP, Landry R. Implementing telehealth to support medical practice in rural/remote regions: what are the conditions for success? Implement Sci 2006 Aug 24;1:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-1-18] [Medline: 16930484]
- 16. Joseph V, West RM, Shickle D, Keen J, Clamp S. Key challenges in the development and implementation of telehealth projects. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(2):71-77. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2010.100315] [Medline: 21097563]
- 17. Vimarlund V, Le Rouge C. Barriers and opportunities to the widespread adoption of telemedicine: a bi-country evaluation. Stud Health Technol Inform 2013;192:933. [Medline: 23920707]
- Bunting RF. Healthcare innovation barriers: results of a survey of certified professional healthcare risk managers. J Healthc Risk Manag 2012;31(4):3-16. [doi: 10.1002/jhrm.20099] [Medline: 22528399]
- 19. Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, Lynch J, Hughes G, A'Court C, et al. Beyond adoption: a new framework for theorizing and evaluating nonadoption, abandonment, and challenges to the scale-up, spread, and sustainability of health and care technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 1;19(11):e367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8775] [Medline: 29092808]
- 20. Bhatia RS, Falk W. Modernizing Canada's Healthcare System through the virtualization of services. CD Howe Institute e-Brief 277 2018:1-13. [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3184876]

RenderX

- Erskine J, Hunter DJ, Small A, Hicks C, McGovern T, Lugsden E, et al. Leadership and transformational change in healthcare organisations: a qualitative analysis of the North East Transformation System. Health Serv Manage Res 2013 Feb;26(1):29-37. [doi: 10.1177/0951484813481589] [Medline: 25594999]
- 22. Consoli D, Mina A. An evolutionary perspective on health innovation systems. J Evol Econ 2009;19(2):297-319. [doi: 10.1007/s00191-008-0127-3]
- 23. Rogers EM. Diffusion of Innovations. Fifth Edition. New York, NY: Free Press; 2003.
- 24. Rogers E, Medina U, Rivera M, Wiley C. Complex adaptive systemsthe diffusion of innovations. Innov J 2005;10(3):1-26. [doi: 10.1002/9781118785317.weom120209]
- 25. Bodenheimer T, Sinsky C. From triple to quadruple aim: care of the patient requires care of the provider. Ann Fam Med 2014;12(6):573-576 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1713] [Medline: 25384822]
- 26. Baker GR, MacIntosh-Murray A, Porcellato C, Dionne L, Stelmacovich K, Born K. Learning from high-performing systems: quality by design. In: High Performing Healthcare Systems: Delivering Quality by Design. Toronto: Longwoods Publishing; 2008:11-26.
- 27. Guba E, Lincoln YS. Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In: Lincoln YS, Denzin NK, editors. The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 1995:105-117.
- 28. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 29. Kastor JA. Mergers of Teaching Hospitals in Boston, New York, and Northern California. Arbor Ann, MI: University of Michigan Press; 2001.
- 30. Kastor JA. Governance of Teaching Hospitals: Turmoil at Penn and Hopkins. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press; 2004.
- 31. Bloch C. Assessing recent developments in innovation measurement: The third edition of the Oslo Manual. Sci Public Policy 2007;34(1):23-34. [doi: 10.3152/030234207x190487]
- Transforming Maternity Care Vision Team, Carter MC, Corry M, Delbanco S, Foster TC, Friedland R, et al. 2020 vision for a high-quality, high-value maternity care system. Womens Health Issues 2010;20(1 Suppl):S7-17. [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2009.11.006] [Medline: 20123185]
- Shaw J, Wong I, Griffin B, Robertson M, Bhatia RS. Principles for health system capacity planning: insights for healthcare leaders. Healthc Q 2017;19(4):17-22. [doi: <u>10.12927/hcq.2017.25016</u>] [Medline: <u>28130947</u>]
- 34. Denis JL. Accountability in healthcare organizations and systems. Healthc Policy 2014 Sep;10(Spec issue):8-11 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25305384]
- 35. Deber RB. What have we learned from the substudies? Healthc Policy 2014 Sep;10(Spec issue):163-164 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25305400]
- 36. Desveaux L, Shaw J, Wallace R, Bhattacharyya O, Bhatia RS, Jamieson T. Examining tensions that affect the evaluation of technology in health care: considerations for system decision makers from the perspective of industry and evaluators. JMIR Med Inform 2017 Dec 8;5(4):e50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.8207] [Medline: 29222075]
- 37. Bell R. Canada Health Infoway. 2016. Ontario's Patients First: Digital Health Strategy URL: <u>https://www.infoway-inforoute.ca/en/component/edocman/supporting-documents/partnership/</u><u>3198-keynote-ontario-s-digital-health-strategy</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]
- Desveaux L, Shaw J, Saragosa M, Soobiah C, Marani H, Hensel J, et al. A mobile app to improve self-management of individuals with type 2 diabetes: qualitative realist evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 16;20(3):e81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8712] [Medline: 29549070]
- 39. Metcalfe J, James A, Mina A. Emergent innovation systems and the delivery of clinical services: the case of intra-ocular lenses. Res Policy 2005;34(9):1283-1304. [doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2005.01.015]
- 40. Shaw J, Agarwal P, Desveaux L, Palma DC, Stamenova V, Jamieson T, et al. Beyond 'implementation': digital health innovation and service design. NPJ Digit Med 2018;1:48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0059-8] [Medline: 31304327]
- 41. Osterwalder A, Pigneur Y, Bernarda G, Smith A. Value Proposition Design: How to Create Products and Services Customers Want. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2014.
- 42. Ross J, Stevenson F, Dack C, Pal K, May C, Michie S, et al. Developing an implementation strategy for a digital health intervention: an example in routine healthcare. BMC Health Serv Res 2018 Oct 19;18(1):794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3615-7] [Medline: 30340639]
- 43. Shaw J, Tepper J, Martin D. From pilot project to system solution: innovation, spread and scale for health system leaders. BMJ Leader 2018;2(3):87-90. [doi: 10.1136/leader-2017-000055]
- 44. Tamblyn R, McMahon M, Nadigel J, Dunning B, Drake E. Health System Transformation through Research Innovation. Healthcare Papers 2016;16 (Special Issue):8-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12927/hcpap.2016.24719]
- 45. Wiener CM, Thompson SJ, Wu S, Chellappa M, Hasham S. Is there a role for academic medical centers in emerging markets? World Hosp Health Serv 2012;48(4):4-6. [Medline: <u>23484425</u>]
- 46. DePasse JW, Chen CE, Sawyer A, Jethwani K, Sim I. Academic Medical Centers as digital health catalysts. Healthc (Amst) 2014 Sep;2(3):173-176. [doi: 10.1016/j.hjdsi.2014.05.006] [Medline: 26250503]

RenderX

- 47. Standing C, Standing S, McDermott M, Gururajan R, Mavi RK. The paradoxes of telehealth: a review of the literature 2000-2015. Syst Rev 2006;35(1):90-101. [doi: 10.1002/sres.2442]
- 48. Consoli D. Services and systemic innovation: a cross-sectoral analysis. J Inst Econ 2007;3(1):71-89. [doi: 10.1017/s1744137406000567]
- 49. Tether BS, Metcalfe J. Horndal at Heathrow? Capacity creation through co-operation and system evolution. Ind Corp Change 2003;12(3):437-476. [doi: 10.1093/icc/12.3.437]

Abbreviations

MOHLTC: Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.06.19; peer-reviewed by P Ware, T Martin; comments to author 31.08.19; revised version received 08.10.19; accepted 22.10.19; published 20.12.19.

Please cite as:

Desveaux L, Soobiah C, Bhatia RS, Shaw J Identifying and Overcoming Policy-Level Barriers to the Implementation of Digital Health Innovation: Qualitative Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14994 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14994/ doi:10.2196/14994 PMID:31859679

©Laura Desveaux, Charlene Soobiah, R Sacha Bhatia, James Shaw. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 20.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Open Access as a Revolution: Knowledge Alters Power

Dave deBronkart¹, SB e-Patient Dave, LLC, Nashua, NH, United States

Corresponding Author:

Dave deBronkart, SB e-Patient Dave, LLC 17 Grasmere Lane Nashua, NH United States Phone: 1 6034595119 Email: dave@epatientdave.com

Abstract

The slogan "Gimme My Damn Data" has become a hallmark of a patient movement whose goal is to gain access to data in their medical records. Its first conference appearance was ten years ago, in September 2009. In the decade since there have been enormous changes in both the technology and sociology of medicine as well as in their synthesis. As the patient movement has made strides, it has been met with opposition and obstacles. It has also become clear that the availability of Open Access information is just as empowering (or disabling) as access to electronic medical records and device data. Knowledge truly is power, and to withhold knowledge is to disempower patients. This essay lays out many examples of how this shows up as we strive for the best future of care.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16368) doi:10.2196/16368

KEYWORDS

patient engagement; empowerment; patient empowerment; participatory medicine; open access; patient portals; EMRs; EHRs; Patient-clinician relationship

Introduction

As I write these words on September 17, 2019, it has been ten years since I gave my first keynote speech at a medical conference in Toronto, at Medicine 2.0. My opening slide had the date wrong, but this was it: the first time Gimme My Damn Data was spoken on stage [1].

It was ten years into the Journal of Medical Internet Research's (JMIR) long history, the midpoint between today and its founding. Most of what I wrote in my blog post about that speech [2] is still valid; most importantly, "there's still no way for me to get all the data out" of my hospital, Boston's Beth Israel Deaconess. Ironically, they are considered a leader in health information technology. Sociologically they are, as it is the home of OpenNotes; however, that is a social movement, not a technology.

The genesis of my advocacy for data rights is a story of its own: I believed my hospital's (former) Chief Information Officer (CIO) when he blogged [3] that I could move my medical data into the old Google Health site, and they were wrong. In short, a blog post I wrote about garbage that showed up in Google Health landed on the front page of the Boston Globe. The

RenderX

resulting social media furor led to a speaking invitation from Gunther Eysenbach, Editor-in-Chief of JMIR. He kept asking what title I would use, and in frustration, I told him to "Just call it 'gimme my damn data,' because you guys can't be trusted with it." The first part stuck.

That speech turned into a movement, a music video by Ross Martin, MD, and his band [4], and an unplanned global speaking career. Along the way, Ross's wife Kym, a multi-cancer survivor, made it more polite and descriptive by changing it to DaM data: Data About Me. However, health care institutions mostly do not get it yet, so I say that it is time for a revolution.

That former CIO, who knows me personally, has nonetheless blogged that patients do not want their information and that there is nothing they could do with it if they had it [5,6]. He wrote that not a single patient at our hospital has ever tried to download their record (Figure 1), and then we learned he does not have a way to do that [7]. I am fed up with this kind of "leadership," even though I am not in a health crisis. If I were in an emergency, I would be furious because knowledge and information are power, so to withhold patient data is to disempower the person for whom the profession exists. I will not stand for it anymore. To me, the withholding of information from patients is the same issue as putting general medical

deBronkart

information behind paywalls, an issue that favors Open Access journals that freely provide knowledge, a model which JMIR has pioneered.

In this article, I will write briefly about ten significant developments that have concurred with JMIR's first twenty years, with the developments divided into three categories: technological, sociological, and the convergence of the two. In the technological category, these developments include the arrival of electronic medical records (EMRs) and government mandates, particularly in the United States. The sociological category has to deal with the awakening of the patient movement, which includes developments such as the empowered, engaged, equipped, and enabled patient (e-patient) movement (citing Eysenbach), uncovering what empowerment is, the #PatientsIncluded movement ("Nothing about me without me" scales up), resistance from the establishment, parallels with the women's movement, and the British Medical Journal's Patient-Public Partnership. Finally, the convergence between the two involves the awakened and empowered seeking their data, with new technology enabling it, and includes the emerging standard of Fast Health care Interoperability Resources (FHIR).

Figure 1. Blurred screen capture with extract "Not one patient".

that at BIDMC since 1999 for all patients and all data. Download makes little sense since at the moment there is nothing a patient can do with a download. Of the 2 million patients at BIDMC, not one has ever requested a download. Transmit makes even less sense since there is no place to transmit the data to.

Development 1: Health Information Technology Regarding Electronic Medical Records and Mandates

Undeniably the first significant development in the ten years since my speech was the arrival of US \$40 billion in subsidies and then penalties that pushed the country toward finally computerizing our medical data. The first electronic medical record systems had arrived in the previous century, but they did not take off until the industry was forced to acknowledge them. I shudder to think what the state of adoption would be today if it were not for that \$40 billion.

The usability of these systems is widely considered to be horrible [8]. However, as I previously said on Twitter [9], blaming the government is off target. A few months after my speech in Toronto, while in Washington D.C., I referred to rumors that an EMR vendor Chief Executive Officer (CEO) had said usability would be a system criterion "over my dead body." The vendor won, but though adoption has been ugly, the situation has progressed to the point where we do have information systems. For the first time, it is possible to move data around, and though we are nowhere near the finish line, we have finally moved off the starting line.

Development 2: The E-Patient Movement and Participatory Medicine

"Doc Tom" Ferguson was a visionary who saw that access to information via the internet would transform what patients could do to contribute to their family's health and care. His "e-Patient White Paper" [10], published posthumously in 2007, cited Gunther Eysenbach's remarkable DAERI [11] project, which established that Googling does not lead to a flood of deaths. He found zero deaths in years of seeking horror stories, even when he offered a 0 (US \$55.02) bounty. Trying not to view internet research done by patients negatively is a lesson that could still be learned by medical students today, as highlighted by the Google mug meme that has been circulating online (Figure 2) [12].

To my knowledge, Eysenbach and Doc Tom produced the first crack in the armor of the idea that only doctors can know what is worth knowing. All else has stood on their shoulders. The same year of that Medicine 2.0 speech, Ferguson's founders formed the Society for Participatory Medicine [13].



Figure 2. Google mug.



Development 3: Understanding What Empowerment Is

One of the potential definitions of the "e" in Ferguson's e-patient concept that is often cited is empowerment. However, in my first years of conference travels, I found universal uncertainty about what we mean by it. If we are not clear about what empowerment is, how can we even tell whether someone is doing it? Then, at the 2013 World Parkinson Congress in Montreal, Swedish e-patient Sara Riggare told me about a definition she had seen in a speech the previous day. This was a definition that the World Bank has been using since 2002 when they help a developing nation become self-reliant [14]:

The process of enhancing an individual's or group's capacity to make purposive choices and to transform those choices into effective actions and outcomes.

Isn't that precisely what we seek in empowering patients? Increase their capacity to make choices and produce results? Someone who can do that has power, and someone who does not is disempowered. With this straightforward definition, we can evaluate any intervention: does it increase or diminish one's capacity? I believe that withholding one's medical data diminishes their ability to manage their medical lives. Access is empowering. I assert that the same applies to medical literature, which can be inaccessible to patients because of paywalls. It is bluntly disempowering to the patient who has the problem because the publisher has a higher priority than directly empowering the sick person and their carers.

I asked Sara which scientist or sociologist had presented this at the conference. She said it was a fellow patient, Fulvio

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16368/
```

Capitanio, who said it during his presentation. It is important to note that it was not a scientist who was moved to present this as a topic of significance, but a patient.

Development 4: The Genesis of #PatientsIncluded

In 2013, the Dutch visionary Lucien Engelen posted that he had seen the future and would no longer speak at any health conference, not even for a hefty fee, if it did not actively include patients, on stage or in the audience, which included paying their expenses [15]. He was the first leader I know of who said we could not do health care right (or plan or manage it) if patients are not involved in the process. Today, among other things, this includes patient data management.

As with many social issues, #PatientsIncluded is the latest expression of an earlier principle: Nothing about me without me. This concept started with the disability rights movement in South Africa in the 1980s [16], but they had another potent line about showing up to advocate for yourself: "When someone else speaks for you, you lose" [16]. The women's suffrage movement found the same in the 1800s when they let some men speak for them in Congress [17]. The men made compromises that the women would not have accepted.

Development 5: Discovering Parallels With the Women's Suffrage Movement

Speaking of the women's movement, I was in the Boston college scene when feminism rolled through, and I have noticed many parallels with the participatory medicine movement. One such

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

favorite parallel of mine is that at dances, we had to shift from "boy leads, girl follows" to a bit more collaboration, just as participatory medicine tells us to share taking the lead. Also, in 1912, some people resisted women's suffrage by saying, "Most women aren't asking for it" [18], just as some clinicians today say, "My patients aren't asking for access." Seeing the potential for improvement, and enabling it, requires vision. Saying "I don't see the potential yet" is a favorite way to stay secure in the past. That never improves things.

Development 6: Resistance

When you are in a revolution, at first, they ignore you. When they start to strike back, it is a sign that those you are fighting against are waking up. I was appalled in 2014 when Dutch visionary Lucien posted about two award-winning commercials (published by the Belgian government) that said, "Don't google it. Check a reliable source", as if that was an either-or proposition. e-patients who are using Google to get information are trying to supplement their knowledge, not ignore doctors; we may google it, and we can also check a reliable source. However, in both commercials, the citizen falls for an incorrect website and does not think to ask their clinician [19,20]. Not to be outdone, Israel's largest health maintenance organization, Clalit, produced a commercial [21] showing a "search victim" rolled into an emergency room. A doctor yells, "Clear!" and slams the patient's laptop shut as if turning off the computer was as potent as cardioversion.

Savvy e-patients know there is incorrect information on the internet, and they know not to swallow everything they see. In 1999, I found my wife on match.com. Before I found her, I got some suboptimal search results, but I knew enough to check before acting. If you have ever taught a child how to be careful online, you know that when someone is inexperienced, the remedy is not to keep them naïve but instead to teach them how to watch out for themselves. Paternal caring is essential when someone cannot make choices, but it is cruel and foolish when they have grown up.

There is a sad side to getting this wrong. The NHS Trust in Nottingham, England, had to apologize to the family of 19-year-old liver cancer patient Bronte Doyne, who died after her doctors told the family to stop going to Google for information, even though the family had found valid information that the clinicians did not know [22]. Ironically, these physicians had never received training about how valid information can be found online. Physician naïveté about this issue is a legitimate challenge to physician credibility and authority.

In an era of constant and overwhelming change, it is unfair to put all the burden on the health system. Sometimes a patient might discover something the doctors have not seen, and an enlightened doctor will know that and not squander the opportunity. This is not about ignoring doctors. It is about patient participation to help health care achieve its potential.

Development 7: Discovering Parallels With Radically Rethinking Education

The radical education book "Pedagogy of the Oppressed" [23] discusses how you teach people, under the old model of "teacher knows everything useful; student is an ignorant puppet, a bucket to be filled properly." The book asserts that this is oppressive. The more "right" approach, it says, is to teach the student to question, to think critically for themselves. Can you sense the parallels with "doctor knows best" medicine and participatory medicine?

The Society for Participatory Medicine's cofounder Sarah Greene penned a post in 2009 called, "Participatory Medicine as Revolution: Think Critically! Communicate!" [24] She replaced the book's use of student and teacher with patient and provider:

Patients, having adopted guidelines of their health care provider and internalized his images, [become] fearful of freedom. Freedom would require them to eject this image and replace it with autonomy and responsibility.

Only this year did I connect the dots between this and how information empowers, which in turn enables revolution. When we have limited access to information, we are dependent, whether anyone intended us to be or not.

A note that is relevant to JMIR, in particular, is that information behind a paywall impedes growth and empowerment. Open access to information is empowering because it enables the citizen.

Development 8: Convergence of Technology and the Social Awakening With the Science of Behavior Change

For years, my mind has itched at the complaint, "My patients aren't asking for this." But then I remembered meeting Stanford behaviorist BJ Fogg in 2010, with his model of behavior change: Behavior change is a function of motivation to change, ability to take the requested action, and some trigger (or prompt). Someone might write it out as:

6	×	1	
-		1	

However, he writes it as B=MAT (in later versions prompt replaces trigger). He developed this into a useful 3×5 matrix of types of behavior change, which I have rarely heard discussed in health care and never regarding health data. He breaks it up as follows:

- Y-axis: "Dot, span, or path." Are we talking about doing something once (dot), or for a specific time (span), or permanently (path)?
- The X-axis is a type of change: start something, end something, do more or less of something, or do something they already know how to do (once, or for a while, or permanently).

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16368/

With this model, if someone complains that patients "don't do as they're told," we are able to ask, "Well, what type of change were you requesting?" Moreover, if they say patients are not asking for something (such as data), we can explore differences between observed groups rather than assuming that all patients are the same. In behavior change as in biology, a more thoughtful diagnostic approach has a better chance of helping patients.

I suspect we will discover a role for Freire's advice to awaken the "student." As he said, that will never happen if we think patients are mindless vessels to be filled by somebody else. Could it be that our paradigm of patient is a principal cause of the behaviors people complain about [25]?

Development 9: Motivation for Action Due to the Business Side of US Health Care

I am not happy to say this, especially since I have come to know many good, committed people who work in this system, but there are many instances of mistreatment in the system:

- "If Grandma Is on the Table, No One Will Blink at the Price": A Former Drug Company Manager Explains Industry Price-Setting [26]
- "Is curing patients a sustainable business model?" (Investment company Goldman Sachs) [27]
- Stories of hospitals suing their patients to preserve their health at the cost of the patient's health
 - "'UVA Has Ruined Us': Health System Sues Thousands Of Patients, Seizing Paychecks And Claiming Homes" [28]
 - "When Hospitals Sue For Unpaid Bills, It Can Be 'Ruinous' For Patients" [29]
 - "As Patients Struggle With Bills, Hospital Sues Thousands" [30]

We must revolt against this, or the businesspeople who run parts of the health care system shall surely crush us. However, to revolt and strive for autonomy, we need information.

Development 10: Fast Health Care Interoperability Resources

At this twentieth anniversary of JMIR, and the tenth anniversary of my first speech, there is new hope for autonomy and independence due to a revolution empowered by information. A new software standard for data mobility, FHIR, is maturing. In my personal view, this is the most significant change in these past ten years; the signs are that FHIR might make real what I was trying to do in 2009 with Google Health. I say this in part because a familiar origin story for a patient's newfound empowerment is their discovery of a significant mistake in their medical information, or even discovering that vital information from one care provider never made it to the next. Sometimes the failure of that data to move to the point of need causes horrific harm.

Tying it All Together

So much has changed since September 2009, but the business side of health care still says that patients should do as they are told. A few years ago, Judy Faulkner, founder and CEO of EMR vendor Epic, famously argued with former US vice president Joe Biden, saying, "Why do you want your medical records? They're a thousand pages of which you understand 10." Nevertheless, Biden replied, "None of your business." [31] Biden's motivation trumped her apparent belief that he (and his son's doctors) could not make use of the asset. Biden had lost his son Beau to brain cancer, and the final efforts to save him were impeded by the inability to move Beau's data around. So, one can imagine that it would be upsetting to Biden when someone criticizes his desire to help people save their families. There is a video of Biden's speech that same year at Health Datapalooza, where you can sense the mood of someone who tried to help save his son's life and was blocked [32].

Just this September, both the American Medical Association and the American Hospital Association cautioned against letting patients have their data [33]. In summary, they said, "something bad might happen" if it leaked. That is paternalism at its finest, or in Fogg's model, "Ability is zero, so no change is possible—why even try?" Empowered patients might respond: "Let me decide!"

It is not just EMR data, too. Many patients have devices wired into their bodies. These are real medical wires and sensors under their skin, and some of these patients want to see the data their devices are generating. They are empowered, an attitude that has converged with the knowledge that there is data about their body's functions and their health, and they want to see it. Hugo Campos is a famous example. An implanted cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) manages his life-threatening heart condition, something he is happy about, but he does not want to wait around passively for the next time it shocks him. He wants to know how to manage his life, but the device's maker, Medtronic, will not give him the data that comes out of his own heart. Thus, they keep the information and block Hugo from managing his own life. The extraordinary health researcher/anthropologist/thinker Susannah Fox has just capped off the ten years I have known her with a new post about Hugo and their related issues, "Why should anyone care about health data interoperability?" [34]

However, the most spectacular example of empowered patients is the OpenAPS open-source pancreas system. These people invented something that works better than a healthy pancreas at managing their blood sugar, with no doctors or scientists or device makers involved [35,36]. Their original hashtag is a perfect expression of liberation, #WeAreNotWaiting, which, when merged with technology, has produced a new, patient-created way to manage a life-threatening condition [37,38]. The most hopeful development on the horizon, to me, is that Sloan School of Management professor Eric von Hippel has begun applying his thinking on "Free Innovation" (a book about consumers modifying products or creating inventions) to health care. In February, he, his daughter, and others authored, "When Patients Become Innovators" in the Sloan Management

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16368/
```

XSL•F() RenderX

Review. The featured patients were Dana Lewis and the OpenAPS group, and Sean Ahrens of Crohnology, which is a community of Crohn's Disease patients.

Open Access Embodies All the Issues of the Past Decade

We have learned that if EMR information is held only by third parties, then we the patients will depend on them for everything. We have learned that getting our hands on EMR data, such as through OpenNotes, enables real change and contribution. Similarly, if access to medical journals is available only to professionals (health care providers and researchers), then we, the patients, for whose benefit they work, are oppressed, whether that is intentional or not. However, we have seen, through JMIR and others, that Open Access journals can accelerate the dissemination of new knowledge, which increases the aggregate potential of what health care can achieve.

We must revolt against the limits that constrain progress. We must speak up, say what is important to us, and argue ceaselessly for the change we want in the world. Often, we may only shift from that dependent role when some trigger provides motivation, but this is not a shift someone can perform while their boat is metaphorically sinking. Empowerment through information can be revolutionary, but it is not instantaneous; when we acquire a new asset, we must learn to use it. Let us educate each other before trouble strikes, so that when it does, we have the best odds of the kind of success other highly engaged patients and I have achieved: to help health care achieve its potential.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- deBronkart D, Eysenbach G. Gimme My Damn Data (and Let Patients Help!): The #GimmeMyDamnData Manifesto. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 22;21(11):e17045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17045] [Medline: 31755873]
- 2. e-Patient Dave. 2009 Sep 20. Give patients (that's you) access to all their (your) data so they can help URL: <u>https://www.epatientdave.com/2009/09/20/give-us-our-data/</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 3. Life as a Healthcare CIO. 2008 May 19. The Launch of Google Health URL: <u>http://geekdoctor.blogspot.com/2008/05/</u> launch-of-google-health.html [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 4. Martin R. Vimeo. 2012. Gimme My DaM Data URL: <u>https://vimeo.com/48221070</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 5. Life as a Healthcare CIO. 2016 Jun 22. Why Apple HealthKit in iOS 10 Makes View/Download/Transmit Real URL: <u>http://geekdoctor.blogspot.com/2016/06/why-apple-healthkit-in-ios-10-makes.html</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 6. Halamka JD. MedCity News. 2016 Jun 22. Here's why Apple HealthKit, CareKit stand to have a big impact on healthcare URL: <u>https://medcitynews.com/2016/06/healthkit-carekit-and-healthcare/</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 7. e-Patient Dave. 2016 Nov 22. Dear John: I still want to download my records! Gimme My DaM Data! URL: <u>https://www.epatientdave.com/2016/11/22/dear-john-i-still-want-to-download-my-records-gimme-my-dam-data/</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 8. Schulte F, Fry E. Kaiser Health News. 2019 Mar 18. Death By 1,000 Clicks: Where Electronic Health Records Went Wrong URL: <u>https://khn.org/news/death-by-a-thousand-clicks/</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 9. Thread reader. 2019 Sep 21. Dave deBronkart URL: <u>https://threadreaderapp.com/thread/1175473389227708418.html</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 10. Ferguson T. Society for Participatory Medicine. 2007. e-patients: how they can help us heal healthcare URL: <u>https://participatorymedicine.org/e-Patient_White_Paper_with_Afterword.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 11. Eysenbach G, Köhler C. DAERI A Case Database for Adverse Events Related to the Internet. 2002 Presented at: AMIA-American Medical Informatics Association Annual Symposium; November 9-13; San Antonio, Texas, USA URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2244405/
- 12. e-Patient Dave. Society of Participatory Medicine. 2015 Nov 30. The truth about that "your Googling and my medical degree" mug URL: <u>http://dave.pt/googlemug</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 13. Society for Participatory Medicine. 2019. URL: http://participatorymedicine.org [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 14. Holland J, Alsop R, Bertelsen M. Empowerment In Practice: From Analysis To Implementation (directions In Development). Washington, D.C., USA: World Bank Publications; Dec 28, 2005.
- 15. Engelen L. Linkedin. 2013 Mar 26. No-Show patients on conferences: Patients Included URL: <u>http://dave.pt/patientsincluded</u> [accessed 2019-11-26]
- 16. e-patient Dave. "When someone else speaks for you, you lose": patient empowerment as a civil rights movement. 2015 Oct 22. Society for Participatory Medicine URL: <u>https://participatorymedicine.org/epatients/2015/10/</u> when-someone-else-speaks-for-you-you-lose-patient-empowerment-as-a-civil-rights-movement.html [accessed 2019-11-26]
- Ken Burns, Paul Barnes. PBS.: Public Broadcasting Service; 1999 Nov 07. Not for Ourselves Alone URL: <u>http://www.pbs.org/stantonanthony/</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
- e-Patient Dave. Society for Participatory Medicine. 2012 Nov 06. "Vote No on Suffrage: 90% don't care" URL: <u>https://participatorymedicine.org/epatients/2012/11/vote-no-on-suffrage-90-dont-care.html</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 19. DDB Brussels. Vimeo. 2014. Don't google It URL: http://dave.pt/belgiangoogle3 [accessed 2019-11-27]

- 20. Amsterdam Ad Blog. Vimeo. 2014. Don't Google it URL: http://dave.pt/belgiangoogle4 [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 21. e-Patient Dave deBronkart. YouTube. 2016 Feb. Israeli HMO commercial on "search victims" URL: <u>http://dave.pt/</u> israeligoogle [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 22. Vyze R. The Guardian. 2015 Jun 19. Google search vs doctor diagnosis always an imperfect balance URL: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/healthcare-network/2015/jun/19/google-search-doctor-diagnosis-imperfect-balance-bronte-doyne-cancer</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 23. Freire P. Pedagogy of the oppressed. New York City: Herder And Herder; 1970.
- 24. Greene S. Society for Participatory Medicine. 2009 May 11. Participatory Medicine as Revolution! Think Critically! Communicate! URL: <u>https://participatorymedicine.org/epatients/2009/05/</u> participatory-medicine-as-revolution-think-critically-communicate.html [accessed 2019-11-27]
- deBronkart D. The paradigm of patient must evolve: Why a false sense of limited capacity can subvert all attempts at patient involvement. Patient Experience Journal 2017 Jul 26;4(2):4-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.35680/2372-0247.1242]
- 26. Quigley F. Common Dreams. 2019 Jul 01. 'If Grandma Is on the Table, No One Will Blink at the Price': A Former Drug Company Manager Explains Industry Price-Setting URL: <u>https://www.commondreams.org/views/2019/07/01/</u> if-grandma-table-no-one-will-blink-price-former-drug-company-manager-explains [accessed 2019-11-27]
- Tae K. CNBC. 2018 Apr 11. Goldman Sachs asks in biotech research report: 'Is curing patients a sustainable business model?' URL: <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2018/04/11/goldman-asks-is-curing-patients-a-sustainable-business-model.html</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 28. Hancock J, Lucas E. Kaiser Health News. 2019 Sep 10. 'UVA Has Ruined Us': Health System Sues Thousands Of Patients, Seizing Paychecks And Claiming Homes URL: <u>https://khn.org/news/</u>
- <u>uva-health-system-sues-patients-virginia-courts-garnishment-liens-bankruptcy/</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
 Simmons-Duffin S. NPR. 2019 Jun 25. When Hospitals Sue For Unpaid Bills, It Can Be 'Ruinous' For Patients URL: <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2019/06/25/735385283/</u>
- <u>hospitals-earn-little-from-suing-for-unpaid-bills-for-patients-it-can-be-ruinous</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
 Beil L. The New York Times. 2019 Sep 03. When Hospitals Sue For Unpaid Bills, It Can Be 'Ruinous' For Patients URL: https://www.nytimes.com/2019/09/03/health/carlsbad-hospital-lawsuits-medical-debt.html [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 31. Levin D. Healthcare Innovation. 2017 Aug 7. Joe Biden, Judy Faulkner, and the One Thousand-Page Medical Record URL: https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/interoperability-hie/blog/13028999/
- joe-biden-judy-faulkner-and-the-one-thousandpage-medical-record [accessed 2019-12-05]
 e-Patient Dave. 2016 May 10. Vice President Biden's potent speech about the importance of data in cancer URL: <u>https://www.epatientdave.com/2016/05/10/vice-president-bidens-potent-speech-about-the-importance-of-data-in-cancer/</u> [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 33. Park A. Becker's Hospital Review. 2019 Sep 03. Why AMA, AHA are pushing back against Apple's Health Records URL: https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/ehrs/why-ama-aha-are-pushing-back-against-apple-s-health-records.html [accessed 2019-11-27]
- 34. Susannah Fox. 2019 Sep 16. Why should anyone care about health data interoperability? URL: <u>https://susannahfox.com/</u> 2019/09/16/why-should-anyone-care-about-health-data-interoperability/ [accessed 2019-11-27]
- O'Donnell S, Lewis D, Marchante Fernández M, Wäldchen M, Cleal B, Skinner T, et al. Evidence on User-Led Innovation in Diabetes Technology (The OPEN Project): Protocol for a Mixed Methods Study. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Nov 19;8(11):e15368 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15368] [Medline: 31742563]
- 36. Braune K, O'Donnell S, Cleal B, Lewis D, Tappe A, Willaing I, et al. Real-World Use of Do-It-Yourself Artificial Pancreas Systems in Children and Adolescents With Type 1 Diabetes: Online Survey and Analysis of Self-Reported Clinical Outcomes. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jul 30;7(7):e14087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14087] [Medline: 31364599]
- Litchman ML, Edelman LS, Donaldson GW. Effect of Diabetes Online Community Engagement on Health Indicators: Cross-Sectional Study. JMIR Diabetes 2018 Apr 24;3(2):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.8603] [Medline: 30291079]
- Liu Y, Mei Q, Hanauer DA, Zheng K, Lee JM. Use of Social Media in the Diabetes Community: An Exploratory Analysis of Diabetes-Related Tweets. JMIR Diabetes 2016 Nov 07;1(2):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.6256] [Medline: 30291053]

Abbreviations

CIO: chief information officer
EMR: electronic medical record
e-patient: electronic patient
FHIR: Fast Health care Interoperability Resources
ICD: implanted cardioverter-defibrillator
JMIR: Journal of Medical Internet Research

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16368/
```

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 23.09.19; peer-reviewed by S Rush, A Powell; comments to author 08.11.19; revised version received 25.11.19; accepted 25.11.19; published 11.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> deBronkart D Open Access as a Revolution: Knowledge Alters Power J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16368 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16368/</u> doi:10.2196/16368 PMID:<u>31825321</u>

©Dave DeBronkart. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 11.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Building Capacity and Training for Digital Health: Challenges and Opportunities in Latin America

Walter H Curioso¹, MD, PhD, MPH

Department of Biomedical Informatics and Medical Education, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author: Walter H Curioso, MD, PhD, MPH Department of Biomedical Informatics and Medical Education University of Washington Box 358047 Seattle, WA 98195 United States Email: wcurioso@uw.edu

Abstract

Tackling global health challenges demands the appropriate use of available technologies. Although digital health could significantly improve health care access, use, quality, and outcomes, realizing this possibility requires personnel trained in digital health. There is growing evidence of the benefits of digital health for improving the performance of health systems and outcomes in developed countries. However, significant gaps remain in resource-constrained settings. Technological and socio-cultural disparities between different regions or between provinces within the same country are prevalent. Rural areas, where the promise and need are highest, are particularly deprived. In Latin America, there is an unmet need for training and building the capacity of professionals in digital health. This viewpoint paper aims to present a selection of experiences in building digital health capacity in Latin America to illustrate a series of challenges and opportunities for strengthening digital health training programs in resource-constrained environments. These describe how a successful digital health. These programs should be responsive to the needs of all relevant regional stakeholders, including government agencies, non–governmental organizations, industry, academic or research entities, professional societies, and communities. This paper highlights the role that collaborative partnerships can play in sharing resources, experiences, and lessons learned between countries to optimize training and research opportunities in Latin America.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16513) doi:10.2196/16513

KEYWORDS

digital health; capacity building; training program; education; public health; telehealth; Peru; Latin America

Introduction

Digital health has made a wide range of technologies (eg, the use of computers, tablets, and mobile phones) readily available around the globe, and could contribute significantly to both improving the quality of health care for populations and enabling better health outcomes [1]. In this viewpoint, the term digital health could be used synonymously with electronic health (eHealth) and mobile health (mHealth).

Although there is growing evidence of the benefits of digital health for strengthening health systems and improving health outcomes in developed countries, significant gaps remain in resource-constrained settings. Technological and socio-cultural disparities between different regions or provinces within the same country are prevalent. Rural areas, where the promise and need are highest, are particularly deprived.

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/
```

RenderX

Latin America is still recognized as the most unequal region in the world [2]. According to the 2019 Global Multidimensional Poverty Index report by the United Nations Development Programme and the Oxford Poverty and Human Development Initiative, 39 million people in Latin America experience multidimensional poverty [3]. Latin America is a region with particular local characteristics related to economy, employment, housing, education, cultural context, and health care [4].

Information and communication technologies can help reduce those inequalities in Latin America, being essential tools to promote innovation and knowledge generation in societies, especially to disadvantaged groups and rural areas. Latin American countries must properly incorporate information and communication technologies to address the health needs of their population. In October 2019, the 57th Directing Council of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), through Resolution CD57/9, adopted the Plan of Action for Strengthening

Information Systems for Health 2019-2023 [5] to ensure better collection and management of data. This was done to inform decision-making, policy development, monitoring, and evaluation. This highlights the need for strengthening resource capacity for the proper implementation of health information systems, considering the context, needs, vulnerabilities, and priorities of countries [5]. Objective 42.2 is related to improving human resource training in all aspects of health information systems, and is the [5]:

Number of countries and territories with ongoing professional training strategies or digital literacy programs for the use of new technologies.

Excepting the countries of the Americas that have made substantial progress in improving health information systems [5], there are still many technological, organizational, and socio-cultural challenges in Latin America. These challenges include poor infrastructure, low Internet connectivity, inequalities in access to electricity, and adult illiteracy [6]. This lack of efficient health innovation projects and programs has been recognized as one of the main challenges of the health sector in the region [7]. On top of that, the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Telecommunication Union identified the lack of qualified and experienced professionals in digital health as one of the main barriers for digital health application at the global level [8]. In general, doctors are unevenly distributed across Latin American countries, and most health care professionals are concentrated in urban areas [7].

Therefore, we need a skilled workforce not only to understand health care and information and communication technologies, but also to implement effective digital health systems that can achieve national, regional, and local goals. This is especially important when considering the socio-economic, socio-cultural, and organizational challenges involved. This viewpoint paper aims to present a selection of experiences in building resource capacity for digital health in Latin America to illustrate a series of challenges and opportunities for strengthening digital health training programs in resource-constrained environments.

The Need for Strengthening the Digital Health Workforce in Latin America

The need for training and building the capacity of health care professionals in digital health remains one of the most significant public health challenges in Latin America [9]. Digital health training and research programs in this region are scarce [10] and poorly documented. However, some remarkable initiatives and programs have been implemented in Latin America. For example, the PAHO has carried out essential actions regarding digital health in the region, which included not only capacity-building activities but also research. These activities included regional workshops on digital health, the development of knowledge networks and technical guidelines, the promotion of information sources on the internet, the establishment of digital health sustainability models, the support for the development of electronic health records, the promotion of standards on health data and related technologies that ensure exchange of information, the promotion of mobile devices to

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/
```

improve health, and the improvement in quality of care through telemedicine [11].

Moreover, the PAHO has developed a series of virtual courses such as: "eHealth for Managers and Decision Makers," the "Virtual course on properly completing death certificates," and "Access and Use of Scientific Information on Health." All these courses are available through the Virtual Campus of Public Health. With those initiatives, thousands of health workers have already been trained throughout the region [12].

Experiences for Building Capacity in Digital Health in Latin America

A proper health workforce trained in digital health will strengthen health systems and ensure adequate service delivery. There is growing evidence around the world of the value that well-trained personnel in digital health can offer to tackle global health challenges [13], including evidence from Latin America [14,15]. Latin American countries have carried out a wide range of digital health initiatives, including educational initiatives and training programs for digital health resource capacity building [5,10,16-19]. Despite the discontinuity of several projects and initiatives, many collaborative courses and research projects related to digital health have been developed between international institutions promoting North-to-South, South-to-North, and South-to-South collaborations [5,10,20-24].

The Informatics Training for Global Health (ITGH) program from the Fogarty International Center has played a significant role in expanding the informatics workforce based on the health and informatics needs of countries. Over the years, the ITGH has supported informatics research training in low- and middle-income country institutions in partnership with US institutions and investigators and has funded several collaborative research and training programs in Latin America [10,13,15].

The American Medical Informatics Association (AMIA)'s Global Partnership Program (GPP), funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, aims to develop project-centric approaches to training in developing countries to expand local resource capacities and to promote collaboration [25]. As part of the meetings conducted with AMIA GPP committee members, several Latin American experts on digital health actively participated and contributed to the discussions and activities [26].

There is also "Regional Protocols for the Formulation of Public Telehealth Policies for Latin America," funded by the Inter-American Development Bank, which involved 16 Latin American countries and identified that the training of professionals in telehealth was a priority for its development in the region [16]. To contribute to the development of telehealth in the region an international telehealth training course (via long-distance education) was conducted with the participation of Latin American universities, the PAHO, and the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean, [16].

It is essential to highlight that Brazil once hosted the oldest resident informaticist program in Latin America, at the Hospital das Clínicas da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo, from 1988-1997 [27]. The clinical pathology service had a 2-year clinical informatics residency mainly focused on hospital software project management, the design of electronic health records, and epidemiological information technologies [27]. Brazil also launched electronic learning programs for the National Telehealth Program and in partnership with the Open University of the Unified Health System [10], and they also promoted the development of nursing education programs with nursing informatics topics [10].

It is also important to point out that the Department of Health Informatics at Hospital Italiano de Buenos Aires, in Argentina, created in 2001, developed a 4-year residency program that has been accredited by national authorities as a "bridge" between health care and information technology [10]. The curriculum includes two years in internal medicine, computer science, health care information systems, electronic health records management, epidemiology, knowledge-based databases for clinical terminology and standards, biostatistics, and decision-making theory [10]. Likewise, the Hospital Italiano de Buenos Aires developed courses for digital literacy oriented towards information retrieval and other similar disciplines. A Spanish version of the AMIA's 10×10 initiative was developed in collaboration with Oregon Health and Science University's Department of Medical Informatics and Clinical Epidemiology [10].

Training programs on digital health in Latin America should consider the results from a survey conducted in 2011 by Blas et al from the Andean Global Health Informatics Research and Training Center [21], which surveyed 142 experts from 11 countries regarding the need for health informatics training. The top-ranked courses were: "Introduction to Biomedical Informatics," "Data Representation and Databases," "Mobile Health," and "Security, Confidentiality, and Privacy." The research topics reported as a priority were: evaluation of health information systems, policy in health informatics, interoperability and standards, evidence-based decision making in informatics, rural telemedicine, mobile health, electronic health records, sequence analysis and gene finding, tele-education, and the analysis of cost-effectiveness in biomedical informatics [21].

Challenges and Opportunities for Strengthening Training Programs and Initiatives in Latin America

Overview

A remarkable 2003 review paper by Rodrigues, published at the Journal of Medical Internet Research [28], and entitled "eHealth in Latin America and the Caribbean: Development and Policy Issues," described trends and issues regarding the deployment of electronic health solutions in Latin America and the Caribbean. Since people are central to the value-added creation of digital health services, skilled and committed human resources were identified as an essential component for the

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/
```

deployment of the digital health ecosystem in Latin America [28]. Therefore, Latin American countries should invest in digital health training programs to overcome main health care challenges. Rodrigues proposed that systems professionals, technology products, services providers, and project teams must have superior skill levels and experience. He also proposed that efficient and robust government and academic institutions should be committed to investing in education, scientific and technological development, and public services [28]. Some of the critical things that Latin American governments should focus on developing and implementing include developing a national vision, mission, and plan of action for the public and private sectors, and the promotion of education, training, and national planning capacity in information systems and technology [28].

Latin America faces several challenges regarding digital health. For example, telehealth has not yet been scaled up broadly at the national and regional level due to organizational, physical, and technological challenges in Latin America [29]. Moreover, the cultural context and core cultural values in the health care process play a significant role and could have important implications for digital health adoption [29]. Data sharing among health professionals also remains a limitation due to the restricted use of technology for communication, training, and decision-making [30].

Some risks for training programs on digital health might include lack of clarity about the scope of the training program and the responsibilities, insufficient capacity to carry out the program and develop an appropriate curriculum, inability to retain skilled staff, participation of experts with very little or no knowledge of the local needs and socio-cultural issues, dependency on external support, and insufficient planning for sustainability [31]. One of the key points to address those risks effectively is to establish cooperative partnerships that need to be addressed and planned [32,33].

In 2008, the Rockefeller Foundation launched a month-long conference series called "Making the eHealth Connection: Global Partnerships, Local Solutions," held at the Rockefeller Foundation Bellagio Center in Italy. It hosted 200 global experts on digital health from 34 countries, including Latin American researchers and experts [34]. The report from the conference series entitled "From Silos to Systems" [35] presented a chapter on "eHealth Capacity Building," which defined a vision with three objectives: (1) create an international network of eHealth informatics practice, education, training, policy, and research; (2) educate government leaders about the importance of eHealth capacity and informatics to help develop national health goals, economic goals, and to cultivate and sustain support for eHealth resource capacity growth and informatics activities; and (3) develop a blueprint for initiating and executing activities in resource-poor countries to rapidly create eHealth initiatives.

The mHealth Alliance was seeded at the conference and has promoted summits, technical working groups, and other informal networking activities to strengthen links among Latin American researchers and global digital health stakeholders [36]. In this sense, there are tremendous opportunities to boost the promotion of research and training through networking between countries

XSL•FO RenderX

in Latin America and beyond. Some experiences of collaborative initiatives in Latin America that could be fostered and even applied to other countries are described below.

The AMAUTA Program and the QUIPU Network

In 1999, the AMAUTA Global Training in Health Informatics program was developed to train Peruvian health care professionals in the application of informatics to health [37]. This collaborative program was an institutional partnership that involved Universidad Peruana Cayetano Heredia, Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos, and the University of Washington, Seattle, Washington, with the support of the Fogarty International Center and the National Institutes of Health. The AMAUTA program achieved considerable success in the development and institution of informatics research and training programs in Peru [37]. Courses and projects supported by the AMAUTA program led to the development of sustainable training opportunities for biomedical informatics in Peru [38] and contributed to their development in other low- and middle-income countries.

This program later expanded to other Latin American countries through the QUIPU Center, which worked to promote South-to-South collaborations [37]. As part of The Andean Global Health Informatics Research and Training Center, the QUIPU network was created in 2010. The objectives of QUIPU were to: (1) develop and implement short- and long-term training opportunities in biomedical informatics for global health in the Andean region; (2) engage new researchers in the Andean region to research health informatics and bioinformatics; and (3) expand and consolidate a research network in the Andean promoting South-to-South collaboration region. and collaborative initiatives with United States-based universities and institutions [39]. This Center has developed several face-to-face and virtual courses [39] and has supported the establishment of a diploma and a Master's program on Biomedical Informatics [40], the first of such training programs in Peru.

Federation of Health Informatics for Latin America and the Caribbean

The International Medical Informatics Association (IMIA) has a Federation of Health Informatics for Latin America and the Caribbean called IMIA-LAC. As of January 2018, 12 medical informatics societies were members of the Federation [41]. The regional activities of IMIA-LAC have been scarce, but it is desirable to strengthen regional ties with close links to universities and societies at the international level [42].

The Central American Health Informatics Network

The Central American Health Informatics Network (RECAINSA), established in 2013, is a network of volunteers working in technology-related public and private health services [43]. One of its objectives is to support national digital health strategies, including generating networking spaces for the exchange of experiences and best practices. Another objective of RECAINSA is to strengthen digital health governance through legal and strategic frameworks through the participation of key stakeholders within the health sector [43]. RECAINSA also promotes the strengthening of human resources in

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/
```

XSI•FC

universities, certified training centers, and other specialized organizations [43].

The Latin American and Caribbean Network for Strengthening Health Information Systems

The Latin American and Caribbean Network for Strengthening Health Information Systems (RELACSIS), established in 2010 [44], is a community of best practices to improve data quality. It is made up of members from over 25 countries, comprising both health information users and managers [11]. RELACSIS promotes the strengthening of information systems for health through face-to-face and virtual courses (eg, ICD coding, complete death certificates), discussion forums, working groups, webinars, software solutions, and other low-cost tools. In this context, PAHO has organized several virtual seminars with experts to learn about the current status of electronic health records in the region [11].

Ibero-American Network of Mobile Technology and Health

The Ibero-American Network of Mobile Technology and Health (CYTED-RITMOS) is an international network led by the Open University of Catalonia and composed of 17 research groups from six countries (Argentina, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, and Spain), the PAHO/WHO, Doctors Without Borders, Telefónica, the Mobile World Capital Barcelona Foundation, and the University of Michigan. This network aims to promote research and development of mHealth in Latin America [45]. In October 2015, the International RITMOS Workshop took place in Barcelona, intending to determine the priority areas of Latin America in which research, development, and innovation projects in mHealth could be developed [45].

Others

Several other international organizations are involved with a vast number of professionals who work on digital health projects and services in Latin America. Health Level Seven Latin America (HL7 LATAM) is a regional coordinating body that promotes the use of interoperability standards in Latin America to improve health care institutions in the region [46]. The current activities of HL7 LATAM are available through their website and on their social networks (HL7 LATAM). Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS) Latin America is an international organization focused on promoting initiatives and events on leadership, community building, and professional development [47]. Their main initiatives are holding conferences in Costa Rica, Brazil, and Chile, and supporting Latin American countries through the digital transformation of their health services [47].

There are also collaborative partnerships, such as the e-Government Cooperation Center (eGCC) (launched as a cooperative project between Korea and partner countries, such as Peru), which has supported digital health resource capacity building, the exchange of information technologies, and joint research projects. The Ministry of Interior and Safety and The National Information Society Agency of the Republic of Korea have worked together to provide support to international countries in e-Government related areas, such as smart cities and telemedicine [48].

Curioso

Finally, the World Health Organization has established a new roster of experts in various areas related to digital health, which shows promise for boosting collaboration between experts from Latin America and abroad. Its goal is to share expertise and lessons learned regarding the development, implementation, and evaluation of capacity-building programs for digital health [49].

Final Remarks

Training programs on digital health in Latin America should incorporate the local context, consider the local needs, and be sensitive to the local economic, social, cultural, and organizational factors. There is a need to develop innovative intercultural and multilingual educational tools and solutions according to the health needs of populations, especially in underserved areas.

Given the limited resources in the Latin American region, the creation and strengthening of the existing networks of public and private institutions with academic centers who have experience in digital health training and research should be promoted. They should also seek to work in close collaboration with local, regional, and national governments. Partnerships with developed institutions as part of a well-planned strategy have shown encouraging results. It is essential to point out that each partnership is unique, and each program has to ensure that the curriculum is relevant to address local needs and country priorities.

Training programs should promote and encourage international exposure and internships or clerkships in excellent digital health centers around the world. Potential outcomes of those experiences could be research projects conducted in a wide variety of topics, such as electronic medical records, telemedicine, mobile health, artificial intelligence, the internet of things, simulation and virtual reality, augmented reality, big data, digital repositories, smart cities, ethical challenges, and socio-technical and cultural issues, including resistance to change. Additionally, at the end of the programs or electives, a publication could be established as a deliverable that could be later submitted to peer-reviewed journals [50]. Writing in English could be a challenge for Latin American researchers, but publishing helps one's chances of getting future funding and helps build new multidisciplinary collaborations [50].

International and national funding agencies could play a key role in supporting interoperable, scalable projects at Latin American academic and research institutions. An important message to spread is that policymakers, funding agencies, and donors should stop funding isolated or stand-alone projects and initiatives. Skill development should be viewed as a continuous process discussed among stakeholders, including the Ministry of Health, academia, and private institutions [51,52].

e-Learning programs could help communication, provide knowledge acquisition for large numbers of trainees, and allow

access to up-to-date knowledge to any person [10]. It could be an excellent resource for people with disabilities or those who are in remote or rural areas. Health care hackathons have also been reported as a reliable source of solutions to health care challenges, boosting the process of "co-creation" [53], and should be organized and evaluated in Latin American countries. Future studies of educational programs on digital health in the region could add valuable insights about training needs at different levels (decision-makers, digital health implementers, and users), the profile of trainees (including leadership skills), and highlight the urgent need for monitoring, evaluating, and publishing the lessons learned of those experiences.

Evidence from developing countries has shown the benefits of digital tools for strengthening health systems and improving decision-making by providing access to digital health training content, better support with health professional networks, and better case detection using disease surveillance systems [30], even in real-time [54]. Capacity-building programs should be viewed as a complex intervention and need proper funding, a network of colleagues, a clear career path, a multidisciplinary team, financial incentives, and a political commitment to support it and sustain [55,56]. Evaluation could be difficult, and they should consider context and how long after the program is initiated should the evaluation be started [55,56].

One of the biggest challenges is to ensure the sustainability and continuity of digital health initiatives, which should be documented with proper scientific evidence to raise awareness among decision-makers [30]. As Long et al pointed out [30]:

Large-scale or nationwide coverage of digital health interventions to support health workforce development is still rarely reported in the literature.

We would like to see more academic projects that become national digital health programs, such as Wawared in Peru [57-61].

Finally, Long et al proposed key areas of digital health research [30] for low- and middle-income countries, such as: (1) the value of scaling up digital health approaches to human resources for health management and support; (2) better evidence on the return of investment of digital health; (3) the effect of current donor and government procurement policies on scale-up of digital health technologies for health workforce development; and (4) the role of the private sector and philanthropists in digital health.

We hope to inspire and encourage Latin American decision-makers, innovators, and researchers to build together on the work already done through digital health solutions (eg, artificial intelligence, big data analytics) and find innovative ways for public and private partnerships to improve health workforce capacity. We also want them to focus on accelerating the pace at which they can further improve the health of populations.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Labrique A, Vasudevan L, Mehl G, Rosskam E, Hyder AA. Digital Health and Health Systems of the Future. Glob Health Sci Pract 2018 Oct 10;6(Suppl 1):S1-S4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-18-00342] [Medline: 30305334]
- Vincens N, Emmelin M, Stafström M. Social capital, income inequality and the social gradient in self-rated health in Latin America: A fixed effects analysis. Soc Sci Med 2018 Jan;196:115-122. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.11.025</u>] [Medline: <u>29175700</u>]
- 3. United Nations Development Programme. 2019. The 2019 Global Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) URL: <u>http://hdr.undp.org/en/2019-MPI</u> [accessed 2019-09-10]
- 4. Farach N, Faba G, Julian S, Mejía F, Cabieses B, D'Agostino M, et al. Stories From the Field: The Use of Information and Communication Technologies to Address the Health Needs of Underserved Populations in Latin America and the Caribbean. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2015;1(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.4108] [Medline: 27227124]
- 5. Pan American Health Organization. PAHO Iris. 2019. Plan of Action for Strengthening Information Systems for Health 2019-2023 URL: <u>http://iris.paho.org/xmlui/handle/123456789/51617</u> [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 6. Malaquias RF, Albertin AL. Challenges for development and technological advancement. Information Development 2018 Jan 31;35(3):413-420. [doi: 10.1177/0266666918756170]
- Novillo-Ortiz D, Dumit EM, D'Agostino M, Becerra-Posada F, Kelley ET, Torrent-Sellens J, et al. Digital health in the Americas: advances and challenges in connected health. BMJ Innov 2018 Jul;4(3):123-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2017-000258] [Medline: 30101033]
- 8. World Health Organization. 2014 Mar. eHealth and innovation in women's and children's health: A baseline review. URL: http://www.who.int/goe/publications/baseline/en [accessed 2016-02-19]
- Luna D, Almerares A, Mayan JC, González Bernaldo de Quirós F, Otero C. Health Informatics in Developing Countries: Going beyond Pilot Practices to Sustainable Implementations: A Review of the Current Challenges. Healthc Inform Res 2014 Jan;20(1):3-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2014.20.1.3] [Medline: 24627813]
- 10. Otero P, Perrin C, Geissbulher A, Cheung N, Theera-Ampornpunt N, Lun K. Informatics Education in Low-Resource Settings. In: Informatics Education in Healthcare. Basel, Switzerland: Springer Nature; Aug 02, 2013:197-222.
- 11. Novillo-Ortiz D, D'Agostino M, Becerra-Posada F. Role of PAHO/WHO in eHealth Capacity Building in the Americas: Analysis of the 2011-2015 period. Rev Panam Salud Publica Aug 2016;40(2):85-89 [FREE Full text]
- 12. D'Agostino M, Mejía F, Martí M, Novillo-Ortiz D, Hazrum F, de CF. Infoxication in health. Health information overload on the Internet and the risk of important information becoming invisible [in Spanish]. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2017;41:e115. [doi: 10.26633/rpsp.2017.115]
- Hersh W, Margolis A, Quirós F, Otero P. Building a health informatics workforce in developing countries. Health Aff (Millwood) 2010 Feb;29(2):274-277. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0883] [Medline: 20348073]
- 14. Otero P, Hersh W, Luna D, González Bernaldo de Quirós F. A Medical Informatics Distance-learning Course for Latin America. Methods Inf Med 2018 Jan 17;49(03):310-315. [doi: <u>10.3414/me09-02-0009</u>]
- 15. Curioso WH, García PJ, Castillo GM, Blas MM, Perez-Brumer A, Zimic M, et al. Strengthening global health informatics research within the andean region through international collaboration [in Spanish]. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2010 Sep 28;27(3):449-457. [doi: 10.17843/rpmesp.2010.273.1505]
- 16. dos Santos ADF, Alves HJ, Nogueira JT, Torres RM, Melo MDCB. Telehealth distance education course in Latin America: analysis of an experience involving 15 countries. Telemed J E Health 2014 Aug;20(8):736-741. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0291] [Medline: 24901742]
- 17. Margolis A, Joglar F, de Quirós FGB, Baum A, Fernández A, García S, et al. 10x10 comes full circle: Spanish version back to United States in Puerto Rico. Stud Health Technol Inform 2013;192:1134. [Medline: 23920908]
- 18. Garcia NCG, Sarría EPG. Medical Informatics in the Medical curriculum in Cuba [in Spanish]. RCIM 2012 Sep;4(2):136-144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.33588/fem.103.16]
- 19. Mendoza Rojas HJ, Placencia Medina MD. Use of information and communication technologies as teaching material in Human Medicine [in Spanish]. Investigación en Educación Médica 2017 Jun;8(32):1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.riem.2017.04.005</u>]
- Piette JD, Valverde H, Marinec N, Jantz R, Kamis K, de la Vega CL, et al. Establishing an independent mobile health program for chronic disease self-management support in bolivia. Front Public Health 2014 Aug 13;2:95 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2014.00095] [Medline: 25165687]
- Blas MM, Curioso WH, Garcia PJ, Zimic M, Carcamo CP, Castagnetto JM, et al. Training the biomedical informatics workforce in Latin America: results of a needs assessment. BMJ Open 2011 Jan 01;1(2):e000233-e000233 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2011-000233] [Medline: 22080537]
- Villena J, Yoshiyama C, Sánchez JE, Hilario N, Merin L. Prevalence of diabetic retinopathy in Peruvian patients with type 2 diabetes: results of a hospital-based retinal telescreening program. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2011 Nov;30(5):408-414. [Medline: <u>22262266</u>]

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/

- Whitehead E, Dorfman V, Tremper G, Kramer A, Sigler A, Gosman A. Telemedicine as a Means of Effective Speech Evaluation for Patients With Cleft Palate. Annals of Plastic Surgery 2012;68(4):415-417. [doi: 10.1097/sap.0b013e31823b6897]
- 24. Chan MC, Bayer AM, Zunt JR, Blas MM, Garcia PJ. Kuskaya: A training program for collaboration and innovation in global health. JMDH 2018 Dec; Volume 12:31-42. [doi: <u>10.2147/jmdh.s173165</u>]
- 25. AMIA. 2013. Global Health Informatics Partnership URL: <u>https://www.amia.org/programs/global-health-informatics-partnership</u> [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 26. Detmer DE, Shortliffe E, Brown B. AMIA. 2010. Capacity Building in e-Health & Health Informatics in Developing Countries: "From Silos to Systems" URL: <u>http://g2hp.net/wp-content/blogs.dir/2/files/downloads/2012/08/</u> Detmer-2010-Capacity-Building-in-e-Health.pdf [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 27. Quirós FGBD, Baum A, Lira A. Active Participation and Engagement of Residents in Clinical Informatics. Appl Clin Inform 2019 Jan 16;10(1):38-39. [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1676970] [Medline: 30650447]
- 28. Rodrigues RJ, Risk A. eHealth in Latin America and the Caribbean: development and policy issues. J Med Internet Res 2003 Mar 31;5(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5.1.e4] [Medline: 12746209]
- LeRouge CM, Gupta M, Corpart G, Arrieta A. Health System Approaches Are Needed To Expand Telemedicine Use Across Nine Latin American Nations. Health Aff (Millwood) 2019 Feb;38(2):212-221. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05274</u>] [Medline: <u>30715970</u>]
- 30. Long L, Pariyo G, Kallander K. Digital Technologies for Health Workforce Development in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Scoping Review. Glob Health Sci Pract 2018 Oct 10;6(Supplement 1):S41-S48. [doi: 10.9745/ghsp-d-18-00167]
- 31. Jayasuriya R. Managing information systems for health services in a developing country: a case study using a contextualist framework. International Journal of Information Management 1999 Oct;19(5):335-349. [doi: 10.1016/s0268-4012(99)00031-6]
- 32. Odhiambo-Otieno GW. Evaluation of existing district health management information systems a case study of the district health systems in Kenya. Int J Med Inform 2005 Sep;74(9):733-744. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.05.007] [Medline: 15979937]
- 33. Lima-Toivanen M, Pereira RM. The contribution of eHealth in closing gaps in primary health care in selected countries of Latin America and the Caribbean. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2018 Dec 28;42:1-11. [doi: 10.26633/rpsp.2018.188]
- Gerber T, Olazabal V, Brown K, Pablos-Mendez A. An agenda for action on global e-health. Health Aff (Millwood) 2010 Feb;29(2):233-236. [doi: <u>10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0934</u>] [Medline: <u>20348066</u>]
- 35. The Rockefeller Foundation. 2010. From Silos to Systems: An Overview of eHealth's Transformative Power URL: <u>https://docu.tips/preview/null-5c1666a7a40b6</u> [accessed 2019-10-22]
- Curioso WH, Mechael PN. Enhancing 'M-health' with south-to-south collaborations. Health Aff (Millwood) 2010 Feb;29(2):264-267. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.1057] [Medline: 20348071]
- 37. Curioso WH, Fuller S, Garcia PJ, Holmes KK, Kimball AM. Ten years of international collaboration in biomedical informatics and beyond: the AMAUTA program in Peru. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2010 Jul 01;17(4):477-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2009.002196] [Medline: 20595317]
- Curioso WH, Hansen JR, Centurion-Lara A, Garcia PJ, Wolf FM, Fuller S, et al. Evaluation of a joint Bioinformatics and Medical Informatics international course in Peru. BMC Med Educ 2008 Jan 14;8(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-8-1] [Medline: 18194533]
- 39. The Andean Global Health Informatics Research and Training Center [in Spanish]. URL: <u>http://web.archive.org/web/</u> 20190506131002/http://www.andeanquipu.org/ [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 40. Garcia PJ, Egoavil MS, Blas MM, Alvarado-Vásquez E, Curioso WH, Zimic M, et al. Development and institutionalization of the first online certificate and Master Program of Biomedical Informatics in global health in Peru [in Spanish]. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2015 Jun 19;32(2):356. [doi: 10.17843/rpmesp.2015.322.1632]
- 41. Espinosa A. IMIA LAC. Yearb Med Inform 2018 Apr 22;27(01):283-285. [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1641206]
- 42. International Medical Informatics Association. 2019. IMIA LAC: Regional Federation of Health Informatics for Latin America and the Caribbean URL: <u>https://imia-medinfo.org/wp/</u> imia-lac-regional-federation-of-health-informatics-for-latin-america-and-the-caribbean/ [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 43. RECAINSA. 2019. URL: https://recainsa.org/ [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 44. OPS. 2019. RELACSIS URL: http://www.paho.org/relacsis/index.php/en/ [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 45. Saigí-Rubió F, Novillo-Ortiz D, Piette J. CYTED-RITMOS network: toward the search for solutions to promote mobile health in Latin America [in Spanish]. Rev Panam Salud Publica May 25 2017;41:e33. [doi: <u>10.26633/rpsp.2017.33</u>]
- 46. HL7 LATAM. URL: http://web.archive.org/web/20180831151219/https://www.hl7latam.org/ [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 47. HIMMS Latin America. 2017. Sobre HIMSS América Latina URL: <u>http://www.himssla.org/</u> [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 48. e-Government Cooperation Center (eGCC). National Information Society Agency URL: <u>https://eng.nia.or.kr/site/nia_eng/01/10102080000002018041209.jsp#active</u> [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 49. World Health Organization. 2019 Jun 09. WHO Digital health technical advisory group and roster of experts on digital health URL: <u>https://www.who.int/behealthy/digital-health/expression-of-interest</u> [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 50. Garcia PJ, Curioso WH. Strategies for aspiring biomedical researchers in resource-limited environments. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2008 Aug 27;2(8):e274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000274] [Medline: 18852845]

RenderX

- Curioso WH, Espinoza-Portilla E. Marco conceptual para el fortalecimiento de los sistemas de información en salud en el Perú. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2015 Jun 19;32(2):335. [doi: <u>10.17843/rpmesp.2015.322.1629</u>]
- 52. Curioso WH. [eHealth in Peru: implementation of policies to strengthen health information systems]. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2014;35(5-6):437-441. [Medline: 25211573]
- 53. Olson KR, Walsh M, Garg P, Steel A, Mehta S, Data S, et al. Health hackathons: theatre or substance? A survey assessment of outcomes from healthcare-focused hackathons in three countries. BMJ Innov 2017 Feb 04;3(1):37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjinnov-2016-000147] [Medline: 28250965]
- 54. Curioso WH, Karras BT, Campos PE, Buendia C, Holmes KK, Kimball AM. Design and implementation of Cell-PREVEN: a real-time surveillance system for adverse events using cell phones in Peru. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2005:176-180 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16779025]
- 55. Catwell L, Sheikh A. Evaluating eHealth interventions: the need for continuous systemic evaluation. PLoS Med 2009 Aug;6(8):e1000126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000126] [Medline: 19688038]
- 56. Trostle J. Research capacity building in international health: Definitions, evaluations and strategies for success. Social Science & Medicine 1992 Dec;35(11):1321-1324. [doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(92)90035-0] [Medline: 1462171]
- Curioso WH, Roman H, Perez-Lu J, Castagnetto JM, García PJ. [Improving maternal health information systems: validation of electronic medical records in Callao, Peru]. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2010 Sep;27(3):487-489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/s1726-46342010000300031] [Medline: 21152751]
- Pérez-Lu JE, Iguiñiz Romero R, Bayer AM, García PJ. Reduciendo las inequidades en salud y mejorando la salud materna mediante la mejora de los sistemas de información en salud: Wawared Perú. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2015 Jun 19;32(2):373. [doi: 10.17843/rpmesp.2015.322.1635]
- 59. CEPAL. 2914 Sep. Manual de salud electrónica para directivos de servicios y sistemas de salud. Volumen II: Aplicaciones de las TIC a la atención primaria de salud URL: <u>https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/</u> 37058-manual-salud-electronica-directivos-servicios-sistemas-salud-volumen-ii [accessed 2019-12-10]
- 60. Pérez-Lu JE, Bayer A, Iguiñiz-Romero R. Information = equity? How increased access to information can enhance equity and improve health outcomes for pregnant women in Peru. J Public Health (Oxf) 2018 Dec 01;40(suppl_2):ii64-ii73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdy177] [Medline: 30307537]
- 61. Curioso WH, Henríquez-Suarez M, Espinoza-Portilla E. [From Alma-Ata to the digital citizen: towards a digital primary health care in Peru]. Rev Peru Med Exp Salud Publica 2018 Dec 21;35(4):678-683 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.17843/rpmesp.2018.354.3710] [Medline: 30726422]

Abbreviations

AMIA: American Medical Informatics Association CYTED-RITMOS: The Ibero-American Network of Mobile Technology and Health eGCC: e-Government Cooperation Center eHealth: electronic health GPP: Global Partnership Program HIMSS: Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society HL7 LATAM: Health Level Seven Latin America **ICD:** International Classification of Diseases **IMIA:** International Medical Informatics Association IMIA-LAC: Federation of Health Informatics for Latin America and the Caribbean **ITGH:** Informatics Training for Global Health mHealth: mobile health PAHO: Pan American Health Organization **RECAINSA:** The Central American Health Informatics Network **RELACSIS:** The Latin American and Caribbean Network for Strengthening Health Information Systems WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 04.10.19; peer-reviewed by C Ng, D Fitzsimmons; comments to author 11.11.19; revised version received 22.11.19; accepted 09.12.19; published 18.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Curioso WH Building Capacity and Training for Digital Health: Challenges and Opportunities in Latin America J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16513 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/</u> doi:10.2196/16513 PMID:<u>31850849</u>

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16513/
```

RenderX

©Walter H H Curioso. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 18.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Trends and Visibility of "Digital Health" as a Keyword in Articles by JMIR Publications in the New Millennium: Bibliographic-Bibliometric Analysis

Alireza Ahmadvand^{1*}, MD, PhD; David Kavanagh^{2*}, PhD; Michele Clark^{1*}, PhD; Judy Drennan^{3*}, PhD; Lisa Nissen^{1*}, PhD

¹School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

²School of Psychology and Counselling, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia

³School of Advertising, Marketing, and Public Relations, QUT Business School, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia *all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Lisa Nissen, PhD School of Clinical Sciences Faculty of Health Queensland University of Technology 2 George Street Brisbane, 4000 Australia Phone: 61 731384404 Email: <u>l.nissen@qut.edu.au</u>

Abstract

Background: Digital health has become an advancing phenomenon in the health care systems of modern societies. Over the past two decades, various digital health options, technologies, and innovations have been introduced; many of them are still being investigated and evaluated by researchers all around the globe. However, the actual trends and visibility of peer-reviewed publications using "digital health" as a keyword to reflect the topic, published by major relevant journals, still remain to be quantified.

Objective: This study aimed to conduct a bibliographic-bibliometric analysis on articles published in JMIR Publications journals that used "digital health" as a keyword. We evaluated the trends, topics, and citations of these research publications to identify the important share and contribution of JMIR Publications journals in publishing articles on digital health.

Methods: All JMIR Publications journals were searched to find articles in English, published between January 2000 and August 2019, in which the authors focused on, utilized, or discussed digital health in their study and used "digital health" as a keyword. In addition, a bibliographic-bibliometric analysis was conducted using the freely available Profiles Research Networking Software by the Harvard Clinical and Translational Science Center.

Results: Out of 1797 articles having "digital health" as a keyword, published mostly between 2016 and 2019, 277 articles (32.3%) were published by JMIR Publications journals, mainly in the *Journal of Medical Internet Research*. The most frequently used keyword for the topic was "mHealth." The average number of times an article had been cited, including self-citations, was above 2.8.

Conclusions: The reflection of "digital health" as a keyword in JMIR Publications journals has increased noticeably over the past few years. To maintain this momentum, more regular bibliographic and bibliometric analyses will be needed. This would encourage authors to consider publishing their articles in relevant, high-visibility journals and help these journals expand their supportive publication policies and become more inclusive of digital health.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e10477) doi:10.2196/10477

KEYWORDS

RenderX

bibliometrics; review literature; JMIR Publications; telemedicine

Introduction

Background

Digital health has become an advancing phenomenon in the health care systems of modern societies [1]. As a keyword, the US Food and Drug Administration defines "digital health" as "a broad scope which includes mobile health (mHealth), health information technology, wearable devices, telehealth and telemedicine, and personalized medicine" [2]. Of note, it is the increasing adoption of "digital health" as a specific keyword, which has shown itself in the utilization of the term by international organizations, such as the World Health Organization [3,4].

Globally, many academics and researchers are increasingly being involved in doing research on, utilizing, evaluating, or taking advantage of the benefits of digital health and its various related technologies for their studies on individuals, populations, or health organizations. This increasing involvement has reflected itself in the utilization of "digital health" as a keyword in published peer-reviewed literature. More specifically, in the past two decades, a growing number and diversity of research projects, study protocols, publications, and dedicated journals have played important roles in the digital health domain [5]. In addition, the empowerment of health care system clients, including patients, and the progressive desire for innovation by industries and enterprises [6] have continued to reinforce the need for valid and trustworthy scientific evidence on digital health for the benefit of public health.

Over the past two decades, various digital health options, technologies, and innovations have been introduced; many of them are still being investigated and evaluated by researchers all around the globe [7]. These research endeavors typically reflect themselves in peer-reviewed publications of various kinds. However, the actual trends and visibility of those publications on digital health, published by major relevant journals, still remain to be quantified in detail.

Aims

This study aimed to take a more methodical approach to answering this question, by conducting bibliographic-bibliometric analysis on the publications focused on using "digital health" as a keyword. We evaluated the trends, topics, and citations of research publications in different journals, with the hope to identify, and ultimately help to increase, the share and contribution of major relevant journals in publishing articles on digital health. Thereafter, for the purpose of providing an unbiased comparison among different journals on the trends and visibility of their publications, we conducted detailed subgroup analyses, individualized to specialized journals or journal publishers. This paper summarizes the specific outcomes of our analyses on articles published by JMIR Publications. The main reasons behind focusing on JMIR Publications in this study are the following: (1) JMIR Publications has been an active publisher in the digital health space since 1999, which overlaps entirely with the intended time frame of our study; (2) it has a collection of correlated journals, which covers diverse aspects of digital health research; and (3) it publishes open-access articles, which gives

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e10477/

XSL•F() RenderX the authors more chances of visibility and knowledge translation and the readers more chances of verifying the results of all analyses.

Methods

Rationale Behind Choosing "Digital Health" as a Keyword

On the basis of expert opinions, "digital health" is considered a relatively new term in research publications, as its appearance as a keyword seems to have increased fairly recently in peer-reviewed articles. Before this trend becomes commonplace, keywords such as "Internet research," "cybermedicine," "eHealth," or "mHealth" have been (and are still being) used by authors and editorial boards of various scientific journals, including journals by JMIR Publications.

To address this recency in the adoption of "digital health" as a more common term, we followed a staged, multistep literature search strategy, implemented separately for each journal or journal group or publisher, to ensure that using "digital health" as an identifying keyword does not harm the inclusiveness of numerous options, technologies, and innovations in this space. An effort was made to find the sensitivity of using "digital health" as a keyword in identifying articles that could have otherwise been classified differently under internet search, cybermedicine, mHealth, or similar keywords had "digital health" not been assigned as a keyword by the authors or the databases.

Literature Search Strategy

The time frame of search was January 2000 to August 2019.

Owing to its open-access nature, we decided to use PubMed database to identify general and specialized journals and find articles published in English language, in which the focus was on using "digital health" as a keyword.

The initial, implicit assumption was that if "digital health" has been mentioned by the authors as a keyword in an article or assigned by the database organizer, for example, as Medical Subject Heading (MeSH)–assigned keyword, the topic of the article will be related to digital health. However, as mentioned above, to reduce the bias in finding relevant articles because of the recency of "digital health" being used as a term, we followed a staged search strategy, which is summarized below.

Stage 1

This stage involved finding all articles with "digital health" in their metadata: (1) Searching with only the keyword "digital health" in All Fields to identify all articles in PubMed, which could have the term in their metadata and (2) importing the results to a library in a bibliographic management software.

Stage 2

This stage involved identifying keywords/topics/subjects relevant to digital health: (1) Performing a subject bibliography analysis by extracting all author-assigned plus MeSH-assigned keywords, sorted according to their decreasing frequencies of appearance and (2) identifying and refining keywords/topics/subjects relevant to the definition of "digital

health," as provided by Murray et al [8] and later highlighted by Zanaboni et al [7]. The alphabetical list of relevant, refined keywords that we eventually identified appears in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Stage 3

This stage involved finding all articles that had used any of the keywords identified in the previous stage: Searching PubMed, using OR between all the keywords from Multimedia Appendix 1.

Stage 4

This stage involved finding all articles published by JMIR Publications: Searching with only the keyword "JMIR" in All Fields to identify all articles in PubMed, which were published by JMIR Publications.

Stage 5

This stage involved combining stage 3 AND stage 4: Searching PubMed, using OR between all the keywords from Multimedia Appendix 1 AND "JMIR" in All Fields to reidentify all articles published by JMIR Publications, which could have any of the relevant keywords in their metadata.

Stage 6

This stage involved comparing the results of stage 5 and stage 4: Determining the difference between the number of articles retrieved in stage 4 and stage 5 to check the inclusiveness of our terms list.

Stage 7

This stage involved combining stage 1 and stage 4: (1) After ensuring the sensitivity of our search strategy, on the basis of

the outcome of stage 6, we searched with the keyword "digital health" in All Fields AND the keyword "JMIR" in All Fields to identify all articles by JMIR Publications, which have the word "digital health" assigned to any of their metadata; (2) importing the results to the same library in the bibliographic management software; and (3) basing the bibliographic-bibliometric analysis on this last group of articles.

A flowchart summarizing the outputs of this staged literature search is available in Multimedia Appendix 2.

Bibliographic–Bibliometric Analysis

For bibliographic management and analysis of the references, we used EndNote X8 (Thompson Reuters Inc) software, mainly its "Subject Bibliography" functionality.

For bibliometric analysis to quantify the trends and visibility of published articles using "digital health" as a keyword, we used one of the free, publicly available Web-based solutions, that is, the Profiles Research Networking (PRN) Software by the Harvard Clinical and Translational Science Center [9]. The details of the methodology behind this specific solution and the range of services the PRN Software provides are explained on its dedicated website. In brief, we used the "Bibliometric Summary Report" functionality of the PRN Web-based software after (1) extracting the PubMed IDs of all articles found in stage 7 of our search strategy and stored in our EndNote library; (2) pasting the IDs onto the PRN Software's website (in a dedicated box); (3) getting calculations for common metrics, including citation counts and h-index; and (4) analyzing the report metrics and parameters, as per the PRN Software [9] defined in Table 1.



Variable	Definition
Num Pubs	Number of recognized PubMed IDs, overall, for each journal, or for each year, as specified in the report subsections
First Year	Earliest article year
Last Year	Latest article year
Avg Authors	Average number of authors per article
Exp Authors	Expected number of authors, matched on journal and year
Ratio Authors	Ratio of the average number of authors to the expected number
Avg Cites All	Average number of times an article has been cited, including self-citations
Avg Cites	Average number of times an article has been cited, not including self-citations
Exp Cites	Expected number of times an article has been cited, not including self-citations, matched on journal and year
Ratio Cites	Ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal and year
Exp Cites PT	Expected number of citations (no self-citations), matched on journal, year, and publication type
Ratio Cites PT	Ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal, year, and publication type
H-Index	Hirsch-index (using total citations, including self-citations)
M-Index	Hirsch-index divided by the number of years since the first publication
%Pubs	The percentage of the total publications for each journal
Ratio Exp Pubs	The ratio of the number of publications in the field compared with the expected number, matched on year
Num Cites All	For each year, the number of times any article was cited, including self-citations, in that year
Num Cites	For each year, the number of times any article was cited, not including self-citations, in that year
Cum Pubs	For each year, the cumulative number of publications
Cum Cites All	For each year, the cumulative number of times any article was cited, including self-citations
Cum Cites	For each year, the cumulative number of times any article was cited, not including self-citations

Results

Overall Findings

Overall, with August 31, 2019 as the last publication date, we found 1797 articles indexed in PubMed, with "digital health" being assigned as one of the keywords in their metadata.

Exporting the keywords from 1797 articles provided a list of 5138 author-assigned and MeSH-assigned keywords, out of which 312 keywords were directly relevant to "digital health" options, technologies, and innovations (Multimedia Appendix 1).

In the same time frame, JMIR Publications had 7556 articles indexed in PubMed, mainly in the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* and its sister journals. Using OR between the 312 relevant keywords AND JMIR, we were able to identify 7468

(98.8%) of articles by JMIR Publications, an indicator of the high sensitivity of "digital health" as a keyword in an article to represent a diverse range of technologies discussed in their corresponding articles.

Out of the 1797 articles, 277 articles had both characteristics of (1) being published by JMIR Publications and (2) having "digital health" as an assigned keyword. The rest of the bibliographic-bibliometric analysis was performed on these 277 articles.

Bibliographic Analysis

Figure 1 visualizes the temporal trend of the 277 articles published by JMIR Publications in the study's time frame. A total of 10 journals by JMIR Publications published most of these articles, the top three being the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* (117/277, 42.2% articles), *JMIR mHealth and uHealth* (57/277, 20.6%), and *JMIR Research Protocols* (41/277, 14.8%).



Ahmadvand et al

Figure 1. Temporal trend of the number of publications from January 2000 to August 2019 by JMIR Publications, having "digital health" as a keyword.



Subject Focus of the Articles

Using EndNote's Subject Bibliography, a total of 1101 MeSHand author-assigned keywords were extracted for assessing the topics of articles. Table 2 summarizes the top 30 keywords in the published articles and their corresponding number of appearances.

Bibliometric Analysis

 Table 3 summarizes the bibliometric statistics for the published articles having "digital health" as a keyword.

All articles were classified under "medical informatics" as the most frequent field/discipline of focus.

Table 4 summarizes the bibliometric statistics for all articles published between January 2000 and August 2019 by JMIR Publications having "digital health" as a keyword in the study's time frame (the citation variables have the same meaning as the ones summarized in Table 3).

Table 5 summarizes the yearly cumulative citation statistics for all articles published between January 2000 and August 2019 by JMIR Publications having "digital health" as a keyword (the citation variables have the same meaning as the ones summarized in Tables 2 and 3).



Table 2. Cumulative number of appearances for the top 30 keywords, in descending order of appearance, in research articles having "digital health" as a keyword, published from January 2000 to August 2019 in JMIR Publications journals.

Rank	Keyword	Number of appearances
1	mhealth	60
2	Telemedicine	57
3	Internet	42
4	eHealth	37
5	mobile health	36
6	self-management	18
7	mobile phone	15
8	depression	15
9	physical activity	14
10	smartphone	14
11	Mobile Applications	13
12	Chronic Disease	13
13	Social Support	12
14	electronic health records	12
15	psychology	12
16	Health Behavior	11
17	medication adherence	11
18	exercise	10
19	Social Media	10
20	text messaging	9
21	obesity	9
22	education	9
23	mental health	9
24	Health Promotion	8
25	mobile apps	8
26	diabetes	8
27	Diabetes Mellitus	8
28	telehealth	7
29	Cell Phone	7
30	Health Personnel	7
Ahmadvand et al

Table 3. Bibliometric summary statistics for all articles published between January 2000 and August 2019 by JMIR Publications having "digital health" as a keyword.

Variable	Value
Num Pubs ^a	277
First Year ^b	2001
Last Year ^c	2019
Avg Authors ^d	6.007
Exp Authors ^e	6.212
Ratio Authors ^f	0.967
Avg Cites All ^g	2.848
Avg Cites ^h	2.354
Exp Cites ⁱ	1.451
Ratio Cites ^j	1.623
Exp Cites PT ^k	1.688
Ratio Cites PT ¹	1.394
H–Index ^m	12
M–Index ⁿ	1.091

^aNum Pubs: number of recognized PubMed IDs, overall, for each journal, or for each year, as specified in the report subsections.

^bFirst Year: earliest article year.

^cLast Year: latest article year.

^dAvg Authors: average number of authors per article.

^eExp Authors: expected number of authors, matched on journal and year.

^fRatio Authors: ratio of the average number of authors to the expected number.

^gAvg Cites All: average number of times an article has been cited, including self-citations.

^hAvg Cites: average number of times an article has been cited, not including self-citations.

ⁱExp Cites: expected number of times an article has been cited, not including self-citations, matched on journal and year.

^jRatio Cites: Ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal and year.

^kExp Cites PT: Expected number of citations (no self-citations), matched on journal, year, and publication type.

¹Ratio Cites PT: Ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal, year, and publication type.

^mH-Index: Hirsch-index (using total citations, including self-citations).

ⁿM–Index: Hirsch-index divided by the number of years since the first publication.



Ahmadvand et al

Table 4. Bibliometric statistics for all articles published between January 2000 and August 2019 by JMIR Publications having "digital health" as a keyword.

Journal	Num Pubs ^a (%Pubs) ^b , n (%)	First Year ^c	Last Year ^d	Avg Cites ^e	Exp Cites ^f	Ratio Cites ^g	Exp Cites PT ^h	Ratio Cites PT ⁱ
Journal of Medical Internet Research	117 (42.2)	2001	2019	3.79	2.02	1.88	2.34	1.62
JMIR mHealth and uHealth	57 (20.6)	2014	2019	1.11	1.24	0.90	1.23	0.90
JMIR Research Protocols	41 (14.8)	2014	2019	1.12	0.65	1.74	0.65	1.72
JMIR Mental Health	12 (4.3)	2016	2019	1.83	1.69	1.09	1.49	1.24
JMIR Medical Informatics	10 (3.6)	2015	2019	0.50	0.62	0.81	0.59	0.86
JMIR Diabetes	8 (2.9)	2017	2019	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.03	0.00
JMIR Public Health and Surveillance	7 (2.5)	2016	2019	0.29	0.77	0.37	0.79	0.36
JMIR Formative Research	7 (2.5)	2017	2019	0.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.00
JMIR Human Factors	5 (1.8)	2017	2019	0.40	0.43	0.94	0.43	0.93
JMIR Serious Games	4 (1.4)	2013	2018	16.75	7.87	2.13	15.66	1.07

^aNum Pubs: Number of recognized PubMed IDs, overall, for each journal, or for each year, as specified in the report subsections.

^b%Pubs: The percentage of the total publications for each journal.

^cFirst Year: Earliest article year.

^dLast Year: Latest article year.

^eAvg Cites: Average number of times an article has been cited, not including self-citations.

^fExp Cites: Expected number of times an article has been cited, not including self-citations, matched on journal and year.

^gRatio Cites: Ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal and year.

^hExp Cites PT: Expected number of citations (no self-citations), matched on journal, year, and publication type.

ⁱRatio Cites PT: Ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal, year, and publication type.



Ahmadvand et al

Table 5. Cumulative citation statistics for all articles published between January 2000 and August 2019 by JMIR Publications having "digital health" as a keyword, by year.

PubYear ^a	Num Pubs ^b	Num Cites All ^c	Num Cites ^d	Cum Pubs ^e	Cum Cites All ^f	Cum Cites ^g
2018	83	309	253	171	789	652
2017	43	249	197	88	480	399
2016	22	108	94	45	231	202
2015	14	55	42	23	123	108
2014	3	32	31	9	68	66
2013	2	19	19	6	36	35
2012	2	8	7	4	17	16
2011	0	6	6	2	9	9
2010	1	1	1	2	3	3
2009	0	1	1	1	2	2
2008	0	0	0	0	0	0
2007	0	0	0	0	0	0
2006	0	0	0	0	0	0
2005	0	0	0	0	0	0
2004	0	1	1	1	1	1
2003	0	0	0	0	0	0
2001	1	0	0	1	0	0
2000	0	0	0	0	0	0

^aAuthors excluded 2019 from this table as the cumulative citations might be incomplete because of the study time frame being up to August 2019. ^bNum Pubs: Number of recognized PubMed IDs, overall, for each journal, or for each year, as specified in the report subsections.

^cNum Cites All: For each year, the number of times any article was cited, including self-citations, in that year.

^dNum Cites: For each year, the number of times any article was cited, not including self-citations, in that year.

^eCum Pubs: For each year, the cumulative number of publications.

^fCum Cites All: For each year, the cumulative number of times any article was cited, including self-citations.

^gCum Cites: For each year, the cumulative number of times any article was cited, not including self-citations.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Both trends and visibility of research publications containing "digital health" in their keywords and published by JMIR Publications journals increased dramatically, especially over the past 2 to 3 years, with more than two-third of the articles being published in 2018 and 2019. This important finding shows how "digital health" is becoming a mainstream theme and an established terminology in peer-reviewed publications.

The *Journal of Medical Internet Research* had the highest number of articles and longest duration of publication in this time frame, among all the journals of JMIR Publications. This reflects the overall aim and willingness of the editorial board to lead in peer review, and ultimately in the publication, of the manuscripts that are focused on digital health to disseminate their ideas and research results. It may also reflect improvement in the methodologies of the published articles [10], which might have made them strong and robust enough to be accepted for publication in the JMIR Publications journals. Interestingly, "mHealth" and "mobile health" as specific keywords, appeared in 96 out of 277 articles (34.6%), followed by "Telemedicine" and "Internet," both appearing in 57 (20.5%) and 42 (15.2%) articles, respectively. In addition, there appeared to be cumulatively repetitive or redundant keywords, either author-assigned or MeSH keywords (eg, "mobile phone," "smartphone," "Cell Phone," "Mobile Applications," and "mobile apps"), all appearing with different frequencies in collective articles. We decided to present these keywords as raw as possible in Table 2 to show how different some of these keywords still are, in appearing in the topics of research manuscripts. This highlights the fact that the authors and/or manually indexing databases, such as National Library of Medicine (NLM), can take advantage of the conceptual trends and assign more appropriate keywords to improve their accuracies in retrieving and combining relevant search results.

The dramatic increase in the cumulative number of citations over the study years is a helpful indicator of the overall interest in referring to the articles pertaining to the keyword "digital health." Moreover, an H-index of 12, plus an average number of citations of all articles being >1.6 times more than the



RenderX

expected number of citations, highlights the increasing interest in referring to articles on digital health.

Expectedly, "medical informatics" was found to be the most frequent field/discipline of focus in research publications having "digital health" as a keyword. This finding, in addition to considering the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* as ranking first in the category "Medical Informatics" in *Journal Citations Report*, highlights the suitability of this study to be presented to the audiences of the journal.

The *Journal of Medical Internet Research* and *JMIR Research Protocols* had the highest ratio of average number of citations (no self-citations) to expected number, matched on journal, year, and publication type (PT). This highlights the higher visibility of research publications in the abovementioned journals.

Increasing the Accuracy of Interpreting Bibliometric Outputs

We followed the hints provided by the PRN Software team [9] to increase the reliability and validity of interpreting the bibliometric outputs:

- The PRN Software compares the average number of authors per article and the average number of times the articles have been cited with an expected value, which is "the averages of all articles in PubMed, matched on journal and year of publication" [9]. To control for the various PTs (eg, Journal Article, Review, and Editorial), the software also calculates "PT" expected values. As PubMed may assign multiple PTs to the same article, articles are matched on all PTs for calculating the PT expected values.
- 2. In addition, if self-citations are included in the analysis subsections, they are explicitly being noted.
- 3. To determine the field/discipline of a specific journal, the NLM assigns Broad Journal Heading values to the journal, which are MeSH terms, summarizing the overall subjects of that journal. Similar to PT, a journal can be assigned to multiple Broad Journal Headings; consequently, a single publication of that journal might be listed more than once

in the output tables about filed/discipline, causing the Num Pubs field to add up to more than the total number of publications. This was not the case in our analysis as all the journals by JMIR Publications were classified under Medical Informatics by the NLM.

Limitations

Our study focused on English language–based journals that were indexed in PubMed as a freely available database and published by JMIR Publications. PubMed is not essentially a citation-tracking database. However, solutions such as the bibliometric solution that we used in our methodology, that is, the PRN Software by the Harvard Clinical and Translational Science Center, have been developed, which provide bibliometric outputs on PubMed-indexed articles. Other citation-based databases, specifically subscription-based bibliometric databases, such as Scopus and Web of Science, could be included in future research projects to expand the scope of this analysis.

Another main reason behind focusing only on PubMed, apart from being freely available to the public, was that PRN Software only accepts PubMed IDs for citation analysis. This held us back from using other bibliographic databases as they could not have any PubMed ID for non-PubMed-indexed journals.

In addition, the citation metrics by PRN Software were coming from one publicly available free data source and were limited to commonly used parameters. For the provision of a comprehensive bibliometric outlook on publications by JMIR Publications having the keyword "digital health," other citation databases and metrics could also be utilized in future studies.

Conclusions

The reflection of "digital health" in JMIR Publications journals has been on the rise over the past few years. More comprehensive and comparative bibliographic and bibliometric analyses, with broader ranges of keywords to include eHealth, mHealth, and similar concepts, would be needed to visualize whether "digital health" continues to remain a rising keyword in the future or not.

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted as part of a higher degree research (HDR) project at School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Health, Queensland University of Technology (QUT), Brisbane, Queensland, Australia. The HDR project was supported by internal funding from QUT for research expenses, as well as 3 scholarships for AA. The authors wish to deeply thank Mr Paul Sonnier for his professional input on the evolving definition of "digital health" as a keyword and for introducing evidence and references, which helped in structuring the search strategy of the methodology of this manuscript. The authors received no funding for the development of this manuscript. The authors would like to cite the service which was made possible by the PRN Software developed under the supervision of Griffin M Weber, MD, PhD, with support from Grant Number 1 UL1 RR025758-01 to Harvard Catalyst: The Harvard Clinical and Translational Science Center from the National Center for Research Resources and support from Harvard University and its affiliated academic healthcare centers. Open Research Networking Gadgets and Search Engine Optimization additions to Profiles Research Networking Software have been made possible by The University of California, San Francisco's Clinical and Translational Science Institute, funded through the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (Grant Number UL1 TR000004) at the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Multimedia Appendix 1 List of refined keywords relevant to digital health, to reduce bias in the search strategy. [DOCX File, 31 KB - jmir_v21i12e10477_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Search flowchart. [DOCX File , 157 KB - jmir_v21i12e10477_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Moerenhout T, Devisch I, Cornelis GC. E-health beyond technology: analyzing the paradigm shift that lies beneath. Med Health Care Philos 2018 Mar;21(1):31-41. [doi: 10.1007/s11019-017-9780-3] [Medline: 28551772]
- Shuren J, Patel B, Gottlieb S. FDA regulation of mobile medical apps. J Am Med Assoc 2018 Jul 24;320(4):337-338. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.8832] [Medline: 29971339]
- 3. World Health Organisation. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2019 Apr 17. WHO Releases First Guideline on Digital Health Interventions URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/</u>
- 17-04-2019-who-releases-first-guideline-on-digital-health-interventions? [accessed 2019-11-19]
- 4. World Health Organisation. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2018. Classification of digital health interventions v1.0: a shared language to describe the uses of digital technology for health URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/260480</u> [accessed 2019-11-19]
- 5. Agarwal S, Lefevre AE, Labrique AB. A call to digital health practitioners: new guidelines can help improve the quality of digital health evidence. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Oct 6;5(10):e136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6640] [Medline: 28986340]
- Mummah SA, Robinson TN, King AC, Gardner CD, Sutton S. IDEAS (Integrate, Design, Assess, and Share): a framework and toolkit of strategies for the development of more effective digital interventions to change health behavior. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 16;18(12):e317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5927] [Medline: 27986647]
- Zanaboni P, Ngangue P, Mbemba GI, Schopf TR, Bergmo TS, Gagnon M. Methods to evaluate the effects of internet-based digital health interventions for citizens: systematic review of reviews. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 7;20(6):e10202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10202] [Medline: 29880470]
- 8. Murray E, Hekler EB, Andersson G, Collins LM, Doherty A, Hollis C, et al. Evaluating digital health interventions: key questions and approaches. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):843-851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.008] [Medline: 27745684]
- 9. Profiles Research Networking Software. About Us URL: <u>http://profiles.catalyst.harvard.edu/?pg=about</u> [accessed 2019-10-19]
- Fox MP, Rothman KJ. Modern epidemiology and global health in the era of information system and mhealth. In: Leo AG, Hamish SF, Vipan N, Sebastia'n OJ, Kenneth P, editors. Global Health Informatics: Principles Of Ehealth And Mhealth To Improve Quality Of Care. Cambridge: The MIT Press; 2017:61-68.

Abbreviations

HDR: higher degree research
MeSH: Medical Subject Headings
NLM: National Library of Medicine
PRN: Profiles Research Networking
PT: publication type
QUT: Queensland University of Technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.03.18; peer-reviewed by YC Su, J Lei; comments to author 17.08.18; revised version received 21.04.19; accepted 17.10.19; published 19.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ahmadvand A, Kavanagh D, Clark M, Drennan J, Nissen L Trends and Visibility of "Digital Health" as a Keyword in Articles by JMIR Publications in the New Millennium: Bibliographic-Bibliometric Analysis J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e10477 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e10477/</u> doi:10.2196/10477 PMID:31855190



©Alireza Ahmadvand, David Kavanagh, Michele Clark, Judy Drennan, Lisa Nissen. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 19.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Infrastructure Revisited: An Ethnographic Case Study of how Health Information Infrastructure Shapes and Constrains Technological Innovation

Trisha Greenhalgh^{1*}, MD; Joseph Wherton^{1*}, PhD; Sara Shaw¹, PhD; Chrysanthi Papoutsi¹, PhD; Shanti Vijayaraghavan², MD; Rob Stones³, PhD

¹University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

²Barts Health NHS Trust, London, United Kingdom

³NICM Health Research Institute, Western Sydney University, Sydney, Australia

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Trisha Greenhalgh, MD University of Oxford Radcliffe Primary Care Building Oxford, OX2 6GG United Kingdom Phone: 44 1865289294 Email: trish.greenhalgh@phc.ox.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Star defined infrastructure as something other things "run on"; it consists mainly of "boring things." Building on her classic 1999 paper, and acknowledging contemporary developments in technologies, services, and systems, we developed a new theorization of health information infrastructure with five defining characteristics: (1) a material scaffolding, backgrounded when working and foregrounded upon breakdown; (2) embedded, relational, and emergent; (3) collectively learned, known, and practiced (through technologically-supported cooperative work and organizational routines); (4) patchworked (incrementally built and fixed) and path-dependent (influenced by technical and socio-cultural legacies); and (5) institutionally supported and sustained (eg, embodying standards negotiated and overseen by regulatory and professional bodies).

Objective: Our theoretical objective was, in a health care context, to explore what information infrastructure is and how it shapes, supports, and constrains technological innovation. Our empirical objective was to examine the challenges of implementing and scaling up video consultation services.

Methods: In this naturalistic case study, we collected a total of 450 hours of ethnographic observations, over 100 interviews, and about 100 local and national documents over 54 months. Sensitized by the characteristics of infrastructure, we sought examples of infrastructural challenges that had slowed implementation and scale-up. We arranged data thematically to gain familiarity before undertaking an analysis informed by strong structuration, neo-institutional, and social practice theories, together with elements taken from the actor-network theory.

Results: We documented scale-up challenges at three different sites in our original case study, all of which relate to "boring things": the selection of a platform to support video-mediated consultations, the replacement of desktop computers with virtual desktop infrastructure profiles, and problems with call quality. In a fourth subcase, configuration issues with licensed video-conferencing software limited the spread of the innovation to another UK site. In all four subcases, several features of infrastructure were evident, including: (1) intricacy and lack of dependability of the installed base; (2) interdependencies of technologies, processes, and routines, such that a fix for one problem generated problems elsewhere in the system; (3) the inertia of established routines; (4) the constraining (and, occasionally, enabling) effect of legacy systems; and (5) delays and conflicts relating to clinical quality and safety standards.

Conclusions: Innovators and change agents who wish to introduce new technologies in health services and systems should: (1) attend to materiality (eg, expect bugs and breakdowns, and prioritize basic dependability over advanced functionality); (2) take a systemic and relational view of technologies (versus as an isolated tool or function); (3) remember that technology-supported work is cooperative and embedded in organizational routines, which are further embedded in other routines; (4) innovate incrementally, taking account of technological and socio-cultural legacies; (5) consider standards but also where these standards

RenderX

come from and what priorities and interests they represent; and (6) seek to create leeway for these standards to be adapted to different local conditions.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16093) doi:10.2196/16093

KEYWORDS

information infrastructure; structuration theory; video consultations; neo-institutional theory; organizational ethnography; hidden work; actor-network theory

Introduction

Background

It has been 20 years since Star defined infrastructure as something other things "run on" and proposed nine defining characteristics: embeddedness, transparency, reach or scope, learned as part of membership, links with conventions of practice, embodiment of standards, built on an installed base, becomes visible on breakdown and fixed in modular increments [1,2]. The information infrastructure for health care needs to satisfy multiple use cases, such as personal health management, health care delivery (including assuring the quality and safety of care, audits, and billing), public health, research [3], and the formation of the scaffolding for a learning health system [4]. Sittig et al observed that this infrastructure consists not only of hardware and software but also the language of clinical applications, a human-computer interface, people who interact with it (including developers, support staff, staff-users, and patient-users), internal organizational features (eg, environment, policies, procedures, and culture), external rules and regulations, and the measures and metrics with which it is monitored [5].

In this paper, we seek to synthesize and extend these earlier theorizations. We begin by describing the clinical, organizational, and technical features of health care infrastructure. We then outline some central concepts in critical social science that inspired Star's original work on infrastructure before offering a new theorization of health information infrastructure consisting of five key features. We illustrate this with a detailed contemporary case study of how this infrastructure influenced attempts to implement and scale up a video consultation service. After discussing these findings, we offer suggestions for those who seek to improve health services by introducing infrastructural innovations.

An Overview of Health Information Infrastructure

Contemporary health care environments are saturated with technologies, many of which are highly sophisticated. However, health care infrastructure has a reputation for being convoluted, conservative, failure-prone, and lacking integration, for numerous interacting reasons [6-8]. Health care is complex, patients are unique, and the pace of change is rapid; new devices, procedures, service models, and policies are continually emerging, rendering elements of existing infrastructure obsolete. Safety (including the maxim "first, do no harm") is an overriding concern, reflected in stringent design requirements and regulatory standards. A high proportion of clinical encounters are exceptions (ie, they deviate from the base case); technologies that assume an uncomplicated patient with a single, textbook condition and over-specify tasks and processes tend to be too

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

XSL•F() RenderX brittle to support clinical work. Integration between specialties and sectors is expected but usually proves elusive, partly because it tends to be framed in technical and logistical (rather than socio-political) terms.

Health information infrastructure typically has hybrid roots, with incremental additions funded variously by local (public or private) providers, government, commercial suppliers, publicly funded research, and philanthropic sources [3,6]. It requires an exceptionally high level of security, reliability, and interoperability, and the resources to support repairs and developments to it (eg, redesigning routines and appointing and retraining staff). For all these reasons, the value proposition for heavy/traditional information technology (IT) (core, slow-moving, remote from a customer or patient [9]) in health care may be adverse, and the infrastructure supporting health care systems may be weak and fragmented. Some commercial suppliers prefer to focus on the more agile and less risky, customer-facing light/digital IT (including the growing wellness and wearables market).

In the United Kingdom, an advanced information infrastructure has emerged to support the public sector, nonprofit National Health Service (NHS) through in-house development, and a variety of contractual arrangements with different commercial suppliers [10]. Recent technological advances have made new service models possible, such as a commercially driven "doctor-in-your-pocket" video consultation service accessible via a smartphone app (which, controversially, bypasses much of the traditional NHS infrastructure) [11].

The Critical Social Science of Information Infrastructure

Star was a cofounder of the "Society for People Interested in the Study of Boring Things" [2]. By this, she meant lists, classification schemes, ordering devices (eg, timetables), and the wires and connections that make an information system work. Many of these "boring things" inscribe the values, expectations, conflicts, and power relations of particular groups in society [2,12]. Developing standards, for example, is a social and political (ie, value-laden and power-charged) process in which a more-or-less agreed-upon version of the world is constructed and negotiated [13,14].

Star proposed that ethnographers can learn a lot by exploring how "boring" infrastructure plays out in real-world settings [1,2]. A primary focus of such work is the ever-present tension between the general (standardized) and the local (situated), which people attempt to bridge through articulation or tinkering (the steps taken to get things done as work unfolds in real-time, despite material limitations, regulatory constraints, imperfect data, conflicting priorities, reluctant colleagues, etc) [15], and

via boundary objects (things that are differently interpreted and used by different groups, while retaining a shared sense of what the object is) [16].

As Berg and Timmermans have pointed out, the universal aspects of information infrastructure are not preexisting [17]. Instead, they need to be codeveloped through dialogue among those who will use, or be affected by, the infrastructure [17]:

...disorder preexists and precedes the emergence of order. The phoenix of universality rises from the ashes of local chaos. In the structure of these accounts, the local is the generic, natural state that is subsequently transformed; it is the unquestioned base from which the analysis starts.

Not only is order more arbitrary than is often assumed, suggest Berg and Timmermans, but any creation of order in one part of the system will create disorder somewhere else [17]. Because of this, the scaling up of a technology-supported service model to new settings is likely to be an unexpectedly tricky process and one that will not be easy to research, since ethnographic methods cannot be easily applied across multiple settings [18,19]. In sum, the health information infrastructure in many countries is characterized by state of the art individual technologies which need to interface with (but have often been designed with little awareness of) a legacy infrastructure and restrictive regulatory standards, all in the context of a complex, fast-changing, unpredictable, and underfunded service environment.

A New Theorization of Health Information Infrastructure

Overview

In this section, we outline our theorization of health information infrastructure, which adapts and extends original work by Star [1,2] and subsequent scholars [3,5,6]. It consists of five essential characteristics, listed below.

A Material Scaffolding, Backgrounded When Working and Foregrounded Upon Breakdown

What Star called the installed base of infrastructure comprises both hardware and software as well as the rooms, desks, tunnels, pipes, and other things that host it. It is typically large and extensive (eg, allowing communication at a distance), but tends to drift into the background as it provides the mundane means to the ends of an organization, and because significant parts of it are buried, kept in a back office, or found in the cloud. To the familiar user, infrastructure is what Star called transparent (in the computer science sense of being invisible, taken for granted, and ready to hand). It does not have to be reinvented each time, but it becomes visible on breakdown (such as when a server crashes or a software upgrade reveals a bug) [2]. Breakdown in this context can also mean situations where the material or nonmaterial features of infrastructure prove too inflexible to allow a clinician to exercise autonomy to deliver care.

Embedded, Relational, and Emergent

Star observed that infrastructure is "sunk into, and inside of, other structures, social arrangements and technologies" [2]. She

considered infrastructure a fundamentally relational concept, becoming real in relation to organized practices. Organizational knowing (the knowledge on which members draw when deciding how to act) is, to a large extent, tacit and embodied [20]. It draws on shared schemas and practices but also the material scaffolding of buildings, rooms, computers, records, charts, and other aspects of infrastructure [21]. The medical record, for example, is best conceptualized not as an isolated and static container of data but as a dynamic, evolving map of what is, was, and will be happening to the patient; this record links to other human and technological actors and to documents and practices [7]. This relational network evolves dynamically over time.

Collectively Learned, Known, and Practiced

Organizational work is complicated. It involves multiple actors who must share an understanding of context (primarily which technical and sociocultural actions are possible, allowable, and required) [22]. Such knowledge is built through collective learning and sensemaking, and it becomes embedded through both hard (eg, protocols or algorithms) and soft (eg, organizational routines, processes, practices, and norms) mechanisms. Indeed, organizational work can be conceptualized as multiple collective routines that are embedded within, and influenced by, one another; they are supported by shared material artifacts and social expectations that either harmonize or create conflict [23].

Maniatopoulos et al, drawing on Bourdieu and Schatzki, used the term "field of practice" to describe the nexus of interconnected and interdependent practices and arrangements, distributed across social, cultural, and material orders, that form the context for organizational work in a health care setting [24]. Infrastructure, according to Star, embodies such fields of practice and is learned as a part of membership [2]. The between the physical (material) relationship and knowledge/practice (nonmaterial) features of infrastructure is interdependent and reciprocal, as each shapes and is shaped by the other [24,25]. Both aspects of infrastructure, in turn, need to be differentiated from the purposive content of the interactions and practices they enable. A video consultation, for example, relies on infrastructure to provide its conditions of possibility, but the consultation itself also has its sui generis content intrinsic to its purpose. The conditions of possibility that the infrastructure provides will be more or less adequate to the clinician's view of this purpose.

Patchworked and Path-Dependent

Hanseth and Monteiro described infrastructure as "a layered patchwork of components and associated routines which emerge historically" [26]. It is rarely installed or replaced wholescale, and it cannot be fixed all at once or globally. New components are continually added, and they must be designed for backward compatibility with existing components. Importantly, these legacy components are not just technical. They contain embedded standards and assumptions that reflect historical socio-cultural influences (eg, a drug ordering system that fails to consider nurse prescribing because it was designed when only doctors could prescribe). Legacy systems also reflect historical strategic decisions (eg, to invest, or not, in bandwidth,

```
XSL•FO
```

or to award an exclusive contract to a particular supplier), which set an organization on a particular path from which it is difficult to deviate. Because of such challenges, and because nobody is really in charge of infrastructure, changes to it typically take time and negotiation; they may involve substantial power struggles and unanticipated financial costs, but they may sometimes turn out to be impossible.

Institutionally Supported and Sustained

Institutional theorists distinguish between technical environments, in which organizations produce a product or service with a focus on effective and efficient performance, and institutional environments, which are characterized by the need to conform to particular rules and requirements to receive legitimacy and support [27,28]. As March and Olsen put it, "institutions reflect the routine way in which people do what they are supposed to do" [29]. In institutional environments, the technical components of the infrastructure are constructed and connect in a highly standardized fashion. Asking questions about which standards are used and where they came from can surface a narrative about the roles of, and conflicts among, societal macroactors, including government, industry, professional bodies, and others [2].

Scott identifies three institutional pillars that operate with health care: regulative (statutory and legal requirements/what we must do), normative (professional norms, values, and definitions of excellence/what we should do), and cultural-cognitive (internalized scripts/what we unconsciously recognize as what everyone does) [28]. The standards, norms, and scripts of a particular health care system (eg, what is deemed safe, medical-grade, evidence-based, high-quality, confidential, etc) are enduring and hard to change, more so because they are materially inscribed in infrastructure.

Aims, Objectives, and Research Questions

Against this background, we sought to study health information infrastructure in a contemporary case study of innovation and change. Our theoretical objective was to explore, in the context of a heavily institutionalized health care environment, what infrastructure is, and how it influences technological innovation. Our empirical objective was, in partnership with front-line clinical and informatics staff at a self-proclaimed digital innovator hospital trust, to explore the challenges of scaling up a video consultation service across different clinical specialties and spreading this model to other sites. Our research question was: What was the nature of the infrastructure in this setting, and how did it shape (and become shaped by) the implementation of video consultations in different clinical and geographical settings?

Methods

Study Design and Setting

This study is a naturalistic case study with an action research component in Petroc Health (pseudonym), a UK hospital trust, along with three other trusts (anonymized as Eastern, Southern, and Northern), all of which are seeking to emulate the described model. Data sources (summarized in Table 1) included ethnographic field notes, interviews, documents, and material artifacts.

Provenance, Management, and Governance of the Research

This work incorporated and extended the VOCAL (Virtual Online Consultations—Advantages and Limitations) study, which ran from 2015 to 2017. Its methods [30] and findings [31,32] (including details of ethics approval) have been published previously. An extension study called "Scaling Up VOCAL" began in 2017 with ethics approval from London Riverside Research Ethics Committee (reference 19/LO/0550; IRAS project ID 258679) and will complete in 2020.

In the early stages of this research, action research meetings were held approximately every three months. However, as the study progressed, these were incorporated into the trust's existing governance structures, including a Transforming Services Together (TST) Outpatient Working Group, whose goal was to drive improvements in outpatient care. In 2018, a subcommittee of this group formed a Virtual Consultation Unit to focus specifically on local scale-up and a broader spread of video consultations. We supported these groups to articulate a theory of change, collect and periodically review data on the project's progress, and amend ongoing plans and targets. The work included developing resources and horizon-scanning wider system issues and developments (eg, technology platforms, national policies). The research was overseen by a steering group with a lay chair and patient representation, and a separate patient advisory group gave periodic feedback.

The constraints of infrastructure at the microlevel of the clinical consultation have been described in previous papers [10,32]. For this paper, we focused primarily on efforts to achieve translation by organizational actors at the meso level, that is, to engage interest and mobilize other actors (human and technological) to achieve the task of making video consultations business as usual [33].

The Case

The leading case site, Petroc Health, is a large, multi-site acute hospital trust and a recognized digital innovator, located in a deprived and multi-ethnic part of London. At the time of this study, NHS organizations were experiencing year-on-year reductions in their budget at a time of rising need, worsening staff shortages, and political and economic uncertainty. All departments were under pressure to deliver services more cost-effectively, and technologies were depicted, both nationally and locally, to achieve this. Outpatient clinics at Petroc were crowded, and there was huge pressure on the availability of consulting rooms. Travel between the trust's dispersed sites was difficult and time-consuming. The did not attend rate for some outpatient clinics exceeded 50%. Video consultations were introduced initially to try to reduce did not attend rates, though only some clinicians engaged with the new model, and many patients were considered unsuitable for the video option for clinical (eg, high-risk) or socio-cultural (eg, low health literacy) reasons [31,32]. A cyberattack in 2017 led to a devastating and widely reported collapse of the trust's information system [34].

```
XSL•FO
```

Eastern, Southern, and Northern NHS trusts, based in different parts of England, had all approached Petroc intending to emulate their virtual consultation service model in one or more clinics. As part of the Scaling Up VOCAL project, members of the Petroc team supported clinicians and managers in these trusts, which presented different cases in terms of size, geography, patient population, and use of digital technology.

Participants, Sampling, and Dataset

We followed the introduction of video consultations initially in three clinical departments (diabetes, antenatal diabetes, and

Table 1. Overview of multi-level data collection and analysis (including the earlier VOCAL study).

cancer surgery) and subsequent attempts to roll this model out to an additional ten departments in Petroc Health, including hematology, endocrinology, rheumatology, and neurology, and to a further six departments in the other three sites. Data were collected at a macro level (eg, national stakeholder interviews, policy documents), meso level (interviews, field notes, and internal documents from organizational ethnography), and microlevel (eg, observation and video-recording of clinical consultations). The full dataset and its contribution to our analysis and theorization are shown in Table 1.

Data level	VOCAL ^a study (2015-17)	Scaling Up VOCAL study (2017-20)	First-order interpretation	Higher-order categories	
Microlevel study of virtual consultations and efforts to deliver these on a clinic-by-clin- ic basis	 30 videotaped remote consulta- tions 16 face-to-face consultations (field notes linked to those) 	 Analysis of design and material properties of five video technology platforms used across participating sites: Adobe Connect, Skype (consumer), Skype for Business, Attend Any- where, Microsoft TEAMS. Interviews and think aloud observations us- ing the technology within six clinical ser- vices (diabetes, en- docrinology, hematolo- gy, rheumatology, or- thopedics, cancer). 	 What is said and done in consultations, and the local setting-up of video consultations How technology influences clinical work and how individual agency influences technology use, including examples of paradoxes (eg, a small change in technology has a significant effect), breakdown (where infrastructure becomes visible). invisible work, and articulation (eg, tinkering to deliver a service despite local contingencies) 	 Institutional assumptions built into the material and technological infrastructure (eg, about the capability of users, access rights, costs and payments, privacy and consent laws, and nature of clinical work) Internal social structures (habitus) of clinicians, such as personal and professional codes, and perspectives on illness. Specific knowledge of particular patients, and local system knowledge How the tension between standardization and contingency plays out as clinicians use technologies in clinical care (or find they cannot use them as anticipated) 	
Mesolevel study of organi- zational change	 24 staff interviews 300 hours of clinic observation 16 trust-level documents. Throughput and demographic data (eg, number and percent of consultations done via video). 	 Main site: 150 hours of ethnographic observation, 23 interviews with 17 staff, activity, and patient demographic data for six participating clinics. Secondary sites: 20 hours of ethnographic observation, 14 interviews with ten staff 	 Departmental-level case studies of efforts to intro- duce and mainstream a video consultation service Human actors' attempts at translation (problematiza- tion, interessement, enrol- ment and mobilization [33]) How competing interests and agendas played out in each case study 	 How organizational values, traditions, and routines (embodied in scripts) change over time, and why they endure Role of individual agency in both embodying and challenging institutional structures How the micropolitics of the institutional setting shapes and constrains an implementation effort 	
Macrolevel study of the wider context for introducing video consult- ing	 48 stakeholder interviews 50 national-lev- el documents from 2000- 2017 (including policies, guid- ance, and na- tional-level an- nouncements) 	 One further stakeholder interview Ten additional policy and guidance docu- ments published 2017- 19 	 Historical and policy drivers for, and barriers to, the introduction of video consultations in UK's Na- tional Health Service Reasons for emergence of alternative service models involving video consulta- tions (eg, in new models of general practice) 	 Institutional pillars which help sustain traditional face-to-face modes of consulting, including regulative (laws, tariffs, standards), normative (eg, professional, ethical codes and definitions of excellence), and cultural-cognitive (master-narratives of what a medical consultation is and how to behave in it) How these institutional pillars are inscribed in the National Health Service 	

^aVOCAL: Virtual Online Consultations—Advantages and Limitations.



information infrastructure

Greenhalgh et al

Theoretical Framework

As described previously in our VOCAL publications [30-32], and in common with Orlikowski [35] and Scott [28] (but in contrast to actor-network theorists who prefer a flat ontology [33]), we used a theoretical approach which assumes both microactors (human and technological agents) and macroactors (within broader social structures) who interact and coevolve in a dynamic and recursive (mutually-influencing) way [36].

Stones' adaptation of Giddens' work in strong structuration theory [37], and its extension by Greenhalgh and Stones to include technologies [38] considers both external social structures (such things as laws and regulations, societal and professional norms, and socio-cultural expectations) and how those structures are internalized as habitus by people (as knowledge, acquired dispositions, experience, normative orientations and morals, and patterns of learned behavior) and by technologies (as encoded rules, standards, access controls, and role assumptions). Teasing out these internalized social structures helps us to theorize the different priorities and agendas of different individuals, depending (for example) on their professional allegiance, role and status in the organization, prior training, experience, and so on.

In deciding how to act in any social situation, human actors – variously positioned within the configurations and hierarchies of organizations – draw on both their habitus and on their assessment of the here-and-now strategic terrain. There will often be a tension between the generalized socio-cultural frames of habitus and knowledge of the immediate field of practice. Some actions will appear possible, expected, and required, while some will seem impossible, inappropriate, or unimaginable. Similarly, the internalized social structures of technologies will (in some cases) extend what can be contemplated and achieved, and (in other cases) place limits on what is possible.

Like actor-network theory, strong structuration theory envisages humans and technologies as linked in dynamically evolving networks, which are inherently unstable but can potentially become stabilized when a particular configuration of people and technologies becomes aligned. The institutional aspects of health information infrastructures described above confer a high degree of stability on them, meaning that introducing a significant change to infrastructure requires substantial realignment of people, technologies, standards, procedures, training, incentives, and others. This process occurs in four stages: problematization (defining a problem for which a particular technology is a solution), interessement (getting others to accept this problem-solution), enrolment (defining key roles and practices in the network), and mobilization (engaging others in fulfilling the roles, undertaking the practices and linking with others) [33].

Analytic Approach

We took a two-stage approach to data analysis. First, we analyzed interviews, documents, and field notes thematically to gain familiarity and identify broad themes and categories. Second, we used reflection and team discussion to undertake a more theoretical analysis using technology-enhanced strong structuration theory as a guiding framework. We sought to

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

identify macrostructures (Scott's regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive institutional pillars [28]), how these structures were internalized within the habitus of human actors (as beliefs, values, attitudes) and in technological actors (as algorithms, access privileges, menus, quality of particular functions), and how they shaped and constrained action in particular encounters and events. We also considered how human actors sought, successfully or unsuccessfully, to change and stabilize the sociotechnical network in their effort to routinize and scale-up video consultations.

To hone our focus on health information infrastructure, we sought to construct rich ethnographic accounts of cases within the case (such as recurring problems with bandwidth) that illustrated and explored one or more of the five characteristics of infrastructure set out above. We followed some guiding principles of the ethnography of infrastructure suggested by Star: surface master-narratives (the overarching discourses that shape decisions), apply infrastructural inversion (eg, foreground things that are usually kept in the background), surface invisible work (eg, work done by low-grade staff such as secretaries and administrators), and study paradoxes (eg, why a simple change makes the whole system unworkable, perhaps because it generates additional hidden work) [39]. We also built on Star's original approach to add a more specific institutional dimension to the analysis, considering, for example, how institutional roles and identities generated particular agendas and priorities and showing how these agendas and priorities sometimes clashed.

We used narrative methods to organize our different data elements into a coherent temporal account, which made sense of unfolding actions and events in both a local and broader context [40,41]. Narrativizing helped illuminate the unique and subtle socio-technical interdependencies hidden within technology-supported change programs [42] since the significance of seemingly mundane or unrelated data items (eg, a short exchange of emails, field notes from different clinics, minutes of meetings held over months or years) often became evident only when incorporated into a story that spanned both time and space. This is especially true since infrastructural problems typically took months or years, not days or weeks, to resolve (and in many cases remained unresolved). The narrative form also allowed us to tease out and emplot micropolitical events and actions (such as how both conflicts and collaborations emerged between clinical services and the IT department).

Results

Description of Dataset and Overview of Findings

Our final dataset (to date) of 450 hours of ethnographic observation, 61 staff interviews, over 50 wider stakeholder interviews, and a large body of documents (Table 1) was characterized by a striking prominence of "boring things" [1,2], such as small material details, protocols, standard operating procedures, and seemingly banal rules and regulations. Repeatedly, implementation and spread efforts were stalled or distorted by things that were so mundane we initially hardly noticed them. In the early months of our research, we unconsciously backgrounded these "boring things" as our research gaze was drawn to more conventional subjects of

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

ethnographic observation: the talk and action of human actors. However, as the study unfolded, we recognized a recurring pattern: human actors often found themselves unable to act in a way that would have helped implement and spread the video consultation model. It was when we began to explore the causes of these delays and bottlenecks that the infrastructural themes described in this paper began to emerge.

Below, we describe four examples of how infrastructural issues repeatedly stalled this translational effort within Petroc Health and the other provider organizations that were seeking to emulate its video consultation model.

Selection of a Platform to Support Video-Mediated Consultations

This subcase describes various challenges with four different platforms that have been considered over the years for supporting video consultations in Petroc Health. It illustrates many of the features of infrastructure described in the introduction, including the importance of its material features and dependability, its embeddedness in systems and organized practices, the incremental, patchworked, and path-dependent way it is built and added to, the close interdependency of technical components and standards (eg, the need for top management endorsement that its components are approved, safe, and formally supported by the information and communication technologies [ICT] department), and the micropolitical nature of software choices (especially how senior management is minded to reject what clinicians see as a more patient-centered platform because it is less compliant with regulatory standards).

Video consultations were first piloted in the diabetes clinic in 2011 by a consultant diabetologist, anonymized as TW. A commercial videoconferencing tool, Adobe Connect (Adobe, San Jose, California, United States), was initially used because the project funder (NHS Choices, part of the English Department of Health) had already obtained these licenses. Like most corporate videoconferencing tools, Adobe Connect required a host to set up a conference call slot using a calendar schedule. It also offered session recording, instant messaging, and screen sharing (intended for presentations). The trust's ICT department were reassured by the program's end-to-end encryption and the company's security credentials. Clinicians chose not to use the video-recording function, and the consultations were not captured on the patient's electronic record except via conventional clinical notes. Screen-sharing was occasionally used to show patients on-screen data, such as test results.

Adobe Connect's video connection was technically reliable but fraught with difficulties. For example, the need to invite patients to a conference meeting by sending a URL link added a layer of administrative overhead (hidden work) for the clinician. The software was unfamiliar to both clinician and patient, and it used a metaphor (conference room) that jarred with the institutional purpose of the call (a confidential medical consultation). While the new video consultation service was popular with patients and staff, the platform was not.

Accordingly, the diabetes team tried using the consumer version of Skype (Skype Communications S.A.R.L., Luxembourg City,

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

Luxembourg) as part of a one-year feasibility study funded by the Health Foundation, a large medical charity. This decision proved to be more popular. Many patients already used Skype, and the rest generally knew someone who could show them how to download and use the platform. In 2013, the team obtained further funding from the same organization to explore the use of Skype-based consultations in routine care. Unlike Adobe Connect, Skype is an open-ended, point-to-point, video call application that allows users to customize the structure of the interaction. In addition to booking video consultations, it allowed patients to see when the clinician was online and send them an instant message. This was a function that was seen as empowering patients who had been reluctant to attend clinic:

The advantage of seeing who is around is useful for us - it has allowed a lot of ad hoc contacts with patients who never turn up physically to clinics, but Skype the nurse to say "Hi – saw you were online and wanted to check this with you." This has contributed significantly to patient engagement with the service and them taking control. [TW]

By 2015, Skype consultations had become business as usual in TW's diabetes clinic. However, our ethnographic observations showed that this apparent embedding was the result of elaborate workarounds by clinical and administrative staff for aligning the clinical consultation with documenting attendance and booking a repeat appointment. In a regular consultation, this would have been triggered by the patient physically appearing at the booking desk. This finding illustrated the deep embeddedness of the clinical routine within other, more administrative routines [23].

The Skype demonstration project described above had been informally supported by the ICT department (who had installed Skype on outpatient computers as a favor to TW, who was well-liked). The project was popular and widely highlighted (the UK Secretary of State for Health, for example, used it as an example of digital innovation in high-profile speeches [43]). However, efforts to roll out this model to other departments within Petroc Health quickly stalled when senior management raised concerns about the technical and regulatory implications of using the consumer version of Skype. They pointed out the lack of information governance rules or guidance on the use of Skype within the NHS, the absence of service level agreements or protocols for managing installation and upgrading of the software, and the unknown local impact of video streaming on network connectivity. The practical impact of the absence of agreed standards and procedures was that, for example, a clinician would arrive to do a booked video clinic and find that because of a forced upgrade overnight, Skype no longer worked on the local terminal. This reflected the fact that some aspects of the infrastructure were controlled by players outside the organization, such as Microsoft. This problem could be fixed only when the clinician could cajole someone from the ICT department into attending in person and manually overriding the block.

TW used her experience, skill, and personal qualities to work through Latour's four stages of translation in her effort to transform and stabilize the socio-technical network needed to

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

make video consultations a reality: problematization (defining the problem as accessibility of services and a particular technological intervention as the solution to this), interessement (getting others to accept this problem-solution, specifically by engaging top management and board members as well as her fellow clinicians), enrolment (defining key roles and practices in the network, such as establishing a cross-departmental working group that included ICT and business elements), and mobilization (engaging others in fulfilling the roles, maintaining dialogue, and creative troubleshooting).

As part of our action research, we helped produce the standardized procedures and documentation demanded (and subsequently approved) by senior management at Petroc Health. This, along with TW's perseverance, led to Skype eventually being formally approved for running video consultations across the trust, which was a victory over the reluctant senior management. In 2017, its rollout formed part of the Transforming Services Together program. This strategic-level initiative was coincidentally given a boost because upgrades to some parts of the trust's internet network were occurring as part of a separate initiative to support multidisciplinary team meetings between different sites using a different video-conferencing technology. This serendipitous event illustrates that infrastructure, as defined by Star, is a fundamentally relational concept, the reciprocal embeddedness of infrastructural elements, and the patchworked and path-dependent way in which the installed base evolves.

By the end of 2017, various additional videoconferencing applications had become available, some of which had been purpose-designed for medical use, and Skype was coming to be outdated and limited in comparison. Initially, there was little appetite by the project leads to replace Skype as the preferred platform, as they felt that after much effort, they had secured the necessary changes for supporting this particular software (the standard operating procedures and information governance approvals, for example, were specific to Skype).

However, during 2018, the trust encountered several technical problems running Skype (described further in subcases 2 and 3) and began to consider moving to a different platform. There was much discussion about the possibility of switching to the licensed version of Skype, Skype for Business, which at the time was the package of choice recommended by NHS Digital. Eventually, however, a trust-level decision was made to pilot Microsoft TEAMS (Microsoft, Redmond, Washington, United States) (a workplace collaboration tool with video call functionality), on the basis that this would form part of the Microsoft Office 365 package, which the ICT department was already planning to purchase on behalf of the trust (another example of the emergent, patchworked, and path-dependent nature of the installed base). Furthermore, our stakeholder interviews with Microsoft executives had revealed a plan to adapt the TEAMS software for clinical settings, including video consultations, and their plans to integrate this function with other parts of the electronic record. From May 2018, a series of meetings occurred between Petroc Health's top management and Microsoft until a third-party broker organization was contracted to negotiate and mediate formal agreements.

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

XSL•FO

During the same period, the project team became aware of another technology platform, Attend Anywhere (Attend Anywhere, Melbourne, Australia), which was purpose-built for clinical use. It had a design focus on emulating clinic workflows (eg, a single button on the trust website enabled patients to gain access to a virtual waiting room, potentially managed by a receptionist, for the patient to be joined virtually by the clinician when ready). Attend Anywhere had been developed by an Australian SME and was already being implemented in several sites in Scotland. In May 2018, Attend Anywhere was procured centrally by NHS Improvement to pilot within selected NHS trusts in England.

Petroc Health volunteered to be one of these pilot sites, creating an opportunity to explore and evaluate both Attend Anywhere and Microsoft TEAMS in parallel, and work out the business case for these two very different options (one custom-designed for this purpose but requiring purchase of additional licenses after the pilot period; the other a product that was free as part of a wider package but would need extensive customizing). At the time of writing, the Attend Anywhere versus TEAMS pilot is ongoing.

The Introduction of Virtual Desktop Infrastructure Technology

Our next subcase describes how a technology (virtual desktop infrastructure [VDI]) introduced with the goal of improving efficiency and security through a standardized, lean (thin client), and centrally-controlled process led to both anticipated consequences (greater central oversight and control of local activity, some efficiency improvements for the IT department) and unanticipated ones (local breakdowns and knock-on problems elsewhere in the system). For poorly understood reasons (a hoped-for panopticon view never materialized), the Skype video consultation platform became unreliable and lost safety-critical audit-trail data, such as text messages and missed calls. At one point, the video consultation service could only be sustained through a single legacy terminal in one room that entirely bypassed the modern VDI solution. As Star predicted, this paradox proved revealing.

During 2016, the rollout of virtual clinics using Skype as part of the trust's Transforming Services Together program, helped by a strongly positive national policy context, was primarily driven by TW, who had introduced the model in her clinic back in 2011. As part of this initiative, Skype had been made accessible on clinic computers for approved services that had been brought into the rollout initiative. Because of pushback from the overstretched IT department (who required more resources and wanted clear governance processes established before agreeing to a full scale-up), it was otherwise not supported on trust computers. By mid-2017, ten video consultation services were approved across Petroc's five hospital sites.

At around the same time, many of the hospital computers (referred to by the ICT department as fat clients) in Petroc's main central London site were being replaced with VDI units (thin clients). VDI is a virtualization technology that hosts a desktop operating system on a centralized server; the user's VDI profile can be customized and run on any machine within

the organization. The VDI deployment was a significant undertaking, with plans to cover all five hospital sites over three years. It was seen by ICT leads as a way of improving network efficiency, security, and cost-effectiveness, as well as providing clinical staff with a more consistent computer experience when working across different sites:

From an IT side of things, it is easier to manage because you don't have to update the machine every time there is an update to Windows, or an application. It's all done centrally. So, from an IT perspective it is easier to update and proceed. Also, for security. I mean when we got the cyberattack [May 2017], we got affected really badly. And so, all the security is managed on the server side, so it can't get infected on the individual machine. So, there's a lot of factors in there. [ICT Service Delivery Manager]

In this new VDI environment, Skype needed to be installed centrally on individual staff members' user profiles, as opposed to manually on specific computers. The clinical teams affected were assured that Skype would still be accessible through their personal VDI, and arrangements were put in place to install the application onto relevant staff VDI profiles.

By September 2017, VDI had been deployed across two hospital sites covering 2000 users. Only one non-VDI PC remained within the Diabetes center where TW was based. When she first logged onto her VDI profile, she was relieved to find Skype still available on her desktop. For two months, she continued to run video appointments as part of her weekly clinic, which constituted 10-20% of her follow-up appointment activity. However, in November 2017, she started to experience a problem where her Skype contact list would completely disappear. It was as if her Skype account had been completely wiped, which made it impossible to run video consultations, as both parties need to be established contacts. The history of all Skype interactions with that patient (including text messaging, contact requests, and missed calls) also disappeared.

As Skype appeared to work normally on the one remaining standalone PC, TW attributed the problem to VDI deployment. She emailed the ICT helpdesk seeking urgent assistance, anxious to retrieve her contact list before her next set of appointments. The ICT Service Desk Manager (after discussing with the Network team) concluded that Skype would not work on VDI and advised TW to continue running video appointments using the one remaining PC. However, this was not a realistic option, since TW did not have the authority to use a specific room:

Clinic rooms are not yours. You only use the one room allocated to you. Someone else might be using it. [TW]

She escalated the issue, emailing the ICT manager (anonymized as GF) along with other senior members on the TST program, emphasizing the "serious clinical risk" of this problem and implication for their plans to scale up the use of virtual consultations across the trust. The ICT manager recognized the problem and assured TW that efforts were being made to get Skype working on the VDI. Through December 2017 and January 2018, various members of the ICT team became involved in addressing the issue. As a temporary workaround, they set up a User Acceptance Testing (UAT) pool on TW's VDI profile, from which she was asked to run Skype. The UAT pool is effectively a separate virtual machine used to run tests and reconfigure settings without impacting the wider live production VDI environment. Such pools had also been developed for other applications that were either new or posed problems for the VDI environment.

This period was a "constant irritation" for TW. Determined to keep her video clinic running, she continued to have video appointments with selected patients, while engineers sought to test and troubleshoot different ways of synchronizing her local Skype application with her central account. At times they managed to retrieve the contact list. However, often, it would disappear when she rebooted the machine, requiring further assistance through the ICT helpdesk.

As time went on, TW made sure this remained a priority issue on the Transforming Services Together agenda, raising it at meetings and sending group emails to various ICT and strategic actors. The ICT team continued to investigate but could not provide a clear idea of how or when it would be resolved.

By February 2018, one of the End User Computing engineers (anonymized as OB) who had been tasked to lead on this issue began to make some progress. By shadowing TW and reviewing background operating processes while she used the Skype application through her VDI profile, he identified that while some of her contacts appeared on loading the application, many did not. After some time, he worked out that the local machine was saving a profile of any Skype contacts used. If the same user logged in again on that machine, those contacts would be found again, and this would prevent additional contacts from the user's wider Skype profile being copied across from Microsoft Cloud. Having identified the problem, OB anticipated that a fix could be found.

In February 2018, OB and other members of the ICT team invited TW to their office to show her how to run the Skype application from the UAT profile they had installed. OB documented his fix in a Word document as a script for the service support team to use in future cases. While TW was able to return to using Skype more readily, she now had to relaunch Skype every time she wanted to use it (to sync it with her online account), and from a specific local drive on her UAT pool (where the fix was implemented), rather than letting it run in the background. She considered this clunky compromise worthwhile to ensure the contact list remained intact and up to date.

Unfortunately, this promising fix did not last long. After a few months, TW's contact list disappeared again. TW contacted OB, who reimplemented his script, which rectified the issue. Nevertheless, after a few weeks, the problem occurred again. In the months that followed, it became a routine practice for TW to call upon various ICT engineers whom she got to know, asking them to reimplement OB's script whenever the issue occurred. This was frustrating and awkward, not least because the Skype clinic ran from 8:45-9:30 am, but the ICT helpdesk did not open until 9:00 am. During that time, TW purposefully

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

XSL•FO

restricted the service to existing and familiar patients in the hope that a more permanent solution would be found.

However, in August 2018, this issue was further confounded by another problem. TW noticed that Skype was running particularly slowly, and it also slowed down the other clinical applications. Sometimes it ran so slowly that it was impossible to use. On other occasions the application crashed altogether:

The whole thing would slow down. And that was terrible because the patient would call in. And I could see they were calling in. But I couldn't even accept the call because the whole thing was so slow. By the time I got the cursor on the icon and click, the patient would call off. So, it was just awful. They could see I was online. They could see that I would have seen the call. But I wasn't picking up the call. And normally, when that happens – because if I am talking to another patient, I would type them a message to say I'm busy I will reply in ten minutes. But in this case, I wasn't even able to do that. The whole thing was terrible. Even if I was able to manage to connect. Everything was slow. I couldn't open patient records. [TW]

Consequently, TW and other members of her team stopped running video appointments completely. TW and other members of the rollout program were beginning to consider other technology options (see subcase 1). However, this would take time to establish. In the meantime, TW was asked to launch Skype on her VDI profile every day for six weeks and keep logs of her experience to try and develop a clearer picture of what kept happening. Partly because the problem largely resolved over the Christmas period (when network usage dropped), the ICT team concluded that the Skype application used more memory than had been anticipated and increased the central processing unit (CPU) for TW's UAT pool. While this appeared to resolve the problem, TW considered this fix too precarious to justify expanding the service to new patients or encouraging other staff to use it. The fact that she was not under pressure to push the pace of implementation illustrates that the project, while formally Trust policy, was not an overriding priority.

A member of the ICT department summed up the prevailing sense of confusion and impasse:

The challenge we have with VDI is lots of patchy fixes and never really clear what exactly they have done to fix it... And we have hundreds of applications that we use across the trust. And this will be happening with lots of other programmes. ... It is very very difficult to isolate what is happening. A lot of it is feeling around in the dark as to what may or may not be happening. Even when you get an answer, it will change tomorrow... [ICT Project Manager]

At the time of writing, the trust, and the IT support team are still struggling with the challenges of VDI technology. A reviewer of a previous draft of this paper suggested that the kind of technical analysis described in this case could have been done in a more automated way using situated analytics had the IT department been aware of such approaches [44], though these may well bring their own challenges.

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/

This case illustrates how even in digital-exemplar health care organizations, breakdowns are frequent, and repairs are not merely technological but also social and political. The clinical entrepreneur (TW) achieves repairs by using her status and relationships within the organization to mobilize the ICT support infrastructure and persuade support staff to agree to bespoke solutions (eg, allowing the use of the legacy desktop machine to run Skype). In other cases, lower-status junior doctors and nursing staff had less power and influence in this regard, and in that sense, carried a heavier infrastructural burden (ie, their work was more vulnerable to constraints and delays when breakdowns occurred). Such staff were, for example, dependent on a response from the generic IT helpdesk support email address (because they either lacked the seniority to contact anyone else directly, or lacked knowledge of whom to speak to), and progress tended to be slow unless the problem could be escalated to someone with better connections.

Video Call Quality in a Peripheral Hospital

This subcase relates to a rheumatology clinic in one of the peripheral hospitals of Petroc Health (anonymized as Eastern General). It illustrates the patchworked and incrementally fixed nature of health information infrastructure. Previously a separate, small district general hospital 20 miles away on the outskirts of London, Eastern General merged with the main Petroc Health Trust in 2013. As this case illustrates, the distant site has become swept up in the wider modernization effort of this digital innovator organization, a perhaps typical experience for the smaller and weaker partner in a merged organization. The learning curve for the team at Eastern General is long and steep. For the clinicians in the narrative, the goal is not merely to make the video connection work technically but to ensure that it works reliably and to a sufficient standard to support professional work. Despite many time-consuming test calls to try to optimize the technology, it fails on the day, and she, in turn, feels she has failed her patients.

Eastern General was widely viewed as both clinically and technologically backward by those in the main central London site. In September 2017, CB, the physiotherapist, met with GT (Service Delivery Manager) and LT (Patient Pathway Coordinator) in the staff meeting room to test Skype on her computer and familiarize herself with the application. Her first video appointment was booked for the following week. After spending some time tinkering (eg, finding USB ports that worked, positioning webcam, setting the correct audio output devices), navigating (eg, how to find contact, initiate calls, send messages) and test calling (using the Skype test call audio playback service), they got the technology to work.

After months of preparation, the team was excited to finally launch their new video clinic, which was the first on this site. For six months, GT had worked with the local Service Manager (FI) to get everything in place. Among other things, they had to submit requests to the ICT department to incorporate video appointment slots into CB's electronic scheduling tool, generate new appointment letters, and gain access to the Skype application on the clinic desktop computer (the peripheral hospital was yet to be modernized with VDI technology).

Greenhalgh et al

On the morning of the first video clinic, CB arrived at work earlier than usual. She needed to collect the webcam and headset from the administrative office, load up Skype, and check it was working on the clinic computer. The one video appointment was deliberately scheduled to take place at the end of her clinic so as not disrupt her face-to-face appointments. When that time came, Skype was slow to respond. When the patient answered CB's call, his face was severely pixelated. At times, the video froze or dropped altogether. The audio was also broken and distorted. Clinician and patient struggled on, but only by disabling the video function at both ends.

CB did not want a repeat of this challenging and embarrassing situation. She decided to run some more test calls before the following week's clinic. She wanted to know if this was a one-off glitch or a problem with the hospital connection that was likely to be recurrent; she strongly suspected the latter. Over the next few days, she found time to perform test calls (with colleagues and members of the implementation team) from the consultation room, with variable and inconclusive results. She would have liked to have done more tests, but time was limited because the consultation room was rarely free to use, and she needed to fit in with the availability of the person on the other end. The following Tuesday, she ran another video appointment with a patient. This one was just as bad. She decided to discontinue video appointment bookings until she could trust the technology.

And I guess it's frustrating because you are messing around for a few minutes and it doesn't look very professional for the patient, where I'm having to hang up the call and pick up the call again, and say why can't I see them. [CB]

FG (Service Manager) escalated the problem with the ICT manager (GF), who passed it to the program lead responsible for supporting the roll-out of video clinics (BN). For the ICT team, this was not a simple technical fix. There appeared to be no objective way of assessing bandwidth requirements; they could only "suck it and see." Video streaming was a new demand on Eastern General's overstretched network, which had been designed historically for much lighter information traffic but had recently become (organizationally and technically) part of the digital innovator Petroc Health. Various attempts to modernize Eastern General by installing new technologies had not gone well:

Eastern General has a very -a network under pressure. It's organically grown to support the service but not necessarily with the nuts and bolts required on the network. So what we have is a lot of people hanging off the network more than what it can manage. [...] People are competing for the bandwidth that's there [...]. What you'll get is limited bandwidth at different locations depending on the size of the fibres that have been put in, or the connections that have been put in. [...] [T]hat bit of spaghetti may have been a 10 meg link. Whereas some people had, I don't know, linguini which was the fatter one, and that's a 100 meg link. And then you sit on a much

bigger pipe which is the fibre. So if you sit there, you've got a weaker link. [ICT Support Manager]

The above quote illustrates how the clinicians, patients, managers, and relevant ICT people, along with elements of the technical network, have all been enrolled into an effort to get a new, video-based rheumatology service up and running at Eastern General, but the known limits on capacity in this historically low-tech site were somehow not factored into the planning. Batteau [45] has pointed out:

Heterogeneity of expectations, artifacts, infrastructure, support, skills, management, and system planning ... is an inevitable consequence of the variable rates of diffusion [of innovations] in a large-scale technological system within an articulated social field.

The task is to rise to the challenges that are posed by such inescapably complex relations and processes.

CB continued to try test calls when she could, to gain a better idea of how the video call quality varied. On one occasion, this was done with an ICT engineer present, who went on to speak with the server team to ascertain how call quality corresponded with wider network usage. Despite initial plans to run these tests more frequently, in practice, it was too difficult to organize and coordinate them alongside the availability of the clinic room.

With limited data and multiple interacting influences (eg, variations in network capacity and traffic within different sections, and at different times, across the network, and the CPU demand of Skype and other systems running on the local terminal), it was difficult for the ICT department to confidently establish the underlying cause of the problem. GF decided to postpone any further deployments of video consultation technology at Eastern General. The hospital was due to have two major IT upgrades within the year, so it made sense to wait before progressing with the video clinics. The ICT support manager was upbeat about this:

In the next six months they will have a whole new network and their Skype will be singing and dancing. Because effectively we are giving them a motorway in terms of provision of bandwidth.

For the ICT team, their experience at Eastern General highlighted the value of what they referred to as a "controlled rollout." This involved working with a few services, each running a small number of consultations, to understand how Skype impacts the network and manage or restrict activity where necessary.

For CB and her team, it was felt that some momentum still needed to be maintained for their new virtual clinic service. CB believed video quality was far better during her Friday morning clinic than the Tuesday clinic, perhaps due to less demand on the network at this time. She asked GT to prepare and submit another clinic template change form to incorporate video slots into her Friday clinic.

By November 2017 (which was before the two major upgrades), the new (Friday) video slots had been implemented, and CB



began offering video appointments. On 30 November, she ran two successful video appointments. The video quality, though not perfect, was enough to run the consultation. In the knowledge that the Eastern General network will be improved at some point, she has continued to press ahead cautiously with Skype in a small number of carefully selected patients.

CB's frustration reflects several features of what we have previously (following MacIntyre) called medicine's internal goods [46]: being available for the patient (as a professional standard, the risk of not being available must be zero), assuring continuity of care (rheumatology patients generally have lifelong conditions and stay with their specialist clinician for years), and providing professional presence (via a technically adequate video connection). Given that the unreliable connection jeopardized all these internal goods, it was small wonder that the clinician felt that "it doesn't look very professional."

Access Rights to Use Video Conferencing Software

Our final subcase highlights how the embeddedness of infrastructure in local systems poses challenges to spreading a technology-supported service model to other organizations. Adoption required distributed reconfigurations across multiple levels of practice, which were reciprocal and interlocking. The technical infrastructure (including a licensed Skype technology acquired through a previous purchasing decision) afforded and constrained actions in ways that played out differently to the main case site, in which particular organizational routines, processes, knowledge, standards, and workarounds had emerged. In this last case, information governance concerns and standards constrained technological choices and slowed the implementation of solutions.

Southern Trust, a large, multi-site provider in a university city that had won awards as a digital innovator, was supported by the Video Consultation Unit at Petroc Health to try to introduce video consultations in various clinical services. One of these was a sarcoma (bone and soft tissue tumor) clinic, where a consultant surgeon, SB, led the implementation. After signing up, implementation was put on hold for several months due to a significant increase in clinic demand alongside senior staff changes and recruitment delays.

In April 2018, after SB was able to secure some additional operational staff time, progress was made to set up the technology. Skype for Business had been part of a recent NHS Mail integration, so it was available free to all staff users. This platform offered similar management and security functionality as Adobe Connect, but also interfaced with Skype and allowed people without an account to join as guests, avoiding the need to set up patient accounts. The additional call encryption capabilities and integration with NHS Mail (secure email accounts for NHS staff) were also considered an advantage over the consumer version of Skype, which had not been designed with the privacy needs of medical consultations in mind.

By September 2018, Skype for Business was installed on a dedicated laptop (specifically purchased for running video appointments), to be held by an administrator and taken to the clinic by SB. This was because most clinic computers used VDI profiles, and there were uncertainties about the reliability of

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/

Skype on these (reinforced by the experiences at Petroc). Use of the laptop required governance approvals with the recently introduced Data Protection Impact Assessment tool to comply with the UK's General Data Protection Regulations.

SB identified some suitable patients to run his first video appointments but wanted to run dummy calls and familiarize himself with the technology before booking them in. However, his series of attempts to test the technology repeatedly failed. The application was on his desktop, but he could not get past the login page, as it had not been configured to his account. A Helpdesk request to IT resulted in him being able to sign in and contact colleagues. However, when he tried to call members of the Petroc team supporting him, he was confronted with a generic pop-up error message to "contact operational support for further information."

After unsuccessfully calling ICT support, he stopped the tests. The operational support manager was tasked with finding someone in ICT to help:

[W]e've had to sort of drive and chase every, sort of, step.... At the moment the IT is the stumbling block... Our managers are running around with their own priorities and I don't know who will practically help us... You just don't feel – it hasn't been allocated to anyone... Our IT requests just go to a generic call desk.

With no response to email requests and continuing demand on the clinic team, progress on developing the virtual consultation service stalled. After two months of chasing, a member of the ICT team investigated the issue. It emerged that, while Skype for Business was available as part of the NHS Mail integration, the default configuration was for internal communications. External communication required additional enterprise licenses, of which the trust had a limited number.

After some weeks, the application on SB's clinic laptop was successfully configured to enable external video calls. SB managed to run some dummy calls, followed by a single video consultation with a carefully selected patient, which went well. Based on his experience over the last 18 months, he remained concerned about the reliability of the technology and routine use within this busy clinic.

Similar challenges confronted other services at Southern Health. One clinician resorted to purchasing an iPad and using Facetime (with patients who owned Apple devices), thus bypassing the NHS technical infrastructure. All teams expressed a pessimistic outlook on the prospect of routinely running video appointments. While there was no active resistance to using the technology, there was perceived to be an absence of senior-level engagement and leadership:

The technology is there. It is ready and waiting. But we need someone to drive it as their own priority getting these clinics up and running and looking at the various technical issues that come with it... and ironing those out. [Physiotherapist]

The subcase illustrates a key finding: that the contingent and emergent qualities of infrastructure mean that it will never be possible to develop a standard pathway to implementation.

While support from Petroc Health played an important role, this could not make virtual consultations happen locally. Indeed, this example illustrated that spreading the model to other sites needs to center on the process of translation in the new site, which will never be fully scripted by generic models and implementation guides.

Discussion

Main Findings

This paper has described four detailed subcases within a wider case study of scaling up video consultation services in a multi-site London hospital trust and spreading this model to other UK sites. The subcases illustrate how "boring things" (such as internal procedures, locally-endorsed standards, aspects of software functionality, mundane administrative issues such as room bookings, general pressures on the system, cash-constrained departments fighting their corner, and historical decisions to invest in particular platforms) influenced the fortunes of a technological innovation. Infrastructural challenges included intricacy and lack of dependability of the installed base; interdependencies of technologies, processes, and routines, such that a fix for one problem generated problems elsewhere in the system; the inertia of established routines; the constraining effect of budgets and legacy systems; and delays and conflicts relating to regulatory and professional standards, especially around clinical quality and safety.

Our rich ethnographic data revealed the importance of entrepreneurial clinicians, who were committed to introducing new technology to deliver excellent care and who made persistent and creative efforts to interest, enroll, and mobilize others to help align technologies, standards, routines, and processes in the pursuit of that goal. Despite these efforts, and notwithstanding, prevailing, master-narratives of efficiency, standardization, and control, the health information infrastructure in Petroc Health, in particular, was revealed as heterogeneous and unstable, with the various elements pulling apart (drift) and an absence of effective central control (distribution), resulting in what Berg [47] has called:

A fragile, never static equilibrium, characterized by never ending frictions, loose ends, and unforeseen consequences.

Our findings affirmed previous research, which showed that when video consultations work, they can be clinically high-quality and safe. However, for this eventuality to be achieved, the physical (material) and knowledge-practice (nonmaterial) conditions of possibility must be adequate. When (and to the extent that) these infrastructural preconditions are inadequate (eg, when technical breakdown precludes or compromises a video consultation), the purposive interactions of clinical care become awkward and risky. The clinician's lack of trust in the reliability of the infrastructure is accompanied by a constant undercurrent of anxiety about being unable to care for patients to appropriate standards. As one reviewer commented, "we seem to have created a new form of professional shame." To the extent that the precarious infrastructure that characterized our study sites was able to support the innovation and maintain excellence in clinical care, this was in no small part due to creative and persistent work undertaken by individual human actors to bridge, through human and technical workarounds, the gap between standardization and contingency. This articulation work was never-ending; it often had a political component; and it sometimes succeeded only to the extent that the innovation remained confined to a local setting, protected from the wider system. In some cases, the gap between standardization and contingency could never be bridged (eg, when administrative permissions to use a technology were not forthcoming or when internet connectivity proved rate-limiting), resulting in suspension or abandonment of the project.

Strengths and Limitations

This study has both empirical and theoretical strengths. Empirically, it is based on extensive ethnographic fieldwork conducted over many years and oriented to explore the contingent and emergent qualities of health care infrastructure. The study's theoretical strength is the extension of Star's foundational work on infrastructure to include a central emphasis on its institutional elements. We have combined different but related theoretical perspectives, namely, strong structuration theory, neo-institutional theory, social practice theory, and aspects of actor-network theory, and applied these to a rich, longitudinal dataset to tease out how the institutional aspects of information infrastructures emerge and unfold over time.

The limitations of this study include the question of how far we can generalize from a single, unique case to make claims about infrastructure more generally. The five defining components of health information infrastructure set out in the introduction were built on, refined, and developed to explain our empirical data; they may not explain all aspects of such infrastructure in all contexts. We encourage others to apply and extend our theoretical framework to contrasting countries and settings.

Comparison With Previous Literature

Our work resonates strongly with Star's original theoretical work on information infrastructure [1,2], as well as that of other founding scholars who have taken a social practice perspective on technology [6,17,24,47].

Hartswood et al, drawing on various ethnographic studies of health information systems in the United Kingdom, introduced the notion of "design in use," in which design is reconceptualized from a discrete phase that occurs before the technology is implemented to a never-ending effort to achieve and maintain embedding by coadapting the technology and the work processes it aims to support. Facilitated partnerships between ICT specialists and clinician-users are needed to address [48]:

...the ongoing struggle of making this particular system work for these particular users, in this particular workplace and at this particular time.

These authors emphasize the importance of making ICT work more visible to nontechnical users, allowing them to take a more informed leadership role, and, conversely, how making clinical work visible to ICT specialists allows the latter to become

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

attuned to the nuances of technology use, thereby understanding the importance (or not) of particular features or adaptations.

Grisot et al describe a 10-year ethnography of the design, development, and initial use of a web-based solution for patient-hospital communication at a Norwegian hospital [6]. Like the solutions in our case studies, this began as a bottom-up initiative from a small and motivated team, though in the Norwegian case, the entrepreneurs were ICT, not clinical, staff. Numerous challenges and setbacks are described, but overall, the solution grew gradually and in a locally adaptive way as the ICT team assessed and addressed specific user needs and use cases. The authors conclude that ICT innovations that are part of the infrastructure cannot merely be "installed." Instead, they must be organically "cultivated" in a way that acknowledges changing organizational needs and the inertia and constraints of the installed base [6]. Maniatopoulos et al had similar findings when studying the spread of new diagnostic technology for breast cancer across NHS oncology and pathology units. They concluded that [24]:

It is difficult - if not impossible - to propose a standard pathway for its [lymph node biopsy technology's] embedding into healthcare practice.

These findings from other research groups mirror our own in highlighting the need to create spaces in which generic elements of solutions can be adapted to local needs and circumstances. However, they differ in that, in our case study, there was a tendency for clinical and informatics staff to talk past one another, with the former (at least to some extent) failing to fully appreciate the technical elements of infrastructure and the latter not fully appreciating the clinical (eg, quality and safety) aspects. This highlights the need to positively promote shared interests and mutual comprehension between the different groups essential to processes of implementation. The scaling-up program for video consultations is, however, at an early stage in its evolution, and there is scope for introducing additional measures to support design-in-use and emergent cultivation. However, this would require, at the very least, attention to the severe staffing shortages that underlie long response times in some participating sites.

The Institutional Elements of Infrastructure

The UK National Health Service was established in 1947 and remains a cherished national institution among both professionals and the public [49]. Using Scott's taxonomy [28], the institutional pillars which support the NHS are threefold: formal (including legal) regulations, enduring professional values and codes of conduct, and expected patterns of behavior. Our data revealed that all three pillars are retained and consolidated in the technical elements of NHS information infrastructure as well as in the habitus of NHS staff. This was evident in the nonnegotiable way that rules and regulations (regarding privacy and data protection) were imposed, often in a way that could not be materially overridden, in clinicians' commitment to providing a "professional" service and the lengths to which they were prepared to go to prevent "embarrassing" violations of the standards they set themselves, and in the long-established patterns of action and interaction that delivered traditional outpatient services. It is for these

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
```

XSI•FC

institutional reasons, of legitimacy and support, and not merely for technical connectivity issues, that the information infrastructure of the NHS has proved so hard to change and why the implementation of new infrastructure often plays out in political ways (eg, as battles between clinical departments, ICT departments, and top management).

UK policy on health technology is currently placing considerable emphasis on light IT innovations such as apps and devices, which are presented as having the potential to improve the quality and efficiency of care. For example, the NHS Innovation Accelerator was established in 2015 [50]:

To speed up adoption of innovations which have proven potential for high impact throughout the NHS and wider healthcare economy.

Such an approach, which places limited emphasis on cultivating the underlying infrastructure with which such novel technologies will need to connect, is deterministic and naïve. Critics have, for example, condemned the new "doctor-in-your-pocket" smartphone video consultation service mentioned in the introduction [11] as both unsafe (because the symptom-checker app is alleged to be unreliable) and unethical (because the service is marketed to young adults, allegedly taking this group and leaving the NHS to care for older and sicker individuals) [51,52]. While a full analysis of this particular controversy is beyond the scope of this paper, the question arises as to whether this controversial service has succeeded precisely because it is not merely technology-light but also regulation-light and value-light. In other words, it has been designed to bypass, rather than integrate with, the institutionalized infrastructure of the NHS.

The challenge of spreading technological innovation through a national public health care system raises the question of how to balance (on the one hand) providing a high degree of stability and commonality through typified inbuilt models, categories, and processes, and (on the other hand) providing sufficient leeway for flexibility to accommodate local contexts (including clinical and geographical particularities, historical path dependencies, and local political agendas) and also allowing the clinician to exercise the necessary autonomy during the consultation. Ellingsen and Monterio observe that "extensive local adaption does not scale, resulting in constraints stemming from one local setting spilling over to the next" [53]. Either we must abandon completely the vision of scaling up innovations that have worked in one setting, or we need to rephrase the scale-up challenge in a more nuanced way, for example: how can we build leeway into technologies to maximize scope for adaptation to different local infrastructures and (at the point of technology use) clinical microcontexts?

Conclusion

This paper has revisited Star's classic work on information infrastructure, has developed its theoretical underpinnings particularly concerning institutional influences and has used a contemporary case study to illustrate its continued relevance to the challenges of medical and health informatics. In a 2001 review paper, Orlikowski and Iacono showed that most information system research published at the time had treated

technologies in isolation (eg, as tools), while only a small fraction had studied them as ensembles, that is, as part of wider socio-technical systems [54]. We have recently produced similar findings in a health care context (Papoutsi et al, paper submitted). The empirical findings presented in this paper emphasize the importance of an ensemble view of technologies and show how, particularly in a public-sector health care setting, that ensemble incorporates and reproduces institutional rules, norms, and ways of working.

These findings suggest that much could be learned from further ethnographic studies of health information infrastructure in different contexts. While the popular randomized trial design has its place, it tends to reinforce a tool rather than ensemble view of technology and downplay the importance of infrastructure. A case study design is needed to illustrate, for example, how newly introduced technology is initially equivocal [55]. However, through much local negotiation, interpretation, and on-the-job support can become both technologically and institutionally stabilized [56]. Our findings also suggest that innovators and change agents who wish to introduce new technologies in health services and systems could distill some working principles from our retheorization of infrastructure. First, it is essential to attend to materiality, such as to expect bugs and breakdowns and prioritize basic dependability over advanced functionality. Second, the technological artifact should be considered relationally and as part of a system, rather than as an isolated tool or function. Third, it should be remembered that technology-supported work is cooperative and embedded in organizational routines, and that clinical routines are embedded, sometimes inextricably, in other clinical and administrative routines. Fourth, innovation should generally occur incrementally and organically, with careful attention to technological and socio-cultural legacies. Finally, the institutional nature of infrastructure suggests that it is important to attend not just to standards but to where these standards come from, whose priorities and interests they represent, and whether there is sufficient leeway for them to be appropriately adapted to different local conditions.

Acknowledgments

We thank the staff and patients who participated in the VOCAL and SCALING UP VOCAL studies and members of the study steering groups, especially Mrs Jenni Bowley, who chaired these. Two experts provided truly outstanding constructively critical reviews and suggested additional references, which helped improve the paper. The VOCAL study was funded by the National Institute for Health Research Health Services and Delivery Research stream (HSDR 13/59/26). SCALING UP VOCAL was funded by the Health Foundation (to support extension of video consultations in England, and the scale-up award to TG, SS, and NHS partners). The salaries of JW and CP were partly funded by a Wellcome Trust Senior Investigator Award to TG (WT104830MA). TG's salary was partly funded by the Oxford National Institute for Health Research Biomedical Research Centre Partnerships for Health, Wealth, and Innovation theme (BRC-1215-20008) on which TG is principal investigator.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Star SL. Infrastructure and ethnographic practice: working on the fringes. Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems 2002;14(2):107-122 [FREE Full text]
- 2. Star SL. The Ethnography of Infrastructure. American Behavioral Scientist 2016 Jul 27;43(3):377-391. [doi: 10.1177/00027649921955326]
- 3. Detmer DE. Building the national health information infrastructure for personal health, health care services, public health, and research. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2003 Jan 06;3(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-3-1] [Medline: 12525262]
- 4. Friedman CP, Rubin JC, Sullivan KJ. Toward an Information Infrastructure for Global Health Improvement. Yearb Med Inform 2017 Aug 19;26(01):16-23. [doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1606526]
- 5. Sittig D, Singh H. A new socio-technical model for studying health information technology in complex adaptive healthcare systems. In: Cognitive informatics for biomedicine. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2015:59-80.
- 6. Grisot M, Hanseth O, Thorseng A. Innovation Of, In, On Infrastructures: Articulating the Role of Architecture in Information Infrastructure Evolution. JAIS 2014 Apr;15(4):197-219. [doi: 10.17705/1jais.00357]
- Greenhalgh T, Potts H, Wong G, Bark P, Swinglehurst D. Tensions and paradoxes in electronic patient record research: a systematic literature review using the meta-narrative method. Milbank Q 2009 Dec;87(4):729-788 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0009.2009.00578.x] [Medline: 20021585]
- 8. Symon G, Long K, Ellis J. The coordination of work activities: Cooperation and conflict in a hospital context. Comput Supported Coop Work 1996 Mar;5(1):1-31. [doi: 10.1007/bf00141934]
- 9. Horlach B, Drews P, Schirmer I. Bimodal IT: Business-IT alignment in the age of digital transformation. Multikonferenz Wirtschaftsinformatik (MKWI) 2016 Mar:1417-1428 [FREE Full text]

- 10. Shaw S, Wherton J, Vijayaraghavan S, Morris J, Bhattacharya S, Hanson P, et al. Advantages and limitations of virtual online consultations in a NHS acute trust: the VOCAL mixed-methods study. Health Services and Delivery Research 2018 Jun;6(21):2050-4537. [Medline: 29939519]
- 11. Ipsos MORI Research Institute, YHEC. NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG and NHS. 2019 May. Evaluation of Babylon GP at hand: Final Evaluation Report URL: <u>https://www.hammersmithfulhamccg.nhs.uk/media/156123/</u> Evaluation-of-Babylon-GP-at-Hand-Final-Report.pdf [accessed 2019-12-14]
- 12. Woolgar S, Lezaun J. The wrong bin bag: A turn to ontology in science and technology studies? Soc Stud Sci 2013 Jun 10;43(3):321-340. [doi: 10.1177/0306312713488820]
- 13. Lampland M, Star S. Standards and their stories: how quantifying, classifying, and formalizing practices shape everyday life. Ithaca: Cornell University Press; 2009.
- 14. Ellingsen G, Monteiro E. Seamless Integration: Standardisation across Multiple Local Settings. Comput Supported Coop Work 2006 Dec 12;15(5-6):443-466. [doi: 10.1007/s10606-006-9033-0]
- Greenhalgh T, Swinglehurst D. Studying technology use as social practice: the untapped potential of ethnography. BMC Med 2011 Apr 27;9:45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-45] [Medline: 21521535]
- 16. Fujimura J. Crafting science: Standardized packages, boundary objects, and "translation". In: Pickering A, editor. Science as Practice and Culture. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1992:168-211.
- 17. Berg M, Timmermans S. Orders and Their Others: On the Constitution of Universalities in Medical Work. Configurations 2000;8(1):31-61. [doi: 10.1353/con.2000.0001]
- 18. Hannerz U. Being there... and there... and there!. Ethnography 2016 Jul 24;4(2):201-216. [doi: 10.1177/14661381030042003]
- 19. Marcus G. Ethnography in/of the world system: The emergence of multi-sited ethnography. Annual review of anthropology 1995;24(1):95-117. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.anthro.24.1.95]
- 20. Feldman MS, Orlikowski WJ. Theorizing Practice and Practicing Theory. Organization Science 2011 Oct;22(5):1240-1253. [doi: 10.1287/orsc.1100.0612]
- 21. Orlikowski WJ. Sociomaterial Practices: Exploring Technology at Work. Organization Studies 2016 Jul;28(9):1435-1448. [doi: 10.1177/0170840607081138]
- 22. Tsoukas H, Vladimirou E. What is Organizational Knowledge? J Management Studs 2001 Nov;38(7):973-993. [doi: 10.1111/1467-6486.00268]
- 23. Howard-Grenville JA. The Persistence of Flexible Organizational Routines: The Role of Agency and Organizational Context. Organization Science 2005 Dec;16(6):618-636. [doi: 10.1287/orsc.1050.0150]
- 24. Maniatopoulos G, Procter R, Llewellyn S, Harvey G, Boyd A. Moving beyond local practice: reconfiguring the adoption of a breast cancer diagnostic technology. Soc Sci Med 2015 Apr;131:98-106. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.02.036</u>] [Medline: <u>25769108</u>]
- 25. Orlikowski WJ. The sociomateriality of organisational life: considering technology in management research. Cambridge Journal of Economics 2009 Nov 05;34(1):125-141. [doi: <u>10.1093/cje/bep058</u>]
- Hanseth O, Monteiro E. Changing irreversible networks. 1998 Presented at: ECIS; July; Aix-en-Provence p. 1123-1139. [doi: <u>10.1093/gmo/9781561592630.article.00371</u>]
- 27. Powell W, DiMaggio P. The New Institutionalism in Organizational Analysis. Chicago: University of Chicago Press; 1991.
- 28. Scott W. Institutions and organizations, 3rd edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2012.
- 29. March J, Olsen J. Rediscovering Institutions. The Organizational Basis of Politics. New York: Free Press; 1989.
- Greenhalgh T, Vijayaraghavan S, Wherton J, Shaw S, Byrne E, Campbell-Richards D, et al. Virtual online consultations: advantages and limitations (VOCAL) study. BMJ Open 2016 Jan 29;6(1):e009388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009388] [Medline: 26826147]
- Shaw S, Wherton J, Vijayaraghavan S, Morris J, Bhattacharya S, Hanson P, et al. Advantages and limitations of virtual online consultations in a NHS acute trust: the VOCAL mixed-methods study. Health Serv Deliv Res 2018 Jun;6(21):1-136. [doi: 10.3310/hsdr06210] [Medline: 29939519]
- Greenhalgh T, Shaw S, Wherton J, Vijayaraghavan S, Morris J, Bhattacharya S, et al. Real-World Implementation of Video Outpatient Consultations at Macro, Meso, and Micro Levels: Mixed-Method Study. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 17;20(4):e150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9897] [Medline: 29625956]
- 33. Latour B. Reassembling the social: an introduction to actor-network-theory. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press; 2007.
- 34. Clover B. Health Service Journal. 2017 Nov 29. Cyberattack costs trust £9.5m in lost income URL: <u>https://www.hsj.co.uk/</u> <u>barts-health-nhs-trust/cyberattack-costs-trust-95m-in-lost-income/7021176.article</u> [accessed 2019-12-14]
- 35. Orlikowski WJ, Yates J, Okamura K, Fujimoto M. Shaping Electronic Communication: The Metastructuring of Technology in the Context of Use. Organization Science 1995 Aug;6(4):423-444. [doi: <u>10.1287/orsc.6.4.423</u>]
- 36. Giddens A. The Constitution Of Society: Outline Of The Theory Of Structuration. Berkeley: University Of California Press; 1986.
- 37. Stones R. Structuration theory. Basingstoke: Palgrave-Macmillan; 2005.
- 38. Greenhalgh T, Stones R. Theorising big IT programmes in healthcare: strong structuration theory meets actor-network theory. Soc Sci Med 2010 May;70(9):1285-1294. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.12.034] [Medline: 20185218]

RenderX

- 39. Star SL, Strauss A. Layers of Silence, Arenas of Voice: The Ecology of Visible and Invisible Work. Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW) 1999 Mar;8(1-2):9-30. [doi: 10.1023/a:1008651105359]
- 40. Ramiller N, Pentland B. Management Implications in Information Systems Research: The Untold Story. JAIS 2009 Jun;10(6):474-494. [doi: 10.17705/1jais.00202]
- 41. Polkinghorne DE. Narrative Knowing And The Human Sciences. Albany, New York: State University Of New York Press; 1988.
- 42. Greenhalgh T, Hinder S, Stramer K, Bratan T, Russell J. Adoption, non-adoption, and abandonment of a personal electronic health record: case study of HealthSpace. BMJ 2010 Nov 16;341(nov16 1):c5814-c5814 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.c5814] [Medline: 21081595]
- 43. The Health Foundation. 2013 Mar 27. Health Secretary Jeremy Hunt commends innovative SHINE project URL: <u>https://www.health.org.uk/news/health-secretary-jeremy-hunt-commends-innovative-shine-project</u> [accessed 2019-08-03]
- 44. Novak LL, Anders S, Unertl KM, France DJ, Weinger MB. Improving the Effectiveness of Health Information Technology: The Case for Situational Analytics. Appl Clin Inform 2019 Aug 09;10(4):771-776. [doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1697594] [Medline: 31597183]
- 45. Batteau AW. Technological Peripheralization. Science, Technology, & Human Values 2009 Oct 27;35(4):554-574. [doi: 10.1177/0162243909345834]
- 46. Greenhalgh TD, Stones R, Swinglehurst D. Choose and Book: a sociological analysis of 'resistance' to an expert system. Soc Sci Med 2014 Mar;104:210-219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.12.014] [Medline: 24581080]
- 47. Berg M. On Distribution, Drift and the Electronic Medical Record. 1997 Presented at: Proceedings of the Fifth European Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work; 7-11 September; Lancaster, UK p. 141-156. [doi: 10.1007/978-94-015-7372-6_10]
- 48. Hartswood MJ, Procter RN, Rouchy P, Rouncefield M, Slack R, Voss A. Working IT Out in Medical Practice: IT Systems Design and Development as Co-Realisation. Methods Inf Med 2018 Feb 08;42(04):392-397. [doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1634235]
- 49. The King's Fund. 2019 Mar 07. Public satisfaction with the NHS and social care in 2018: Results from the British Social Attitudes survey URL: <u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/public-satisfaction-nhs-social-care-2018</u> [accessed 2019-08-12]
- 50. Cox A, Spiegelhalter K, Marangozov R, Hanlon J, Hex N, Gabbay M. Institute for Employment Studies. 2018 Mar. NHS Innovation Accelerator Evaluation URL: <u>https://www.employment-studies.co.uk/resource/</u> nhs-innovation-accelerator-evaluation [accessed 2019-12-14]
- 51. Richardson J. King's Fund warns that access must not trump other essential attributes of general practice. BMJ 2018 Jun 06;361:k2490. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.k2490] [Medline: 29875182]
- Rimmer A. Smartphone GP app service will divert funding from most needy, warns practice. BMJ 2018 Mar 05;360:k1045. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.k1045</u>] [Medline: <u>29506990</u>]
- 53. Ellingsen G, Monteiro E. Seamless Integration: Standardisation across Multiple Local Settings. Comput Supported Coop Work 2006 Dec 12;15(5-6):443-466. [doi: 10.1007/s10606-006-9033-0]
- 54. Orlikowski WJ, Iacono CS. Research Commentary: Desperately Seeking the "IT" in IT Research—A Call to Theorizing the IT Artifact. Information Systems Research 2001 Jun;12(2):121-134. [doi: <u>10.1287/isre.12.2.121.9700</u>]
- 55. Weick KE. Technology as equivoque: Sensemaking in new technologies. In: Goodman PS, Sproull LS, editors. The Jossey-Bass management series. Technology and organizations. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 1990:1-44.
- Novak LL, Anders S, Gadd CS, Lorenzi NM. Mediation of adoption and use: a key strategy for mitigating unintended consequences of health IT implementation. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012 Nov 01;19(6):1043-1049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000575] [Medline: 22634157]

Abbreviations

CPU: central processing unit ICT: information and communication technologies IT: information technology NHS: National Health Service TST: Transforming Services Together UAT: User Acceptance Testing VDI: virtual desktop infrastructure VOCAL: Virtual Online Consultations—Advantages and Limitations



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 02.09.19; peer-reviewed by G Maniatopoulos, L Novak; comments to author 09.11.19; revised version received 18.11.19; accepted 09.12.19; published 19.12.19.
<u>Please cite as:</u>
Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Shaw S, Papoutsi C, Vijayaraghavan S, Stones R
Infrastructure Revisited: An Ethnographic Case Study of how Health Information Infrastructure Shapes and Constrains Technological Innovation
J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16093
URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16093/
doi:10.2196/16093
PMID:31855184

©Trisha Greenhalgh, Joseph Wherton, Sara Shaw, Chrysanthi Papoutsi, Shanti Vijayaraghavan, Rob Stones. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 19.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

A Call for a Public Health Agenda for Social Media Research

Sherry Pagoto¹, PhD; Molly E Waring¹, PhD; Ran Xu¹, PhD

UConn Center for mHealth and Social Media, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT, United States

Corresponding Author:

Sherry Pagoto, PhD UConn Center for mHealth and Social Media University of Connecticut 2006 Hillside Road, Unit 1248, Room 22 Storrs, CT, 06268 United States Phone: 1 6178770923 Email: Sherry.Pagoto@uconn.edu

Abstract

Research has revealed both the benefits and harms of social media use, but the public has very little guidance on how best to use social media to maximize the benefits to their health and well-being while minimizing the potential harms. Given that social media is intricately embedded in our lives, and we now have an entire generation of social media natives, the time has come for a public health research agenda to guide not only the public's use of social media but also the design of social media platforms in ways that improve health and well-being. In this viewpoint we propose such a public health agenda for social media research that is framed around three broad questions: (1) How much social media use is unhealthy and what individual and contextual factors shape that relationship; (2) What are ways social media can be used to improve physical and mental well-being; and (3) How does health (mis)information spread, how does it shape attitudes, beliefs and behavior, and what policies or public health strategies are effective in disseminating legitimate health information while curbing the spread of health misinformation? We also discuss four key challenges that impede progress on this research agenda: negative sentiment about social media among the public and scientific community, a poorly regulated research landscape, poor access to social media data, and the lack of a cohesive academic field. Social media has revolutionized modern communication in ways that bring us closer to a global society, but we currently stand at an inflection point. A public health agenda for social media research will serve as a compass to guide us toward social media becoming a powerful tool for the public good.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16661) doi:10.2196/16661

KEYWORDS

social media; online social networks; health information; health communication

Introduction

Recent leaks of Facebook Chief Executive Officer (CEO) Mark Zuckerberg warning employees about the implications for Facebook if a top Democratic candidate became president resulted in yet another wave of negative press for the company [1], a continuing backlash initially provoked by a 2014 Facebook research study that manipulated user newsfeeds [2,3]. The hashtag "#deleteFacebook" often goes viral following these incidents, as angry users publicly vow to disconnect their accounts [4]. Despite the backlash, in 2019, the Pew Research Center reported no decline in Facebook users over this period [5]. Although many people seemingly have serious concerns about Facebook and other social media platforms, social media bring a particular value to people's lives that make us reluctant to disconnect. To the extent that people enjoy and even depend

RenderX

on the community and resources that social media bring to their lives, disconnecting may be felt like more of a loss than a gain. We know surprisingly little about the value that social media bring to people's lives.

Social media is a burgeoning area of study in the field of public health; however, much research covered in the popular media has focused on its harms [6-9]. Persistent negative headlines drive a narrative about social media that likely deteriorates public sentiment. To be sure, enough research has been conducted to know that some uses of social media are indeed harmful, but the public has very little guidance on how to modify their use to maximize the benefits to health and well-being while minimizing the potential harms. Given that social media are intricately embedded into our lives and we now have an entire generation of social media natives, the time has come to create a public health research agenda to guide the use and design of

social media in ways that improve health and well-being. In this viewpoint, we propose such a public health agenda for social media research that is framed around three broad questions (Textbox 1):

- How much social media use is unhealthy, and what individual and contextual factors shape that relationship?
- What are the ways social media can be used to improve physical and mental well-being?
- How does health (mis)information spread, how does it shape attitudes, beliefs, and behavior, and what policies or public health strategies are effective in disseminating legitimate health information while curbing the spread of health misinformation?

Textbox 1. A public health agenda for social media research: three areas of inquiry and specific research questions.

- 1. How much social media use is unhealthy, and what individual and contextual factors shape that relationship?
 - Which social media activities lead to positive versus adverse health outcomes?
 - What are the individual and contextual determinants of social media use leading to positive versus adverse health outcomes?
 - What factors predict change in time spent in health-promoting versus harm-promoting social media activities?
 - What is the impact of change in time spent in health-promoting versus harm-promoting social media activities on health outcomes?
 - How can we develop more granular measures that capture users' time spent engaging in specific social media activities?
- 2. What are the ways social media can be used to improve physical and mental well-being?
 - What is the impact of health-related initiatives led by social media platforms and public health organizations?
 - What strategies are most effective in generating meaningful patient engagement (ie, the type of engagement that leads to healthy changes in knowledge, attitudes, and behavior) in online communities?
 - What factors influence whether health-related advocacy on social media is efficacious at shifting public attitudes or influencing the development and implementation of public health policy?
 - How can commercial platforms and public health organizations harness effective social media interventions in scalable ways that can impact public health?
- 3. How does health (mis)information spread, how does it shape attitudes, beliefs, and behavior, and what policies or public health strategies are effective in disseminating legitimate health information while curbing the spread of health misinformation?
 - What are the characteristics of health misinformation and disinformation, of their messengers, and the means they are using to do so?
 - How do we characterize the social bot and troll ecosystem around health-related messaging and how it evolves?
 - What are the characteristics of accurate health information messages that spread on social media, and how do these spread?
 - Who are the audiences of health-related organizations' social media feeds, and to what extent does their messaging reach people who are at the highest risk for the target health condition?
 - What are the characteristics of social media spaces in which health misinformation and disinformation are rare, and how has that occurred?
 - How does legitimate health information shared on social media impact attitudes, beliefs, and behavior, and how does this compare to the impact of health misinformation and disinformation?
 - How do the characteristics of both the messenger and the message recipient affect message receptivity?
 - What are effective health literacy education programs that can decrease susceptibility to health misinformation and disinformation?
 - How do we develop effective counter-messaging to health misinformation and disinformation that adapts to the evolving challenges of the modern social media landscape?

Public Health Agenda for Social Media Research

How Much Social Media Use Is Unhealthy and What Individual and Contextual Factors Shape That Relationship?

Although studies demonstrating an association between greater social media use and poor health outcomes (eg, depression, loneliness, poor body image) [10-13] are plentiful and make for popular headlines, the literature on social media use and well-being is quite mixed [14]. Indeed, a recent meta-analysis of 31 studies found that higher social media use was associated

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16661/
```

with more significant online and offline social support [15]. Nonlinear relationships have also been observed such that both heavy and no social media usage have predicted worse mental health. Increasingly studies are pointing to moderating variables that influence the relationship between social media use and health-related outcomes [16,17]. At this point, studies that report simple associations between time spent broadly on social media and a specific health outcome do little to advance our knowledge about the impact of social media use on health [18]. More research on specific types of social media activities, the individual and contextual determinants of these activities, and how they lead to positive versus adverse health outcomes is now very much needed [19]. Further, longitudinal studies that

identify factors that predict change in time spent in health-promoting versus harm-promoting social media activities and the impact of changes in time spent in these activities on health outcomes would create knowledge that could inform public health guidelines [19].

Given how little we know about how to define the boundaries of problematic social media use, it is premature to devise solutions to curb it. Nevertheless, solutions are being proposed, most of which involve calls to limit social media use [20]. Notably, Senator Josh Hawley proposed the Social Media Addiction Reduction Technology (SMART) Act [21]. If it is passed, it will ban social media platform features assumed to promote compulsive use, such as infinite scrolling and autoplay, while requiring platforms to include features that implement time limits. However, little research has explored whether infinite scrolling and autoplay features negatively impact users.

Further, encouraging time limits on social media usage overlooks that not all users have negative experiences on social media, and not all social media uses are inherently harmful. Policy and public health recommendations that focus on quantity instead of quality essentially equate a patient spending 6 hours a week engaging with her cancer Facebook group to help her cope with treatment to a cyberbully spending the same amount of time harassing classmates on Snapchat. Evidence-based guidelines are needed to prevent real harm that can result from discouraging or shaming social media use in people whose well-being is enriched by, or even dependent upon, their social media activities.

New self-report measures are emerging that allow researchers to assess the degree to which one's social media experiences are negative or positive [22,23]. Tools like this could be useful as we attempt to understand which specific uses are associated with negative and positive experiences and health outcomes. More objective and granular measures that capture time spent engaging in specific social media activities, such as engaging with a particular Facebook feed or group, are also needed to advance the research agenda. Currently, no such tools exist [24]. While self-reported measures are easy to administer, self-reported estimates of time spent in activities that are brief, unplanned, and unstructured (such as typical social media use [25]) are less accurate compared to estimates of time spent in more structured and prolonged activities, such as time spent working or commuting [24]. While there are software programs and mobile tools that track time spent using Facebook via a mobile app or web browser on a computer (eg, Screen Time [iPhone], Stay Free app [Android]) [26], these tools do not capture use across multiple devices. Software-tracked time also does not capture how much time the participant spent engaging in different activities. Until new tools to objectively measure specific social media use becomes available, ecological momentary assessment could be leveraged to track time spent engaging in specific social media uses, along with factors such as positive and negative affect, body dissatisfaction, sense of belonging, and loneliness, to provide insights into the relationship between specific uses and these outcomes. This approach could also be leveraged in interventions in which users self-monitor their social media activities and these factors,

XSL•FO

receive feedback about these relationships and set goals that maximize positive uses while minimizing negative uses.

What Are Ways Social Media Can Be Used to Improve Physical and Mental Well-Being?

Some commercial social media platforms are investing in health-related tools that have promising public health implications. For example, Facebook partnered with the American Blood Centers and the American Red Cross to produce a blood donation tool that alerts users to blood supply shortages in their area and notifies them of locations where they can donate [27]. Also, Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, and Twitter all provide suicide hotline information to users who use suicide-related search terms. Pinterest removed antivaccine content on its platform and adopted a policy where vaccine-related searches produce health information from leading public health organizations [28]. Related, Facebook and Instagram reduced the ranking of groups and pages that spread misinformation about vaccines, rejected ads for vaccine-related misinformation, and provided pop-ups for searchers using vaccine-related search terms [29]. YouTube has pulled ads from videos containing antivaccine content to prevent sites from monetizing this content [30]. That commercial social media platforms are taking actions to improve public health is a promising trend. Very little research has explored the impact of these initiatives, most of which are very new. Facebook offers research awards on specific topics [31], but the public health community should attempt to shape their agenda. As is beginning to occur in the social sciences [32], partnerships between commercial platforms and public health scientists are needed to research the impact of these initiatives and to inform the development of new public health initiatives.

Users are also discovering unique ways to leverage social media to improve their health. Online patient communities have proliferated on social media as a way for patients to connect with one another on specific health topics. "Peer-to-peer healthcare," a term coined in 2011 by Susannah Fox at the Pew Research Center, refers to patients using social media to connect with other patients about their health [33]. Online patient communities have organically formed on nearly all social media platforms. They are often patient-initiated, patient-moderated, and open forum, meaning conversation threads can be initiated by members as they wish. Research has begun to examine online patient communities, and the benefits members gain from participation. For example, a review of 47 studies of online diabetes communities on multiple platforms found evidence for positive clinical, behavioral, psychosocial, and community outcomes, and very few negative outcomes [34]. A survey study of a breast cancer community on Twitter found that 80.9% of respondents reported that participation increased their breast cancer knowledge, 66% learned of clinical trial opportunities, 31% learned information that led them to seek a second opinion, 71.9% reported being inspired to increase their advocacy efforts, and 67% of those with high anxiety about their diagnosis reported declines in anxiety [35].

Online patient communities may even impact health care costs. A longitudinal study of new enrollees of HealthUnlocked, a collection of online patient communities in the United Kingdom,

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16661/

revealed declines in emergency room visits [36]. Much more research is needed to fully understand the range of benefits people experience in these communities and how to amplify beneficial experiences. This research faces logistical and ethical challenges because many online communities are private, and the sheer size of them makes obtaining informed consent from all members difficult and unlikely. Further, the presence of researchers may not be desirable in spaces created by patients for patients [37]. For this reason, a community-based participatory research model, adapted for online communities, may be needed to create partnerships. Nevertheless, researchers must establish the value proposition for online community leaders and members to engage with them.

Online patient communities are used not only for peer-to-peer support but also for advocacy efforts. Donna Helm Regen, moderator of the Pull the Plug on Tanning Beds Facebook page [38], lost her daughter, a tanning bed user, to melanoma before the dangers of tanning beds were well-publicized. She uses her Facebook page to inform the public about the harms of tanning beds and advocate for tanning bed legislation, often in partnership with nonprofit organizations and other advocacy groups with whom she has connected with on social media. Her efforts afforded her opportunities to make a national public service announcement [39] and to testify at state legislative hearings supporting tanning legislation. Social media give grassroots health advocacy efforts a platform to shore up support for their cause. This is another example of how encouraging arbitrary social media use limits may inadvertently squelch important public health efforts. People have discovered ways to use social media to impact their health, their community's health, and public health, much of which has gone entirely unstudied. Research on what makes these efforts work and how to enhance their efficacy is needed to strengthen their impact on changing individual behavior, shifting public attitudes, and influencing public health policy.

Patients are not the only ones creating online health communities. Researchers have begun to create online patient communities to implement and evaluate the efficacy of social media-delivered behavioral interventions and public health campaigns [40]. Typically, investigators will start a private online forum on a commercial social media platform (eg, private Facebook group), recruit members of a target population to join the group, host a feed that delivers behavioral intervention or public health messaging for some time, and then measure outcomes. Often these programs employ a health care professional or health coach as a moderator. Systematic reviews of studies evaluating such interventions for weight management [41], smoking [42], HIV testing [43], and cancer prevention [44] reveal promising outcomes. These online communities provide the benefit of both peer-to-peer support and evidence-based health information. However, this model has drawbacks. Researcher-derived communities are smaller than online patient communities in the real world, which raises concerns about scalability. They are also time-limited, which necessitates aggressive engagement strategies to strengthen ties between members of the community.

Further, we know of no examples of evidence-based social media interventions having been implemented in a real-world

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16661/
```

Pagoto et al

setting. Many nonprofit public health organizations have online patient communities, but do not provide health promotion interventions within those communities, which presents an opportunity for partnerships with intervention researchers. The closest example is the Truth Initiative's "Become an Ex" community for smokers [45]. Their platform provides evidence-based online resources for smoking cessation that community members can use to assist their attempts to quit. Much research is needed to examine how to generate meaningful patient engagement in online communities and how to scale these models for implementation at the community or population level [46].

The promising data emerging about the health benefits of online patient communities support the notion that online social interactions that occur in tighter-knit communities created based on shared life experiences may have the most potential to impact health and well-being. A movement towards a tighter community-focused model of social media appears to be afoot at Facebook and Instagram. In March 2019, CEO Mark Zuckerberg announced [47]:

Over the last 15 years, Facebook and Instagram have helped people connect with friends, communities, and interests in the digital equivalent of a town square. But people increasingly also want to connect privately in the digital equivalent of the living room. As I think about the future of the internet, I believe a privacy-focused communications platform will become even more important than today's open platforms. Privacy gives people the freedom to be themselves and connect more naturally, which is why we build social networks.

To the extent that social media use shifts toward private forums built around shared life experiences, the quality of interactions and impact on well-being is likely to improve, which may, by design, diminish negative experiences. Research should inform the type of shift in platform features, tools, and design needed to shape users' experiences in this way.

How Does Health (Mis)information Spread, how Does It Shape Attitudes, Beliefs and Behavior, and What Policies or Public Health Strategies Are Effective in Disseminating Legitimate Health Information While Curbing the Spread of Health Misinformation?

Overview

Long before the term "fake news" was coined, concerns were expressed regarding the veracity of health claims online and elsewhere [48]. Bogus health claims come in two forms: misinformation and disinformation. Health misinformation refers to information that is false and spread by someone who believes it to be true, whereas health disinformation refers to information that is false and spread by someone aware it is false and is intent on misleading people [49]. The volume of both on social media has grown into a public health epidemic [50]. While research is nascent on strategies to combat this problem, a multi-prong approach is needed, including curbing its spread, inoculating people against false messages, and developing effective counter-messaging. Tackling this complex and urgent

XSL•FO RenderX

public health problem will require an interdisciplinary research agenda.

Curbing the Spread of Health Misinformation

To curb the spread of health misinformation and disinformation on social media, we must first have the means to identify three things: (1) false messaging; (2) messengers who spread them and the reasons why (ie, misinformation or disinformation); and (3) the means they are using to do so. While studies of health misinformation on social media have covered a variety of health topics, including infectious disease (eg, vaccines [51], antibiotics [52], cancer [53,54], electronic cigarettes [55], eating disorders [56,57], and nutrition [58,59]), a recent systematic review of 57 health misinformation studies revealed this area of work is dominated by infectious disease studies [60]. This review reported that the most common purveyors of health misinformation appear to be from people with no institutional affiliations.

Studies of "social bot" activity reveal that these accounts flood the conversation on particular health topics [61, 62]. Social bots are social media accounts designed to appear to be manned by a human, but they are automated to put forth or respond to content in specific ways [63]. Not all social bot accounts have nefarious intentions, with some instead serving helpful purposes, such as content aggregation [63] or gamifying health challenges [40]. Trolls are accounts operated by humans who are intentionally disruptive towards others and may or may not be compensated for doing so [64]. One study of antivaccination content spread by "social bots" and "trolls" found that these accounts are pervasive and designed to create false equivalency and sow discord about vaccines [61]. Social bot and troll accounts rapidly proliferate, which gives them extraordinary power to flood social media with messaging in ways that convey the false sense that a certain message is popular or well-accepted [63]. The use of social bots to conduct misinformation campaigns may be one reason health misinformation (and disinformation) is so much more plentiful on social media than legitimate health information [60].

Commercial platforms have developed algorithms to identify the nefarious activities of bots and trolls, to reduce these activities and delete their accounts [65]; however, new accounts designed to circumvent the algorithms eventually emerge, making for a seemingly never-ending cat and mouse game [63]. Troll accounts are exceptionally resistant to algorithm detection, being manned by real people who may be paid to do so [64]. Surveillance studies are needed to understand the bot and troll ecosystem around health-related messaging and how it is evolving. Further, while social bots have been used for ill-intentions, research should examine how they may be used for good. For example, as part of an anti-bullying public service announcement, Monica Lewinsky released the "Goodness Bot," a Twitter account that, when mentioned in reply to a bullying tweet, responds with a positive message [66].

Research is also needed to improve our understanding of how legitimate health information is produced and spreads on social media. When it comes to health misinformation, a strong defense may require a strong offense. Many public health departments and nonprofit organizations use social media to disseminate

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16661/
```

health messaging. A study of state public health departments revealed that most have a social media presence [67]. Another study specifically focusing on state public health departments' use of video-based messaging found that 43/51 departments have YouTube channels with a total of 6302 subscribers, 3957 videos, and 12,151,720 views [68]. Most large, health-related, nonprofit organizations also have a social media presence. A study of 24 of the largest nonprofit skin cancer organizations' Facebook feeds found that the organizations had a collective total of 225,113 followers and in one year produced 824 posts that received 92,004 likes, 4148 comments, and 82,791 shares [69]. Interestingly, the message types that received the most shares were fear appeals and myth busters. While these organizations seem to be producing impressive reach, it is unclear how these numbers compare to the reach of health misinformation on the same topics. For example, a recent study of 1000 tweets using the words "tanning bed" and "tanning salon" revealed that most were made by tanners expressing positive sentiment about tanning, with only 4.3% of the tweets containing health warnings [70]. This suggests that skin cancer organizations messaging may not be penetrating social media spaces where people at risk are discussing their habits. More research is needed to understand the audiences of health-related organizations' social media feeds, the extent to which their messaging reaches people who are at highest risk for the target health condition, and the impact of their messaging on attitudes, beliefs, and behavior. Research is also needed to inform health organizations' social media-messaging content strategy.

While health misinformation and disinformation may be abundant in some spaces on social media, we do not know much about the social media spaces that have very little and how that has occurred. For example, a review of online diabetes communities revealed very low rates of health misinformation [34]. This suggests that health misinformation is not a given in online spaces where patients connect but instead may have the tendency to flourish under specific circumstances. Some communities may self-police health misinformation, but how effective they are depends on their ability to identify it. Moderators of online patient communities, who are essentially a self-appointed army of volunteer community health workers, have very little training and guidance on how to identify and stem health misinformation, but many are likely motivated to do so. Public health researchers can inform the work of moderators, but we see few examples so far of such partnerships.

Health Misinformation Inoculation

Inoculating the public against health misinformation (and disinformation) requires an understanding of whether and how they influence attitudes, beliefs, and behavior, and who is susceptible to being duly influenced. The mere existence of health misinformation on certain topics does not necessarily mean it is changing people's attitudes and behavior, and the same goes for legitimate health information. However, exposure to health misinformation may strengthen preexisting misinformed beliefs. Some evidence suggests that users seek out messaging and online communities that confirm their preexisting beliefs [51]. That said, certain message characteristics may influence message effectiveness. Recent measles outbreaks strongly suggest that antivaccination

XSL•FO RenderX

messages have had an impact on beliefs and behavior [71,72]. These messages often stoke fear or leverage conspiracy theories, which we know to be particularly effective message strategies [73]. Message effectiveness also depends on the characteristics of the messenger and the recipient. Transportation theory suggests that narrative messages are particularly powerful at affecting beliefs, attitudes, and behavior to the extent that people identify with the person sharing their story [74]. Research on the extent to which misinformed narratives versus health misinformation conveyed in other forms (eg, links) is more powerful for affecting message recipients is needed. Chou and colleagues at the National Cancer Institute have called for research into how characteristics of both the messenger and the message recipient affect message receptivity [75].

Scientists, health care professionals, and medical journal editors have been called on to be messengers of evidence-based health information [76]; however, they have little evidence-based guidance on how to do so. One study of the impact of scientist demeanor on message credibility revealed that scientists exhibiting hostility in a debate were found to be less credible and trustworthy [77]. Knowledge about the complex relationships between message, messenger, and recipient is necessary to inform strategies that inoculate people against health misinformation. Finally, health literacy training is an inoculation strategy that may be useful in primary to post-secondary educational settings [75,78]. Low health literacy has been shown to affect how people evaluate health information they encounter online [79]. Given the volume of health information on social media (and the internet in general), children and adults alike require skills for sorting, vetting, and processing this information, as well as an understanding of how cognitive biases affect information processing. Research on health literacy education that effectively decreases susceptibility to online health misinformation is much needed.

Developing Effective Counter-Messaging

Some, albeit limited, research has focused on developing effective counter-messaging. For example, one study found that platform-based warnings such as "this tweet may contain misinformation" decreased the likelihood of the post being shared [80]. Similarly, another study revealed that misinformation correction by platforms and peers reduced misperceptions [81]. A significant challenge to developing effective counter-messaging is that some groups may be especially resistant to it, such as those who have already strongly embraced misinformation. Individual characteristics, such as the sunk cost investment in the misinformation (eg, time and resources spent disseminating it), the negative consequences of changing positions (eg, embarrassment, loss of community/social capital, shame about harm that may have occurred from action or inaction relating to the misinformation), and literacy, likely affect resistance [60]. Researchers focused on developing counter-messaging campaigns should leverage the expertise of human computing interaction and social media marketing experts who can help guide design and dissemination strategies that are best matched to the social media platform. A great need exists to update traditional health communication theories and strategies that were not informed by the unique

form of communication afforded by social media and the ever-evolving challenges of the modern social media landscape.

Challenges to a Public Health Agenda for Social Media Research

Overview

Four key challenges constrain progress on a public health agenda for social media research: (1) negative sentiment about social media and villainization of social media companies among the public and scientific community; (2) a poorly regulated research landscape; (3) inadequate access to social media data; and (4) lack of a cohesive academic field.

Negative Sentiment

Negative public sentiment about social media may be part of society's general tendency to push back on new technology, a phenomenon that has a long history [82]. To be sure, scandals involving how social media companies handle privacy and data access have amplified the public response. The consequences of a persistently negative narrative are that it makes it difficult to shore up support for healthy solutions, which may result in an abrupt dismissal of signs of progress. To the extent that the academic community adopts a defeatist view about social media, we may squander our opportunity to shape the social media landscape in ways that improve public health.

Poorly Regulated Research Landscape

Research involving social media platforms is emerging rapidly in a poorly regulated landscape [83]. Federal guidelines for the ethical conduct of research do not specifically address the unique ethical challenges of working with social media data [84]. As such, scientists and institutional review boards (IRBs) have little guidance for addressing the ethical, legal, and social implications of social media data use. A qualitative study of university IRB members revealed concerns that investigators do not adequately describe potential risks or have clear plans to minimize risks in IRB applications, IRB members often do not have the knowledge to review such protocols adequately, and that IRBs are having difficulty keeping pace with rapidly changing technologies used in research [85].

As discussed in two recent reviews [86,87], privacy, confidentiality, and informed consent are key ethical issues in social media research [88-90], though specific ethical considerations differ across study types (eg, surveillance, surveys or interviews, interventions) [91]. While not all research involving social media data meet the federal definition of human subjects research, and thus do not require informed consent, researchers still need to be aware that users may not realize that their public social media content can be used in research studies and may prefer that it not be used this way [88]. Even though use agreements address the potential for public social media content to be used in research and otherwise, the majority of users accept lengthy, difficult-to-read, use agreements without reading or understanding how their data can be accessed and used [92]. Standard rules and protocols to guide social media data use, as well as data sharing between industry and academia, are needed and must be rigorous in terms of privacy and data security. One collaborative working towards this goal is

XSL•FO

ReCODE Health [93], an academic group that has created a community for resource-sharing (eg, sample IRB documents) and education about the protection of human subjects [94]. For studies that require informed consent, we encourage researchers to add detailed information about the procedures for the collection, storage, and analysis of social media data [89]. For studies involving publicly posted content, we suggest researchers refrain from including exact quotes, which can be traced back to users in ways that could have the potential for harm [88-90].

Data Access

Access to much social media data is limited, including both public data and data that users give researchers consent to access. Following the Cambridge Analytica scandal, Facebook and Instagram changed their application program interfaces (APIs) to restrict data access by third parties [95]. While restricting data access seems to be a plausible solution, it also limits how data can be used for the public good. Furthermore, frequent changes to data access rules require researchers to face the exorbitant costs of acquiring data from third party applications that are agile to API changes but typically geared for commercial use. Such tools also add another layer of risk for privacy breach. When data access changes during a research study, it can compromise the ability to answer key research questions, forcing researchers to redesign studies midstream or compromise research quality.

Facebook's partnership with Social Science One, an organization designed to facilitate academic-industry partnerships "to advance the goals of social science in understanding and solving society's great challenges," [96] is a promising example of how such partnerships can work [97]. Social Science One has developed an industry-academic partnership model that is designed to navigate barriers to data access, such as consumer privacy, trade secrets, and proprietary content, within a structure that is committed to securing the trust of the academic community and the general public [32]. Facebook partnered with Social Science One to allow scientists to access Facebook data to study how social media influences democracy. Progress has moved slowly [98], and results of the partnership remain to be seen, but this effort is the first of its kind to tackle the challenges of academic-industry partnerships involving social media data.

The barriers to access to social data by academic researchers is deeply troubling. Academic researchers have limited ability to conduct rigorous research that could change the way people use social media for the better. Technology and marketing companies have a greater ability to afford and access social media data, face fewer regulations, and have less oversight, particularly as it relates to protecting users. Companies also monetize this data in ways that are not transparent to the public [78]. More research is critically needed to develop new business models and technologies to protect user privacy while facilitating collaboration and data sharing between industry and academia [99].

Lack of a Cohesive Academic Field

Social media research has flourished in recent years, but a cohesive field has not yet emerged to bring this scientific community together. A cocitation analysis of 121 journals that have been cited at least five times in studies of health misinformation on social media revealed four disciplinary psychology/communication, social clusters: general science/medicine, infectious disease/vaccine and public health, and medical internet and biomedical science [60]. While the breadth of fields involved in this research is encouraging, several important fields are missing, including human computing interface, engineering, data science, and computer science. The researchers also found limited cross-citations between the psychology/communication cluster and the general science and medicine cluster, suggesting that researchers in different silos may not be exposed to each other's work. The lack of a scientific field not only disperses this research across disparate journals but also across myriad scientific conferences, which provides few opportunities for scientists doing this work to build collaborations. Scientific networking opportunities are needed, as well as more transdisciplinary training programs. For example, public health training programs that offer coursework in analytic approaches, such as machine learning, natural language processing, and social network analyses, would better equip public health scientists to do this work; just as ethics, social science, health communications, and health policy coursework could better equip computer scientists, engineers, and data scientists to do this work.

Discussion

Social media has revolutionized modern communication in ways that bring us closer to a global society than ever before. How social media has been used thus far reflects the full range of human proclivities. However, we have the power to shape its course. The field of public health is an obvious leader in the charge to inform the use and design of social media to benefit public good. We put forth a public health agenda for social media research, not to be exhaustive, but to start a dialogue about the need for such an agenda. Other areas of research to be further explored include public health surveillance with social media data, social media marketing of healthy and unhealthy products, behavioral pattern analysis, social-behavioral biometrics, and pharmacoepidemiology, to name a few. Federal funding agencies can take the lead in shaping the course of this work by prioritizing it in their strategic plan and among their funding opportunities. The vast range of uses of social media data speak to the need to finally convene an interdisciplinary scientific field devoted to public health social media research.

Acknowledgments

Support was provided by NIH grants K24HL124366 and R34HL136979.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Newton C. The Verge. 2019 Oct 01. All Hands on Deck URL: <u>https://www.theverge.com/2019/10/1/20756701/</u> mark-zuckerberg-facebook-leak-audio-ftc-antitrust-elizabeth-warren-tiktok-comments [accessed 2019-11-25]
- 2. Goel V. The New York Times. 2014 Jun 29. Facebook Tinkers With Users' Emotions in News Feed Experiment, Stirring Outcry URL: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2014/06/30/technology/</u>
- facebook-tinkers-with-users-emotions-in-news-feed-experiment-stirring-outcry.html [accessed 2019-12-12]
- Kramer ADI, Guillory JE, Hancock JT. Experimental evidence of massive-scale emotional contagion through social networks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014 Jun 17;111(24):8788-8790 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1320040111] [Medline: 24889601]
- 4. Gilbert B. Business Insider. 2019 Jul 25. Want to get rid of Facebook for Good? Here's how to do it URL: <u>https://www.businessinsider.com/how-to-delete-facebook-2018-3</u> [accessed 2019-11-25]
- 5. Perrin A, Anderson M. Pew Research Center. 2019 Apr 10. Share of U.S. adults using social media, including Facebook, is mostly unchanged since 2018 URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/04/10/</u>
- <u>share-of-u-s-adults-using-social-media-including-facebook-is-mostly-unchanged-since-2018/</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
 Woods HC, Scott H. #Sleepyteens: Social media use in adolescence is associated with poor sleep quality, anxiety, depression and low self-esteem. J Adolesc 2016 Aug;51:41-49. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.05.008</u>] [Medline: <u>27294324</u>]
- Hunt MG, Marx R, Lipson C, Young J. No More FOMO: Limiting Social Media Decreases Loneliness and Depression. Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology 2018 Dec;37(10):751-768. [doi: 10.1521/jscp.2018.37.10.751]
- 8. Oyeyemi SO, Gabarron E, Wynn R. Ebola, Twitter, and misinformation: a dangerous combination? BMJ 2014 Oct 14;349:g6178. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.g6178] [Medline: 25315514]
- 9. Kata A. Anti-vaccine activists, Web 2.0, and the postmodern paradigm--an overview of tactics and tropes used online by the anti-vaccination movement. Vaccine 2012 May 28;30(25):3778-3789. [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.11.112] [Medline: 22172504]
- Rounsefell K, Gibson S, McLean S, Blair M, Molenaar A, Brennan L, et al. Social media, body image and food choices in healthy young adults: A mixed methods systematic review. Nutr Diet 2019 Oct 03:1. [doi: <u>10.1111/1747-0080.12581</u>] [Medline: <u>31583837</u>]
- Marino C, Gini G, Vieno A, Spada MM. The associations between problematic Facebook use, psychological distress and well-being among adolescents and young adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord 2018 Jan 15;226:274-281. [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.007] [Medline: 29024900]
- 12. Primack BA, Shensa A, Sidani JE, Whaite EO, Lin LY, Rosen D, et al. Social Media Use and Perceived Social Isolation Among Young Adults in the U.S. Am J Prev Med 2017 Jul;53(1):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.01.010] [Medline: 28279545]
- Twenge J, Joiner T, Rogers M, Martin G. Increases in Depressive Symptoms, Suicide-Related Outcomes, and Suicide Rates Among U.S. Adolescents After 2010 and Links to Increased New Media Screen Time. Clinical Psychological Science 2017 Nov 14;6(1):3-17. [doi: 10.1177/2167702617723376]
- 14. Muench F, Hayes M, Kuerbis A, Shao S. The independent relationship between trouble controlling Facebook use, time spent on the site and distress. J Behav Addict 2015 Sep;4(3):163-169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1556/2006.4.2015.013] [Medline: 26551906]
- 15. Liu D, Ainsworth SE, Baumeister RF. A Meta-Analysis of Social Networking Online and Social Capital. Review of General Psychology 2016 Dec;20(4):369-391. [doi: 10.1037/gpr0000091]
- Cole DA, Nick EA, Varga G, Smith D, Zelkowitz RL, Ford MA, et al. Are Aspects of Twitter Use Associated with Reduced Depressive Symptoms? The Moderating Role of In-Person Social Support. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2019 Nov;22(11):692-699. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2019.0035</u>] [Medline: <u>31697601</u>]
- 17. Martinez-Pecino R, Garcia-Gavilán M. Likes and Problematic Instagram Use: The Moderating Role of Self-Esteem. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2019 Jun;22(6):412-416. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2018.0701] [Medline: 31107106]
- 18. Kuss DJ, Griffiths MD. Social Networking Sites and Addiction: Ten Lessons Learned. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017 Mar 17;14(3):311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph14030311] [Medline: 28304359]
- Valkenburg PM, Koutamanis M, Vossen HGM. The concurrent and longitudinal relationships between adolescents' use of social network sites and their social self-esteem. Comput Human Behav 2017 Nov;76:35-41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.07.008] [Medline: 29104364]
- Council on Communications and Media. Media Use in School-Aged Children and Adolescents. Pediatrics 2016 Nov 21;138(5):e20162592 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2592] [Medline: 27940794]
- 21. Social Media Addiction Reduction Technology Act. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.hawley.senate.gov/sites/default/files/2019-07/</u> Social-Media-Addiction-Reduction-Technology-Act.pdf [accessed 2019-11-25]

RenderX

- 22. Kent de Grey RG, Uchino BN, Baucom BR, Smith TW, Holton AE, Diener EF. Enemies and friends in high-tech places: the development and validation of the Online Social Experiences Measure. Digit Health 2019;5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207619878351] [Medline: 31579526]
- 23. Andreassen CS, Torsheim T, Brunborg GS, Pallesen S. Development of a Facebook Addiction Scale. Psychol Rep 2012 Apr;110(2):501-517. [doi: 10.2466/02.09.18.PR0.110.2.501-517] [Medline: 22662404]
- 24. Sonnenberg B, Riediger M, Wrzus C, Wagner GG. Measuring time use in surveys Concordance of survey and experience sampling measures. Soc Sci Res 2012 Sep;41(5):1037-1052. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.03.013</u>] [Medline: <u>23017916</u>]
- 25. Junco R. Too much face and not enough books: The relationship between multiple indices of Facebook use and academic performance. Computers in Human Behavior 2012 Jan;28(1):187-198. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2011.08.026]
- 26. Revilla M, Ochoa C, Loewe G. Using Passive Data From a Meter to Complement Survey Data in Order to Study Online Behavior. Social Science Computer Review 2016 Mar 17;35(4):521-536. [doi: 10.1177/0894439316638457]
- 27. Budaraju H. Facebook. 2019 Jun 12. Helping Increase Blood Donations in the US URL: <u>https://newsroom.fb.com/news/</u>2019/06/us-blood-donations/ [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 28. Ozoma I. Pinterest Newsroom. 2019 Aug 28. Bringing authoritative vaccine results to Pinterest search URL: <u>https://newsroom.pinterest.com/en/post/bringing-authoritative-vaccine-results-to-pinterest-search</u> [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 29. Bickert M. Facebook. 2019 Mar 07. Combatting Vaccine Misinformation URL: <u>https://newsroom.fb.com/news/2019/03/</u> combatting-vaccine-misinformation/ [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 30. YouTube Help. 2019 Jun. Advertiser-friendly content guidelines URL: <u>https://support.google.com/youtube/answer/6162278?hl=en</u> [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 31. Facebook Research. 2019. Research Awards URL: <u>https://research.fb.com/programs/research-awards/</u>[accessed 2019-12-12]
- 32. King G, Persily N. A New Model for Industry–Academic Partnerships. APSC 2019 Aug 19:1-7. [doi: 10.1017/S1049096519001021]
- 33. Fox S. Pew Research Center. 2011 Feb 28. Peer-to-Peer Health Care URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2011/02/</u>28/peer-to-peer-health-care-2/ [accessed 2019-12-12]
- Litchman ML, Walker HR, Ng AH, Wawrzynski SE, Oser SM, Greenwood DA, et al. State of the Science: A Scoping Review and Gap Analysis of Diabetes Online Communities. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019 May;13(3):466-492. [doi: 10.1177/1932296819831042] [Medline: 30854884]
- Attai DJ, Cowher MS, Al-Hamadani M, Schoger JM, Staley AC, Landercasper J. Twitter Social Media is an Effective Tool for Breast Cancer Patient Education and Support: Patient-Reported Outcomes by Survey. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 30;17(7):e188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4721] [Medline: 26228234]
- Costello RE, Anand A, Jameson Evans M, Dixon WG. Associations Between Engagement With an Online Health Community and Changes in Patient Activation and Health Care Utilization: Longitudinal Web-Based Survey. J Med Internet Res 2019 Aug 29;21(8):e13477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13477] [Medline: 31469082]
- Chiauzzi E, Wicks P. Digital Trespass: Ethical and Terms-of-Use Violations by Researchers Accessing Data From an Online Patient Community. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 21;21(2):e11985 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11985] [Medline: 30789346]
- 38. @BanTheBeds. Facebook. 2019. Ban Tanning Beds URL: https://www.facebook.com/BanTheBeds/ [accessed 2019-11-25]
- 39. American Academy of Dermatology Association. 2019. Donna's Personal Story URL: <u>https://www.aad.org/</u> <u>skin-cancer-awareness/story-donna-regan</u> [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 40. Pagoto S, Waring ME, May CN, Ding EY, Kunz WH, Hayes R, et al. Adapting Behavioral Interventions for Social Media Delivery. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jan 29;18(1):e24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5086] [Medline: 26825969]
- 41. An R, Ji M, Zhang S. Effectiveness of Social Media-based Interventions on Weight-related Behaviors and Body Weight Status: Review and Meta-analysis. Am J Health Behav 2017 Nov 01;41(6):670-682. [doi: 10.5993/AJHB.41.6.1] [Medline: 29025495]
- 42. Thrul J, Tormohlen KN, Meacham MC. Social media for tobacco smoking cessation intervention: a review of the literature. Curr Addict Rep 2019 Jun;6(2):126-138. [Medline: <u>31485388</u>]
- Cao B, Gupta S, Wang J, Hightow-Weidman LB, Muessig KE, Tang W, et al. Social Media Interventions to Promote HIV Testing, Linkage, Adherence, and Retention: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 24;19(11):e394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7997] [Medline: 29175811]
- 44. Han CJ, Lee YJ, Demiris G. Interventions Using Social Media for Cancer Prevention and Management: A Systematic Review. Cancer Nurs 2018;41(6):E19-E31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NCC.000000000000534] [Medline: 28753192]
- 45. Lluch A, King NA, Blundell JE. Exercise in dietary restrained women: no effect on energy intake but change in hedonic ratings. Eur J Clin Nutr 1998 Apr;52(4):300-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1600555] [Medline: 9578343]
- 46. Pagoto S, Waring ME. A Call for a Science of Engagement: Comment on Rus and Cameron. Ann Behav Med 2016 Oct;50(5):690-691. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9839-z] [Medline: 27663577]
- 47. Zuckerberg M. Facebook. 2019 Mar 06. A Privacy-Focused Vision for Social Networking URL: <u>https://www.facebook.com/</u> notes/mark-zuckerberg/a-privacy-focused-vision-for-social-networking/10156700570096634/ [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 48. Lellis JC. Waving the Red Flag: FTC Regulation of Deceptive Weight-Loss Advertising 1951-2009. Health Commun 2016;31(1):47-59. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2014.936334] [Medline: 26075539]

RenderX

- 49. Tandoc E, Lim D, Ling R. Diffusion of disinformation: How social media users respond to fake news and why. Journalism 2019 Aug 07:1. [doi: 10.1177/1464884919868325]
- Southwell BG, Niederdeppe J, Cappella JN, Gaysynsky A, Kelley DE, Oh A, et al. Misinformation as a Misunderstood Challenge to Public Health. Am J Prev Med 2019 Aug;57(2):282-285. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2019.03.009</u>] [Medline: <u>31248741</u>]
- Schmidt AL, Zollo F, Scala A, Betsch C, Quattrociocchi W. Polarization of the vaccination debate on Facebook. Vaccine 2018 Jun 14;36(25):3606-3612. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.05.040</u>] [Medline: <u>29773322</u>]
- 52. Scanfeld D, Scanfeld V, Larson EL. Dissemination of health information through social networks: twitter and antibiotics. Am J Infect Control 2010 Apr;38(3):182-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2009.11.004] [Medline: 20347636]
- Park S, Oh H, Park G, Suh B, Bae WK, Kim JW, et al. The Source and Credibility of Colorectal Cancer Information on Twitter. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016 Feb;95(7):e2775 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1097/MD.0000000002775</u>] [Medline: <u>26886625</u>]
- 54. Chen L, Wang X, Peng T. Nature and Diffusion of Gynecologic Cancer-Related Misinformation on Social Media: Analysis of Tweets. J Med Internet Res 2018 Oct 16;20(10):e11515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11515] [Medline: 30327289]
- 55. Lazard AJ, Saffer AJ, Wilcox GB, Chung AD, Mackert MS, Bernhardt JM. E-Cigarette Social Media Messages: A Text Mining Analysis of Marketing and Consumer Conversations on Twitter. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2016 Dec 12;2(2):e171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6551] [Medline: 27956376]
- 56. Syed-Abdul S, Fernandez-Luque L, Jian W, Li Y, Crain S, Hsu M, et al. Misleading health-related information promoted through video-based social media: anorexia on YouTube. J Med Internet Res 2013 Feb 13;15(2):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2237] [Medline: 23406655]
- 57. Park M, Sun Y, McLaughlin ML. Social Media Propagation of Content Promoting Risky Health Behavior. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2017 May;20(5):278-285. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2016.0698] [Medline: 28498046]
- Dickinson KM, Watson MS, Prichard I. Are Clean Eating Blogs a Source of Healthy Recipes? A Comparative Study of the Nutrient Composition of Foods with and without Clean Eating Claims. Nutrients 2018 Oct 05;10(10):1-10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/nu10101440] [Medline: 30301131]
- Ramachandran D, Kite J, Vassallo AJ, Chau JY, Partridge S, Freeman B, et al. Food Trends and Popular Nutrition Advice Online - Implications for Public Health. Online J Public Health Inform 2018;10(2):e213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v10i2.9306] [Medline: 30349631]
- 60. Wang Y, McKee M, Torbica A, Stuckler D. Systematic Literature Review on the Spread of Health-related Misinformation on Social Media. Soc Sci Med 2019 Nov;240:112552 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112552] [Medline: 31561111]
- 61. Broniatowski DA, Jamison AM, Qi S, AlKulaib L, Chen T, Benton A, et al. Weaponized Health Communication: Twitter Bots and Russian Trolls Amplify the Vaccine Debate. Am J Public Health 2018 Oct;108(10):1378-1384. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304567] [Medline: 30138075]
- 62. Allem J, Ferrara E, Uppu SP, Cruz TB, Unger JB. E-Cigarette Surveillance With Social Media Data: Social Bots, Emerging Topics, and Trends. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Dec 20;3(4):e98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.8641] [Medline: 29263018]
- 63. Ferrara E, Varol O, Davis C, Menczer F, Flammini A. The rise of social bots. Commun. ACM 2016 Jun 24;59(7):96-104. [doi: <u>10.1145/2818717</u>]
- 64. Jamison AM, Broniatowski DA, Quinn SC. Malicious Actors on Twitter: A Guide for Public Health Researchers. Am J Public Health 2019 May;109(5):688-692. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2019.304969</u>] [Medline: <u>30896994</u>]
- 65. Timberg C, Dwoskin E. The Washington Post. 2018 Jul 06. Twitter is sweeping out fake accounts like never before, putting user growth at risk URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2018/07/06/</u> twitter-is-sweeping-out-fake-accounts-like-never-before-putting-user-growth-risk/ [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 66. Heusner M. Campaign US. 2019 Nov 07. Ad of the Week: Monica Lewinsky's anti-bullying bot URL: <u>https://www.campaignlive.com/article/ad-week-monica-lewinskys-anti-bullying-bot/1664696</u> [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 67. Thackeray R, Neiger BL, Smith AK, Van Wagenen SB. Adoption and use of social media among public health departments. BMC Public Health 2012 Mar 26;12:242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-242] [Medline: 22449137]
- 68. Duke CH, Yin J, Zhang X, Blankenship EB, Akuse SE, Shah GH, et al. Adopting YouTube to Promote Health: Analysis of State Health Departments. Perm J 2019;23:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7812/TPP/18-094] [Medline: 30939268]
- Nosrati A, Pimentel MA, Falzone A, Hegde R, Goel S, Chren M, et al. Skin cancer prevention messages on Facebook: Likes, shares, and comments. J Am Acad Dermatol 2018 Sep;79(3):582-585.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2018.02.062] [Medline: 29518459]
- Waring ME, Baker K, Peluso A, May CN, Pagoto SL. Content analysis of Twitter chatter about indoor tanning. Transl Behav Med 2019 Jan 01;9(1):41-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/iby011] [Medline: 29474700]
- Jung M, Lin L, Viswanath K. Effect of media use on mothers' vaccination of their children in sub-Saharan Africa. Vaccine 2015 May 21;33(22):2551-2557. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.021</u>] [Medline: <u>25896379</u>]

- 72. Moran MB, Frank LB, Chatterjee JS, Murphy ST, Baezconde-Garbanati L. Information scanning and vaccine safety concerns among African American, Mexican American, and non-Hispanic White women. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Jan;99(1):147-153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015.08.016] [Medline: 26321294]
- 73. Wood MJ. Propagating and Debunking Conspiracy Theories on Twitter During the 2015-2016 Zika Virus Outbreak. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2018 Aug;21(8):485-490 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2017.0669</u>] [Medline: <u>30020821</u>]
- 74. Green MC, Brock TC. The role of transportation in the persuasiveness of public narratives. J Pers Soc Psychol 2000 Nov;79(5):701-721. [doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.79.5.701] [Medline: 11079236]
- 75. Chou WS, Oh A, Klein WMP. Addressing Health-Related Misinformation on Social Media. JAMA 2018 Dec 18;320(23):2417-2418. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.16865] [Medline: 30428002]
- 76. Armstrong PW, Naylor CD. Counteracting Health Misinformation: A Role for Medical Journals? JAMA 2019 May 21;321(19):1863-1864. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.5168] [Medline: 31009036]
- 77. König L, Jucks R. Hot topics in science communication: Aggressive language decreases trustworthiness and credibility in scientific debates. Public Underst Sci 2019 May;28(4):401-416. [doi: 10.1177/0963662519833903] [Medline: 30843467]
- Christakis DA. The Challenges of Defining and Studying "Digital Addiction" in Children. JAMA 2019 Jun 18;321(23):2277-2278. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.4690] [Medline: 31095260]
- 79. Diviani N, van den Putte B, Meppelink CS, van Weert JCM. Exploring the role of health literacy in the evaluation of online health information: Insights from a mixed-methods study. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Jun;99(6):1017-1025. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.01.007] [Medline: 26817407]
- Ozturk P, Li H, Sakamoto Y. Combating Rumor Spread on Social Media: The Effectiveness of Refutation and Warning. In: IEEE Xplore Digital Library. 2015 Presented at: 48th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences; 5-8 January; Kauai, HI, USA. [doi: 10.1109/hicss.2015.288]
- Bode L, Vraga EK. See Something, Say Something: Correction of Global Health Misinformation on Social Media. Health Commun 2018 Sep;33(9):1131-1140. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2017.1331312</u>] [Medline: <u>28622038</u>]
- 82. McAweeney E, Madden M. Points Data Society. 2019 Sep 30. Beyond Tech Addiction URL: <u>https://points.datasociety.net/</u> beyond-tech-addiction-965ce8e80c5c [accessed 2019-10-11]
- Pagoto S, Nebeker C. How scientists can take the lead in establishing ethical practices for social media research. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Apr 01;26(4):311-313. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocy174</u>] [Medline: <u>30698793</u>]
- 84. Office for Human Research Protections. HHS. 2018 Jan 17. HHS and 15 Other Federal Departments and Agencies Announce an Interim Final Rule That Delays Both the Effective Date and General Compliance Date of the Revisions to the Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects to July 19, 2018 URL: <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/interim-final-rule-common-rule.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
- Nebeker C, Harlow J, Espinoza Giacinto R, Orozco-Linares R, Bloss CS, Weibel N. Ethical and regulatory challenges of research using pervasive sensing and other emerging technologies: IRB perspectives. AJOB Empir Bioeth 2017;8(4):266-276. [doi: 10.1080/23294515.2017.1403980] [Medline: 29125425]
- 86. Waring ME, Jake-Schoffman DE, Holovatska MM, Mejia C, Williams JC, Pagoto SL. Social Media and Obesity in Adults: a Review of Recent Research and Future Directions. Curr Diab Rep 2018 Apr 18;18(6):34. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-018-1001-9] [Medline: 29671135]
- Arigo D, Pagoto S, Carter-Harris L, Lillie SE, Nebeker C. Using social media for health research: Methodological and ethical considerations for recruitment and intervention delivery. Digit Health 2018;4:2055207618771757 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207618771757] [Medline: 29942634]
- 88. Henderson M, Johnson NF, Auld G. Silences of ethical practice: dilemmas for researchers using social media. Educational Research and Evaluation 2013 Aug;19(6):546-560. [doi: 10.1080/13803611.2013.805656]
- Hunter RF, Gough A, O'Kane N, McKeown G, Fitzpatrick A, Walker T, et al. Ethical Issues in Social Media Research for Public Health. Am J Public Health 2018 Mar;108(3):343-348. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2017.304249</u>] [Medline: <u>29346005</u>]
- 90. Moreno MA, Goniu N, Moreno PS, Diekema D. Ethics of social media research: common concerns and practical considerations. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2013 Sep;16(9):708-713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0334] [Medline: 23679571]
- 91. Sinnenberg L, Buttenheim AM, Padrez K, Mancheno C, Ungar L, Merchant RM. Twitter as a Tool for Health Research: A Systematic Review. Am J Public Health 2017 Jan;107(1):e1-e8. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2016.303512</u>] [Medline: <u>27854532</u>]
- 92. Sauro J. Measuring U. 2011 Jan 11. Do users read license agreements? 2011 2/13/2018; URL: <u>http://www.measuringu.com/</u> blog/eula.php [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 93. Torous J, Nebeker C. Navigating Ethics in the Digital Age: Introducing Connected and Open Research Ethics (CORE), a Tool for Researchers and Institutional Review Boards. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 08;19(2):e38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6793] [Medline: 28179216]
- 94. ReCODE Health. 2019. The ReCODE Health Team URL: https://recode.health/team/ [accessed 2019-11-25]
- 95. Schroepfer M. Facebook. 2018 Apr 04. An Update on Our Plans to Restrict Data Access on Facebook URL: <u>https://newsroom.</u> <u>fb.com/news/2018/04/restricting-data-access/</u> [accessed 2019-10-11]
- 96. Social Science One. 2018. URL: https://socialscience.one/ [accessed 2019-11-25]

RenderX

- 97. Social Science One. 2018. Our Facebook Partnership URL: <u>https://socialscience.one/our-facebook-partnership</u> [accessed 2019-11-25]
- 98. Social Science One. 2019 Sep 18. Social Science One Announces Access to Facebook Dataset of Publicly Shared URLs for Research URL: <u>https://socialscience.one/blog/social-science-one-announces-access-facebook-dataset-publicly-shared-urls</u> [accessed 2019-11-25]
- Lazer D, Pentland A, Adamic L, Aral S, Barabasi A, Brewer D, et al. Social science. Computational social science. Science 2009 Feb 06;323(5915):721-723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.1167742] [Medline: 19197046]

Abbreviations

API: application program interfaceCEO: Chief Executive OfficerIRB: institutional review boardSMART: Social Media Addiction Reduction Technology

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.10.19; peer-reviewed by C Nebeker, JP Allem; comments to author 11.11.19; revised version received 25.11.19; accepted 09.12.19; published 19.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Pagoto S, Waring ME, Xu R A Call for a Public Health Agenda for Social Media Research J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16661 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16661/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/16661</u> PMID:<u>31855185</u>

©Sherry L. Pagoto, Molly E Waring, Ran Xu. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 19.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Viewpoint

Quality and Safety in eHealth: The Need to Build the Evidence Base

Elizabeth Borycki¹, RN, BScN, MN, PhD

School of Health Information Science, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Elizabeth Borycki, RN, BScN, MN, PhD School of Health Information Science University of Victoria 3800 Finnerty Road (Ring Road), Room A202 Victoria, BC, V8P 5C2 Canada Phone: 1 2504725432 Email: emb@uvic.ca

Abstract

Research in the area of health technology safety has demonstrated that technology may both improve patient safety and introduce new types of technology-induced errors. Thus, there is a need to publish safety science literature to develop an evidence-based research base, on which we can continually develop new, safe technologies and improve patient safety. The aim of this viewpoint is to argue for the need to advance evidence-based research in health informatics, so that new technologies can be designed, developed, and implemented for their safety prior to their use in health care. This viewpoint offers a historical perspective on the development of health informatics and safety literature in the area of health technology. I argue for the need to conduct safety studies of technologies used by health professionals and consumers to develop an evidence base in this area. Ongoing research is necessary to improve the quality and safety of health technologies. Over the past several decades, we have seen health informatics emerge as a discipline, with growing research in the field examining the design, development, and implementation of different health technologies and new challenges such as those associated with the quality and safety of technology use. Future research will need to focus on how we can continually extend safety science in this area. There is a need to integrate evidence-based research into the design, development, and implementation of health technologies to improve their safety and reduce technology-induced errors.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16689) doi: 10.2196/16689

KEYWORDS

patient safety; technology-induced error; health technology

Introduction

Health informatics research has made significant contributions to our health care system. From its earliest beginnings in the 1950s and 1960s in Germany and the United States, when health care researchers first began to study the design of software for supporting clinical work and integrating computers into hospitals, to our current work in professionalizing the health informatics and health technology workforce, much work has been done. Today, there is a growing body of research describing a unique area of knowledge (ie, health informatics or biomedical informatics) that has emerged and evolved over the past 70 years [1]. Health informatics (or biomedical informatics) and health technology professionals can be found in every regional health authority, government, and health technology vendor business worldwide. Health informatics (and

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16689/

RenderX

biomedical informatics) programs are present in many countries worldwide [2]. Nonetheless, many challenges remain as new health technologies are innovated, designed, and implemented and evolve over time. Challenges have arisen from the emergence of quality and safety issues involving newly innovated and existing implemented technologies.

Health Technologies

Modernizing Health Care

Technological innovation in health care has modernized how we treat patients globally and how health professionals work across regions and countries [1]. Over the past decades, since the first publications of journal articles and academic texts in the field of health informatics, the body of research and literature has grown considerably [1]. The launch of health informatics

journals over the past 20 years has been critical to helping establish our current evidence base and demonstrating the impact of health informatics research internationally on health care and citizens. The design, development, and implementation of new health technologies and innovations remain important areas of study and add to the growth of our discipline and field.

Considering the Evidence Base

The evolution of knowledge in the area of health informatics has grown considerably. Researchers have designed and developed technologies and studied their implementation. Health technologies such as electronic health records and their subsystems (eg, clinician order entry, laboratory information systems, diagnostic imaging systems, clinical documentation systems, and decision support systems) have improved the quality and safety of health care [1]. Clinician order entry [3] and clinical documentation systems have reduced medical error rates by improving the legibility and readability of clinician orders and activities [4].

Decision support systems have prevented medical errors arising from drug-drug interactions and drug-allergy interactions and have reduced the costs of prescribed medication [1,3]. Laboratory information and diagnostic imaging systems are providing test and imaging results in real time, so that physicians can diagnose diseases and conditions and immediately respond with lifesaving interventions [5,6]. Despite this, we need to continue advancing research in health informatics to study the safety of health informatics in supporting health care processes and its effectiveness in improving wellness, as new technologies are designed and developed or repurposed by health care consumers, health professionals, and health care administrators for use in health care [7,8].

Further research is needed to ensure that technologies provide evidence-based interventions and that health technologies are designed, developed, and tested using accepted, evidence-based research methods, so that they can improve or support the health of individuals, families, and populations [9]. In addition, more research is needed to guide consumers in their purchase of health technologies [7]. To date, research has shown that the purchase of health technologies without any demonstrated health or wellness benefits may lead to unnecessary financial losses or consumer harm in an already vulnerable population [10]. Research has already shown that health technologies, when not properly and safely designed, developed, and implemented, can lead to death and disability, with reports of incidents involving technology (ie, technology-induced errors) increasing worldwide as the number of technologies used to support care increase [11,12]. Several studies focusing on incident reports involving technology-induced errors have identified a link between poorly designed and implemented technologies and safety incidents [13-15]. As such, the need to use health informatics (or biomedical informatics) disciplinary research to support evidence-based technology innovation, design, procurement, implementation, and maintenance by health care administrators, policy makers, and consumers has become critical to ensuring the quality and safety of health care when new technologies are introduced [16,17].

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16689/
```

There is a considerable need to continue to conduct research and change health care administrator and policy-maker culture. This involves moving away from the procurement and purchasing of health technologies on the basis of perceived innovations and potential improvements (ie, the latest and greatest technology "fad") to meaningfully evaluate the quality and safety of a technology before it is implemented and used. There is also a need to move away from studying technologies after they have been designed and developed to examining and studying the quality and safety of a technology during its design and development through to its implementation and use before widespread scale up and spread [16-18]. As research has identified, poor systems design and development processes can lead to consumer death and disability and diminish the effectiveness of the technology intervention where health and wellness are concerned [13,19]. With such knowledge, we can improve the quality of patient care and prevent technology-induced errors that lead to death and disability [13].

Future Research Directions

In 1992, the seminal publication of "To Err is Human" by the National Academies of Sciences launched health care into the modern world by recommending that health information technologies (eg, clinician order entry) be used to prevent medical error and improve the quality of patient care [20]. By 2005, the first publications emerged for documenting the existence of technology-induced errors [11]. In 2011, the "Health Information Systems Safety" report by the National Academies of Science suggested that we need to develop a strategy for ensuring the quality and safety of health technologies from their design through their development [21]. Today, researchers have found that safety incidents in fully digitized health care systems involve health technologies [13]. Researchers have found that 0.1%-17% of safety incidents involve technology-induced errors [13-15]. Future health technology applications involving artificial intelligence (AI) will also need to be thoroughly innovated and studied to determine if the technology is safe and improves the quality of patient care, health professional work, and health care systems performance. Research identifies that AI does not fully respond to the range of health care issues that a patient may experience and that there is still a need for health professionals to be "in the loop" to validate diagnoses and actions to be carried out by AI applications in different health care contexts [22].

With the introduction of the Internet of Things (IoT), new challenges will emerge in the area of quality and safety. IoT encompasses sensors, devices, wearables, and smartphones. Essentially, these technologies speak to each other via the internet, and it is through these combinations of devices and automated systems that information can be gathered and analyzed and responses can be created to help individuals with tasks or processes [19]. IoT technologies have been found to have some important applications, but also need to be critically studied. There is a need to innovate, design, and develop IoT that is effective and integrates these technologies into the system of patient self-care and the health care system care. New IoT systems are being designed and developed to support those patients with chronic illnesses such as diabetes and those with

multiple comorbidities. There is a need to study what devices work best to improve health outcomes while maintaining health safety [23]. Algorithms used in devices and software need to be studied in this context to determine their effectiveness in one health care setting versus another, as reproducibility and reusability have emerged as issues. Such research is needed to study the utility of algorithms and what changes need to be made to the algorithm itself to be effective in a given health context [24]. The integration of robotics in health care also requires extensive study. Innovation involves not only designing and developing the technology, but also identifying and studying the disease contexts, settings, and methods of using robotics to deliver health care interventions (eg, the use of robotic surgery) on patient circumstance and outcomes and to develop safe practices [25].

Finally, there is a need to study the use of existing technologies (ie, mobile health apps, wearable devices that support wellness and fitness) that have been deployed to identify technologies that provide no added benefit or may introduce new risks and to use this evidence in health policy making. Here, the design, development, implementation, and use of these devices needs to be researched [26]. In addition, new ways to educate consumers about these health technologies and ways to best select a health technology that will improve health and wellness rather than mislead consumers to engage in risky behaviors (eg, disregarding physician recommendations, poor medication adherence) are needed. Without research in health informatics (and biomedical informatics), we would not have our present understanding of the evidence base supporting health technologies. More research is needed to inform consumers, health care administrators, and policy makers, so that funds are not spent on ineffective and unsafe technologies. Disseminating this research to administrators and policy makers is essential to begin the process of using decision making for evidence-based health technology, based on the growing health informatics (and biomedical informatics) research.

Acknowledgments

This article was supported, in part, by a research grant from the Michael Smith Foundation for Health Research, British Columbia, Canada.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Shortliffe T, Cimino J. Biomedical informatics: Computer applications in health care and biomedicine. New York: Springer Verlag; 2014.
- Mantas J. Biomedical and Health Informatics Education the IMIA Years. Yearb Med Inform 2016 Aug 02;Suppl 1:S92-S102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15265/IY-2016-032] [Medline: 27488405]
- 3. Nuckols TK, Smith-Spangler C, Morton SC, Asch SM, Patel VM, Anderson LJ, et al. The effectiveness of computerized order entry at reducing preventable adverse drug events and medication errors in hospital settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Syst Rev 2014 Jun 04;3:56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-3-56] [Medline: 24894078]
- Hsu C, Chou C, Chen T, Ho C, Lee C, Chou Y. Physicians Failed to Write Flawless Prescriptions When Computerized Physician Order Entry System Crashed. Clin Ther 2015 May 01;37(5):1076-1080.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.clinthera.2015.03.003</u>] [Medline: <u>25841544</u>]
- Sepulveda JL, Young DS. The ideal laboratory information system. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2013 Aug;137(8):1129-1140. [doi: <u>10.5858/arpa.2012-0362-RA</u>] [Medline: <u>23216205</u>]
- Agrawal JP, Erickson BJ, Kahn CE. Imaging Informatics: 25 Years of Progress. Yearb Med Inform 2016 Jun 30;Suppl 1:S23-S31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15265/IYS-2016-s004] [Medline: 27362590]
- Eysenbach G. Consumer health informatics. BMJ 2000 Jun 24;320(7251):1713-1716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.320.7251.1713] [Medline: 10864552]
- 8. Househ M, Borycki E, Kushniruk A. Empowering patients through social media: the benefits and challenges. Health Informatics J 2014 Mar;20(1):50-58. [doi: 10.1177/1460458213476969] [Medline: 24550564]
- Ammenwerth E, Schnell-Inderst P, Siebert U. Vision and challenges of Evidence-Based Health Informatics: a case study of a CPOE meta-analysis. Int J Med Inform 2010 Apr;79(4):e83-e88. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.11.003</u>] [Medline: <u>19157969</u>]
- Kao C, Liebovitz DM. Consumer Mobile Health Apps: Current State, Barriers, and Future Directions. PM R 2017 May;9(5S):S106-S115. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pmrj.2017.02.018</u>] [Medline: <u>28527495</u>]
- Kushniruk AW, Triola MM, Borycki EM, Stein B, Kannry JL. Technology induced error and usability: the relationship between usability problems and prescription errors when using a handheld application. Int J Med Inform 2005 Aug;74(7-8):519-526. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.01.003] [Medline: 16043081]
- Borycki EM, Househ MS, Kushniruk AW, Nohr C, Takeda H. Empowering Patients: Making Health Information and Systems Safer for Patients and the Public. Contribution of the IMIA Health Informatics for Patient Safety Working Group. Yearb Med Inform 2012;7:56-64. [Medline: <u>22890342</u>]

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16689/

- 13. Palojoki S, Mäkelä M, Lehtonen L, Saranto K. An analysis of electronic health record-related patient safety incidents. Health Informatics J 2017 Jun;23(2):134-145. [doi: <u>10.1177/1460458216631072</u>] [Medline: <u>26951568</u>]
- Magrabi F, Ong M, Runciman W, Coiera E. Using FDA reports to inform a classification for health information technology safety problems. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(1):45-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000369</u>] [Medline: <u>21903979</u>]
- Samaranayake NR, Cheung STD, Chui WCM, Cheung BMY. Technology-related medication errors in a tertiary hospital: a 5-year analysis of reported medication incidents. Int J Med Inform 2012 Dec;81(12):828-833. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>23022632</u>]
- 16. Baylis TB, Kushniruk AW, Borycki EM. Low-Cost Rapid Usability Testing for health information systems: is it worth the effort? Stud Health Technol Inform 2012;180:363-367. [Medline: <u>22874213</u>]
- 17. Kushniruk A, Borycki E, Myers K, Kannry J. Selecting electronic health record systems: development of a framework for testing candidate systems. Stud Health Technol Inform 2009;143:376-379. [Medline: <u>19380964</u>]
- Borycki EM, Kushniruk A, Keay E, Nicoll J, Anderson J, Anderson M. Toward an integrated simulation approach for predicting and preventing technology-induced errors in healthcare: implications for healthcare decision-makers. Healthc Q 2009;12 Spec No Patient:90-96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12927/hcq.2009.20974] [Medline: 19667784]
- 19. Burgess M. Wired Magazine. 2018 Feb 16. What is the internet of things? URL: <u>https://www.wired.co.uk/article/internet-of-things-what-is-explained-iot</u> [accessed 2019-12-12]
- 20. Kohn, Corrigan, Donaldson. To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2000.
- 21. Committee on Patient Safety and Health Information Technology, Institute of Medicine. Health IT and Patient Safety: Building Safer Systems for Better Care. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (US); 2011.
- 22. Price WN, Gerke S, Cohen IG. Potential Liability for Physicians Using Artificial Intelligence. JAMA 2019 Oct 04. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.15064] [Medline: 31584609]
- 23. Haghi M, Thurow K, Stoll R. Wearable Devices in Medical Internet of Things: Scientific Research and Commercially Available Devices. Healthc Inform Res 2017 Jan;23(1):4-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2017.23.1.4] [Medline: 28261526]
- 24. Celi LA, Citi L, Ghassemi M, Pollard TJ. The PLOS ONE collection on machine learning in health and biomedicine: Towards open code and open data. PLoS One 2019;14(1):e0210232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210232] [Medline: 30645625]
- 25. de Almeida JR, Genden EM. Robotic surgery for oropharynx cancer: promise, challenges, and future directions. Curr Oncol Rep 2012 Apr;14(2):148-157. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11912-012-0219-y</u>] [Medline: <u>22311683</u>]
- 26. Hamine S, Gerth-Guyette E, Faulx D, Green BB, Ginsburg AS. Impact of mHealth chronic disease management on treatment adherence and patient outcomes: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(2):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3951] [Medline: 25803266]

Abbreviations

AI: artificial intelligence **IoT:** Internet of Things

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.10.19; peer-reviewed by J Griffith, I Contreras, J Parsons; comments to author 14.11.19; revised version received 01.12.19; accepted 09.12.19; published 19.12.19.

Please cite as: Borycki E Quality and Safety in eHealth: The Need to Build the Evidence Base J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16689 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16689/ doi:10.2196/16689

PMID:31855183

©Elizabeth M Borycki. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 19.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16689/

Viewpoint

Old-Fashioned Technology in the Era of "Bling": Is There a Future for Text Messaging in Health Care?

Jane C Willcox¹, PhD; Rosie Dobson², PhD; Robyn Whittaker^{2,3}, PhD

¹School of Allied Health, Human Services and Sport, La Trobe University, Bundoora, Australia
²National Institute for Health Innovation, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand
³Waitemata District Health Board, Auckland, New Zealand

Corresponding Author:

Jane C Willcox, PhD School of Allied Health, Human Services and Sport La Trobe University Plenty Rd Bundoora, 3083 Australia Phone: 61 94791520 Fax: 61 394792552 Email: j.willcox@latrobe.edu.au

Abstract

In the quest to discover the next high-technology solution to solve many health problems, proven established technologies are often overlooked in favor of more "technologically advanced" systems that have not been fully explored for their applicability to support behavior change theory, or used by consumers. Text messages or SMS is one example of an established technology still used by consumers, but often overlooked as part of the mobile health (mHealth) toolbox. The purpose of this paper is to describe the benefits of text messages as a health promotion modality and to advocate for broader scale implementation of efficacious text message programs. Text messaging reaches consumers in a ubiquitous real-time exchange, contrasting the multistep active engagement required for apps and wearables. It continues to be the most widely adopted and least expensive mobile phone function. As an intervention modality, text messaging has taught researchers substantial lessons about tailored interactive health communication; reach and engagement, particularly in low-resource settings; and embedding of behavior change models into digital health. It supports behavior change techniques such as reinforcement, prompts and cues, goal setting, feedback on performance, support, and progress review. Consumers have provided feedback to indicate that text messages can provide them with useful information, increase perceived support, enhance motivation for healthy behavior change, and provide prompts to engage in health behaviors. Significant evidence supports the effectiveness of text messages alone as part of an mHealth toolbox or in combination with health services, to support healthy behavior change. Systematic reviews have consistently reported positive effects of text message interventions for health behavior change and disease management including smoking cessation, medication adherence, and self-management of long-term conditions and health, including diabetes and weight loss. However, few text message interventions are implemented on a large scale. There is still much to be learned from investing in text messaging delivered research. When a modality is known to be effective, we should be learning from large-scale implementation. Many other technologies currently suffer from poor long-term engagement, the digital divide within society, and low health and technology literacy of users. Investing in and incorporating the learnings and lessons from large-scale text message interventions will strengthen our way forward in the quest for the ultimate digitally delivered behavior change model.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16630) doi:10.2196/16630

KEYWORDS

RenderX

text messaging; mHealth; behavior change; digital health

Background

Text messaging is old fashioned, let's use Facebook instead. [Health researcher, 2018]

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/
```

The evolution of digital technologies, and ubiquity of personal mobile phones, has seen a proliferation in potential options for digital health delivery. The quest among health care organizations is to discover the next high-technology solution

to many of the health problems that have been vexing health professionals and researchers for decades.

The increasing availability of consumer-accessible technologies, along with the expectations of an increased consumer role in managing their own health, is contributing to the increased digitalization of health care [1]. Moreover, financial constraints on expensive health services, including the decreased time health providers have in direct patient-provider interaction [1], is changing the health education and information delivery paradigm. The significant increase in digital health investment by the commercial industry [2] is moving the trusted voice of the health providers to the open market. For example, only 10% of health smartphone apps available in major app stores are produced by universities, nongovernment organizations, and educational organizations [2]. To participate in this market, researchers and health providers need to find ways to digitally connect with consumers in a trusted, meaningful, and cost-effective manner.

Many digital health companies and researchers are attempting to find the next neatly packaged behavior change app or device. As academics, we would like to think that we are immune to fashion and trends, but are we? Craig Fleming [3] notes in his provocative essay, "The Tyranny of Trendy Ideas: Academics pretend to be above cheap and trivial fads," that the drive of "innovation" tends to move academic groups because fashions are "difficult to resist," but this prevents us from fully investigating phenomena before moving onto the next idea and "distract(s) us from slower changes." Too often, the focus of research is on the digital delivery modality driving the intervention, often neglecting the complex nature of the behavior change on which it is designed to focus.

Health-related behaviors and behavioral risk factors for disease prevention and management are complex, influenced by multiple individual, socioeconomic, societal, cultural, and environment factors, making it difficult to change [4]. Digital health technologies allow us to accommodate many of these factors with significant potential for digital health solutions to better support prevention and management of disease. Health behavior science provides insight into factors that influence specific actions that can be used to guide digital health design [5]. There are many simple digital technologies that connect directly to consumers and offer benefits for behavior change but have been discarded by funders, health services, and researchers because they are not considered "innovative" or "shiny" enough. Research on proven, more established technologies is often overlooked in favor of what is more "technologically advanced," even if the use of the new technology is not fully explored, not underpinned by behavior change theory, and not routinely used by or considered of value to the health consumer. Text messages (or SMS) are one example of an established technology, frequently used by consumers, that is often overlooked by many researchers and funders as part of their mobile health (mHealth) toolbox. Often, these authors have been told by funders that it is proven that text messaging works, but it is just "not shiny enough" for their boards, donors, clinicians, or consumers.

Text messaging is the real-time exchange of alphanumeric messages of up to 160 characters via mobile phones or computer.

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/
```

Text messaging is ubiquitous and continues to be the most widely adopted and least expensive technological function on mobile phones [6]. **The use of d**irect text messaging has remained constant despite the exponential rise of message apps [7]. Paraphrasing Mark Twain [8], the prediction of the death of text messages has been greatly exaggerated. Although digital health innovators may be discarding text messaging for its "low" technology, text messaging interventions have underpinned a significant piece of the mHealth research landscape. It behooves us to examine what text messages and their interventions offer us as researchers and what lessons may be taken forward and incorporated into new and disruptive technologies.

The purpose of this paper is two-fold. First, we describe the present-day benefits of text messages as a health promotion modality, such as high consumer familiarity and usage, functionality to prompt behavior change, and ability to reach hard-to-reach populations. Second, we advocate for broader-scale implementation of efficacious text message programs and continued research to refine and enhance the impact of text messages for health promotion. In this paper, we use quotes and colloquial language communicated to us in research studies and by funders and fellow researchers, to contextualize current-day dialogue concerning the use of text messaging within the research and implementation science research environment.

Text Messages Connect Directly With Consumers Through a Familiar Modality That They Frequently Use

They will always check their text messages in an appointment, they prioritise them over me. [Health professional, 2016]

A digital health intervention program needs to be easy to access...but there's so many things you have to login so much yeah passwords...whereas if...it's just link to the website or game in a text, like it just took you straight there rather than, oh I need to remember to check that website or app once every week. [Focus group research participant, 2016]

Text messages are elegant in their simplicity and connectivity. They offer many advantages over other digital modalities and are currently the most expeditious way to provide just-in-time information. Text messages are a "push" technology, where intervention messages are delivered to individuals without any effort from the individual [9] and exhibit a 98% open rate and a response rate double that of email, phone, or social media [10].

In contrast, technologies such as apps or games require active participation, that is, the user is required to download the technology, open it, and do something (eg, add data). Moreover, an app or game may be deleted and the automated functions, such as push notifications, can be turned off, or the linked wearable sensors may be not be worn [11,12]. Much like internet health programs, apps only work for those who actively engage with them over a period of time and exhibit the necessary level of digital literacy. More work is required to develop "sticky"

XSL•FO RenderX

apps, which induce return traffic and maintain user engagement, such as Google Maps, that are used most days on smartphones [13,14].

The simple digital user interface for text messaging offers a communication platform that a majority of consumers are comfortable and familiar with. Although it is acknowledged that more work is required to better understand message requirements for those with physical disabilities or low literacy [15], the interface is standardized and reduces the need for learning interaction with a new interface. In contrast, complex digital tools (including apps, wearables, and games) encompass the technological device and the technology interface and performance (interface design, navigation, notifications, data collection methods and tools, goal management, depth of knowledge, system rules, and actionable recommendations) [16], exposing a complex phenomenological structure for user engagement and perception [17]. The lack of a user-centric design is a common criticism of more complex technologies [17]. How consumers engage and perceive digital health interventions still requires much more investigation but, in general, the simpler the interface is, the easier it is to engage and retain consumers [17-19].

Text Messages Directly Support Behavior Change

Text messaging is just a few words sent to someone. Who is going to send them? Too much money and bother. We want to spend money on something much more impressive such as an app or a robot. [Public health manager/researcher, 2018]

As an intervention modality, text messaging has taught researchers substantial lessons about tailored, interactive, and scalable health communication; reach and engagement; and embedding of behavior change models into digital health. Text messaging appears to support behavior change through the ease of application of proven behavior change techniques such as reinforcement, prompts and cues, goal setting, feedback on performance, support, and progress review [20]. The interactivity of text messages allows individuals to log their health information in response to text messages and, in turn, receive tailored feedback. They also have the potential to provide two types of "sticky" content or content that induces return engagement and holds user attention [14]. They can deliver attracting (such as health information updates) and "entrapping" (such as behavioral reminders and bidirectional engagement with a health team) content, which research suggests attracts users and keeps them engaged with a digital platform [13,14].

Text messaging works alone or as a component of an mHealth toolbox. Consumers are seeking simple and intuitive digital solutions to support their health care management [21,22]. In research contexts, individual digital health interventions are often used alone and compared with others, instead of considering how best to meet holistic needs with more effective and efficient health care [23]. It is likely that the digital solutions to complex health behavior change will be multifaceted with the need to draw on the communication, behavioral, and

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/
```

human-computer interaction theory [19]. Real-world needs are likely to be met by a range of interoperable digital platforms or tools integrated with brick-and-mortar health services. Text messaging can be part of this solution, offering many facets to a mobile health (mHealth) toolbox where otherwise high attrition rates, digital divide of society, and the health and technological literacy of the users are key issues.

Although text messaging has proven to be effective when used singularly, evidence suggests that text interventions were efficacious when combined with supplementary intervention components [24,25]. Text messages offer opportunities to optimize interventions and link between components. For example, in one of our studies involving multiple digital components, the most frequently accessed Web pages and Youtube videos were those linked to a directly delivered text message [26]. They also offer a "nudging" capability as per Pew Research Center [27], demonstrating an improved response time for survey completion with text message notifications in comparison to email only [27]. Opportunity exists to exploit text messaging features for better uptake and engagement of other digital health tools when systematically assessing the digital tool delivery required to meet consumer health needs [28]. Although many moderators at a behavioral level require confirmation, we need to still learn about the frequency of contact, wording, content, tone of delivery, and personal tailoring of the short messages [29]. There is potential value in systematically assessing these moderators to allow the learnings to be incorporated into newer technology tools and interventions.

Text Messages Have the Potential to Reduce Health Inequities at a Low Cost

It's capturing the people that miss out...the marginalised people that always slip through the system, you can catch them. [Midwife, 2016]

If our role as health researchers is to positively impact those who carry the disproportionate burden of poor health outcomes [30], it is crucial for us to consider which digital platforms may best serve those in greatest need. Mobile phones have been widely adopted among virtually all demographic groups, including previously difficult-to-reach populations [29,31-33]. However there remains a digital access disconnect and a usage gap between groups of users with access to the internet (data plans) and the use of smartphone apps that require a greater burden on the consumer. Even in text messaging, there can be difficulty with literacy [15], and more work is required to engage particularly those with physical and intellectual disabilities. The intricacy of more complex digital interactions and expectations may work against accessibility in many population groups.

The appeal and efficacy of text messaging is demonstrated across age, sociodemographic status, and cultures [33,34]. Of note, text messaging interventions can appeal to, connect with, and achieve positive health outcomes for the most difficult-to-reach communities including those that do not connect with traditional health services [35,36]. Due to the ease of tailoring text messaging interventions, programs can be delivered in multiple languages, locations, and cultural versions

XSL•FO RenderX

to ensure relevance and appropriateness for a wide range of populations [32,37].

Although text messaging may be considered relatively expensive to deliver due to "per text message" costs and short code fees, text messaging programs are cheaper to develop: The cost of the average commercial health app (the consumer expected standard of app) is around US \$425,000, and higher costs are generally associated with better design, resulting in higher engagement [2]. Furthermore, text messaging can be received at no cost to the end user regardless of phone type, capacity, or data access. Where needed, reply messaging can be charged back to the program to ensure no cost to the recipient and therefore reduce engagement barriers. There is little recognition of the ongoing upkeep and maintenance needed for other digital tools; for example, smartphone apps require updates for every operating system update. These maintenance and development costs have had a negative impact on the business cases for these tools.

The uptake of text messaging in developing countries suggests opportunities in resource-poor settings where expensive technology and internet access is lacking [38]. There is already evidence of the potential health uplift in developing countries where text messages have been utilized in smoking cessation, antenatal, diabetes, and retroviral interventions as well as communication with health workers [39-41].

Text Message Interventions Demonstrate Effectiveness in Health Promotion and Disease Management

Text messaging works but it's not shiny enough. We need an app. [Health researcher, 2017]

Publication of text message-delivered behavioral intervention studies started to emerge in the early 2000s, gaining traction over the last decade [42], which is a long time in terms of agile technology but not in evidence-based, academic literature. There is significant evidence to support the effectiveness of text messaging alone as part of an mHealth toolbox or in combination with face-to-face health services, to support healthy behavior change. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have consistently reported positive effects of text message interventions for health behavior change or promotion [25,42-46] and disease management [43,45,47,48]. High-quality evidence may be found across health issues for smoking cessation [24], medication adherence [49] including antiretroviral therapy [47,50], and self-management of long-term conditions and health including diabetes and weight loss [42,46,51,52]. For example, the latest Cochrane review of 26 smoking cessation studies (n=33,849) provides continued evidence for automated app-based interventions resulting in improved cessation rates (increasing quit rates by 50%-60%), while highlighting the persistence of a lack of evidence to conclude the effectiveness of smoking cessation appb-ased interventions [24].

In contrast, systematic reviews of smartphone apps have thus far reported mainly pilots and studies with small sample sizes with limited evidence of effectiveness [24,53,54], although their

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/
```

XSL•FO

application in mental health [55], schizophrenia [56] and weight loss [57] is promising. The majority of the 300,000 health apps in app stores have never been tested, and many lack the behavior theory or clinical guidelines to underpin their education frameworks and content [58]. Several research trials have shown apps to be ineffective in achieving significant primary outcomes [59-61]. The lack of a body of evidence for effectiveness currently limits the "prescribablity" of health apps [22,62].

These effective text message interventions provide insights regarding other important aspects of study design including feasibility and target group acceptance. The high levels of retention, acceptability, feasibility, and likelihood of recommending the interventions to peers reported in many studies emphasize the value of using text messaging in health behavior change interventions [26,36,63]. Participants frequently report that they think that text messaging is a good way to deliver these types of prompts, information, and support [32,36,64,65].

Long-term intervention effectiveness and cost-effectiveness studies for all digital interventions remain scarce, and text messaging interventions may offer some guidance and learnings [24,25]. Our recent 2-year follow-up of a text messaging diabetes self-management support program found sustained improved results following the initial trial [66], but that is not always the case, and long-term follow-up needs to be encouraged and further investigated. With the low cost of delivery, smoking cessation support by text messaging has been shown to possibly be one of the most cost-effective health services that could be provided [67,68]. Free and colleagues [67] recruited, via community advertising, smokers willing to quit (n=5800) and randomized them to either the txt2stop intervention, comprising motivational messages and behavioral change support, or the control group that received text messages unrelated to quitting. Biochemically verified smoking cessation rates at 6 months were doubled in the txt2stop group (10.7% in the txt2stop group vs 4.9% in the control group; risk ratio: 2.20; 95% CI 1.80-2,68; P<.001). The cost-effectiveness analysis found that when future health service costs were included, text message-based smoking cessation support would save costs to the national health service. Few other cost-effectiveness analyses have been published. Further research is required to determine how to best optimize outcome and cost effectiveness in larger and longer-term trials.

Implementation of Large-Scale Text Messaging Programs is Required

That's great that the program was found to be effective but why hasn't it been rolled out yet? [Clinician, 2019]

Implementation of research findings is an ongoing problem for health-related research [69]. The translation and implementation of technology-driven interventions have the added pressure of convincing funders and health bodies that the technology will remain relevant and viable [70]. Although significant evidence for text messaging interventions exists, few large-scale roll outs have been realized or evaluated. There are a small number of examples of smoking cessation interventions proven in research

that have been implemented at a large scale internationally [71-73] and offer learnings. The Indian government has implemented a national mobile cessation (smoking cessation) and mobile diabetes (diabetes control) program promoted through their national email network and using the free "missed call" system for people to register [71]. Study process lessons were learned from the evaluation of that program: A large number of nonsmokers initially registered, due to promotion and the ease of registration, and a large number subsequently dropped out due to the high burden of evaluation questions, which has since been removed.

More work is required both to optimize the effectiveness of text message interventions and to build conceptual frameworks for larger-scale implementation. Through its *Be He@lthy, Be Mobile* program [74], the World Health Organization is supporting the establishment of large-scale text message programs in developing countries from a range of regions and income levels, tackling health issues relevant to the country, from cervical cancer awareness to smoking cessation [71]. This group provides toolkits, expert assistance, international connections, and programs as well as links to more general advice on aspects such as frameworks for prioritization, monitoring, and evaluation [75,76].

Although translational research has become a focus for many, there remain roadblocks in implementing research on a large scale, especially while, as Wolf [77] notes, "spectacular new devices are more fascinating to the public and more lucrative for industry." The study of implementation science in the digital health field would be enhanced by funding and implementing large-scale community-centered digital models within the world of practice. This will allow the identification of crucial activities and delivery methods for conducting an intervention tailored to the unique needs and contexts of different at - risk populations and health agencies and further the field of implementation science in the digital space [78]. These could include the key components within the study environment that affect the intervention's primary outcome, changes in outcome variables over time, and potential confounders external to the study environment [79].

Conclusions

When it comes to digital interventions, evidence supporting the use of text messaging for health behavior change is substantial. In addition to a wide population reach, text messaging is relatively low cost, can be individually tailored, can be delivered anywhere, is appropriate for low digital literacy, and allows instant delivery and feedback. Text messages are omnipresent in the lives of consumers and offer a simple and connected gateway to encourage positive health behaviors. Their effectiveness in supporting health behavior change across population groups and health areas has not yet been paralleled by any other technologies. For digital platforms to assist consumers with positive health behavior change, the appropriate mix of digital delivery needs to be understood and tested. Text messages offer a subset of features that should be considered in any approach. If health organizations have the courage, there is opportunity and value in implementing text messaging interventions, alone or as part of an mHealth toolbox, and learning from their engagement with consumers. These learnings can then be transferred to new effective technologies as they emerge. Health researchers and health organizations can own this simple technology and control it until newer "shinier" technologies are developed, which can replace the widespread connectivity and persistence of a text message.

Acknowledgments

JW is funded by a La Trobe University Post-doctoral Fellowship and was funded for this collaboration by a La Trobe University Building Health Communities Research Focus Area Collaboration Grant. RD is funded by a New Zealand Health Research Council and Precision Driven Health Fellowship.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Timimi FK. Medicine, morality and health care social media. BMC Med 2012 Aug 02;10(1):83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-83] [Medline: 22856531]
- 2. R2G: Research2Guidance. mHealth Economics 2017 Current Status and Future Trends in Mobile Health URL: <u>https://research2guidance.com/product/mhealth-economics-2017-current-status-and-future-trends-in-mobile-health/</u> [accessed 2019-12-14]
- 3. Fleming C. The Chronicle Review. The Tyranny of Trendy Ideas URL: <u>https://www.chronicle.com/interactives/</u>20190701-trendyideas [accessed 2019-12-14]
- Michie S, van Stralen MM, West R. The behaviour change wheel: a new method for characterising and designing behaviour change interventions. Implement Sci 2011 Apr 23;6(1):42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-6-42] [Medline: 21513547]
- 6. Burke K. Text request. How many texts do people send every day (2018)? URL: <u>https://www.textrequest.com/blog/</u> how-many-texts-people-send-per-day/ [accessed 2019-10-04]

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/

- 7. Burke K. Text request. 2019. 107 Texting statistics that answer all your questions URL: <u>https://www.textrequest.com/blog/</u> texting-statistics-answer-questions/ [accessed 2019-10-04]
- 8. Subtropic Publications. 2018. Reports of Mark Twain's quip about his death are greatly misquoted URL: <u>http://www.thisdayinquotes.com/2010/06/reports-of-my-death-are-greatly.html</u> [accessed 2019-10-04]
- 9. Klasnja P, Pratt W. Healthcare in the pocket: mapping the space of mobile-phone health interventions. J Biomed Inform 2012 Feb;45(1):184-198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2011.08.017] [Medline: 21925288]
- 10. Dobrilova T. Techjury. 2019. 35 Must-Know SMS Marketing Statistics in 2019 URL: <u>https://techjury.net/stats-about/</u> <u>sms-marketing-statistics/</u> [accessed 2019-10-04]
- 11. Clawson J, Pater J, Miller A, Mynatt E, Mamykina L. No longer wearing: investigating the abandonment of personal health-tracking technologies on craigslist. 2015 Presented at: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing; September 7-11, 2015; Osaka, Japan. [doi: 10.1145/2750858.2807554]
- 12. Patel MS, Asch DA, Volpp KG. Wearable Devices as Facilitators, Not Drivers, of Health Behavior Change. JAMA 2015 Feb 03;313(5):459. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.14781]
- 13. Viswanathan V, Hollebeek LD, Malthouse EC, Maslowska E, Jung Kim S, Xie W. The Dynamics of Consumer Engagement with Mobile Technologies. Service Science 2017 Mar;9(1):36-49. [doi: 10.1287/serv.2016.0161]
- 14. Kominers S. Sticky content and the structure of the commercial web. 2009 Presented at: Workshop on the Economics of Networks; July 7, 2009; Stanford, California, USA.
- 15. Nouri SS, Avila-Garcia P, Cemballi AG, Sarkar U, Aguilera A, Lyles CR. Assessing Mobile Phone Digital Literacy and Engagement in User-Centered Design in a Diverse, Safety-Net Population: Mixed Methods Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 29;7(8):e14250. [doi: 10.2196/14250]
- 16. Vaghefi I, Tulu B. The Continued Use of Mobile Health Apps: Insights From a Longitudinal Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 29;7(8):e12983. [doi: 10.2196/12983]
- Torous J, Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Firth J, Christensen H. Clinical review of user engagement with mental health smartphone apps: evidence, theory and improvements. Evid Based Mental Health 2018 Jun 05;21(3):116-119. [doi: 10.1136/eb-2018-102891]
- O'Connor S, Hanlon P, O'Donnell CA, Garcia S, Glanville J, Mair FS. Understanding factors affecting patient and public engagement and recruitment to digital health interventions: a systematic review of qualitative studies. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Sep 15;16(1):120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0359-3] [Medline: 27630020]
- 19. Suffoletto B. Text Message Behavioral Interventions: From Here to Where? Curr Opin Psychol 2016 Feb 01;9:16-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.09.012] [Medline: 26665157]
- 20. Michie S, Ashford S, Sniehotta FF, Dombrowski SU, Bishop A, French DP. A refined taxonomy of behaviour change techniques to help people change their physical activity and healthy eating behaviours: the CALO-RE taxonomy. Psychol Health 2011 Nov;26(11):1479-1498. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2010.540664] [Medline: 21678185]
- 21. Willcox JC, van der Pligt P, Ball K, Wilkinson SA, Lappas M, McCarthy EA, et al. Views of Women and Health Professionals on mHealth Lifestyle Interventions in Pregnancy: A Qualitative Investigation. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Oct 28;3(4):e99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4869] [Medline: 26510886]
- 22. Mendiola MF, Kalnicki M, Lindenauer S. Valuable Features in Mobile Health Apps for Patients and Consumers: Content Analysis of Apps and User Ratings. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2015 May 13;3(2):e40. [doi: <u>10.2196/mhealth.4283</u>]
- 23. Becker S, Miron-Shatz T, Schumacher N, Krocza J, Diamantidis C, Albrecht U. mHealth 2.0: Experiences, Possibilities, and Perspectives. JMIR mHealth uHealth 2014 May 16;2(2):e24. [doi: <u>10.2196/mhealth.3328</u>]
- 24. Whittaker R, McRobbie H, Bullen C, Rodgers A, Gu Y, Dobson R. Mobile phone text messaging and app-based interventions for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2019(10). [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.cd006611.pub5</u>]
- 25. Armanasco A, Miller Y, Fjeldsoe B, Marshall A. Preventive Health Behavior Change Text Message Interventions: A Meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med 2017;52(3) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.10.042]
- 26. Willcox J, Wilkinson S, Lappas M, Ball K, Crawford D, McCarthy E, et al. A mobile health intervention promoting healthy gestational weight gain for women entering pregnancy at a high body mass index: the txt4two pilot randomised controlled trial. BJOG 2017 Oct 20;124(11):1718-1728 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.14552] [Medline: 28220604]
- 27. Pew Research Center Methods. 2016. Text Message Notification for Web Surveys URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> methods/2016/09/07/text-message-notification-for-web-surveys/ [accessed 2019-12-15]
- Graham AL, Jacobs MA, Cohn AM, Cha S, Abroms LC, Papandonatos GD, et al. Optimising text messaging to improve adherence to web-based smoking cessation treatment: a randomised control trial protocol. BMJ Open 2016 Mar 30;6(3):e010687 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010687] [Medline: 27029775]
- 29. Lester RT. Ask, Don't Tell Mobile Phones to Improve HIV Care. N Engl J Med 2013 Nov 07;369(19):1867-1868. [doi: 10.1056/nejmc1310509]
- Ball K. Traversing myths and mountains: addressing socioeconomic inequities in the promotion of nutrition and physical activity behaviours. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2015 Nov 14;12(1):142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-015-0303-4] [Medline: 26572225]

- Aranda-Jan CB, Mohutsiwa-Dibe N, Loukanova S. Systematic review on what works, what does not work and why of implementation of mobile health (mHealth) projects in Africa. BMC Public Health 2014 Feb 21;14(1):188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-188] [Medline: 24555733]
- Dobson R, Whittaker R, Bartley H, Connor A, Chen R, Ross M, et al. Development of a Culturally Tailored Text Message Maternal Health Program: TextMATCH. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Apr 20;5(4):e49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7205] [Medline: 28428159]
- 33. Whittaker R, Umali E, Tanielu H, McCool J. TXTTaofiTapaa: pilot trial of a Samoan mobile phone smoking cessation programme. Journal Global Health Reports 2019;3. [doi: <u>10.29392/joghr.3.e2019035</u>]
- 34. Cole-Lewis H, Kershaw T. Text messaging as a tool for behavior change in disease prevention and management. Epidemiol Rev 2010 Mar 30;32(1):56-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxq004] [Medline: 20354039]
- 35. Grutzmacher SK, Braunscheidel Duru E, Speirs KE, Worthington L, Munger AL, Lachenmayr LA. Using text messages to engage low-income parents in school-based nutrition education. Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition 2017 Oct 09;13(3):335-339. [doi: 10.1080/19320248.2017.1364196]
- 36. Dobson R, Whittaker R, Jiang Y, Maddison R, Shepherd M, McNamara C, et al. Effectiveness of text message based, diabetes self management support programme (SMS4BG): two arm, parallel randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2018 May 17;361:k1959 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.k1959] [Medline: 29773539]
- 37. Bramley D, Riddell T, Whittaker R, Corbett T, Lin RB, Wills M, et al. Smoking cessation using mobile phone text messaging is as effective in Maori as non-Maori. N Z Med J 2005 Jun 03;118(1216):U1494. [Medline: <u>15937529</u>]
- 38. Carrillo-Larco RM, Jiwani SS, Diez-Canseco F, Kanter R, Beratarrechea A, Irazola V, GISMAL Group. Implementation Tells Us More Beyond Pooled Estimates: Secondary Analysis of a Multicountry mHealth Trial to Reduce Blood Pressure. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 01;6(11):e10226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10226] [Medline: 30389646]
- Agarwal S, Perry HB, Long L, Labrique AB. Evidence on feasibility and effective use of mHealth strategies by frontline health workers in developing countries: systematic review. Trop Med Int Health 2015 Aug;20(8):1003-1014 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/tmi.12525] [Medline: 25881735]
- 40. Kurumop SF, Bullen C, Whittaker R, Betuela I, Hetzel MW, Pulford J. Improving health worker adherence to malaria treatment guidelines in Papua New Guinea: feasibility and acceptability of a text message reminder service. PLoS One 2013 Oct 7;8(10):e76578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076578] [Medline: 24116122]
- 41. Déglise C, Suggs LS, Odermatt P. SMS for disease control in developing countries: a systematic review of mobile health applications. J Telemed Telecare 2012 Jul 23;18(5):273-281. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2012.110810</u>] [Medline: <u>22826375</u>]
- 42. Head KJ, Noar SM, Iannarino NT, Grant Harrington N. Efficacy of text messaging-based interventions for health promotion: a meta-analysis. Soc Sci Med 2013 Nov;97:41-48. [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.08.003] [Medline: 24161087]
- 43. Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2013 Jan 15;10(1):e1001362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001362] [Medline: 23349621]
- 44. Militello L, Kelly S, Melnyk B. Systematic review of text-messaging interventions to promote healthy behaviors in pediatric and adolescent populations: implications for clinical practice and research. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2012 Apr;9(2):66-77. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6787.2011.00239.x] [Medline: 22268959]
- 45. Hall AK, Cole-Lewis H, Bernhardt JM. Mobile text messaging for health: a systematic review of reviews. Annu Rev Public Health 2015 Mar 18;36(1):393-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122855] [Medline: 25785892]
- 46. Orr JA, King RJ. Mobile phone SMS messages can enhance healthy behaviour: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Health Psychol Rev 2015 May 28;9(4):397-416. [doi: <u>10.1080/17437199.2015.1022847</u>] [Medline: <u>25739668</u>]
- Mbuagbaw L, Mursleen S, Lytvyn L, Smieja M, Dolovich L, Thabane L. Mobile phone text messaging interventions for HIV and other chronic diseases: an overview of systematic reviews and framework for evidence transfer. BMC Health Serv Res 2015 Jan 22;15(1):33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-014-0654-6] [Medline: 25609559]
- Jones KR, Lekhak N, Kaewluang N. Using mobile phones and short message service to deliver self-management interventions for chronic conditions: a meta-review. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2014 Apr 05;11(2):81-88. [doi: <u>10.1111/wvn.12030</u>] [Medline: <u>24597522</u>]
- Thakkar J, Kurup R, Laba T, Santo K, Thiagalingam A, Rodgers A, et al. Mobile Telephone Text Messaging for Medication Adherence in Chronic Disease: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med 2016 Mar 01;176(3):340-349. [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7667] [Medline: 26831740]
- 50. Finitsis DJ, Pellowski JA, Johnson BT. Text message intervention designs to promote adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART): a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One 2014 Feb 5;9(2):e88166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088166] [Medline: 24505411]
- Saffari M, Ghanizadeh G, Koenig HG. Health education via mobile text messaging for glycemic control in adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Prim Care Diabetes 2014 Dec;8(4):275-285. [doi: 10.1016/j.pcd.2014.03.004] [Medline: 24793589]
- 52. Siopis G, Chey T, Allman-Farinelli M. A systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions for weight management using text messaging. J Hum Nutr Diet 2015 Feb 31;28 Suppl 2:1-15. [doi: 10.1111/jhn.12207] [Medline: 24480032]

- Payne HE, Lister C, West JH, Bernhardt JM. Behavioral functionality of mobile apps in health interventions: a systematic review of the literature. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Feb 26;3(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3335] [Medline: 25803705]
- 54. Flores Mateo G, Granado-Font E, Ferré-Grau C, Montaña-Carreras X. Mobile Phone Apps to Promote Weight Loss and Increase Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2015 Nov 10;17(11):e253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4836] [Medline: 26554314]
- 55. Firth J, Torous J, Nicholas J, Carney R, Pratap A, Rosenbaum S, et al. The efficacy of smartphone-based mental health interventions for depressive symptoms: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World Psychiatry 2017 Oct 21;16(3):287-298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20472] [Medline: 28941113]
- 56. Firth J, Torous J. Smartphone Apps for Schizophrenia: A Systematic Review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Nov 06;3(4):e102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4930] [Medline: 26546039]
- 57. Flores Mateo G, Granado-Font E, Ferré-Grau C, Montaña-Carreras X. Mobile Phone Apps to Promote Weight Loss and Increase Physical Activity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2015 Nov 10;17(11):e253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4836] [Medline: 26554314]
- Chen J, Cade JE, Allman-Farinelli M. The Most Popular Smartphone Apps for Weight Loss: A Quality Assessment. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Dec 16;3(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4334] [Medline: 26678569]
- 59. Ni Mhurchu C, Te Morenga L, Tupai-Firestone R, Grey J, Jiang Y, Jull A, et al. A co-designed mHealth programme to support healthy lifestyles in Māori and Pasifika peoples in New Zealand (OL@-OR@): a cluster-randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Digital Health 2019 Oct;1(6):e298-e307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s2589-7500(19)30130-x]
- 60. Baskerville NB, Struik LL, Guindon GE, Norman CD, Whittaker R, Burns C, et al. Effect of a Mobile Phone Intervention on Quitting Smoking in a Young Adult Population of Smokers: Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Oct 23;6(10):e10893 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10893] [Medline: 30355563]
- 61. Laws RA, Denney-Wilson EA, Taki S, Russell CG, Zheng M, Litterbach E, et al. Key Lessons and Impact of the Growing Healthy mHealth Program on Milk Feeding, Timing of Introduction of Solids, and Infant Growth: Quasi-Experimental Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Apr 19;6(4):e78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9040] [Medline: 29674313]
- 62. Byambasuren O, Sanders S, Beller E, Glasziou P. Prescribable mHealth apps identified from an overview of systematic reviews. NPJ Digit Med 2018 May 9;1(1):12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-018-0021-9] [Medline: 31304297]
- Speirs KE, Grutzmacher SK, Munger AL, Messina LA. Recruitment and retention in an SMS-based health education program: Lessons learned from Text2BHealthy. Health Informatics J 2016 Sep 26;22(3):651-658. [doi: 10.1177/1460458215577995] [Medline: 25916832]
- 64. Heminger CL, Boal AL, Zumer M, Abroms LC. Text2Quit: an analysis of participant engagement in the mobile smoking cessation program. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse 2016 Jul 27;42(4):450-458. [doi: 10.3109/00952990.2016.1149591] [Medline: 27120396]
- 65. Douglas N, Free C. 'Someone batting in my corner': experiences of smoking-cessation support via text message. Br J Gen Pract 2013 Nov 01;63(616):e768-e776. [doi: 10.3399/bjgp13x674459]
- 66. Dobson R, Whittaker R, Jiang Y, McNamara C, Shepherd M, Maddison R, et al. Long-term follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of a text-message diabetes self-management support programme, SMS4BG. Diabet Med 2019 Nov 13. [doi: 10.1111/dme.14182] [Medline: 31722130]
- 67. Free C, Knight R, Robertson S, Whittaker R, Edwards P, Zhou W, et al. Smoking cessation support delivered via mobile phone text messaging (txt2stop): a single-blind, randomised trial. The Lancet 2011 Jul;378(9785):49-55. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60701-0]
- 68. Guerriero C, Cairns J, Roberts I, Rodgers A, Whittaker R, Free C. The cost-effectiveness of smoking cessation support delivered by mobile phone text messaging: Txt2stop. Eur J Health Econ 2013 Oct 9;14(5):789-797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10198-012-0424-5] [Medline: 22961230]
- 69. Wensing M, Grol R. Knowledge translation in health: how implementation science could contribute more. BMC Med 2019 May 07;17(1):88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1322-9] [Medline: 31064388]
- 70. Gurupur VP, Wan TTH. Challenges in implementing mHealth interventions: a technical perspective. Mhealth 2017 Aug 08;3:32-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.07.05] [Medline: 28894742]
- Gopinathan P, Kaur J, Joshi S, Prasad VM, Pujari S, Panda P, et al. Self-reported quit rates and quit attempts among subscribers of a mobile text messaging-based tobacco cessation programme in India. BMJ Innov 2018 Jul 25;4(4):147-154. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmjinnov-2018-000285</u>]
- Abroms LC, Johnson PR, Leavitt LE, Cleary SD, Bushar J, Brandon TH, et al. A Randomized Trial of Text Messaging for Smoking Cessation in Pregnant Women. Am J Prev Med 2017 Dec;53(6):781-790 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2017.08.002] [Medline: 28982527]
- 73. Rodgers A, Corbett T, Bramley D, Riddell T, Wills M, Lin RB, et al. Do u smoke after txt? Results of a randomised trial of smoking cessation using mobile phone text messaging. Tob Control 2005 Aug 01;14(4):255-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/tc.2005.011577] [Medline: 16046689]
- 74. World Health Organization. 2019. Addressing mobile health URL: <u>https://www.who.int/ncds/prevention/be-healthy-be-mobile/</u> <u>en/</u> [accessed 2019-10-04]

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/
```

- 75. World Health Organization. Monitoring and evaluating digital health interventions: a practical guide to conducting research and assessment URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/252183/9789241511766-eng.</u> pdf;jsessionid=8BBC6406EB35B12937EB3AEC1D898740?sequence=1 [accessed 2019-10-04]
- 76. WHO Guideline: recommendations on digital interventions for health system strengthening. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2019.
- 77. Woolf SH. The meaning of translational research and why it matters. JAMA 2008 Jan 09;299(2):211-213. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2007.26] [Medline: 18182604]
- 78. Wandersman A, Duffy J, Flaspohler P, Noonan R, Lubell K, Stillman L, et al. Bridging the gap between prevention research and practice: the interactive systems framework for dissemination and implementation. Am J Community Psychol 2008 Jun;41(3-4):171-181. [doi: 10.1007/s10464-008-9174-z] [Medline: 18302018]
- 79. McAlearney AS, Walker DM, Livaudais-Toman J, Parides M, Bickell NA. Challenges of implementation and implementation research: Learning from an intervention study designed to improve tumor registry reporting. SAGE Open Med 2016 Sep 12;4:2050312116666215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2050312116666215] [Medline: 27635248]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 09.10.19; peer-reviewed by A Munger; comments to author 11.11.19; revised version received 26.11.19; accepted 09.12.19; published 20.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Willcox JC, Dobson R, Whittaker R Old-Fashioned Technology in the Era of "Bling": Is There a Future for Text Messaging in Health Care? J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16630 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16630/</u> doi:10.2196/16630 PMID:31859678

©Jane C Willcox, Rosie Dobson, Robyn Whittaker. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 20.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Viewpoint

Preserving the Open Access Benefits Pioneered by the Journal of Medical Internet Research and Discouraging Fraudulent Journals

Jeremy C Wyatt¹, DM, FRCP, MBBS

Department of Public Health and Primary Care, University of Southampton, Southampton, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author:

Jeremy C Wyatt, DM, FRCP, MBBS Department of Public Health and Primary Care University of Southampton Aldermoor Health Centre Aldermoor Close Southampton, SO16 7NS United Kingdom Phone: 44 2380597551 Email: j.c.wyatt@soton.ac.uk

Abstract

The *Journal of Medical Internet Research* (JMIR) was an early pioneer of open access online publishing, and two decades later, some readers and authors may have forgotten the challenges of previous scientific publishing models. This commentary summarizes the many advantages of open access publishing for each of the main stakeholders in scientific publishing and reminds us that, like every innovation, there are disadvantages that we need to guard against, such as the problem of fraudulent journals. This paper then reviews the potential impact of some current initiatives, such as Plan S and JMIRx, concluding with some suggestions to help new open-access publishers ensure that the advantages of open access publishing outweigh the challenges.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16532) doi:10.2196/16532

KEYWORDS

open access; predatory journals; knowledge management; scientific journals; mobilizing computable knowledge; fraudulent journals

Introduction

Background

Scientific journals have a 355-year history, with the first, Le Journal des Sçavans, appearing in 1665, followed the same year by Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society. Now there are more than 5000 scientific publishing companies with 25,000 journals publishing 1.5 million articles per year, generating revenues of US \$25 billion [1]. Even more surprising are the changes in the last 20 years. Many Journal of Medical Internet Research (JMIR) authors and readers will have forgotten that, just two decades ago, JMIR was one of the very first scientific journals in any field to demonstrate the value and sustainability of open access publishing. JMIR remains the top-cited journal in the discipline of medical informatics, partly due to that bold decision by its editor, Gunther Eysenbach. Readers may have also forgotten the dark days of universal pay-for-access and the paper publishing model that preceded online publishing. Back then, a researcher periodically visited libraries to photocopy

RenderX

articles out of bound journals or waited weeks for an article from an obscure journal to arrive from an interlibrary loan service. So, it is timely to remind ourselves of the many advantages of open access publishing, consider some of the pitfalls, and explore some potentially fundamental changes in the publishing landscape over the next few years.

Advantages of the Open Access Publishing Model in Medicine

Open access publishing brings many advantages for authors, researchers, research funders, publishers, the environment, and the patients (Textbox 1). For the author, publication in an open-access journal means that their work is 90% more likely to be read and 42% more likely to be downloaded as a PDF in the six months following publication than a comparable subscription-access article in the same journal [2]. The precise impact of open access publishing on citation rates is still debated [3]. For example, in a recent cohort study of 5835 medical journals, open access journals had a significantly higher

Wyatt

CiteScore, percent cited, and source normalized impact per paper, but the non–open access journals had a higher scholarly output [4]. The broader societal impact of research is also significant, with higher Altmetric scores for open access articles [5]. As always, in cohort studies, association is hard to distinguish here from causation; however, the only trial which could answer this question rigorously by randomizing incoming articles to open or subscription-only access journals was carried out a decade ago in 11 physiology journals [2]. Thus, it may have limited generalizability today. This trial showed no real citation benefit for open access articles compared to comparable subscription-access articles during the year following publication [2].

For researchers, open access dramatically reduces the hassle of obtaining access to the full text, which is vital as openly accessible abstracts do not always fairly represent article contents [6]. However, structured abstracts have now potentially reduced this mismatch. For those who carry out and fund systematic reviews, such as guideline development groups, access to the full text to extract details of the study methods and results is particularly important. For this group, there was no apparent difference in the methodological quality of either primary or secondary research articles published in open access or subscription-only journals [7], at least in cancer epidemiology. For publishers, open access guarantees a steady flow of readers to their site, allowing them to experiment over time with different methods of indexing or presenting information in their journal using A-B testing and similar methods. This makes continuing quality improvement and enhancing reader impact much more straightforward than when articles sit behind a paywall. It also dramatically extends the reach of journals beyond researchers in Western countries with well-funded libraries, to researchers working in low- and middle-income countries, and to people who are not researchers at all. These new readers may include health professionals seeking an answer to a clinical question, or they might want to produce a Critically Appraised Topic (CAT) to add to an institutional CATBank.

Textbox 1. Some advantages of open access publishing for various stakeholders.

Individual patients and members of the public

• Easy to locate and access primary and secondary research results to inform their own health-related decisions or advise friends and family.

Patient groups

• Empowers patient and public involvement groups to engage in reshaping health care or clinical service delivery and get involved in formulating research questions (eg, James Lind Alliance) and how researchers address these questions (eg, INVOLVE).

Health professionals

• Allows health professionals to rapidly access primary or secondary research to answer clinical questions at the point of care and thus deliver more evidence-based care.

Guideline development groups and other evidence-based policy developers

• Reduces the costs and lowers the barriers to producing evidence-based practice guidelines and incorporating evidence into other policies (eg, for health promotion).

Health systems

• Lower cost of incorporating evidence-based thinking into the structure and function of a health system.

Researchers carrying out research

• Allows more frequent searching from the researchers' desktop of a broader range of literature, thus enhancing multi-disciplinary research and helping researchers stay up to date.

Researchers writing articles

• Gives greater reassurance that their research will be read.

Research funders

• Enhances the uptake of results of the research they fund, reassuring patients and the public that their donations or taxes lead to published results with impact.

Journal publishers

• Widens the reach of journals to low- and middle-income countries and nonresearchers (eg, health professionals, patients, and the public). Promotes faster accumulation of data about article readership, enabling rapid-cycle learning (a Learning Publishing System) and enhanced impact.

However, perhaps the most important new reader category that open access supports is patients and the public, allowing them to access research results to guide their self-management

decisions. In my view, open access to research results is probably the most critical factor that has led to the global growth of patient involvement networks that influence clinical science.

These include groups such as the National Health Service England's Patient and Public Voice group for clinical service delivery and the National Institute for Health Research's INVOLVE group for clinical research.

Potential Disadvantages of the Open Access Model

However, the open-access model can also lead to several new pitfalls for authors and readers, as well as for publishers (see Textbox 2).

One issue here is fraudulent (formerly labeled as "predatory" [12]) publishers and their journals, which can be defined as "spurious scientific outlets that charge fees for editorial and publishing services that they do not provide" [13]. These services include peer review, author retention of copyright, editorial input, copy editing, and a commitment to making articles available online for the long term [13]. Such journals send spam emails to solicit articles for plausible-sounding journals, which can mislead naive authors into submitting their work to a journal that provides few, if any, of the expected services. In turn, this leads to articles with a low probability of citation or clinical impact, thus contributing to the problem of research waste [14]. Worse, because of the lack of effective peer review, some articles in these journals include results that are incorrect or biased, leading to clinical actions that are at best a waste of time, and at worst are potentially harmful [15].

Evidence for the poor quality of peer review comes from a 2013 study in which a journalist sent a seriously flawed, concocted article to 304 open access journals [16]. A total of 157 (52%) journals accepted the article, with only 36 (12%) providing peer reviews that recognized the article's flaws, though 16 of those journals would still accept the article [16].

Another characteristic of these journals is their willingness to appoint anyone to their editorial board, sometimes in return for cash. Sorokowski et al submitted a fictitious resume for an unqualified scientist applying for membership of 360 journal editorial boards and were surprised to be accepted by 33% [17]. Shamseer [18] developed an empirically based list of differences between fraudulent and legitimate open access journals, based on a study of over 90 of each type. The fraudulent journals showed the following characteristics:

- Spelling errors on the journal home page (66% fraudulent versus 6% legitimate)
- Distorted or unauthorized images (63% versus 5%)
- Promoting a bogus impact factor, the Index Copernicus (33% versus 3%)
- Unverified editor or editorial board affiliation (73% versus 2%)
- Lower article processing fee (median fee US \$100 versus US \$1865)

Textbox 2. Some potential disadvantages of the open access publishing model.

Readers

• Tendency to ignore closed-access articles, which mainly affects older material pre-2000. This may lead to higher rates of research duplication, or to failure to incorporate tested classical theories into the design of digital interventions [8].

Authors

- Fraudulent or so-called "predatory" journals.
- The ability to publish is limited by cost (mean article processing fee in health informatics is €2200 [US \$2441] [9]), meaning that unfunded research by MSc or PhD students and early career researchers may not get published.

Researchers

• Pressure from funders to publish in open access publishers rather than those journals in which they know their research might have a more significant impact.

Public and patients

• It may be unclear to those lacking critical appraisal skills which journals publish high-quality material and which are fraudulent/"predatory" publishers, thus leading to the spread of pseudo-science or fake news (eg, the global anti-vax movement) [10].

Publishers

- Article processing fees may act as a barrier to authors from low- and middle-income countries or those who are carrying out unfunded research, leading to a Western bias in journal content.
- Added complexity of payment processing.
- Authors now expect faster response times and better service quality from the journal team as they are paying for the service.
- Some scientific society journals may experience insufficient submissions due to authors declining to pay the article processing fee, and thus declining readership [11].
- A stronger emphasis on journal position in article metric, and impact factor league tables may overrule other publishing values.

As a result, authors need to be vigilant and check the rigor of a journal's refereeing processes and the quality of published articles before they submit, especially if they are responding to

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16532/

J Med Internet Res 2019 | vol. 21 | iss. 12 |e16532 | p.376

(page number not for citation purposes)

one of the numerous emails soliciting articles. They can also

XSL•FO RenderX

Wyatt

of Science Journal citation reports, MEDLINE, or the Directory of Open Access Journals. Some professional bodies also publish whitelists of journals relevant to their areas of interest including, for example:

- The Association of Vision Science Librarians [19]
- The International Committee of Medical Journal Editors' list of journals that claim to follow its Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals [20]

Research funders should only support publication in journals that commit to high-quality science, and the National Library of Medicine and other bibliographic databases should continue to reject indexing requests from those journals they judge to be fraudulent. However, bibliographic databases and research funders should not presume that all small independent publishers are fraudulent, which has been a barrier to the acceptance of high-quality journals such as JMIR in the past. Senior researchers should reject offers of gift editorship or board membership, however attractive, from fraudulent journals, as that will give the journal spurious authenticity. However, this may not be the case if they genuinely believe that their influence will lead to better quality publications.

However, researchers face a dilemma when approached by an unknown open access journal to referee an article. On the one hand, they can add authenticity by adding their name to the list of reviewers. On the other, by rejecting a poor-quality article, they can improve the quality of the science that the journal publishes and help its editorial staff to better distinguish good from bad science in the future. However, since one of the hallmarks of fraudulent journals is that they tend to carry out refereeing internally if at all, this dilemma will probably not often occur.

Some Recent Innovations in Open Access Publishing

There are a several important innovations in open access publishing, one of which, Plan S, has significant potential to disrupt scientific publishing fundamentally [21]. Plan S started as a European initiative to overcome some open access publishing challenges, especially for authors seeking funds for article processing fees (APCs), but it is now gathering traction further afield. Plan S proposes that, by 2021, every research funder member of the organization Coalition S, who is promoting this plan, will require all the research they support to be published in one of a list of supported open access journals. Also, the Consortium will directly fund these journals to publish such articles, subject to specific requirements [21]. While this has many advantages, especially for those authors seeking funds to pay APCs, it will only apply to research funded by members of Coalition S. In the United States this currently only includes the Gates Foundation, while in the United Kingdom, this currently includes UK Research and Innovation (the former Research Councils) and the Wellcome Trust. This will leave most US and UK researchers funded by many other bodies, like smaller medical charities, as well as through their own account and student research. However, in January 2019, the United Kingdom's National Institute for Health Research, the largest clinical research funder in Europe (with a budget of over €I billion [approximately US \$1.3 billion]), pledged support for Plan S and announced that its current open access policy would be reviewed [22].

While many academic organizations have broadly welcomed these principles, some key concerns about Plan S have been raised by publishers, both large and small. This is because Plan S may mean that some publishers (eg, smaller independent publishers such as JMIR or specialist societies such as European Federation for Medical Informatics, International Medical Interpreters Association, or the American Medical Informatics Association) will be sidelined, as major research funders will not recognize their unique contributions towards supporting emerging disciplines, such as health informatics. However, larger publishers are also concerned, with Plan S being described as, "ballistic" by one commentator and Elsevier's stock price falling by 13% in autumn 2018 after Plan S was mooted [23]. Even the American Association for the Advancement of Science stated that Plan S "will not support high-quality peer-review, research publication and dissemination," that it "would disrupt scholarly communications, be a disservice to researchers, and impinge academic freedom," and that it, "would also be unsustainable for the Science family of journals" [24,25]. The Open Access Scholarly Publishers Association stated that Plan S puts smaller and emerging fully open-access publishers at a competitive disadvantage and potentially harms their prospects. Thus, they have been lobbying on behalf of the long tail of small open-access publishers whose needs have been ignored by Coalition S [23]. There is even bigger concern over variants of Plan S, such as Projekt DEAL in Germany [26], in which German funders and libraries are making deals with large publishers (and only large publishers) to force them to transition to open access, eradicating in the process smaller publishers and society journals. If, for example, JMIR is not included in this deal, that would make it harder for German health informatics researchers to submit their work to the highest impact journal in the field. Table 1 lists some potential advantages and disadvantages of Plan S, for the same stakeholder groups as before.



Table 1. Some advantages and disadvantages of Plan S for various stakeholders.

Stakeholder	Advantages	Disadvantages			
Individual patients and members of the public	Easy to locate and access results to inform their own health-re- lated decisions or advise friends and family.	Will only apply to results of research funded by members of Coalition S.			
Patient groups	Empowers PPI ^a groups to engage in reshaping health care or clinical service delivery and get involved in formulating research questions and in how researchers address these questions.	Will only apply to research funded by members of Coalition S.			
Health professionals	Allows health professionals to rapidly access primary or sec- ondary research to answer clinical questions at the point of care and thus deliver more evidence-based care.	Will only apply to results of research funded by members of Coalition S.			
Guideline development groups and other evidence- based policy developers	Reduces the costs and lowers the barriers to producing evidence- based practice guidelines and incorporating evidence into other policies (eg, for health promotion).	Will only apply to results of research funded by members of Coalition S.			
Health systems	Lower cost of incorporating evidence-based thinking into the structure and function of the health system.	Will only apply to results of research funded by members of Coalition S.			
Researchers carrying out re- search	Allows more frequent search from the researchers' desktop of a broader range of literature, thus enhancing multi-disciplinary research and helping researchers stay up to date.	Will only apply to research funded by members of Coalition S, excluding work funded by smaller organi- zations and unfunded or student research. May even threaten the existence of some academic disciplines, such as health informatics.			
Researchers writing articles	Gives greater reassurance that their research will be read.	Will only apply to researchers funded by members of Coalition S.			
Research funders	Enhances the uptake of results of the research they fund, reas- suring patients and the public that their donations or taxes lead to published results with impact.	Will only apply to research funded by members of Coalition S.			
Journal publishers	Widens the readership of some journals to low- and middle-in- come countries and nonresearchers. Provides a reliable income stream from Coalition S to journals.	Funding from Consortium S will be subject to meeting several requirements, some of which may be challeng ing. Likely to favor large, established publishers; coul- add significant barriers to market entry or growth fo small or new publishers, ultimately eradicating smaller publishers and society journals.			

^aPPI: patient and public involvement.

A second innovation for open access is publishing the details of an algorithm (eg, the R syntax or pseudocode) alongside the article which describes its development and validation [27]. This is part of the global movement to "Mobilise Computable Biomedical Knowledge" (MBCK) [28] and was developed analogously with the practice in bioinformatics of publishing gene and protein sequences alongside the article describing their discovery. A third innovation, designed to incentivize reviewers and recognize the effort that peer review takes, is to reduce the APC for peer reviewers through "Karma credits", which was pioneered by JMIR [29]. Ultimately, APCs may disappear as other organizations, such as universities or research funders, pick up the bill for scientific publishing, as proposed by Plan S.

A final innovation with even wider potential consequences is JMIRx [30]. This novel approach inverts scientific publishing so that instead of the author seeking a journal and submitting their article, journal editors scan preprint servers and other sources of research content and contact authors of interesting material requesting a journal-ready article [30].

Conclusions

RenderX

There is no doubt that, since JMIR pioneered this new publishing model 20 years ago, open access has led to many benefits for

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16532/
```

different stakeholders and even opened up new areas of activity, such as patient and public involvement in research and self-management. Of course, open access has led to side effects and unintended consequences, such as the growth of fraudulent journals, but it is now clear that the significance of this challenge has been overstated. More importantly, several recent innovations described above, led by respected brands, such as JMIR, with its impressive record of accomplishment and exciting plans for the future, build on the open-access model and demonstrate its continuing importance and value.

Thinking about how a new open source publisher and editor might ensure that the advantages of open access outweigh its disadvantages for their journal, some suggested principles include: (1) agree with all staff and funders that the core purpose of the journal is help identify, promote, and disseminate high-quality research and its application to improve society and the environment; (2) develop a business model and partnerships that build brand reputation and encourage scientific rigor, originality, and integrity in pursuit of the core purpose, which needs to take higher priority than commercial profit or other short-term considerations; (3) make details of the article review and publishing process, including peer review criteria and scores, open to both authors and readers, and preferably to automated search agents; (4) lower cost barriers to authors where possible, especially to students, early career researchers, and

others carrying out unfunded research, using a range of strategies to reduce or eliminate APCs; (5) lower the barriers to readers, especially members of the public, clinicians, and those in lowand middle-income countries, to help them easily locate and access as much of the content as possible; and (6) strive to ensure that all content is well indexed by the major bibliographic services as soon as possible, and that content is retained online long term in third party archives, such as PMC.

Finally, we should encourage all scientific publishers, whether subscription only, open access or hybrid, to develop, test, and share publishing innovations to support the principles outlined above, in the way that JMIR has so clearly demonstrated in its first two decades.

Conflicts of Interest

JCW has been a member of the Editorial Board of JMIR since it was founded.

References

- Triggle CR, Triggle DJ. From Gutenberg to Open Science: An Unfulfilled Odyssey. Drug Dev Res 2017 Feb;78(1):3-23
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ddr.21369] [Medline: 27767221]
- 2. Davis PM, Lewenstein BV, Simon DH, Booth JG, Connolly MJL. Open access publishing, article downloads, and citations: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2008 Jul 31;337:a568 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a568] [Medline: 18669565]
- Hua F, Shen C, Walsh T, Glenny AM, Worthington H. Open Access: Concepts, findings, and recommendations for stakeholders in dentistry. J Dent 2017 Sep;64(1):13-22. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jdent.2017.06.012</u>] [Medline: <u>28669693</u>]
- AlRyalat SA, Saleh M, Alaqraa M, Alfukaha A, Alkayed Y, Abaza M, et al. The impact of the open-access status on journal indices: a review of medical journals. F1000Res 2019;8:266 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12688/f1000research.17979.1] [Medline: 31001420]
- 5. Wang X, Liu C, Mao W, Fang Z. The open access advantage considering citation, article usage and social media attention. Scientometrics 2015 Mar 12;103(2):555-564. [doi: 10.1007/s11192-015-1547-0]
- Pitkin RM, Branagan MA, Burmeister LF. Accuracy of data in abstracts of published research articles. JAMA 1999 Mar 24;281(12):1110-1111. [doi: 10.1001/jama.281.12.1110] [Medline: 10188662]
- Pastorino R, Milovanovic S, Stojanovic J, Efremov L, Amore R, Boccia S. Quality Assessment of Studies Published in Open Access and Subscription Journals: Results of a Systematic Evaluation. PLoS One 2016;11(5):e0154217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154217] [Medline: 27167982]
- Murray E, Hekler EB, Andersson G, Collins LM, Doherty A, Hollis C, et al. Evaluating Digital Health Interventions: Key Questions and Approaches. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):843-851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.008] [Medline: 27745684]
- 9. Kuballa S. Open Access Publishing in the Field of Medical Informatics. J Med Syst 2017 May;41(5):82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10916-017-0729-0] [Medline: 28365898]
- Jaiswal J, Halkitis PN. Towards a More Inclusive and Dynamic Understanding of Medical Mistrust Informed by Science. Behav Med 2019;45(2):79-85. [doi: 10.1080/08964289.2019.1619511] [Medline: 31343962]
- 11. Davis PM. Public accessibility of biomedical articles from PubMed Central reduces journal readership--retrospective cohort analysis. FASEB J 2013 Jul;27(7):2536-2541 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1096/fj.13-229922] [Medline: 23554455]
- 12. Beall J. The Charleston Advisor. 2010 Apr. "Predatory" Open-Access Scholarly Publishers URL: <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/</u> pdf/11886760.pdf [accessed 2019-12-09]
- Strinzel M, Severin A, Milzow K, Egger M. Blacklists and Whitelists To Tackle Predatory Publishing: a Cross-Sectional Comparison and Thematic Analysis. MBio 2019 Jun 04;10(3):1-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1128/mBio.00411-19] [Medline: 31164459]
- Chalmers I, Glasziou P. Avoidable waste in the production and reporting of research evidence. The Lancet 2009 Jul;374(9683):86-89. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60329-9</u>]
- 15. Beall J. Medical Publishing Triage Chronicling Predatory Open Access Publishers. Annals of Medicine and Surgery 2013;2(2):47-49. [doi: 10.1016/s2049-0801(13)70035-9]
- Bohannon J. Who's afraid of peer review? Science 2013 Oct 04;342(6154):60-65. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.342.6154.60</u>] [Medline: <u>24092725</u>]
- 17. Sorokowski P, Kulczycki E, Sorokowska A, Pisanski K. Predatory journals recruit fake editor. Nature 2017 Mar 22;543(7646):481-483. [doi: 10.1038/543481a] [Medline: 28332542]
- Shamseer L, Moher D, Maduekwe O, Turner L, Barbour V, Burch R, et al. Potential predatory and legitimate biomedical journals: can you tell the difference? A cross-sectional comparison. BMC Med 2017 Mar 16;15(1):28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0785-9] [Medline: 28298236]
- 19. AVSL. 2019. Whitelist of Vision Science Journals URL: <u>https://www.avsl.org/resources/whitelist-of-vision-science-journals/</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 20. ICMJE. 2019. Journals stating that they follow the ICMJE Recommendations URL: <u>http://www.icmje.org/journals-following-the-icmje-recommendations/</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16532/

- 21. Science Europe. Plan S-Making full and immediate Open Access a reality. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.coalition-s.org/</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 22. NIHR. 2019 Jan 17. NIHR gives support to international Open Access initiative URL: <u>https://www.nihr.ac.uk/news/nihr-gives-support-to-international-open-access-initiative/20384</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 23. Wikipedia. 2019 Dec 04. Plan S URL: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Plan_S</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 24. Else H. Radical open-access plan could spell end to journal subscriptions. Nature 2018 Sep 4;561(7721):17-18. [doi: 10.1038/d41586-018-06178-7] [Medline: 30181639]
- 25. Yeager A. The Scientist. 2018 Sep 04. Open-Access Plan in Europe Bans Publishing in Paywalled Journals URL: <u>https://www.the-scientist.com/news-opinion/open-access-plan-in-europe-bans-publishing-in-paywalled-journals-64748</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 26. Wikipedia. 2019 Nov 23. Project Deal URL: <u>https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Project_DEAL</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- Friedman CP, Flynn AJ. Computable knowledge: An imperative for Learning Health Systems. Learn Health Syst 2019 Oct 06;3(4):e10203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/lrh2.10203] [Medline: <u>31641690</u>]
- 28. MCBK: Mobilizing Computable Biomedical Knowledge. 2019. URL: <u>https://mobilizecbk.med.umich.edu/</u> [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 29. Editorial Director. JMIR Publications Knowledge Base and Help Center. 2019 Oct. What are JMIR's innovations? URL: https://support.jmir.org/hc/en-us/articles/115002923468-What-are-JMIR-s-innovations [accessed 2019-12-09]
- 30. Eysenbach G. Celebrating 20 Years of Open Access and Innovation at JMIR Publications. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 23;21(12):e17578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17578]

Abbreviations

APC: article processing chargeCAT: critically appraised topicJMIR: Journal of Medical Internet ResearchMBCK: Mobilise Computable Biomedical Knowledge

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 07.10.19; peer-reviewed by J Till; comments to author 11.11.19; revised version received 26.11.19; accepted 09.12.19; published 23.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Wyatt JC Preserving the Open Access Benefits Pioneered by the Journal of Medical Internet Research and Discouraging Fraudulent Journals J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e16532 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e16532/ doi:10.2196/16532 PMID:

©Jeremy C Wyatt. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 23.12.2019. This is open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution an License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Editorial

Celebrating 20 Years of Open Access and Innovation at JMIR Publications

Gunther Eysenbach¹, MD, MPH, FACMI

JMIR Publications, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Gunther Eysenbach, MD, MPH, FACMI JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay E, Suite 1100 Toronto, ON Canada Phone: 1 416 583 2040 Email: editor@jmir.org

Abstract

In this 20th anniversary theme issue, we are celebrating how JMIR Publications, an innovative publisher deeply rooted in academia and created by scientists for scientists, pioneered the open access model, is advancing digital health research, is disrupting the scholarly publishing world, and is helping to empower patients. All this has been made possible by the disintermediating power of the internet. And we are not done innovating: Our new series of "superjournals," called JMIRx, will provide a glimpse into what we see as the future and end goal in scholarly publishing: open science. In this model, the vast majority of papers will be published on preprint servers first, with "overlay" journals then competing to peer review and publish peer-reviewed "versions of record" of the best papers.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e17578) doi:10.2196/17578

KEYWORDS

JMIR; internet; medical informatics; ehealth; digital health; participatory medicine; open access; electronic publishing; scholarly publishing; science communication; journalogy; history of science; overlay journal; preprints; open science

Twenty Years Ago ...

Twenty years ago, JMIR (originally the Journal of Medical Internet Research, the journal; now, JMIR Publications, the publisher) started an unprecedented journey to disrupt the medical informatics and publishing world with a new kind of journal and a new type of business model. The term "open access" was not invented back in 1999; most journals were still published and distributed on paper, and I remember the days of having to courier 10 copies of a manuscript on paper to a journal office, which then sent out the same hardcopies by postal mail to peer-reviewers. Creative Commons was in its infancy, and authors routinely signed away their copyright to publishers. A paper I submitted to a medical informatics journal took 2 years to be published. In this environment I was excited about the possibilities of the internet but also frustrated by the obvious inefficiencies and anachronisms of how we communicate in science. Having already worked as editor and book author in my student days, I decided to create a radically different, new journal for the internet age, with the intention of innovating on form, content, and business model.

In terms of *form*, the journal was free, rapid, and online only, and communication with authors and reviewers was exclusively electronic (we take that for granted now, but back then, most communication was still done via mail). This new form also opened up content to nontraditional audiences, ultimately contributing to a shift in the power distribution between doctors versus patients [1].

In terms of *content*, I solicited and encouraged original research focusing on "eHealth" (electronic health) [2,3] (called "digital health" by some today), which is a much broader concept than the "electronic medical record," "decision support for clinicians", or "hospital information systems"—topics that dominated and defined the original discipline of medical informatics then (and partly still do now). I clearly saw already back then that information and communication technologies related to the internet would have an impact far beyond billing and record management [2,3].

In terms of the *business model*, my original idea was something like "we'll figure it out, but it shouldn't be subscription," which only later morphed into "author/funder pays." As a side note, here is one truth about innovators: When they say they "innovated" a business model, they often mean that at the time,



they did not have a clue about how to get their money back, and the business model simply did not exist. This is, perhaps, what happened here—the journal was a product of academic passion and did not aim to make money.

The Journal of Medical Internet Research was one of the first journals worldwide to use a new publishing model that empowers academics and enables end users like patients to access scientific information without going through a library. How early our contribution to this historic shift in scholarly publishing was can be illustrated by recalling some key dates in the short timeline of open access history: I conceived JMIR in 1998, with the first issue published in 1999, one year before early well-funded publishers like PLOS (incorporated as an advocacy organization in 2000 and a publisher in 2003) or BioMed Central (founded in 2000) entered the field. Because they were better funded and had marketing departments, they became the poster children for open access, but JMIR Publications certainly deserves credit for being an open access pioneer, as also evidenced by our role in cofounding the Open Access Scholarly Publishers Association (OASPA) [4], a nonprofit organization that promotes open access to health research and functions as a white list. Open access helps knowledge dissemination and uptake [5], but some overzealous publishers used questionable methods that threatened the credibility of open access. Concerns about the "black sheep" in the industry (later called "predatory" by Beall) arose about 10 years into our existence [6], and OASPA, created shortly after, was an important step to "whitelist" credible open access publishers.

Twenty years ago, the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* predicted that in the internet age, information needs to be open and free, and it went on to become extremely successful. It was soon named the leading eHealth journal in its category by Thomson Reuters (now Clarivate Analytics). Four journals, all published by JMIR Publications, are ranked within the top eight journals in the field, and two JMIR journals rank first (*Journal of Medical Internet Research*) and second (*JMIR mHealth and uHealth*) in this list. Although we warn people not to misuse the impact factor to assess researchers and institutions (there are better methods to rank the most impactful scientists [7]), publishing in a reputable journal remains critical for the career of an academic, and we would argue that all JMIR journals are reputable, irrespective of the impact factor. As one author put it, "publishing in JMIR is like getting on the honor roll."

Soon after, the number of submissions started to increase exponentially, and we expanded our journal portfolio to cover a wide range of clinical specialties, to engage like-minded academics as editors-in-chief and to illustrate that "medical informatics" is not a "vertical" discipline but a horizontal theme that penetrates all areas of medicine—with JMIR as the journal brand that stands for innovation and digital progress in every single medical discipline. Today, JMIR Publications publishes over 2500 articles annually in nearly 30 journals.

It has not been an easy journey, and we faced opposition from expected and sometimes unexpected forces. Expected was pushback from scholarly publishing societies and large publishers, who are dependent on subscription revenues, and

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e17578/
```

who did everything they could to delay the arrival and success of open access. Unexpected lack of support came from medical informatics societies, who have of course vested interests with their competing society-backed subscription/membership journals. But this may, perhaps, be a story for a different editorial.

Now is the time to celebrate our achievements in a positive light. We are celebrating our 20th anniversary with a special theme issue [8], which contains a remarkable mix of invited commentaries and original research, reflecting on the past and opening new perspectives for the near future. Of course, we are also celebrating JMIR itself while reflecting on our achievements and planning our direction for the future.

The 20th Anniversary Special Issue

This special issue is truly remarkable, with exceptional articles and authors.

First, we provide a glimpse into the future of disruptive technologies, by publishing Elon Musk (yes, that one!) and his Neuralink team's [9] paper about their groundbreaking *brain-machine interface (BMI)*—how to connect machines to the brain—for possible "read and write" access. The possibility to link ourselves directly to computers may address the bandwidth problem (especially for computer input), and we can even start dreaming about downloading apps that may directly program healthy habits into our brains or allow us to communicate with machines and each other wirelessly. The authors announced in a press conference earlier this year that they intend to start the first clinical trials as early as 2020. We are possibly on the brink of another revolution—the BMI revolution—the third revolution after the internet and mobile health (revolutions chronicled by 20 proud JMIR years).

The implications are equally fascinating and concerning, which is why Musk's white paper is accompanied by four invited commentaries reflecting on the societal and scientific impact of this transformative technology [10-13]. They are scary, perhaps, because if we have not even figured out how to address the quality problem on the internet and in app stores, how can we ever hope to regulate and perform quality assessments for apps that may control our brains and are influenced by our brains, and work differently in each person—how do we assess their safety? There are many questions, so we are not concerned about running out of papers for the next 20 years.

Several papers in this issue also reflect on the rapid progress in *artificial intelligence* research in medicine [14-18]. Although these technologies have been around for decades, it seems that a tipping point has been reached, with these applications now becoming truly useful and mainstream in medicine. This is, in turn, partly fueled by the internet and the trillions of data points and textual information on it, giving machines the ability to understand the world better or, rather, to understand the world as *modelled on the internet* better. We have to stay mindful of the fact that the model of the world reflected on the internet is not a true representation of the world. Perhaps, herein lies a rarely discussed danger of artificial intelligence, in that machines will execute machine decisions based on a biased model of the

XSL•FO RenderX

world: Will *digital inequity* lead to or reinforce real-word inequity? This provides another angle on the importance of building capacity for digital health in resource-poor settings, as described by Walter Curioso in this issue [19].

Another section in this theme issue deals with the impact of the internet on patient empowerment. We are, for the first time, publishing the transcript of e-Patient Dave's historic keynote at the Medicine 2.0 conference 10 years ago, which kicked off the #gmdd rallying cry and fueled the *participatory medicine* movement (JMIR Publications now also publishes the official journal of the Society for Participatory Medicine, the *Journal of Participatory Medicine*). Dave overcame cancer not least with the help of the internet and reminds us that patients need access to their medical data [20] - a goal that 10 years after his keynote is still not achieved [1].

We are also publishing the personal story of Andre Kushniruk, the editor-in-chief of JMIR Human Factors, who describes how the internet saved his life [21]. One morning, he woke up and had difficulties swallowing. A few weeks later, he started bleeding from his throat so profusely that he had to be rushed into the emergency department. The diagnosis was devastating-inoperable tongue cancer. The options he was given were chemotherapy and radiation, and these would be palliative only, with a slim chance of full recovery. However, with his wife, Elizabeth Borycki, who is also a professor at the School for Health Information in Victoria (and editor-in-chief of JMIR Nursing), the couple sprang into action, and after hours of searching on the internet, found a surgeon in the United States who specialized in surgically removing exactly the kind of cancer Andre had. The couple travelled to the United States for the surgery and today, Andre is free of cancer. "Freely available health information on the Internet saved his life," says Elizabeth Borycki (who also contributed a paper to this theme issue on safety and error prevention in health care, which is not entirely unrelated to the power of informed patients to make health care better [22]).

It is stories like these that validate our belief in the power of the internet and digital technologies to "disintermediate" and not only disrupt the medical industry but also change the way researchers communicate their research results and patients retrieve information. However, open access to research information is not enough: Patients also need access to their personal health information, and the fact that we are not there yet is painfully illustrated in Dave DeBronkart's latest article [1], which sometimes sounds bitter about the lack of progress and the forces resisting change. Disappointment and disillusionment are also reflected in the paper by Alex Jadad and his daughter [23]. These perspectives are sobering and refreshing at the same time, given the overly optimistic hype around digital health in other journals or news media, partly peddled by the "digital health" industry.

Speaking of hype and buzzwords, in this 20th year anniversary theme issue, Alireza Ahmadvand and colleagues [24] present a study on the increasing use of the "*digital health*" moniker in JMIR journals, a term I personally find problematic (not only because the word "digital" has another meaning in medicine, as anybody who has had a prostate exam can attest to that).

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e17578/
```

Although we are not policing what terms people use in their papers, we gently try to dissuade authors from using these new buzzwords. We are also resisting the temptation to rename our flagship journal from Journal of Medical Internet Research to JMIR Digital Health, as buzzwords have a way of coming and going. More importantly, the term is not helpful, as it obfuscates the actual technologies used: For example, is it a Web-based intervention, a mobile intervention, or something connected to our brain? To write about a "digital intervention" is a little similar to writing about a "pharmacological intervention" without specifying the ingredients. Most importantly, having witnessed several terms come and go ("information and [ICT]," communication technologies "telemedicine," "cybermedicine," "eHealth," "connected health," "digital medicine," etc), I now better understand the dynamics of why people create (and abandon) these new terms, and they are often related to money: venture capital funding for private companies or grants for funding research. Investors (of private companies) and peers (at funding agencies and journals) are often more impressed by something "new," unencumbered by failures of the past, and eHealth is full of failures. But it is also full of success stories, and the reverse may happen as well: That something that works is forgotten and traded in for the next best shiny "digital health" thing. This sentiment is echoed in the paper by Jane C Willcox and colleagues [25], who remind us that textmessaging is still one of the most effective health interventions, but funding bodies tend to turn down proposals with technologies that are not new and sexy enough. Thus, my biggest concern with the new "digital health" hype and -more broadly- with constantly rebranding something that has been around for decades, is that it affects our ability to learn from failures or successes of the past. To abandon a term like electronic health/electronic medicine in favor of "digital health" or "digital medicine," only to appear cutting edge and prevent people from googling or researching past failures and successes associated with the field is dishonest and antiscientific, and we will not stand for it. Although the word "internet" in our flagship journal title may no longer adequately and exhaustively describe what we publish, the internet remains the fuel for innovation and the infrastructure that enables global communication, and we will continue publishing cutting-edge research no matter what the buzzword du jour is.

Open Access is Knowledge, and Knowledge is Power

The stories of e-Patient Dave [20] or Andre Kushniruk [21] exemplify what I tried to change 20 years ago, why the journal was created in the first place, and why I decided to make it open access. JMIR Publications is not only a business, but also a social enterprise: We try to instigate social change, as evidenced by our vision statement, which is engraved on the wall of our head office in Toronto, Canada (Figure 1):

We envision a world where people are empowered by health research and technology to make effective, informed decisions, take control of their health and well-being, and live happier and healthier lives.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Eysenbach

Figure 1. Vision of JMIR Publications at the wall of the editorial office.



John Torous, our brilliant Editor-in-chief of JMIR Mental Health, writes wonderfully about our impact beyond the impact factor [26], but what I am most proud of is our role in advancing two important social movements of our time: Open Access (to free general medical knowledge from being behind paywalls) [4,5], and participatory medicine (which includes and necessitates freeing personal health information from the vaults of institutional medicine) [20]. As publisher, we are helping likeminded leaders in the health technology space collaborate and disseminate their ideas and research results, facilitating progress and change. Some of our readers indeed recognize our role as social change agent: "JMIR is an interesting and socially engaged enterprise worthed to publish with" writes Alberto J. Revolware in a Google review [27]. Others call us "a very forward-thinking publication (..). A true beacon of light for the digital health industry." (Jessica Shull) [27]. Most authors also appreciate the innovations we made to streamline the review and publishing process, with industry-leading turnaround times and impact: "JMIR has completely optimized the process of reviewing and publishing manuscripts. Other journals should follow suit." writes Jereme Wilroy [27].

To achieve our vision, we not only publish research papers, but also create and apply additional tools that connect vetted, quality research outputs in novel, effective, and timely ways for those who need it, and that includes patients. Therefore, in addition to its 30 peer-reviewed journals, JMIR Publications maintains a blog site for end users and plans to translate scientific research

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e17578/
```

RenderX

into consumer-understandable, actionable information (watch our forthcoming product announcements). Organizing and supporting medical and scientific conferences; developing new software, databases, and resources for researchers and patients alike; and even angel investment in small digital health and digital science companies are all part of our toolbox toward that goal and go beyond publishing.

Academic societies take notice of these efforts and increasingly move their journals to JMIR Publications. When the nonprofit *Society for Participatory Medicine* was looking for a new home for its *Journal of Participatory Medicine*, JMIR Publications was a natural fit, and the society moved the journal to JMIR Publications. The movement in which networked patients shift from being mere passengers to responsible drivers of their health and where providers encourage and value patients as full partners, goes well beyond digital medicine, but information technology is a catalyst to enable that paradigm shift.

We also forge partnerships with research institutions and libraries; for example, owing to a recent deal with the California Digital Library at the University of California (UC), the article processing fees for authors from all 10 UC campuses throughout California are subsidized or fully covered through this agreement. We will continue to try to make similar institutional or even national agreements, but we will also need the help of librarians, faculty, and our readers to advocate such deals at their institutions or national libraries.

The Future of Publishing: Our Innovations for 2020 and the Next 20 Years

We are not done innovating, and we are very excited to announce the launch of the new JMIRx journal series, which expands our scope beyond electronic health to all areas of medicine, and even biology and psychology, and provides an entirely new publishing experience for authors.

JMIRx is a new journal series and new type of journal, which we call "superjournals" (others may call them "overlay" journals; Figure 2). Superjournals are operating "on top" of review preprint servers and offer peer and copyediting/archiving/indexing services; as such, they do everything a "normal" journal does, except that authors no longer have to submit their manuscript to a journal. Instead, our acquisition and review editors find the papers they want to publish and extend conditional offers of publication to interesting articles published in preprint servers as well as solicit reviews and commentaries. In addition to the "editorial prospecting" workflow, authors can self-nominate their existing preprints for publication (which is equivalent to a traditional journal submission) without going through another submission process. If superjournals ask for revisions, these revisions are also uploaded to the preprint server.

We see this model, which includes radical openness during the entire manuscript preparation and revision process, as the future of publishing, as predicted 20 years ago in the year 2000, when I reflected on the power of preprint servers and the blurring boundaries between what constitutes a "publication" (rather than the traditional dichotomy of "published" versus "unpublished" articles I posited that the internet age calls for a distinction between "type 1" [informal] and "type 2" [version of record, peer-reviewed] publications):

Researchers could submit type-1 electronic papers [preprints] to preprint servers for discussion and peer-review, and journal editors and publishers would pick and bid for the best papers they want to see as "type-2 papers" [version of record] in their journal. [28]

This is what I still believe may be the future of publishing, and JMIRx may illustrate this. Combined with other innovations, such as our *JMIR Research Protocols* journal, which increases accountability and transparency in research through registered protocols and registered reports, we are confident that once again, we are at the at cutting edge of an open-science revolution, and we look forward to take that journey in the next 20 years with our growing base of readers, editors and reviewers.

Figure 2. JMIRx, a new series of superjournals (overlay journals) offering peer review and publication services for preprints.



Conflicts of Interest

The author is founder and president of JMIR Publications.

References

- deBronkart D. Open Access as a Revolution: Knowledge Alters Power. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 11;21(12):e16368 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16368] [Medline: 31825321]
- 2. Eysenbach G. What is e-health? J Med Internet Res 2001;3(2):E20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3.2.e20] [Medline: 11720962]
- 3. Eysenbach G. Welcome to the Journal of Medical Internet Research. J Med Internet Res 1999;1:e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1]
- 4. History. OASPA: Open Access Scholarly Publishers Association. URL: <u>https://oaspa.org/about/history/</u> [accessed 2019-12-20]
- Eysenbach G. The open access advantage. J Med Internet Res 2006 May 15;8(2):e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e8] [Medline: 16867971]
- Eysenbach, Gunther. Gunther Eysenbach's Random Research Rants Blog. 2008. Black sheep among Open Access Journals and Publishers. URL: <u>http://gunther-eysenbach.blogspot.com/2008/03/black-sheep-among-open-access-journals.html</u> [accessed 2019-12-20] [WebCite Cache ID 5YIqkyRE4]
- Ioannidis J, Baas J, Klavans R, Boyack KW. A standardized citation metrics author database annotated for scientific field. PLoS Biol 2019 Aug;17(8):e3000384 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000384] [Medline: 31404057]
- 8. JMIR Publications. E-collection 'Theme issue 2019: 20th Anniversary Issue'. URL: <u>https://www.jmir.org/themes/857</u> [accessed 2019-12-20]
- 9. Musk E, Neuralink. An Integrated Brain-Machine Interface Platform With Thousands of Channels. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 31;21(10):e16194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16194] [Medline: 31642810]
- Pisarchik AN, Maksimenko VA, Hramov AE. From Novel Technology to Novel Applications: Comment on "An Integrated Brain-Machine Interface Platform With Thousands of Channels" by Elon Musk and Neuralink. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 31;21(10):e16356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16356] [Medline: 31674923]
- Maynard AD, Scragg M. The Ethical and Responsible Development and Application of Advanced Brain Machine Interfaces. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 31;21(10):e16321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16321] [Medline: 31674917]
- Kirsch RF, Ajiboye AB, Miller JP. The Reconnecting the Hand and Arm with Brain (ReHAB) Commentary on "An Integrated Brain-Machine Interface Platform With Thousands of Channels". J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 31;21(10):e16339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16339] [Medline: 31674921]
- 13. Valle G. The Connection Between the Nervous System and Machines: Commentary. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 06;21(11):e16344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16344] [Medline: 31692449]
- 14. Powell J. Trust Me, I'm a Chatbot: How Artificial Intelligence in Health Care Fails the Turing Test. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 28;21(10):e16222 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16222] [Medline: 31661083]
- Coiera E. The Last Mile: Where Artificial Intelligence Meets Reality. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 08;21(11):e16323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16323] [Medline: 31702559]
- 16. Lovis C. Unlocking the Power of Artificial Intelligence and Big Data in Medicine. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 08;21(11):e16607 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16607] [Medline: 31702565]
- Meskó B. The Real Era of the Art of Medicine Begins with Artificial Intelligence. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 18;21(11):e16295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16295] [Medline: 31738169]
- Zeng-Treitler Q, Nelson SJ. Will Artificial Intelligence Translate Big Data Into Improved Medical Care or Be a Source of Confusing Intrusion? A Discussion Between a (Cautious) Physician Informatician and an (Optimistic) Medical Informatics Researcher. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 27;21(11):e16272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16272] [Medline: 31774409]
- Curioso WH. Building Capacity and Training for Digital Health: Challenges and Opportunities in Latin America. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 18;21(12):e16513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16513] [Medline: 31850849]
- deBronkart D, Eysenbach G. Gimme My Damn Data (and Let Patients Help!): The #GimmeMyDamnData Manifesto. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 22;21(11):e17045 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17045] [Medline: 31755873]
- Kushniruk A. The Importance of Health Information on the Internet: How It Saved My Life and How it Can Save Yours. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 27;21(10):e16690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16690] [Medline: 31661084]
- 22. Borycki E. Quality and Safety in eHealth: The Need to Build the Evidence Base. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 19;21(12):e16689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16689] [Medline: 31855183]
- 23. Jadad AR, Jadad Garcia TM. From a Digital Bottle: A Message to Ourselves in 2039. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 01;21(11):e16274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16274] [Medline: 31682578]
- 24. Ahmadvand A, Kavanagh D, Clark M, Drennan J, Nissen L. Trends and Visibility of "Digital Health" as a Keyword in Articles by JMIR Publications in the New Millennium: Bibliographic-Bibliometric Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 19;21(12):e10477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10477] [Medline: 31855190]

- 25. Willcox JC, Dobson R, Whittaker R. Old-Fashioned Technology in the Era of "Bling": Is There a Future for Text Messaging in Health Care? J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 20;21(12):e16630 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16630] [Medline: 31859678]
- 26. Torous J. Beyond the Impact Factor: Reflecting on Twenty Years of Leading Efforts in Research, Innovation in Publishing, and Investment in People. J Med Internet Res 2019 Oct 31;21(10):e16390 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16390] [Medline: 31674922]
- 27. Google Reviews. JMIR Publications. URL: <u>https://www.google.com/</u> <u>search?q=jmirpublications&rlz=1C5CHFA_enCA761CA765&oq=jmirpublications&aqs=chrome.</u> .69i57j0l3j69i60j69i61j69i60l2.3319j0j1&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8#lrd=0x882b34c9e7c8ab21:0xb85ff061a86a00fb,1,,,
- Eysenbach G. The impact of preprint servers and electronic publishing on biomedical research. Curr Opin Immunol 2000 Oct;12(5):499-503. [doi: 10.1016/s0952-7915(00)00127-8] [Medline: 11007350]

Abbreviations

BMI: brain-machine interface
eHealth: electronic health
ICT: information and communication technologies
JMIR: Journal of Medical Internet Research
OASPA: Open Access Scholarly Publishers Association
UC: University of California

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.12.19; this is a non-peer-reviewed article; accepted 20.12.19; published 23.12.19. <u>Please cite as:</u> Eysenbach G Celebrating 20 Years of Open Access and Innovation at JMIR Publications J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e17578 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e17578/ doi:10.2196/17578 PMID:<u>31868653</u>

©Gunther Eysenbach. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 23.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Blockchain-Enabled iWellChain Framework Integration With the National Medical Referral System: Development and Usability Study

Yu-Sheng Lo^{1,2}, PhD; Cheng-Yi Yang¹, PhD; Hsiung-Fei Chien^{3,4}, MD, PhD; Shy-Shin Chang^{3,5}, MD, PhD; Chung-Ying Lu³, MS; Ray-Jade Chen^{2,4}, MSc, MD

¹Graduate Institute of Biomedical Informatics, College of Medical Science and Technology, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan

²Taipei Medical University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

- ⁴Department of Surgery, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan
- ⁵Department of Family Medicine, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan

Corresponding Author:

Ray-Jade Chen, MSc, MD Department of Surgery School of Medicine College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University 250 Wuxing St Taipei, 11031 Taiwan Phone: 886 27361661 Email: rayjchen@tmu.edu.tw

Abstract

Background: Medical referral is the transfer of a patient's care from one physician to another upon request. This process involves multiple steps that require provider-to-provider and provider-to-patient communication. In Taiwan, the National Health Insurance Administration (NHIA) has implemented a national medical referral (NMR) system, which encourages physicians to refer their patients to different health care facilities to reduce unnecessary hospital visits and the financial stress on the national health insurance. However, the NHIA's NMR system is a government-based electronic medical referral service, and its referral data access and exchange are limited to authorized clinical professionals using their national health smart cards over the NHIA virtual private network. Therefore, this system lacks scalability and flexibility and cannot establish trusting relationships among patients, family doctors, and specialists.

Objective: To eliminate the existing restrictions of the NHIA's NMR system, this study developed a scalable, flexible, and blockchain-enabled framework that leverages the NHIA's NMR referral data to build an alliance-based medical referral service connecting health care facilities.

Methods: We developed a blockchain-enabled framework that can integrate patient referral data from the NHIA's NMR system with electronic medical record (EMR) and electronic health record (EHR) data of hospitals and community-based clinics to establish an alliance-based medical referral service serving patients, clinics, and hospitals and improve the trust in relationships and transaction security. We also developed a blockchain-enabled personal health record decentralized app (DApp) based on our blockchain-enabled framework for patients to acquire their EMR and EHR data; DApp access logs were collected to assess patients' behavior and investigate the acceptance of our personal authorization-controlled framework.

Results: The constructed iWellChain Framework was installed in an affiliated teaching hospital and four collaborative clinics. The framework renders all medical referral processes automatic and paperless and facilitates efficient NHIA reimbursements. In addition, the blockchain-enabled iWellChain DApp was distributed for patients to access and control their EMR and EHR data. Analysis of 3 months (September to December 2018) of access logs revealed that patients were highly interested in acquiring health data, especially those of laboratory test reports.

Conclusions: This study is a pioneer of blockchain applications for medical referral services, and the constructed framework and DApp have been applied practically in clinical settings. The iWellChain Framework has the scalability to deploy a blockchain

³Preventive and Community Medicine Department, Taipei Medical University Hospital, Taipei, Taiwan

environment effectively for health care facilities; the iWellChain DApp has potential for use with more patient-centered applications to collaborate with the industry and facilitate its adoption.

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13563) doi:10.2196/13563

KEYWORDS

medical referral; electronic referral system; blockchain; decentralized application; electronic medical records; electronic health records; interoperability

Introduction

A medical referral is the transfer of a patient's care from one physician to another upon request. This process involves multiple steps that require provider-to-provider and provider-to-patient communication [1,2]. A well-designed and robust medical referral system may improve comprehensive health care for all patients by prioritizing those who need it, reducing health inequity, and limiting unnecessary hospital visits as well as the financial burden of health services [3,4]. However, the performance of a medical referral system varies with the level of the health system, efficiency of communication and the referral management process, and costs of different levels of care [5,6].

The Taiwan National Health Insurance (NHI) system, a universal health insurance program implemented in 1995, is characterized by comprehensive population coverage, accessibility, short waiting times, and relatively low costs. However, the weaknesses of this health care system include inconsistent quality of care, weak gatekeeper roles, and increasing financial pressures [7-10]. For the past 20 years, both the average number of hospital visits per person per year and the average number of drug prescriptions per visit have been over two times greater than those in the high-income countries of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development [11]. The immoderate use of health resources and services has become a critical problem for Taiwan. Therefore, leveraging a medical referral system at each level of a health care institution to provide patients with the most appropriate care is one of the most urgent challenges for Taiwan.

In 2017, the Taiwan National Health Insurance Administration (NHIA) launched a national medical referral (NMR) system that encourages physicians to request patient referrals between clinics and hospitals online to reduce unnecessary hospital visits as well as total health care expenditures. Numerous studies have indicated that adopting electronic medical referral systems can improve the referral management process, accessibility of specialty care, and communication between family doctors and specialists, resulting in increased patient and physician satisfaction [3,12,13]. Since May 2018, the NHIA has been provided incentives to encourage physicians at each level of health care facility to issue referrals using the NMR system. Currently, this system supports two operation modes for authorized clinical professionals using their national health smart cards through the NHIA virtual private network (VPN). One mode is online operation through a Web browser interface; the other mode provides an application programming interface (API) to support the integration of the legacy electronic medical record (EMR) systems of hospitals and clinics. In the online

operation mode, a physician can use a Web browser to fill in a patient's referral data when issuing a referral. Subsequently, when the patient visits a health care facility, the referring physician can review the referral data on the Web browser, request that the patient receives treatment, and complete the referral report by replying to the initial health care facility. In the API mode, referral data can be downloaded from or uploaded to the NMR system through batch processing using functions of the API. Therefore, referral data from legacy EMR systems, such as computerized physician order entry (CPOE), can be integrated using the API instead of through the NMR system.

Currently, medical referrals through the NMR system represent a small percentage of the total referrals of hospitals and clinics. Several obstacles limit the use of the existing NMR system. First, physicians are generally too busy to use the online operation mode during a patient consultation; thus, this mode is infeasible. Second, even if referral data can be integrated from the NMR system into the legacy EMR systems, family doctors may hesitate to issue such patient referrals because of concerns about losing the referred patients or corresponding revenue. Third, hospitals may not provide proper patient referral information when they reply to initial facilities because the additional efforts required to collect and prepare the data are extensive. Most importantly, patients who do not have complete medical or health records cannot fully understand their own general health situations. Thus, patients continue seeking health care providers and specialists support independently when they are unsatisfied with the diagnosis or treatment options provided by their initial physicians.

In recent years, blockchain technologies have been characterized as transparent, immutable, and having consensus properties; they are assumed to enable verified, accountable, and pseudoanonymous transactions and as establishing trust and transaction security without any intermediary or middleware [14-18]. These new technologies have been gradually adapted to many industries, especially in health care [19]. According to the distributed ledger model, the blockchain has attracted a lot of attention in health care for its secure, interoperable, and more efficient access to EMR and electronic health record (EHR) data between patients, providers, and relevant participating entities [20-23]. Compared with the existing health information exchange model, patients preferred to adopt the blockchain-enabled applications because of their characteristics of the decentralized data repository, privacy protection, data security, and access control of their EMR and EHR data [24-26]. Thus, blockchain technologies have triggered extensive research interests and applications in finding ways to improve or integrate existing health care workflows and processes [27,28]. Previous studies have proposed to adopt blockchain technologies for

facilitating electronic medical referral process [26,29-33]. Some work are conceptual studies [30,31]; the others were being proposed to use the blockchain technologies to construct a flexible architecture of a secured network to improve system efficiency while optimizing security, scalability, and resource allocation. Such examples might be applied in urgent care network, referral network, and primary care physician network [29,33]. Besides, the use of blockchain can extend the existing personal health record (PHR) data management system to combine with event-driven smart contracts to support transactional services (eg, repeat prescription, appointment booking, and referral requests) [26]. Some others have implemented a blockchain-enabled decentralized app (DApp) and framework to address interoperability challenges in health care facilities, and thus, patients can use the DApp to share their clinical information as the basis of decision making for remote support [20,32,34]. Studies about blockchain proposed various technical aspects in the medical referral services; however, health care literature regarding such real-world use cases is lacking in clinical settings [35]. Accordingly, more should be implemented and proven in the health care environment.

According to the Taiwan single-payer NHI system, there are no regulations to force medical referrals for each level of different health care providers. Consequently, patients are free to seek clinical services without referrals, and family doctors can also choose favorable hospitals for patient referrals. Thus, we consider that the establishment of trusting relationships between patients and health care providers is a precondition of EMR and EHR data interoperability [36]. In this study, we aimed to develop a blockchain-enabled framework for building an alliance-based medical referral service connecting health care providers. With this framework, all participants (eg, patients, family doctors, and specialists) who are willing to join the alliance-based medical referral system can create their own blockchain accounts. It is the first step to tighten trust in the relationships for all participants. With the deployment of our framework to health care facilities, it can integrate patient referral data from the NHIA's NMR system with EMR and EHR data of hospitals and community-based clinics, enhance patients' EMR and EHR data interoperability across different health care facilities, and make all medical referral processes more efficient. Moreover, we developed a blockchain-enabled PHR DApp based on our framework for patients to acquire their EMR and EHR data. Then, the DApp access logs were collected to assess patients' behavior and investigate the acceptance of our personal authorization-controlled framework.

Methods

Overview

In this study, we adopted the Go Ethereum version 1.7.3-stable [37] to construct the iWellChain Framework, which is a permissioned consortium blockchain with trusted parties to ensure consensus by proof-of-authority. Hence, our framework can limit participants who transact on the blockchain and define users who can serve the network by writing new blocks into the chain. Afterward, we can deploy the framework to hospitals or clinics to build an alliance-based medical referral service. Moreover, regarding the interoperability of EMR and EHR data [38], since 2004, the Taiwan Ministry of Health and Welfare has published EMR and EHR exchange standards based on Clinical Document Architecture, Release 2 (CDA R2) of Health Level 7 (HL7) [39]. Therefore, we followed the HL7 CDA R2 standards when pursuing structural and semantic interoperability of EMR and EHR data. In addition, based on the iWellChain Framework, we developed a DApp, the iWellChain DApp, which can operate on both iOS and Android mobile platforms. Since September 2018, the studied hospital has released five types of EMR and EHR data that patients can acquire through the iWellChain DApp. To extend our understanding of patient-centered interoperability of EMR and EHR data, we analyzed the access logs of the iWellChain DApp to understand patients' activities during a 3-month study period.

Settings

For this study, the iWellChain Framework was developed and installed at Taipei Medical University Hospital (TMUH) and four collaborative clinics. TMUH is a teaching hospital with nearly 800 beds and a satisfactory information infrastructure; in addition, it is a certified Health care Information and Management Systems Society hospital using EMR Adoption Model Stage 6 [40]. In this hospital, most medical and health records are stored electronically because the hospital is trying to fully digitize its records. However, when physicians refer patients to other physicians, most patients must acquire paper-based referral forms and related medical documents to be processed manually by clinics and hospitals.

The iWellChain Framework and Interactions With the National Health Insurance Administration's National Medical Referral System

The iWellChain Framework and its interactions with the NHIA's NMR system are presented in Figure 1. The implemented iWellChain Framework comprises the following 4 major components: EMR Adaptor, Encrypted EMR Data Repository, NMR Data Adaptor, and Blockchain Account Manager (BAM).



Figure 1. The iWellChain Framework and its interactions with the National Health Insurance Administration's national medical referral system. CPOE: computerized physician order entry; DApp: decentralized application; EMR: electronic medical record; NHIA: National Health Insurance Administration; NMR: national medical referral; VPN: virtual private network.



Electronic Medical Record Adaptor

The EMR Adaptor is used to monitor and copy a patient's EMR and EHR data stored in the local data repository of a hospital or clinic. Moreover, the adaptor can request the patient's public key from the BAM to encrypt copies of the EMR and EHR data. Subsequently, the adaptor stores these encrypted copies in the Encrypted EMR Data Repository. For example, when a physician uses the CPOE system to complete a patient's treatment, EMR data are generated. When the patient's EMR data are ready, the EMR Adaptor verifies the access permissions for each type of EMR data according to the patient's signed Ethereum-based smart contracts [41], which are provided by the BAM. If permitted, the EMR Adaptor copies the patient's EMR data and uses the patient's public key to encrypt these copies. These encrypted copies of the patient's EMR data are subsequently stored in the Encrypted EMR Data Repository.

The EMR Adaptor also provides a connection that can pose access requests of the CPOE system of a hospital or clinic. For example, when a physician wants to acquire additional EMR or EHR data for a referral patient, the patient can use the iWellChain DApp to determine whom to authorize and select an approved period for the physician to access the EMR and EHR data. Accordingly, the selected EMR and EHR data are decrypted by the patient's private key. With the patient's permission, the EMR Adaptor can request the physician's public key from the BAM to encrypt the copies of the patient's selected EMR and EHR data. Subsequently, the EMR Adaptor stores these encrypted copies in the Encrypted EMR Data Repository. Afterward, the physician can use his or her private key to open the selected patient EMR and EHR data through the CPOE system of a hospital or clinic until the time at which access to the patient's EMR and EHR data expires.

Encrypted Electronic Medical Record Data Repository

The Encrypted EMR Data Repository is implemented using the InterPlanetary File System (IPFS) [42,43] to store encrypted copies of EMR and EHR data. The IPFS provides a high-throughput content-addressed block storage model with content-addressed hyperlinks, which enable completely distributed applications. When the Encrypted EMR Data Repository receives copies of a patient's encrypted EMR and EHR data, a unique hash code is generated for each copy, and it corresponds to an accessible hyperlink. The hash code is registered on the BAM for the iWellChain DApp to access and acquire further data.

National Medical Referral Data Adaptor

The NMR Data Adaptor is used in cooperation with the NMR's API functions to process patient referral data and reports obtained in batch mode from the NHIA's NMR system over the VPN. This adaptor can retrieve referral data through batch download from the NHIA's NMR system and store these data in the local data repository of a hospital or clinic. When patient referral reports are completed and the physician must reply to the initial health care facility, the NMR Data Adaptor can access these reports from the local data repository through batch upload to the NMR system.

Blockchain Account Manager

The BAM module was designed to access Ethereum blockchain ledgers [44], and it provides the registration function of the iWellChain DApp. The BAM was installed at the information desk of TMUH with the Ethereum node client software [45] to access the full ledgers of Ethereum. When a patient downloads and installs the iWellChain DApp from Google Play or the Apple Store, a wallet address (a patient's identification [ID] in the Ethereum World) is generated. Patients can register an account from the iWellChain DApp to the BAM using their national ID (a unique personal ID in Taiwan) and medical record number (unique patient ID at TMUH). Accordingly, the

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13563
```

registration information and the patient's ID mapping table are deposited into and managed by the BAM. Patients can grant access to their EMR and EHR data to whomever they choose through the iWellChain DApp; these permissions are recorded in the ledger.

Log Data of the iWellChain Decentralized App

To investigate patients' use of the iWellChain DApp, an access log was created, and information on their actions through the iWellChain DApp was collected. We added Google Analytics for Firebase [46] to the iWellChain DApp to capture patients' click data. Once the data are captured, the access log can be linked to Google BigQuery for analysis and reporting [47]. Besides, all physician access logs are stored in the event logs of a smart contract through the iWellChain Framework. When a physician acquires a patient's EMR or EHR data via the CPOE system, the iWellChain Framework signs access logs in the event logs of a smart contract using the physician's private key. The Joint Institutional Review Board of Taipei Medical University and TMUH approved this study.

Results

Workflow for Referral Between Clinics and Hospitals Based on the National Health Insurance Administration's National Medical Referral System and the iWellChain Framework

Patients wishing to access and control their EMR and EHR data must create a blockchain account at a health care facility and sign and submit the appropriate smart contracts to the health care facility. The patients can subsequently download the iWellChain DApp and use it to access their EMR and EHR data. In addition, family doctors and specialists willing to join TMUH's alliance-based medical referral system can create their own blockchain accounts. The objective is to enhance EMR and EHR data sharing among facilities, with patients' permission. The novel workflow of patient referral between clinics and hospitals with the iWellChain Framework is described in Figure 2.

Figure 2 illustrates the workflow of the alliance-based medical referral service used by patients, clinics, and hospitals using the

iWellChain Framework. First, when visiting a health care facility, the patient inserts his or her health smart card into a card reader to initiate the clinical encounter. The CPOE system reads the basic information on the card, including name, sex, and national ID. Patient information is compared with the downloaded referral data to determine whether the patient has been referred. If the patient has been referred (denoted by the *R* icon in Figure 3, left part of the left panel), the physician can click on the *R* icon to review the patient's referral data (Figure 3, right panel). The indexes of the patient's EMR and EHR data (Figure 3, right part of the left panel) can be accessed, including laboratory test reports, outpatient notes, discharge notes, pathology reports, and health check reports. However, if the patient is not a referral case, the physician conducts the usual patient assessment, forms a diagnosis, and prescribes treatment for the patient.

If requesting additional EMR or EHR data for a referral patient, a physician clicks on the *M* icon (Figure 3, right part of the left panel) to send a push notification to the patient's mobile phone. As the push notification is received by the patient via the iWellChain DApp, the patient can use the DApp to select specific EMR or EHR data (Figure 4, left panel), determine whom (ie, physicians or health care workers) to authorize (Figure 4, middle panel), and select the approved period for the physician to access the EMR and EHR data (Figure 4, right panel). Subsequently, the physician can click the O icon (Figure 3, right part of the left panel) to access the EMR and EHR data provided by the initial facility via the CPOE system. If the physician's access to the patient's EMR and EHR data is not permitted or has expired, a notification window will appear when the physician clicks on the O icon. In this case, the physician can revert to using the CPOE system to assess, diagnose, and treat the patient. After treatment, the physician can use the CPOE system to complete the patient's treatment and referral reports (if applicable), generate the patient's EMR data, and store these data in the local data repository of the clinic or hospital. The iWellChain Framework can then assist in subsequent tasks. For example, patients can obtain their EMR data in real time using the iWellChain DApp, and referral reports can be uploaded to the NHIA's NMR system to complete the referral process for NHIA reimbursement claims.



Figure 2. Workflow of the alliance-based medical referral service using the iWellChain Framework. CPOE: computerized physician order entry; DApp: decentralized application; EHR: electronic health record; EMR: electronic medical record; NHIA: National Health Insurance Administration; NMR: national medical referral.





Lo et al

Figure 3. Screenshot of patient list screen showing the R icon that appears when an outpatient has been referred. The screen presents information including the patient list (left panel), referral cases with R icons (left part of the left panel), and display area for referral data from the National Health Insurance Administration's national medical referral system (right panel).



Figure 4. Screenshot of the patient iWellChain decentralized application screen. The screen presents information including a timeline of the patient's electronic medical record and electronic health record data (left panel), an authorization list (middle panel), and the approved access time for the selected electronic medical record and electronic health record data (right panel). Lab.: laboratory; OPD: outpatient department.



Access Log Data Analysis of the iWellChain Decentralized App

The iWellChain Framework and iWellChain DApp were launched on September 16, 2018. At this time, TMUH informed the public about the possible application of blockchain technologies to support medical referral services and the use of the iWellChain DApp to access patient EMR and EHR data [48,49]. Accordingly, when patients visited TMUH to seek clinical services, the hospital's staff, which mainly included workers from the health check department, community medicine

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13563
```

XSL•FO RenderX department, and customer service department, suggested these patients create a blockchain account. The health check department encouraged customers who received high-end health check services (>US \$1000) to create blockchain accounts to deliver the health check reports rapidly. On average, the number of high-end health check customers was approximately 150 to 250 per month. The community medicine department encouraged patients who were referred via the NHIA's NMR system to create blockchain accounts to facilitate referral report completion and NHIA insurance reimbursement. On average,

the number of such referral patients was approximately 250 to 350 per month. Moreover, patients who wished to create the blockchain accounts were free to seek help from the information desk of the customer service department. The information desk staff helped patients install the iWellChain DApp and offered assistance through technical tutorials. In the initial stages, TMUH released only five types of EMR and EHR data for the patients to retrieve: laboratory test reports, outpatient department (OPD) notes, discharge notes, pathology reports, and health check reports. We collected the blockchain account data from the 3 months following implementation (September 16, 2018, to December 15, 2018) to explore the patients' application of their accounts. We also analyzed the iWellChain DApp access logs for these accounts to determine which EMR and EHR data patients required the most.

Over the 3-month period, the total numbers of high-end health checkup customers, referral patients through the NHIA's NMR system, and individual apps were 581, 912, and 118, respectively. Table 1 reveals that over this 3-month period, 392 users registered iWellChain DApp accounts; the health check department, community medicine department, and individual application channels were used by 175 (175/392, 44.6%), 99 (99/392, 25.3%), and 118 users (118/392, 30.1%), respectively. The highest proportion of users who requested an account was from the health check department channel. This can be explained by the fact that the health check department promoted the iWellChain DApp service as a new customer service capable of delivering health check reports to customers within 1 day. The service also enhances the personal security and privacy of patients by allowing them to access health check reports using a secured blockchain network instead of a paper-based health document. Moreover, computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging images from a compact disc often take weeks to be delivered. Per our understanding, most users who applied

independently were young and thus might be attracted to or interested in blockchain technologies. They wanted to understand how blockchain technologies can be applied to health care. Most users referred by the community medicine department were from family groups, including older patients who were attracted by the hospital's newsletter. The caregivers of older patients wanted to understand the patients' general health to avoid returning to the hospital and to reduce the time spent accompanying and waiting with patients and associated medical costs.

Over this 3-month period, as Table 2 indicates, the total numbers of laboratory test reports, OPD notes, discharge notes, pathology reports, and health check reports were 406, 1358, 2, 134, and 175, respectively. Table 2 displays the total user access logs of the iWellChain DApp over this 3-month period. Overall, there were 4540 (80.09%), 721 (12.85%), 7 (0.12%), 4 (0.07%), and 340 (6.06%) clicks on the laboratory test reports, OPD notes, discharge notes, pathology reports, and health check reports, respectively. Laboratory test reports being the most frequently accessed is likely explained by the fact that most patients are focused on the value of laboratory tests, especially when they have been examined in multiple hospitals or when their tests results require constant monitoring of the condition. Some patients may even doubt the accuracy of their laboratory tests. The high access to OPD notes and health check reports we observed corresponds to patients or their families wanting to understand the patients' long-term medication history and health status. The lowest access to discharge notes and pathology reports is related to the fact that these types of medical documents are long text descriptions; therefore, patients have difficulty understanding them. In addition, patients often applied for these documents in paper form before discharge because they needed the documents to claim private insurance paybacks.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of blockchain accounts registered through various application channels	s.
--	----

Time period	Total users, n (%)	Health check department			Commu	unity medicine depa	Individual application (total registered users, n [% of total users])	
		Total visits ^a	Total registered users, n (% of to- tal visits)	Total registered users/total users (%)	Total visits ^b	Total registered users, n (% of to- tal visits)	Total registered users/total users (%)	
Entire period	392 (100)	581	175 (30.1)	44.6	912	99 (10.9)	25.3	118 (30.1)
Period I ^c	231 (100)	158	88 (55.7)	38.1	325	54 (16.6)	23.4	89 (38.5)
Period II ^d	56 (100)	215	8 (3.7)	14.3	314	25 (8.0)	44.6	23 (41.1)
Period III ^e	105 (100)	208	79 (38.0)	75.2	273	20 (7.3)	19.1	6 (5.7)

^aTotal number of high-end health check visits.

^bTotal number of referral patients via the National Health Insurance Administration's national medical referral system.

^cPeriod I: September 16, 2018, through October 15, 2018.

^dPeriod II: October 16, 2018, through November 15, 2018.

^ePeriod III: November 16, 2018, through December 15, 2018.



Time period	Total clicks, n (%)	Laboratory tests reports		Outpatient department notes		Discharge notes		Pathology reports		Health check reports	
		Total re- ports ^a , n (%)	Total clicks, n (%)	Total notes ^b (%)	Total clicks, n (%)	Total notes ^c , n (%)	Total clicks, n (%)	Total re- ports ^d , n (%)	Total clicks, n (%)	Total re- ports ^e , n (%)	Total clicks, n (%)
Entire period	5612 (100)	406 (100)	4540 (80.90)	1358 (100)	721 (12.85)	2 (100)	7 (0.12)	134 (100)	4 (0.07)	175 (100)	340 (6.06)
Period I ^f	2878 (100)	116 (28.6)	2302 (79.99)	281 (20.69)	362 (12.58)	1 (50)	2 (0.07)	19 (14.2)	1 (0.03)	88 (50.3)	211 (7.33)
Period II ^g	906 (100)	82 (20.2)	789 (87.1)	530 (39.03)	88 (9.7)	0 (0)	2 (0.2)	31 (23.1)	0 (0)	8 (4.6)	27 (3.0)
Period III ^h	1828 (100)	208 (51.2)	1,449	547	271	1 (50)	3 (0.16)	84 (62.7)	3 (0.16)	79 (45.1)	102

(14.82)

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of user access logs to iWellChain decentralized app.

(79.27)

(40.28)

^aTotal number of laboratory test reports.

^bTotal number of outpatient department notes.

^cTotal number of discharge notes.

^dTotal number of pathology reports.

^eTotal number of health check reports.

^fPeriod I: September 16, 2018, through October 15, 2018.

^gPeriod II: October 16, 2018, through November 15, 2018.

^hPeriod III: November 16, 2018, through December 15, 2018.

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we developed the iWellChain Framework to access and integrate patients' referral data, including EMR and EHR data from hospitals and clinics, from the NHIA's NMR system. We used blockchain technology to render the data interoperable and practical. Our framework has the scalability to deploy a blockchain environment effectively for health care settings. It is an independent architecture that does not affect the legacy EMR systems of hospitals or clinics. Although some literature has proposed adopting blockchain technology to support medical referral processes, researchers have focused on improving the system efficiency by optimizing security and scalability but have not applied the technology practically in clinical settings. On the basis of what we learned, this study is the pioneer of blockchain applications for medical referral services, and the constructed framework and DApp have been applied practically in clinical settings [49]. Using the batch processing mode of the NHIA's NMR system, our framework can make all medical referral processes automatic, paperless, and thus more efficient; in addition, it can assist health care facilities with NHIA reimbursements.

According to Taiwan's NHIA policies announced in 2017, the number of outpatient visits to hospitals must decrease by 2% per year for a total decrease of 10% over 5 years. The NHIA aims to curb the overuse of health resources and discourage patients with minor ailments from seeking treatment at major hospitals. In other words, if a hospital has a higher proportion of outpatients with minor ailments, its NHI reimbursements will be reduced. Therefore, hospitals are encouraging patients to avoid unnecessary outpatient visits to conform with the regulations. Thus, trusting relationships and patient-centered

```
https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13563
```

data interoperability between patients and health care facilities are becoming crucial [20]. The NHIA's NMR system provides a government-based electronic medical referral service. However, its access and exchange of referral data are limited only to authorized clinical professionals. Thus, the system lacks flexibility and is not suitable to establish an alliance-based referral service connecting patients, community-based clinics, and hospitals. Accordingly, we intend to deploy our iWellChain Framework gradually in cooperative clinics to make improvements in data interoperability and tighten trust in the relationships among patients, family doctors, and specialists. Although more than 100 community clinics collaborated with the study hospital, we deployed the iWellChain Framework at only four clinics in the initial stage (September 2018 through January 2019). Therefore, the participants have been limited, and the total transaction volume of EMR and EHR data has not become a bottleneck. However, we consider that blockchain scalability is a major challenge, especially in relation to the volume of health data involved. In this study, we tested the transaction capacity of the iWellChain Framework. Regarding Ethereum, the average transaction time to mine a block is approximately 15 seconds; however, the time cost varies significantly with the network environment. Currently, the average transaction execution time for the iWellChain Framework is 5 to 7 seconds, and its performance will increase gradually because of the novel consensus mechanism. Therefore, blockchain scalability must be further observed and improved considerably. In the next stage of iWellChain Framework implementation, we will gradually extend the alliance-based referral service and use blockchain technologies to address common challenges in health care, such as the physician referral process and data interoperability among health care facilities and patients.

(5.58)
Conventionally, the interoperability of EMR and EHR data in health care has mostly been the ability of health care providers to access patients' relevant clinical data to provide a high-quality of care [50,51]. This interoperability is, therefore, institution-centered and motivated by financial incentives or regulatory pressure [9,52,53]. However, the current trend of interoperability in health care is to transform this institution-centered interoperability into patient-centered interoperability [36]. Blockchain technology can be used to promote this change to patient centricity, which concerns both data sharing and patients' privacy and security [35,41,54]. The iWellChain DApp is a blockchain-enabled PHR tool for patients to acquire their EMR and EHR data securely and electronically. It empowers patients to control these data as health data assets and selectively share or sell them [27,55]. As described in the Results section, the high-end health checkup customers (n=581), patients referred via the NHIA's NMR system (n=912), and individual applications (n=118) represented 1611 potential users; however, in the initial stage (3 months), only 392 users (24.33%) created blockchain accounts (Table 1). According to our observations, although most older patients would like to install the iWellChain DApp to acquire their EMR or EHR data, most of their cell phones are not sufficiently modern to install it. Another observation is that patients were especially interested (Table 2) in acquiring their EMR and EHR data for laboratory test reports. In a clinical scenario, through the TMUH alliance-based referral network, patients who previously visited TMUH for OPD services can use the iWellChain DApp to check laboratory test results and authorize these clinical data to be shared with their cooperative family doctors. If necessary, patients can first consult family doctors, instead of going to hospitals, especially for those with chronic conditions or long-term illnesses. Accordingly, blockchain technology may reduce costs by increasing speed and efficiency in the management of health data. We analyzed use of the app from the health check department channel by comparing clicks on EMR and EHR data. Although the total number of health check reports was low (n=175), such users presented greater interest in health check reports, as evidenced by the total clicks (n=340)

using the iWellChain DApp (Table 2). We believe that the number of blockchain users who care about their health data will increase gradually.

Using a blockchain-enabled approach to design an electronic medical referral service with patient-centered principles was our first exciting experience in health care. We may be able to achieve patient-centered interoperability of practical EMR and EHR data. As with numerous other new frontiers in information technology, we should be ambitious but should take measured early steps with blockchain. Accordingly, with the increased adoption of blockchain technology, more meaningful patient-centered applications will require the involvement of multiple stakeholders, including health providers, health participants, and individual governments, and have the potential to revolutionize health care.

Conclusions

In this study, we constructed the blockchain-enabled iWellChain Framework for integrating patients' referral data from the NHIA's NMR system with the EMR and EHR data of hospitals and clinics. This framework can render all medical referral processes automatic, paperless, and efficient, facilitating NHIA reimbursements. In addition, the iWellChain Framework possesses the scalability to deploy a blockchain environment effectively for hospitals and community-based clinics. The framework assists in the establishment of an alliance-based medical referral service to promote trusting relationships and transaction security among patients, family doctors, and specialists. We also developed the iWellChain DApp, which is a blockchain-enabled PHR tool, focused on patient-centered interoperability, that allows patients to access and control their EMR and EHR data securely and electronically. Crucially, we observed that in the initial stage, patients were highly interested in acquiring their health data using the iWellChain DApp, especially data from laboratory test reports. Future research should further explore patient-centered interoperability and involve multiple stakeholders, including health care providers, health participants, and governments.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all information team members and the preventive and community medicine department of TMUH for their support. The authors also thank and recognize the Radica Health startup for their technical contributions. This research was supported in part by the Ministry of Science and Technology of Taiwan (grant number MOST 107-2823-8-038-001) and Taipei Medical University (grant number TMU 104-AE1-B31).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Allen JK, Scott LB, Stewart KJ, Young DR. Disparities in women's referral to and enrollment in outpatient cardiac rehabilitation. J Gen Intern Med 2004 Jul;19(7):747-753 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.30300.x] [Medline: 15209588]
- Tangcharoensathien V, Patcharanarumol W, Ir P, Aljunid SM, Mukti AG, Akkhavong K, et al. Health-financing reforms in southeast Asia: challenges in achieving universal coverage. Lancet 2011 Mar 5;377(9768):863-873. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61890-9] [Medline: 21269682]

- 3. Ramelson H, Nederlof A, Karmiy S, Neri P, Kiernan D, Krishnamurthy R, et al. Closing the loop with an enhanced referral management system. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Jun 1;25(6):715-721. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocy004</u>] [Medline: <u>29471355</u>]
- 4. Scheibe MM, Imboden JB, Schmajuk G, Margaretten M, Graf JD, Chen AH, et al. Efficiency gains for rheumatology consultation using a novel electronic referral system in a safety-net health setting. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken) 2015 Aug;67(8):1158-1163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/acr.22559] [Medline: 25623810]
- 5. Nasrollahpour SD, Ashrafian AH, Motlagh M, Kabir M, Maleki M, Shabestani MA. Evaluation of the function of referral system in family physician program in northern provinces of Iran: 2008. J Babol Univ Med Sci 2010;11(6):46-52 [FREE Full text]
- 6. Raeisee P, Motlagh M, Kabir M, Nasrollahpour SD, Ashrafian AH. Evaluation of the performance of referral system in family physician program in Iran University of Medical Sciences: 2009. Hakim Res J 2010;13(1):19-25 [FREE Full text]
- Lu JF, Hsiao WC. Does universal health insurance make health care unaffordable? Lessons from Taiwan. Health Aff (Millwood) 2003;22(3):77-88. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.22.3.77] [Medline: 12757274]
- Wu TY, Majeed A, Kuo KN. An overview of the healthcare system in Taiwan. London J Prim Care (Abingdon) 2010 Dec;3(2):115-119 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/17571472.2010.11493315] [Medline: 25949636]
- Yang CY, Lo YS, Chen RJ, Liu CT. A clinical decision support engine based on a national medication repository for the detection of potential duplicate medications: design and evaluation. JMIR Med Inform 2018 Jan 19;6(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.9064] [Medline: 29351893]
- Yang CY, Chen RJ, Chou WL, Lee YJ, Lo YS. An integrated influenza surveillance framework based on national influenza-like illness incidence and multiple hospital electronic medical records for early prediction of influenza epidemics: design and evaluation. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 1;21(2):e12341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12341] [Medline: 30707099]
- Lee YH, Ang TF, Chiang TC, Kaplan WA. Growing concerns and controversies to Taiwan's National Health Insurance-what are the lessons from mainland China, South Korea and Singapore? Int J Health Plann Manage 2018 Jan 10;33(1):e357-e366. [doi: 10.1002/hpm.2387] [Medline: 27723118]
- Vimalananda VG, Gupte G, Seraj SM, Orlander J, Berlowitz D, Fincke BG, et al. Electronic consultations (e-consults) to improve access to specialty care: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Sep;21(6):323-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15582108] [Medline: 25995331]
- Forrest CB, Glade GB, Baker AE, Bocian A, von Schrader S, Starfield B. Coordination of specialty referrals and physician satisfaction with referral care. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2000 May;154(5):499-506. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpedi.154.5.499</u>] [Medline: <u>10807303</u>]
- 14. Angraal S, Krumholz HM, Schulz WL. Blockchain technology: applications in health care. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2017 Sep;10(9):e003800. [doi: 10.1161/circoutcomes.117.003800]
- 15. Underwood S. Blockchain beyond bitcoin. Commun ACM 2016;59(11):15-17. [doi: 10.1145/2994581]
- 16. Boireau O. Securing the blockchain against hackers. Net Secur 2018;2018(1):8-11. [doi: 10.1016/s1353-4858(18)30006-0]
- 17. Shabani M. Blockchain-based platforms for genomic data sharing: a de-centralized approach in response to the governance problems? J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Jan 1;26(1):76-80. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocy149</u>] [Medline: <u>30496430</u>]
- Roman-Belmonte JM, De la Corte-Rodriguez H, Rodriguez-Merchan EC. How blockchain technology can change medicine. Postgrad Med 2018 May;130(4):420-427. [doi: <u>10.1080/00325481.2018.1472996</u>] [Medline: <u>29727247</u>]
- Ekblaw A, Azaria A, Halamka JD, Lippman A. A Case Study for Blockchain in Healthcare: 'Medrec' Prototype for Electronic Health Records and Medical Research Data. In: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Open & Big Data 2016. 2016 Presented at: OBD'16; August 22-24, 2016; Vienna, Austria. [doi: 10.1109/obd.2016.11]
- 20. Zhang P, White J, Schmidt DC, Lenz G, Rosenbloom ST. FHIRChain: applying blockchain to securely and scalably share clinical data. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2018;16:267-278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.07.004] [Medline: 30108685]
- 21. Cichosz SL, Stausholm MN, Kronborg T, Vestergaard P, Hejlesen O. How to use blockchain for diabetes health care data and access management: an operational concept. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2019 Mar;13(2):248-253 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296818790281] [Medline: 30047789]
- 22. Azaria A, Ekblaw A, Vieira T, Lippman A. MedRec: Using Blockchain for Medical Data Access and Permission Management. In: Proceedings of the 2016 2nd International Conference on Open and Big Data. 2016 Presented at: OBD'16; August 22-24, 2016; Vienna, Austria p. 25-30. [doi: 10.1109/obd.2016.11]
- 23. Kuo TT, Kim HE, Ohno-Machado L. Blockchain distributed ledger technologies for biomedical and health care applications. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Nov 1;24(6):1211-1220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocx068] [Medline: 29016974]
- 24. Esmaeilzadeh P, Mirzaei T. The potential of blockchain technology for health information exchange: experimental study from patients' perspectives. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jun 20;21(6):e14184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14184] [Medline: 31223119]
- 25. Agbo CC, Mahmoud QH, Eklund JM. Blockchain technology in healthcare: a systematic review. Healthcare (Basel) 2019 Apr 4;7(2):pii: E56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare7020056] [Medline: 30987333]
- 26. Leeming G, Cunningham J, Ainsworth J. A ledger of me: personalizing healthcare using blockchain technology. Front Med (Lausanne) 2019;6:171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2019.00171] [Medline: 31396516]

RenderX

- Lo et al
- Liang X, Zhao J, Shetty S, Liu J, Li D. Integrating Blockchain for Data Sharing and Collaboration in Mobile Healthcare Applications. In: Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE 28th Annual International Symposium on Personal, Indoor, and Mobile Radio Communications. 2017 Presented at: PIMRC'17; October 8-13, 2017; Montreal, QC, Canada p. 1-5. [doi: 10.1109/pimrc.2017.8292361]
- 28. Sujatha A, Leili S, Unal T, Omer K. Blockchain Technology in Electronic Healthcare Systems. In: Proceedings of the IISE Annual Conference and Expo. 2018 Presented at: IISE'18; May 19-22, 2018; Orlando, Florida, USA.
- 29. Ahram T, Sargolzaei A, Sargolzaei S, Daniels J, Amaba B. Blockchain Technology Innovations. In: Proceedings of the 2017 IEEE Technology & Engineering Management Conference. 2017 Presented at: TEMSCON'17; June 8-10, 2017; Santa Clara, CA, USA p. 137-141.
- 30. Ananth C, Karthikeyan M, Mohananthini N. A secured healthcare system using private blockchain technology. J Eng Technol 2018;6:42-54.
- 31. Lee CK. Blockchain Application with Health Token in Medical & Health Industrials. In: Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Social Science, Public Health and Education. 2018 Presented at: SSPHE'18; November 25-27, 2018; Sanya, China. [doi: 10.2991/ssphe-18.2019.55]
- 32. Dagher GG, Mohler J, Milojkovic M, Marella PB. Ancile: privacy-preserving framework for access control and interoperability of electronic health records using blockchain technology. Sustain Cities Soc 2018;39:283-297. [doi: 10.1016/j.scs.2018.02.014]
- Chakraborty S, Aich S, Kim HC. A Secure Healthcare System Design Framework using Blockchain Technology. In: Proceedings of the 2019 21st International Conference on Advanced Communication Technology. 2019 Presented at: ICACT'19; February 17-20, 2019; PyeongChang Kwangwoon_Do, South Korea p. 260-264. [doi: 10.23919/icact.2019.8701983]
- 34. Peng ZJ, Douglas C, White J, Lenz G. arXiv. Applying Software Patterns to Address Interoperability in Blockchain-based Healthcare Apps URL: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1706.03700</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- Radanović I, Likić R. Opportunities for use of blockchain technology in medicine. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2018 Oct;16(5):583-590. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40258-018-0412-8</u>] [Medline: <u>30022440</u>]
- Gordon WJ, Catalini C. Blockchain technology for healthcare: facilitating the transition to patient-driven interoperability. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2018;16:224-230 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.06.003] [Medline: 30069284]
 Go Ethereum. 2019. URL: https://geth.ethereum.org/ [accessed 2019-01-21]
- The Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society. 2019. What is Interoperability? URL: <u>https://www.himss.org/library/interoperability-standards/what-is-interoperability</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 39. Ministry of Health and Welfare Electronic Medical Record Exchange Center. 2019. EMR Exchange Center URL: <u>https://eec.mohw.gov.tw/?PAGE=Overview</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 40. The Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society. 2017. Electronic Medical Record Adoption Model URL: http://www.himssanalytics.org/emram [accessed 2018-12-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6vv1rl9Hn]
- 41. Dubovitskaya A, Xu Z, Ryu S, Schumacher M, Wang F. Secure and trustable electronic medical records sharing using blockchain. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2017;2017:650-659 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29854130]
- 42. Benet J. arXiv. 2014. IPFS Content Addressed, Versioned, P2P File System URL: <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1407.3561</u> [accessed 2019-10-25]
- 43. Ranka Y, Bagrecha J, Gandhi K, Sarvaria B, Chawan P. A survey on file storage & retrieval using blockchain technology. Int Res J Eng Technol 2018;5(10):763-766 [FREE Full text]
- 44. Wood G. Ethereum: a secure decentralised generalised transaction ledger. Ethereum Project Yellow Paper 2014;151:1-32 [FREE Full text]
- 45. GitHub. Geth URL: <u>https://github.com/ethereum/go-ethereum/wiki/geth</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 46. Firebase Google. 2018. Log Events URL: <u>https://firebase.google.com/docs/analytics/android/events</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 47. Google Cloud. 2018. BigQuery URL: <u>https://cloud.google.com/bigquery/</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 48. Taipei Times. 2018. Hospital Launches Online Platform URL: <u>http://www.taipeitimes.com/News/taiwan/archives/2018/09/01/2003699590</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 49. Morris N. Ledger Insights. 2018. Taiwanese Hospital Launches Blockchain Health Records URL: <u>https://www.ledgerinsights.com/blockchain-health-records-taiwan/</u> [accessed 2019-01-21]
- 50. Holmgren AJ, Adler-Milstein J. Health information exchange in US hospitals: the current landscape and a path to improved information sharing. J Hosp Med 2017 Mar;12(3):193-198. [doi: <u>10.12788/jhm.2704</u>] [Medline: <u>28272599</u>]
- 51. Holmgren AJ, Patel V, Adler-Milstein J. Progress in interoperability: measuring US hospitals' engagement in sharing patient data. Health Aff (Millwood) 2017 Oct 1;36(10):1820-1827. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0546] [Medline: 28971929]
- Tseng TW, Yang CY, Liu CT. Designing Privacy Information Protection of Electronic Medical Records. In: Proceedings of the 2016 International Conference on Computational Science and Computational Intelligence. 2016 Presented at: CSCI'16; December 15-17, 2016; Las Vegas, Nevada, USA p. 75-80. [doi: 10.1109/csci.2016.0022]
- 53. Wu CH, Chiu RK, Yeh HM, Wang DW. Implementation of a cloud-based electronic medical record exchange system in compliance with the integrating healthcare enterprise's cross-enterprise document sharing integration profile. Int J Med Inform 2017 Nov;107:30-39. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.09.001] [Medline: 29029689]

RenderX

- Yue X, Wang H, Jin D, Li M, Jiang W. Healthcare data gateways: found healthcare intelligence on blockchain with novel privacy risk control. J Med Syst 2016 Oct;40(10):218. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10916-016-0574-6</u>] [Medline: <u>27565509</u>]
- Klein JW, Jackson SL, Bell SK, Anselmo MK, Walker J, Delbanco T, et al. Your patient is now reading your note: opportunities, problems, and prospects. Am J Med 2016 Oct;129(10):1018-1021. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.05.015</u>] [Medline: <u>27288854</u>]

Abbreviations

API: application programming interface **BAM:** Blockchain Account Manager CDA R2: Clinical Document Architecture, Release 2 **CPOE:** computerized physician order entry **DApp:** decentralized application EHR: electronic health record EMR: electronic medical record HL7: Health Level 7 **IPFS:** InterPlanetary File System **NHI:** National Health Insurance NHIA: National Health Insurance Administration NMR: national medical referral **OPD:** outpatient department PHR: personal health record TMUH: Taipei Medical University Hospital VPN: virtual private network

Edited by K Clauson, P Zhang; submitted 31.01.19; peer-reviewed by S Sarbadhikari, A Mense; comments to author 17.04.19; revised version received 13.07.19; accepted 11.10.19; published 04.12.19.

Please cite as:

Lo YS, Yang CY, Chien HF, Chang SS, Lu CY, Chen RJ Blockchain-Enabled iWellChain Framework Integration With the National Medical Referral System: Development and Usability Study J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e13563 URL: https://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e13563 doi:10.2196/13563 PMID:31799935

©Yu-Sheng Lo, Cheng-Yi Yang, Hsiung-Fei Chien, Shy-Shin Chang, Chung-Ying Lu, Ray-Jade Chen. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 04.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An Electronic Screening and Brief Intervention for Hazardous and Harmful Drinking Among Swedish University Students: Reanalysis of Findings From a Randomized Controlled Trial Using a Bayesian Framework

Marcus Bendtsen¹, PhD

Department of Medical and Health Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Marcus Bendtsen, PhD Department of Medical and Health Sciences Linköping University Sandbäcksgatan 7 University Hospital Campus Linköping, 58183 Sweden Phone: 46 13281000 Email: marcus.bendtsen@liu.se

Abstract

Background: Due to a resurgent debate on the misuse of *P* values, the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* is hosting a standing theme issue inviting the reanalysis of (primarily digital health) trial data using a Bayesian framework. This first paper in this series focuses on an electronic screening and brief intervention (eSBI), targeting harmful and hazardous alcohol consumption, which student health care centers across Sweden have routinely administerd to all students during the past decade. The second *Alcohol Email Assessment and Feedback Study Dismantling Effectiveness for University Students* (AMADEUS-2) trial aimed to assess the effect of the eSBI on alcohol consumption among students who were harmful and hazardous drinkers. A two-arm randomized controlled trial design was employed, randomizing eligible participants to either a waiting list or direct access to an eSBI. Follow-up assessments were conducted 2 months after randomization. Subsequent analysis of the trial followed the conventional null hypothesis approach, and no statistical significance was found between groups at follow-up with respect to the number of standard drinks consumed weekly. However, in an unspecified sensitivity analysis, it was discovered that removing three potential outliers made the difference between the groups significant.

Objective: The objective of this study is to reperform the primary and sensitivity analysis of the AMADEUS-2 trial using a Bayesian framework and to compare the results with those of the original analysis.

Methods: The same regression models used in the original analysis were employed in this reanalysis (negative binomial regression). Model parameters were given uniform priors. Markov chain Monte Carlo was used for Bayesian inference, and posterior probabilities were calculated for prespecified thresholds of interest.

Results: Null hypothesis tests did not identify a statistically significant difference between the intervention and control groups, potentially due to a few extreme data points. The Bayesian analysis indicated a 93.6% probability that there was a difference in grams of alcohol consumed at follow-up between the intervention and control groups and a 71.5% probability that the incidence rate ratio was <0.96. Posterior probabilities increased when excluding three potential outliers, yet such post hoc analyses were not necessary to show the preference toward offering an eSBI to harmful and hazardous drinkers among university students.

Conclusions: The null hypothesis framework relies on point estimates of parameters. *P* values can therefore swing heavily, depending on a single or few data points alone, casting doubt on the value of the analysis. Bayesian analysis results in a distribution over parameter values and is therefore less sensitive to outliers and extreme values. Results from analyses of trials of interventions where small-to-modest effect sizes are expected can be more robust in a Bayesian framework, making this a potentially better approach for analyzing digital health research data.

Trial Registration: International Standard Randomized Controlled Trial Number (ISRCTN) 02335307; http://www.isrctn.com/ISRCTN02335307

RenderX

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14420) doi:10.2196/14420

KEYWORDS

Bayesian analysis; telemedicine; digital health; internet interventions; alcohol; randomized controlled trial

Introduction

Background

During the past decade, student health care centers across Sweden have routinely invited all students they serve to complete an electronic screening and brief intervention (eSBI) targeting harmful and hazardous alcohol consumption. Students are, on a yearly basis, invited via email to complete a 10-item questionnaire, after which they are given personal feedback alongside some advice on behavior change. The evidence for eSBIs generally indicates that they may have a small, yet positive effect on the amount of alcohol consumed in the short term (Cohen d=-0.17, 95% CI -0.27 to -0.18 [1]; Cohen d=-0.14, 95% CI -0.24 to -0.03 [2]) and the weighted mean difference of alcohol in grams (-16.59, 95% CI -23.70 to -9.48 [3]).

In 2011, the first Alcohol Email Assessment and Feedback Study Dismantling Effectiveness for University Students (AMADEUS-1) trial aimed to investigate the effect of this routine practice. An unconventional study design was used to target both treatment and non-treatment-seeking individuals as well as to mask trial participation and allow for baseline assessment effects to be measured. The trial, reported originally in 2013 [4-6], identified a small reduction in alcohol consumption and risky drinking among those who had been invited to assess their consumption compared to a no-contact control. A Bayesian reanalysis of the AMADEUS-1 trial has also been reported [7].

The unconventional trial design employed in the AMADEUS-1 trial necessitated inclusion of many individuals at follow-up who had decided not to complete the baseline assessment, as well as of nonharmful drinkers and abstainers. This prompted the AMADEUS-2 trial [8,9], which aimed to assess the effect of an eSBI on harmful and hazardous drinking among students.

AMADEUS-2

The AMADEUS-2 trial [8,9] followed a more conventional two-arm randomized controlled trial design than did its predecessor AMADEUS-1. In March 2013, students in semesters 2, 4, and 6 at 9 colleges and universities in Sweden were sent an email (n=54,507) with an invitation to answer a single screening question regarding their alcohol consumption. The third item of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test [10], which asks about the frequency of heavy episodic drinking, was used to screen participants for inclusion. Students were eligible if they had consumed at least four (female) or five (male) standard drinks twice a month or more often on a single occasion in the past 3 months. One standard drink is in Sweden defined as 12 grams of alcohol.

Eligible students who gave consent to take part in the trial were randomized into two groups: intervention and control. The intervention group was offered an eSBI immediately after

http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14420/

XSL•F() RenderX randomization. They were asked to complete a 10-item questionnaire, which assessed their current consumption, after which they received feedback on their responses, including graphical representations of their current risk level, normative comparison with other students, and personal advice on how to reduce one's consumption. The control group was told that they would receive the intervention in 2 months.

At follow-up, 2 months after the initial invitation, both groups were sent identical emails with an invitation to participate in the follow-up survey. The survey consisted of the same questionnaire and feedback that was offered to the intervention group at baseline.

Concerns over the (Mis)use of P values

In 2017, Benjamin et al [11] (signed by 71 authors) recommended that the conventional threshold used for determining statistical significance should be lowered from .05 to .005. This recommendation was motivated by a growing concern that scientific findings are becoming less credible. Furthermore, the authors recommended that findings with P values between .05 and .005 should be considered suggestive evidence rather than being outright rejected.

This recommendation met critique, as others believed that trichotomization of evidence does not solve the issue of P-hacking, selective reporting, and publication bias [12,13]. These concerns resonate with the recent clarification from the American Statistical Association on the principles underlying P value reporting [14], Nuzzo's summary in Nature [15], and a series of articles in the Journal of the American Statistical Association [16-20].

One approach that could potentially replace the P value dichotomization is the use of Bayesian inference, where evidence is considered as a continuous entity [21-25]. For this reason, the *Journal of Medical Internet Research* is inviting submissions to a special issue where authors are asked to reanalyze data from previous trials using a Bayesian framework and compare the analytical results with those of the original P value.

Objective

The primary outcome in the AMADEUS-2 trial was self-reported weekly alcohol consumption at the 2-month follow-up. The main hypothesis was that the intervention group would report a lower weekly alcohol consumption than the control group at follow-up. An unplanned sensitivity analysis was also conducted, which excluded three data points considered outliers post hoc. The objective of this study is to redo the primary and sensitivity analysis using a Bayesian framework and contrast the results with those of the original analysis.

Bendtsen

Methods

Bayesian model

In the original analysis of the AMADEUS-2 trial, negative binomial regression was used to contrast grams of alcohol consumed per week between the intervention and control groups. The primary model was adjusted for baseline variables. The same model was used in the enclosed Bayesian analysis, with uniform priors for all model parameters. Negative binomial regression with uniform priors used to contrast grams of alcohol per week is expressed by Equation 1:

g/week ~ NB(r,p) $\log(r)=\theta_0 + \theta_1 GROUP + \theta_2 SEX + \theta_3 AGE + \theta_4 UNIVERSITY + \theta_5 HED$ $\theta_{[0-5]}$ ~uniform(- ∞ , + ∞) p~uniform(0, + ∞)

Equation 1 presents the full specification of the model, where HED represents the number of heavy episodes of drinking per week at baseline, that is, the initial screening question.

The primary interest was the regression coefficient θ_1 for the GROUP variable, that is, the expected difference in log count of grams of alcohol consumed between the intervention and control groups. By exponentiating this coefficient, we get the

```
incidence rate ratio (IRR), which indicates by how much we should multiply the control group's consumption to get the intervention group's consumption. Thus, a value of exp (\theta_1) lower than 1 would suggest that the grams per week consumed for the intervention group was lower than that for the control group at the time of follow-up. Informed by the original analysis, thresholds for which the marginal posterior distribution of exp (\theta_1) should be inspected were chosen at 1, 0.96, and 0.92. The threshold of 1 was chosen to communicate whether offering the intervention was preferable to not doing so, and the thresholds 0.96 and 0.92 were chosen to indicate the magnitude of the difference between the two groups.
```

Inference

Hamiltonian Monte Carlo, a type of Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) technique, was used for Bayesian inference. The model was coded using Stan (Textbox 1) and run in R with RStan version 2.16.2. The data were one-hot encoded before being passed to Stan. No transformations were made to the variables.

When using MCMC for inference, we aim to draw samples from the posterior distribution of all model parameters. These samples can then be used to calculate how probable different values of these parameters are. For each model in the enclosed analysis, 50,000 iterations were run with 25,000 warmup iterations in four chains.

Textbox 1. Stan code used for inference for the parameters of the negative binomial model described in Equation 1.

```
data {
  int<lower=1> N; // Number of data items
  int<lower=1> K; // Number of predictors
  matrix[N,K] X;
  int<lower=0> y[N]; // Response
  }
  parameters {
  real<lower=0> phi; // Dispersion parameter
  vector[K] beta;
  }
  model {
    y ~ neg_binomial_2_log(X * beta, phi);
  }
```

Ethical Approval

This study was approved by the Regional Ethical Committee in Linköping, Sweden (No. 2013/46-31).

Results

In total, 1605 eligible students agreed to take part in the trial, of which 825 were randomized to the intervention group and 780, to the control group. Two months after the initial invitation, 58% (931/1605) of trial participants completed the follow-up questionnaire.

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14420/
```

Original Analysis: Null Hypothesis Framework

Part of the original analysis of the AMADEUS-2 trial is presented in Table 1. Null hypothesis tests were two-tailed and assessed at the .05 threshold. No statistically significant difference was found between the intervention and control groups with respect to grams of alcohol consumed per week at follow-up (P=.13). To clarify, if we hypothesize that the population IRR is exactly 1, then the data collected in this trial are not extraordinary, that is, the probability of seeing these data is greater than 5%. According to convention, this does not allows us to reject the hypothesis that the IRR is exactly 1. The CI identifies a span of hypotheses that cannot be rejected, given

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

the available data. Since the span includes both hypotheses of effect and no effect, the evidence is inconclusive.

In an unplanned sensitivity analysis, data were graphically assessed for skewness (using Q-Q plots), and three potential outliers were identified (Figure 1): one in the intervention group (weekly consumption of 1044 g/week) and two in the control

group (1128 g/week and 1524 g/week). These data suggest that the participants consumed over 80 standard drinks in a typical week. The difference between the groups was marginally statistically significant when these three outliers were excluded (*P* value=.049), with the intervention group on average reporting lower consumption than the control group.

Table 1. Original analysis of grams of alcohol consumer per week at follow-up compared between the intervention and control groups. When removing three potential outliers, the difference was marginally statistically significant.

	Intervention group (n=402), mean (SD) ^a	Control group (n=529), mean (SD) ^a	Incidence rate ratio ^b (95% CI)	P value
Weekly alcohol consumption (g/wk) ^b	113.4 (81.1)	120.8 (86.4)	0.937 (0.861-1.019)	.13
Sensitivity analysis excluding three outliers	107.4 (73.4)	119.1 (81.3)	0.921 (0.848-1.000)	.049

^aMean and SD given by negative binomial regression.

^bIncidence rate ratio given by negative binomial regression (adjusted for sex, age, university, and frequency of heavy episodic drinking at baseline).





Inverse of the normal cumulative distribution function

Bayesian Analysis

We recall from our discussion in the Methods section that Equation 1 represents the coefficient for the GROUP variable, that is, the difference between the intervention and control group in terms of log count of grams of alcohol consumed per week. We get the IRR by exponentiating this coefficient. The control group's consumption is multiplied with the IRR to get the intervention groups consumption, thus an IRR less than 1 implies that the intervention group consumed less than the control.

Histograms of the samples drawn from the posterior distribution of θ_1 during MCMC are shown in Figure 2 (exponentiated) and samples drawn when excluding the three potential outliers are depicted in Figure 3 (exponentiated). These histograms should be interpreted as visualizing how plausible different values of θ_1 are compared to one another. For instance, note how a strong majority of samples drawn were less than 1, indicating that it is more likely than not that the IRR is less than 1 when comparing the intervention and control groups. Thus, the model suggests that it is more likely than not, that the intervention group drank less than the control group.

For different IRR thresholds of interest, we can calculate the marginal posterior probability by simply counting the rate of samples that fall below or above a given threshold. In Table 2, we have calculated the marginal posterior probabilities for each of the predefined thresholds for the IRR. For instance, 17,875 samples were drawn below 0.96 when including the potential outliers (Figure 2), and we drew a total of 25,000 samples, resulting in a probability of 71.5% (17,875/25,000) that the IRR was less than 0.96.

No sampling issues during MCMC were found when inspecting trace plots (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Figure 2. Samples from the posterior distribution of θ_1 (exponentiated).



Figure 3. Samples from the posterior distribution of θ_1 (excluding three potential outliers, exponentiated).



XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2. Bayesian analysis of incidence rate ratios comparing the intervention and control groups at follow-up.

	Intervention (n=402), mean (SD)	Control (n=529), mean (SD)	Probability ^a (%)		
			Incidence rate ratio<1	Incidence rate ratio <0.96	Incidence rate ratio <0.92
Weekly alcohol consumption (g/wk)	113.4 (81.1)	120.8 (86.4)	93.6	71.5	33.9
Sensitivity analysis excluding three outliers	107.4 (73.4)	119.1 (81.3)	97.5	83.8	49.1

^aMarginal posterior probabilities for incidence rate ratios comparing intervention and control groups, given by negative binomial regression (adjusted for sex, age university, and frequency of heavy episodic drinking at baseline, see Equation1).

Discussion

Null Hypothesis Testing

The original analysis of the AMADEUS-2 trial did not find a statistically significant difference between the intervention and control groups at follow-up (Table 2, *P* value=.13). A summary remark of the main analysis in the original publication was stated as follows [9]:

The study found no strong evidence of short-term effectiveness of the Swedish national system of proactive online alcohol intervention for university and college students. However, inspection of the confidence intervals for the primary outcome reveals that this study does not rule out an intervention effect of up to 13% reduction in total weekly alcohol consumption.

Thus, dichotomization leads us into a state of uncertainty: We cannot rule out that the intervention had no effect, yet we cannot conclude that the intervention had an effect.

The unplanned sensitivity analysis excluding outliers identified a marginally statistically significant difference; however, such unspecified analyses should be viewed with skepticism. It is generally impossible to know which data points should be considered correct, which are data entry errors, and which are malicious entries.

Although not included in the original analysis, we calculated the P value when excluding only the most extreme potential outlier (1524 g/week) and found that the difference between groups was then statistically significant with a P value of .04 (down from .13). The null hypothesis testing framework, and, in particular, P values, rely on point estimates of difference, that is, single values that are supposed to summarize the data. Such point estimates can be highly sensitive to single data points. Considering that policy decisions might be made based on this type of trial, we should feel uneasy knowing that statistical significance in a data set of 931 entries may rely on a single or a few study participants alone.

Bayesian Analysis

The Bayesian analysis of the AMADEUS-2 trial (Figures 2 and 3, Table 2) suggests that that there is a 93.6% probability that the intervention group consumed less alcohol than the control group at follow-up in terms of the IRR. The data also suggest that the IRR was more likely than not to be less than 0.96. We may conclude that this difference is due to a positive effect of engaging in an eSBI, and this conclusion is licensed by the

```
http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14420/
```

randomization component of the trial. However, the difference in point estimates of mean weekly alcohol consumption was approximately 7 grams between the intervention and control groups, suggesting that the eSBI had a lower mean effect than has been synthesized in meta-analyses [1-3].

When excluding the three entries with extreme levels of consumption, the probability of a difference increases. However, the difference is not extreme, partially because we are not relying on dichotomization, but mainly because in a Bayesian framework we look at the entire posterior distribution of parameters, rather than point estimates. The major benefit here is that we do not feel obligated to remove the potential outliers at all. Since analyses where outliers have been removed should be viewed with high skepticism, we can keep them in our data analysis while still obtaining similar results.

The posterior probabilities in Table 2 should be the basis for policy decision and be viewed in light of other factors, including alternative interventions and costs. The national system in Sweden used by the majority of student health care centers allows for eSBIs to reach tens of thousands of university students each year; however, the costs have been kept low by sharing a common platform. Given the high reach of the intervention and its low cost, there is a >90% probability of a positive effect in the trial, which may convince policy makers that the system should see continued use; however, this reasoning could not be established within the null hypothesis framework, since the evidence was found to be inconclusive.

Limitations

The AMADEUS-2 trial was not sufficiently powered to obtain the prespecified effect size considered worth investigation. Approximately one quarter of the target sample size was recruited, creating a limitation on the possibility of detecting significant effect sizes. This also creates a limit for the Bayesian analysis, as the width of the posterior distribution, in general, decreases as the number of samples increase, allowing for narrower posterior distributions.

All analyses were performed under the intention-to-treat principle with complete cases, which assumes that data are missing at random. Although attrition analyses in the original publication did not find evidence against data missing at random, there was a difference in follow-up rates between the intervention group (404/825, 49.0%) and the control group (529/780, 67.8%), which should temper any strong conclusions from the original analysis and this reanalysis.

Finally, subjective measures were used to collect data at baseline and follow-up, which requires participants to recall their alcohol consumption in a typical week. Although such measurements may be subject to several sources of bias, such as recall and social desirability bias, it is the norm in brief interventions to use subjective measures, as in most cases, it is infeasible to collect biomarker data.

Conclusions

The use of null hypothesis testing with P values has been the target for criticism for some time, not least due to the prevalent

misinterpretation of P values and CIs [11,12,15-21]. Yet, the praxis stubbornly persists.

In the original publication of the AMADEUS-2 trial, it was acknowledged that it is challenging to reliably detect small effects and that the process may be subject to chance. Digital lifestyle interventions targeting large and sometimes non-treatment-seeking populations are generally expected to have a small-to-modest effect. Basing policy decisions on P values that may be highly sensitive to single data points may not be the most reliable way of deciding which evidence-based interventions should be recommended to the public.

Conflicts of Interest

MB owns a private company that develops and distributes evidence-based lifestyle interventions to be used in health care settings, including student health care centers. No other disclosures were reported.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Trace plots. [DOCX File , 185 KB - jmir_v21i12e14420_app1.docx]

References

- Smedslund G, Wollscheid S, Fang L, Nilsen W, Steiro A, Larun L. Effects of early, computerized brief interventions on risky alcohol use and risky cannabis use among young people. Campbell Systematic Reviews 2017 Apr 07;13(1):1-192. [doi: <u>10.4073/csr.2017.6</u>]
- Carey KB, Scott-Sheldon LAJ, Elliott JC, Garey L, Carey MP. Face-to-face versus computer-delivered alcohol interventions for college drinkers: a meta-analytic review, 1998 to 2010. Clin Psychol Rev 2012 Dec;32(8):690-703 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2012.08.001] [Medline: 23022767]
- Donoghue K, Patton R, Phillips T, Deluca P, Drummond C. The effectiveness of electronic screening and brief intervention for reducing levels of alcohol consumption: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(6):e142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3193] [Medline: 24892426]
- McCambridge J, Bendtsen P, Bendtsen M, Nilsen P. Alcohol email assessment and feedback study dismantling effectiveness for university students (AMADEUS-1): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials 2012;13:49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-13-49] [Medline: 22540638]
- Bendtsen P, McCambridge J, Bendtsen M, Karlsson N, Nilsen P. Effectiveness of a proactive mail-based alcohol Internet intervention for university students: dismantling the assessment and feedback components in a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(5):e142 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2062] [Medline: 23113955]
- McCambridge J, Bendtsen M, Karlsson N, White IR, Nilsen P, Bendtsen P. Alcohol assessment and feedback by email for university students: main findings from a randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2013 Nov;203(5):334-340 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.113.128660] [Medline: 24072758]
- Bendtsen M. Electronic Screening for Alcohol Use and Brief Intervention by Email for University Students: Reanalysis of Findings From a Randomized Controlled Trial Using a Bayesian Framework. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 07;21(11):e14419 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14419] [Medline: 31697242]
- 8. McCambridge J, Bendtsen M, Karlsson N, White IR, Bendtsen P. Alcohol assessment & feedback by e-mail for university student hazardous and harmful drinkers: study protocol for the AMADEUS-2 randomised controlled trial. BMC Public Health 2013;13:949 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-949] [Medline: 24456668]
- Bendtsen P, Bendtsen M, Karlsson N, White IR, McCambridge J. Online Alcohol Assessment and Feedback for Hazardous and Harmful Drinkers: Findings From the AMADEUS-2 Randomized Controlled Trial of Routine Practice in Swedish Universities. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jul 09;17(7):e170 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4020] [Medline: 26159179]
- 10. Bush K. The AUDIT Alcohol Consumption Questions (AUDIT-C): An Effective Brief Screening Test for Problem Drinking. Arch Intern Med 1998 Sep 14;158(16):1789. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.158.16.1789]
- 11. Benjamin DJ, Berger JO, Johannesson M, Nosek BA, Wagenmakers E, Berk R, et al. Redefine statistical significance. Nat Hum Behav 2017 Sep 1;2(1):6-10. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-017-0189-z]
- 12. Amrhein V, Greenland S. Remove, rather than redefine, statistical significance. Nat Hum Behav 2017 Sep 25;2(1):4-4. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-017-0224-0]
- 13. McShane B, Gal D, Gelman A, Robert C, Tackett J. Cornell University arXiv.org. 2019. Abandon Statistical Significance URL: <u>http://arxiv.org/abs/1709.07588</u> [accessed 2019-11-11]

- 14. Wasserstein RL, Lazar NA. The ASA's Statement on -Values: Context, Process, and Purpose. The American Statistician 2016 Jun 09;70(2):129-133. [doi: 10.1080/00031305.2016.1154108]
- 15. Nuzzo R. Scientific method: Statistical errors. Nature 2014 Feb 12;506(7487):150-152. [doi: 10.1038/506150a]
- 16. Berry D. A P-Value to Die For. J Am Stat Assoc 2017 Oct 30;112(519):895-897. [doi: 10.1080/01621459.2017.1316279]
- 17. Briggs WM. The Substitute for P-Values. J Am Stat Assoc 2017 Oct 30;112(519):897-898. [doi: 10.1080/01621459.2017.1311264]
- Gelman A, Carlin J. Some Natural Solutions to the P-Value Communication Problem and Why They Won't Work. J Am Stat Assoc 2017 Oct 30;112(519):899-901. [doi: <u>10.1080/01621459.2017.1311263</u>]
- 19. Laber EB, Shedden K. Statistical Significance and the Dichotomization of Evidence: The Relevance of the for Statisticians. J Am Stat Assoc 2017;112(519):902-904 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/01621459.2017.1311265] [Medline: 29348701]
- McShane BB, Gal D. Rejoinder: Statistical Significance and the Dichotomization of Evidence. J Am Stat Assoc 2017 Oct 30;112(519):904-908. [doi: 10.1080/01621459.2017.1323642]
- 21. Bendtsen M. A Gentle Introduction to the Comparison Between Null Hypothesis Testing and Bayesian Analysis: Reanalysis of Two Randomized Controlled Trials. J Med Internet Res 2018 Oct 24;20(10):e10873 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10873] [Medline: 30148453]
- 22. Spiegelhalter D, Abrams K, Myles J. Bayesian Approaches to Clinical Trials and Health-Care Evaluation. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2003.
- 23. Kruschke JK. Bayesian estimation supersedes the t test. J Exp Psychol Gen 2013 May;142(2):573-603. [doi: 10.1037/a0029146] [Medline: 22774788]
- 24. Browne EN, Rathinam SR, Kanakath A, Thundikandy R, Babu M, Lietman TM, et al. A Bayesian Analysis of a Randomized Clinical Trial Comparing Antimetabolite Therapies for Non-Infectious Uveitis. Ophthalmic Epidemiol 2017 Feb 16;24(1):63-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09286586.2016.1255764] [Medline: 27982726]
- 25. Goodman SN, Sladky JT. A Bayesian approach to randomized controlled trials in children utilizing information from adults: the case of Guillain-Barré syndrome. Clin Trials 2005 Sep 03;2(4):305-10; discussion 364. [doi: 10.1191/1740774505cn102oa] [Medline: 16281429]

Abbreviations

AMADEUS: Alcohol Email Assessment and Feedback Study Dismantling Effectiveness for University Students eSBI: electronic screening and brief intervention IRR: incidence rate ratio MCMC: Markov chain Monte Carlo

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 17.04.19; peer-reviewed by R O'Donnell, MW Huang; comments to author 03.10.19; revised version received 10.10.19; accepted 22.10.19; published 17.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Bendtsen M An Electronic Screening and Brief Intervention for Hazardous and Harmful Drinking Among Swedish University Students: Reanalysis of Findings From a Randomized Controlled Trial Using a Bayesian Framework J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e14420 URL: <u>http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e14420/</u> doi:10.2196/14420 PMID:<u>31845903</u>

©Marcus Bendtsen. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 17.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Corrigenda and Addenda

Correction: The Association Between Medication Adherence for Chronic Conditions and Digital Health Activity Tracking: Retrospective Analysis

Tom Quisel¹, BS; Luca Foschini¹, PhD; Susan M Zbikowski^{2,3}, PhD; Jessie L Juusola¹, PhD

¹Evidation Health, San Mateo, CA, United States ²inZights Consulting, LLC, Seattle, WA, United States ³Humana, Inc, Louisville, KY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Jessie L Juusola, PhD Evidation Health 167 2nd Avenue San Mateo, CA United States Phone: 1 650 279 8855 Email: jjuusola@evidation.com

Related Article:

Correction of: https://www.jmir.org/2019/3/e11486/

(J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e17375) doi:10.2196/17375

In "The Association Between Medication Adherence for Chronic Conditions and Digital Health Activity Tracking: Retrospective Analysis" (J Med Internet Res 2019;21(3):e11486), a typesetting issue resulted in an error in Table 2 in the row "Comorbid conditions, n (%)", subrow "Depression".

The data was previously listed as follows:

- "Diabetes" column: 29,655 (9.35)
- "Dyslipidemia" column: 78,035 (11.59)
- "Hypertension" column: no data

However, the row was missing the value that should have been in the "Diabetes" column, so the two subsequent data points were misaligned into incorrect columns. The row now appears as follows:

- "Depression" column: 12,085 (10.26)
- "Dyslipidemia" column: 29,655 (9.35)
- "Hypertension" column: 78,035 (11.59)

The correction will appear in the online version of the paper on the JMIR website on December 10, 2019, together with the publication of this correction notice. Because this was made after submission to PubMed, PubMed Central, and other full-text repositories, the corrected article has also been resubmitted to those repositories.

Submitted 10.12.19; this is a non-peer-reviewed article; accepted 10.12.19; published 10.12.19.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Quisel T, Foschini L, Zbikowski SM, Juusola JL Correction: The Association Between Medication Adherence for Chronic Conditions and Digital Health Activity Tracking: Retrospective Analysis J Med Internet Res 2019;21(12):e17375 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2019/12/e17375/ doi:10.2196/17375 PMID:31821156



©Tom L Quisel, Luca Foschini, Susan M Zbikowski, Jessie L Juusola. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 10.12.2019. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

